Operator Theory Advances and Applications 286

Daniel Alpay Ronen Peretz David Shoikhet Mihaela B. Vajiac Editors

New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative Chapman University, November 2019

L Linear

**O** Operators and

L Linear

S Systems





#### **Operator Theory: Advances and Applications**

#### Volume 286

#### Founded in 1979 by Israel Gohberg

#### **Editors:**

Joseph A. Ball (Blacksburg, VA, USA) Albrecht Böttcher (Chemnitz, Germany) Harry Dym (Rehovot, Israel) Heinz Langer (Wien, Austria) Christiane Tretter (Bern, Switzerland)

#### Associate Editors:

Vadim Adamyan (Odessa, Ukraine) Wolfgang Arendt (Ulm, Germany) B. Malcolm Brown (Cardiff, UK) Raul Curto (Iowa, IA, USA) Kenneth R. Davidson (Waterloo, ON, Canada) Fritz Gesztesy (Waco, TX, USA) Pavel Kurasov (Stockholm, Sweden) Vern Paulsen (Houston, TX, USA) Mihai Putinar (Santa Barbara, CA, USA) Ilya Spitkovsky (Abu Dhabi, UAE)

#### Honorary and Advisory Editorial Board:

Lewis A. Coburn (Buffalo, NY, USA) J. William Helton (San Diego, CA, USA) Marinus A. Kaashoek (Amsterdam, NL) Thomas Kailath (Stanford, CA, USA) Peter Lancaster (Calgary, Canada) Peter D. Lax (New York, NY, USA) Bernd Silbermann (Chemnitz, Germany) Harold Widom (Santa Cruz, CA, USA)

#### Subseries Linear Operators and Linear Systems

Subseries editors: Daniel Alpay (Orange, CA, USA) Birgit Jacob (Wuppertal, Germany) André C.M. Ran (Amsterdam, The Netherlands)

#### Subseries Advances in Partial Differential Equations

Subseries editors: Bert-Wolfgang Schulze (Potsdam, Germany) Jerome A. Goldstein (Memphis, TN, USA) Nobuyuki Tose (Yokohama, Japan) Ingo Witt (Göttingen, Germany)

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/4850

Daniel Alpay • Ronen Peretz • David Shoikhet • Mihaela B. Vajiac Editors

## New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative

Chapman University, November 2019



*Editors* Daniel Alpay Schmid College of Science & Technology Chapman University Orange, CA, USA

David Shoikhet Faculty of Sciences Holon Institute of Technology Holon, Israel Ronen Peretz Department of Mathematics Ben-Gurion University of the Negev Beer Sheva, Israel

Mihaela B. Vajiac Schmid College of Science and Technology Chapman University Orange, CA, USA

ISSN 0255-0156ISSN 2296-4878(electronic)Operator Theory: Advances and ApplicationsISSN 2504-3609ISSN 2504-3617(electronic)Linear Operators and Linear SystemsISBN 978-3-030-76472-2ISBN 978-3-030-76473-9(eBook)https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This book is published under the imprint Birkhäuser, www.birkhauser-science.com, by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG.

The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Here, on the level sand, Between the sea and the land, What shall I build or write Against the fall of the night?

Tell me of runes to grave That hold the bursting wave, Or bastions to design For longer date than mine.

A.E. Housman, Smooth between sea and land, quotation taken from Hardy's book *A mathematical Apology* [3, p. 77]

### Preface

In this volume we present 12 refereed papers written by field experts for the conference *New directions in function theory: From complex to hypercomplex to non-commutative*, held at Chapman University from November 21 to November 26, 2019. This conference was part of an on-going series of yearly mathematics conferences and workshops held at Chapman University since 2010 (temporarily interrupted during the fall of 2020 by the corona pandemic). Another example of such work is the volume (see [1]) which the first and fourth editors assembled for a similar occasion, a conference with a different topic held in 2017.

Our 2019 Conference held 42 presentations (see the program below) on a wide range of topics pertaining to the theme of hypercomplex function theory. The papers submitted to this volume can be divided in the following overlapping categories: two papers on hypercomplex analysis, three pertaining to Schur analysis and de Branges spaces, five exploring new aspects of classical function theory, and two related to infinite dimensional analysis. At least three of the works have a very strong signalprocessing flavor. More precisely, we have the following classification:

Function theory and harmonic analysis: In the chapter "Differential Subordinations in Harmonic Mappings", authors M. Aydogan, Daoud Bshouty, Sanford S. Miller, and F.M. Sakar extend results from the theory of differential subordination (see [6]) to complex harmonic mappings, that is, functions of the form  $h(z) + \overline{g(z)}$ , where f and g are analytic in a given open subset of the complex plane. In "Representation Formulae for the Determinant in a Neighborhood of the Identity", Denis Constales and Alí Guzman Adan give a formula for a power series expansion for det $(I + M)^{-1}$  for suitable matrices M, and provide applications to the Taylor expansion of the Dirac distribution. In "The Wiener Algebra and Singular Integrals", E. Liflyand extends to the multivariable case some of his earlier work [5] and gives necessary conditions in terms of singular integrals for a function to be in the Wiener algebra. Ronen Peretz, in "Techniques to Derive Estimates for Integral Means and other Geometric Quantities Related to Conformal Mappings", uses the Goluzin inequalities and Riemann sum approximation and obtains estimates on integral means associated to univalent functions. In particular, the author obtains a new and surprising inequality in terms of positive definite kernels for univalent functions in the disk such that f(0) = 0 and f'(0) = 1. In "Harmonic Analysis of Some Arithmetical Functions", Ahmed Sebbar and Roger Gay consider analytic number theory and associate Hilbert spaces and a law of composition to arithmetical functions. The notion of functions satisfying a Kubert identity [4], namely functions defined on  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  satisfying

$$f(x) = m^{s-1} \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} f\left(\frac{x+k}{m}\right)$$

where s is some fixed parameter, which plays an important role.

Schur analysis, de Branges spaces, and function theory: In the paper "On Parseval Frames of Kernel Functions in de Branges Spaces of Entire Vector Valued Functions", Saud Al-Sadi and Eric S. Weber use Naimark dilation theorem to study Parseval frames and application to multiplexing (transmission of several signals at the same time over a single communications channel). In the chapter "On the Carathéodory-Fejér Interpolation Problem for Stieltjes Functions". by Vladimir Bolotnikov, an important point is that the truncated problems with even and odd numbers of conditions lead to quite different type of results in the solution of the stated interpolation problem. Another point of special interest is the Schwartz-Pick type reduction given for Stielties functions. In "Parametrization of the Solution Set of a Matricial Truncated Hamburger Moment Problem by a Schur Type Algorithm", authors Bernd Fritzsche, Bernd Kirstein, Susanne Klev, and Conrad Mädler develop Schur analysis for the Hamburger moment problem, both on the level of sequences and functions, in the matrix-valued setting. The chapter is a part of a systematic program of creating a Schur analysis approach to matricial versions of truncated classical power moment problems, such as the Hamburger, Stieltjes, and Hausdorff moment problems.

**Hypercomplex analysis:** In "*The Segal-Bargmann Transform in Clifford Analysis*", **Swanhild Bernstein** and **Sandra Schufmann** study the Segal-Bargmann transform in its connection to the windowed Fourier transform and time-frequency analysis in the Clifford setting. In "*Complex Ternary Analysis and Applications*", **Mihaela B. Vajiac** presents a theory of functions on complex ternary algebras. In opposition to the real ternary case (see [2] for the latter), one has a one-dimensional theory in one ternary variable, which has a dual nature: an element that cubes to  $\pm 1$ on the one hand, and a theory of one bicomplex variable and one complex variable entangled by algebraic relations on the other hand.

Infinite dimensional analysis and non-commutative theory: In "Symmetric Measures, Continuous Networks, and Dynamics", Sergey Bezuglyi and Palle E.T. Jorgensen extend the basic definitions and results of the theory of weighted networks (known also as electrical or resistance networks) to the case of measure spaces. In "Multi Variable Semicircular Processes from \*-homomorphisms and operators", Ilwoo Cho and Palle E.T. Jorgensen study in non-commutative probability theory new construction of semicircular elements. This is of special importance since the semicircular law plays in the non-commutative setting the role

Preface

of the Gaussian law in classical (commutative) probability theory; see [7] for an introduction to non-commutative probability.

Orange, CA, USA Beer Sheva, Israel Holon, Israel Orange, CA, USA Daniel Alpay Ronen Peretz David Shoikhet Mihaela B. Vajiac

#### References

- D. Alpay, M.B. Vajiac, Linear systems, signal processing and hypercomplex analysis, in Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 275 (Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2019).
   Papers from the Conference "Mathematics, Signal Processing and Linear Systems: New Problems and Directions" held at Chapman University, Orange, CA, November 14–19, 2017, Linear Operators and Linear Systems
- D. Alpay, A. Vajiac, M.B. Vajiac, Gleason's problem associated to a real ternary algebra and applications. Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr. 28(2), Paper No. 43, 16 (2018)
- 3. G.H. Hardy, *A Mathematician's Apology* (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 1994) (first published 1940). With a foreword by C.P. Snow
- 4. D.S. Kubert, The universal ordinary distribution. Bull. Soc. Math. France **107**(2), 179–202 (1979)
- 5. I.R. Liflyand, Salem's conditions in the nonperiodic case. Mat. Zametki 104(3), 447–453 (2018)
- S.S. Miller, P.T. Mocanu, Differential subordinations, in *Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 225 (Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, 2000). Theory and applications
- D.V. Voiculescu, K.J. Dykema, A. Nica, Free random variables. *CRM Monograph Series*, vol. 1 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1992). A noncommutative probability approach to free products with applications to random matrices, operator algebras and harmonic analysis on free groups

## Contents

On Parseval Frames of Kernel Functions in de Branges Spaces of Entire Vector Valued Functions Sa'ud Al-Sa'di and Eric S. Weber	1
<b>Differential Subordinations in Harmonic Mappings</b> M. Aydogan, D. Bshouty, S. S. Miller, and F. M. Sakar	19
The Segal–Bargmann Transform in Clifford Analysis Swanhild Bernstein and Sandra Schufmann	29
<b>On the Carathéodory-Fejér Interpolation Problem</b> <b>for Stieltjes Functions</b> Vladimir Bolotnikov	53
Harmonic Analysis of Some Arithmetical Functions Roger Gay and Ahmed Sebbar	87
Symmetric Measures, Continuous Networks, and Dynamics Sergey Bezuglyi and Palle E. T. Jorgensen	139
Multi Variable Semicircular Processes From *-Homomorphisms         and Operators         Ilwoo Cho and Palle E. T. Jorgensen	199
<b>Representation Formulae for the Determinant in a Neighborhood</b> of the Identity Denis Constales and Alí Guzmán Adán	243
Parametrization of the Solution Set of a Matricial TruncatedHamburger Moment Problem by a Schur Type AlgorithmBernd Fritzsche, Bernd Kirstein, Susanne Kley, and Conrad Mädler	259
The Wiener Algebra and Singular Integrals E. Liflyand	329

Techniques to Derive Estimates for Integral Means and Other	
Geometric Quantities Related to Conformal Mappings	341
Ronen Peretz	
Complex Ternary Analysis and Applications M. B. Vajiac	355

## **On Parseval Frames of Kernel Functions in de Branges Spaces of Entire Vector Valued Functions**



Sa'ud Al-Sa'di and Eric S. Weber

**Abstract** We consider the existence and structure properties of Parseval frames of kernel functions in vector valued de Branges spaces. We develop some sufficient conditions for Parseval sequences by identifying the main construction with Naimark dilation of frames. The dilation occurs by embedding the de Branges space of vector valued functions into a dilated de Branges space of vector valued functions. The embedding also maps the kernel functions associated with a frame sequence of the original space into a Riesz basis for the embedding space. We also develop some sufficient conditions for a dilated de Branges space to have the Kramer sampling property.

Keywords de Branges Spaces  $\cdot$  Entire vector valued functions  $\cdot$  Parseval frames  $\cdot$  Kramer sampling formula

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2000)** Primary: 94A20; Secondary 30D10, 47A20

#### 1 Introduction

The theory of de Branges spaces of entire functions can be extended with suitable hypotheses to spaces of entire vector valued functions. Spaces of entire vector valued functions were introduced and extensively studied by Louis de Branges and have been developed in view of the model theory for linear transformations in Hilbert spaces [13]. These spaces have played a central role in applications to direct

S. Al-Sa'di

E. S. Weber (⊠) Department of Mathematics, Iowa State University, Ames, IA, USA e-mail: esweber@iastate.edu

Department of Mathematics, Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan e-mail: saud@hu.edu.jo

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), *New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative*, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_1

and inverse problems for canonical systems of differential and integral equations and Dirac-Krein systems, see for example [5-7].

The main goal of the present paper is to extend some results on de Branges spaces of scalar valued functions obtained in [3] to de Branges spaces of vector valued functions. We consider the existence and structure properties of Parseval frames of kernel functions in vector valued de Branges spaces. In Sect. 1.3 we shall review some definitions and necessary facts from the theory of reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces of vector valued functions. As a special case of such spaces the de Branges spaces of vector valued functions is reviewed in Sect. 1.4. Sections 2 and 3 are devoted to developing new results on the construction of dilated de Branges spaces of vector valued functions and orthogonality of embeddings within the dilation spaces. We develop some necessary conditions for Parseval sequences in vector valued de Branges spaces by identifying the main construction with Naimark dilation of frames via embedding the de Branges space into a dilated de Branges space. The embedding identifies the kernel functions associated with a frame sequence as a summand for a Riesz basis for the dilated space. We also obtain some sufficient conditions for a dilated de Branges space to have the Kramer sampling property in Sect. 4 as well as results concerning the multiplexing of samples in the dilated space.

#### 1.1 Notation

Some notations are necessary to describe the spaces we will consider here, see [7, 12] for additional information.  $\mathbb{C}$  will denote the complex plane,  $\mathbb{C}^+$  (resp.,  $\mathbb{C}^-$ ) the open upper (resp., lower) half plane,  $\mathbb{C}^p$  the complex  $p \times 1$  vectors. The notation  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$  stands for the set of all  $p \times q$  matrices with complex entries, the identity matrix that belongs to  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  will be denoted by  $I_p$ . A  $\mathbb{C}^p$  vector valued function f(z), defined in a region  $\Omega$  of the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$ , is said to be analytic in  $\Omega$  if the complex valued function  $u^* f(z)$  is analytic in the region for every choice of vector  $u \in \mathbb{C}^p$ . A continuous  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times p}$  matrix valued function F(z), defined in  $\Omega$ , is said to be analytic in the region if  $u^*F(z)v$  is analytic in the region for every choice of vectors u and v in  $\mathbb{C}^p$ . A matrix valued function with entries that are analytic in the full complex plane is said to be entire matrix valued function.  $f^*(z)$  is the Hermitian transpose of the matrix valued function f(z), and  $f^{\#}(z) = f^*(\overline{z})$ .

 $\mathbb{H}_2^{p \times \hat{q}}$  is the Hardy space of  $p \times q$  matrix valued functions with entries in the classical Hardy space  $\mathbb{H}_2$  with respect to  $\mathbb{C}^+$ , with norm

$$\|f\|_{2}^{2} = \sup_{y>0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} trace\{f^{*}(x+iy)f(x+iy)\}dx < \infty.$$

 $(\mathbb{H}_2^{p \times q})^{\perp} = \{f : f^{\#} \in \mathbb{H}_2^{q \times p}\}$  (the superscript  $\perp$  means that  $\mathbb{H}_2^{p \times q}$  and  $(\mathbb{H}_2^{p \times q})^{\perp}$  are orthogonal to each other when regarded as subspaces of  $L_2^{p \times q}$ ). We shall use the symbol  $\mathbb{H}_2^p$  for  $\mathbb{H}_2^{p \times 1}$ , and  $(\mathbb{H}_2^q)^{\perp}$  for  $(\mathbb{H}_2^{q \times 1})^{\perp}$ .

 $\mathbb{H}^{p \times q}_{\infty}$  is the Hardy space of holomorphic  $p \times q$  matrix valued functions in  $\mathbb{C}^+$  with

$$||f||_{\infty} = \sup\{||f(z)|| : z \in \mathbb{C}^+\} < \infty.$$

The Schur class  $S^{p \times p}$  is the class of  $p \times p$  matrix valued functions s(z) that are holomorphic and contractive in  $\mathbb{C}^+$ , i.e.,

$$I_p - s^*(z)s(z) \succeq 0$$
, for  $z \in \mathbb{C}^+$ .

 $S_{in}^{p \times p}$  is the class of matrix valued functions  $f \in S^{p \times p}$  which are inner, i.e.,  $I_p - f^*(t) f(t) = 0$  for a.e. point  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

The generalized backward-shift operator  $R_{\omega}$  is defined for entire vector valued functions by

$$(R_{\omega}f)(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{f(z) - f(\omega)}{z - \omega} & \text{if } z \neq \omega \\ f'(\omega) & \text{if } z = \omega \end{cases}$$

for every  $z, \omega \in \mathbb{C}$ .

#### 1.2 Frame Theory

A sequence  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a frame for a separable Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  if there exists constants  $0 < A \leq B < \infty$  such that

$$A\|f\|^{2} \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |\langle f, f_{n} \rangle|^{2} \leq B\|f\|^{2}, \quad \text{for all } f \in \mathcal{H},$$

$$\tag{1}$$

The constants A and B are called lower and upper frame bounds, respectively. The frames for which A = B = 1 are called *Parseval frames*. A frame which is a basis is called a *Riesz basis*. It is easy to see that a Parseval frame  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  for a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is an orthonormal basis if and only if each  $f_n$  is a unit vector. If the upper bound in (1) is satisfied, then we say that  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a *Bessel* sequence with Bessel bound B.

Let  $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  be a Bessel sequence in  $\mathcal{H}$ . The analysis operator  $\Theta : \mathcal{H} \to \ell^2$ , which is bounded because of (1), is defined by

$$\Theta: f \to (\langle f, f_n \rangle);$$

and the synthesis operator  $\Theta^* : \ell^2 \to \mathcal{H}$ , which is the adjoint operator of  $\Theta$ , is defined by

$$\Theta^*: (c_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \to \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n f_n$$

Additionally, the sum  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n f_n$  converges in  $\mathcal{H}$  for all  $(c_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \in l^2$  (see [14]), and so the synthesis operator is also well defined and bounded.

The operator  $S := \Theta^* \Theta : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  is called the frame operator, and we have

$$Sf = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle f, f_n \rangle f_n , \forall f \in \mathcal{H}$$

The *canonical dual frame* is denoted by  $\{\tilde{f}_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ , and is defined by  $\tilde{f}_n = S^{-1} f_n$ . Furthermore, for each  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  we have the *frame expansions* 

$$f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle f, f_n \rangle \tilde{f}_n = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle f, \tilde{f}_n \rangle f_n,$$
(2)

with unconditional convergence of these series.

If  $\mathbb{F} = \{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\mathbb{G} = \{g_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  are two Bessel sequences in  $\mathcal{H}$ , define the operator

$$\Theta_{\mathbb{G}}^* \Theta_{\mathbb{F}} : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} : f \to \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle f, f_n \rangle g_n.$$

If  $\Theta_{\mathbb{G}}^* \Theta_{\mathbb{F}} = 0$  then the two Bessel sequences  $\mathbb{F}$  and  $\mathbb{G}$  are said to be orthogonal [18]. An extensive study of orthogonal frames can be found in the papers [10, 23]. If  $\mathbb{F}$  and  $\mathbb{G}$  are both Parseval frames and orthogonal to each other, then for any  $f, g \in \mathcal{H}$ 

$$f = \sum_{n} (\langle f, f_n \rangle + \langle g, g_n \rangle) f_n$$
, and  $g = \sum_{n} (\langle f, f_n \rangle + \langle g, g_n \rangle) g_n$ 

In other words, both functions can be recovered from the summed coefficients  $\langle f, f_n \rangle + \langle g, g_n \rangle$ . This procedure is called *multiplexing*, and can be used in multiple access communication systems. In the proof of our main results we also need a concept of *similar frames*: two frames  $\mathbb{F} = \{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  and  $\mathbb{G} = \{g_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  are said to be similar if there is an invertible operator  $T : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  such that  $Tf_n = g_n$ . Two frames  $\mathbb{F}$  and  $\mathbb{G}$  are similar if and only if  $\Theta_{\mathbb{F}}(\mathcal{H}) = \Theta_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathcal{H})$  [11].

Let *P* be an orthogonal projection from a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$  onto a closed subspace  $\mathcal{H}$ , and  $\{f_n\}$  be a sequence in  $\mathcal{K}$ . Then  $\{Pf_n\}$  is called *orthogonal compression* of

 $\{f_n\}$  under P, and  $\{f_n\}$  is called an *orthogonal dilation* of  $\{Pf_n\}$ . A classical fact on dilation of frames, which can be attributed to Han and Larson [17], says that a Parseval frame in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is an image of an orthonormal basis under an orthogonal projection of some larger Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K} \supseteq \mathcal{H}$  onto  $\mathcal{H}$ . This result can be considered as a special case of Naimark's dilation theorem for positive operator valued measures, see [20, 21]. In particular, Han and Larson proved the following result.

#### **Theorem 1** Let $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be a sequence in a Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}$ . Then

- (i)  $\{f_n\}$  is a Parseval frame for  $\mathcal{H}$  if and only if there exists a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K} \supseteq \mathcal{H}$ and an orthonormal basis  $\{e_n\}$  for  $\mathcal{K}$  such that if P is the orthogonal projection of  $\mathcal{K}$  onto  $\mathcal{H}$  then  $f_n = Pe_n$ , for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .
- (ii)  $\{f_n\}$  is a frame for  $\mathcal{H}$  if and only if there exists a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K} \supseteq \mathcal{H}$  and a Riesz basis  $\{u_n\}$  for  $\mathcal{K}$  such that if P is the orthogonal projection of  $\mathcal{K}$  onto  $\mathcal{H}$  then  $f_n = Pu_n$ , for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Orthogonality of frames and Naimark dilation of frames are related in the following way (see [8, 17]): If  $\{u_n\}$  is a Riesz basis for  $\mathcal{K}$  and P is the projection onto  $\mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{K}$ , then  $\{Pu_n\}$  and  $\{(I - P)u_n\}$  are orthogonal frames for  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{H}^{\perp}$ , respectively. Conversely, if  $\mathbb{F} = \{f_n\}$  and  $\mathbb{G} = \{g_n\}$  are orthogonal frames for  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$ , respectively, then  $\{f_n + g_n\}$  is a frame for  $\mathcal{H}_1 \oplus \mathcal{H}_2$ . Note that the sum of the frames need not be a basis for the direct sum in general–however, it will be provided that

$$\Theta_{\mathbb{F}}(\mathcal{H}_1) \oplus \Theta_{\mathbb{G}}(\mathcal{H}_2) = \ell^2.$$

#### 1.3 Reproducing Kernel Hilbert Spaces of Vector Valued Functions

In this section a number of facts about reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces of vector valued functions that will be used frequently are reviewed briefly; more details and supporting proofs may be found in [4–7]. For related results concerning operator valued reproducing kernel spaces, see e.g. [1, 2].

A Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $p \times 1$  vector valued functions defined on a subset  $\Omega$  of  $\mathbb{C}$  is said to be a reproducing kernel Hilbert space (RKHS) if there exists a  $p \times p$  matrix valued function  $K_w(z)$  (for  $(z, w) \in \Omega \times \Omega$ ) such that for every choice of  $w \in \Omega$ ,  $u \in \mathbb{C}^p$ , and  $f \in \mathcal{H}$ :

- 1.  $K_w(z)u \in \mathcal{H}$ , as a vector valued function of z,
- 2. The reproducing kernel property

$$\langle f(.), K_w(.)u \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \langle f(w), u \rangle_{\mathbb{C}} = u^* f(w) \tag{3}$$

The matrix valued function  $K_w(z)$  is called a reproducing kernel (RK) of the RKHS  $\mathcal{H}$ . The existence and uniqueness of a RK is guaranteed by the Riesz

representation theorem [15]. The following properties of RKHS are well known and easily checked, see [16] for more details:

1. 
$$\langle K_w(.)u_1, K_v(.)u_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = u_2^* K_w(v)u_1$$
, for all  $w, v \in \mathbb{C}, u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{C}^p$ , and

$$\|K_{w}u\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} = u^{*}K_{w}(w)u.$$
(4)

- 2.  $||f(w)|| \le ||f||_{\mathcal{H}} ||K_w(w)||^{1/2}$ , for all  $w \in \Omega$  and  $f \in \mathcal{H}$ .
- 3. The RK is positive in the sense that

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} u_j^* K_{w_i}(w_j) u_i \ge 0$$
(5)

for every choice of points  $w_1, \ldots, w_n \in \Omega$  and vectors  $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in \mathbb{C}^p$  and every positive integer *n*. Consequently, the set  $\{K_w(.)u : w \in \Omega, u \in \mathbb{C}^p\}$  is total in  $\mathcal{H}$ , that is

$$\mathcal{H} = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{K_w(.)u : w \in \Omega, u \in \mathbb{C}^p\}.$$

The following theorem is a matrix version of a theorem of Aronszajn in [4].

**Theorem 2** Let  $\Omega$  be a subset of  $\mathbb{C}$  and let the  $p \times p$  matrix valued kernel  $K_{\omega}(z)$  be positive on  $\Omega \times \Omega$ . Then there is a unique Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $p \times 1$  vector valued functions f(z) on  $\Omega$  such that

$$K_{\omega}u \in \mathcal{H}, \quad and \quad \langle f, K_{\omega}u \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = u^* f(\omega)$$

for every  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $u \in \mathbb{C}^p$  and  $f \in \mathcal{H}$ .

*Example 1 ([7])* The Hardy space  $\mathbb{H}_2^p$  is a RKHS of  $p \times 1$  vector valued functions that are holomorphic in  $\mathbb{C}^+$  with RK

$$K_{\omega}(z) = \frac{I_p}{-2\pi i (z - \bar{\omega})}, \text{ for } z, \omega \in \mathbb{C}^+$$

A RKHS  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $p \times 1$  vector valued functions is said to have the **Kramer sampling property** if there is a sequence of points  $\{w_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \Omega$  and a sequence of vectors  $\{\xi_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \in \mathbb{C}^p$ , such that the set  $\{K_{w_n}(.)\xi_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is a complete orthogonal set in  $\mathcal{H}$ , i.e., every  $f \in \mathcal{H}$  can be expressed in the form

$$f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \langle f, K_{w_n} \xi_n \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \frac{K_{w_n}(z)\xi_n}{\|K_{w_n} \xi_n\|^2}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \xi_n^* f(w_n) \frac{K_{w_n}(z)\xi_n}{\|K_{w_n} \xi_n\|^2}$$

In other words, functions of the space  $\mathcal{H}$  are uniquely determined and reconstructible from their samples [19].

The notation

$$\mathcal{H}_{\omega} = \{ f \in \mathcal{H} : f(\omega) = 0 \}$$

for RKHS's  $\mathcal{H}$  of entire vector valued functions will be useful.

#### 1.4 de Branges Spaces of Vector Valued Functions

In this section we shall present a number of facts from the theory of de Branges spaces of vector valued functions that will be needed in the sequel. Most of this information can be found in the papers [5-7, 12].

An entire  $p \times 2p$  matrix valued function  $\mathfrak{E}(z) = [E_{-}(z) \quad E_{+}(z)]$  is called an entire **de Branges matrix** with  $p \times p$  blocks  $E_{\pm}(z)$  that are matrix valued entire functions, if

det 
$$E_+(z) \neq 0$$
, in  $\mathbb{C}$ , and  $\chi_{\mathfrak{E}} := E_+^{-1} E_- \in \mathcal{S}_{in}^{p \times p}$ . (6)

The determinant of an entire matrix valued function is an entire function. Consequently, if the determinant of the entire matrix valued function  $E_+(z)$  does not vanish identically, the given entire matrix valued function has invertible values at all but isolated points in the complex plane. Since  $E_{\pm}(z)$  are entire matrix valued functions, the condition in (6) ensures that (see [16])

$$E_{+}(z)E_{+}^{\#}(z) = E_{-}(z)E_{-}^{\#}(z), \text{ for all } z \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(7)

**Definition 1** Given a de Branges matrix  $\mathfrak{E}$ , the set of entire  $\mathbb{C}^p$  vector valued functions f(z) satisfying

$$E_{+}^{-1} f \in \mathbb{H}_{2}^{p} \quad \text{and} \quad E_{-}^{-1} f \in (\mathbb{H}_{2}^{p})^{\perp}$$
(8)

is a reproducing kernel Hilbert space with reproducing kernel

$$K_{w}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{E_{+}(z)E_{+}^{*}(w) - E_{-}(z)E_{-}^{*}(w)}{2\pi i(\bar{w}-z)} , & \text{if } z \neq \bar{w} \\ \frac{E_{+}'(\bar{w})E_{+}^{*}(w) - E_{-}'(\bar{w})E_{-}^{*}(w)}{-2\pi i} , & \text{if } z = \bar{w} \end{cases}$$
(9)

with respect to the inner product

$$\langle f,g\rangle_{\mathcal{B}} = \langle E_+^{-1}f, E_+^{-1}g\rangle_{st} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g^*(t)\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(t)f(t) dt, \qquad (10)$$

where

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(t) = \{E_{+}(t)E_{+}^{*}(t)\}^{-1} = \{E_{-}(t)E_{-}^{*}(t)\}^{-1}$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  at which det  $E_{\pm}(z) \neq 0$ .

The Hilbert space corresponding to the de Branges matrix  $\mathfrak{E}$  is called the de Branges space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ ; for every  $w \in \mathbb{C}$ , every  $u \in \mathbb{C}^p$ , and every  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ 

1.  $K_w^{\mathfrak{E}} u \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and 2.  $\langle f, K_w^{\mathfrak{E}} u \rangle_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})} = u^* f(w)$ 

*Remark 1* If E(z) is a scalar valued entire function which has no real zeros and  $|E(z)| > |E(\overline{z})|$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}^+$ , then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  with  $\mathfrak{E} = [E^{\#}(z) \quad E(z)]$  is just the usual de Branges space corresponding to the de Branges function E(z).

*Example 2 ([16])* If  $E_{+}^{t}(z) = e^{-izt}I_{p}$  and  $E_{-}^{t}(z) = e^{izt}I_{p}$  for t > 0, then it is easy to see that  $\mathfrak{E}_{t}(z) = [E_{-}^{t}(z) \quad E_{+}^{t}(z)]$  is an entire de Branges matrix, and the space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E}_{t})$  is a vector Paley-Wiener space with RK

$$K_w^{\mathfrak{E}_t}(z) = \frac{\sin(z-\bar{w})t}{\pi(z-\bar{w})}I_p.$$

There is a connection between de Branges spaces  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  of entire vector valued functions that are invariant under the action of the generalized backward-shift operator  $R_{\omega}$  and the Kramer sampling property, the following is found in [16, Theorem 9.4].

**Theorem 3** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be the de Branges space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  based on the de Branges matrix  $\mathfrak{E}$  with  $RK K_{\omega}(z)$ . If

(1)  $R_{\omega}\mathcal{H}_{\omega} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$  for every point  $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$ , and (2)  $K_{\omega}(\omega) \succ 0$  for at least one point  $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$ ,

then  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  has the Kramer sampling property.

A sufficient condition for the space  $\mathcal{H}_{\omega}$  to be invariant under the operator  $R_{\omega}$  is given by the next lemma [16, Lemma 6.4].

**Lemma 1** Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be the de Branges space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  based on the de Branges matrix  $\mathfrak{E}$ , then:

(1)  $R_{\omega}\mathcal{H}_{\omega} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$  for every point  $\omega \in \overline{\mathbb{C}^+}$  at which  $E_+(\omega)$  is invertible.

(2)  $R_{\omega}\mathcal{H}_{\omega} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$  for every point  $\omega \in \overline{\mathbb{C}^{-}}$  at which  $E_{-}(\omega)$  is invertible.

#### 2 The de Branges Space $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$

In this section a number of results on constructing the dilated de Branges space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  will be obtained. The space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  is a simultaneous dilation of two de Branges spaces  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ . We will consider the class of  $p \times p$  entire matrix valued functions F(z) such that  $\det(F(z)) \neq 0$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ , and  $F^{-1}F^{\#} \in \mathcal{S}_{in}^{p \times p}$ . We will denote this class by  $\mathbb{N}_{inv}(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$ . If  $F \in \mathbb{N}_{inv}(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$ , the conditions in (6) and (7) imply that

$$F(z)F^{\#}(z) = F^{\#}(z)F(z), \text{ for all } z \in \mathbb{C}.$$

Hence, the  $p \times 2p$  matrix

$$\mathfrak{F} := \begin{bmatrix} F^{\#}(z) & F(z) \end{bmatrix}$$

is a de Branges matrix, with corresponding de Branges space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ .

*Example 3* For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , define the family of  $2n \times 2n$  entire matrix-valued functions

$$F(z) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{f_1(z)} I_n & 0\\ 0 & e^{f_2(z)} I_n \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $f_1(z) = g_1(z) + \alpha_1 + \beta_1 iz$ ,  $f_2(z) = g_2(z) + \alpha_2 + \beta_2 iz$ , for some  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ , and entire functions  $g_1, g_2$  which are real on the real line. Then it is readily checked that the matrix valued functions  $UF(z)U^*$  belongs to the class  $\mathbb{N}_{inv}(\mathbb{C}^{2n\times 2n})$  for any  $2n \times 2n$  constant unitary matrix U.

**Definition 2** Given de Branges matrices  $\mathfrak{F} := [F^{\#}(z) \ F(z)], \mathfrak{E} = [E_{-}(z) \ E_{+}(z)],$ where  $F(z) \in \mathbb{N}_{inv}(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$ , we define

$$\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E} := [F^{\#}(z)E_{-}(z) \quad F(z)E_{+}(z)].$$

Our main results will utilize the following additional commutation assumption:

$$F^{\#}E_{-} = E_{-}F^{\#}$$
 and  $FE_{+} = E_{+}F.$  (11)

Under this additional assumption on the matrix valued functions F and  $E_{\pm}$  we prove that the space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  is a RKHS whose kernel can be expressed in terms of the kernels for  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ . Throughout the rest of this paper, unless otherwise specified, we will assume that the de Branges matrices  $\mathfrak{F} = [F^{\#}(z) \quad F(z)]$  and  $\mathfrak{E} = [E_{-}(z) \quad E_{+}(z)]$  with  $F(z) \in \mathbb{N}_{inv}(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$ . We begin with a lemma.

**Lemma 2** Assume  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{E}$  satisfy the hypotheses of Definition 2 and Equation (11). *Then the following hold:* 

(*i*)  $FE_{-} = E_{-}F;$ (*ii*)  $F^{\sharp}E_{+} = E_{+}F^{\sharp};$   $\begin{array}{ll} (iii) & FE_{+}^{-1}=E_{+}^{-1}F;\\ (iv) & F^{-1}E_{-}=E_{-}F^{-1};\\ (v) & E_{-}^{-1}(F^{\sharp})^{-1}F=(F^{\sharp})^{-1}FE_{-}^{-1}. \end{array}$ 

**Proof** By virtue of  $F(z) \in \mathbb{N}_{inv}(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$ , we have that  $F^*F = FF^*$  on the real axis. Item (*i*) holds by Fuglede's Theorem:  $F^*$  is normal on the real axis and  $F^*E_- = E_-F^*$  holds on the real axis by eq. (11). An analogous argument shows that (*ii*) holds. Items (*iii*), respectively (*iv*), hold because of eq. (11), respectively (*i*), and a standard Neumann series argument. Item (*v*) holds by Eq. (11) and (*iv*).

**Theorem 4** Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{E}$  be two de Branges matrices that satisfy Definition 2 and eq. (11). Then

- (i)  $\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}$  is a de Branges matrix, and
- (ii) the corresponding de Branges space is  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$ , with RK

$$K_w^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(z) = F(z)K_w^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^*(w) + E_-(z)K_w^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_-^*(w).$$
(12)

**Proof** Since det $(E_{\pm}(z)) \neq 0$ , det $(F(z)) \neq 0$ , and det $(F^{\#}(z)) \neq 0$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ , then

$$\det(F^{\#}(z)E_{-}(z)) \neq 0$$
 and  $\det(F(z)E_{+}(z)) \neq 0$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ 

To show that the function  $\chi_{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}} := (FE_+)^{-1}(F^{\#}E_-) \in \mathcal{S}_{in}^{p\times p}$ , we use the fact that both functions  $\chi_{\mathfrak{E}} := E_+^{-1}E_-$  and  $\chi_{\mathfrak{F}} := F^{-1}F^{\#}$  belongs to the class  $\mathcal{S}_{in}^{p\times p}$ . By Lemma 2 (*ii*), we have  $F^{\#}E_+^{-1} = E_+^{-1}F^{\#}$ . Thus, again using Lemma 2,

$$\chi_{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}} = (FE_+)^{-1}(F^{\#}E_-) = (E_+F)^{-1}(F^{\#}E_-)$$
$$= F^{-1}E_+^{-1}F^{\#}E_- = F^{-1}F^{\#}E_+^{-1}E_- = \chi_{\mathfrak{F}}\chi_{\mathfrak{E}}.$$

This proves that  $\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}$  is a de Branges matrix.

The RK of the space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  is

$$\begin{split} K_{w}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(z) &= \frac{F(z)E_{+}(z)(F(w)E_{+}(w))^{*} - F^{\#}(z)E_{-}(z)(F^{\#}(w)E_{-}(w))^{*}}{2\pi i(\bar{w} - z)} \\ &= \frac{F(z)E_{+}(z)E_{+}^{*}(w)F^{*}(w) - F^{\#}(z)E_{-}(z)E_{-}^{*}(w)(F^{\#}(w))^{*}}{2\pi i(\bar{w} - z)} \\ &= \frac{F(z)E_{+}(z)E_{+}^{*}(w)F^{*}(w) - F(z)E_{-}(z)E_{-}^{*}(w)F^{*}(w)}{2\pi i(\bar{w} - z)} \\ &+ \frac{F(z)E_{-}(z)E_{-}^{*}(w)F^{*}(w) - F^{\#}(z)E_{-}(z)E_{-}^{*}(w)(F^{\#}(w))^{*}}{2\pi i(\bar{w} - z)} \\ &= F(z)K_{w}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^{*}(w) + E_{-}(z)K_{w}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_{-}^{*}(w) \end{split}$$

since  $FE_{-} = E_{-}F$  and  $F^{\#}E_{-} = E_{-}F^{\#}$  by Lemma 2.

*Example 4* Consider the matrix valued function F(z) given in Example 3 and the matrix valued functions  $E_{+}(z)$ ,  $E_{-}(z)$  given in Example 2, then

$$\mathfrak{F} = [F^{\#} \quad F], \quad \mathfrak{E} = [E_{-} \quad E_{+}]$$

satisfies the conditions of Definition 2.

#### 3 Orthogonality in $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$

Now we prove that the spaces  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$  can be embedded into the larger space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$ .

**Proposition 1** Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{E}$  be two de Branges matrices that satisfy Definition 2 and Eq. (11). The operator  $\mathcal{I} : \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$ , defined by  $\mathcal{I}(f) = Ff$ , is a linear isometry.

**Proof** We first prove that  $\mathcal{I}$  is well defined, i.e., for every  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E}), Ff \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$ , that is

$$(FE_{+})^{-1}Ff \in \mathbb{H}_{2}^{p}$$
, and  $(F^{\#}E_{-})^{-1}Ff \in (\mathbb{H}_{2}^{p})^{\perp}$ ,

Let  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ , then by Definition 1

$$E_{+}^{-1} f \in \mathbb{H}_{2}^{p}, \text{ and } E_{-}^{-1} f \in (\mathbb{H}_{2}^{p})^{\perp},$$
 (13)

hence,  $(FE_{+})^{-1}Ff = E_{+}^{-1}f \in \mathbb{H}_{2}^{p}$ . On the other hand,  $(F^{\#}E_{-})^{-1}Ff = E_{-}^{-1}(F^{\#})^{-1}Ff = (F^{\#})^{-1}FE_{-}^{-1}f$  belongs to  $(\mathbb{H}_{2}^{p})^{\perp}$ , since  $E_{-}^{-1}f \in (\mathbb{H}_{2}^{p})^{\perp}$  and  $(F^{\#})^{-1}F$  is the inverse of a matrix valued inner function.

Let  $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ , then

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{I}(f_1), \mathcal{I}(f_2) \rangle_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \circ \mathfrak{E})} &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} (F(t) f_2(t))^* \Delta_{\mathfrak{F} \circ \mathfrak{E}}(t) (F(t) f_1(t)) \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_2^*(t) F^*(t) (FE_+ (FE_+)^*)^{-1}(t) F(t) f_1(t) \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_2^*(t) F^*(t) (F^*(t))^{-1} (E_+^*(t))^{-1} E_+^{-1}(t) F^{-1}(t) F(t) f_1(t) \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_2^*(t) (E_+^*(t))^{-1} E_+^{-1}(t) f_1(t) \, dt \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_2^*(t) \Delta_{\mathfrak{E}}(t) f_1(t) \, dt = \langle f_1, f_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})}. \end{split}$$

A similar argument as in the proof of Proposition 1 can be used to proof the next proposition.

**Proposition 2** Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{E}$  be two de Branges matrices that satisfy Definition 2 and Eq. (11). The operator  $\mathcal{J} : \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$ , defined by  $\mathcal{J}(g(z)) = E_{-}(z)g(z)$  is a linear isometry.

**Theorem 5** Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{E}$  be two de Branges matrices that satisfy Definition 2 and Eq. (11). The images of the operators  $\mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{J}$  are orthogonal in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$ .

**Proof** Let  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $g \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ , then

$$\langle (FE_{+})^{-1}Ff, (FE_{+})^{-1}E_{-}g \rangle = \langle (E_{+})^{-1}f, (E_{+})^{-1}E_{-}F^{-1}g \rangle = 0$$

because  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  if and only if  $E_+^{-1}f \in \mathbb{H}_2^p \ominus (E_+)^{-1}E_-\mathbb{H}_2^p$ .

*Remark* 2 Given  $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $u \in \mathbb{C}^p$  the vector valued function  $K_w^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(z)u \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  as a function of *z*. Likewise,  $K_w^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^*(w)u \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $K_w^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_-^*(w)u \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ . It follows from (12) that for any  $w \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $u \in \mathbb{C}^p$ 

$$K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(z)u = F(z)\left(K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^{*}(\omega)u\right) + E_{-}(z)\left(K_{w}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_{-}^{*}(\omega)u\right)$$
$$= \mathcal{I}\left(K_{w}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^{*}(w)u\right) + \mathcal{J}\left(K_{w}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_{-}^{*}(w)u\right)$$
(14)

Consequently, since the set  $\{K_w^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(z)u : w \in \mathbb{C}, u \in \mathbb{C}^p\}$  spans the space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$ , the set

$$\mathcal{I}\left(\{K_w^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^*(w)u: w \in \mathbb{C}, \ u \in \mathbb{C}^p\}\right) \cup \mathcal{J}\left(\{K_w^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_-^*(w)u: \ w \in \mathbb{C}, \ u \in \mathbb{C}^p\}\right)$$

spans  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  whenever det $(F^*(\omega)) \neq 0$  and det $(E_-^*(\omega)) \neq 0$ . Indeed, for any finite set of points  $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_n \in \mathbb{C}$  and vectors  $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in \mathbb{C}^p$ , then by (12) we have

$$K_{\omega_k}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(z)u_k=F(z)K_{\omega_k}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^*(\omega_k)u_k+E_-(z)K_{\omega_k}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_-^*(\omega_k)u_k.$$

Setting  $\xi_k = F^*(\omega_k)u_k$  and  $\eta_k = E^*_-(\omega_k)u_k$  we get

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} K_{\omega_{k}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(z)u_{k} = F(z)\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} K_{\omega_{k}}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)\xi_{k}\right) + E_{-}(z)\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} K_{\omega_{k}}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)\eta_{k}\right).$$

On the other hand, for any  $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $u \in \mathbb{C}^p$ , by Eq. (4) we have

$$\begin{split} \|K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}u\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E})}^{2} &= u^{*}K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(\omega)u\\ &= u^{*}F(\omega)K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{E}}(\omega)F^{*}(\omega)u + u^{*}E_{-}(\omega)K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{F}}(\omega)E_{-}^{*}(\omega)u\\ &= \|K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{E}}F^{*}(\omega)u\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})}^{2} + \|K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{F}}E_{-}^{*}(\omega)u\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Let  $P_{\mathfrak{E}}$  be the orthogonal projection of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  onto the image of  $\mathcal{I}$ , and  $P_{\mathfrak{F}}$  be the orthogonal projection of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  onto the image of  $\mathcal{J}$ . We have

$$P_{\mathfrak{E}}(h) = Ff_1$$
 and  $P_{\mathfrak{F}}(h) = E_-f_2$ ,

for some  $f_1 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $f_2 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ . The next Theorem shows that the space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  admits an orthogonal direct sum decomposition using the spaces  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ . For this, we define

$$F\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E}) = \{Ff : f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})\}$$
$$E_{-}\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}) = \{E_{-}f : f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})\}$$

**Theorem 6** Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{E}$  be two de Branges matrices that satisfy Definition 2 and Eq. (11). Then

$$\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E})=F\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})\oplus E_{-}\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$$

*i.e., for any*  $h \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$ *, there exist a unique*  $f_1 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  *and*  $f_2 \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$  *such that*  $h = Ff_1 + E_-f_2$ *, and* 

$$\|h\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E})}^2 = \|f_1\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})}^2 + \|f_2\|_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})}^2.$$

**Proof** It is easily checked that  $K_{\omega}^{(1)}(z) := F(z)K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^*(\omega)$  is a reproducing kernel with corresponding RKHS  $\mathcal{B}_1 = F\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ , and  $K_{\omega}^{(2)}(z) := E_-(z)K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_-^*(\omega)$  is a reproducing kernel with corresponding RKHS  $\mathcal{B}_2 = E_-\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ . Furthermore, Theorem 5 implies that  $\mathcal{B}_1 \cap \mathcal{B}_2 = \{0\}$ .

Since  $K_{\omega}^{(1)}(z) + K_{\omega}^{(2)}(z)$  is a RK, and  $K_{\omega}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(z) = K_{\omega}^{(1)}(z) + K_{\omega}^{(2)}(z)$ , this implies that

$$\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E})=\mathcal{B}_1\oplus\mathcal{B}_2=F\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})\oplus E_-\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}).$$

It follows that the orthogonal complement of  $\mathcal{B}_1$  in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  is the space  $\mathcal{B}_2$ . The claim now follows from orthogonality and the isometry properties of  $\mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{J}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 7** Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{E}$  be two de Branges matrices that satisfy Definition 2 and

Eq. (11). If  $\{\omega_n\} \subset \mathbb{C}$  and  $\{u_n\} \subset \mathbb{C}^p$  are such that  $\left\{\frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \circ \mathfrak{E}}(.)u_n}{\sqrt{u_n^* K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \circ \mathfrak{E}}(.)u_n}}\right\}$  is a complete orthonormal set for  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  then

1. 
$$\left\{\frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{E}}(.)F^*(\omega_n)u_n}{\sqrt{u_n^*K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}^{\mathfrak{S}^{\mathfrak{E}}}}(.)u_n}}\right\}$$
 is a Parseval frame for  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ , and for every  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ 

$$f(z) = \sum_{n} u_n^* F(\omega_n) f(\omega_n) \frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z) F^*(\omega_n) u_n}{u_n^* K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(\omega_n) u_n}.$$
(15)

2. 
$$\left\{\frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}}(.)E_{-}^{*}(\omega_n)u_n}{\sqrt{u_n^{*}K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_n)u_n}}\right\} \text{ is a Parseval frame for } \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}), \text{ and for every } g \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$$

$$g(z) = \sum_{n} u_{n}^{*} E_{-}(\omega_{n}) g(\omega_{n}) \frac{K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z) E_{-}^{*}(\omega_{n}) u_{n}}{u_{n}^{*} K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n}) u_{n}}.$$
(16)

**Proof** By Eq. (14) we have

$$\frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(.)u_n}{\sqrt{u_n^*K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_n)u_n}} = \frac{\mathcal{I}\left(K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{E}}(.)F^*(\omega_n)u_n\right)}{\sqrt{u_n^*K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_n)u_n}} + \frac{\mathcal{J}(K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}}(.)E^*_{-}(\omega_n)u_n)}{\sqrt{u_n^*K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_n)u_n}},$$

hence,

$$P_{\mathfrak{E}}\left(\frac{K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(.)u_{n}}{\sqrt{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}}\right)=\frac{\mathcal{I}\left(K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{E}}(.)F^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n}\right)}{\sqrt{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}}.$$

Since  $\left\{ \frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \circ \mathfrak{E}}(.)u_n}{\sqrt{u_n^* K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \circ \mathfrak{E}}(\omega_n)u_n}} \right\}$  is an orthonormal set for  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  is an isometric from  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  onto  $\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E}))$  then

$$\frac{\mathcal{I}\left(K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{E}}(.)F^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n}\right)}{\sqrt{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}}$$
(17)

is a Parseval frame for  $\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E}))$ . Applying  $\mathcal{I}^*$  to (17) we obtain the first claim. Consequently, given any  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  we have

$$f(z) = \sum_{n} \left\langle f, \frac{K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{E}}(.)F^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}{\sqrt{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})} \frac{K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}{\sqrt{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}}$$
$$= \sum_{n} u_{n}^{*}F(\omega_{n})f(\omega_{n})\frac{K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\circ\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}.$$

Using an analogous argument we obtain the second claim.

Now we show that the Parseval frames for  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$  given in Theorem 7 are orthogonal.

#### **Theorem 8** Assume the hypothesis of Theorem 7, then

1. For every  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ ,

$$\sum_{n} u_n^* F(\omega_n) f(\omega_n) \frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F}}(.) E_-^*(\omega_n) u_n}{u_n^* K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(.) u_n} = 0.$$
(18)

2. For every  $g \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ ,

$$\sum_{n} u_n^* E_-^*(\omega_n) g(\omega_n) \frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{E}}(.) F^*(\omega_n) u_n}{u_n^* K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(.) u_n} = 0.$$
(19)

**Proof** Let  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$ . Since  $Ff \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  and  $\left\{\frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(.)u_n}{\sqrt{u_n^* K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(.)u_n}}\right\}$  is a complete orthonormal set for  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  then

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}(f)(z) &= F(z)f(z) \\ &= \sum_{n} \langle Ff, \frac{K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(.)u_{n}}{\sqrt{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}} \rangle \frac{K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(z)u_{n}}{\sqrt{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}} \\ &= \sum_{n} u_{n}^{*}F(\omega_{n})f(\omega_{n}) \frac{K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(z)u_{n}}{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}} \\ &= \sum_{n} u_{n}^{*}F(\omega_{n})f(\omega_{n}) \frac{F(z)K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n} + E_{-}(z)K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_{-}^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n}}{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}} \\ &= \sum_{n} u_{n}^{*}F(\omega_{n})f(\omega_{n}) \frac{\mathcal{I}\left(K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z)F^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n}\right) + \mathcal{J}\left(K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}}(z)E_{-}^{*}(\omega_{n})u_{n}\right)}{u_{n}^{*}K_{\omega_{n}}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(\omega_{n})u_{n}} \end{split}$$

Applying  $\mathcal{J}^*$  to the last line above, and using the fact that  $\mathcal{J}^*(Ff) = 0$  we obtain Eq. (18). Similar argument applying  $\mathcal{I}^*$  to  $E_{-g}$  yields Eq. (19).

#### 4 Sampling in the Space $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$

The next theorem shows that if a de Branges matrix  $\mathfrak{G} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{-}(z) & G_{+}(z) \end{bmatrix}$  can be factored as

$$G_{-}(z) = F^{\#}(z)E_{-}(z), \text{ and } G_{+}(z) = F(z)E_{+}(z)$$

with  $F(z) \in \mathbb{N}_{inv}(\mathbb{C}^{p \times p})$  and Eq. (11) holds, then the space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{G})$  will have the Kramer sampling property whenever the de Branges space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  satisfies the conditions of Theorem 3. The sampling problem can be considered dual to the interpolation problem [22]; results concerning interpolation in vector valued reproducing kernel spaces can be found in [9].

**Theorem 9** Let  $\mathfrak{F}$  and  $\mathfrak{E}$  be two de Branges matrices that satisfy Definition 2 and Eq. (11). Suppose further that det  $E_+(\cdot)$  is nonvanishing in  $\mathbb{C}^+$  and det  $E_-(\cdot)$  is nonvanishing in  $\mathbb{C}^-$ . If  $K^{\mathfrak{E}}_{\alpha}(\alpha) > 0$  for some point  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ , then the space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  will have the Kramer sampling property.

**Proof** Using Theorem 3 it is enough to show that  $R_{\omega}\mathcal{B}_{\omega}(\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E})$  for every point  $\omega \in \mathbb{C}$ , and  $K_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{F}\diamond\mathfrak{E}}(\alpha) > 0$  for the given  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ .

First, let  $\omega \in \overline{\mathbb{C}^+}$  then  $F(\omega)E_+(\omega)$  is invertible because det  $E_+(\omega) \neq 0$  by the hypothesis. Hence  $R_{\omega}\mathcal{B}_{\omega}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  for every point  $\omega \in \overline{\mathbb{C}^+}$  by Lemma 1. Similarly,  $F(\omega)E_-(\omega)$  is invertible because det  $E_-(\omega) \neq 0$  by the hypothesis, hence  $R_{\omega}\mathcal{B}_{\omega}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}) \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E})$  for every point  $\omega \in \overline{\mathbb{C}^-}$ .

Let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$  be such that  $K_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{E}}(\alpha) \succ 0$ . Then  $u^* K_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{E}}(\alpha) u > 0$  for every nonzero vector  $u \in \mathbb{C}^p$ . Hence, by Eq. (12) and using the fact that  $F^*(\alpha)u \in \mathbb{C}^p$ ,  $E_{-}^*(\alpha)u \in \mathbb{C}^p$ ,  $K_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{E}}(\alpha) \succ 0$ , and  $K_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{E}}(\alpha) \succeq 0$ , by (5) we get

$$u^* K^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}_{\alpha}(\alpha) u = u^* F(\alpha) K^{\mathfrak{E}}_{\alpha}(\alpha) F^*(\alpha) u + u^* E_{-}(\alpha) K^{\mathfrak{F}}_{\alpha}(\alpha) E^*_{-}(\alpha) u > 0$$

i.e.,  $K_{\alpha}^{\mathfrak{F} \diamond \mathfrak{E}}(\alpha) \succ 0$  for the given  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ . This completes the proof of the theorem.

*Example 5* Consider the de Branges space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{G})$  with

$$\mathfrak{G} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{-}(z) & G_{+}(z) \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$G_{-}(z) = F^{\#}(z)E_{-}(z), \quad G_{+}(z) = F(z)E_{+}(z)$$

where F(z) and  $E_{\pm}(z)$  as in Example 4. Then it is evident that the space  $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{G})$  have the Kramer sampling property by Theorem 9.

#### 4.1 Multiplexing the Sampled Vector Valued Functions

Multiplexing refers to the transmission of several signals simultaneously over a single communications channel. Generically, multiplexing occurs when two (or more) signals x and y are encoded into X and Y in such a way that x and y can each be recovered from X + Y. The signals we consider here are elements of a de Branges space and the encoding involves the sampling of the signal. Specifically, if

 $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $g \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ , we encode both f and g into the *multiplexed samples*:

$$\{u_n^* F(\omega_n) f(\omega_n) + u_n^* E_-^*(\omega_n) g(\omega_n)\}_n$$
(20)

which are transmitted in some fashion. The goal then is to recover f and g from these mixed samples.

**Corollary 1** Assume the hypotheses of Theorem 7,  $f \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{E})$  and  $g \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{F})$ . Given the samples  $\{f(\omega_n)\}$  and  $\{g(\omega_n)\}$ , f and g can be reconstructed from the multiplexed samples in (20) as follows:

$$f(z) = \sum_{n} \left( u_n^* F(\omega_n) f(\omega_n) + u_n^* E_-^*(\omega_n) g(\omega_n) \right) \frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{E}}(z) F^*(\omega_n) u_n}{u_n^* K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{F} \circ \mathfrak{E}}(\omega_n) u_n}$$
(21)

$$g(z) = \sum_{n} \left( u_n^* F(\omega_n) f(\omega_n) + u_n^* E_-^*(\omega_n) g(\omega_n) \right) \frac{K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{H}}(z) E_-^*(\omega_n) u_n}{u_n^* K_{\omega_n}^{\mathfrak{H} \circ \mathfrak{E}}(\omega_n) u_n}.$$
 (22)

**Proof** Equations (21) and (22) follow immediately from Eqs. (15), (16), (18), and (19).  $\Box$ 

#### **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments Eric Weber was supported in part by NSF awards #1830254 and #1934884.

#### References

- D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, J. Rovnyak, H. de Snoo, Schur functions, operator colligations, and reproducing kernel Pontryagin spaces, in *Operator Theory: Advances and Applications*, vol. 96 (Birkhäuser, Basel, 1997)
- D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, J. Rovnyak, H.S.V. de Snoo, Realization and factorization in reproducing kernel Pontryagin spaces, in *Operator Theory, System Theory and Related Topics (Beer-Sheva/Rehovot, 1997)*. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 123 (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2001), pp. 43–65
- S. al-Sa'di, E. Weber, Sampling in de Branges Spaces and Naimark Dilation. Compl. Anal. Oper. Theory 11(3), 583–601 (2017)
- 4. N. Aronszajn, Theory of reproducing kernels. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 68, 337-404 (1950)
- 5. D.Z. Arov, H. Dym, J-contractive matrix valued functions and related topics, in *Encyclopedia* of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 116 (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 2008)
- D.Z. Arov, H. Dym, Bitangential direct and inverse problems for systems of integral and differential equations, in *Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications*, vol. 145 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2012)
- 7. D.Z. Arov, H. Dym, de Branges Spaces of Vector-Valued Functions. Oper. Theory, 721–752 (2015)

- R. Balan, Density and redundancy of the noncoherent Weyl-Heisenberg superframes, in *The Functional and Harmonic Analysis of Wavelets and Frames (San Antonio, TX, 1999). Contemporary Mathematics*, vol. 247 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1999), pp. 29–41
- 9. J.A. Ball, A lifting theorem for operator models of finite rank on multiply-connected domains. J. Oper. Theory **1**(1), 3–25 (1979)
- G. Bhatt, B.D. Johnson, E. Weber, Orthogonal wavelet frames and vector-valued wavelet transforms. Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 23(2), 215–234 (2007)
- 11. P.G. Casazza, The art of frame theory. Taiwanese J. Math. 4(2), 129-201 (2000)
- 12. L. de Branges, The comparison theorem for Hilbert spaces of entire functions. Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory 6(5), 603–646 (1983)
- 13. L. de Branges, J. Rovnyak, Canonical models in quantum scattering theory, in *Perturbation Theory and its Applications in Quantum Mechanics (Proceedings of the Advance Seminar Mathematics Research Center, U.S. Army, Theoretical Chemical Institute, University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, 1965)* (Wiley, New York, 1966), pp. 295–392
- R.J. Duffin, A.C. Schaeffer, A class of nonharmonic Fourier series. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 72, 341–366 (1952)
- 15. H. Dym, J contractive matrix functions, reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces and interpolation, in *CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics*, vol. 71 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1989). Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC
- H. Dym, S. Sarkar, Multiplication operators with deficiency indices (*p*, *p*) and sampling formulas in reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces of entire vector valued functions. J. Funct. Anal. 273(12), 3671–3718 (2017)
- D. Han, D.R. Larson, Frames, bases and group representations. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 147(697), x+94 (2000)
- D. Han, K. Kornelson, D. Larson, E. Weber, Frames for undergraduates, in *Student Mathematical Library*, vol. 40 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2007)
- 19. H.P. Kramer, A generalized sampling theorem. J. Math. Phys. 38(1-4), 68-72 (1959)
- 20. M. Neumark, Spectral functions of a symmetric operator. Bull. Acad. Sci. URSS. Sér. Math. [Izvestia Akad. Nauk SSSR] **4**, 277–318 (1940)
- M.A. Neumark, On a representation of additive operator set functions. C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 41, 359–361 (1943)
- 22. K. Seip, Interpolation and sampling in spaces of analytic functions, in *University Lecture Series*, vol. 33 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2004)
- 23. E. Weber, Orthogonal frames of translates. Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal. 17(1), 69-90 (2004)

# Differential Subordinations in Harmonic Mappings



M. Aydogan, D. Bshouty, S. S. Miller, and F. M. Sakar

**Abstract** Differential subordination of analytic functions proved to be useful in many applications. The book of Miller and Mocanu ((2000) Differential Subordinations. In Theory and applications, monographs and textbooks in pure and applied mathematics, vol 225. Marcel Dekker Inc, New York) sums up most of the advancement in the field and the references to the date of its publication. The theory of harmonic mappings can benefit from this theory. We attempt to discuss some aspects of this generalization.

**Keywords** Harmonic mappings · Differential inequalities · Differential subordination

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2000)** Primary 30A10, 30C80, 58E20; Secondary 30C45

D. Bshouty (🖂)

S. S. Miller

F. M. Sakar

M. Aydogan

Department of Mathematics, Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: muge.sakar@dicle.edu.tr

Department of Mathematics, Technion, Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel e-mail: daoud@technion.ac.il

Department of Mathematics, The College at Brockport, SUNY, Brockport, NY, USA e-mail: smiller@brockport.edu

Department of Business Administration, Dicle University, Diyarbakir, Turkey e-mail: muge.sakar@dicle.edu.tr

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 D. Alpay et al. (eds.), *New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative*, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_2

#### 1 Introduction

Differential subordination is a global name to differential inequalities and differential subordination of analytic functions in the complex plain. They were first used in the studies of geometric properties of analytic functions as early as the nineteen thirties by Goluzin, Gennadii M. and Robertson, Malcolm S. Their interest grew due to their application to numerous fields including differential equations, partial differential equations, harmonic functions, integral operators, Banach spaces and functions of several complex variables. We shall extend the technique to harmonic mappings in the plane.

Let w(z) be an analytic function in the unit disk  $U = \{|z| < 1\}$ . Then the tangent vector of  $w(re^{it})$ ;  $0 \le t \le 2\pi$  at  $\zeta = re^{it_0} \in U$  is given by

$$\frac{dw(re^{it})}{dt}|_{t=t_0} = ire^{it_0}w'(re^{it_0}) = i\zeta w'(\zeta)$$

and the direction of the outside normal is

$$-i\frac{dw(re^{it})}{dt}|_{t=t_0} = \zeta w'(\zeta).$$

The earliest problem in differential subordination was introduced by Miller [2]

**Problem** Let *D* be a domain in  $\mathbb{C}$  and w(z) an analytic function in *U*. For which continuous functions h(u, v)

$$h(w(z), zw'(z)) \in D; \ z \in U \implies w(z) \in D; \ z \in U.$$

In this paper we shall concentrate on the case where D is the unit disk U. A typical example is the following

**Theorem A** (Miller [2, Ex.1], Miller and Mocanu [3]) Let w(z) be analytic in the unit disk U, and satisfies

$$|w(z) + zw'(z)| < 1; \ z \in U.$$
 Then  $|w(z)| < 1; \ z \in U.$  (1)

A geometric proof of this result is due.

**Proof** For each 0 < r < 1 consider the curve  $w(re^{it})$  at the point  $\xi = re^{it_0}$  where  $|w(\xi)| = w_0 = \max_{|z|=r} |w(z)|$ . The circle  $|w| = |w_0|$  is tangential to  $|w(re^{it})|$  at  $w_0$ , and in particular, the exterior normal to  $w(re^{it})$  at the point  $\xi$ ,  $\xi w'(\xi)$ , is in the direction of  $w(\xi)$ . Then

$$|w(\xi) + \xi w'(\xi)| = |w(\xi)| + |\xi w'(\xi)| < 1$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

and thus  $|w(\xi)| < 1$ . We conclude that  $\max_{|z|=r} |w(z)| < 1$  for all 0 < r < 1 and the result follows.

**Definition 1** Let w = f(z) be defined on U. A point denoted  $\xi$  in U will always represent the preimage of

$$w_0 = \max_{|z|=r} |f(z)|,$$

for some  $0 < r \le 1$ . It is right to call it a Clunie-Jack point.

**Theorem 1** Let w(z) be analytic in the unit disk U, and satisfies

$$|w(z) + zw'(z)| < 2; \ z \in U.$$
 Then  $|w(z)| < 1; \ z \in U.$ 

**Proof** Indeed, by Clunie-Jack Lemma ([1] Lemma 1, [4] Lemma 2.2a) we have  $|\xi w'(\xi)| \ge 1$ . We follow the proof of Theorem A and note that

$$|w(\xi)| = |w(\xi) + \xi w'(\xi)| - |\xi w'(\xi)| < 2 - 1 = 1. \blacksquare$$
(3)

In the seminal paper of Miller [*ibid*.], the author investigates the problem above where *D* is the unit disk. His results rely on two points, namely

- (I) A Maximum Principle of the involved function, w(z), and
- (II) A lower bound of  $|\zeta w'(\zeta)|$  in U (Clunie-Jack Lemma).

In order to generalize the above result for harmonic mappings we need to find the appropriate tools and their estimates.

#### 2 Harmonic Mappings

Let f be a complex harmonic mapping defined in the unit disk U. Then f(z) = u(z) + iv(z) where u, v are real harmonic functions. Such functions admit the representation

$$f(z) = h(z) + g(z); h, g \text{ analytic in } U.$$

This representation is unique if we assume that g(0) = 0. The second dilatation of f(z) is

$$a(z) = \frac{g'(z)}{h'(z)}$$

which is meromorphic in U. f(z) is sense-preserving if, and only if, |a(z)| < 1;  $z \in U$ , in which case a(z) admit removable singularities and is analytic in U. The mapping f(z) satisfies the Maximum Principle.

For  $z = re^{it} \in U$  we set

$$\mathfrak{D}f(z) \equiv -i\frac{\partial f(re^{it})}{\partial t} = -i(h'(re^{it})re^{it}i + \overline{g'(re^{it})re^{it}i}) = zh'(z) - \overline{zg'(z)},$$

which coincide with the normal direction of  $F_1(\theta) = f(re^{i\theta})$  at  $\theta = t$ , and

$$\mathcal{D}f(z) \equiv r \frac{\partial f(re^{it})}{\partial r} = r(h'(re^{it})e^{it} + \overline{g'(re^{it})e^{it}}) = zh'(z) + \overline{zg'(z)},$$

which coincide with the radial direction of  $F_2(\rho) = f(\rho^{it})$  at  $\rho = r$ . For a sensepreserving harmonic mapping f we have

$$\frac{\mathfrak{D}f(z)}{\mathcal{D}f(z)} = \frac{zh'(z) - \overline{zg'(z)}}{zh'(z) + \overline{zg'(z)}}$$
$$= \frac{1 - \frac{\overline{zg'(z)}}{zh'(z)}}{1 + \frac{\overline{zg'(z)}}{zh'(z)}}$$

and since  $\left|\frac{\overline{zg'(z)}}{zh'(z)}\right| = |a(z)| < 1$ , therefore

$$\Re\left\{\frac{\mathfrak{D}f(z)}{\mathcal{D}f(z)}\right\} > 0.$$
(4)

We shall follow Lemma A in Miller and Mocanu [3] to get an appropriate Clunie-Jack Lemma for Harmonic functions.

**Lemma 1** Let f(z) be a sense-preserving harmonic mapping defined on U of the form  $f(z) = h(z) + \overline{g(z)}$ ; f(0) = 0. For fixed r; 0 < r < 1, let  $\xi = re^{it_0}$  satisfy

$$|f(\xi)| = \max_{|z| \le r} |f(z)|$$

then

$$\frac{\mathfrak{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)} = m > 0; \tag{5}$$

and

$$\left|\frac{\mathcal{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)}\right| \ge \frac{2}{\pi} \equiv M.$$

**Proof** For  $z = re^{it} \in U$ , set  $f(z) = R(r, t)e^{i\Phi(r,t)}$ . Then

$$\frac{\mathfrak{D}f(z)}{f(z)} = \Phi_t - i\frac{R_t}{R},$$

and since R(r, t);  $0 \le t \le 2\pi$  attains its maximal value at  $\xi = re^{it_0}$ , we have  $R_t(r, t_0) = 0$  and we conclude that

$$\frac{\mathfrak{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)} = \Phi_t(r, t_0) = m > 0.$$

Indeed, as explained in the introduction of this section,  $\mathfrak{D}f(\xi)$  is in the direction of  $f(\xi)$  so that  $m \ge 0$ . Furthermore,  $\mathfrak{D}f(\xi) = zh' - \overline{zg'} \ne 0$  since  $J_f = |h'|^2 - |g'|^2 > 0$  in *U*. Furthermore, from (4) and (5) we conclude that

$$\Re\left\{\frac{\mathcal{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)}\right\} > 0.$$
(6)

Let  $\tilde{f}(z) = \frac{f(\xi z)}{f(\xi)}$  which is harmonic in  $\overline{U}$  and satisfies  $\tilde{f}(0) = 0$  and for  $z \in \partial U$ 

$$|\tilde{f}(z)| \le \frac{\max_{0 \le t \le 2\pi} |f(e^{it}\xi)|}{|f(\xi)|} \le 1.$$

The Schwarz Lemma for harmonic mappings is  $|\tilde{f}(z)| \leq \frac{4}{\pi} \arctan |z|$  and in particular we have

$$\lim_{r \uparrow 1} \frac{1 - |\tilde{f}(r)|}{1 - r} \ge \frac{d}{dr} \left( \frac{4}{\pi} \arctan(r) \right) \Big|_{r=1} = \frac{2}{\pi} = M.$$

Then

$$\frac{\mathcal{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)} = \frac{d}{dr} \left( \frac{f(r\xi)}{f(\xi)} \right) \Big|_{r=1} = \lim_{r \uparrow 1} \frac{f(\xi) - f(r\xi)}{(1 - r)f(\xi)}$$
$$= \lim_{r \uparrow 1} \left[ 1 - \frac{f(r\xi)}{f(\xi)} \right] \frac{1}{1 - r}$$

and

$$\left|\frac{\mathcal{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)}\right| \ge \lim_{r \uparrow 1} \frac{1 - |\tilde{f}(r)|}{1 - r}$$
$$\ge \frac{2}{\pi} = M. \blacksquare$$

Two generalizations of Theorem A for sense-preserving harmonic mappings are

**Corollary 1** Let f(z) be a sense-preserving harmonic mapping defined on U and satisfies

$$|f(z) + \mathfrak{D}f(z)| < 1; z \in U.$$
 Then  $|f(z)| < 1; z \in U.$ 

**Proof** Assume to the contrary that the set  $S = \{f^{-1}(e^{it}), 0 < t \le 2\pi\}$  is nonempty. Let  $r = \min_{z \in S} |z|$ . Choose a point  $\xi = re^{it_0}$  on  $U_r = \{|z| \le r\}$ . Then  $\xi$  admits the same properties of its alike in Theorem 1. Using (5) we have

$$|f(\xi) + \mathfrak{D}f(\xi)| = |f(\xi) + mf(\xi)| = (1+m)|f(\xi)| = 1+m > 1$$

a contradiction.

**Corollary 2** Let f(z) be a sense-preserving harmonic mapping defined on U and satisfies

$$|f(z) + \mathcal{D}f(z)| < 1; \ z \in U.$$
 Then  $|f(z)| < 1; \ z \in U.$ 

**Proof** We follow the same proof as in Corollary 1. From (6)  $\Re \left\{ \frac{\mathcal{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)} \right\} > 0$ . Then

$$|f(\xi) + \mathcal{D}f(\xi)| = \left|1 + \frac{\mathcal{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)}\right| |f(\xi)| \ge \left(1 + \Re\left\{\frac{\mathcal{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)}\right\}\right) |f(\xi)| > 1.$$

a contradiction.

In [2, Theorem 1], Miller proves the following subordination principle

**Theorem B** Let h(r, s) be a continuous complex function in a domain  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  satisfying the following conditions:

- (I)  $(0,0) \in D$  and h(0,0) < 1,
- (II)  $h(e^{it}, ke^{it}) \ge 1$  when  $(e^{it}, ke^{it}) \in D$  and  $k \ge 1$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

If w(z); w(0) = 0, is an analytic function in U and for  $z \in U$ 

(a)  $(w(z), zw'(z)) \in D$ , and (b) |h(w(z), zw'(z))| < 1,

*then*  $|w(z)| < 1; z \in U.$ 

A generalization of Miller's [2] Theorem 1 is

**Theorem 2** Let h(r, s) be a continuous complex function in a domain  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^2$  satisfying the following conditions:

(1)  $(0,0) \in D \text{ and } h(0,0) < M = \frac{2}{\pi}, \text{ and }$ 

(II)  $h(\frac{e^{is}}{M}, ke^{it}) \ge 1$  for all  $t, s \in \mathbb{R}, |t-s| \le \frac{\pi}{2}$  and  $k \ge 1$ .

If f(z); f(0) = 0, is a sense-preserving harmonic mapping in U and for  $z \in U$ 

(a)  $(f(z), \mathcal{D}f(z)) \in D$ , and (b)  $|h(f(z), \mathcal{D}f(z))| < 1$ , then  $|f(z)| < \frac{1}{M} = \frac{\pi}{2}; z \in U$ .

**Proof** Suppose that  $\xi = re^{it_0}$  is a point in U such that

$$\max_{|z| \le r} |f(z)| = \max_{|z| = r} |f(z)| = |f(\xi)| = \frac{1}{M} = \frac{\pi}{2}.$$

By Lemma 1 we have  $\left|\frac{\mathcal{D}f(\xi)}{f(\xi)}\right| \ge M$  so that  $|\mathcal{D}f(\xi)| \ge 1$  or

$$\mathcal{D}f(\xi) = ke^{it}; \ k \ge 1, \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Set  $f(\xi) = \frac{e^{is}}{M}$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , then by (5)  $|t - s| \le \frac{\pi}{2}$ . By (b)

$$|h(f(\xi), \mathcal{D}f(\xi))| = |h(\frac{e^{is}}{M}, ke^{it})| < 1,$$

which contradicts (II). Therefore  $|f(z)| < \frac{1}{M} = \frac{\pi}{2}$ ;  $z \in U$ .

The first theorem by Miller and Mocanu [3] of second order differential subordination of positive real analytic functions is one of many. It turns out that it can be used to get results on second order differential subordination of bounded analytic and harmonic mappings, in the case of linear operator. To simplify the formulas, we shall consider a first order version for harmonic mappings.

**Theorem C** (Miller and Mocanu [3], Special Case) Let  $\psi(r, s)$  be a continuous complex function in a domain  $D \subset \mathbb{C}^2$ ;  $r = r_1 + ir_2$ ;  $s = s_1 + is_2$ , satisfying the following conditions:

(*I*)  $(1,0) \in D$  and  $\Re\{\psi(1,0)\} = 1$ , and (*II*) for  $(ir_2, s_1) \in D$ , if  $s_1 \leq -\frac{1+r_2^2}{2}$  then  $\Re\{\psi(ir_2, s_1)\} \leq 0$ .

Let  $p(z) = 1 + p_1 z + p_2 z^2 + \dots$  be analytic in U and if

$$\Re\{\psi(p(z), zp'(z))\} > 0; z \in U \text{ then } \Re\{p(z)\} > 0.$$

The next theorem is an improvement of Theorem 2 when  $\psi$  is a linear operator.

**Theorem 3** Let f(z); f(0) = 0, be a sense-preserving harmonic mapping in U. We further assume that

$$\psi(q(z), \mathcal{D}q(z)) = \alpha q(z) + \beta \mathcal{D}q(z); \ \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$$
and Let  $\psi(r, s)$  be as in Theorem C (In this case it reduces to  $\left|\frac{\Im\{\alpha\}}{\Re\{\beta\}}\right| < 1$ ). Then

if 
$$|\psi(f(z), \mathcal{D}f(z))| < 1; z \in U$$
 then  $|f(z)| < 1; z \in U$ .

For the proof of Theorem 3 we start by observing

**Proposition 1** Let a complex function f(z) be defined on some domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}$ . Then |f(z)| < 1 in  $\Omega$  if, and only if, for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$\Re\{e^{it}f(z)\} > -1; \ z \in \Omega.$$

**Definition 2** Let  $f(z) = h + \overline{g}$  be harmonic in U. The shear of f(z) in the direction of the imaginary axis is defined by  $[f]_I = h + g$ .

In particular  $\Re{f} = \Re{h + \overline{g}} = \Re{h + g} = \Re{[f]_I}$ , therefore

$$|f| < 1 \implies -1 < \Re\{f\} = \Re\{[f]_I\} < 1.$$

**Proposition 2** Let f and  $[f]_I$  be as in Definition 2. Then |f| < 1 if, and only if, for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$-1 < \Re\left\{\left[e^{it}f\right]_{I}\right\} = \Re\left\{e^{it}f\right\} = \Re\left\{e^{it}h + e^{-it}g\right\} < 1.$$

Both propositions are trivial and we omit their proofs.

**Proof of Theorem 3:** Let  $f(z) = h(z) + \overline{g(z)}$  where f(0) = 0. If  $|\psi(f(z), \mathcal{D}f(z))| < 1$ , then

$$|e^{it}\psi(f(z),\mathcal{D}f(z))| < 1; \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

In particular

$$\Re\{e^{it}\psi(f(z),\mathcal{D}f(z))\}+1>0;\ t\in\mathbb{R}.$$

By assumption we have

$$\Re\{\psi(e^{it}f(z), \mathcal{D}(e^{it}f(z))\}+1>0,$$

and if we set  $F(z) = e^{it} f(z) + 1$ , then

$$\Re\{\psi(F(z),\mathcal{D}F(z))\}>0.$$

Using the shear it can be written in the form

$$\Re\{\psi([F(z)]_I, [\mathcal{D}F(z)]_I)\} > 0$$

and since  $\psi(r, s)$  satisfy the assumptions in Theorem C and,  $[F(z)]_I$  and  $[\mathcal{D}F(z)]_I$  are normalized analytic functions as in Theorem C as well, we conclude that for real *t* 

$$\Re\{[F(z)]_I\} = \Re\{[e^{it}f(z) + 1]_I\} > 0 \Leftrightarrow \Re\{e^{it}f(z) + 1\} > 0$$

and therefore,  $\Re\{e^{it}f(z)\} > -1$ ;  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , which by Proposition 1 implies |f(z)| < 1.

Remark 1 In Theorem 3

(I)  $\mathcal{D}f$  can be replaced by  $\mathfrak{D}f$ .

(II)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  could be any two continuous complex functions.

As an example for (II), consider

**Theorem D ([4] Theorem 2.4f, p. 39)** Let F(z); F(0) = 1 be analytic in U and Q(z); Q(0) = 1 be analytic in U with  $\Re\{Q\} > 0$ . If in U

$$\Re\{F(z) + Q(z) \cdot zF'(z)\} > 0,$$

*then*  $\Re\{F(z)\} > 0.$ 

The same proof of Theorem 3 implies

**Theorem 4** Let f(z); f(0) = 0, be a sense-preserving harmonic mapping in U and Q(z); Q(0) = 1 be analytic in U with  $\Re\{Q\} > 0$ . If in U

$$|f(z) + Q(z) \cdot \mathcal{D}f(z)| < 1$$
 then  $|f(z)| < 1$ .

# References

- 1. I.S. Jack, Functions starlike and convex of order  $\alpha$ . J. Lond. Math. Soc. **3**, 469–474 (1971)
- S.S. Miller, A class of differential inequalities implying boundedness. Illinois J. Math. 20, 647– 649 (1976)
- S.S. Miller, P.T. Mocanu, Second order differential inequalities in the complex plane. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 65, 289–305 (1978)
- 4. S.S. Miller, P.T. Mocanu, Differential Subordinations, in *Theory and Applications, Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 225 (Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, 2000)

# The Segal–Bargmann Transform in Clifford Analysis



Swanhild Bernstein and Sandra Schufmann

**Abstract** The Segal–Bargmann transform plays an essential role in signal processing, quantum physics, infinite-dimensional analysis, function theory and further topics. The connection to signal processing is the short-time Fourier transform, which can be used to describe the Segal-Bargmann transform. The classical Segal-Bargmann transform  $\mathcal{B}$  maps a square integrable function to a holomorphic function square-integrable with respect to a Gaussian identity. In signal processing terms, a signal from the position space  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$  is mapped to the phase space of wave functions, or Fock space,  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m,\mathbb{C})$ . We extend the classical Segal-Bargmann transform to a space of Clifford algebra-valued functions. We show how the Segal-Bargmann transform is related to the short-time Fourier transform and use this connection to demonstrate that  $\mathcal{B}$  is unitary up to a constant and maps Sommen's orthonormal Clifford Hermite functions  $\{\phi_{l,k,j}\}$  to an orthonormal basis of the Segal–Bargmann module  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ . We also lay out that the Segal–Bargmann transform can be expanded to a convergent series with a dictionary of  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ . In other words, we analyse the signal f in one basis and reconstruct it in a basis of the Segal-Bargmann module.

**Keywords** Clifford analysis  $\cdot$  Bargmann transform  $\cdot$  Fock Space  $\cdot$  Short-time Fourier transform  $\cdot$  Orthonormal basis  $\cdot$  Hermite polynomials

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2000)** Primary 30G35; Secondary 42B10, 44A15, 42C05

S. Bernstein  $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$ . Schufmann

Technische Universität Bergakademie Freiberg, Faculty of Mathematics and Computer Science, Institute of Applied Analysis, Freiberg, Germany e-mail: swanhild.bernstein@math.tu-freiberg.de; sandra.schufmann@math.tu-freiberg.de

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), *New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative*, Operator Theory: Advances

and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_3

# 1 Introduction

Due to the importance of the Segal–Bargmann transform, there are various generalizations into quaternion and Clifford analysis. In particular, the Bargmann-Segal transformation has been studied in the theory of slice monogenic functions [2, 11, 12, 22]. Our interest doesn't lie in these theories. We are interested in the importance of the Segal–Bargmann transform in its connection to the windowed Fourier transform and time-frequency analysis.

Time-frequency analysis is an important method in signal processing, because it allows to analyse a given signal simultaneously in the time and frequency domains. A well-known tool is the short-time Fourier transform. Another closely related tool is the Segal–Bargmann transform, which is our main focus in this paper.

The classical Segal–Bargmann transform maps a square integrable function to a holomorphic function square-integrable with respect to a Gaussian identity. In signal processing terms, a signal from the position space  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$  is mapped to the phase space of wave functions  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})$ . In the early 1960s, V. Bargmann and I. Segal independently investigated this space [4, 25]. While Bargmann developed a theory about the space and the corresponding transform in the finite-dimensional case, Segal focused primarily on the infinite-dimensional version of the now-called Segal–Bargmann space(s) [20].

The space  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})$  has a wide number of applications such as in infinitedimensional analysis and stochastic distribution theory. As early as 1932, V. Fock introduced a more general, infinite-dimensional version of this space as a quantum states space for an unknown number of particles [16], which is now called *Fock* space. In quantum mechanics, the reproducing kernels of the Fock spaces are the so-called coherent states. Segal and Bargmann showed that an infinite union of the spaces  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C}), m \in \mathbb{N}$ , is isomorphic to a certain case of the Fock space, which is why the Segal–Bargmann spaces are sometimes also called Segal–Bargmann-Fock space(s) or only Fock space. For this work, we will stick to the notion of Segal–Bargmann space.

In signal and image processing not only scalar-valued but also quaternion- and Clifford-valued signals are of interest. A monogenic signal [5, 6, 14], for example, consists of a scalar-valued signal and vector components, which are the Riesz transformations of the scalar-valued signal. Other applications deal with colour images of which the colours are separated and considered as components of a Clifford-valued signal, see for example [10, 13, 21, 27].

The main purpose of this paper is to investigate the Segal–Bargmann transform  $\mathcal{B}$  of Clifford algebra-valued functions, which has also been the focus of D. Peña Peña, I. Sabadini and F. Sommen [23]. We will define and examine the Segal–Bargmann module  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ , a higher-dimensional analogue of the classical Segal–Bargmann space.

It is known that there is a close relationship between the Gabor transform (short-time Fourier transform with a Gaussian window) and the Segal–Bargmann transform. Recently, this connection has been used to filter a signal embedded in

white noise [1, 15]. Therefore, we investigate the mapping properties of the Segal–Bargmann transform in the context of Clifford estimators.

We prove that  $\mathcal{B}$  is a unitary operator up to a scaling constant, and that it maps an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$  to an orthonormal basis of the Segal–Bargmann module  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ . For that, we will use Sommen's Clifford-Hermite functions  $\{\phi_{l,k,j}\}$  as an  $L^2$  basis.

We also lay out that the Segal–Bargmann transform can be expanded to a series  $\infty \propto \dim(M_t^+(k))$ 

$$\left(\mathcal{B}f\right)(z) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{l} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle \text{ with a dictionary } \{\Psi_{l,k,j}\} \text{ of the}$$

Segal–Bargmann module and that this series converges absolutely locally uniformly.

The paper is organised as follows. In Sects. 2.1 and 2.2 we give an overview of basic Clifford analysis and of Hilbert Clifford-modules, which replace Hilbert spaces in our context. Section 2.3 deals with a certain class of Clifford-valued functions, the inner spherical monogenics, which are central to the construction of a basis for the function spaces that we deal with. In Sect. 2.4, we present the short-time Fourier transform as in important tool for our work.

After we have established these preliminary notes, we introduce Sommen's generalized Clifford Hermite polynomials and their relevant properties in Sect. 3. In Sect. 4, we formally introduce the Segal–Bargmann transform and the Segal–Bargmann space of the classical, non-Clifford case, before we establish its analogue, the Segal–Bargmann module, in Sect. 5 and show some important properties of the Segal–Bargmann transform of Clifford algebra-valued functions. We conclude our paper with Sect. 6 by constructing a dictionary  $\{\Psi_{l,k,j}\}$  for the Segal–Bargmann transform and proving the convergence of the series representation  $\infty \propto \min(M_l^+(k))$ 

$$\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{l} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle$$

### 2 Preliminaries

# 2.1 Clifford Algebras

While real Clifford algebras have gained much interest in mathematical research since W. Clifford wrote about them in 1878, cf. [19], complex Clifford algebras are a fairly recent topic of interest. In our work, we deal with both cases. We take notations and properties mainly from [7], in which the real version is displayed, and adopt them to fit the complex case. For that, we work close to J. Ryan's *Complexified clifford analysis* [24], in which a detailed extension of real to complex Clifford algebras is developed.

We will write  $\mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, 3, ...\}$  and  $\mathbb{N}_0 = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ . Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{R}}$ denote the real Clifford algebra over  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mathcal{U}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$  the complex Clifford algebra over  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . Both are based on the multiplication rules

$$e_i e_j + e_j e_i = 0, \ i \neq j,$$
  
 $e_i^2 = -1, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$ 

and have  $e_0 \equiv 1$  as their unit element.

An arbitrary element of  $\mathcal{U}_n^{\mathbb{R}}$  or  $\mathcal{U}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$  is called a Clifford number and is given by

$$a=\sum_A a_A e_A,$$

where  $a_A \in \mathbb{R}$  or  $a_A \in \mathbb{C}$ , resp., and for each  $A = (n_1, \ldots, n_l)$  with  $1 \le n_1 < n_2 < \ldots < n_l \le m$ , it is  $e_A = e_{n_1}e_{n_2}\ldots e_{n_l}$ . The coefficient  $a_0$  is called the scalar part of a and  $\underline{a} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_j e_j$  a Clifford vector. Similar to the complex conjugation  $-\mathbb{C}$ , we can define involutions - for the real

and <sup>†</sup> for the complex Clifford algebra. Let

$$\overline{e}_A = (-1)^{\frac{|A|(|A|+1)}{2}} e_A.$$

Then

$$\overline{a} = \sum_{A} a_{A} \overline{e}_{A}$$

for  $a \in \mathcal{C}\ell_n^{\mathbb{R}}$ , and

$$a^{\dagger} = \sum_{A} \overline{a}_{A}^{\mathbb{C}} \overline{e}_{A}$$

for  $a \in \mathcal{C}\ell_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ .

We refer to [17] and state that  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{R}}$  becomes a finite dimensional Hilbert space with the inner product

$$(a,b)_0 = [\overline{a}b]_0 = \sum_A a_A b_A$$

for all  $a, b \in \mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{R}}$ , and has Hilbert space norm

$$|a|_0 = \sqrt{(a,a)_0} = \sqrt{\sum_A |a_A|^2}.$$

The inner product on  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{R}}$  extends to a sesqui-linear inner product

$$(a,b)_0 = [a^{\dagger}b]_0 = \sum_A \overline{a_A}^{\mathbb{C}} b_A$$

for  $a, b \in \mathcal{C}\ell_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ .

It can be shown that Clifford algebras are  $C^*$ -algebras, see [17].

**Proposition 2.1** Under the involution  $a \to a^{\dagger}$  each  $\mathcal{C}_{n}^{\mathbb{C}}$  is a complex  $C^{*}$ -algebra which is a complexification of the real  $C^{*}$ -algebra  $\mathcal{C}_{n}^{\mathbb{R}}$ .

### 2.2 Hilbert Clifford-Modules

We want to consider spaces of  $\mathscr{C}\ell_m^{\mathbb{R}}$ - or  $C_m^{\mathbb{C}}$ -valued functions. For that purpose, we need an anologue to the classical  $L^2$  spaces. Since the elements of a Clifford algebra do not form a field, we work in Clifford-modules. The following two definitions are taken from [7] and adapted for the complex case; the real case is contained implicitly.

**Definition 2.2**  $X_{(r)}$  is a **unitary right**  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ -module, when  $(X_{(r)}, +)$  is an abelian group and the mapping  $(f, a) \to fa$  from  $X_{(r)} \times \mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}} \to X_{(r)}$  is defined such that for all  $a, b \in \mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$  and  $f, g \in X_{(r)}$ :

1. f(a+b) = fa + fb, 2. f(ab) = (fa)b, 3. (f+g)a = fa + ga, 4.  $fe_0 = f$ .

We define an inner product on a unitary right  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ -module as follows.

**Definition 2.3** Let  $H_{(r)}$  be a unitary right  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ -module. Then a function  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle :$  $H_{(r)} \times H_{(r)} \to \mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$  is an **inner product** on  $H_{(r)}$  if for all  $f, g, h \in H_{(r)}$  and  $a \in \mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ ,

1.  $\langle f, g + h \rangle = \langle f, g \rangle + \langle f, h \rangle$ 2.  $\langle f, ga \rangle = \langle f, g \rangle a$ 3.  $\langle f, g \rangle = \langle g, f \rangle^{\dagger}$ 4.  $\langle f, f \rangle_0 \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$  and  $\langle f, f \rangle_0 = 0$  if and only if f = 05.  $\langle fa, fa \rangle_0 \le |a|_0^2 \langle f, f \rangle_0$ .

The accompanying **norm** on  $H_{(r)}$  is  $||f||^2 = \langle f, f \rangle_0$ .

We now give an important property of the inner product.

**Proposition 2.4** If  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is an inner product on a unitary right  $\mathcal{C}l_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ -module  $H_{(r)}$  and  $||f||^2 = \langle f, f \rangle_0$  then

$$|\langle f, g \rangle|_0 \le 2^n \, \|f\| \, \|g\|$$

for all  $f, g \in H_{(r)}$ .

**Proof** We use the definition of the norm on  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ ,  $|a|_0^2 = \sum_A |a_A|^2$ , and the fact that

$$[ae_{A}]_{0} = \left[\sum_{B} a_{B}e_{B}e_{A}\right]_{0} = [a_{A}e_{A}e_{A}]_{0} = -a_{A}$$
(2.1)

for all  $a \in \mathcal{C}\!\ell_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ . Also, if we consider  $H_{(r)}$  to be a vector space over  $\mathbb{C}$  with inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_0$ , we know that the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality

$$|\langle f, g \rangle_0|^2 \le \langle f, f \rangle_0 \cdot \langle g, g \rangle_0 = ||f||^2 ||g||^2$$
 (2.2)

has to be true. Now, we get

$$\begin{split} |\langle f,g\rangle|_{0}^{2} &= \sum_{A} |\langle f,g\rangle_{A}|^{2} \stackrel{(2.1)}{=} \sum_{A} \left| [\langle f,g\rangle e_{A}]_{0} \right|^{2} \\ \stackrel{(ii)}{=} \sum_{A} |\langle f,ge_{A}\rangle_{0}|^{2} \stackrel{(2.2)}{\leq} \sum_{A} ||f||^{2} ||ge_{A}||^{2} \\ \stackrel{(v)}{=} \sum_{A} ||f||^{2} ||g||^{2} \cdot |e_{A}|_{0}^{2} &= \sum_{A} ||f||^{2} ||g||^{2} \\ &= 2^{n} ||f||^{2} ||g||^{2}. \end{split}$$

As an analogue to Hilbert (vector) spaces, we now define Hilbert modules.

**Definition 2.5** Let  $H_{(r)}$  be a unitary right  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ -module provided with an inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . Then it is called a **right Hilbert**  $\mathcal{C}_n^{\mathbb{C}}$ -module if it is complete for the norm topology derived from the inner product.

Let  $m \in \mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, 3, ...\}$ . We now consider the unitary right  $\mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}}$ -module of functions from  $\mathbb{R}^m$  to  $\mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}}$ . A function  $f : \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}}$  maps the vector variable  $\underline{x} = \sum_{j=1}^m x_j e_j$  to a Clifford number and can be written as

$$f(\underline{x}) = \sum_{A} e_A f_A(\underline{x}),$$

where  $f_A : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}$  [7]. We define an inner product as follows.

**Definition 2.6** Let *h* be a positive function on  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . Then the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,h,\mathfrak{A}^{\mathbb{R}}_w)}$  is defined as

$$\langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, h, \mathcal{Q}_m^{\mathbb{R}})} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \overline{f(\underline{x})} g(\underline{x}) h(\underline{x}) d\underline{x},$$

where  $d\underline{x}$  stands for the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , and the associated norm is  $||f||^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,h,\mathcal{Q}^{\mathbb{R}}_m)} = \left[\langle f, f \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,h,\mathcal{Q}^{\mathbb{R}}_m)}\right]_0$ .

The unitary right Clifford-module of measurable functions on  $\mathbb{R}^m$  for which  $||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,h,\mathcal{Q}_m^{\mathbb{R}})} < \infty$  is a right Hilbert Clifford-module, which we denote by  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,h,\mathcal{Q}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$ . In this paper, we will focus on the case where  $h(\underline{x}) = 1$ . Then the right Hilbert Clifford-module will simply be denoted by  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\mathcal{Q}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$  and the inner product by  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\mathcal{Q}_m^{\mathbb{R}})}$ .

We also work on functions with values in a complex Clifford algebra, i.e.  $f : \Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^m \to \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}$ . For  $\underline{z} = \sum_{j=1}^m z_j e_j$ , with complex  $z_j, j = 1, \ldots, m$ , we have

$$f(\underline{z}) = \sum_{A} e_A f_A(\underline{z})$$

with  $f_A : \mathbb{C}^m \to \mathbb{C}$ . Analogously to the real case, we can define the right Hilbert Clifford-module  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, h, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ , where *h* is a positive function over  $\mathbb{C}^m$ . Here,

$$\langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, h, \mathcal{Q}_m^{\mathbb{C}})} = \int_{\mathbb{C}^m} f^{\dagger}(\underline{z}) g(\underline{z}) h(\underline{z}) d\underline{x} d\underline{y}$$

with  $\underline{z} = \underline{x} + i\underline{y}$ , where  $\dagger$  denotes the involution on  $\mathcal{C}l_m^{\mathbb{C}}$ , cf. page 32. The associated norm is  $||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{C}^m,h,\mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})}^2 = \left[\langle f,f \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{C}^m,h,\mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})}\right]_0$ . Particularly important to our work will be those spaces  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^m,h,\mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$  for which *h* is defined as the Gaussian function  $h(\underline{z}) = \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2/2}}}{\pi^m}$ , cf. Sect. 5.

#### Proposition 2.7

1. Let  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, h, \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{R}})$ . Then

$$\left|\left|f\right|\right|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m},h,\mathcal{A}_{m}^{\mathbb{R}})}^{2}=\int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}\left|f(\underline{x})\right|_{0}^{2}h(\underline{x})d\underline{x}.$$

2. Let  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, h, \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ . Then

$$||f||_{L^2(\mathbb{C}^m,h,\mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{C}^m} |f(\underline{z})|_0^2 h(\underline{z}) d\underline{x} d\underline{y}.$$

**Proof** We only show (ii) since the real case is equivalent,

$$\begin{split} ||f||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m},h,\mathcal{Q}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}})}^{2} &= \left[ \langle f,f \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m},h,\mathcal{Q}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}})} \right]_{0} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \left[ f^{\dagger}(\underline{z})f(\underline{z}) \right]_{0} h(\underline{z})d\underline{x} \, d\underline{y} = \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \left| f(\underline{z}) \right|_{0}^{2} h(\underline{z})d\underline{x} \, d\underline{y}. \end{split}$$

# 2.3 Inner Spherical Monogenics

Since many of the following results are similar for functions of real and complex Clifford algebras, we will state them for the real case and give the complex case in ().

Of particular importance, when dealing with Clifford algebra-valued functions, is the Dirac operator

$$D_{\underline{x}} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} e_j \partial_{x_j} \quad (D_{\underline{z}} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} e_j \partial_{z_j}).$$

Left nullsolutions of  $D_x$  ( $D_z$ ) are called (complex) left monogenic functions.

Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\mathfrak{P}^s$  be the space of scalar-valued polynomials in  $\mathbb{R}^m$  ( $\mathbb{C}^m$ ). Then a Clifford polynomial is an element of  $\mathfrak{P}^s \otimes \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}}$  ( $\mathfrak{P}^s \otimes \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}$ ).

An important class of polynomials are the so called (complex) inner spherical monogenics. A left inner spherical monogenic of order k is a left monogenic homogeneous Clifford polynomial  $P_k$  of degree k. The set of all left inner spherical monogenics of order k is denoted by  $M_l^+(k)$  and has the dimension [8]

$$\dim(M_l^+(k)) = \binom{m+k-2}{k},$$

(with dim( $M_l^+(0)$ ) = 1 for all  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ ).

We will deal with inner spherical monogenics over both  $\mathbb{R}^m$  and  $\mathbb{C}^m$ . To differentiate, we will write  $P_k(\underline{x}) : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}}$  and  $P_k(\underline{z}) : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}$ .

# 2.4 Short-time Fourier Transform

An important tool in time-frequency analysis is the short-time Fourier Transform. It allows to analyse a given signal simultaneously in the time and in the frequency domain, because it calculates the Fourier Transform not over the whole signal, but small blocks of it.

Given a signal  $f(\underline{t})$  and a window function  $\varphi(\underline{t})$ , the short-time Fourier Transform  $(V_{\varphi}f)(\underline{t},\underline{\omega})$  is classically defined as

$$(V_{\varphi}f)(\underline{t},\underline{\omega}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} f(\underline{x}) \overline{\varphi(\underline{x}-\underline{t})}^{\mathbb{C}} e^{-i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}} d\underline{x}.$$

A commonly used window function is the Gaussian window because it provides a very good resolution of the studied signal [18].

It is given by  $h(\underline{x}) = e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}$ .

# **3** Clifford Hermite Polynomials

We will now consider Clifford Hermite polynomials as a special class of Clifford polynomials.

In the classical case, the Hermite polynomials over  $\mathbb{R}$  can be obtained from the Taylor expansion of the function  $z \mapsto e^{z^2/2}$ ,

$$e^{z^2/2} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{x^2/2} \frac{t^n}{n!} H_n(ix).$$

They can also be calculated explicitly by

$$H_n(x) = (-1)^n e^{x^2} \frac{d^n}{dx^n} e^{-x^2}.$$

Through a similar expansion for  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , F. Sommen defined *radial Hermite* polynomials [26], which are explicitly given by

$$H_{k,m}(\underline{x}) = (-1)^k e^{\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{2}} D_{\underline{x}}^k e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{2}}.$$

Since the radial Hermite polynomials only form a basis for a certain kind of  $L^2$  functions, i.e. such functions that are defined on the real line, Sommen developed a more complex set of polynomials, starting from the monogenic extension of  $e^{-|\underline{x}|^2/2}P_k(\underline{x})$ , where  $P_k(\underline{x})$  is a left inner spherical monogenic of degree k, cf. Sect. 2.3. This lead him to what he called the generalized Hermite polynomials, which can be used to construct a basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^\mathbb{R})$ .

**Definition 3.1** The generalized Clifford Hermite polynomials  $H_{l,m,k}$ ,  $l, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , are given by

$$H_{l,m,k}P_k(\underline{x}) = e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{2}}(-1)^l D_{\underline{x}}^l \left( e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{2}} P_k(\underline{x}) \right)$$
(3.1)

where  $P_k(\underline{x})$  is a left inner spherical monogenic of degree k.

An important property of the generalized Clifford Hermite polynomials is their orthogonality [9].

**Theorem 3.2** Let  $H_{l,m,k_1}$  and  $H_{t,m,k_2}$  be generalized Clifford Hermite polynomials and  $P_{k_1}(\underline{x})$  and  $P_{k_2}(\underline{x})$  inner spherical monogenics of order  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ , resp. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{2}} \overline{H_{l,m,k_1}(\underline{x}) P_{k_1}(\underline{x})} H_{t,m,k_2}(\underline{x}) P_{k_2}(\underline{x}) d\underline{x} = \gamma_{l,k_1} \delta_{l,t} \delta_{k_1,k_2},$$

with

$$\gamma_{2p,k} = \frac{2^{2p+m/2+k}p!\sqrt{\pi}^{m}\Gamma\left(\frac{m}{2}+k+p\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{m}{2}\right)},$$
$$\gamma_{2p+1,k} = \frac{2^{2p+m/2+k+1}p!\sqrt{\pi}^{m}\Gamma\left(\frac{m}{2}+k+p+1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{m}{2}\right)}$$

Building on the orthogonality, Sommen and his colleagues established an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$ , cf. [9, 26].

**Theorem 3.3** Let  $\gamma_{l,k}$ ,  $k, l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , be as defined in Theorem 3.2. For each  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , let further  $\left\{P_k^{(j)}(\underline{x})\right\}_{j=1,2,\dots,\dim(M_l^+(k))}$  be an orthonormal basis of  $M_l^+(k)$ .

$$\left\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{l,k}}}H_{l,m,k}(\underline{x})P_{k}^{(j)}(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4}}:l,k\in\mathbb{N}_{0},j\leq\dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))\right\}$$
(3.2)

forms an orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{R}})$ .

Each element of (3.2) depends on *l*, *k* and the chosen basis of  $M_l^+(k)$ , which contains dim $(M_l^+(k)) = {m+k-2 \choose k}$  elements, cf. Sect. 2.3.

# 4 Segal–Bargmann Transform

The first very general version of the Segal–Bargmann space goes back to V. Fock's theory of 1932 of the quantum state space of particles [16]. Here, we will consider the more specific finite-dimensional version of the following definitions taken from [23]. We will transfer those definitions to the Clifford case in Sect. 5.

**Definition 4.1** The **Segal–Bargmann space**  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})$  is defined as the Hilbert space of entire functions f in  $\mathbb{C}^m$  which are square-integrable with respect to the 2m-dimensional Gaussian density, i.e.,

$$\frac{1}{\pi^m} \int_{\mathbb{C}^m} e^{-|\underline{z}|^2} |f(\underline{z})|^2 \, d\underline{x} \, d\underline{y} < \infty, \quad \underline{z} = \underline{x} + i\underline{y}.$$

It is equipped with the inner product

$$\langle f, g \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m,\mathbb{C})} = \frac{1}{\pi^m} \int_{\mathbb{C}^m} e^{-|\underline{z}|^2} \overline{f(\underline{z})} g(\underline{z}) d\underline{x} d\underline{y}.$$

The Segal–Bargmann transform connects the Bargmann space with the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$  by mapping the ladder onto the former.

**Definition 4.2** The Segal-Bargmann transform  $\mathcal{B}$  from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$  to  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})$  is defined by

$$\left(\mathcal{B}f\right)(\underline{z}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z} - \frac{\underline{x}\cdot\underline{x}}{4}} f(\underline{x}) \, d\underline{x},\tag{4.1}$$

with  $\underline{x} \cdot \underline{z} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} x_j z_j$ , for any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$ .

The Segal–Bargmann transform is a linear operator. It can also be expressed in terms of a short-time Fourier Transform (cf. Sect. 2.4).

**Proposition 4.3** Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be the Segal-Bargmann transform and  $V_{\varphi}$  the short-time Fourier Transform with window  $\varphi(\underline{x}) = e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}$ . Then for all  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$ ,

$$(V_{\varphi}f)(2\underline{t},-\underline{\omega}) = e^{-\frac{|\underline{z}|^2}{2}}e^{i\underline{t}\cdot\underline{\omega}}(\mathcal{B}f)(\underline{z}), \quad \underline{z} = \underline{t} + i\underline{\omega}.$$

Proof

$$\begin{aligned} (V_{\varphi}f)(2\underline{t},-\underline{\omega}) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} f(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4}} e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}} d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} f(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{t} - |\underline{t}|^{2}} e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}} d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} e^{-\frac{|\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}} e^{-\frac{|\underline{\omega}|^{2}}{2}} e^{i\underline{t}\cdot\underline{\omega}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} f(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4} + \underline{x}\cdot(\underline{t} + i\underline{\omega}) - \frac{(\underline{t} + i\underline{\omega})^{2}}{2}} d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} e^{-\frac{|\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}} e^{-\frac{|\underline{\omega}|^{2}}{2}} e^{i\underline{t}\cdot\underline{\omega}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} f(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z} - \frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2}} d\underline{x} \\ &= e^{-\frac{|\underline{z}|^{2}}{2}} e^{i\underline{t}\cdot\underline{\omega}} (\mathcal{B}f)(\underline{z}) \end{aligned}$$

A well-known property of the Segal–Bargmann transform is that it is a unitary operator up to a scaling constant.

**Proposition 4.4** Let  $\mathcal{B}$ :  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})$  be the Segal–Bargmann transform (4.1). Then

$$\langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})}.$$

**Proof** We use Proposition 4.3, i.e.

$$(\mathcal{B}f)(\underline{z}) = e^{\frac{|\underline{z}|^2}{2}} e^{-i\underline{t}\cdot\underline{\omega}} (V_{\varphi}f)(2\underline{t}, -\underline{\omega}),$$

with  $\underline{z} = \underline{t} + i\underline{\omega}$  and  $\varphi(\underline{x}) = e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}$ . Then

$$\langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m},\mathbb{C})} = \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \overline{(\mathcal{B}f)(\underline{z})}^{\mathbb{C}} (\mathcal{B}g)(\underline{z}) e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}} d\underline{x} d\underline{y}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} e^{\frac{|\underline{z}|^{2}}{2}} e^{i\underline{t}\cdot\underline{\omega}} \overline{(V_{\varphi}f)(2\underline{t}, -\underline{\omega})}^{\mathbb{C}}$$

$$\cdot e^{\frac{|\underline{z}|^{2}}{2}} e^{-i\underline{t}\cdot\underline{\omega}} (V_{\varphi}g)(2\underline{t}, -\underline{\omega}) e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}} d\underline{\omega} d\underline{t}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \overline{(V_{\varphi}f)(2\underline{t}, -\underline{\omega})}^{\mathbb{C}} (V_{\varphi}g)(2\underline{t}, -\underline{\omega}) d\underline{\omega} d\underline{t}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \overline{\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} f(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}-2\underline{t}|^{2}}{4}} e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}} d\underline{x}$$

$$\cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} g(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}-2\underline{t}|^{2}}{4}} e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}} d\underline{x} d\underline{\omega} d\underline{t}.$$

Let  $\varphi(\cdot - 2\underline{t})$  denote the Gaussian window translated by  $-2\underline{t}$  and  $\mathcal{F}$  the Fourier Transform in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . Thus

$$\langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})} = \frac{1}{\pi^m} \int_{\mathbb{C}^m} \overline{\mathcal{F}^{-1}(f \cdot \varphi(\cdot - 2\underline{t}))(\underline{\omega})}^{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{F}^{-1}(g \cdot \varphi(\cdot - 2\underline{t}))(\underline{\omega}) d\underline{\omega} d\underline{t}.$$

The Plancherel Theorem now gives us

$$\langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m},\mathbb{C})} = \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \overline{f(\underline{x})} e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}-2\underline{t}|^{2}}{4}} \mathcal{C}g(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}-2\underline{t}|^{2}}{4}} d\underline{t} d\underline{x}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} f(\underline{x})g(\underline{x}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \left(e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}-2\underline{t}|^{2}}{4}}\right)^{2} d\underline{t} d\underline{x}.$$

Last, we substitute  $\underline{u} = 2\underline{t} - \underline{x}$ , and use the fact that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{|\underline{u}|^2}{2}} d\underline{u} = \sqrt{2\pi}^m$ . So,

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})} &= \frac{1}{\pi^m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} f(\underline{x}) g(\underline{x}) d\underline{x} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{|\underline{u}|^2}{2}} \frac{d\underline{u}}{2^m} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})}. \end{split}$$

Another important property of the Segal-Bargmann transform is its invertibility.

#### **Proposition 4.5**

- 1.  $F^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C})$  is the image of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$  under the Segal-Bargmann transform.
- 2. The Segal-Bargmann transform is invertible.

**Proof** For the proof of (i) we refer to [18]. (ii) then follows directly from the fact that the transform is unitary up to a constant, cf. Proposition 4.4.  $\Box$ 

# 5 Segal–Bargmann Modules

We will now look at how the Segal–Bargmann transform of Definition 4.1 acts on Clifford algebra-valued functions. So, from now on, let f be an element of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$ . Then,

$$\left(\mathcal{B}f\right)(\underline{z}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z} - \frac{\underline{x}\cdot\underline{x}}{4}} f(\underline{x}) \, d\underline{x},$$

is a function with values in the complex Clifford algebra,  $\mathcal{B}f : \mathbb{C}^m \to \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}$ . Note that Proposition 4.3 holds for functions of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$  as well.

Consider the function space  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|z|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}\ell_m^{\mathbb{C}})$  as defined in Sect. 2.2. Just as in the real case, the Segal–Bargmann transform of Clifford algebra-valued functions is unitary up to a scaling constant, as the following proposition shows.

**Proposition 5.1** If  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{R}})$ , then

$$\langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})}.$$

**Proof** Since the Segal–Bargmann transform is linear,  $f = \sum_{A} f_A e_A$  implies that  $\mathcal{B}f = \sum_{A} \mathcal{B}f_A e_A$ . Hence,

$$\langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}}, \mathcal{A}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}})} = \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \left( \mathcal{B}f \right)^{\dagger}(\underline{z}) \left( \mathcal{B}g \right)(\underline{z}) e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}} d\underline{x} d\underline{y}$$
$$= \sum_{A, B} \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \overline{\left( \mathcal{B}f_{A} \right)}^{\mathbb{C}}(\underline{z}) \overline{e_{A}} \left( \mathcal{B}g_{B} \right)(\underline{z}) e_{B} e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}} d\underline{x} d\underline{y}$$
$$= \sum_{A, B} \langle \mathcal{B}f_{A}, \mathcal{B}g_{B} \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \mathbb{C})} \overline{e_{A}} e_{B}$$

In Proposition 4.4 we have shown that  $\langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m,\mathbb{C})} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\mathbb{R})}$ is true for the classical Segal–Bargmann transform  $\mathcal{B}: L^2(\mathbb{R}^m,\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m,\mathbb{C})$ . Therefore

$$\langle \mathcal{B}f, \mathcal{B}g \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}}, \mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}})} = \sum_{A,B} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} \langle f_{A}, g_{B} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathbb{R})} \overline{e_{A}} e_{B}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} \sum_{A,B} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \overline{f_{A}(\underline{x})} g_{B}(\underline{x}) \overline{e_{A}} e_{B} d\underline{x}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \overline{f(\underline{x})} g(\underline{x}) d\underline{x} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} \langle f, g \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{R}})}$$

A direct consequence is the following corollary.

**Corollary 5.2** Let 
$$\|\cdot\|_{L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})} = \sqrt{\left[\left\langle\cdot, \cdot\right\rangle_{L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})}\right]_0}$$
. Then  
 $\|\mathcal{B}f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \|f\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})}^2$ .

Thus  $\mathcal{B}$  is an isometry from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{R}})$  into  $L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|z|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{C}})$  up to  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}}$ .

The Segal-Bargmann Transform in Clifford Analysis

In Theorem 5.3, an orthonormal basis of the space  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^\mathbb{R})$  was established. The following theorem shows that the Segal–Bargmann transform maps the elements of this basis onto functions  $\underline{z}^l P_k(\underline{z})$ .

**Theorem 5.3** Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be the Segal–Bargmann transform,  $H_{l,m,k}$  a generalized Clifford Hermite Polynomial as defined in Definition 3.1 and  $P_k$  an inner spherical monogenic of degree k. Then

$$\left(\mathcal{B}\left(H_{l,m,k}(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}P_k(\underline{x})\right)\right)(\underline{z}) = \underline{z}^l P_k(\underline{z})$$

*Proof* Our first step follows [23]. Here,

$$\begin{split} \left( \mathcal{B}\left(H_{l,m,k}(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}P_k(\underline{x})\right) \right)(\underline{z}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z} - \frac{\underline{x}\cdot\underline{x}}{2}} H_{l,m,k}(\underline{x})P_k(\underline{x})d\underline{x} \\ \overset{(3.1)}{=} \frac{(-1)^l}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z}} D_{\underline{x}}^l \left(e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{2}}P_k(\underline{x})\right) d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} D_{\underline{x}}^l \left(e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z}}\right) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{2}} P_k(\underline{x})d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z} - \frac{\underline{x}\cdot\underline{x}}{4}} P_k(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \mathcal{L} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z} - \frac{\underline{x}\cdot\underline{x}}{4}} P_k(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}} d\underline{x} \\ &= \underline{z}^l \left( \mathcal{B}\left(P_k(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}\right) \right)(\underline{z}). \end{split}$$

Next, we calculate  $\mathcal{B}(P_k(\underline{x})e^{-|\underline{x}|^2/4})$  using the windowed Fourier transform. We obtain

$$\begin{split} V_{\varphi}\left(P_{k}(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4}}\right)(2\underline{t},-\underline{\omega}) &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}P_{k}(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}-2\underline{t}|^{2}}{4}}e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}}d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}}P_{k}\left(-i\partial_{\underline{\omega}}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|}{4}+\underline{x}\cdot\underline{t}-|\underline{t}|^{2}}e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}}d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}}P_{k}\left(-i\partial_{\underline{\omega}}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{2}+\underline{x}\cdot\underline{t}-\frac{|\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{t}|}{2}}e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}}d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}}P_{k}\left(-i\partial_{\underline{\omega}}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}-\underline{t}-\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}}e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}}d\underline{x} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}}P_{k}\left(-i\partial_{\underline{\omega}}\right)\left(e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{t}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{2}}e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}}d\underline{x}\right) \end{split}$$

Since  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} e^{-\frac{|x|^2}{2}} e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{x}} d\underline{x}$  is the inverse Fourier Tranform of  $e^{-\frac{|\underline{\omega}|^2}{2}}$ , which is an invariant, we get

$$\begin{split} V_{\varphi}\left(P_{k}(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^{2}}{4}}\right)(2\underline{t},-\underline{\omega}) &= e^{-\frac{|\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}}P_{k}\left(-i\partial_{\underline{\omega}}\right)\left(e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{t}-\frac{|\underline{\omega}|^{2}}{2}}\right)\\ &= e^{-\frac{|\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}}P_{k}\left(-i(i\underline{t}-\omega)\right)\left(e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{t}-\frac{|\underline{\omega}|^{2}}{2}}\right)\\ &= e^{-\frac{|\underline{t}|^{2}}{2}}\left(e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{t}-\frac{|\underline{\omega}|^{2}}{2}}\right)P_{k}(\underline{z})\\ &= e^{-\frac{|\underline{z}|^{2}}{2}}e^{i\underline{\omega}\cdot\underline{t}}P_{k}(\underline{z}) \end{split}$$

with  $\underline{z} = \underline{t} + i\underline{\omega}$ . Because of Proposition 4.3, this leads to

$$\left(\mathcal{B}\left(P_k(\underline{x})e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}\right)\right)(\underline{z}) = P_k(\underline{z}).$$

Together with the first step, the proof is complete.

We can now define an analogue to the classical Segal-Bargmann space.

Definition 5.4 The closure of

$$\operatorname{span}\left\{\underline{z}^{l} P_{k}^{(j)}(\underline{z}) \middle| l, k \in \mathbb{N}_{0}, j = 1, \dots, \dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))\right\}$$

is called **Segal–Bargmann module**  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}^{\mathbb{C}}_m)$ .

**Remark 5.5** In this definition and what follows we drop the property that a function of the Segal–Bargmann module (or space) has to be an entire functions. That means we consider the Segal–Bargmann module just as a weighted  $L^2$ -module.

A consequence of Theorem 5.3 is the following.

**Corollary 5.6** For all  $l, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , let  $\left\{P_k^{(j)}(\underline{x})\right\}_{j=1,2,\dots,\dim(M_l^+(k))}$  be an orthonormal basis of  $M_l^+(k)$  and  $\gamma_{l,k}$  defined as in Theorem 3.2. Then

$$\left\{\sqrt{\frac{(2\pi)^m}{\gamma_{l,k}}}\underline{z}^l P_k^{(j)}(\underline{z}) \middle| l, k \in \mathbb{N}_0, j = 1, \dots, \dim(M_l^+(k))\right\}$$

is an orthonormal basis of the Segal–Bargmann module  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ .

*Proof* Since the Segal–Bargmann transform is linear, Theorem 5.3 shows that it maps an element

$$\phi_{l,k,j}(\underline{x}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{l,k}}} H_{l,m,k}(\underline{x}) P_k^{(j)}(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}$$

of the orthonormal basis of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$  (see Theorem 3.3) onto

$$\left(\mathcal{B}\phi_{l,k,j}\right)(\underline{z}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{l,k}}} \underline{z}^l P_k^{(j)}(\underline{z}).$$

The statement now follows directly from Proposition 5.1 and Corollary 5.2, which say that

$$\left\|\mathcal{B}\phi_{l,k,j}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m},\frac{e^{-|z|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}},\mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}})} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}} \left\|\phi_{l,k,j}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m},\mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{R}})} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}}$$
  
and  $\mathcal{B}$  is unitary up to the scaling constant.

**Theorem 5.7** The Segal–Bargmann module is the image of  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$  under the Segal–Bargmann transform, i.e.

$$\mathcal{F}^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m},\mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}})=L^{2}\left(\mathbb{C}^{m},\frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}},\mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}}\right).$$

**Proof** First, let  $F \in \mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ . By construction there has to exist a function  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$  so that  $\mathcal{B}f = F$ . Since  $\mathcal{B}$  is unitary up to a constant, we know that  $F \in L^2\left(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}\right)$ . Hence  $\mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}) \subseteq L^2\left(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}\right)$ .

We now show the opposite inclusion. Let  $F \in L^2\left(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|z|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}\right)$ . Then F can be written as  $F = \sum_A F_A e_A$  with  $F_A : \mathcal{C}^m \to \mathbb{C}$  for all A. Since

$$\begin{aligned} \|F\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}}, \mathfrak{A}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}}\right)} &= \langle \sum_{A} F_{A} e_{A}, \sum_{B} F_{B} e_{B} \rangle_{0} \\ &= \sum_{A} \|F_{A}\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}}, \mathfrak{A}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}}\right)} = \sum_{A} \|F_{A}\|_{L^{2}\left(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}}, \mathbb{C}\right)} \end{aligned}$$

is finite if and only if  $||F_A||_{L^2\left(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathbb{C}\right)}$  is finite for every *A*, we know that  $F_A \in L^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^2}}{\pi^m}, \mathbb{C}) = \mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}_m, \mathbb{C})$ , cf. Proposition 4.5(ii).

Proposition 4.5(i) tells us that  $\mathcal{B} : L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}_m, \mathbb{C})$  is invertible, so for each *A* there exists  $f_A \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$  so that  $\mathcal{B}f_A = F_A$ . Since  $\mathcal{B}$  is linear,

$$F = \sum_{A} F_{A} e_{A} = \sum_{A} (\mathcal{B} f_{A}) e_{A} = \mathcal{B} \left( \sum_{A} f_{A} e_{A} \right),$$

so there exists a function  $\sum_{A} f_A e_A = f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$  such that  $\mathcal{B}f = F$ . Therefore  $F \in \mathcal{F}^2(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}})$ .

# 6 A Dictionary for the Segal–Bargmann Transform

In this section, we want to give a series representation for the Segal–Bargmann transform  $\mathcal{B}$  on the right Clifford-module  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{R}})$ . By demonstrating that this representation converges absolutely locally uniformly, we will show that  $\mathcal{B}f$  is well-defined and can be represented in kernel form. We work close to R. Bardenet and A. Hardy [3], who have shown similar characteristics of the classical Segal–Bargmann transform on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R})$  and other transforms.

For the rest of this section, we will shorten our notation by writing  $L^{2} = L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{m}, \mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{R}}), \ \mathcal{F}^{2} = \mathcal{F}^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}}), \ \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{F}^{2}} = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}}, \mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}})} \text{ and } \| \cdot \|_{\mathcal{F}^{2}} = \| \cdot \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{C}^{m}, \frac{e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}}}{\pi^{m}}, \mathcal{C}_{m}^{\mathbb{C}})}.$ Since the set  $\{\phi_{l,k,j}\}_{l,k \in \mathbb{N}_{0}, j \in \{1, ..., \dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))\}}$  of Hermite functions

$$\phi_{l,k,j}(\underline{x}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{l,k}}} H_{l,m,k}(\underline{x}) P_k^{(j)}(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{|\underline{x}|^2}{4}}$$
(6.1)

is a basis of  $L^2$ , see Sect. 3, each Clifford algebra-valued square integrable function  $f(\underline{x})$  can be expanded as

$$f(\underline{x}) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \phi_{l,k,j}(\underline{x}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^2}$$

Hence,

 $(\mathcal{B}f)(z)$ 

$$=\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}}\left(\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))}\phi_{l,k,j}(\underline{x})\langle\phi_{l,k,j},f\rangle_{L^{2}}\right)e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2}+\underline{x}\cdot\underline{z}-\frac{\underline{x}\cdot\underline{x}}{4}}d\underline{x}$$

$$=\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\sum_{j=1}^{\min(M_{l}^{+}(k))} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{m}} \phi_{l,k,j}(\underline{x}) e^{-\frac{z\cdot z}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot \underline{z} - \frac{x\cdot x}{4}} d\underline{x}\right) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^{2}}$$

$$=\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (\mathcal{B}\phi_{l,k,j})(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^{2}}$$

$$=\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\sum_{l=1}^{\infty}\frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{l,k}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{l,k}}} \frac{1}{z^{l}} P_{k}^{(j)}(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^{2}}$$

$$=\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\sum_{j=1}^{\infty}\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^{2}}$$
(6.2)

with  $\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{l,k}}} \underline{z}^l P_k^{(j)}(\underline{z}).$ To be able to show convergence of the series expansion (6.2), we need the following two lemmas.

**Lemma 6.1** Let  $P_s(\underline{z}) = \sum_{|\alpha|=s} a_{\alpha} \underline{z}^{\alpha}$  be a homogeneous  $\mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{C}}$ -polynoial of degree s, with  $a_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{C}}$  for all  $|\alpha| = s$ . Then

1. 
$$\|P_{s}(\underline{z})\|_{\mathcal{F}^{2}}^{2} = \sum_{|\alpha|=s} |a_{\alpha}|_{0}^{2} \alpha!,$$
  
2.  $|P_{s}(\underline{z})|_{0}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{s!} \|P_{s}(\underline{z})\|_{\mathcal{F}^{2}}^{2} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2s}.$ 

Proof

1. We have

$$\begin{split} \|P_{s}(\underline{z})\|_{\mathcal{F}^{2}}^{2} &= \left[\langle P_{s}(\underline{z}), P_{s}(\underline{z})\rangle_{\mathcal{F}^{2}}\right]_{0} = \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \left[P_{s}^{\dagger}(\underline{z})P_{s}(\underline{z})\right]_{0} e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}} d\underline{x} \, d\underline{y} \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} \left[\left(\sum_{|\alpha|=s} a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}(\underline{\overline{z}}^{\mathbb{C}})^{\alpha}\right) \left(\sum_{|\beta|=s} a_{\beta}\underline{z}^{\beta}\right)\right]_{0} e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}} d\underline{x} \, d\underline{y} \\ &= \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \sum_{|\alpha|=s} \sum_{|\beta|=s} \left[a_{\alpha}^{\dagger}a_{\beta}\right]_{0} \int_{\mathbb{C}^{m}} (\underline{\overline{z}}^{\mathbb{C}})^{\alpha} \underline{z}^{\beta} e^{-|\underline{z}|^{2}} d\underline{x} \, d\underline{y}. \end{split}$$

We solve the integral by transforming the complex coordinates to polar coordinates, i.e.  $z_j = r_j e^{i\varphi_j}$ , j = 1, ..., m. Then,

$$\|P_s(\underline{z})\|_{\mathcal{F}^2}^2 = \frac{1}{\pi^m} \sum_{|\alpha|=s} \sum_{|\beta|=s} \left[a_{\alpha}^{\dagger} a_{\beta}\right]_0 \int_{[0,\infty)^m} \int_{[0,2\pi]^m} r_1^{\alpha_1+\beta_1} \dots r_m^{\alpha_m+\beta_m}$$
$$\cdot e^{i(\beta_1-\alpha_1)} \dots e^{i(\beta_m-\alpha_m)} e^{-r_1^2-\dots-r_m^2} r_1 \dots r_m d\varphi d\underline{r}$$

The integral  $\int \int \dots d\underline{\varphi} d\underline{r}$  is 0 if  $\alpha_j \neq \beta_j$  for any  $j = 1, \dots, m$ . So, we get with  $\int_0^\infty r^{2n+1} e^{-r^2} dr = \frac{n}{2}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|P_{s}(\underline{z})\|_{\mathcal{F}^{2}}^{2} &= \frac{1}{\pi^{m}} \sum_{|\alpha|=s} \left[a_{\alpha}^{\dagger} a_{\alpha}\right]_{0} (2\pi)^{m} \int_{[0,\infty)^{m}} r_{1}^{2\alpha_{1}+1} \dots r_{m}^{2\alpha_{m}+1} e^{-r_{1}^{2}-\dots-r_{m}^{2}} d\underline{r} \\ &= 2^{m} \sum_{|\alpha|=s} |a_{\alpha}|_{0}^{2} \prod_{j=1}^{m} \frac{\alpha_{j}!}{2} \\ &= \sum_{|\alpha|=s} |a_{\alpha}|_{0}^{2} \alpha! \end{split}$$

2. We use the generalization of the Binomial theorem,

$$|\underline{z}|_{0}^{2s} = \left(|z_{1}|^{2} + \dots + |z_{m}|^{2}\right)^{s} = \sum_{|\alpha|=s} \frac{s!}{\alpha!} |\underline{z}|^{2\alpha},$$
(6.3)

and Cauchy-Schwartz (CS) to get

$$\begin{aligned} \left|P_{s}(\underline{z})\right|_{0}^{2} &= \left|\sum_{|\alpha|=s} a_{\alpha} \underline{z}^{\alpha}\right|_{0}^{2} \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{|\alpha|=s} \left|a_{\alpha} \underline{z}^{\alpha}\right|_{0}\right)^{2} = \left(\sum_{|\alpha|=s} \sqrt{\frac{\alpha!}{s!}} \left|a_{\alpha}\right|_{0} \sqrt{\frac{s!}{\alpha!}} \left|\underline{z}^{\alpha}\right|\right)^{2} \\ &\stackrel{CS}{\leq} \left(\frac{1}{s!} \sum_{|\alpha|=s} \alpha! \left|a_{\alpha}\right|_{0}^{2}\right) \left(\sum_{|\alpha|=s} \frac{s!}{\alpha!} \left|\underline{z}^{\alpha}\right|^{2}\right) \\ &\stackrel{(i),(6.3)}{=} \frac{1}{s!} \left\|P_{s}(\underline{z})\right\|_{\mathcal{F}^{2}}^{2} \left|\underline{z}\right|_{0}^{2s}. \end{aligned}$$

**Lemma 6.2** Let  $\Psi_{l,k,j}$  be defined as in (6.2). Then,

$$\sup_{\underline{z}\in K}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))}|\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z})|_0^2 < \infty$$

for any compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ .

**Proof** Let SUP =  $\sup_{\underline{z} \in K} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} |\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z})|_0^2$ . We first note that each  $\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma_{l,k}}} \frac{z^l}{L} P_k^{(j)}(\underline{z})$  is a homogeneous  $\mathcal{C}_m^{\mathbb{C}}$ -polyomial of degree l+k. Hence, with Lemma 6.1(ii), we get

$$\text{SUP} \le \sup_{\underline{z} \in K} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \frac{1}{(l+k)!} \|\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z})\|_{\mathcal{F}^2}^2 |\underline{z}|_0^{2l+2k}$$

We know that  $\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) = (\mathcal{B}\phi_{l,k,j})(\underline{z})$  (cf. Theorem 5.3 and the proof of Corollary 5.6) and that

$$\|\mathcal{B}f\|_{\mathcal{F}^2}^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \|f\|_{L^2}^2$$

for all  $f \in L^2$  (cf. Corollary 5.2). Hence,

$$\|\Psi_{l,k,j}\|_{\mathcal{F}^2}^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} \|\phi_{l,k,j}\|_{L^2}^2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}}.$$

We also know that  $\dim(M_l^+(k)) = \binom{m+k-2}{k}$ , cf. Sect. 2.3. Together, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \text{SUP} &\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}} \sup_{\underline{z} \in K} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \binom{m+k-2}{k} \frac{1}{(l+k)!} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2l+2k} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}} \sup_{\underline{z} \in K} \left( \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{l!} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2l} \right) \left( \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \binom{m+k-2}{k} \frac{1}{k!} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2k} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}} \sup_{\underline{z} \in K} \left( \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{l!} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2l} \right) \left( \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \binom{m+k-2}{k} \frac{1}{2^{mk}k!} \left( 2^{m} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2} \right)^{k} \right). \end{aligned}$$

It can be shown via induction that  $\binom{m+k-2}{k} \leq 2^{mk}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} \text{SUP} &\leq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}} \sup_{\underline{z} \in K} \left( \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{l!} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2l} \right) \left( \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \left( 2^{m} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2} \right)^{k} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{m}}} \sup_{\underline{z} \in K} e^{|\underline{z}|_{0}^{2}} \cdot e^{2^{m} |\underline{z}|_{0}^{2}} < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

We are now fully equipped to show convergence of the series expansion (6.2).

**Proposition 6.3** Let  $\phi_{l,k,j}$  be defined as in (6.1) and let  $\Psi_{l,k,j}$  be defined as in (6.2). *Then, for each compact set*  $K \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ ,

$$\sup_{z \in K} \left| \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^2} \right|_0 < \infty.$$

**Proof** Let SUM =  $\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^2}$ . Since  $|\cdot|_0$  is submultiplicative, we have

plicative, we have

$$|\text{SUM}|_{0} \leq \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))} |\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z})\langle\phi_{l,k,j}, f\rangle_{L^{2}}|_{0}$$
$$\leq \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))} |\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z})|_{0} \cdot |\langle\phi_{l,k,j}, f\rangle_{L^{2}}|_{0}$$

We now use Proposition 2.4 and  $\|\phi_{l,k,j}\|_{L^2} = 1$ , so

$$\begin{aligned} |\text{SUM}|_{0} &\leq \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))} \left| \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \right|_{0} 2^{m} \left\| \phi_{l,k,j} \right\|_{L^{2}} \| f \|_{L^{2}} \\ &= 2^{m} \| f \|_{L^{2}} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))} \left| \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \right|_{0} \\ &\leq 2^{m} \| f \|_{L^{2}} \sqrt{\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_{l}^{+}(k))} \left| \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \right|_{0}^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Together with Lemma 6.2 the proof is complete.

50

Proposition 6.3 shows that  $\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^2}$  is absolutely convergent locally uniformly in  $\underline{z} \in \mathbb{C}^m$ . Since  $\mathcal{B}f$  is the uniform limit of the triple sum on every compact subset of  $\mathbb{C}^m$ , it is well-defined and  $\mathcal{B}$  can be represented as

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\mathcal{B}f\right)(\underline{z}) &= \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \langle \phi_{l,k,j}, f \rangle_{L^2} \\ &= \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \overline{\phi_{l,k,j}(\underline{x})} f(\underline{x}) d\underline{x} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \overline{\phi_{l,k,j}(\underline{x})} f(\underline{x}) d\underline{x} \\ &= \left\langle \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z}) \overline{\phi_{l,k,j}}, f \right\rangle_{L^2} \\ &= \left\langle \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \phi_{l,k,j} \overline{\Psi_{l,k,j}(\underline{z})}, f \right\rangle_{L^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$T(\underline{x},\underline{z}) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{\dim(M_l^+(k))} \phi_{l,k,j}(\underline{x}) \overline{\Psi_{l,k,j}}(\underline{z}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^m}} e^{-\frac{\underline{z}\cdot\underline{z}}{2} + \underline{x}\cdot\underline{z} - \frac{\underline{x}\cdot\underline{x}}{4}}$$

is the kernel of the Segal–Bargmann transform on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathcal{C}\!\ell_m^{\mathbb{R}})$ .

#### **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

# References

- L.D. Abreu, A. Haimi, G. Koliander, J.L. Romero, Filtering with Wavelets Zeros and Gaussian Analytic Functions (2018). arXiv:1807.03183v2
- D. Alpay, F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, G. Salomon, The fock space in the slice hyperholomorphic setting, in *Hypercomplex Analysis: New Perspectives and Applications* ed. by S. Bernstein, et al. (Springer, Berlin, 2014), pp. 43–59

- 3. R. Bardenet, A. Hardy, Time-frequency transforms of white noises and Gaussian analytic functions (2019). arXiv:1807.11554v2
- 4. V. Bargmann, On a Hilbert space of analytic functions and an associated integral transform Part I. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. **14**, 187–214 (1961)
- S. Bernstein, J.-L. Bouchot, M. Reinhardt, B. Heise, Generalized analytic signals in image processing: comparison, theory and applications, in *Quaternion and Clifford Fourier Transforms and Wavelets, Trends in Mathematics* ed. by E. Hitzer, S.J. Sangwine (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2013), pp. 221–246
- S. Bernstein, B. Heise, M. Reinhardt, S. Häuser, S. Schausberger, D. Stifter, Fourier plane filtering revisited—analogies in optics and mathematics. Sampl. Theory Signal Image Process. 13(3), 231–248 (2014)
- 7. F. Brackx, R. Delanghe, F. Sommen, Clifford analysis, in *Research Notes in Mathematics*, vol. 76 (Pitman Advanced Publication Program, Boston, 1982)
- F. Brackx, N. De Schepper, F. Sommen, Clifford-Hermite-Monogenic operators. Czechoslov. Math. J. 56, 1301–1322 (2006)
- 9. F. Brackx, N. De Schepper, K.I. Kou, F. Sommen, The Mehler formula for the generalized Clifford-Hermite polynomials. Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.) 23, 697–704 (2007)
- P. Denis, P. Carre, C. Fernandez-Maloigne, Spatial and spectral Quaternionic approaches for Colour images. Comput. Vis. Image Underst. 107, 74–87 (2007)
- K. Diki, The Cholewinski-Fock space in the slice hyperholomorphic setting. Math. Meth. Appl. Sci. 42, 2124–2141 (2019)
- K. Diki, A. Ghanmi, A Quaternionic analogue of the Segal-Bargmann transform. Compl. Anal. Oper. Theory 11, 457–473 (2016)
- T. Ell, S. Sangwine, Hypercomplex Fourier transforms of color images. IEEE Trans. Image Process. 16, 22–35 (2001)
- 14. M. Felsberg, G. Sommer, The monogenic signal. IEEE Trans. Signal Process. **49**, 3136–3144 (2001)
- P. Flandrin, Time-Frequency filtering based on spectrogram zeros. IEEE Signal Process Lett. 22, 03 (2015)
- 16. V. Fock, Konfigurationsraum und zweite Quantelung. Z. Physik, 622-647 (1932)
- J.E. Gilbert, M.A.M. Murray, Clifford algebras and Dirac operators in harmonic analysis, in Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 26 (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 1991)
- 18. K. Gröchenig, Foundations of Time-Frequency Analysis (Birkhäuser, Boston, 2001)
- 19. K. Gürlebeck, K. Habetha, W. Sprößig, Funktionentheorie in der Ebene und im Raum, in *Grundstudium Mathematik* (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2006)
- B. Hall, Holomorphic Methods in Analysis and Mathematical Physics. Contemp. Math. 260, 1–59 (2000)
- N. Le Bihan, S.J. Sangwine, Quaternion principal component analysis of color images. IEEE Int. Conf. Image Process. 1, 809–812 (2003)
- J. Mourão, J.P. Nunes, T. Qian, Coherent state transforms and the Weyl equation in Clifford analysis. J. Math. Phys. 58(1), 013503 (2017)
- D. Peña-Peña, I. Sabadini, F. Sommen, Segal-Bargmann-Fock modules of monogenic functions. J. Math. Phys. 58(10), 103507 (2017)
- J. Ryan, Complexified clifford analysis. Complex Variables Theory Appl. Int. J. 1(1), 119–149 (1982)
- 25. I.E. Segal, Mathematical problems of relativistic physics, Chap.VI, in *Proceedings of the Summer Seminar, Boulder, Colorado, 1960*, vol. II, ed. by M. Kac. Lectures in Applied Mathematics, Providence, Rhode Island (American Mathematical Society, New York, 1963)
- F. Sommen, Special functions in clifford analysis and axial symmetry. J. Math. Anal. App. 130, 110–133 (1988)
- 27. R. Zeng, J. Wu, Z. Shao, Y. Chen, L. Senhadji, H. Shu, Color image classification via quaternion principal component analysis network. Neurocomputing **216**, 416-428 (2015)

# **On the Carathéodory-Fejér Interpolation Problem for Stieltjes Functions**



Vladimir Bolotnikov

**Abstract** The following Carathéodory-Fejér problem is considered: given a point  $x_0 < 0$  and numbers  $c_0, c_1, \ldots, c_N \ge 0$ , to construct a Stieltjes-class function f such that  $f^j(x_0)/j! = c_j$  for  $j = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ . The cases where N is odd or even are quite different. For each case, the solvability criterion is given along with the parametrization of the solution set in the indeterminate case.

# 1 Introduction

Stieltjes functions appeared in [30] as continued fractions of certain type and as Stieltjes transforms of positive measures on  $\mathbb{R}^+ = [0, \infty)$ . Being special instances of absolutely monotone, operator monotone, and Pick functions, they have been extensively studied in various contexts [2, 18–21, 28, 32].

We denote by  $\mathcal{P}$  the *Pick class* of functions analytic and with nonnegative imaginary part in the upper half-plane  $\mathbb{C}^+ = \{z : \Im z > 0\}$  and recall that any such function admits the Nevanlinna–Herglotz representation

$$f(z) = \alpha + \beta z + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left( \frac{1}{t - z} - \frac{t}{1 + t^2} \right) d\mu(t), \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{d\mu(t)}{1 + t^2} < \infty,$$
(1.1)

with (uniquely defined by f)  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\beta \ge 0$  and a positive measure  $\mu$  subject to the growth condition as above, and that  $f \in \mathcal{P}$  if and only if the associated kernel

$$K_f(z,\zeta) := \frac{f(z) - \overline{f(\zeta)}}{z - \overline{\zeta}}$$
 is positive definite  $(K_f \ge 0)$  on  $\mathbb{C}^+$ .

V. Bolotnikov (⊠)

Department of Mathematics, College of William and Mary, Williamsburg, VA, USA e-mail: vladibo62@gmail.com

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), *New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative*, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_4

The *Stieltjes class* S is defined as the set of all functions  $f \in \mathcal{P}$  that have an analytic continuation to  $\mathbb{C}\setminus\mathbb{R}^+$  and such that  $f(x) \ge 0$  for x < 0. Since  $S \subset \mathcal{P}$ , any  $f \in S$  is of the form (1.1); the extra condition  $f|_{\mathbb{R}^-} \ge 0$  turns out to be equivalent to

$$\operatorname{supp}(\mu) \subset \mathbb{R}_+, \quad \beta = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \gamma := \alpha - \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} \frac{d\mu(t)}{t+1} \ge 0,$$
 (1.2)

which eventually (we refer to [17, 21] for details) leads to the following two characterizations of the class S. The first identifies Stieltjes functions vanishing at infinity (i.e., with  $\gamma = 0$ ) with Stieltjes transforms of positive measures on  $\mathbb{R}^+$ , while the second one characterizes the class S in terms of two different (although closely related) positive kernels.

**Proposition 1.1** A function f belongs to S if and only if it is of the form

$$f(z) = \gamma + \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \frac{d\mu(t)}{t-z}, \quad \text{where} \quad \gamma \ge 0, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \frac{d\mu(t)}{1+t} < \infty.$$
(1.3)

**Proposition 1.2**  $f \in S$  if and only if  $f \in P$  and  $zf \in P$ , *i.e.*, the kernels

$$K_f(z,\zeta) = \frac{f(z) - \overline{f(\zeta)}}{z - \overline{\zeta}} \quad and \quad \widetilde{K}_f(z,\zeta) = \frac{zf(z) - \overline{\zeta}f(\zeta)}{z - \overline{\zeta}} \tag{1.4}$$

are positive definite on  $\mathbb{C}^+$ .

The remarkable "if" part in the last characterization is due to M. Krein. The "only if" part follows from Proposition 1.1: for f of the form (1.3), the kernels (1.4) can be written as

$$K_f(z,\zeta) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \frac{d\mu(t)}{(t-z)(t-\overline{\zeta})}, \quad \widetilde{K}_f(z,\zeta) = \gamma + \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \frac{t\,d\mu(t)}{(t-z)(t-\overline{\zeta})}, \quad (1.5)$$

so that their positivity not only on  $\mathbb{C}^+$ , but on the whole  $\mathbb{C}\setminus\mathbb{R}^+$  is clear, once we observe that  $f(\overline{z}) = \overline{f(z)}$ , by the reflection principle and define, by continuity,

$$K_f(z,\overline{z}) = f'(z)$$
 and  $\widetilde{K}_f(z,\overline{z}) = zf'(z) + f(z)$   $(z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}^+).$ 

Restrictions of Stieltjes functions to the negative half-axis  $\mathbb{R}^- = (-\infty, 0)$  are characterized by the integral representation (1.3) restricted to  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . Several intrinsic real-valued characterizations of the class  $S|_{\mathbb{R}^-}$  are collected in Proposition 1.3 below. We recall that a function  $f : \mathbb{R}^- \to \mathbb{R}$  is called *operator-monotone* on  $\mathbb{R}^-$  if  $f(A) \leq f(B)$  for any two real negative definite matrices  $A \leq B \prec 0$ , and it is called *absolutely monotone* if  $f^{(n)}(x) \geq 0$  for all  $n \geq 0$  and x < 0.

**Proposition 1.3** Given  $f : (-\infty, 0) \to \mathbb{R}$ , the following are equivalent:

1. *f* is the restriction of a Stieltjes function to  $\mathbb{R}^-$ , i.e., it is of the form

$$f(x) = \gamma + \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \frac{d\mu(t)}{t-x} \quad (x < 0), \text{ where } \gamma \text{ and } \mu \text{ are as in (1.3)}.$$
(1.6)

- 2. *f* is a nonnegative operator-monotone function on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ .
- 3. the functions f and x f are operator-monotone on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ .
- 4.  $f \in C^1$  and the kernels (1.4) are positive definite on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ .
- 5.  $f \in C^{\infty}$  and for each x < 0, the Hankel matrices

$$H_n^f(x) = \left[\frac{f^{(i+j+1)}(x)}{(i+j+1)!}\right]_{i,j=0}^{n-1}, \quad \widetilde{H}_n^f(x) = \left[\frac{xf^{(i+j+1)}(x)}{(i+j+1)!} + \frac{f^{(i+j)}(x)}{(i+j)!}\right]_{i,j=0}^{n-1}$$
(1.7)

are positive semidefinite for all  $n \ge 1$ . 6.  $f \in C^{\infty}$  and  $(x^k f(x))^{(n+k)} \ge 0$  for all x < 0 and  $k, n \ge 0$ ; equivalently,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} \frac{x^{j} f^{(k+j)}(x)}{(k+j)!} \ge 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad k, n \ge 0.$$
(1.8)

7. 
$$f \in C^{\infty}$$
,  $f(x) \ge 0$  and  $(x^k f(x))^{(2k-1)} \ge 0$  for all  $x < 0$  and  $k \ge 1$ .

The equivalence  $(3) \Leftrightarrow (4)$  is due to Löwner [24], while  $(3) \Leftrightarrow (5)$  was established by Dobsch [11]. The implication  $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$  is essentially due to Löwner: if f is operator monotone on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ , it admits the Nevanlinna–Herglotz representation (1.1) with  $\operatorname{supp}(\mu) \subset \mathbb{R}^+$ , and the condition  $f(x) \ge 0$  implies the two other relations in (1.2) leading to the representation of f as in part (1). We next observe that the implication  $(1) \Rightarrow (4)$  follows from representations (1.5) restricted to  $z, \zeta \in \mathbb{R}^-$ . Furthermore, if f and xf are both operator-monotone on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ , then their derivatives are nonnegative on  $\mathbb{R}^-$  and therefore,  $f(x) = (xf(x))' - xf'(x) \ge 0$  for all x < 0, which justifies (3) $\Rightarrow$ (2). The equivalences (1) $\Leftrightarrow$ (6) $\Leftrightarrow$ (7) are due to Widder [32, Theorem 12.5]; see also [7, 29] for related results.

Note that the equivalence  $(1) \Leftrightarrow (4)$  is the real-valued analog of Proposition 1.2. Inequalities in part (6) mean that the functions  $(x^k f)^{(k)}$  are absolutely monotone for all  $k \ge 0$ , thus characterizing the class S within the class of absolutely monotone functions. Part (7) shows that seemingly weaker conditions still guarantee an absolutely monotone function to be in the class S. Note that the requirement "for all x < 0" in part (7) is essential: for example, the function  $f(x) = -\ln(-x)$  does not belong to the Stieltjes class, although it satisfies conditions  $f(x) \ge 0$  and  $(x^k f(x))^{(2k-1)} \ge 0$  for  $k \ge 1$  at each point  $x \in [-\frac{1}{e}, 0)$ , as is readily seen from the formulas

$$(xf(x))' = -\ln(-x) - 1, \quad (x^k f(x)^{(2k-1)} = (-1)^{k-1} \frac{k!(k-2)!}{x^{k-1}} \quad \text{for } k \ge 2.$$

On the other hand, conditions (1.7) and (1.8) can be (equivalently) restricted to a single point  $x_0 < 0$  providing two characterizations of Stieltjes-class functions in terms of their Taylor coefficients.

**Proposition 1.4** Given a point  $x_0 < 0$  and a sequence  $\{c_k\}_{k>0}$ , the power series

$$f(x) = \sum_{j \ge 0} c_j (x - x_0)^j$$
(1.9)

extends to a Stieltjes function if and only if the matrices

$$H_n := \left[c_{i+j+1}\right]_{i,j=0}^{n-1} \ge 0 \quad and \quad \widetilde{H}_n := \left[x_0 c_{i+j+1} + c_{i+j}\right]_{i,j=0}^{n-1} \ge 0 \tag{1.10}$$

are positive semidefinite for all  $n \ge 1$ , or equivalently,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \binom{m}{j} c_{k+j} x_0^j \ge 0 \quad \text{for all} \quad k, m \ge 0.$$

$$(1.11)$$

The "only if" part follows from Proposition 1.3. For the "if" part, we refer to Bendat-Sherman results [3], according to which inequalities (1.10) guarantee that f of the form (1.7) and the associated function xf are operator-monotone on (2 $x_0$ , 0) and hence, extend to Pick functions. Therefore  $f \in S$ , by Proposition 1.2. Both (1.10) and (1.11) are equivalent to the existence of a measure  $d\sigma \ge 0$  such that

$$c_k = \int_{[0, -\frac{1}{x_0}]} t^k d\sigma(t) \quad \text{for all} \quad k \ge 0,$$
(1.12)

and hence, they are equivalent to each other. For  $x_0 = -1$ , inequalities (1.11) mean that the sequence  $\{c_k\}$  is *completely monotone*; the characterization of such sequences in terms of a power moment problem over the interval [0, 1] is due to Hausdorff [15]; we refer to [21] for the general case.

**Remark 1.5** Although conditions (1.10) (for all  $n \ge 1$ ) and (1.11) are equivalent, their truncations are not. More precisely,

- (1) If (1.10) hold for some *n*, then inequalities (1.11) hold for all  $k + m \le 2n + 1$ .
- (2) For any  $x_0 < 0$  and  $N \ge 1$ , there exist  $c_0, \ldots, c_N \in \mathbb{R}$  such that inequalities (1.11) hold for all  $k + m \le N$ , but  $H_2 = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 & c_2 \\ c_2 & c_3 \end{bmatrix} \ne 0$ .

For part (2), we take (without loss of generality)  $x_0 = -1$  and let  $c_j = \binom{2N-j}{N}$  for j = 0, ..., N. Part (1) follows from Theorem 1.6 below and Proposition 1.4. The proof goes through the Stieltjes-class *Carathéodory-Fejér problem* **CFS**<sub>N</sub> which we now formally introduce:

**CFS**<sub>N</sub>: Given  $x_0 < 0$  and  $c_0, \ldots, c_N \in \mathbb{R}$ , find  $f \in S$  (if exists) of the form (1.9), *i.e.*, such that

$$\frac{f^{(k)}(x_0)}{k!} = c_k \quad \text{for} \quad k = 0, \dots, N.$$
(1.13)

This problem was originally studied in [8, 9, 27, 31] for functions analytic on the open unit disk  $\mathbb{D}$  and bounded by one in modulus (Schur-class functions) or with nonnegative real part (Carathéodory-class functions). The classical Stieltjes moment problem [21, 30] can be viewed as the boundary Carathéodory-Fejér problem at  $x_0 = -\infty$ . Another boundary case  $x_0 = 0$  appears naturally in the context of the *strong Stieltjes moment problem* [16, 19, 26]. The problem (1.13) with  $x_0 \notin \mathbb{R}$  has appeared as a particular example in several general interpolation schemes [1, 5, 6, 12]. The problem (1.13) with N = 2n - 1 has been specifically addressed in [4, 14].

**Theorem 1.6** The problem  $CFS_{2n-1}$  has a solution if and only if conditions (1.10) hold. The solution is unique if and only if  $H_n$  or  $\tilde{H}_n$  is singular.

Along with the matrices  $H_n$  and  $\tilde{H}_n$ , we may consider the Hankel matrix

$$P_n = \left[c_{i+j}\right]_{i,j=0}^{n-1} = \widetilde{H}_n - x_0 H_n,$$
(1.14)

which is positive definite, if at least one of  $H_n$  and  $\widetilde{H}_n$  is. In the case of the odd problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub> with given  $c_0, \ldots, c_{2n-1}, c_{2n}$ , we can define not only  $H_n$  and  $\widetilde{H}_n$ by formulas (1.10), but also the matrix  $P_{n+1} = [c_{i+j}]_{i,j=0}^n$ , and all three matrices  $H_n$ ,  $\widetilde{H}_n$ ,  $P_{n+1}$  being positive semidefinite is necessary for the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub> to have a solution. If either  $H_n$  or  $\widetilde{H}_n$  (or both) are singular, the only solution **f** of the truncated problem **CFS**<sub>2n-1</sub> is or is not a solution of the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub> depending on whether or not  $\frac{\mathbf{f}^{(2n)}(x_0)}{(2n)!} = c_{2n}$ . The rest is covered below.

**Theorem 1.7** Let us assume that  $H_n > 0$ ,  $\widetilde{H}_n > 0$ ,  $P_{n+1} \ge 0$ . The problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n}$ is indeterminate if and only if  $P_{n+1} > 0$  and  $\left[P_{n+1}^{-1}\right]_{11} > \left[\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\right]_{11}$ , and it has a unique solution if and only if either rank  $P_{n+1} = n$  or  $P_{n+1} > 0$  and  $\left[P_{n+1}^{-1}\right]_{11} = \left[\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\right]_{11}$ . The main results concerning the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n}$  are recalled in Sect. 2 along with the parametrization of the solution set in the indeterminate case. Parallel results concerning the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n}$  are presented in Sect. 3, where we also discuss linear fractional transformations mapping the Stieltjes class into itself. In Sect. 4, we identify unique solutions of determinate problems  $\mathbf{CFS}_N$  as extremal solutions of certain truncated Carathéodory-Fejér problems.

# 2 The Even Case

In this section we present the results concerning the problem  $CFS_{2n-1}$ . We first observe that Hankel matrices  $H_n$  and  $\tilde{H}_n$  defined in (1.10) satisfy the identity

$$\widetilde{H}_n - H_n T^* = \mathbf{c} \mathbf{e}^*. \tag{2.1}$$

where  $T \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  and  $\mathbf{c}, \mathbf{e} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  are given by

$$T = \begin{bmatrix} x_0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 1 & x_0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & x_0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{e} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{c} = \begin{bmatrix} c_0 \\ c_1 \\ \vdots \\ c_{n-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.2)

In the rest of the paper, all functions are real-valued and all matrices are real; by  $A^*$  we will mean the transpose of a real matrix A.

**Theorem 2.1** Let us assume that  $H_n$  and  $\tilde{H}_n$  are positive definite. Then all solutions f to the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$  are given by the formula

$$f = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h] := \frac{\Psi_{11}h + \Psi_{12}}{\Psi_{21}h + \Psi_{22}}, \qquad \Psi = \begin{bmatrix} \Psi_{11} \ \Psi_{12} \\ \Psi_{21} \ \Psi_{22} \end{bmatrix}, \quad h \in \overline{\mathcal{S}}$$
(2.3)

where  $\overline{S} := S \cup \{\infty\}$  and where  $\Psi_{ij}$  are rational functions defined by

$$\Psi_{11}(x) = 1 + \mathbf{c}^* (xI - T^*)^{-1} T^* \widetilde{H}_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$\Psi_{12}(x) = -\mathbf{c}^* (xI - T^*)^{-1} H_n^{-1} \mathbf{c}, \qquad (2.5)$$

$$\Psi_{21}(x) = x \mathbf{e}^* (xI - T^*)^{-1} \widetilde{H}_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\Psi_{22}(x) = 1 - \mathbf{e}^* (xI - T^*)^{-1} H_n^{-1} \mathbf{c}.$$
 (2.7)

Although the result is known, we present a proof emphasizing details needed later for the odd case  $CFS_{2n}$ . The proof consists of four parts.

**Step 1:** For any  $h \in S$  and x < 0, we have  $\varphi(x) := \Psi_{21}(x)h(x) + \Psi_{22}(x) \neq 0$ , and hence the formula (2.3) makes sense.

**Proof** Upon applying the well-known inversion formula

$$(I - XZ^{-1}Y)^{-1} = I + X(Z - YX)^{-1}Y$$
(2.8)

(I stand for an identity matrix) to (2.7) and making use of identity (2.1) we get

$$\Psi_{22}(x)^{-1} = (1 - \mathbf{e}^* (xI - T^*)^{-1} H_n^{-1} \mathbf{c})^{-1}$$
  
= 1 + \mathbf{e}^\* \left[ H\_n(xI - T^\*) - \mathbf{c} \mathbf{e}^\* \right]^{-1} \mathbf{c} = 1 - \mathbf{e}^\* \left( \textsf{H}\_n - xH\_n \right)^{-1} \mathbf{c}. (2.9)

We next combine (2.9) with (2.6) and again use (2.1) to get

$$\Psi_{22}(x)^{-1}\Psi_{21}(x) = x\left(1 - \mathbf{e}^*\left(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n\right)^{-1}\mathbf{c}\right)\mathbf{e}^*(xI - T^*)^{-1}\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\mathbf{e}$$
  

$$= x\mathbf{e}^*\left(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n\right)^{-1}\left(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n - \mathbf{c}\mathbf{e}^*\right)(xI - T^*)^{-1}\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\mathbf{e}$$
  

$$= x\mathbf{e}^*\left(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n\right)^{-1}\left(H_nT^* - xH_n\right)(xI - T^*)^{-1}\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\mathbf{e}$$
  

$$= -x\mathbf{e}^*\left(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n\right)^{-1}H_n\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\mathbf{e}$$
  

$$= \mathbf{e}^*\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\mathbf{e} - \mathbf{e}^*\left(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n\right)^{-1}\mathbf{e}.$$
(2.10)

If x < 0, then  $\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n \succ \widetilde{H}_n \succ 0$ , and we see from (2.9) and (2.10) that  $\Psi_{22}(x) \neq 0$  and  $\frac{\Psi_{21}(x)}{\Psi_{22}(x)} > 0$ . Therefore,  $\varphi(x) = \Psi_{22}(x) \left(\frac{\Psi_{21}(x)}{\Psi_{22}(x)}h(x) + 1\right) \neq 0$  for any  $h \in S$ .

Let the matrix J and the matrix-function  $J_{x,y}$  be defined as

$$J_{x,y} := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x^{-1} \\ -y^{-1} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad J = J_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.11)

**Step 2:** The function  $\Psi = \begin{bmatrix} \Psi_{11} & \Psi_{12} \\ \Psi_{21} & \Psi_{22} \end{bmatrix}$  is *J*-unitary on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_0\}$ , while the kernels

$$K_{\Psi,J}(x,y) = \frac{\Psi(x)J\Psi(y)^* - J}{y - x}, \quad \widetilde{K}_{\Psi,J}(x,y) = \frac{\Psi(x)J_{x,y}\Psi(y)^* - J_{x,y}}{y - x}$$
(2.12)

extended by continuity to x = y by  $K_{\Psi,J}(x, x) = -\Psi'(x)J\Psi(x)^*$  and

$$\widetilde{K}_{\Psi,J}(x,x) = -\frac{1}{x}\Psi'(x)J\Psi(x)^* + \frac{1}{x^2} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\Psi_{12}(x) \\ \Psi_{21}(x) & 0 \end{bmatrix} J\Psi(x)^*,$$

*are positive definite on*  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_0\}$ *.* 

**Proof** All statements follow from the identities

$$\Psi(x)J\Psi(y)^* = J + (y-x)\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{c}^*\\ \mathbf{e}^* \end{bmatrix} (xI - T^*)^{-1}H_n^{-1}(yI - T)^{-1}\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{c} \ \mathbf{e} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (2.13)$$

$$\Psi(x)J_{x,y}\Psi(y)^* = J_{x,y} + (y-x)\begin{bmatrix}\frac{1}{x}\mathbf{c}^*T^*\\\mathbf{e}^*\end{bmatrix}(xI-T^*)^{-1}\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}(yI-T)^{-1}\begin{bmatrix}\frac{1}{y}T\mathbf{c}\ \mathbf{e}\end{bmatrix}.$$

holding for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_0\}$  and verified entry-wise by straightforward computations relying (as in Step 1) solely on the identity (2.1) and explicit formulas (2.4)– (2.7). Letting y = x in (2.13) we conclude that  $\Psi$  is *J*-unitary on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_0\}$ . Therefore,

$$\Psi(x)^{-1} = -J\Psi(x)^*J = \begin{bmatrix} \Psi_{22}(x) & -\Psi_{12}(x) \\ -\Psi_{21}(x) & \Psi_{11}(x) \end{bmatrix},$$
(2.14)

and it is clear from (2.14) that det  $\Psi(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_0\}$ . Identities (2.13) provide explicit formulas for the kernels (2.12) which show in particular, since  $H_n \succ 0$  and  $\widetilde{H}_n \succ 0$ , that the latter kernels are positive definite on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_0\}$  and the rank of each kernel equals n.

**Remark 2.2** Upon making use of equalities  $J^2 = J^* = -I_2$  and (2.14) it is easy to verify that

$$\Psi(y)^{-*}J\Psi(x)^{-1} = -J\Psi(y)J\Psi(x)^*J.$$

Combining the latter equality with (2.13) (with x and y switched) we arrive at the identities

$$\frac{\Psi(y)^{-*}J\Psi(x)^{-1}}{y-x} = \frac{J}{y-x} - \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}^* \\ -\mathbf{c}^* \end{bmatrix} (yI - T^*)^{-1}H_n^{-1}(xI - T)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e} & -\mathbf{c} \end{bmatrix},$$
(2.15)

$$\frac{\Psi(y)^{-*}J_{y,x}\Psi(x)^{-1}}{y-x} = \frac{J_{y,x}}{y-x} - \begin{bmatrix} y\mathbf{e}^*\\ -\mathbf{c}^*T^* \end{bmatrix} (yI - T^*)^{-1}\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}(xI - T)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} x\mathbf{e} - T\mathbf{c} \end{bmatrix},$$

which will play a crucial role in Step 4 below.

**Step 3:** For any  $h \in \overline{S}$ , the function  $f = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h]$  belongs to S.

**Proof** For a fixed  $h \in S$ , let  $\varphi = \Psi_{21}h + \Psi_{22}$  and  $f = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h]$ . Then the kernels  $K_f$ ,  $\widetilde{K}_f$  given in (1.4) and similar kernels  $K_h$ ,  $\widetilde{K}_h$  associated with h are related as follows:

$$K_f(x, y) = \frac{K_h(x, y)}{\varphi(x)\varphi(y)} + \left[1 - f(x)\right] K_{\Psi,J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ -f(y) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.16)$$

$$\widetilde{K}_{f}(x, y) = \frac{\widetilde{K}_{h}(x, y)}{\varphi(x)\varphi(y)} + \left[1 - f(x)\right]\widetilde{K}_{\Psi,J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ -f(y) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.17)

Indeed, we see from (2.14) and definitions of  $\varphi$  and f, that

$$[1-h]\Psi^{-1} = \varphi [1-f].$$
 (2.18)

Then we compute

$$K_f(x, y) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - f(x) \end{bmatrix} \frac{J}{x - y} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -f(y) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 1 - f(x) \end{bmatrix} K_{\Psi, J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -f(y) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 1 - f(x) \end{bmatrix} \frac{\Psi(x) J \Psi(y)^*}{x - y} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -f(y) \end{bmatrix},$$

and note that the second term on the right equals, on account of (2.18), to

$$\varphi(x)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} 1 - h(x) \end{bmatrix} \frac{J}{x - y} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -h(y) \end{bmatrix} \varphi(y)^{-1} = \frac{K_h(x, y)}{\varphi(x)\varphi(y)},$$

which justifies (2.16). The equality (2.17) is verified similarly.

Since  $h \in S$ , the kernels  $K_h$  and  $\widetilde{K}_h$  are positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . Since the kernels  $K_{\Psi,J}$  and  $\widetilde{K}_{\Psi,J}$  are positive on  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{x_0\}$  and  $\varphi$  is continuous and non-vanishing on  $\mathbb{R}^- \setminus \{x_0\}$ , it follows from (2.16) and (2.17) that the kernels  $K_f$  and  $\widetilde{K}_f$  are positive definite on  $\mathbb{R}^- \setminus \{x_0\}$  and hence (by the Chandler's result [10]), they are positive on the whole  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . Therefore,  $f \in S$ , by Proposition 1.3.

Finally, the function  $f_K = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[\infty] = \frac{\Psi_{11}}{\Psi_{21}}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{S}$ , due to relations

$$K_{f_K}(x, y) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - f_K(x) \end{bmatrix} K_{\Psi,J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -f_K(y) \end{bmatrix} \ge 0,$$

$$\widetilde{K}_{f_K}(x, y) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - f_K(x) \end{bmatrix} \widetilde{K}_{\Psi,J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -f_K(y) \end{bmatrix} \ge 0,$$
(2.19)

which are easily verified.

**Step 4:** Any  $f \in S$  satisfying conditions (1.13) is of the form (2.3) for some  $h \in \overline{S}$ .

We will handle this part using the intermediate step characterizing solutions of an interpolation problem in terms of "extended" positive kernels. This approach goes back to Potapov's method of *Fundamental Matrix Inequalities* which in the Stieltjes-class context first appeared in the series of papers [13].

**Lemma 2.3** If  $f \in S$  satisfies conditions (1.13) then the kernels

$$\begin{bmatrix} H_n & (xI - T)^{-1} (\mathbf{e} f(x) - \mathbf{c}) \\ (f(y)\mathbf{e}^* - \mathbf{c}^*) (yI - T^*)^{-1} & K_f(x, y) \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \qquad (2.20)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{H}_n & (xI-T)^{-1} (x\mathbf{e}f(x) - T\mathbf{c}) \\ (yf(y)\mathbf{e}^* - \mathbf{c}^*T^*) (yI - T^*)^{-1} & \widetilde{K}_f(x, y) \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \qquad (2.21)$$

(where  $K_f$ ,  $\widetilde{K}_f$ , T,  $\mathbf{e}$ ,  $\mathbf{c}$  are defined in (1.4), (2.2)) are positive on  $\mathbb{R}_-$ . If moreover,  $H_n$  and  $\widetilde{H}_n$  are positive definite, then f is of the form (2.3) for some  $h \in \overline{S}$ .

**Proof** If  $f \in S$  satisfies conditions (1.13), then it admits the Herglotz representation (1.6) in terms of which conditions (1.13) can be written as

$$\gamma + \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} \frac{d\mu(t)}{t - x_0} = f_0, \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} \frac{d\mu(t)}{(t - x_0)^{k+1}} = f_k \quad (k = 1, \dots, 2n - 1).$$
 (2.22)

We next combine (2.22) with the equality

$$(xI-T)^{-1}\mathbf{e} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{x-x_0} & 0 & \dots & 0\\ \frac{1}{(x-x_0)^2} & \frac{1}{x-x_0} & \ddots & \vdots\\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & 0\\ \frac{1}{(x-x_0)^n} & \dots & \frac{1}{(x-x_0)^2} & \frac{1}{x-x_0} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 0\\ \vdots\\ 0\\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{x-x_0} \\ \frac{1}{(x-x_0)^2} \\ \vdots\\ \frac{1}{(x-x_0)^n} \end{bmatrix}$$

to represent  $H_n$ ,  $\tilde{H}_n$  and **c** in the compact integral form as follows:

$$H_n = \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} (tI - T)^{-1} \mathbf{e} \, d\mu(t) \, \mathbf{e}^* (tI - T^*)^{-1}, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\widetilde{H}_{n} = \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (tI - T)^{-1} \mathbf{e} \, t \, d\mu(t) \, \mathbf{e}^{*} (tI - T^{*})^{-1} + \mathbf{e} \gamma \, \mathbf{e}^{*}, \qquad (2.24)$$

$$\mathbf{c} = \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} (tI - T)^{-1} \mathbf{e} \, d\mu(t) + \mathbf{e}\gamma.$$
(2.25)

We next consider two positive kernels defined by the integrals

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} \left[ \frac{(tI-T)^{-1}\mathbf{e}}{\frac{1}{t-y}} \right] d\mu(t) \left[ \mathbf{e}^{*}(tI-T^{*})^{-1} \frac{1}{t-x} \right] \geq 0,$$
(2.26)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \gamma \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}^* & 1 \end{bmatrix} + \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} \begin{bmatrix} (tI - T)^{-1} \mathbf{e} \\ \frac{1}{t-y} \end{bmatrix} t d\mu(t) \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}^* (tI - T^*)^{-1} & \frac{1}{t-x} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0 \qquad (2.27)$$

and show that these kernels coincide with those in (2.20) and (2.21). The diagonal entries are indeed the same, by (2.23), (2.24) and formulas (1.5) restricted to  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^-$ . Multiplying the identity

$$(t-x)^{-1}(tI-T)^{-1} = (xI-T)^{-1}\left((t-x)^{-1}I - (tI-T)^{-1}\right)$$
by **e** on the right and integrating the resulting equality against the measure  $\mu$ , we get, on account of (1.6) and (2.25),

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (tI - T)^{-1} \mathbf{e} \, \frac{d\mu(t)}{t - x} = (xI - T)^{-1} \left(\mathbf{e} f(x) - \mathbf{c}\right). \tag{2.28}$$

Representing  $\frac{t}{t-x}$  as  $\frac{t}{t-x} = \frac{x}{t-x} + 1$  and making use of (2.28) we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (tI - T)^{-1} \mathbf{e} \, \frac{td\mu(t)}{t - x} = x(xI - T)^{-1} \, (\mathbf{e}f(x) - \mathbf{c}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} (tI - T)^{-1} \mathbf{e} \, d\mu(t)$$
$$= (xI - T)^{-1} \, (x\mathbf{e}f(x) - T\mathbf{c}) - \mathbf{e}\gamma. \tag{2.29}$$

Equalities (2.28) and (2.29) confirm that the off-diagonal entries in kernels (2.26) and (2.27) are the same as those in (2.20) and (2.21). Since the kernels (2.26) are positive definite, the first statement of the lemma follows.

To justify the second statement, we assume that  $H_n > 0$  and  $\tilde{H}_n > 0$  and observe that the Schur complements of these blocks in positive kernels (2.20), (2.21) are also positive kernels on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ :

$$K_{f}(x, y) - (f(y)\mathbf{e}^{*} - \mathbf{c}^{*})(yI - T^{*})^{-1}H_{n}^{-1}(xI - T)^{-1}(\mathbf{e}f(x) - \mathbf{c}) \geq 0,$$
(2.30)

$$\widetilde{K}_f(x, y) - \left(yf(y)\mathbf{e}^* - \mathbf{c}^*T^*\right)(yI - T^*)^{-1}\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}(xI - T)^{-1}\left(x\mathbf{e}f(x) - T\mathbf{c}\right) \ge 0.$$

Making use of the matrices (2.11), we can rewrite inequalities (2.30) as

$$\begin{bmatrix} f(\mathbf{y}) \ 1 \end{bmatrix} \left\{ \frac{J}{\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}} - \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}^* \\ -\mathbf{c}^* \end{bmatrix} (\mathbf{y}I - T^*)^{-1} H_n^{-1} (\mathbf{x}I - T)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e} & -\mathbf{c} \end{bmatrix} \right\} \begin{bmatrix} f(\mathbf{x}) \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \succeq 0,$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} f(\mathbf{y}) \ 1 \end{bmatrix} \left\{ \frac{J_{\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}}}{\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}} - \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{y}\mathbf{e}^* \\ -\mathbf{c}^* T^* \end{bmatrix} (\mathbf{y}I - T^*)^{-1} \widetilde{H}_n^{-1}$$
$$\times (\mathbf{x}I - T)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{x}\mathbf{e} & -T\mathbf{c} \end{bmatrix} \right\} \begin{bmatrix} f(\mathbf{x}) \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \succeq 0,$$

and furthermore, on account of identities (2.15), as

$$\left[f(y)\ 1\right]\frac{\Psi(y)^{-*}J\Psi(x)^{-1}}{y-x} \begin{bmatrix} f(x)\\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \ge 0 \qquad (x, y \in \mathbb{R}^{-}),$$
(2.32)

$$\left[f(y)\ 1\right]\frac{\Psi(y)^{-*}J_{y,x}\Psi(x)^{-1}}{y-x}\left[\begin{array}{c}f(x)\\1\end{array}\right] \succeq 0 \qquad (x,\,y\in\mathbb{R}^{-}).$$
(2.33)

If we define differentiable functions  $u, v : \mathbb{R}^- \to \mathbb{R}$  by

$$\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} := \Psi^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} f \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \Psi_{12}f - \Psi_{12} \\ \Psi_{11} - \Psi_{21}f \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.34)

then the kernels (2.32) and (2.33) can be written in terms of u and v as

$$K_{u,v}(x,y) := \frac{u(x)v(y) - v(x)u(y)}{x - y} \ge 0,$$
(2.35)

$$\widetilde{K}_{u,v}(x,y) = \frac{xu(x)v(y) - yv(x)u(y)}{x - y} \ge 0.$$
(2.36)

If  $v(x) \neq 0$  for all x < 0, then the function  $h = \frac{u}{v}$  is well defined on  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$ , and it follows from (2.34) that  $f = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h]$ . Furthermore,  $h \in S$ , since the kernels

$$K_h(x, y) = \frac{K_{u,v}(x, y)}{v(x)v(y)} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{K}_h(x, y) = \frac{\widetilde{K}_{u,v}(x, y)}{v(x)v(y)}$$

are positive definite on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . If v(t) = 0 for some t < 0, then

$$\begin{split} K_{u,v}(t,t) &= u'(t)v(t) - u(t)v'(t) = -u(t)v'(t) \ge 0, \\ \widetilde{K}_{u,v}(t,t) &= (tu'(t) + u(t))v(t) - tu(t)v'(t) = -tu(t)v'(t) \ge 0. \end{split}$$

Since t < 0 and  $u(t) \neq 0$  (by (2.34)), the two latter inequalities imply v'(t) = 0. Then  $K_{u,v}(t,t) = 0$  and, since the kernel  $K_{u,v}$  is positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ , we also have  $K_{u,v}(x,t) = 0$  for all x < 0, which implies that v(x) = 0 for all x < 0. In this case, we conclude from (2.34) that  $f = \frac{\Psi_{11}}{\Psi_{21}} = f_K = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[\infty]$ .

**Step 4:** For any  $h \in \overline{S}$ , the function  $f = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h]$  satisfies interpolation conditions (1.13) for k = 0, ..., 2n - 1.

We first write the linear fractional formula (2.3) in the Redheffer form.

**Remark 2.4** Let  $H_n > 0$  and  $\tilde{H}_n > 0$  be subject to equality (2.1) and let  $\Psi_{ij}$  be defined as in (2.4)–(2.7). Then (2.3) can be written as

$$f = \frac{\Psi_{11}h + \Psi_{12}}{\Psi_{21}h + \Psi_{22}} = f_F + \frac{\Upsilon_1^2 h}{1 + \Upsilon_2 h}$$
(2.37)

where

$$f_F(x) = \Psi_{12}(x)\Psi_{22}(x)^{-1} = \mathbf{c}^* \big(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n\big)^{-1} \mathbf{c},$$
(2.38)

$$\Upsilon_1(x) = \Psi_{22}(x)^{-1} = 1 - \mathbf{e}^* \big( \widetilde{H}_n - x H_n \big)^{-1} \mathbf{c},$$
 (2.39)

$$\Upsilon_2(x) = \Psi_{22}(x)^{-1} \Psi_{21}(x) = \mathbf{e}^* \widetilde{H}_n^{-1} \mathbf{e} - \mathbf{e}^* \left( \widetilde{H}_n - x H_n \right)^{-1} \mathbf{e}, \qquad (2.40)$$

Indeed, it is readily seen that

$$\frac{\Psi_{11}h + \Psi_{12}}{\Psi_{21}h + \Psi_{22}} = \frac{\Psi_{12}}{\Psi_{22}} + \frac{h \cdot \Psi_{22}^{-2} \cdot \det \Psi}{\Psi_{21}^{-1} \Psi_{21}h + 1},$$

and since det  $\Psi \equiv 1$ , the latter equality justifies the representation (2.37) with  $f_F$ ,  $\Upsilon_1$  and  $\Upsilon_2$  defined by the first equalities in (2.38)–(2.40). The second equalities in (2.39) and (2.40) were confirmed in (2.9) and (2.10), respectively. The second equality in (2.38) follows by combining (2.10) and (2.5) and making use of (2.1):

$$\Psi_{12}(x)\Psi_{22}(x)^{-1} = -\mathbf{c}^{*}(xI - T^{*})^{-1}H_{n}^{-1}\mathbf{c}\left(1 - \mathbf{e}^{*}(\widetilde{H}_{n} - xH_{n})^{-1}\mathbf{c}\right)$$
  
$$= \mathbf{c}^{*}(xI - T^{*})^{-1}H_{n}^{-1}(xH_{n} - \widetilde{H}_{n} + \mathbf{c}\mathbf{e}^{*})(\widetilde{H}_{n} - xH_{n})^{-1}\mathbf{c}$$
  
$$= \mathbf{c}^{*}(xI - T^{*})^{-1}H_{n}^{-1}(xH_{n} - H_{n}T^{*})(\widetilde{H}_{n} - xH_{n})^{-1}\mathbf{c}$$
  
$$= \mathbf{c}^{*}(\widetilde{H}_{n} - xH_{n})^{-1}\mathbf{c},$$

In what follows,  $\mathbf{e}_k$  will denote the *k*-th column of the identity matrix  $I_n$ . We also recall the Hankel matrix  $P_n = \widetilde{H}_n - x_0 H_n$  (see (1.14)) which is positive definite, if  $H_n$  and  $\widetilde{H}_n$  are.

**Lemma 2.5** If the matrix  $P_n$  is positive definite, then

(1) The function  $f_F$  given by (2.38) admits the Taylor expansion

$$f_F(x) = c_0 + \ldots + c_{2n-1}(x - x_0)^{2n-1} + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{e}_n^* H_n (P_n^{-1} H_n)^{k+1} \mathbf{e}_n (x - x_0)^{2n+k}.$$
(2.41)

(2) The function  $\Upsilon_1$  given by (2.39) admits the Taylor expansion

$$\Upsilon_1(x) = -(x - x_0)^n \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n - \sum_{k=n+1}^\infty (x - x_0)^k \mathbf{e}_1^* (P_n^{-1} H_n)^{k-n+1} \mathbf{e}_n.$$
(2.42)

Furthermore,  $\Upsilon_1$  has zero of multiplicity n at  $x_0$  and does not have other zeros if and only if  $\mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n \neq 0 \iff H_n \succ 0$ . Otherwise,  $\Upsilon_1 \equiv 0$ . (3) The function  $\Upsilon_2$  given by (2.40) admits the Taylor expansion

$$\Upsilon_2(x) = \mathbf{e}_1^* \widetilde{H}_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}_1 - \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}_1 - \sum_{k=1}^\infty \mathbf{e}_1^* (P_n^{-1} H_n)^k P_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}_1 (x - x_0)^k.$$
(2.43)

**Proof** Making us of the identity  $\widetilde{H}_n = P_n + x_0 H_n$ , we compute the Taylor series expansion of the rational matrix-function  $(\widetilde{H}_n - x H_n)^{-1}$  at  $x_0$ :

$$(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n)^{-1} = (P_n - (x - x_0)H_n)^{-1}$$

$$= (I - (x - x_0)P_n^{-1}H_n)^{-1}P_n^{-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (x - x_0)^k (P_n^{-1}H_n)^k P_n^{-1}.$$
(2.44)

Upon multiplying both parts in (2.44) by  $\mathbf{e}_1^*$  on the left and by  $\mathbf{e}_1$  on the right, and substituting the outcome into (2.40) we arrive at (2.43). We next multiply both parts in (2.44)  $\mathbf{c} = P_n \mathbf{e}_1$  on the right:

$$(\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n)^{-1}\mathbf{c} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (x - x_0)^k (P_n^{-1}H_n)^k \mathbf{e}_1.$$
(2.45)

Since the k-th column of  $H_n$  is equal to the (k + 1)-th column of  $P_n$ , we have

$$P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_k = \mathbf{e}_{k+1}$$
 for  $k = 1, \dots, n-1$ , (2.46)

from which we recursively get

$$(P_n^{-1}H_n)^{k-1}\mathbf{e}_1 = \mathbf{e}_k$$
 for  $k = 1, ..., n.$  (2.47)

Multiplying the latter equalities and (2.45) by  $\mathbf{e}_1^*$  on the left and substituting the resulting equalities into (2.39) we get

$$\Upsilon_{1}(x) = 1 - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (x - x_{0})^{k} \mathbf{e}_{1}^{*} (P_{n}^{-1} H_{n})^{k} \mathbf{e}_{1}$$
  
$$= 1 - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mathbf{e}_{1}^{*} \mathbf{e}_{k} (x - x_{0})^{k} - \sum_{k=n}^{\infty} (x - x_{0})^{k} \mathbf{e}_{1}^{*} (P_{n}^{-1} H_{n})^{k-n+1} \mathbf{e}_{n}$$
  
$$= -(x - x_{0})^{n} \mathbf{e}_{1}^{*} P_{n}^{-1} H_{n} \mathbf{e}_{n} - \sum_{k=n+1}^{\infty} (x - x_{0})^{k} \mathbf{e}_{1}^{*} (P_{n}^{-1} H_{n})^{k-n+1} \mathbf{e}_{n},$$
  
(2.48)

which verifies (2.42). Thus,  $\Upsilon_1$  is a rational function of degree at most *n* (by (2.39)) and has zero of multiplicity at least *n* at  $x_0$  (by (2.42)). Therefore, either we have equalities in both cases, and hence,  $\mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n \neq 0$  and  $\Upsilon_1(x) \neq 0$  for all  $x \neq x_0$ , or  $\Upsilon_1 \equiv 0$ . On the other hand, n-1 leftmost columns in  $H_n$  are linearly independent, by (2.46). Thus,  $H_n$  is singular if and only if  $H_n \mathbf{e}_n$  is a linear combination of  $H_n \mathbf{e}_1, \ldots, H_n \mathbf{e}_{n-1}$ , which is equivalent (again by (2.46)) to  $\mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n = 0$ . If so,  $\Upsilon_1 \equiv 0$ , by (2.48). This completes the proof of part (2).

We next multiply the equality(2.45) by  $\mathbf{c}^* = \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n$  on the left, arriving, on account of (2.38), at

$$f_F(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (x - x_0)^k \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n (P_n^{-1} H_n)^k \mathbf{e}_1$$

To complete the proof, it remains to verify that

$$\mathbf{e}_{1}^{*}P_{n}(P_{n}^{-1}H_{n})^{k}\mathbf{e}_{1} = c_{k}$$
 for  $k = 0, \dots, 2n-1$  (2.49)

and

$$\mathbf{e}_{1}^{*}P_{n}\left(P_{n}^{-1}H_{n}\right)^{2n+k}\mathbf{e}_{1} = \mathbf{e}_{n}^{*}(H_{n}P_{n}^{-1})^{k+1}H_{n}\mathbf{e}_{n} \quad \text{for all} \quad k \geq 0.$$
(2.50)

Multiplying equalities (2.47) by  $\mathbf{e}_1^* P_n$  on the left we get

$$\mathbf{e}_1^* P_n \left( P_n^{-1} H_n \right)^{k-1} \mathbf{e}_1 = \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n \mathbf{e}_k = c_{k-1} \quad \text{for} \quad k = 1, \dots, n,$$

verifying the first *n* equalities in (2.49). Taking adjoints in (2.47) we get

$$\mathbf{e}_1^* (H_n P_n^{-1})^{k-1} = \mathbf{e}_k^*,$$

which being combined with (2.47) (for k = n) leads us to

$$\mathbf{e}_{1}^{*}P_{n}(P_{n}^{-1}H_{n})^{n+j}\mathbf{e}_{1} = \mathbf{e}_{1}^{*}P_{n}(P_{n}^{-1}H_{n})^{j+1}\mathbf{e}_{n}$$
$$= \mathbf{e}_{1}^{*}(H_{n}P_{n}^{-1})^{j}H_{n}\mathbf{e}_{n} = \mathbf{e}_{j+1}^{*}H_{n}\mathbf{e}_{n} = c_{n+j}$$

for j = 0, ..., n - 1, thus confirming the remaining equalities in (2.49). We next pursue the last calculation for j = n + k as follows:

$$\mathbf{e}_{1}^{*}P_{n}(P_{n}^{-1}H_{n})^{2n+k}\mathbf{e}_{1} = \mathbf{e}_{1}^{*}(H_{n}P_{n}^{-1})^{n+k}H_{n}\mathbf{e}_{n} = \mathbf{e}_{n}^{*}(H_{n}P_{n}^{-1})^{k+1}H_{n}\mathbf{e}_{n},$$

thus arriving at (2.42).

We now complete Step 4: If  $H_n > 0$ , then  $\widetilde{H}_n^{-1} > (\widetilde{H}_n - xH_n)^{-1}$  for all x < 0, and hence we see from the formula (2.40) that  $\Upsilon_2(x) > 0$  for all x < 0. By part (2)

in Lemma 2.5,  $\Upsilon_1$  has zero of multiplicity *n* at  $x_0$ . Therefore, we have

$$\frac{\Upsilon_1^2(x)h(x)}{1+\Upsilon_2(x)h(x)} = O((x-x_0)^{2n})$$

for any  $h \in \overline{S}$ , Therefore, for any f of the form (2.37),  $f^{(k)}(x_0) = f_F^{(k)}(x_0)$  for k = 0, ..., 2n - 1, which, due to (2.41), completes Step 4.

Combining Remark 2.4 and Lemma 2.5 leads us to the following result.

**Lemma 2.6** Let f be of the form (2.37) for some  $h \in S$ . Then

$$\frac{f^{(2n)}(x_0)}{(2n)!} = \alpha + \frac{\beta^2 h(x_0)}{1 + \delta h(x_0)}, \quad where$$
(2.51)

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \mathbf{e}_n^* H_n P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n, \quad \boldsymbol{\beta} = \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n, \quad \boldsymbol{\delta} = \mathbf{e}_1^* \widetilde{H}_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}_1 - \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}_1. \quad (2.52)$$

*Proof* By formulas (2.41), (2.42) and (2.43),

$$f_F(x) = c_0 + \ldots + c_{2n-1}(x - x_0)^{2n-1} + \alpha (x - x_0)^{2n} + O((x - x_0)^{2n+1}),$$
  

$$\Upsilon_1(x) = -\beta (x - x_0)^n + O((x - x_0)^{n+1}), \quad \Upsilon_2(x) = \delta + O((x - x_0)).$$
(2.53)

Substituting the latter expansions into (2.37) we get the Taylor expansion for f of the form (2.37) at  $x_0$ :

$$f(x) = c_0 + \dots + c_{2n-1}(x - x_0)^{2n-1} + \left(\alpha + \frac{\beta^2 h(x_0)}{1 + \delta h(x_0)}\right)(x - x_0)^{2n} + O((x - x_0)^{2n+1}),$$
(2.54)

which implies (2.51).

2.1 Extremal Solutions

Let  $Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1})$  denote the set of all solutions to the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$ . The functions  $f_F = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[0] = \frac{\Psi_{12}}{\Psi_{22}}$  and  $f_K = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[\infty] = \frac{\Psi_{11}}{\Psi_{21}}$  are extremal elements of this set in the following sense.

**Proposition 2.7** For any  $f \in Sol(CFS_{2n-1})$  different from  $f_F$  and  $f_K$ ,

$$f_F(x) < f(x) < f_K(x)$$
 for all  $x < 0 \ (x \neq x_0),$  (2.55)

$$f_F^{(2n)}(x_0) < f^{(2n)}(x_0) < f_K^{(2n)}(x_0).$$
 (2.56)

Furthermore,  $\{f(x): f \in Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1})\} = [f_F(x), f_K(x)]$  for each fixed x < 0, and  $\{f^{(2n)}(x_0): f \in Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1})\} = [f_F^{(2n)}(x_0), f_K^{(2n)}(x_0)].$ 

**Proof** We first observe the equalities

$$f_F(x) + \frac{\Upsilon_1^2(x)}{\Upsilon_2(x)} = f_K(x) \text{ and } \frac{f_K^{(2n)}(x_0)}{(2n)!} = \alpha + \frac{\beta^2}{\delta},$$

which follow, by (2.52), upon letting  $h \equiv \infty$  in (2.37) and (2.51), respectively. Since all solutions of the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$  are parametrized by the formula (2.37) and since the value h(x) of the parameter  $h \in S$  at x varies in  $\mathbb{R}^+$ , it suffices to verify that for any fixed x < 0, the function

$$y \mapsto f_F(x) + \frac{\Upsilon_1^2(x)y}{1 + \Upsilon_2(x)y}$$

maps  $(0, \infty)$  onto  $(f_F(x), f_K(x))$ . This is indeed the case, since  $\Upsilon_2(x) > 0$  and  $\Upsilon_1(x) \neq 0$ , by Lemma 2.5, The proof of (2.56) is similar: due to formula (2.51), it suffices to show that the function  $y \mapsto \alpha + \frac{\beta^2 y}{1+\delta y}$  maps bijectively  $(0, \infty)$  onto the interval  $(\alpha, \alpha + \frac{\beta^2}{\delta}) = \left(\frac{f_F^{(2n)}(x_0)}{(2n)!}, \frac{f_K^{(2n)}(x_0)}{(2n)!}\right)$ . This is again the case, since  $\delta = \Upsilon_2(x_0) > 0$  and  $\beta \neq 0$ , by Lemma 2.5.

We conclude this section with another feature of extremal solutions.

**Remark 2.8** The only  $f \in Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1})$  for which the extended Hankel matrices  $H_{n+1}^f(x_0)$  and  $\widetilde{H}_{n+1}^f(x_0)$  (see (1.7)) are both singular, are  $f = f_F$  and  $f = f_K$ .

**Proof** Relations (2.30) show that the kernels  $K_{f_F}$  and  $\widetilde{K}_{f_F}$  are of rank *n* each and hence, the extended Hankel matrices  $H_{n+1}^{f_K}(x_0)$  and  $\widetilde{H}_{n+1}^{f_K}(x_0)$  are both singular. It follows from integral representations (2.26) and (2.27) that the ranks of the matrix-valued kernels (2.20) and (2.21) are equal to the ranks of the kernels  $K_f$  and  $\widetilde{K}_f$ , respectively. Then by the Schur complement argument as in the proof of Lemma 2.3, we conclude that

$$\operatorname{rank} K_f = n + \operatorname{rank} K_h, \quad \operatorname{rank} \widetilde{K}_f = n + \operatorname{rank} \widetilde{K}_h, \text{ if } f = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h], h \in \mathcal{S}.$$
(2.57)

If the matrices  $H_{n+1}^{f_K}(x_0)$  and  $\widetilde{H}_{n+1}^{f_K}(x_0)$  are singular, then  $K_h = \widetilde{K}_h \equiv 0$ , which hold true only for  $h \equiv 0$ .

#### 3 The Odd Case

We now consider the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub> with given  $c_0, \ldots, c_{2n}$ . We still assume that  $H_n > 0$  and  $\tilde{H}_n > 0$  so that the matrix  $P_n$  (1.14) is also positive definite. In the present case (that is with the given  $c_{2n}$ ) we can define extended matrix  $P_{n+1} =$ 

 $[c_{i+j}]_{i,j=0}^n$  and the inequality  $P_{n+1} \succeq 0$  is another necessary condition for the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub> to have a solution. Writing  $P_{n+1}$  in the block form as

$$P_{n+1} = \begin{bmatrix} P_n & H_n \mathbf{e}_n \\ \mathbf{e}_n^* H_n & c_{2n} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} I_n & 0 \\ \mathbf{e}_n^* H_n P_n^{-1} & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} P_n^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & c_{2n} - \mathbf{e}_1^* H_n P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_n & P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

and making use of  $\alpha$  defined in (2.52), we see that  $P_{n+1} \succeq 0$  if and only if

$$c_{2n} - \mathbf{e}_n^* H_n P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n = c_{2n} - \boldsymbol{\alpha} \ge 0$$
(3.1)

and that  $P_{n+1} > 0$  if and only if the inequality (3.1) is strict. In the latter case, we write  $P_{n+1}^{-1}$  in the block form

$$P_{n+1}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} I_n & -P_n^{-1}H_n\mathbf{e}_n \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} P_n^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{c_{2n}-\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_n & 0 \\ -\mathbf{e}_n^*H_nP_n^{-1} & 1 \end{bmatrix} \succ 0,$$

and compute its leading entry in terms of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\delta$  defined in (2.52):

$$\begin{bmatrix} P_{n+1}^{-1} \end{bmatrix}_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}_1^* - \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} H_n \mathbf{e}_n \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} P_n^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{c_{2n} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{e}_1 \\ -\mathbf{e}_n^* H_n P_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}_1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \mathbf{e}_1^* P_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}_1 + \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^2}{c_{2n} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}} = \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{H}_n^{-1} \end{bmatrix}_{11} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^2}{c_{2n} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}} - \boldsymbol{\delta}.$$

The latter equality shows that if  $c_{2n} - \alpha > 0$  (i.e.,  $P_{n+1} > 0$ ), then

$$c_{2n} \leq \boldsymbol{\alpha} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^2}{\boldsymbol{\delta}} \iff \left[\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\right]_{11} \leq \left[P_{n+1}^{-1}\right]_{11}$$

**Theorem 3.1** If  $H_n > 0$  and  $\widetilde{H}_n > 0$ , then the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n}$  is indeterminate if and only if  $P_{n+1} > 0$  and  $\left[P_{n+1}^{-1}\right]_{11} > \left[\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\right]_{11}$  or equivalently, if and only if

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} < c_{2n} < \boldsymbol{\alpha} + \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^2}{\boldsymbol{\delta}},\tag{3.2}$$

where  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\delta$  are defined in (2.52). The problem is determinate if and only if either

- (1)  $c_{2n} = \alpha$  (i.e., rank  $P_{n+1} = n$ ), in which case the unique solution of the problem is  $f_F = \frac{\Psi_{12}}{\Psi_{22}}$ . or
- (2)  $c_{2n} = \boldsymbol{\alpha} + \frac{\beta^2}{\delta}$  (i.e.,  $P_{n+1} > 0$  and  $\left[P_{n+1}^{-1}\right]_{11} = \left[\widetilde{H}_n^{-1}\right]_{11}$ ), in which case the unique solution is  $f_K = \frac{\Psi_{11}}{\Psi_{21}}$ .

**Proof** Solving the Eq. (2.52) for  $h(x_0)$  and replacing  $\frac{f^{(2n)}(x_0)}{(2n)!}$  by  $c_{2n}$ , we then combine Theorem 2.1, Remark 2.4, and Lemma 2.6 to conclude:

**Remark 3.2** A function f is a solution to the problem  $CFS_{2n}$  if and only if it is of the form (2.37) for some  $h \in \overline{S}$  subject to the interpolation condition

$$h(x_0) = h_0 := \frac{c_{2n} - \boldsymbol{\alpha}}{\boldsymbol{\beta}^2 - \boldsymbol{\delta}(c_{2n} - \boldsymbol{\alpha})}.$$
(3.3)

If  $c_{2n} = \alpha$ , then (3.3) amounts to  $h(x_0) = 0$  which implies  $h \equiv 0$  and hence, the function  $f_F$  given by (2.38) is a unique solution to the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub>. Similarly, the equality  $c_{2n} = \alpha + \frac{\beta^2}{\delta}$  forces  $h \equiv \infty$  and consequently  $f_K$  be the unique solution to the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub>. For any  $c_{2n}$  subject to strict inequalities (3.2), the expression on the right side of (3.3) defines a positive number, so that condition (3.3) is satisfied by infinitely many  $h \in S$  and the consequently, the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub> has infinitely many solutions. Equivalent formulations of all statements in terms of  $P_{n+1}$  and  $\tilde{H}_n$  follow from the discussion preceding the theorem.

#### 3.1 Schwarz-Pick Theorems

To get a parametrization of the set  $Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n})$  in the indeterminate case, we need to describe all functions  $h \in S$  subject to the sole interpolation condition (3.3). As was pointed out in [27] in the Schur-class setting, such a description can be derived from the Schwarz-Pick theorem. The Stieltjes-class real-valued Schwarz-Pick theorem is the following.

**Theorem 3.3** Let f be a non-zero Stieltjes function. Then for every  $x_0 < 0$ , the function

$$g(x) = \frac{f(x) - f(x_0)}{xf(x) - x_0 f(x_0)}$$
(3.4)

belongs to the extended Stieltjes class  $\overline{S}$ .

**Proof** We start with trivial cases. If  $f(x) \equiv \gamma \ge 0$  or  $f(x) = -\frac{\alpha}{x}$  for some  $\alpha > 0$ , then the holds true with  $g \equiv 0$  and  $g \equiv \infty$ , respectively. In all other cases,

$$c_0 := f(x_0) > 0, \quad c_1 := f'(x_0) > 0, \quad p := x_0 c_1 + c_0 > 0.$$

Considering *f* as a solution of the interpolation problem **CFS**<sub>1</sub> we observe that in this case  $H_1 = c_1$ ,  $\tilde{H}_1 = p$ ,  $T = x_0$ ,  $\mathbf{c} = c_0$ ,  $\mathbf{e} = 1$ , so that formulas (2.4)–(2.7) amount to

$$\Psi_{11} = \frac{px - c_1 x_0^2}{(x - x_0)p}, \quad \Psi_{12} = -\frac{c_0^2}{(x - x_0)c_1}, \quad \Psi_{21} = \frac{x}{(x - x_0)p}, \quad \Psi_{22} = \frac{c_1 x - p}{(x - x_0)c_1}.$$

By Theorem 2.1, f admits the representation (2.3), i.e.,

$$f(x) = \frac{\Psi_{11}h + \Psi_{12}}{\Psi_{21}h + \Psi_{22}} = \frac{(x - c_1 p^{-1} x_0^2)h(x) - c_0^2 c_1^{-1}}{p^{-1} x h(x) + x - p c_1^{-1}} \quad \text{for some} \quad h \in \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}.$$
(3.5)

Straightforward calculations (relying on the equality  $p = x_0c_1 + c_0$  only) show that for *f* of the form (3.5),

$$\frac{f(x) - f_0}{x - x_0} = \frac{x_0 c_1 p^{-1} h(x) - c_0}{p^{-1} x h(x) + x - p c_1^{-1}},$$
$$\frac{x f(x) - x_0 f_0}{x - x_0} = \frac{x h(x) - c_0 p c_1^{-1}}{p_1^{-1} x h(x) + x - p c_1^{-1}}.$$

The ratio of the two latter equalities equals

$$g(x) = \frac{f(x) - f(x_0)}{xf(x) - x_0 f(x_0)} = \frac{x_0 c_1 p^{-1} h(x) - c_0}{xh(x) - c_0 p c_1^{-1}}, \qquad h \in \overline{\mathcal{S}}.$$
 (3.6)

If  $h = \infty$ , then  $g(x) = \frac{x_0c_1}{px}$  belongs to S (since  $\frac{x_0c_1}{p} < 0$ ). Otherwise, we compute for g given by (3.6) and arbitrary  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^-$ ,

$$\frac{g(x) - g(y)}{x - y} = \frac{x_0 c_1 p^{-1} (y - x) h(x) h(y) - x_0 c_0 (h(x) - h(y)) + c_0 (x h(x) - y h(y))}{v(x) v(y) (x - y)},$$

where we have set for short,  $v(x) := xh(x) - c_0 p c_1^{-1}$ . The latter equality represents the kernel  $K_g$  in terms of the kernels  $K_h$  and  $\widetilde{K}_h$  (see (1.4)):

$$K_g(x, y) = -x_0 c_1 p^{-1} \frac{h(x)h(y)}{v(x)v(y)} - \frac{x_0}{v(x)v(y)} K_h(x, y) + \frac{c_0}{v(x)v(y)} \widetilde{K}_h(x, y).$$
(3.7)

Since  $h \in S$ , the kernels  $K_h$  and  $\widetilde{K}_h$  are positive definite on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . Since  $c_0, c_1, p$  are positive and  $x_0$  is negative, the kernel  $K_g(x, y)$  in (3.7) is positive definite on  $\mathbb{R}^-$  as the sum of three positive definite kernels. Therefore, g is operator-monotone on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . Since  $h(x) \ge 0$  for all x < 0 (as  $h \in S$ ), it follows from (3.6) that g(x) > 0 for all x < 0. Therefore,  $g \in S$ .

**Corollary 3.4** Given  $x_0 < 0$  and  $c_0 > 0$ , all functions  $f \in S$  such that  $f(x_0) = c_0$  are parametrized by the formula

$$f(x) = c_0 \cdot \frac{x_0 g(x) - 1}{x g(x) - 1}$$
(3.8)

with free parameter  $g \in \overline{S}$ .

**Proof** If  $f \in S$  and  $f(x_0) = c_0$ , then the function

$$g(x) = \frac{f(x) - c_0}{xf(x) - x_0c_0}$$

belongs to  $\overline{S}$ , by Theorem 3.3, Solving the latter equality for f gives (3.8). Conversely, if g is any nonnegative function on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ , the formula (3.8) defines f which is positive on  $\mathbb{R}_-$  and satisfies  $f(x_0) = c_0$ . For f defined as in (3.8) we have

$$\frac{f(x) - f(y)}{x - y} = \frac{c_0}{v(x)v(y)} \left( -x_0 g(x)g(y) - x_0 \frac{g(x) - g(y)}{x - y} + \frac{xg(x) - yg(y)}{x - y} \right),$$

where we let v(x) = xg(x) - 1. In other words,

$$K_f(x, y) = \frac{c_0}{v(x)v(y)} \left( -x_0 g(x)g(y) - x_0 K_g(x, y) + \widetilde{K}_g(x, y) \right).$$
(3.9)

Since  $g \in S$ , the kernels  $K_g$  and  $\widetilde{K}_g$  are positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . Since  $x_0 < 0$  and  $c_0 > 0$ , it now follows from (3.9) that the kernel  $K_f$  is positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . Hence, f is a positive operator-monotone function on  $\mathbb{R}^-$  and therefore,  $f \in S$ . It remains to note that  $g \equiv \infty$  leads via formula (3.8) to the constant Stieltjes function  $f \equiv c_0$ .

A slightly different parametrization of the set  $Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_0)$  was established in [22] using essentially complex-analytic approach. Note that the complex analog of Theorem 3.3 fails to be true: if f is a Stieltjes function extended to  $\mathbb{C}^+ \setminus \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $x_0$  is not real, then the function g defined in (3.4) does not belong to S. It can be shown, however, that for  $f \in S$  (such that both f and zf are not constant functions) there exists  $h \in \overline{S}$  such that

$$\frac{f(z) - f(z_0)}{zf(z) - z_0 f(z_0)} = \frac{1}{d} \cdot \frac{\overline{z_0}h(z) - df(z_0)}{zh(z) - df(z_0)}, \quad d = \frac{z_0 f(z_0) - \overline{z_0}f(z_0)}{f(z_0) - \overline{f(z_0)}} > 0.$$
(3.10)

The latter relation is quite different from (3.4): if we let  $z = x \in \mathbb{R}^-$  and  $z_0 = x_0 + i\varepsilon$ in (3.10) and then take the limits as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , we get

$$\frac{f(x) - f(x_0)}{xf(x) - x_0 f(x_0)} = \frac{1}{d} \cdot \frac{x_0 h(x) - df(x_0)}{xh(x) - df(x_0)}, \quad d = \frac{x_0 f'(x_0) + f(x_0)}{f'(x_0)}$$

## 3.2 Parametrization of $Sol(CFS_{2n})$

By Corollary 3.4, all functions  $h \in S$  subject to condition (3.3) are parametrized by the linear fractional formula

$$h = \mathbf{T}_{\Phi}[g], \quad g \in \overline{\mathcal{S}}, \quad \Phi(x) = \begin{bmatrix} x_0 & -1\\ xh_0^{-1} & -h_0^{-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.11)

Combining (3.11) with Remark 3.2 and taking into account that  $T_{\Psi} \circ T_{\Phi} = T_{\Psi\Phi}$ , we get the following result.

**Theorem 3.5** Assume that  $H_n$ ,  $\tilde{H}_n$ ,  $P_{n+1}$  are positive definite and  $\tilde{\mathbf{e}}_1^* P_{n+1}^{-1} \tilde{\mathbf{e}}_1 > \mathbf{e}_1^* \tilde{H}_n^{-1} \mathbf{e}_1$ . Then all solutions f to the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub> are given by the formula

$$f = \mathbf{T}_{\mathfrak{A}}[g] := \frac{\mathfrak{A}_{11}g + \mathfrak{A}_{12}}{\mathfrak{A}_{21}g + \mathfrak{A}_{22}}, \quad g \in \overline{\mathcal{S}}, \quad \mathfrak{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{A}_{11} \ \mathfrak{A}_{12} \\ \mathfrak{A}_{21} \ \mathfrak{A}_{22} \end{bmatrix} = \Psi \Phi$$
(3.12)

where  $\Psi$  and  $\Phi$  are given in (2.3) and (3.11), respectively.

#### 3.3 Extremal Solutions

We now consider the extremal solutions  $\mathfrak{f}_F = \mathbf{T}_{\mathfrak{A}}[0]$  and  $\mathfrak{f}_K = \mathbf{T}_{\mathfrak{A}}[\infty]$  of the problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub>. Since  $\mathbf{T}_{\Phi}[0] \equiv h_0$  and  $\mathbf{T}_{\Phi}[\infty] = \frac{x_0h_0}{x}$  by (3.11) (where  $h_0$  is given by (3.3)), we have

$$\mathbf{\mathfrak{f}}_{F} = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[\mathbf{T}_{\Phi}[0]] = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h_{0}] = f_{F} + \frac{\Upsilon_{1}^{2}}{h_{0}^{-1} + \Upsilon_{2}},$$
(3.13)

$$\mathbf{\mathfrak{f}}_{K} = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[\mathbf{T}_{\Phi}[\infty]] = \mathbf{T}_{\Psi}\left[\frac{x_{0}h_{0}}{x}\right] = f_{F} + \frac{\Upsilon_{1}^{2}}{\frac{x}{x_{0}}h_{0}^{-1} + \Upsilon_{2}},$$
(3.14)

where the rightmost equalities in both formulas follow from (2.37). Combining (3.13) and (3.14) gives

$$\mathfrak{f}_{K} = \mathfrak{f}_{F} - \frac{(x - x_{0})h_{0}^{-1}\Upsilon_{1}^{2}}{(h_{0}^{-1} + \Upsilon_{2})(xh_{0}^{-1} + x_{0}\Upsilon_{2})}.$$
(3.15)

More generally, letting  $h = \mathbf{T}_{\Phi}[g]$  in (2.37) leads the Redheffer type version of the parametrization formula (3.12):

$$f = \frac{\mathfrak{A}_{11}g + \mathfrak{A}_{12}}{\mathfrak{A}_{21}g + \mathfrak{A}_{22}} = \mathfrak{f}_F + \frac{(x - x_0)\Upsilon_1^2 h_0^{-1}g}{(h_0^{-1} + \Upsilon_2)^2 \left(1 - \frac{xh_0^{-1} + x_0\Upsilon_2}{h_0^{-1} + \Upsilon_2}g\right)}$$
(3.16)

The next proposition is the "odd" counter-part of Proposition 2.7

**Proposition 3.6** For any  $f \in Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n})$  different from  $\mathfrak{f}_F$  and  $\mathfrak{f}_K$ ,

 $\mathfrak{f}_F(x) < f(x) < \mathfrak{f}_K(x) \quad \text{for all} \quad x > x_0, \tag{3.17}$ 

$$\mathfrak{f}_K(x) < f(x) < \mathfrak{f}_F(x) \quad \text{for all} \quad x < x_0, \tag{3.18}$$

$$\mathfrak{f}_F^{(2n+1)}(x_0) < f^{(2n+1)}(x_0) < \mathfrak{f}_K^{(2n+1)}(x_0).$$
(3.19)

Furthermore,  $\{f^{(2n+1)}(x_0): f \in Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n+1})\} = [\mathfrak{f}_F^{(2n)}(x_0), \mathfrak{f}_K^{(2n+1)}(x_0)]$ , and, for each fixed x < 0,  $\{f(x): f \in Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n})\}$  is the open interval with the endpoints  $\mathfrak{f}_F(x)$  and  $\mathfrak{f}_K(x)$ .

**Proof** Since for any fixed x < 0, the function

$$y \mapsto \frac{\Upsilon_1^2 h_0^{-1} y}{(h_0^{-1} + \Upsilon_2)^2 \left(1 - \frac{x h_0^{-1} + x_0 \Upsilon_2}{h_0^{-1} + \Upsilon_2} y\right)}$$

maps  $(0, \infty)$  onto  $\left(0, -\frac{\Upsilon_1^2 h_0^{-1}}{(h_0^{-1} + \Upsilon_2)(xh_0^{-1} + x_0\Upsilon_2)}\right)$ , the inequalities (3.17) and (3.18) follow from (3.15) and (3.16). Making use of Taylor expansions (2.53), we differentiate equalities (3.15) and (3.16) at  $x_0$  to get

$$\frac{\mathbf{f}_{K}^{(2n+1)}(x_{0})}{(2n+1)!} = \frac{\mathbf{f}_{F}^{(2n+1)}(x_{0})}{(2n+1)!} - \frac{\boldsymbol{\beta}^{2}h_{0}^{-1}}{x_{0}(h_{0}^{-1} + \Upsilon_{2}(x_{0}))^{2}},$$
(3.20)

$$\frac{f^{(2n+1)}(x_0)}{(2n+1)!} = \frac{\mathbf{f}_F^{(2n+1)}(x_0)}{(2n+1)!} + \frac{\mathbf{\beta}^2 h_0^{-1} g(x_0)}{(h_0^{-1} + \Upsilon_2(x_0))^2 (1 - x_0 g(x_0))},$$
(3.21)

and inequalities (3.19)follow, since  $0 < \frac{g(x_0)}{1-x_0g(x_0)} < -\frac{1}{x_0}$  and since the function  $y \to \frac{y}{1-x_0y}$  maps  $(0, \infty)$  onto  $(0, -\frac{1}{x_0})$ .

**Remark 3.7** Let  $\mathfrak{f}_F$  and  $\mathfrak{f}_K$  be the extremal solutions of a (indeterminate) problem  $Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n})$ . Then the matrices (see (1.7))  $\widetilde{H}_{n+1}^{\mathfrak{f}_F}(x_0)$  and  $H_{n+1}^{\mathfrak{f}_K}(x_0)$  are positive definite, whereas the matrices  $H_{n+1}^{\mathfrak{f}_F}(x_0) \geq 0$  and  $\widetilde{H}_{n+1}^{\mathfrak{f}_K}(x_0) \geq 0$  are singular.

**Proof** As has been implicitly mentioned in (3.13), (3.14), the extremal functions  $f_F$  and  $f_K$  of various solvable problems  $Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n})$  appear as the outcomes of the linear fractional transformation (2.3) and correspond to parameters  $h(x) \equiv h_0$  and  $h(x) = \frac{x_0h_0}{x}$ , respectively, where  $h_0 > 0$  is defined in (3.3). For  $h \equiv h_0 > 0$ , we have  $K_h \equiv 0$  and  $\widetilde{K}_h \equiv h_0$ . On the other hand, if  $h = \frac{x_0h_0}{x}$ , then  $K_h(x, y) = -\frac{x_0h_0}{xy}$  and  $\widetilde{K}_h \equiv 0$ . By (2.57),

$$\operatorname{rank} K_{\mathfrak{f}_F} = n = \operatorname{rank} \widetilde{K}_{\mathfrak{f}_F} - 1, \quad \operatorname{rank} \widetilde{K}_{\mathfrak{f}_K} = n = \operatorname{rank} K_{\mathfrak{f}_K} - 1,$$

which imply all desired statements.

## 3.4 Linear Fractional Transformations Mapping the Extended Stieltjes Class into Itself

In this section we discuss three particular examples of linear fractional transformations mapping  $\overline{S}$  into itself and embed them into a more general setting. We start with the following observation.

**Proposition 3.8** Let  $\Theta = \begin{bmatrix} \Theta_{11} & \Theta_{12} \\ \Theta_{21} & \Theta_{22} \end{bmatrix}$  be a rational 2 × 2 matrix-function with det  $\Theta \neq 0$  and let us assume that the following two kernels are positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ :

$$\mathfrak{K}_{\Theta,J}(x,y) = \frac{a(x)a(y)\Theta(x)J\Theta(y)^* + b(x)b(y)\Theta(x)J_{x,y}\Theta(y)^* - J}{y-x} \ge 0,$$
(3.22)

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\Theta,J}(x,y) = \frac{c(x)c(y)\Theta(x)J\Theta(y)^* + d(x)d(y)\Theta(x)J_{x,y}\Theta(y)^* - J_{x,y}}{y-x} \succeq 0,$$
(3.23)

where J,  $J_{x,y}$  are defined in (2.11) and where a, b, c, d are rational functions. Then the transformation  $\mathbf{T}_{\Theta} : h \mapsto \frac{\Theta_{11}h + \Theta_{12}}{\Theta_{21}h + \Theta_{22}} maps \overline{S}$  into itself.

**Proof** We first verify  $h = \infty$  and h = 0. If  $\Theta_{21} \equiv 0$ , then  $\Theta_{11} \neq 0$ ,  $\Theta_{22} \neq 0$  (since det  $\Theta \neq 0$ ) and hence,  $\mathbf{T}_{\Theta}[\infty] = \infty$ . Similarly, if  $\Theta_{22} \equiv 0$ , then  $\Theta_{12} \neq 0$ ,  $\Theta_{21} \neq 0$ , and hence,  $\mathbf{T}_{\Theta}[0] = \infty$ . If  $\Theta_{21} \neq 0$ , then for  $f_K := \mathbf{T}_{\Theta}[\infty] = \frac{\Theta_{11}}{\Theta_{21}}$ , we have

$$\left[1 - f_K(x)\right]\Theta(x) = \det \Theta(x) \left[0 - 1\right].$$

Similarly, if  $\Theta_{22} \neq 0$ , then for the function  $f_F := \mathbf{T}_{\Theta}[0] = \frac{\Theta_{12}}{\Theta_{22}}$ , we have

$$\left[1 - f_F(x)\right]\Theta(x) = \frac{\det \Theta(x)}{\Theta_{22}(x)} \left[0 - 1\right].$$

It follows from the two last relations and (3.22), (3.23) that the functions  $f = f_K$  and  $f = f_F$  are subject to inequalities

$$K_f(x, y) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - f(x) \end{bmatrix} \widehat{\mathbf{\mathfrak{K}}}_{\Theta, J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -f(y) \end{bmatrix} \succeq 0,$$
$$\widetilde{K}_f(x, y) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - f(x) \end{bmatrix} \widetilde{\mathbf{\mathfrak{K}}}_{\Theta, J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -f(y) \end{bmatrix} \succeq 0. \text{ for } f = f_K, f_F.$$

The positivity of the latter kernels on  $\mathbb{R}^-$  implies  $f_K$ ,  $f_F \in S$ , by Proposition 1.3. For any  $h \in S$ , we now define two differentiable functions  $u, v : \mathbb{R}^- \to \mathbb{R}$  by equivalent formulas

$$\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} = \Theta \begin{bmatrix} h \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \Theta_{11}h + \Theta_{12} \\ \Theta_{21}h + \Theta_{22} \end{bmatrix} \iff \begin{bmatrix} v - u \end{bmatrix} \Theta = \det \Theta \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 - h \end{bmatrix}. \quad (3.24)$$

The kernels (2.35) and (2.36) associated with this pair are expressed in terms of the kernels (3.22) and (3.23) as follows:

$$K_{u,v}(x, y) = \begin{bmatrix} v(x) - u(x) \end{bmatrix} \mathfrak{K}_{\Theta,J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} v(y) \\ -u(y) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.25)  
+ det  $\Theta(x) \left( a(x) K_h(x, y) a(y) + \frac{b(x)}{x} \widetilde{K}_h(x, y) \frac{b(y)}{y} \right) det \Theta(y),$   
$$\widetilde{K}_{u,v}(x, y) = x \begin{bmatrix} v(x) - u(x) \end{bmatrix} \widetilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\Theta,J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} v(y) \\ -u(y) \end{bmatrix} y$$
(3.26)  
+ det  $\Theta(x) \left( xc(x) K_h(x, y) c(y) y + d(x) \widetilde{K}_h(x, y) d(y) \right) det \Theta(y).$ 

Indeed, by (2.35) and (3.22),

$$K_{u,v}(x, y) = \begin{bmatrix} v(x) - u(x) \end{bmatrix} \frac{J}{x - y} \begin{bmatrix} v(y) \\ -u(y) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} v(x) - u(x) \end{bmatrix} \Re_{\Theta, J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} v(y) \\ -u(y) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{bmatrix} v(x) - u(x) \end{bmatrix} \frac{a(x)a(y)\Theta(x)J\Theta(y)^*}{x - y} \begin{bmatrix} v(y) \\ -u(y) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{bmatrix} v(x) - u(x) \end{bmatrix} \frac{b(x)b(y)\Theta(x)J_{x,y}\Theta(y)^*}{x - y} \begin{bmatrix} v(y) \\ -u(y) \end{bmatrix}.$$

By (3.24), the second term on the right side equals

$$a(x) \det \Theta(x) \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -h(x) \end{bmatrix} \frac{J}{x - y} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -h(y) \end{bmatrix} \det \Theta(y)^{\top} a(y)$$
$$= a(x) \det \Theta(x) K_h(x, y) \det \Theta(y) a(y)$$

while the third term equals

$$b(x) \det \Theta(x) \begin{bmatrix} 1 - h(x) \end{bmatrix} \frac{J_{x,y}}{x - y} \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -h(y) \end{bmatrix} \det \Theta(y)^{\top} b(y)$$
$$= \frac{b(x) \det \Theta(x)}{x} \widetilde{K}_h(x, y) \frac{b(y) \det \Theta(y)}{y}.$$

Combining the three latter equalities leads us to (3.25). Relation (3.26) is verified similarly. Since  $h \in S$ , the kernels  $K_h$  and  $\widetilde{K}_h$  are positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . Then it follows from (3.22)–(3.26) that the kernels  $K_{u,v}$  and  $\widetilde{K}_{u,v}$  are positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . As in the proof of Lemma 2.3, we now conclude that either  $v(x) \neq 0$  for all x < 0 or  $v \equiv 0$ . In the first case, the function  $\mathbf{T}_{\Theta}[h] = \frac{u}{v}$  (by (3.24)) belongs to the Stieltjes class, since the kernels

$$K_{\frac{u}{v}}(x, y) = \frac{K_{u,v}(x, y)}{v(x)v(y)} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{K}_{\frac{u}{v}}(x, y) = \frac{\widetilde{K}_{u,v}(x, y)}{v(x)v(y)}$$

are positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ . To consider the remaining case, we assume that

$$v = \Theta_{21}h + \Theta_{22} \equiv 0, \quad u = \Theta_{21}h + \Theta_{22} \neq 0, \quad h \neq 0;$$
 (3.27)

the second relation in (3.27) follows from the first, since det  $\Theta \neq 0$ , and the last assumption can be made since the case  $h \equiv 0$  has been already handled. We will show that assumptions (3.27) are not consistent with the kernels (3.22) and (3.23) be positive.

By (3.27), the kernels (2.35) and (2.36) are equal to zero kernels. The formulas (3.25) and (3.26) represent each of these kernels as the sum of three other positive kernels, from which we conclude that

$$a(x)K_h(x,x) = c(x)K_h(x,x) = b(x)\widetilde{K}_h(x,x) = d(x)\widetilde{K}_h(x,x) \equiv 0.$$
(3.28)

and that the bottom diagonal entries in  $\mathfrak{K}_{\Theta,J}$  and  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\Theta,J}$  are also zero kernels. Therefore, the off-diagonal entries in  $\mathfrak{K}_{\Theta,J}$  and  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\Theta,J}$  are identical zeros as well:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \mathbf{\hat{\kappa}}_{\Theta,J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \equiv 0, \quad \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \widetilde{\mathbf{\hat{\kappa}}}_{\Theta,J}(x, y) \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} \equiv 0.$$
(3.29)

Since  $h \neq 0$ , at least one of the kernels  $K_h$  and  $\widetilde{K}_h$  is not the zero kernel. If both of them are non-zero, then it follows from (3.28) that  $a = b = c = d \equiv 0$ , which is not possible, since in this case, the kernels (3.22) and (3.23) are not positive.

If  $K_h \equiv 0$  and  $\widetilde{K}_h \neq 0$ , then it follows from (3.28) that  $b = d \equiv 0$ , in which case identities (3.29) can be equivalently written as

$$a(x)a(y)(\Theta_{11}(x)\Theta_{22}(y) - \Theta_{12}(x)\Theta_{21}(y)) - 1 \equiv 0,$$
  
$$c(x)c(y)(\Theta_{11}(x)\Theta_{22}(y) - \Theta_{12}(x)\Theta_{21}(y)) - \frac{1}{x} \equiv 0.$$

Combining the latter two identities give  $a(x)a(y) \equiv xc(x)c(y)$  which implies  $a = c \equiv 0$ , which is not possible, as in the previous case. The assumptions  $K_h \neq 0$  and  $\tilde{K}_h \equiv 0$  lead to a contradiction in a similar way, which completes the proof.

Although we assumed that the functions  $\Theta$  and a, b, c, d in Proposition 3.8 are rational, the same proof goes through for functions differentiable on  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$  except for a discrete set of points at which they have poles.

We next observe that the kernels (2.12) are particular cases of those in (3.22)and (3.23) corresponding to  $b = c \equiv 0$  and  $a = d \equiv 1$ . If  $\Psi$  is such that the kernels (2.12) are positive on  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$ , then the relation (2.16) guarantees that for any h operator monotone on  $\mathbb{R}_{-}$  (i.e., such that the kernel  $K_h$  is positive definite on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ ), the kernel  $K_{\mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h]}$  is also positive definite on  $\mathbb{R}^-$  (in more detail, the function  $\frac{\Psi_{22}}{\Psi_{21}}$  belongs to the Stieltjes class, by positivity of the bottom diagonal entries of the kernels (2.12), and hence, any monotone function h may take the same value as the decreasing function  $-\frac{\Psi_{22}}{\Psi_{21}}$  at most one point (say  $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^{-}$ ); therefore the function  $\phi$  in (2.16) does not vanish on  $\mathbb{R}^{-\backslash \{\zeta\}}$ , so that the  $K_{\mathbf{T}_{\Psi}[h]}$  is positive definite on  $\mathbb{R}^{-1}$ , and therefore, on the whole  $\mathbb{R}^{-1}$ . We conclude: the linear fractional transformation (2.3) based on a function  $\Psi$  such that the kernels (2.12) are positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ , maps the set  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^-}$  of operator-monotone functions on  $\mathbb{R}^-$  into itself and similarly, it maps the set  $\frac{1}{r}\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^-}$  into itself as well (by (2.17)). For most of classical interpolation problems in the Stieltjes class (in particular, for all problems that can be embedded into general interpolation schemes in [1, 5, 6, 12]) the solution sets are parametrized by linear fractional transformations of the type described above.

Letting  $a = d \equiv 0$ , b(x) = x,  $c \equiv 1$  in (3.22) and (3.23) we get the kernels

$$\frac{xy\Theta(x)J_{x,y}\Theta(y)^* - J}{y - x} \ge 0, \quad \frac{\Theta(x)J\Theta(y)^* - J_{x,y}}{y - x} \ge 0 \qquad (x, y \in \mathbb{R}^-).$$
(3.30)

It turns out that the linear fractional transformation  $\mathbf{T}_{\Theta}$  based on the function  $\Theta$  subject to conditions (3.30) maps  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^-}$  into  $\frac{1}{x}\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^-}$  and it maps  $\frac{1}{x}\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^-}$  back into  $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{R}^-}$ . A particular example of such function is given by

$$\Theta_0(x) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{x} \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \Theta_0(x)J\Theta_0(y)^* = J_{x,y}, \quad xy\Theta_0(x)J\Theta_0(y)^* = J.$$

(3.35)

Since  $\mathbf{T}_{\Theta_0}$  is a bijection on  $\overline{S}$ , it follows that any  $\Theta$  subject to (3.30) is of the form  $\Theta = \Theta_0 \Psi$  for some  $\Psi$  such that the kernels (2.12) are positive on  $\mathbb{R}^-$ .

We next point out that for the function  $\mathfrak{A}$  parametrizing the set  $Sol(\mathbf{CFS}_{2n})$  in formula (3.12), neither the kernels  $K_{\mathfrak{A},J}$ ,  $\widetilde{K}_{\mathfrak{A},J}$ , nor the kernels (3.30) are positive. However, two positive kernels on  $\mathbb{R}^-$  associated with  $\mathfrak{A}$  exist and are of the form (3.22) and (3.23):

$$\mathfrak{K}_{\mathfrak{A},J}(x,y) = \frac{a(x)a(y)\mathfrak{A}(x)J\mathfrak{A}(y)^* + xyc(x)c(y)\mathfrak{A}(x)J_{x,y}\mathfrak{A}(y)^* - J}{y-x} \succeq 0,$$
(3.31)

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\mathfrak{A},J}(x,y) = \frac{c(x)c(y)\mathfrak{A}(x)J\mathfrak{A}(y)^* + a(x)a(y)\mathfrak{A}(x)J_{x,y}\mathfrak{A}(y)^* - J_{x,y}}{y-x} \succeq 0,$$
(3.32)

where

$$a(x) = \frac{\sqrt{-x_0 h_0}}{x - x_0}, \quad c(x) = \frac{\sqrt{h_0}}{x - x_0}.$$
(3.33)

To justify (3.31) and (3.32), we first compute the inverse of the function  $\Phi$  in (3.11):

$$\Phi(x)^{-1} = \frac{1}{x - x_0} \begin{bmatrix} -1 & h_0 \\ -x & x_0 h_0 \end{bmatrix}$$

and then use it to verify that with a and c defined as in (3.33),

$$\Phi(x)^{-1}J\Phi(y)^{-*} = a(x)a(y)J + xyc(x)c(y)J_{x,y} - (y-x)a(x)a(y)\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.34)
$$\Phi(x)^{-1}J_{x,y}\Phi(y)^{-*} = c(x)c(y)J + a(x)a(y)J_{x,y} - \frac{(y-x)c(x)c(y)}{xy}\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

By (3.12),  $\mathfrak{A}\Phi^{-1} = \Psi$ , where  $\Psi$  is defined in (2.3)–(2.7). With this substitution and subsequent use of relations (3.34) and (3.35), the positive kernels (2.12) can be written in terms of the kernels (3.31) and (3.32) as

$$K_{\Psi,J}(x, y) = \frac{\mathfrak{A}(x)\Phi(x)^{-1}J\Phi(y)^{-*}\mathfrak{A}(y)^* - J}{y - x}$$
$$= \mathfrak{K}_{\mathfrak{A},J}(x, y) - a(x)a(y)\mathfrak{A}(x) \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \mathfrak{A}(y)^* \leq \mathfrak{K}_{\mathfrak{A},J}(x, y),$$

$$\widetilde{K}_{\Psi,J}(x,y) = \frac{\mathfrak{A}(x)\Phi(x)^{-1}J_{x,y}\Phi(y)^{-*}\mathfrak{A}(y)^{*}J_{x,y} - J_{x,y}}{y-x}$$
$$= \widetilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\mathfrak{A},J}(x,y) - \frac{c(x)c(y)}{xy}\mathfrak{A}(x) \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \mathfrak{A}(y)^{*} \leq \widetilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\mathfrak{A},J}(x,y),$$

which imply that the kernels  $\mathfrak{K}_{\mathfrak{A},J}$  and  $\widetilde{\mathfrak{K}}_{\mathfrak{A},J}$  are also positive.

Proposition 3.8 presents sufficient conditions for a linear transformation  $\mathbf{T}_{\Theta}$  to map the extended Stieltjes class into itself. A follow up question (which we leave open for now) is to which extent conditions (3.22) and (3.23) are necessary and, if they are, is it true that the functions *a*, *b*, *c*, *d* can always be chosen so that a(x) = d(x) and b(x) = xc(x) for all x < 0 (which indeed is the case in all three examples considered above).

#### 4 Determinate Cases

In this section we survey the cases where the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_N$  is determinate and identify the unique solution **f** for each case as the extremal solution of certain subproblem. Note that by the identity (2.1),

$$|\operatorname{rank}\widetilde{H}_n - \operatorname{rank}H_n| = |\operatorname{rank}\widetilde{H}_n - \operatorname{rank}(H_nT^*)| \le \operatorname{rank}(\mathbf{e}^*\mathbf{c}) = 1.$$
(4.1)

Since  $P_n \succeq H_n$  and  $P_n - H_n(T^* - x_0I) = \mathbf{e}^*\mathbf{c}$  we also have

$$\operatorname{rank} H_n \le \operatorname{rank} P_n \le \operatorname{rank} H_n + 1. \tag{4.2}$$

**Case 1:** The matrix  $H_n \geq 0$  is singular and rank  $H_n = r$ . In this case, the measure  $\mu$  from the integral representation (2.23) is supported by r points and therefore, any solution f to the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$  is rational with deg f = r, and the leading submatrix  $H_r$  of  $H_n$  is positive definite. By Kronecker's theorem [23], there is a unique rational function of degree r with the first 2r + 1 Taylor coefficients at  $x_0$  equal  $c_0, \ldots, c_{2r}$  and therefore, this function is  $\mathbf{f}$ , the unique solution of the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$ . Since rank  $H_m^{\mathbf{f}}(x_0) = r$  for all  $m \geq r$  (again by Kronecker's theorem) all Taylor coefficients  $c_m := \frac{\mathbf{f}^{(m)}(x_0)}{m!}$  are uniquely defined by  $c_1, \ldots, c_{2r}$  via the recursion formula

$$c_m = [c_{m-r} \ c_{m-r+1} \ \dots \ c_{m-1}] H_r^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} c_{r+1} \\ \vdots \\ c_{2r} \end{bmatrix}, \quad m > 2r.$$
 (4.3)

The function  $\mathbf{f}$  can be explicitly written (in the spirit of Loewner pencil realizations in [25]) as

$$\mathbf{f}(x) = c_0 + (x - x_0)\mathbf{e}_1^* H_r \left(H_r - (x - x_0)G_r\right)^{-1} H_r \mathbf{e}_1,$$
(4.4)

where  $\mathbf{e}_1$  denotes the first column of the matrix  $I_r$  and  $G_r = [c_{i+j+2}]_{i,j=0}^{r-1}$ . Computations similar to those in the proof of Lemma 2.5 verify that the first 2r + 1 Taylor coefficients of the function on the right side of (4.4) at  $x_0$  are indeed  $c_0, \ldots, c_{2r}$ .

**Case 2:** The matrix  $\widetilde{H}_n \geq 0$  is singular and rank  $\widetilde{H}_n = r$ . By applying the previous case to  $\widetilde{H}_n$  and  $x\mathbf{f}(x)$  (rather than  $H_n$  and  $\mathbf{f}$ , we see that the leading submatrix  $\widetilde{H}_r$  of  $\widetilde{H}_n$  is positive definite and that the only solution  $\mathbf{f}$  to the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$  is recovered from the realization formula

$$x\mathbf{f}(x) = c_0 + x_0c_1 + (x - x_0)\mathbf{e}_1^*\widetilde{H}_r \left(\widetilde{H}_r - (x - x_0)\widetilde{G}_r\right)^{-1}\widetilde{H}_r\mathbf{e}_1,$$

where  $\widetilde{G}_r = [x_0c_{i+j+3} + c_{i+j+2}]_{i,j=0}^{r-1}$ . Furthermore, the Taylor coefficients  $c_m := \frac{\mathbf{f}^{(m)}(x_0)}{m!}$  are uniquely defined for m > 2r by  $c_1, \ldots, c_{2r}$  via the recursion formula

$$c_m = -\frac{c_{m-1}}{x_0} + \left[c_{m-r} + \frac{c_{m-r-1}}{x_0} \dots c_{m-1} + \frac{c_{m-2}}{x_0}\right] \widetilde{H}_r^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} x_0 c_{r+1} + c_r \\ \vdots \\ x_0 c_{2r} + c_{2r-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.5)

The next theorem identifies the unique solution of a determinate problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$  with extremal solutions of its truncations.

**Theorem 4.1** Given  $x_0 < 0$  and  $c_0, \ldots, c_{2n-1}$ , let us assume that  $H_n \succeq 0$ ,  $\widetilde{H}_n \succeq 0$ . Let min{rank $H_n$ , rank $\widetilde{H}_n$ } = r < n and let  $f_F$ ,  $f_K$  and  $\mathfrak{f}_F$ ,  $\mathfrak{f}_K$  be the extremal solutions of the even problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2r-1}$  and solutions of the odd problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2r}$ , respectively. Then the unique solution  $\mathbf{f}$  to the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$  is equal to

$$\mathbf{f} = \begin{cases} f_F, & \text{if } \operatorname{rank} H_n = \operatorname{rank} \widetilde{H}_n = \operatorname{rank} P_n = r, \\ f_K, & \text{if } \operatorname{rank} H_n = \operatorname{rank} \widetilde{H}_n = r, & \operatorname{rank} P_n = r + 1, \\ \mathfrak{f}_F, & \text{if } \operatorname{rank} H_n = r, & \operatorname{rank} \widetilde{H}_n = r + 1, \\ \mathfrak{f}_K, & \text{if } \operatorname{rank} H_n = r + 1, & \operatorname{rank} \widetilde{H}_n = r. \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

**Proof** By the definition of r, we have  $H_r > 0$ ,  $\tilde{H}_r > 0$ , and at least one of the matrices  $H_{r+1}$  and  $\tilde{H}_{r+1}$  is singular. If both of them are singular, then **f** is equal either to  $f_F$  or to  $f_K$ , by Remark 2.8. If rank $P_{r+1} = r$ , then  $\mathbf{f} = f_F$ , by Theorem 3.1, and since  $P_{r+1}$  is singular, the extended matrix  $P_n$  has the same rank r. If rank $P_{r+1} = r + 1$ , then  $\mathbf{f} = f_F$  and, in case r < n - 1, the matrix  $P_{r+2}$  is singular, by (4.2). Therefore, rank $P_n = \operatorname{rank} P_{r+2} = r + 1$ , which completes the

verification of the two top cases in (4.6). Two other cases follow by Remark 3.7. By (4.1), the cases listed in (4.6) cover or possible degeneracies of  $H_n$  and  $\tilde{H}_n$ .  $\Box$ 

We next consider the odd problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n}$ . In each singular case listed in (4.6), the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n}$  has the same unique solution **f** if the given  $c_{2n}$  happens to be equal to  $\frac{\mathbf{f}^{(2n)}(x_0)}{(2n)!}$  and has no solutions otherwise. Below, we classify these cases in terms of the rank of  $H_n$ .

**Theorem 4.2** Given  $x_0 < 0$  and  $c_0, \ldots, c_{2n-1}, c_{2n}$ , let us assume that  $H_n \succeq 0$ ,  $\widetilde{H}_n \succeq 0$  and  $P_{n+1} \succeq 0$ . The problem **CFS**<sub>2n</sub> has a unique solution if and only if one of the following holds:

1. rank $H_n \leq n - 2;$ 

2. rank  $H_n = n - 1$  and  $c_{2n} = \begin{bmatrix} c_{n+1} & c_{n+2} & \dots & c_{2n-1} \end{bmatrix} H_{n-1}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} c_n \\ \vdots \\ c_{2n-2} \end{bmatrix};$ 

3.  $H_n \succ 0$ , rank $\widetilde{H}_n = n - 1$  and

$$c_{2n} = -\frac{c_{2n-1}}{x_0} + \left[c_{n+1} + \frac{c_n}{x_0} \dots c_{2n-1} + \frac{c_{2n-2}}{x_0}\right] \widetilde{H}_{n-1}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} x_0 c_n + c_{n-1} \\ \vdots \\ x_0 c_{2n-2} + c_{2n-3} \end{bmatrix};$$

4.  $H_n \succ 0$ ,  $\widetilde{H}_n \succ 0$  and  $c_{2n} = \boldsymbol{\alpha}$  or  $c_{2n} = \boldsymbol{\alpha} + \frac{\beta^2}{\delta}$  (see (2.52)).

**Proof** Let rank  $H_n \le n-2$  and let **f** be the unique solution to the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n-1}$ . Then the matrices

$$\left\lfloor \frac{\mathbf{f}^{(i+j)}(x_0)}{(i+j)!} \right\rfloor_{i,j=0}^{n} \quad \text{and} \quad P_{n+1} = [c_{i+j}]_{i,j=0}^{n}$$

are positive semidefinite Hankel extension of  $P_n$ . Since rank  $H_n \le n - 2$ , the matrix  $P_n$  is singular (by (4.5)) and therefore, it admits a *unique* positive semidefinite Hankel extension. Therefore,  $\frac{\mathbf{f}^{(2n)}(x_0)}{(2n)!} = c_{2n}$  and  $\mathbf{f}$  solves the problem  $\mathbf{CFS}_{2n}$ , which completes the proof of (1). Part (2) follows from **Case 1** considered above and the formula (4.3) for r = n - 1 and m = 2n. Similarly, part (3) follows from **Case 2** and formula (4.5). Part (4) has been covered in Theorem 3.1

Acknowledgments The project was partially supported by Simons Foundation grant 524539.

### References

- 1. D. Alpay, J.A. Ball, I. Gohberg, L. Rodman, The two-sided residue interpolation in the Stieltjes class for matrix functions. Linear Algebra Appl. **208/209**, 485–521 (1994)
- 2. G.A. Baker, P. Graves-Morris, Padé approximants, in *Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications*, vol. 59 (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 1996)
- 3. J. Bendat, S. Sherman, Monotone and convex operator functions. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. **79**, 58–71 (1955)
- V. Bolotnikov, Tangential Carathéodory-Fejér interpolation for Stieltjes functions at real points. Z. Anal. Anwendungen 13(1), 111–136 (1994)
- 5. V. Bolotnikov, On a general moment problem on the half axis. Linear Algebra Appl. **255**, 57–112 (1997)
- V. Bolotnikov, L.A. Sakhnovich, On an operator approach to interpolation problems for Stieltjes functions. Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory 35(4), 423–470 (1999)
- L. Bondesson, T. Simon, Stieltjes functions of finite order and hyperbolic monotonicity. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 370(6), 4201–4222 (2018)
- C. Carathéodory, Über den Variabilitatsbereich der Fourier'schen Konstanten von positiven harmonischen Funktionen. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 32, 193–217 (1911)
- C. Carathéodory, L. Fejér, Über den Zusammenhang der Extremen von harmonischen Funktionen mit ihren Koeffizienten und über den Picard–Landau'schen Satz. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, 32, 218–239 (1911)
- J.D. Chandler, Extensions of monotone operator functions. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 54, 221–224 (1976)
- 11. O. Dobsch, Matrixfunktionen beschrdnkter Schwankung. Math. Zeit. 43, 353-388 (1937)
- 12. Y. Dyukarev, A general scheme for solving interpolation problems in the Stieltjes class that is based on consistent integral representations of pairs of nonnegative operators. Mat. Fiz. Anal. Geom. 6(1-2), 30–54 (1999)
- 13. Y.M. Dyukarev, V.E. Katsnelson, Multiplicative and additive Stieltjes classes of analytic matrix-valued functions and interpolation problems connected with them. Teor. Funktsii Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. **36**, 13–27 (1981); **38**, 40–48 (1982); **41**, 64–70 (1984)
- D.R. Georgijević, Interpolation of Stieltjes functions, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 38(5), 373– 401 (2007)
- 15. F. Hausdorff, Summationsmethoden und Momentfolgen. Math. Z. 9, 74–109 (1921)
- W.B. Jones, W.J. Thron, H. Waadeland, A strong Stieltjes moment problem. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 261(2), 503–528 (1980)
- I.S. Kac, M.G. Kreĭn, R-analytic functions mapping the upper half-plane into itself, in *Nine Papers in Analysis*. American Mathematical Society Translations, vol. 103 (1974), pp. 1–18
- I.S. Kac, M.G. Kreĭn, Spectral functions of a string, in *Nine Papers in Analysis*. American Mathematical Society Translations, vol. 103, 19–102 (1974)
- I.S. Kats, A.A. Nudelman, The Stieltjes strong moment problem. St. Petersburg Math. J. 8(6), 931–950 (1997)
- M.G. Kreĭn, On a generalization of investigations of Stieltjes. Doklady Akad. Nauk SSSR 87, 881–884 (1952)
- 21. M.G. Kreĭn, A.A. Nudelman, *The Markov Moment Problem and Extremal Problems* (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1977)
- 22. M.G. Kreĭn, A.A. Nudelman, An interpolation problem in the class of Stieltjes functions and its connection with other problems. Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory **30**(3), 251–278 (1998)
- L. Kronecker, Zur Theorie der Elimination einer Variablen aus zwei algebraischen Gleichungen. Monatsber. Königl. Preussischen Akad. Wies. (1881), pp. 535–600
- 24. K. Löwner, Über monotone Matrixfunktionen. Math. Z. 38, 177–216 (1934)
- A.J. Mayo, A.C. Antoulas, A framework for the solution of the generalized realization problem. Linear Algebra Appl. 425, 634–662 (2007)

- A.A. Nudelman, Extension of a Stieltjes moment sequence to the left and related problems of the spectral theory of an inhomogeneous string. Ukrain. Mat. Zh. 59(6), 815—825 (2007)
- I. Schur, Über Potenzreihen die im Innern des Einheitskreises beschränkt sind. J. Reine Angew. Math. 147, 205–232 (1917)
- 28. J.A. Shohat, J.D. Tamarkin, The problem of moments, in *American Mathematical Society Mathematical surveys*, vol. 1 (American Mathematical Society, New York, 1943)
- A.D. Sokal, Real-variables characterization of generalized Stieltjes functions. Expo. Math. 28(2), 179–185 (2010)
- 30. T.J. Stieltjes, Recherches sur les fractions continues. Ann. Fac. Sci. Univ. Toulouse Math. 8, 1–122 (1894)
- O. Toeplitz, Über die Fourier'sche Entwicklung positiver Funktionen. Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 32, 191–192 (1911)
- 32. D.V. Widder, The Stieltjes transform. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 43, 7-60 (1938)

# Harmonic Analysis of Some Arithmetical Functions



**Roger Gay and Ahmed Sebbar** 

Abstract We study three functions which are power series in the variable z, Dirichlet series in the variable s and with coefficients given by arithmetical functions. A strong point is to relate these functions to some Hilbert spaces. Three main ingredients are used: an estimate of Davenport on sums of Möbius functions, a result of Lucht on convolutions of arithmetical Dirichlet series and the introduction of an operation  $\otimes$  on power series, naturally associated with the mentioned Hilbert spaces.

Keywords Arithmetical functions  $\cdot$  Franel integral  $\cdot$  Riesz basis  $\cdot$  Smith determinant

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000) 11M35, 11M41, 43A50

## 1 Introduction

Several formal trigonometrical expansions of the Analytic Number Theory are of Harmonic Analysis nature. For instance, they are periodic or almost periodic Fourier series of their sums. The main goal of the present paper is to prove a corresponding result for three arithmetical functions called  $\mathcal{L}_s$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_s$ ,  $\mathcal{C}_s$ . The first is the classical polylogarithm function, the second is built from the Möbius function  $\mu(n)$  and the third from the Ramanujan sums. The most salient results of the paper can be summarized as follows. We will study some possible links between  $\mathcal{L}_s$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_s$ ,  $\mathcal{C}_s$ 

R. Gay

University Bordeaux, IMB, Bordeaux, France e-mail: roger.gay@math.cnrs.fr

A. Sebbar (⊠) University Bordeaux, IMB, Bordeaux, France

Chapman University, One University Drive, Orange, CA, USA e-mail: sebbar@chapman.edu; ahmed.sebbar@math.u-bordeaux.fr

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex

to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_5

by using a theorem of Lucht [31]. For some arithmetical functions, as for example  $\frac{\sigma_s(n)}{n^s}$ ,  $\sigma_s(n) = \sum_{d|n} d^s$ ,  $\Re s > 0$  we study the existence of Ramanujan expansion

and give the Ramanujan coefficients. The third objective is to look at the problem from Kubert's identities point of view, first solved by Besicovitch [6], of giving an example of a non-trivial real continuous function f on [0, 1] which is not odd with respect to the point  $\frac{1}{2}$  and which has the property that for every positive integer k

$$\sum_{h=0}^{k} f(\frac{h}{k}) = 0.$$

Bateman and Chowla [4, 13] gave the two explicit examples of such functions

$$f_1(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} \cos(2\pi nt)$$
$$f_2(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n} \cos(2\pi nt)$$

where  $\mu$  is the Möbius function and  $\lambda$  is the Liouville's function  $\lambda$ , defined by  $\lambda(1) = 1$  and  $\lambda(n) = (-1)^j$  if *n* is the product of *j* (not necessarily distinct) prime numbers. The Liouville's function is a multiplicative function, closely related to the Möbius  $\mu$  function for they coincide on square-free integers. These two functions share many properties, as we will see in the last section.

We introduce some Hilbert spaces and build some Riesz basis from the function  $\mathcal{L}_s$  and determine an bi-orthogonal basis. The characterizations of the Riesz basis highlight some Dirichlet series as well as some extension of the famous Smith determinant. We illustrate the Fourier Analysis aspect through the Ramanujan series and their use in the development of arithmetical functions. The last section briefly presents an opening towards dynamical systems, to emphasize that the path inaugurated by Aurel Wintner, Norbert Wiener and Marc Kac may experience a revival in dynamical systems, as in the conjectures of Chowla and Sarnak.

#### 2 Arithmetical Functions

Lambert series are, by definition, series of the form

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n \frac{x^n}{1-x^n}, \quad a_n \in \mathbb{C}.$$

They were considered in connection with the convergence of power series. If a series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n$  converges, then the Lambert series converges for all  $x \neq \pm 1$ . Otherwise it

converges for those values of x for which the series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n x^n$  converges [46], and the references therein. In all that follows, it would be of some interest to highlight three equivalences which will be used more or less explicitly in this paper. Formally we have the following diagram, where f and g are two arithmetical functions

$$f(n) = \sum_{d|n} g(d) \iff \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{f(n)}{n^s} = \zeta(s) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{g(n)}{n^s} \iff \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} f(n)x^n = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g(n) \frac{x^n}{1-x^n}.$$

This is exactly the essence of our work: we are constantly moving between three aspects: arithmetical convolution, Dirichlet series and power series. This is done through the Riemann zeta function or its inverse. To illustrate this, we give some examples [38] (Part Eight), some of which will be used and all the definitions will be given,

1. If  $g(n) = \mu(n)$ , the Möbius function, then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(n) \frac{x^n}{1-x^n} = x.$$

2. If  $g(n) = \lambda(n)$ , the Liouville function, the associated Lambert series is the Jacobi theta function

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \lambda(n) \frac{x^n}{1-x^n} = x + x^4 + x^9 + x^{16} + \cdots$$

3. If  $\Phi(n)$  is Euler's totient function, then for |x| < 1

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Phi(n) \frac{x^n}{1-x^n} = \frac{x}{(1-x)^2}.$$

4. If 
$$G_1(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g(n) \frac{x^n}{1-x^n}$$
 and  $G_2(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g(n)x^n$ , then  
 $G_1(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} G_2(x^n).$ 

When g(n) is a known arithmetical function, like  $\mu(n)$  or  $\lambda(n)$  or  $\Phi(n)$ , the previous relations reflect deep arithmetical identities. On the other hand some elementary functions g(n) can produce non trivial sums. For example if  $g(n) = \frac{1}{n}$  and  $G_1(x) = \infty$ 

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \frac{x^n}{1-x^n}, \text{ then }$$

$$e^{-G_1(x)} = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - x^n),$$

a well known function in the theory of partitions.

The notion of Kubert's identity is important for us, before defining it we introduce a fundamental function

$$\{t\} = \begin{cases} t - \lfloor t \rfloor - \frac{1}{2} & \text{if } t \neq \lfloor t \rfloor \\ 0 & \text{if } t = \lfloor t \rfloor \end{cases}$$
(2.1)

admitting the Fourier expansion

$$\{t\} = -\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sin(2\pi mt)}{m}$$

which extends into a formal summation expansion

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{n} \{ nt \} = -\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{A_n}{n} \sin(2\pi nt),$$

where  $A_n = \sum_{d|n} a_d$ . This reveals a property of the sequence  $(\{nt\})_{n\geq 1}$ , closely related to the main concern of this paper. We have the well known result

$$\int_0^1 (\{rt\}\{st\}) \ dt = \frac{\gcd(r,s)}{12 \operatorname{lcm}(r,s)} = \frac{\gcd(r,s)^2}{12 rs}.$$
 (2.2)

Another example that we will meet is the expansion,  $t \notin 2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ 

$$\log\left(2\left|\sin\frac{t}{2}\right|\right) = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{\cos nt}{n}$$
(2.3)

which leads to the formal identity, for irrational t

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_n \log(2|\sin n\pi t|))}{n} = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{G_n \cos(2n\pi t)}{n},$$

where again  $G_n = \sum_{d|n} c_d$ . The validity of this equality has been discussed by Davenport in [14] and also by Chowla in [12], who observed that

$$\int_0^1 \log\left(2|\sin r\pi t|\right) \log\left(2|\sin s\pi t|\right) \, dt = \frac{\pi^2}{12} \, \frac{\gcd(r,s)^2}{rs}.$$
 (2.4)

The formulas (2.2) and (2.4) are named Franel integrals in [43]. Beside Number Theory, the functions (2.1) and (2.3) appear in Fourier and Harmonic Analysis where (2.2) and (2.4) find an interpretation. To give the mean idea we cite the following fact: the sequence of functions

$$1, \{t\}, \{2t\}, \dots \{nt\}, \dots$$

is a basis for the Hilbert space  $(L^2([0, \frac{1}{2}), dt), dt)$  being the Lebesgue measure. This kind of results, with very interesting connections with questions in Number Theory, appeared in [22, 48].

Another point of view, which we only briefly evoke here and also in the Sect. 8, is the following: We fix a positive integer p and define on the unit interval the p-Bernoulli map, an extension of (2.1), the function

$$\psi_p(x) = px - \lfloor px \rfloor, \quad \{x\}_p = \psi_p(x) - \frac{1}{2}$$

which admits the Fourier series expansion

$$\{x\}_p = -\sum \frac{2\cos(2n\pi x - \frac{1}{2}p\pi)}{(2n\pi)^p}.$$
(2.5)

We look at  $\psi_p(x)$  as a one-dynamical system on the space (0, 1), as in [23]. The associated Perron–Frobenius operator  $P_{\psi_p}$  is defined by

$$\left(P_{\psi_p}u\right)(x) = \sum_{y \in \psi^{-1}(x)} \frac{u(y)}{|\psi'(y)|} = \frac{1}{p} \left\{ u(\frac{x}{p}) + u(\frac{x+1}{p}) + \dots + u(\frac{x+p-1}{p}) \right\}.$$

If u is an eigenvector of  $P_{\psi_p}$ , associated to the eigenvalue  $\lambda$ , then

$$\lambda p u(px) = u(x) + u(x + \frac{1}{p}) + \dots + u(x + \frac{p-1}{p}).$$
(2.6)

We see that if, for example,  $\lambda = 1$ , the eigenfunctions satisfy certain functional equations, similar to those satisfied by the function log  $\Gamma$ . We give few fundamental examples:

1. Bernoulli polynomials are given by

$$\frac{te^{tx}}{e^t - 1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n(x)t^n, \quad B_0(x) = 1, \quad B_1(x) = x - \frac{1}{2}, \quad B_2(x) = x^2 - x + \frac{1}{6}, \cdots$$

and they satisfy

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left( B_n(x) + \dots + B_n(x + \frac{k-1}{k}) \right) t^n = k \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\frac{t}{k})^n B_n(kx).$$

So the eigenvalues are  $\lambda = k^{-n}$ .

2. Hurwitz zeta function, defined for  $\Re s > 1$  by

$$\zeta(s, x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(x+n)^s}$$

for which we have

$$\zeta(x,s) + \dots + \zeta(x + \frac{k-1}{k}, s) = k^s \zeta(kx,s)$$

and the eigenvalues are  $\lambda = k^{s-1}$ . It satisfies for  $\Re s > \frac{1}{2}$  the Franel type integral [33]

$$\int_0^1 \zeta(\{ax\}, 1-s)\zeta(\{bx\}, 1-s) \, dx = \frac{2\Gamma^2(s)\zeta(2s)}{(2\pi)^{2s}} \left(\frac{\gcd(a, b)}{\operatorname{lcm}(a, b)}\right)^s.$$

The integral diverges for  $\Re s \leq \frac{1}{2}$ .

3. The polylogarithm function defined (for |z| < 1,  $\Re s \ge 1$  or  $|z| \le 1$ ,  $\Re s > 1$ ) by

$$\mathcal{L}_s(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{z^k}{k^s}.$$

For s = k an integer the polylogarithm function is related to the Bernoulli polynomial  $B_k(X)$  by

$$B_k(\lfloor \theta \rfloor) = -\sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{e^{2i\pi n\theta}}{n^k},$$

which is just (2.5) when k = p = 1. In order to study their relation to the Perron–Frobenius operator we introduce a new notion.

**Definition 2.1** According to Kubert [29, 34] we say that a function f(x), where *x* varies over  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ , satisfies a Kubert identity if it verifies the functional equations

$$f(x) = m^{s-1} \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} f\left(\frac{x+k}{m}\right) \tag{*s}$$

for every positive integer *m*. Here *s* is some fixed parameter.

It is apparent that this definition is more restrictive than the one given for eigenfunctions of the Perron–Frobenius operator. The derivative of a differentiable function satisfying  $(\star_s)$  satisfies  $(\star_{s-1})$ . A very instructive example is given by the following example: From the polynomial relation

$$X^n - 1 = \prod_{\eta^n = 1} (\eta X - 1)$$

we deduce that

$$e^{2i\pi nx} - 1 = \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} (e^{2i\pi(x+\frac{k}{n})} - 1), \quad x \in \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}, \ x \neq 0$$

so that if  $f(x) := \log |e^{2i\pi x} - 1|$ , then

$$f(nx) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \log|2\sin\pi(x+\frac{k}{n})| = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} f(x+\frac{k}{n}).$$
 (2.7)

This property of the function  $f(x) := \log |e^{2i\pi x} - 1|$  is connected with the Franel type equality (2.4).

Let  $\mathcal{K}_s$ ,  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ , be the complex vector space of all continuous maps  $f : (0, 1) \rightarrow \mathbb{C}$  which satisfy the Kubert identity  $(\star_s)$  for every positive integer *m* and every *x* in (0, 1). It is easy to see directly that the function  $\mathcal{L}_s(z)$  satisfies the relation  $(\star_s)$ . More precisely [34, p.287]

**Theorem 2.2** The complex vector space  $\mathcal{K}_s$  has dimension 2, spanned by one even element (f(x) = f(1 - x)) and one odd element (f(x) = -f(1 - x)). Each  $f(x) \in \mathcal{K}_s$  is real analytic.

This is an interesting interpretation of an important result. In fact if

$$\mathfrak{l}(x) = \mathcal{L}_s(e^{2i\pi x})$$

we should have, according to this theorem, a linear combination

$$\mathfrak{l}(x) = A_s \zeta(1-s, x) + B_s \zeta(1-s, 1-x).$$

The values of the coefficients are given in [34, p.308]

$$A_{s} = \frac{i(2\pi)^{s}e^{-\frac{i\pi s}{2}}}{2\Gamma(s)\sin(\pi s)}, \quad B_{s} = \frac{-i(2\pi)^{s}e^{\frac{i\pi s}{2}}}{2\Gamma(s)\sin(\pi s)}.$$

This is precisely an another formulation of Lerch's transformation formula for the function

$$\Phi(z, s, \nu) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{(n+\nu)^s}, \quad |z| < 1, \ \nu \neq 0, -1, -2, \cdots$$

which is [18, p.29]

$$\Phi(z, s, \nu) = iz^{-\nu}(2\pi)^{s-1}\Gamma(1-s) \left\{ e^{\frac{-i\pi s}{2}} \Phi[e^{-2i\pi\nu}, 1-s, \frac{(\log z)}{2i\pi}] - e^{i\pi(\frac{s}{2}+2\nu)} \Phi[e^{2i\pi\nu}, 1-s, 1-\frac{(\log z)}{2i\pi}] \right\}$$

and which reduces to the functional equation of the Riemann zeta function when  $z = 1, \nu = 0, \Re s > 1.$ 

**Remark 2.3** The theorem of Milnor stated above asserts that every function in the space  $\mathcal{K}_s$  is real analytic. These functions are eigenfunctions corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda = 1$  of the Perron–Frobenius operator. However the later has eigenfunctions corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$  which are continuous but nowhere differentiable. As mentioned in [23, p.361] the Tagaki function (or the blancmange function) T(x) is an example of a such function. This function is defined by

$$T(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Psi(2^n x) - \frac{1}{2},$$

where

$$\Psi(x) = \inf\{|x-n|, n \in \mathbb{Z}\} = \left|x - 2\left\lfloor\frac{x+1}{2}\right\rfloor\right|$$

is the sawtooth function, periodic of period 1.

## **3** Three Power Series

The essential of the analytic properties of the polylogarithm function  $\mathcal{L}_s(z) = \sum_{n>1} \frac{z^k}{k^s}$  come from the integral representation

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}(z) = \frac{z}{\Gamma(s)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{t^{s-1}}{e^{t} - z} dt, \quad \Re s > 0, \ z \notin (1, \infty).$$

Let  $\vartheta = z \frac{d}{dz}$  be Boole's differential operator. We define an inverse of  $\vartheta$  by

$$\vartheta^{-1}f(z) = \int_0^z f(u)\frac{du}{u}$$

defined on the class of analytic functions near the origin, and vanishing at the origin. For s = n a positive integer we have the symbolic representation as an iterated integral

$$\mathcal{L}_n(z) = \vartheta^{-n} \frac{z}{1-z}.$$
(3.1)

To define the next function we recall first the definition of the Möbius arithmetical function

$$\mu(n) = \mu_n = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } n = 1 \\ 0 \text{ if } n \text{ has one or more repeated prime factors} \\ (-1)^k \text{ if } n \text{ is the product of } k \text{ prime factors.} \end{cases}$$

The importance of the Möbius function lies in the following inversion

.

$$f(n) = \sum_{d|n} g(d) \iff g(n) = \sum_{d|n} f(d)\mu(\frac{n}{d}) = \sum_{d|n} f(\frac{n}{d})\mu(d).$$
(3.2)

The generalized Möbius inversion may be formulated as follows: If t varies on the half-line t > 0, and if either  $g(t) = O(t^{-1-\eta})$  holds for some  $\eta > 0$  or  $h(t) = O(t^{-1-\delta})$  holds for some  $\delta > 0$  then

$$h(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} g(nt)$$

is equivalent to

$$g(t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \mu(n)h(nt).$$

The main objective of this section is the study the relationships between the three functions  $\mathcal{L}_s(z)$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_s(z)$  and  $\mathcal{C}_s(z)$  defined by the following power series:

1.  $\mathcal{L}_{s}(z) = \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{z^{k}}{k^{s}}, |z| \le 1, \quad \Re s > 1 \text{ or } |z| < 1, \quad \Re s \ge 0,$ 2.  $\mathcal{M}_{s}(z) = \sum_{k \ge 1} \mu_{k} \frac{z^{k}}{k^{s}}, |z| \le 1 \ \Re s > 1 \text{ or } |z| < 1, \quad \Re s \ge 0.$  This series is most known when s = 0 and |z| < 1. It amounts to the series  $\sum_{k \ge 1} \mu_{k} z^{k}$  studied by Bateman and Chowla [4, 13]. They use the crucial estimates for sums of Möbius

For every A > 0, there exists a constant D(A) such that, uniformly for  $|z| \le 1$ 

$$\left| \sum_{0 < j \le x} \mu(j) z^j \right| \le D(A) \log(x+1)^{-A}.$$
(3.3)

3. 
$$\mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z) = \sum_{k \ge 1} c_k(l) \frac{z^k}{k^s} \quad |z| \le 1 \quad \Re s > 1 \text{ or } |z| < 1, \quad \Re s \ge 0,$$

where  $c_k(l)$  is the Ramanujan sum

$$c_q(n) = \sum_{\substack{a=1\\(a,q)=1}}^{n} e^{2i\pi \frac{an}{q}} = \sum_{\substack{a=1\\(a,q)=1}}^{n} \cos(2\pi \frac{an}{q}).$$

As we will see the series  $C_{s,l}(z) = \sum_{k \ge 1} c_k(l) \frac{z^k}{k^s}$  is most known only when z = 1 and  $\Re s > 1$ . Its sum was given by Ramanujan, and simplified methods were found by

Estermann and others.

For fixed n,  $c_q(n)$  is a multiplicative function: if  $q_1, q_2$  are relatively prime, then

$$c_{q_1}(n)c_{q_2}(n) = c_{q_1q_2}(n).$$

Moreover  $c_q(n)$  is a periodic function of n with period q. When (m, k) = 1 we have  $c_k(m) = \mu_k$ , and when (m, k) = k we have  $c_k(m) = \Phi(m)$ ,  $\Phi$  being the Euler's totient function, with for every positive integer N,  $\Phi(N)$  is the number of positive integers less than or equal to N and relatively prime to N. More generally Hölder

[25] showed that Ramanujan's sum can also be expressed in closed form as follows:

$$c_k(m) = \frac{\Phi(m)}{\Phi\left(\frac{m}{(k,m)}\right)} \mu\left(\frac{m}{(k,m)}\right).$$

Three well known properties of the  $\Phi$ -function are important for further extension. For every positive integer *N* 

$$N = \sum_{d|N} \Phi(d)$$
  
$$\Phi(N) = N \prod_{\substack{p|N\\p \text{ prime}}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{p}\right).$$
 (3.4)

An important property of the Ramanujan coefficients is their orthogonality, that can be used to compute the Ramanujan coefficients

**Lemma 3.1 (Orthogonality Relations)** Let  $\Phi$  the Euler's totient function, then

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} \frac{1}{x} \sum_{n \le x} c_r(n) c_s(n) = \Phi(r)$$

if r = s and zero otherwise. More generally

$$\lim_{x \to +\infty} \frac{1}{x} \sum_{n \le x} c_r(n) c_s(n+h) = c_r(h)$$

if r = s and zero otherwise.

The functions  $\mathcal{M}_s, \mathcal{L}_s$ , tough different in nature, share the same differencedifferential equation

$$z\frac{\partial}{\partial z}f(z,s) = f(z,s-1), \qquad (3.5)$$

but the series  $\mathcal{M}_s(z)$  does not seem to have attracted much attention. For the particular case z = 1 and  $\Re s > 1$  we have with  $\sigma_{s-1}(n) = \sum_{d|n} d^{s-1}$ 

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}(1) = \zeta(s), \quad \mathfrak{M}_{s}(1) = \frac{1}{\zeta(s)}, \quad \mathfrak{C}_{s,l}(1) = \frac{\sigma_{s-1}(n)}{n^{s-1}\zeta(s)}.$$

The last equality can be understood in the framework of Ramanujan-Fourier series: Given an arithmetical function  $a : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{C}$ , the Ramanujan-Fourier series for *a* is the series

$$a(n) = \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} a_q c_q(n), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The coefficients can be computed by using the previous orthogonality relations, but we will be concerned by a different kind of approach.

Let  $f, g : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{C}$  two arithmetical functions. The Dirichlet convolution product of f, g is defined by

$$f \star g(n) = \sum_{d|n} f(d)g(\frac{n}{d}), \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

For example if  $1 : n \to n$  is the identity arithmetical function, the inversion formula (3.2) is just

$$f = g \star 1 \iff g = f \star \mu$$

To study the expansion in Ramanujan series, or to find relations between the three series  $\mathcal{L}_s(z)$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_s(z)$  and  $\mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z)$  we will make use of a result of H. Delange [16] and a result of L. Lucht [31].

Theorem 3.2 (Delange) Suppose that

$$f(n) = \sum_{d|n} g(d) = (g \star 1)(n)$$

and that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2^{\omega(n)} \frac{|g(n)|}{n} < \infty,$$
(3.6)

where  $\omega(n)$  is the number of distinct prime divisors of n. Then f admits a Ramanujan expansion with

$$\hat{f}(q) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{g(qm)}{qm}$$

More precisely for each n the sum

$$\sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \hat{f}(q) c_q(n)$$

is absolutely convergent and is equal to f(n).

98

We can weaken this statement by observing that from the prime decomposition of a positive integer  $n = \prod_{i=1}^{k} p_i^{e_i}$ ,  $e_i \ge 1$ , the number of divisors d(n) and the number of prime divisors  $\omega(n)$  are related by

$$d(n) = (e_1 + 1) + \dots + (e_k + 1) \ge 2^{\omega(n)}.$$

So the condition (3.6) can be weakened by asking only

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} d(n) \frac{|g(n)|}{n} < \infty.$$
(3.7)

To give an application of this theorem we begin by a review of some additional properties of Ramanujan sums. First of all for z = 1 the sum is the celebrated formula of Ramanujan [40] (p.199): For k > 1 and  $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{1\}$  with  $\Re s > 0$ 

$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_k(m)}{m^s} = \zeta(s) \sum_{d|k} d^{1-s} \mu(\frac{k}{d}),$$
(3.8)

and even for s = 1 we have [40] (p.199)

$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_k(m)}{m} = -\sum_{d|k} \mu(\frac{k}{d}) \log d = -\Lambda(k),$$

where k > 1 and  $\Lambda(k)$  is Mangoldt's function

$$\Lambda(n) = \begin{cases} \log p \text{ if } n = p^m \text{ for some } m \ge 1 \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

Another formula of Ramanujan [40] (p.185) is

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_k(m)}{k^s} = \frac{\sigma_{1-s}(m)}{\zeta(s)},$$
(3.9)

valid for  $\Re s > 1$  and also for s = 1. In this case the sum vanishes. According to Ramanujan this assertion is equivalent to the Prime Number Theorem

This formula results directly from Delange's theorem. The next role will be played by the following lemma.
**Lemma 3.3 (Romanoff [42])** If k < n and f(u) is any function defined on the positive integers then

$$\sum_{d|n} \mu(\frac{n}{d}) f((d,k)) = 0.$$
(3.10)

This Lemma can be proved, for example, by establishing that

$$\sum_{d|n} \mu(\frac{n}{d}) f((d,k)) = \sum_{\delta} f(\delta) \sum_{\substack{d|n\\(d,k)=\delta}} \mu(\frac{n}{d}).$$

This lemma is very important of the following reason. Let  $(x_n)$  be a sequence in a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  with an inner product  $\langle, \rangle$  and let  $g : \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N} \setminus \{(0,0)\} \to \mathbb{C}$  be an arithmetical function such the  $\langle x_n, x_m \rangle = g(n, m)$ . Then the sequence

$$y_n = \sum_{d|n} \mu(\frac{n}{d}) x_d$$

is an orthogonal sequence. Another important result is the following

**Theorem 3.4 (Lucht)** Let  $g : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{C}$  be an arbitrary arithmetical function. Then the following assertions are equivalent:

- 1. The series  $\hat{g}(k) = \sum_{n \ge 1} g(n)c_n(k)$  converges (absolutely) for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and determine an arithmetical function  $\hat{a}$
- determine an arithmetical function  $\hat{g}$ . 2. The series  $\gamma(k) = k \sum_{n \ge 1}^{\infty} \mu(n)g(kn)$  converges (absolutely) for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and

determine an arithmetical function  $\gamma$ .

In the case of convergence we have the convolution products  $\gamma = \mu \star \hat{g}$  or  $1 \star \gamma = \hat{g}$ .

As a first application we take  $g(n) = g_{z,s}(n) = \frac{z^n}{n^s}$ , with  $|z| \le 1$ ,  $\Re s > 1$  or |z| < 1,  $\Re s \ge 0$  to obtain by the theorem of Lucht:

$$\hat{g}(k) = \hat{g}_z(k) = \sum_{n \ge 1} c_n(k) \frac{z^n}{n^s} = \mathcal{C}_{s,k}(z)$$

Hence

$$\gamma(k) = \gamma_{z,s}(k) = \frac{1}{k^{s-1}} \sum_{n \ge 1} \mu_n \frac{z^{nk}}{n^s} = \frac{1}{k^{s-1}} \mathcal{M}_s(z^k).$$

For s = 1 the uniform convergence on the unit closed disk of the series  $\sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} z^n$ 

results from the uniform convergence on  $\mathbb{R}$  of the series  $\sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} e^{2i\pi\theta}$ , resulting

from (3.3) and the maximum principle. For the sake of completeness we give all the details of this important result. The following lemma, due to Cahen and Jensen, is classical [21]:

**Lemma 3.5** If the Dirichlet series  $f(s) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k e^{-\lambda_k s}$  is convergent for  $s_0$ , then it is also convergent for any s in the cone  $|\arg(s - s_0)| \le \alpha < \frac{\pi}{2}$  (Stolz angle). Furthermore the series is uniformly convergent on any compact set of the cone, as well as any of its derivatives and

$$f^{(n)}(s) = (-1)^n \sum a_n \lambda_k^n e^{-\lambda_n s}.$$

Accordingly

$$\lim_{s \to 1} \mathfrak{M}_s(e^{2i\pi\theta}) = \mathfrak{M}_1(e^{2i\pi\theta})$$

The Ramanujan-Fourier transform of the arithmetical function  $g(n) = \frac{z^n}{n}$  is

$$\hat{g}(k) = \sum_{n \ge 1} c_n(k) \frac{z^n}{n}$$

which converges for |z| < 1. It also converges for |z| = 1. In fact

$$\gamma(k) = k \sum_{n \ge 1} \mu(n) \frac{z^{nk}}{nk} = \sum_{n \ge 1} \mu(n) \frac{z^{nk}}{n}$$

converge uniformly on the closed unit disc by Davenport's estimate (3.3). By using 3.4 we obtain the convergence of the series  $\hat{g}(k)$  with  $\gamma(k) = \mathcal{M}_1(z^k)$ , and finally

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} c_n(l) \frac{z^n}{n} = \sum_{d|l} \mathcal{M}_1(z^d)$$

for |z| = 1, by using a Möbius inversion of  $\gamma = \mu \star \hat{g}$ . The maximum principle asserts that this equality continues to be valid even for  $|z| \le 1$ .

In the same vein we have:

$$\mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z) = \sum_{d|l} d^{1-s} \mathcal{M}_s(z^d),$$

which is an interesting link between the two series  $C_{s,l}(z)$  and  $\mathcal{M}_s(z)$ . The following lemma is elementary and it is just a variation of (2.7).

Lemma 3.6 We have

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} e^{2i\pi \frac{nhk}{m}} = \begin{cases} m \text{ if } m|nk\\ 0 \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

or, equivalently, for all  $n, m \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $w, z \in \mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$\sum_{w:w^m=z} w^n = m z^{\frac{n}{m}}$$

if m|n and zero otherwise.

**Remark 3.7** The meaning of  $nk \in m\mathbb{N}^*$  is the following: We first observe that  $k\mathbb{Z} \cap m\mathbb{Z} = \operatorname{lcm}(k, m)\mathbb{Z}$ , hence

$$nk \in \operatorname{lcm}(k,m)\mathbb{N}^* \iff n \in \delta(k,m)\mathbb{N}^*, \quad \delta(k,m) := \frac{\operatorname{lcm}(k,m)}{k}$$

and

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} e^{2i\pi \frac{nhk}{m}} = \begin{cases} m \text{ if } n \in \delta(k, m) \mathbb{N}^* \\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3.11)

,

If we choose  $z = e^{2i\pi \frac{h}{m}}$  with some fixed  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$  and  $1 \le h \le m$ , and denote simply

$$g_{z,1}(n) = g_{\frac{h}{m}}(n) = \frac{e^{2i\pi \frac{nh}{m}}}{n}, \quad \gamma_{z,1} = \gamma_{\frac{h}{m}}$$

we get

$$\gamma_{\frac{h}{m}}(k) = k \sum_{n \ge 1} \mu(n) g_{\frac{h}{m}}(kn) = k \sum_{n \ge 1} \mu(n) \frac{e^{2i\pi \frac{nkh}{m}}}{nk} = \mathcal{M}_1(e^{2i\pi \frac{hk}{m}})$$

and

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} \gamma_{\frac{h}{m}}(k) = m \sum_{n \in \delta(k,m)\mathbb{N}^*} \frac{\mu(n)}{n}$$

or

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} \mathcal{M}_1(e^{2i\pi \frac{hk}{m}}) = m \sum_{n \in \delta(k,m)\mathbb{N}^*} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} = 0.$$

As the argument usually used in the proof of the last equality is very present in the present study we give a slightly more general result. We are going to show the following lemma

### **Lemma 3.8** We have for $\Re s > 1$

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{\mu(qn)}{n^s} = \frac{\mu(q)q^s}{\Phi_s(q)\zeta(s)},\tag{3.12}$$

with

$$\Phi_s(q) = q^s \prod_{p|q} (1 - p^{-s}) = \sum_{d|q} d^s \mu(\frac{q}{d}).$$

In particular

1. 
$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\mu(qn)}{n} = 0 \text{ for every } q \in \mathbb{N}^*.$$
  
2. For  $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$  we have  $\sum_{n \in d\mathbb{N}^*} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} = 0$ 

Indeed

$$\frac{1}{\zeta(s)} = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\mu(n)}{n^s} = \prod_p (1 - p^{-s}) = \prod_{p|q} (1 - p^{-s}) \cdot \prod_{p \nmid q} (1 - p^{-s}) = \frac{\Phi_s(q)}{q^s} \sum_{n \ge 1, \ (n,q)=1} \frac{\mu(n)}{n^s}$$
$$\frac{\Phi_s(q)}{\mu(q)q^s} \sum_{n \ge 1, \ (n,q)=1} \frac{\mu(qn)}{n^s}.$$

The lemma is obtained by using the Lemma 3.5, or the classical Ingham's Tauberian theorem [28] (p.133). One can show that

$$\sum_{n \in \delta(k,m)\mathbb{N}^*} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} = \mu_{\delta(k,m)} \lim_{s \to 1} \left( \frac{1}{\zeta(s) \prod_{p \mid \delta(k,m)}} (1 - \frac{1}{p^s}) \right)^{-1} = 0.$$

It is easily seen that  $\sum_{1 \le h \le m} \gamma_{\frac{h}{m}}(k) = 0$ . Hence

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} \mathcal{M}_1(e^{2i\pi \frac{hk}{m}}) = 0.$$

From the relation  $\mu \star \sum_{1 \le h \le m} \hat{g}_{\frac{h}{m}} = 0$  we conclude again, by Cahen-Jensen lemma and Möbius inversion, that

$$\lim_{s \to 1} \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{c_{jm}(k)}{j^s} = \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{c_{jm}(k)}{j} = 0.$$

Indeed we have  $\sum_{1 \le h \le m} \hat{g}_{\frac{h}{m}} = 0$ , so for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ 

$$\lim_{s \to 1} m^{1-s} \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{c_{jm}(k)}{j^s} = \lim_{s \to 1} \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{c_{jm}(k)}{j^s} = 0$$

since

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{c_n(k)}{n^s} e^{2i\pi \frac{nk}{m}} = m^{1-s} \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{c_{jm}(k)}{j^s}.$$

We also have

$$\lim_{s \to 1} \sum_{1 \le h \le m} \mathcal{C}_{s,l}(e^{2i\pi \frac{h}{m}}) = \sum_{d|l} \left( \sum_{1 \le h \le m} \mathcal{M}_1(E^{2i\pi \frac{hd}{m}}) \right) = 0$$

by using

$$\mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z) = \sum_{d|l} d^{1-s} \mathcal{M}_s(z^d).$$

This lemma, applied to  $\gamma_{\frac{h}{m}(k)} = \mathcal{M}_1(e^{2i\pi \frac{hk}{m}})$  and with  $\delta(k, m) = \frac{\operatorname{lcm}(k, m)}{k}$ , gives

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} \mathcal{M}_1(e^{2i\pi \frac{hk}{m}}) = m \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{\mu_{j\delta(k,m)}}{j\delta(k,m)} = \frac{m}{\delta(k,m)} \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{\mu_{j\delta(k,m)}}{j} = 0.$$

Thus we have a nontrivial example of a function solving the initial Besicovich question. A natural question suggested by the Lemma 3.8 is: Find all the sequences  $a = (a_n)_{n\geq 1}$  satisfying the relations  $\sum_{j\geq 1} a_{jm} = 0$  for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . According to [39] (p. 294) if

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |a_n| < \infty, \quad \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{jn} = 0, \ j = 1, 2, \cdots$$

then  $a_n = 0$  for every  $n \ge 1$ . As was pointed out in [39] (p.294) the absolute convergence is necessary. We give here an example [32] (p.219) completing (3.12) and showing the necessity of the absolute convergence. It is

$$\sum_{\substack{m=1\\(m,n)=1}}^{\infty} \frac{|\mu(m)|}{m^s} = \frac{n^s \zeta(s)}{\psi_n(s)\zeta(2s)},$$
(3.13)

with

$$\psi_n(s) = \sum_{d|n} d^s |\mu(\frac{n}{d})|$$

It is interesting to consider the following question later a more general question: For which sequences  $a = (a_n)_{n \ge 1} \in l^2$  we have

$$\lim_{\substack{s \to 1 \\ \Re s > 1}} \frac{1}{m^{s-1}} \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n \left( \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{\mu_{j\delta(m,k)}}{j^s} \right) = 0.$$

As we saw in 3.8 we have  $\lim_{\substack{s \to 1 \\ \Re s > 1}} \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{\mu_{j\delta(m,k)}}{j^s} = 0 \text{ for every } k \ge 1.$ 

## 4 Three Examples of Hilbert Spaces

## 4.1 Preliminaries

We propose to introduce a binary operation  $\otimes$  to combine two power series. Let *D* be the open unit disk and

$$H_0^2(D) = \left\{ \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n z^n, \, a_n \in \mathbb{C}, \, \sum_{n \ge 1} |a_n|^2 < \infty \right\}.$$

Let **H** the space of functions defined almost everywhere on  $\mathbb{R}$ , odd and 2-periodic, such that  $f_{|(0,1)|} \in L^2(0,1)$  (that is we will consider only Fourier sine series expansion of any  $f \in L^2(0, 1)$  (and is no we we

$$H^{2} = \left\{ \sum_{n \geq 1} \frac{a_{n}}{n^{s}}, a_{n} \in \mathbb{C}, \sum_{n \geq 1} |a_{n}|^{2} < \infty \right\}.$$

It is remarkable that from the Hilbert point of view these three spaces are isomorphic but the analytical properties are different but enrich each other. The power series  $\mathcal{L}_s$ and  $\mathcal{M}_s$  belong to  $H_0^2(D)$  provided that  $\Re s > \frac{1}{2}$  and will play a preponderant role. We need the following definition [46]

**Definition 4.1** Let 
$$A(z) = \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} a_p z^p$$
 and  $B(z) = \sum_{p=1}^{\infty} b_p z^p$  be two power series.

We define their Dirichlet product as

$$\sum_{p \ge 1} a_p z^p \otimes \sum_{p \ge 1} b_p z^p = \sum_{p \ge 1} a_p (\sum_{q \ge 1} b_q z^{qp}) = \sum_{q \ge 1} b_q (\sum_{p \ge 1} a_p z^{pq}) = \sum_{n \ge 1} (a \star b)_n z^n$$

where  $a \star b$  stands for the Dirichlet convolution of the sequences  $(a_n)_{n\geq 1}$  and  $(b_n)_{n\geq 1}$ . It is clear that the identity element for the binary operation  $\otimes$  is e(z) = z.

It should be noted that this product comes from the natural formal product of the

two Dirichlet series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{z^n}$  and  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{b_n}{z^n}$ . In other words the map

$$S: \left(H_0^2(D), +, \otimes\right) \longrightarrow (\mathbf{H}, +, .), \quad S(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_n z^n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{z^n}$$
(4.1)

is a ring homomorphism.

It is possible to define, transferring  $\otimes$  by the map S, a product on the set of Lambert series. But, instead, we give few examples, in particular to show how to compute  $\mathcal{M}_0(z) \otimes \mathcal{M}_0(z)$  and evoke the problem that  $\mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z) \otimes \mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z)$  poses.

First, we have two useful properties

- 1.  $\mathcal{L}_{s}(z^{m}) \otimes \mathcal{M}_{s}(z^{n}) = z^{mn}, \quad m, n \in \mathbb{N}^{*}.$
- 2. The functions  $\mathcal{L}_{s}(z)$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{s}(z)$  are mutual inverses for the operation  $\otimes$ .

Second, According to [32] (p.40) we introduce d(n, k) the number of ways of expressing n as a product of k positive factors (of which any number may be unity), expressions in which the order of the factors is different being regarded as distinct. It is a multiplicative function satisfying the functional equation

$$d(n, k+1) = \sum_{d|n} d(n, k).$$

In particular,  $d(n, 2) = d(n) = \sum_{d|n} 1$ , the number of divisors of *n*. By a simple induction we have

$$\underbrace{\mathcal{L}_s(z)\otimes\cdots\otimes\mathcal{L}_s(z)}_{k \text{ times}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d(n,k)}{n^s} z^n.$$

Third, we compute the square of the Möbius function  $\mu$  for the convolution. For any real number  $\alpha$ , we denote by  $\mu_{\alpha}$  the multiplicative function defined for all primes *p* and positive integer *k* by Dickson [17]

$$\mu_{\alpha}(1) = 1, \quad \mu_{\alpha}(p^k) = (-1)^k \binom{\alpha}{k}$$

with

$$\binom{\alpha}{k} = \frac{\alpha(\alpha-1)\cdots(\alpha-k+1)}{k!}$$

Then  $\mu_1 = \mu$ , the Möbius function,  $\mu_{-1} = 1$ , the constant arithmetical function 1, and  $\mu_0 = e$  with e(1) = 1, e(n) = 0 if n > 1, the neutral element for the Dirichlet convolution. The function  $\mu_{\alpha}$  may be defined even for complex  $\alpha$  since it is a polynomial in  $\alpha$  [9]. It satisfies

$$\mu_{\alpha+\beta} = \mu_{\alpha} \star \mu_{\beta}$$

for all real numbers  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . Let  $n_a$  be the number of simple prime divisors of n, that is those primes whose square do not divide n, then

$$\mu \star \mu(n) = (-2)^{n_a}.$$

For sake of completeness we give a very quick proof of this result. Since  $\mu \star \mu$  is multiplicative, it is enough to know  $\mu \star \mu(p^e)$  for a prime p. But

$$\mu \star \mu(p^{e}) = \sum_{k=0}^{e} \mu(p^{k})\mu(p^{e-k})$$
$$= \mu(p^{e}) + \mu(p)\mu(p^{e-1}) + \dots + \mu(p^{e-1})\mu(p) + \mu(p^{e}).$$

If  $e \ge 3$  and  $0 \le k \le e$ , one of the integers k, e - k is greater than 2, so  $\mu(p^k)\mu(p^{e-k}) = 0$  and  $\mu(p^e) = 0$ .

If e = 2

$$\mu \star \mu(p^2) = \mu(p^2) + \mu(p)\mu(p) + \mu(p^2) = \mu(p)\mu(p) = 1.$$

If e = 1,  $\mu(p) = -1$ ,  $\mu \star \mu(p) = \mu(p) + \mu(p) = -2$ . So only the simple prime divisors of *n* contribute, each by -2. This proves the formula above. It follows that

#### **Proposition 4.2**

$$\mathcal{M}_0(z) \otimes \mathcal{M}_0(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-2)^{n_a} z^n.$$

This shows the surprising and not so known formula

$$\frac{1}{\zeta^2(s)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-2)^{n_a}}{n^s}.$$

The same method gives

$$\mathcal{M}_s(z) \otimes \mathcal{M}_s(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-2)^{n_a}}{n^s} z^n.$$

If we set

$$\underbrace{\mathcal{M}_s(z) \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{M}_s(z)}_{k \text{ times}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d'(n,k)}{n^s} z^n$$

we get from the equality  $\frac{1}{\zeta^{k+1}(s)} = \frac{1}{\zeta^k(s)} \frac{1}{\zeta(s)}$  the relation

$$d'(n, k+1) = \sum_{d'|n} d'(n, k)\mu(k), \quad d'(n, 2) = (-2)^{n_a} = \mu \star \mu(n).$$

As far as we know the map  $n \rightarrow d'(n, k)$  does not seem to have been studied to the point like what we have, for example, in the estimate (3.3).

**Remark 4.3** The situation for the series  $\mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z)$  is not as manageable as it is for  $\mathcal{L}_s(z)$  and  $\mathcal{M}_s(z)$ . The product  $\mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z) \otimes \mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z)$  is not apparently easy to compute, as we have

$$c_{q_1}(n)c_{q_2}(n) = c_{q_1q_2}(n)$$

only when  $q_1, q_2$  are relatively prime. We modify the binary operation  $\otimes$  by defining for two arithmetical function f = f(n), g = g(n) the following operation [32] (p.154)

$$(f \sqcup g)_n = \sum_{\substack{pq=n\\(p,q)=1}} f(p)f(q),$$

known as the unitary product, and extend it to powers series by

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} f(n)z^n \boxtimes \sum_{n\geq 1} g(n)z^n = \sum_{n\geq 1} (f \sqcup g)_n z^n$$

With  $f(n) = \frac{c_n(l)}{n^s}$  we get

$$(f \sqcup f)_n = \sum_{\substack{pq=n\\(p,q)=1}} f(p)f(q) = \tilde{d}(n)\frac{c_n(s)}{n^s},$$

where  $\tilde{d}(n) = \sum_{(p,q)=1, pq=n} 1$ , so that

$$\mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z) \boxtimes \mathcal{C}_{s,l}(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} c_n(l) \frac{z^n}{n^s} \boxtimes \sum_{n \ge 1} c_n(l) \frac{z^n}{n^s} = \sum_{n \ge 1} \tilde{d}(n) c_n(l) \frac{z^n}{n^s}.$$

The arithmetical function  $\tilde{d}(n)$  is known as the unitary divisor function. It coincide with d(n) if *n* is square free.

To understand the Hilbert space structure of  $H_0^2(D)$  we recall that the Bergman space B(D) is the space of holomorphic functions f in D for which the integral

$$(f, f) = \int \int_D |f(z)|^2 dx \, dy < \infty.$$

The system of functions  $\{1, z, z^2, \dots\}$  is an orthogonal set. Indeed we have

$$(z^{n}, z^{m}) = \int \int_{|z|<1} z^{n} \bar{z}^{m} dx dy = \frac{1}{2i(m+1)} \int_{|z|=1} z^{n} \bar{z}^{m+1} dz = \frac{1}{2(m+1)} \int_{0}^{2\pi} e^{i(n-m)\theta} d\theta.$$

The orthonormalized set is

$$v_n(z) = \sqrt{\frac{n+1}{\pi}} z^n.$$

The Fourier coefficients of  $f \in B(D)$ ,

$$f(z) = a_0 + a_1 z + a_2 z^2 + \cdots$$

are

$$b_n = \sqrt{\frac{n+1}{\pi}} \int \int_{|z|<1} f(z)\bar{z}^n dx dy = \lim_{r \to 1} \sqrt{\frac{n+1}{\pi}} \int \int_{|z|$$

so that the norm given in the space  $H_0^2(D) \subset B(D)$  can be written in terms of the Fourier coefficients

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |a_n|^2 = \pi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{|b_n|^2}{n+1}.$$

The following lemma from [46] is the analogue of the classical Cauchy's theorem for the new binary operation  $\otimes$ 

**Lemma 4.4 (Spira)** If  $f(z) = \sum_{p \ge 1} a_p z^p$  and  $g(z) = \sum_{p \ge 1} b_p z^p$  are two holomorphic functions on the open disk D then so is  $f \otimes g$ . Furthermore if  $R_f$ ,  $R_g$ ,  $R_{f \otimes g}$  are the radius of convergence of  $f, g, f \otimes g$  repectively, then

$$\min(1, R_f, R_g) \le R_{f \otimes g}$$

**Proof** For every fixed  $n \ge 3$  and  $2 \le p \le n-1$  we have  $p + \frac{n}{p} \le n$  for each divisor p of n. In fact It suffices to show it when  $2 \le p \le \frac{n}{2}$ , and in this case  $p + \frac{n}{p} \le \frac{n}{2} + \frac{n}{2} = n$ . For  $|z| \le 1$  we have  $|z|^n \le |z|^p |z|^{\frac{n}{p}}$  and for large N:

$$\sum_{2 \le n \le N} \left( \sum_{p|n, \ 2 \le p \le n-1} |a_p| |b_{\frac{n}{p}}| \right) |z|^n \le \sum_{2 \le n \le N} \left( \sum_{\substack{p|n \\ 2 \le p \le n-1}} |a_p| |b_{\frac{n}{p}}| \right) |z|^p |z|^{\frac{n}{p}}$$
$$\le \left( \sum_{2 \le p \le N-1} |a_p| |z|^p \right) \left( \sum_{2 \le q \le N-1} |b_q| |z|^q \right)$$
$$\le \left( \sum_{p \ge 1} |a_p| |z|^p \right) \left( \sum_{q \ge 1} |b_q| |z|^q \right).$$
(4.2)

This means that for large N:

$$\left(\sum_{1 \le p \le N} |a_p| |z|^p\right) \otimes \left(\sum_{1 \le q \le N} |b_q| |z|^q\right) \\
\le |a_1| \sum_{q \ge 1} |b_q| |z|^q + |b_1| \sum_{p \ge 1} |a_p| |z|^p + \left(\sum_{1 \le p \le N} |a_p| |z|^p\right) \left(\sum_{1 \le q \le N} |b_q| |z|^q\right) \\
\le |a_1| \sum_{q \ge 1} |b_q| |z|^q + |b_1| \sum_{p \ge 1} |a_p| |z|^p + \left(\sum_{p \ge 1} |a_p| |z|^p\right) \left(\sum_{q \ge 1} |b_q| |z|^q\right).$$
(4.3)

Hence the conclusion.

# 4.2 Historic Facts

- Around 1944 A. Wintner [48] shows that for u(t) = {t}, the sequence u(nt) is total in L<sup>2</sup>(0, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>) and observes, for the eventual totality of a sequence (φ(nt))<sub>n≥1</sub>, the possibility to express the conditions in terms of the Möbius inversion. He uses the associated Dirichlet series and shows that the sequence of dilates φ<sub>τ</sub>(nt) for φ<sub>τ</sub>(t) = √2 ∑<sub>n≥1</sub> sin nt/n<sup>τ</sup> with ℜτ > <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> is total in ∈ L<sup>2</sup>(0, 1).
   In 1945 A. Beurling [8] considers the problem of deciding if the system of the
- 2. In 1945 A. Beurling [8] considers the problem of deciding if the system of the dilates  $(\psi(nt))_{n\geq 1}$  of a function  $\psi \in L^2(0, 1)$  is a total system in  $L^2(0, 1)$ . To the development  $\sum_{n\geq 1} a_n \varphi(nt)$  of the function  $\psi$  in the basis  $\varphi_n(t) = \sqrt{2} \sin \pi nt =$

 $\varphi(nt)$  with  $\varphi(t) = \sqrt{2} \sin \pi t$ , he associates the Dirichlet series  $f(s) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{a_n}{n^s}$ ,

which converges for  $\Re s > \frac{1}{2}$ , and studies the initial problem using the properties of the Dirichlet series f.

3. From 1990, very intensive research was carried out to link and exploit the correspondence between the two aspects (Fourier series  $F \stackrel{S}{\leftrightarrow} G$  Dirichlet series) [5, 15, 24, 26, 35, 39]  $\cdots$  and the references therein.

In particular we quote from [24] the following

**Theorem 4.5** Let  $\varphi \in L^2(0, 1)$  having the following Fourier expansion

$$\varphi(t) = \sqrt{2} \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n \sin(\pi n t),$$

then the following are equivalent:

- 1. The sequence of dilates  $(\varphi_n)_{n\geq 1}$  of  $\varphi$  form a Riesz basis of  $L^2(0, 1)$ .
- 2. The generating function  $S\varphi(s) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{a_n}{n^s}$  belongs to

$$\mathcal{H}^{\infty} = \mathbf{H}^{\infty}(\{s \in \mathbb{C}, \Re s > 0\}) \cap \mathcal{D}$$

as well as its reciprocal  $\frac{1}{S\varphi(s)}$ ,  $\mathcal{D}$  is the ring of convergent Dirichlet series on the half plane { $s \in \mathbb{C}, \Re s > 0$ }.

In particular the dilates of  $\varphi_{\tau}$  form a Riesz basis of  $L^2(0, 1)$  if and only if  $\Re \tau > 1$ . In this case  $S\varphi(s) = \zeta(s + \overline{\tau}) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{1}{n^{s+\overline{\tau}}}$  and  $S^{-1}(s) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\mu(n)}{n^{s+\overline{\tau}}}$ .

Furthermore

**Lemma 4.6** The three rings  $\mathbb{C}([[z]])$ ,  $\mathcal{O}(D)$  and  $\mathcal{O}_0$  equipped with the binary composition  $\otimes$  are commutative ring, with neutral element z. The ring of arithmetical functions, equipped with Dirichlet convolution, is an integral domain, factorial, local and isomorphic to the ring of Dirichlet series. The same is true of the ring  $\mathcal{D}$ .

We recall that a convergent Dirichlet series is a series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{n^s}$  having a finite

abscissa of convergence. This is equivalent to  $a_n = O(n^k)$  for some real positive k.

**Definition 4.7** Let *H* be a separable Hilbert space. A basis  $(x_n)$  is a Riesz basis for *H* if it is equivalent to some (and therefore every) orthonormal basis  $(y_n)$  for *H*, that is if there exists a topological isomorphism  $L : H \to H$  such that  $Lx_n = y_n$  for all *n*.

The system  $\{e^{int}, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  is a Riesz basis for  $L^2[-\pi, \pi]$  and a conditional basis for  $L^p[-\pi, \pi]$  with  $1 , <math>p \neq 2$ . In evocation of the polylogarithm function, we cite the following example of Babenko given in [2, 44] (p.428, Example 14.4): The systems  $\{|t|^{-|\beta|}e^{int}, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  and  $\{|t|^{|\beta|}e^{int}, n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  with  $0 < \beta < \frac{1}{2}$  are bounded conditional bases for  $L^2[-\pi, \pi]$  that are not a Riesz basis. Naturally all Riesz bases are equivalent, as do all orthonormal bases of Hilbert spaces. The adjoint mapping  $L^* : H \to H$  is a Hilbert space epimorphism. The sequence  $x_n^* = L^*x_n$  is the biorthogonal sequence of  $(x_n)_{n\geq 1}$ . We are going to see that the sequence  $(\mathcal{L}_{\tau}(z^n)$  is a Riesz basis of  $H^2(D)$  for  $\Re \tau > 1$ , and the corresponding biorthogonal sequence is  $(\psi_n(z))_{n\geq 1} = (\psi_{n,\tau}(z))_{n\geq 1}$  where  $\psi_n(z) = \frac{1}{n^{\tau}} \sum_n \mu_n^n d^{\tau} z^d$ . We will use the following characterization of Riesz sequences, due to N.K. Bari [3, 8, 24]:

**Lemma 4.8** Let *H* be a Hilbert separable space and  $B = (x_n)_{n \ge 1}$  be a sequence in *H*. *B* is a Riesz basis in *H* if and only if

- 1. every  $x \in H$  can be expanded as  $x = \sum_{n} a_n x_n$
- 2. There exist two constants  $0 < c < C < \infty$  such that for every sequence  $(a_n)_{n \ge 1}$  with finite support we have:

$$c \sum_{n \ge 1} |a_n|^2 \le \|\sum_{n \ge 1} a_n x_n\|^2 \le C \sum_{n \ge 1} |a_n|^2.$$

The following lemma uses ideas from [48], see also [8, 24].

**Lemma 4.9** We have the following equalities for  $\Re s > 1$ 

1. 
$$(\mathcal{L}_{s}(z^{m})|\mathcal{L}_{s}(z^{n})) = \sum_{\substack{k,l \ge 1 \\ km = ln}} \frac{1}{k^{s}l^{s}} = \frac{(\gcd(m, n))^{2s}}{(mn)^{s}} \zeta(2s).$$
  
2.  $(\mathcal{M}_{s}(z^{m})|\mathcal{L}_{s}(z^{n})) = \sum_{\substack{k,l \ge 1 \\ km = ln}} \frac{\mu_{k}}{k^{s}l^{s}} = \frac{(\gcd(m, n))^{2s}}{(mn)^{s}} \mu_{\delta(m, n)} \sum_{\substack{j \ge 1 \\ (j, \delta(m, n)) = 1}} \frac{\mu_{j}}{j^{s}}.$   
with, if  $f(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{n}z^{n}, \ g(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} b_{n}z^{n},$ 

$$(f(z)|g(z)) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n \bar{b}_n.$$

**Remark 4.10** The basic example is provided by the Hilbert space  $L^2(0, \pi)$  and the dilates  $(u_n)$  of the function  $u(x) = \sum_{k>1} \frac{\sin kx}{k^s}$ , with

$$(u_m|u_n) = \frac{\pi}{2} \sum_{\substack{k,l \ge 1 \\ km = ln}} \frac{1}{k^s l^s} = \frac{\pi}{2} \zeta(2s) \frac{(\gcd(m,n))^s}{(mn)^s}.$$

**Lemma 4.11** Let  $(c_n)_{n\geq 1}$  a sequence with finite support of complex numbers. Then

$$1. \quad \|\sum_{n\geq 1} c_n \mathcal{L}_s(z^n)\|^2 = \sum_{m,n\geq 1} c_m \overline{c}_n(\mathcal{L}_s(z^m)|\mathcal{L}_s(z^n)) = \zeta(2s) \sum_{m,n\geq 1} \frac{(\gcd(m,n))^{2s}}{(mn)^s} c_m \overline{c}_n$$

2.

$$\begin{split} \|\sum_{n\geq 1} c_n \mathcal{M}_s(z^n)\|^2 &= \sum_{m,n\geq 1} c_m \overline{c}_n (\mathcal{L}_s(z^m) | \mathcal{L}_s(z^n)) \\ &= \sum_{m,n\geq 1} \frac{(\gcd(m,n))^{2s}}{(mn)^s} c_m \overline{c}_n \mu_{\frac{n}{\operatorname{lcm}(m,n)}} \sum_{\substack{j\geq 1\\ (j,\delta(n,m))=1}} \frac{\mu_j}{j^{2s}}. \end{split}$$

**Remark 4.12** We thus see appearing the  $N \times N$  symmetric square matrices

$$M_{s,N} = \left(\frac{(\gcd(m,n))^{2s}}{(mn)^s}\right)_{1 \le m,n \le N}.$$

It is possible to compute the determinant of the matrix  $M_{s,N}$ . We recall first that the Smith determinant is defined to be

$$\Delta_N = \det \left( \gcd(m, n) \right)_{1 \le m, n \le N}$$

and its value, in terms of the Euler's totient function  $\Phi$ , is [45]

$$\Delta_N = \Phi(1)\Phi(2)\cdots\Phi(N).$$

The determinant  $\Delta_N^{(r)} = \det (\gcd(m, n)^r)_{1 \le m, n \le N}$  where *r* is a real number, was also evaluated by Smith in [45]. To explain the value of  $\Delta_N^{(r)}$  we introduce the Jordan's totient function  $J_k$  given by [1, 45, 47]

$$J_k(n) = n^k \prod_{p|n} \left(1 - \frac{1}{p^k}\right),$$

where p ranges through the prime divisors of n. We have  $J_1(n) = \Phi(n)$ . Furthermore

$$\sum_{d|n} J_k(d) = n^k.$$

which may be written as convolution product as

$$J_k(n) \star 1 = n^k$$

and by a Möbius inversion

$$J_k(n) = \mu(n) \star n^k.$$

The Dirichlet generating function of series for  $J_k$  is

$$\sum_{n\geq 1}\frac{J_k(n)}{n^s}=\frac{\zeta(s-k)}{\zeta(s)}.$$

Similarly to the case of  $\Delta = \Delta^{(1)}$ , we have the formula

$$\Delta_N^{(r)} = J_r(1)J_r(2)\cdots J_r(N).$$

Since the determinant is a multilinear form we obtain

det 
$$M_{s,N} = \frac{1}{(N!)^{2s}} J_{2s}(1) J_{2s}(2) \cdots J_{2s}(N),$$

so the matrices  $M_{s,N}$  are invertible. These statements remain valid for every  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  by analytic continuation. The matrices  $M_{s,N}$  are also positive for  $s \in (1, +\infty)$  and according to [30, 48], the smallest eigenvalue of  $\lambda_N(s)$  and the largest eigenvalue  $\Lambda_N(s)$  of  $M_{s,M}$  satisfy

$$\frac{\zeta(2s)}{\zeta(s)^2} \le \lambda_N(s) \le \Lambda_N(s) \le \frac{\zeta(s)^2}{\zeta(2s)}.$$
(4.4)

We deduce that for a sequence  $a = (a_n)_{n \ge 1} \in l^2$  we have [30]

$$\frac{\zeta(2s)}{(\zeta(s))^2} \sum_{1 \le n \le N} |a_n|^2 \le \sum_{1 \le m, n \le N} \frac{(\gcd(m, n))^{2s}}{(mn)^s} a_m \overline{a}_n \le \frac{(\zeta(s))^2}{\zeta(2s)} \sum_{1 \le n \le N} |a_n|^2.$$

This proves the following

**Proposition 4.13** If s > 1, the sequence  $(\mathcal{L}_s(z^n))_{n \ge 1}$  is a Riesz basis of  $H^2(D)$ .

By direct computation we see that the associated biorthogonal basis is  $(\psi_n(z))_{n\geq 1}$ where

$$\psi_n(z) = \psi_{n,s}(z) = \frac{1}{n^s} \sum_{d|n} \mu_d^n d^s z^d.$$
(4.5)

The two extreme factors in (4.4) have interesting Dirichlet series expansion [32] (p.227)

$$\frac{\zeta^2(s)}{\zeta(2s)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\theta(n)}{n^s}, \quad \frac{\zeta(2s)}{\zeta^2(s)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)\theta(n)}{n^s}.$$

The function  $\theta(n)$  is defined by

$$\theta(n) = 2^{\omega(n)},$$

where  $\omega(n)$  is the number of different prime factors of *n*. It is a multiplicative function, also related to the Möbius function by  $\theta(n) = \sum_{d|n} |\mu(d)|$ .

**Remark 4.14** It is worth noting that the positivity of the matrix  $M_{s,N}$  can be deduced from the Franel integral (2.2). If for a suitable real function f we have two real s, s' such that for every  $1 \le m, n \le N$ 

$$\int_0^1 f(mx)f(nx)dx = \frac{\gcd(m,n)^s}{m^{s'}n^{s'}}$$

then for  $c_1, \cdots, c_N \in \mathbb{C}$ 

$$\sum_{1 \le m, n \le N} \frac{\gcd(m, n)^s}{m^{s'} n^{s'}} c_m \bar{c}_n = \int_0^{r_1} \left| \sum_{p=1}^{p=N} f(px) c_p \right|^2 dx \ge 0$$

and

$$\sum_{1 \le m, n \le N} \gcd(m, n)^{s} c_{m} \bar{c}_{n} = \int_{0}^{1} \left| \sum_{p=1}^{p=N} p^{s'} f(px) c_{p} \right|^{2} dx \ge 0.$$

We have the definite positivity if the functions  $x \to f(px)$ ,  $1 \le p \le N$  are linearly independent.

## 4.3 Multipliers

We consider new spaces of Dirichlet series.

1. The space 
$$\mathcal{H}^2 = \left\{ \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{a_n}{n^s}, a = (a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*} \in l^2 \right\}$$
 corresponding to the spaces  $L^2(0, 1)$  at  $H^2(D)$ 

١

 $L^{2}(0, 1)$  et  $H^{2}(D)$ .

2. The space  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty} = \mathbf{H}^{\infty}(\{s \in \mathbb{C}, \Re s > 0\}) \cap \mathcal{D}$  equipped with the usual norm  $\| \|_{\infty}$ , defined on the space of measurable and bounded functions defined on  $\{s \in \mathbb{C} : \Re s > 0\}.$ 

It is easily shown that  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{H}^2$  and that  $||f||^2 \leq ||f||_{\infty}$  for  $f \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}$ . The set of multipliers of  $\mathcal{H}^2$  can be identified with  $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}$ . The norm of the multiplier,

as operator,  $M_{\varphi} : \mathcal{H}^2 \ni f \longrightarrow \varphi f \in \mathcal{H}^2$  is  $||M_{\varphi}|| = ||\varphi||_{\infty}$ . We also have the following interesting property: Let  $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}$ , the multiplier operator  $M_{\varphi}$  is an isomorphism of  $\mathcal{H}^2$  if and only if  $\varphi^{-1} \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}$ . In this case  $||M_{\varphi}^{-1}|| = ||\varphi^{-1}||_{\infty}$ . In the correspondence between power series and Dirichlet series the multiplier set of  $H_0^2(D)$  for  $\otimes$  is identified with the set of power series  $\varphi(s) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \alpha_n z^n$  such that

the function  $\varphi(s) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\alpha_n}{n^s}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}^\infty$ . An illustration of this fact is given by

the polylogarithm function: For  $\Re \tau > 1$  the series  $\mathcal{L}_{\tau}(z)$  and  $\mathcal{M}_{\tau}(z)$  are reciprocal multipliers of  $H_0^2(D)$  for the operation  $\otimes$ . Moreover the image of the multiplier  $\mathcal{L}_s(z)$  by the map *S* is the translate of the zeta function  $\zeta(s + \tau) = \sum_{n>1} \frac{1}{n^{s+\tau}}$ .

**Example 4.15** We now give an example of the expansion of a given  $g \in H_0^2(D)$ in the Riesz basis  $(\mathcal{L}_s(z^n))_{n\geq 1}$ . We need to find a sequence  $(\alpha_n)_{n\geq 1}$  such that  $g(z) = \sum_{k\geq 1} \alpha_k \mathcal{L}_s(z^k)$ . If f(z) is the formal power series  $f(z) = \sum_{k\geq 1} \alpha_k z^k$ , then g(z) should be  $g(z) = f(z) \otimes \mathcal{L}_s(z)$  or  $f(z) = g(z) \otimes \mathcal{M}_s(z)$ . According to the Lemma 4.1 the convergence radius  $R_f$  of f satisfies  $1 = \min(1, R_{\mathcal{M}_s}, R_g) \leq R_f$ 

$$f(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \Big( \sum_{d \mid n} \frac{\mu_{\frac{n}{d}}}{(\frac{n}{d})^s} a_d \Big) z^n = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{1}{n^s} \Big( \sum_{d \mid n} \mu_{\frac{n}{d}} d^s a_d \Big) z^n.$$

We thus see that in terms of the biorthogonal basis (4.5),  $\alpha_n = (g|\psi_n)$ , naturally enough.

#### 4.4 On the Estermann's Function

and

The Estermann zeta function E(s, a, z) is defined by the Dirichlet series

$$E(s, a, z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\sigma_a(n)}{n^s} z^n \quad \Re s > 1 + \Re a, \ |z| \le 1,$$
(4.6)

where, as already denoted,  $\sigma_a(n) = \sum_{d|n} d^a$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{C}$ . This Dirichlet series is closely related to Ramanujan sums. This series (4.6) can be given in terms of the polylogarithm function, or more precisely can be expanded with respect to the Riesz

basis { $\mathcal{L}_s(z^n), n \ge 1$ }. In fact if a > 0 then

$$E(s, a, z) = \sum_{p \ge 1} \frac{1}{p^{s-a}} \mathcal{L}_s(z^p), \quad |z| \le 1, \ \Re s > \max(1, 1+a)$$

This can be shown either by observing that

$$(E|\psi_p) = \frac{1}{p^s}(\mu \star \sigma_a)(p) = \frac{1}{p^{s-a}}$$

by using  $\sigma_a = I \star u^a$  with I(n) = 1 (the constant arithmetical function) and  $u^a(n) = n^a$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , or by showing that

$$E(s, a, \bullet) \otimes \mathcal{M}_s = \mathcal{L}_{s-a}.$$

Assume that a < 0 and recall first that for  $\Re(s + \tau) > 1$  then (3.8)

$$\zeta(s+\tau)\sum_{d|k}\mu_{\frac{k}{d}}d^{1-s-\tau}=\sum_{n\geq 1}\frac{c_k(n)}{n^{s+\tau}}.$$

We deduce that for t > 0 we have

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{c_k(n)}{n^{\tau}} e^{-nt} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} \Gamma(s) \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{c_k(n)}{n^{s+\tau}} \frac{ds}{t^s}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} \Gamma(s) \sum_{n\geq 1} \zeta(s+\tau) \sum_{d\mid k} \mu_{\frac{k}{d}} d^{1-\tau} \frac{ds}{(dt)^s}$$
$$= \sum_{d\mid k} \mu_{\frac{k}{d}} d^{1-\tau} \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{e^{-ndt}}{n^{\tau}}.$$

We obtain, by analytic continuation, that

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{c_k(n)}{n^{\tau}} z^n = \sum_{d|k} \mu_{\frac{k}{d}} d^{1-\tau} \mathcal{L}_{\tau}(z^d).$$

Since a < 0, we get from (3.9)

$$\sigma_a(n) = \zeta(1-a) \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{c_k(n)}{k^{1-a}}.$$

Thus

$$E(s, a, z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\sigma_a(n)}{n^s} z^n$$
$$= \zeta(1-a) \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{k^{1-a}} \left( \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{c_k(n)}{n^s} z^n \right)$$
$$= \zeta(1-a) \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{k^{1-a}} \left( \sum_{d \mid k} \mu_{\frac{k}{d}} d^{1-s} \mathcal{L}_s(z^d) \right)$$

#### **5** A Link with Kubertt Identities

Let  $f(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n z^n$  be a power series, convergent for  $|z| \le 1$ . The condition

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} f(e^{2i\pi \frac{h}{m}}) = 0$$

is equivalent to

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} a_n \left( \sum_{1\leq h\leq m} e^{2i\pi \frac{nh}{m}} \right) = m \sum_{j\geq 1} a_{jm} = 0.$$

Furthermore if we assume that

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} f(e^{2i\pi \frac{h}{m}}) = 0$$

for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , then for every  $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ 

$$\sum_{j\geq 1}a_{jm}=0.$$

The function  $\mathcal{M}_1$  satisfies this property. Furthermore according to [39] (p.294) if  $a = (a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}^*}$  is a non zero sequence satisfying this property, then  $a \notin \ell^1$ , the space of sequences whose series is absolutely convergent. This last condition is also satisfied by  $\mathcal{M}_1$ . In fact if  $|\mu(n)| = \mu^2(n)$  is the characteristic function of squarefree

integers, then [32] (p.227)

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{|\mu(n)|}{n^s} = \frac{\zeta(s)}{\zeta(2s)}$$

and  $\lim_{s \to 1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{|\mu(n)|}{n^s} = \infty$ . Obviously this also results from (3.13).

One wonders for what  $f \in \mathcal{O}_0$  the product  $f \otimes \mathcal{M}_1$  will verify Kubert identity. Naturally, quite strong convergence hypothesis on the sequence  $a = (a_k)_{k \ge 1}$  will be required. We recall that

$$f \in H^2(D) \to f \otimes \mathcal{M}_{\tau} \in H^2(D)$$

is an isomorphism. If  $f(z) = \sum_{k \ge 1} a_k z^k$  with suitable convergence on the circle  $U = \{|z| = 1\}$  we can write

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} (f \otimes \mathcal{M}_{\tau})(e^{2i\pi \frac{h}{m}}) = \sum_{k \ge 1} a_k \left( \sum_{1 \le h \le m} \mathcal{M}_{\tau}(e^{2i\pi \frac{h}{m}}) \right) = \frac{1}{m^{\tau-1}} \sum_{k \ge 1} a_k \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{\mu_{jD(m,k)}}{j^{\tau}}.$$

We need two lemmas, the first is strongly inspired by Pollack [37].

**Lemma 5.1** Let  $D \in \mathbb{N}^*$ . For every  $1 < \tau < \frac{3}{2}$  we have

$$\left|\sum_{j\geq 1}\frac{\mu_{jD}}{j^{\tau}}\right| = \left|\frac{\mu(D)}{\zeta(\tau)}\prod_{p\mid D}(1-p^{-\tau})\right| \le e\frac{\tau-1}{\zeta(\tau)}.$$

**Proof** We introduce

$$P_D(\tau) = \prod_{p|D} (1 - p^{-\tau}), \quad \tau > 1$$

so we have

$$\log P_D(\tau) = -\sum_{p|D} \log(1 - p^{-\tau}) = \sum_{p|D} \frac{1}{p^{\tau}} + \sum_{p|D} \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{1}{kp^{k\tau}}.$$

Now

$$\sum_{p|D} \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{1}{kp^{k\tau}} \le \sum_{p|D} \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{1}{kp^{k\tau}} \le \frac{1}{2} \sum_{p|D} \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{1}{p^{k\tau}}$$
$$\le \frac{1}{2} \sum_{p|D} \sum_{k \ge 2} \frac{1}{p^k} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{p|D} \frac{1}{p(p-1)} \le \frac{1}{2}.$$

And

$$\log P_D(\tau) = -\sum_{p|D} \log(1 - p^{-\tau}) \le \sum_{p|D} \frac{1}{p^{\tau}} + \frac{1}{2}$$

The same ideas give

$$0 < \log \zeta(\tau) - \sum_{p} \frac{1}{p^{\tau}} < \frac{1}{2} \quad \tau > 1.$$

On the other hand it is easily seen that

$$1 < (\tau - 1)\zeta(\tau) < \tau, \quad \tau > 1$$

and for  $\tau < \frac{3}{2}$ ,

$$0 < \log \zeta(\tau) + \log(\tau - 1) < \log \tau < \log \frac{3}{2}.$$

By putting together these results we arrive to

$$-\frac{1}{2} < \sum_{p} \frac{1}{p^{\tau}} + \log(\tau - 1) < \log \frac{3}{2} < \frac{1}{2}.$$

Hence, for  $\tau \in ]1, \frac{3}{2}[$ , we have

$$|\sum_{p} \frac{1}{p^{\tau}} + \log(\tau - 1)| \le \frac{1}{2}$$

or

$$\sum_{p} \frac{1}{p^{\tau}} \le \frac{1}{2} + \log(\tau - 1), \quad 1 < \tau < \frac{3}{2}.$$

Finally, using  $\log P_D(\tau) \le \sum_p \frac{1}{p^s} + \frac{1}{2}$ , we find that  $\log P_D(\tau) \le 1 + \log(\tau - 1)$ 

or

$$P_D(\tau) \le e(\tau - 1), \quad 1 < \tau < \frac{3}{2}.$$

Hence the lemma.

Before to state the following lemma we would like to make a comparative remark. Let  $\mathbf{T} = \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  be the circle, and let  $f : \mathbf{T} \to \mathbb{C}$  be an integrable function. If the Fourier coefficients  $\hat{f}(n)$  satisfy

$$\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}|\hat{f}(n)|^2<\infty,$$

then Carleson theorem [10] asserts that the sequence  $(S_n(x)_{n\geq 0}, S_n(x) = \sum_{|k|\leq n} \hat{f}(k)e^{2i\pi kx}$  converges to f(x) for almost all  $x \in \mathbf{T}$ . In particular for every

 $\tau$  with  $\Re \tau > \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $\sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\mu(n)z^n}{n^{\tau}}$  converges for almost every  $z \in \mathbf{T}$ . The next lemma

is a form of Jensen lemma adapted to the Dirichlet series  $\sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{\mu(n)z^n}{n^{\tau}}$ ,  $|z| \leq 1$  and  $\Re \tau > 1$ . It differs considerably from what we got from Carleson's theorem.

**Lemma 5.2** For every  $\tau$ ,  $\Re \tau > 1$ , the series  $\sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{\mu(n)}{n^{\tau}} z^n$  converges uniformly on the smalle

the angle

$$|z| \le 1, |\arg(z-1)| < \frac{\pi}{2} - \delta,$$

where  $\delta \in (0, \frac{\pi}{2})$  is fixed

**Proof** Let  $a_n(z) = \mu(n) z^n$  be the coefficients of this Dirichlet series. By using the fundamental estimate of Davenport (3.3) we can show that  $b_p(z) = \sum_{n>n} a_n(z)$ 

converges uniformly to zero on the unit circle, hence on the closed unit disc, by the maximum principle. For every  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $p_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}^*$  such that  $p \ge p_{\varepsilon}$  we have  $|b_p(z)| < \varepsilon$ . Let

$$S_N = S_N(z,s) = \sum_{1 \le n \le N} \frac{a_n(z)}{n^s}, \ |z| \le 1, \ \Re s > 0, \ |\arg s| \le \frac{\pi}{2} - \delta.$$

For  $Q > P \ge p_{\varepsilon}$ , we have by partial summation

$$S_Q - S_{P-1} = \frac{b_Q}{Q^s} + b_{Q-1} \left( \frac{1}{(Q-1)^s} - \frac{1}{Q^s} \right) + \dots + b_P \left( \frac{1}{P^s} - \frac{1}{(P+1)^s} \right) - \frac{b_{P-1}}{P^s}$$

and

$$|S_Q - S_{P-1}| \le \varepsilon \left( \frac{1}{|Q^s|} + \frac{1}{|P^s|} + \left| \frac{1}{(Q-1)^s} - \frac{1}{|Q^s|} \right| = \dots + \left| \frac{1}{|P^s|} - \frac{1}{|(P+1)^s|} \right| \right).$$

Now

$$\frac{1}{(k+1)^s} - \frac{1}{k^s} = s \int_{\log k}^{\log(k+1)} e^{-\lambda s} d\lambda,$$

so, with  $\sigma = \Re s$ 

$$\left|\frac{1}{(k+1)^s} - \frac{1}{k^s}\right| \le \frac{|s|}{\sigma} \left(\frac{1}{k^\sigma} - \frac{1}{(k+1)^\sigma}\right)$$

and

$$|S_Q - S_{P-1}| \le 2\varepsilon (1 + \frac{1}{\sin \delta}),$$

hence the lemma.

As a consequence we find that  $\lim_{\tau \to 1, \tau > 1} \mathcal{M}_{\tau}(z) = \mathcal{M}_{1}(z)$  uniformly with respect to z in the closed unit disk. So, if the sequence  $a = (a_{k})_{k \ge 1}$  is reasonable we will obtain that the function  $f \otimes \mathcal{M}_{1}$ , with  $f(z) = \sum_{k \ge 1} a_{k} z^{k}$ , satisfies the property of Besicovich. For example, if  $a \in l^{1}$  (which also ensures that  $f \in H^{2}(D)$ ).

**Theorem 5.3** If  $f(z) = \sum_{k \ge 1} a_k z^k$  with  $a = (a_k)_{k \ge 1} \in l^1$ , then

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} (f \otimes \mathcal{M}_1)(e^{2i\pi \frac{h}{m}}) = 0.$$

**Proof** The two lemmas above ensure the possibility of passing to the limit  $\tau \rightarrow 1$ ,  $1 < \tau < \frac{3}{2}$  in the following relation:

$$\sum_{1 \le h \le m} (f \otimes \mathcal{M}_{\tau})(e^{2i\pi\frac{h}{m}}) = \sum_{k \ge 1} a_k \left( \sum_{1 \le h \le m} \mathcal{M}_{\tau}(e^{2i\pi\frac{h}{m}}) \right) = \frac{1}{m^{\tau-1}} \sum_{k \ge 1} a_k \sum_{j \ge 1} \frac{\mu_{jD(m,k)}}{j^{\tau}}.$$

**Remark 5.4** Let  $f(z) = \sum_{k\geq 2} a_k z^k$  be a power series of radius at least equal to R > 0. For |z| < R and  $\Re s > \frac{1}{2}$  we have [27, 36]

$$\sum_{n\geq 1} f(\frac{z}{n^s}) = \sum_{k\geq 2} a_k \zeta(ks) z^k.$$

**Proof** For  $z \in D(0, R)$  we choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $|z| < R - \alpha < R - \varepsilon < R$ . There is  $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}^*$  such that, for  $k > k_0$  we have  $|a_k||z|^k < \frac{(R - \alpha)^k}{(R - \varepsilon)^k}$ , which ensures the convergence of the series  $\sum_{k>2} |a_k||z|^k$ . Since  $\Re(ks) > 1$  for

 $\Re s > \frac{1}{2}$  and  $k \ge 2$ , the series  $\sum_{k\ge 2} |a_k| |z|^k \sum_{n\ge 1} \frac{1}{n^{ks}}$  is summable. We can therefore apply Fubini's theorem to exchange the summations.

As an example we take  $a_{2n} = (-1)^n \frac{1}{2n!}$  and  $a_{2n+1} = 0$  for every  $n \ge 1$ . This gives

$$f(z) = \sum_{k \ge 2} a_k z^k = \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{(-1)^k}{2k!} z^{2k} = \cos z - 1$$

which converges for every  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  and insure, with s = 1,

$$\sum_{j\geq 1} \left(\cos(\frac{z}{j}) - 1\right) = \sum_{k\geq 1} (-1)^k \frac{\zeta(2k)}{2k!} z^{2k}.$$
(5.1)

We investigated some functions related to the right side of (5.1) in [43].

## 6 Asymptotic Expansion

In this section we give the asymptotic expansion of the coefficients of the power series in  $H_0^2(D)$  corresponding to  $\sum_{1 \le \nu \le N} c_{\nu} \{\frac{\theta_{\nu}}{x}\}, \sum_{1 \le \nu \le N} c_{\nu} \theta_{\nu} = 0$  as element of  $L^2(0, 1)$ . This is given by the following result

**Theorem 6.1** The *n*-th coefficient  $a_n$  of the power series belonging to  $H^2(D)$  and corresponding to  $\sum_{1 \le \nu \le N} c_{\nu} \{\frac{\theta_{\nu}}{x}\}$  with  $\sum_{1 \le \nu \le N} c_{\nu} \theta_{\nu} = 0$  is given by

$$a_n = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\pi n} \Big( \sum_{1 \le \nu \le N} c_{\nu} (n\pi\theta_{\nu})^{\sigma_0} \Big) o_{\sigma_0}(n)$$

with  $\sigma_0$  such that  $\frac{2}{3} < \sigma_0 < 1$  and

$$o_{\sigma_0}(n) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \Gamma(-(\sigma_0 + i\tau))\zeta(\sigma_0 + i\tau) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}(\sigma_0 + i\tau))n^{i\tau} d\tau$$

tending to zero as n tends to  $+\infty$ .

**Proof** We look for an asymptotic expansion of the function  $f(x) = \sum_{l \ge 1} (-1)^l \frac{\zeta(2l)}{2l!} x^{2l}$ when x tends to  $+\infty$ . For this we consider the line integral

$$I_{M,T}(x) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\gamma_{M,T}} \Gamma(-s)\zeta(s) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s) x^s ds,$$

where  $\gamma_{M,T}$  is the rectangular circuit which sides are parallel to the axis, and whose vertices are the points  $\sigma_0 \pm iT$  and  $M + \frac{1}{2} \pm iT$  for  $M \in \mathbb{N}^*$ , T > 0. We recall that

- 1. For every fixed  $\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists  $C_{\sigma} > 0$  such that  $|\Gamma(\sigma + i\tau)| \leq C_{\sigma} |\tau|^{\sigma \frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{\pi}{2}|\tau|}$ .
- 2. For  $0 \leq \sigma \leq 1$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $D_{\varepsilon} > 0$  such that  $|\zeta(\sigma + i\tau)| \leq D_{\varepsilon}|\tau|^{\frac{1-\sigma}{2}+\varepsilon}$ .
- 3. We have  $|\cos\frac{\pi}{2}(\sigma+i\tau)| \le e^{\frac{\pi}{2}|\tau|}$ .

Hence for  $s = \sigma_0 + i\tau$  with  $\sigma_0 \in (\frac{2}{3}, 1)$  we have the estimate

$$\left|\Gamma(-s)\zeta(s)\cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s)x^{s}\right| \leq C_{-\sigma_{0}}C_{\varepsilon}\frac{x^{\sigma_{0}}}{|\tau|^{\sigma_{0}+\frac{\sigma_{0}}{2}-\varepsilon}},$$

with  $\sigma_0 + \frac{\sigma_0}{2} - \varepsilon > 1$  for  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough, since  $\sigma_0 + \frac{\sigma_0}{2} > \frac{2}{3} + \frac{1}{3} = 1$ .  $\Box$ 

## 6.1 The Integral on the Line $\Re s = \sigma_0$

We recall that the function

$$\mathbb{R} \ni \tau \to \Gamma(-(\sigma_0 + i\tau))\zeta(\sigma_0 + i\tau)\cos(\frac{\pi}{2}(\sigma_0 + i\tau))x^{\sigma_0} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}).$$

# 6.2 Integrals on $\Re s = M + \frac{1}{2}$ and on Horizontal Lines

For every  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $M \in \mathbb{N}^*$  such that  $\Re s = M + \frac{1}{2}$  we have  $s - (-\overline{s}) = 2\Re s = 2M + 1$  and

$$\Gamma(-s) = \frac{\Gamma(-s+2M+1)}{(-s)(1-s)\dots(2M-s)} = \frac{\overline{\Gamma(s)}}{(-s)(1-s)\dots(2M-s)}.$$

According to the Stirling formula, for  $0 \le |\arg s| \le \frac{\pi}{2}$ 

$$|\Gamma(s)| \le C|s|^{\sigma-\frac{1}{2}}e^{-\sigma}e^{-\frac{\pi}{2}|\tau|}.$$

Then, with  $\Re s = \sigma = M + \frac{1}{2}$ , we have  $|\Gamma(s)| \le C |s|^M e^{-(M + \frac{1}{2})} e^{-\frac{\pi}{2}|\tau|}$ . Hence

$$|\Gamma(-s)| \le \frac{C|s|^M e^{-(M+\frac{1}{2})} e^{-\frac{\pi}{2}|\tau|}}{|s(s-1)\dots(s-2M)|}$$

This guarantees the integrability of the modulus of the function  $\Gamma(-s)\zeta(s)$  $\cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s)x^s$  on the line  $\Re s = M + \frac{1}{2}$  as  $|\zeta(s)| \le 2$ ,  $|\cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s)| \le e^{\frac{\pi}{2}|\tau|}$  and so the modulus of the integrand is less than

$$\frac{C|s|^M e^{-(M+\frac{1}{2})} x^{M+\frac{1}{2}}}{|s(s-1)\dots(s-2M)|} \le C_M \frac{1}{|\tau|^{M+1}},$$

 $C_M$  being a positive constant, independent of M. In the same vein we can obtain an upper bound of  $\frac{|s|^M}{|s(s-1)\dots(s-2M)|}$  on  $\Re s = M + \frac{1}{2}$  by grouping (s-1) and (s-2M), (s-2) and  $(s-(2M-1))\dots, (s-M)$  and (s-(M+1)) to obtain

$$\frac{|s|^M}{|s(s-1)\dots(s-2M)|} = \frac{|s|^{M-1}}{(\tau^2 + (M-1)^2)\dots(\tau^2 + \frac{1}{4})} \le \frac{|\tau|^{M-1}}{|\tau|^{2M}} = \frac{1}{|\tau|^{M+1}}$$

We thus obtain the absolute convergence of the integral on  $\Re s = M + \frac{1}{2}$  and, in the same way, the limit to zero of the integrals on the horizontal segments by using a majorization, uniform in  $\sigma \in [\sigma_0, M + \frac{1}{2}]$ , of  $\frac{|s|^M}{|s(s-1)\dots(s-2M)|}$ .

#### 6.3 Evaluation of the Residues

- 1. For  $n \ge 2$ . The poles of  $\Gamma(-s)$  greater than  $\sigma_0$  are  $s = n, n \ge 1$  and are of respective residues  $\frac{(-1)^n}{n!}$ . We find that if n is odd the residue of  $\Gamma(-s)\zeta(s)\cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s)x^s$  at n vanishes, and if n = 2l is even, the residue is  $-(-1)^l \frac{\zeta(2l)}{2l!} x^{2l}$ .
- 2. For  $n = 1^{2i}$  we have a double pole and by computing

$$\lim_{s \to 1} \frac{d}{ds} \left( (s-1)^2 \Gamma(-s) \zeta(s) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s) x^s \right)$$

we find that the residue at 1 is  $-\pi x$ .

The intermediate result we obtained is the equality

$$-\pi x - \sum_{1 \le l \le M} (-1)^l \frac{\zeta(2l)}{2l!} x^{2l} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\sigma_0 - i\infty}^{\sigma_0 + i\infty} \Gamma(-s)\zeta(s) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s) x^s ds$$
$$- \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{M + \frac{1}{2} - i\infty}^{M + \frac{1}{2} + i\infty} \Gamma(-s)\zeta(s) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s) x^s ds.$$

We need to analyze  $I_M(x) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{M+\frac{1}{2}-i\infty}^{M+\frac{1}{2}+i\infty} \Gamma(-s)\zeta(s) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s) x^s ds$ . We write  $\cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s) = \frac{(e^{i\frac{\pi}{2}})^s + (e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}})^s}{2}$  and making the legitimate interchange of summation and integration we get

$$I_M(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \ge 1} \left( \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{M + \frac{1}{2} - i\infty}^{M + \frac{1}{2} + \infty} \Gamma(-s) \left( \frac{e^{i\frac{\pi}{2}}x}{n} \right)^s ds + \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{M + \frac{1}{2} - i\infty}^{M + \frac{1}{2} + \infty} \Gamma(-s) \left( \frac{e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}}x}{n} \right)^s ds \right),$$

or

$$I_M(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \ge 1} \left( J_M(\frac{ix}{n}) + J_M(\frac{-ix}{n}) \right)$$

with

$$J_M(z) = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{M+\frac{1}{2}-\infty}^{M+\frac{1}{2}+\infty} \Gamma(-s) z^s ds = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{-(M+\frac{1}{2})-\infty}^{-(M+\frac{1}{2})+\infty} \Gamma(s) z^{-s} ds.$$

According to [19] (7.3, p.348), the inverse Mellin transform of  $e^{-ias}\Gamma(s)$ , with the conditions  $|\Re a| \le \frac{\pi}{2}$ ,  $-m < \Re s < 1 - m$ , m = 1, 2, ..., is the function  $e^{-te^{ia}} - \sum_{0 \le r \le m-1} \frac{(-te^{ia})^r}{r!}$ . For  $a = -\frac{\pi}{2} + i \log \frac{n}{x}$  we have  $|\Re a| = \frac{\pi}{2}$ ,  $e^{ia} = -i\frac{x}{n}$  and

$$J_M(i\frac{x}{n}) = \sum_{r \ge M+1} (-i)^r \frac{x^r}{n^r r!}, \quad J_M(-i\frac{x}{n}) = \sum_{r \ge M+1} (i)^r \frac{x^r}{n^r r!}.$$

Thus

$$I_M(x) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \left( \sum_{r \ge M+1} (i^r + (-i)^r) \frac{x^r}{n^r r!} \right).$$

Since

$$\sum_{n \ge 1} \sum_{r \ge M+1} \frac{|x|^r}{n^r r!} \le e^{|x|} \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{1}{n^{M+1}} = \zeta(M+1)e^{|x|} < +\infty$$

and  $\lim_{M \to +\infty} \sum_{r \ge M+1} (i^r + (-i)^r) \frac{x^r}{n^r r!} = 0$  we get

$$\lim_{M \to +\infty} I_M(x) = 0,$$

and finally

$$\sum_{l\geq 1} (-1)^l \frac{\zeta(2l)}{2l!} x^{2l} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\sigma_0 - i\infty}^{\sigma_0 + i\infty} \Gamma(-s)\zeta(s) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s) x^s ds + \pi x.$$

We also see from the properties of the Fourier transform of an integrable function

$$\frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\sigma_0 - i\infty}^{\sigma_0 + i\infty} \Gamma(-s)\zeta(s) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}s) x^s ds$$
$$= \frac{x^{\sigma_0}}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \Gamma(-\sigma_0 - i\tau)\zeta(\sigma_0 + i\tau) \cos(\frac{\pi}{2}(\sigma_0 + i\tau)) e^{i(\log x)\tau} d\tau$$
$$= x^{\sigma_0} o_{\sigma_0}(x)$$

If we replace x by  $\pi v \theta_v$ ,  $1 \le v \le N$  and summing over v, the terms coming from  $\pi x$  disappear, since  $\sum_{1 \le v \le N} c_v \theta_v = 0$ . This therefore gives the statement of the theorem

theorem.

## 7 Analytic Continuation of $\mathcal{M}_s$ Outside the Unit Disk

One of the purposes of this paragraph is to show that the unit circle is a natural boundary for  $\mathfrak{M}_s$  for  $\mathfrak{R}_s > 0$ . This can be easily done when s = k > 0 is an integer. Since  $(\mu(n))_{n\geq 1} = (\mu_n)_{n\geq 1}$  is a non-periodic sequence taking values in the finite set  $\{-1, 0, 1\}$  and the power series  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  is a non rational function then, by Polya-Carlson theorem, the unit circle is a natural boundary. When  $k \geq 1$  we can write

$$\left(z\frac{d}{dz}\right)^k \mathfrak{M}_k = \mathfrak{M}_0,$$

showing that  $\mathcal{M}_0$  is analytic where  $\mathcal{M}_k$  is analytic (compare with (3.1)). Hence the unit circle is a natural boundary for  $\mathcal{M}_k$  for every integer k. Alternatively we have

$$\mathcal{M}_k(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma k)} \int_0^\infty \mathcal{M}_0(e^{-t}z) t^{k-1} dt.$$

We introduce the operators  $T_s$ ,  $\Re s > 0$  defined on  $\mathcal{M}_0$  by a Mellin's integral

$$T_s(\mathcal{M}_0)(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \mathcal{M}\left(\mathcal{M}_0(e^{-\bullet}z)\right)(s), \quad |z| < 1.$$

One can verifies that

$$\mathcal{M}_s(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty \sum_{n \ge 1} \mu_n (e^{-t} z)^n t^{s-1} dt, \quad |z| < 1.$$

Let  $U \subset \mathbb{C}$  be a star-shiped open set containing the origin. Let

$$\mathcal{O}_0(U) = \{f \text{ holomorphic on } U, f(0) = 0\}$$

on which we define the family of operators

$$T_{s}(f)(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \mathcal{M}\left(f(e^{-\bullet}z)\right)(s), \quad z \in U,$$

and show that it has a semi-group property (moreover holomorphic).

**Proposition 7.1** The family of operators  $(T_s)_{\Re s>0}$  defined on  $\mathcal{O}_0(U)$  by

$$T_s(f)(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s)} \int_0^\infty f(e^{-t}z)t^{s-1}dt, \quad z \in U,$$

verifies

$$T_{s_1+s_2}=T_{s_1}\circ T_{s_2}.$$

Note first that  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} f(e^{-t}z) = f(0) = 0$  which ensures, for  $f \neq 0$ , the existence of a integer  $N \geq 1$  and a constant  $a_N \neq 0$  such that  $f(e^{-t}z) = e^{-Nt}(a_N z^N + \cdots)$  for t large and guarantees the convergence of the integral. One checks the holomorphicity of  $T_s(f)$  in U as usual. To show the semi-group property

we consider  $f \in \mathcal{O}_0(U), z \in U, s_1, s_2 \in \mathbb{C}, \Re s_i > 0, i = 1, 2$ , then

$$\begin{aligned} T_{s_2}(T_{s_1}(f))(z) &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s_2)} \int_0^\infty T_{s_1}(f)(e^{-t}z)t^{s_2-1}dt \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s_2)} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{\Gamma(s_1)} \int_0^\infty f(e^{-u}e^{-t}z)u^{s_1-1}du\right) t^{s_2-1}dt \\ &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(s_2)\Gamma(s_1)} \int \int_{[0,\infty)^2} f(e^{-(u+t)}z)u^{s_1-1}t^{s_2-1}du\,dt. \end{aligned}$$

We set t + u = v, t - u = w and  $\Delta = \{(u, v) : v \ge 0, |w| \le v\}$  and obtain

$$T_{s_2}(T_{s_1}(f))(z) = \frac{1}{2\Gamma(s_2)\Gamma(s_1)} \int_0^\infty \left[ f(e^{-v}z) \int_{-v}^v \left(\frac{v-w}{2}\right)^{s_1-1} \left(\frac{v+w}{2}\right)^{s_2-1} dw \right] dv.$$

The integral

$$I = \int_{-v}^{v} \left(\frac{v-w}{2}\right)^{s_{1}-1} \left(\frac{v+w}{2}\right)^{s_{2}-1} dw$$

is of Euler's type. We set  $w = \rho v$  with  $|\rho| \le 1$  and obtain

$$I = \frac{v^{s_1 + s_2 - 1}}{2^{s_1 + s_2 - 2}} \int_{-1}^{1} (1 - \rho^{s_1 - 1})(1 + \rho)^{s_2 - 1} d\rho.$$

Now with  $x = 1 + \rho = 2y$  we have

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1 - \rho^{s_1 - 1})(1 + \rho)^{s_2 - 1} d\rho = \int_{0}^{2} x^{s_2 - 1} (2 - x)^{s_1 - 1} dx$$
$$= 2^{s_1 + s_2 - 1} \int_{0}^{1} y^{s_2 - 1} (1 - y)^{s_1 - 1} dy$$
$$= 2^{s_1 + s_2 - 1} \frac{\Gamma(s_1) \Gamma(s_2)}{\Gamma(s_1 + s_2)}.$$

That is

$$I = 2\frac{\Gamma(s_1)\Gamma(s_2)}{\Gamma(s_1 + s_2)}v^{s_1 + s_2 - 1}$$

and

$$T_{s_2}(T_{s_1}(f))(z) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(s_1 + s_2)} \int_0^\infty f(e^{-v}z) v^{s_1 + s_2 - 1} dv = T_{s_1 + s_2}(f)(z).$$

The proposition is proved.

It is worth noting that this proof is contained in essence in (3.5), a representation of the Boole's differential operator  $\vartheta = z \frac{d}{dz}$  acting on the z-variable, by a translation on the s-variable. As a simple but illustrative example we take U = D(or  $\overline{D} \subset U$ ), D being the unit disk. If  $f(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} a_n z^n$ ,  $z \in D$ , then

$$T_s(f)(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{a_n}{n^s}$$

and

$$T_{s_1+s_2}(f)(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{a_n}{n^{s_1+s_2}} z^n$$

is also equal to

$$T_{s_2}(T_{s_1}(f))(z) = \sum_{n \ge 1} \frac{1}{n_{s_2}} \left(\frac{a_n}{n^{s_1}}\right) z^n = T_{s_1}(T_{s_2}(f))(z).$$

We can now finish the proof that the unit circle is a natural boundary for  $\mathcal{M}_s$ . If  $k > \Re s$  is an integer, we write  $k = s + \sigma$  with  $\Re \sigma > 0$ . Assume that  $\mathcal{M}_s$  extends holomorphically to an open set U, containing D, strictly larger than D. Without any loss of generality we can assume that U is star-shiped with respect to the origin, then

$$\mathcal{M}_k = \mathcal{M}_{s+\sigma} = T_{s+\sigma}(\mathcal{M}_0) = T_{\sigma}(\mathcal{M}_s)$$

extends to, which contradicts what have been said on the non holomorphic extendability of  $\mathcal{M}_k(z)$ .

#### 8 Conclusion

By way of conclusion we would like to come back to what was the motivation of this work, namely the Besicovitch question, and to mention that in fact it results from the identities of Kubert by means, in general, of a deep result of Number Theory as, for example, the Prime Number Theorem. We have also mentioned, very briefly, the occurrence of the Perron–Frobenius operator and the interpretation that can be drawn from it on the identities of Kubert. Our aim of this section is to point out the interest in combining Number Theory, Harmonic Analysis and Dynamical Systems in the study of arithmetic functions. The two twin functions of Möbius  $\mu(n)$  and of Liouville  $\lambda(n)$  share so many of these properties. For example, with the

function (2.1) we have, as showed by Davenport [14] and used in [20, 42]

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} \{nt\} = -\frac{1}{\pi} \sin 2\pi x,$$
$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n} \{nt\} = -\frac{1}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sin 2\pi n^2 x}{n^2}.$$

The second equality makes a link with what Riemann gave as an example of a continuous non-differentiable function. It is natural to define, similarly to  $\mathcal{M}_s(z)$ , the function

$$\mathcal{N}_s(z) = \sum_{n\geq 1} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^s} z^n.$$

One of the main ideas of this work can be formulated in the following theorem and its corollary

### Theorem 8.1 Let

$$\mathfrak{m}i_{s}(\theta)=\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{\mu(n)}{n^{s}}e^{2i\pi n\theta},\qquad \mathfrak{n}i_{s}(\theta)=\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{\lambda(n)}{n^{s}}e^{2i\pi n\theta},\quad \theta\in\mathbb{R}.$$

Then for every positive k we have

$$\sum_{h=1}^{k} \mathfrak{m}i_{s}(h/k) = \frac{\mu(k)}{k^{s-1}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(n)}{n^{s}}, \qquad \sum_{h=1}^{k} \mathfrak{n}i_{s}(h/k) = \frac{\lambda(k)}{k^{s-1}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^{s}}.$$

As we have seen this results from the following facts

$$\mathfrak{m}i_{s}(h/k) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(n)}{n^{s}} \sum_{h=1}^{k} e^{2iphn/k} = \frac{\mu(k)}{k^{s-1}} \sum_{n=1,(n,k)=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(n)}{n^{s}}.$$

and

$$\sum_{n=1, (n,k)=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} = \lim_{s \to 1^+} \sum_{n=1, (n,k)}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(n)}{n^s}$$
$$= \lim_{s \to 1^+} \prod_{p \nmid k} (1-p^{-s}) = \lim_{s \to 1^+} \left\{ \zeta(s) \prod_{p \mid k} (1-p^{-s}) \right\}^{-1} = 0.$$

and, similarly for  $\Re s > 1$ 

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^s} = \frac{\zeta(2s)}{\zeta(s)},$$

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n} = \lim_{s \to 1^+} \frac{\zeta(2s)}{\zeta(s)} = 0.$$
(8.1)

**Corollary 8.2** The functions  $\Re mi_s(\theta)$ ,  $\Re ni_s(\theta)$  are non-trivial real-valued continuous functions f on the real line which have period unity, are even, and for every positive integer k have the property

$$\sum_{h=1}^{n} f(h/k) = 0.$$

Furthermore, one can prove directly that  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{\lambda(n)}{n} = 0$ . Indeed

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^s} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^s} = 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(2n)}{(2n)^s}.$$

Since  $\lambda(2) = -1$  and  $\lambda$  is multiplicative we obtain

$$\frac{\lambda(2n)}{(2n)^s} = -\frac{1}{2^s} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^s}$$

so that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^s} = (-1 - \frac{2}{2^s}) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^s},$$

or

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{(n+1)} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n^s} = (1 + \frac{2}{2^s}) \frac{\zeta(2s)}{\zeta(s)}.$$

We conclude by taking the limit  $s \rightarrow 1$  as in (8.1).

It is generally believed that the values of the Möbius and Liouville functions enjoy various randomness properties. One manifestation of this principle is an old conjecture of Chowla [13] asserting that for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$  and all distinct  $n_1, n_2, \dots, n_l \in \mathbb{N}$  and for every  $\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \dots, \epsilon_l \in \{1, 2\}$  we have

$$\sum_{m=1}^{M} \mu^{\epsilon_1}(m+n_1) \cdots \mu^{\epsilon_l}(m+n_l) = o(M)$$
$$\sum_{m=1}^{M} \lambda^{\epsilon_1}(m+n_1) \cdots \lambda^{\epsilon_l}(m+n_l) = o(M).$$

According to P. Sarnak we say that a sequence  $a(n)_{n\geq 1}$  is deterministic if there exists a topological dynamical system (X, T) with zero topological entropy, a point  $x \in X$ , and a continuous function  $f : X \to \mathbb{C}$  such that for all  $n \geq 1$ ,  $a(n) = f(T^n(x))$ . Sarnak's conjecture states that for every deterministic sequence  $a(n)_{n\geq 1}$  we have

$$\sum_{m=1}^{M} \mu(n)a(n) = o(M).$$

The case of X is a point corresponds to the estimate  $\sum_{m=1}^{M} \mu(n) = o(M)$ , an equivalent form of the Prime Number Theorem. When  $X = \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  and  $T(x) = x + \alpha$  (modulo 1), Sarnak's conjecture results from Davenports's estimate. We refer to [11] for an extended report on these innovative ideas.

We end this section by giving the graphs of the two remarkable functions

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mu(n)}{n} \cos(2\pi nt), \quad \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n} \cos(2\pi nt).$$

These graphs evoke a hidden fractal structure, which deserves to be studied in depth (Figs. 1 and 2).







**Fig. 2** Graph of  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda(n)}{n} \cos(2\pi nt)$
## References

- D. Andrica, M. Piticari, On some extensions of Jordan's arithmetical functions. Acta Univ. Apulensis 8(7), 13–22 (2004)
- 2. K.I. Babenko, On conjugate functions. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 62, 157-160 (1948)
- 3. N.K. Bari, Biorthogonal systems and bases in Hilbert space. Moskov. Gos. Univ. Učenye Zapiski Matematika **148**(4), 69–107 (1951)
- P.T. Bateman, S. Chowla, Some special trigonometric series related to the distribution of prime numbers. J. London Math. Soc. 38, 372–374 (1963)
- 5. F. Bayard, A. Mouze, Division et composition dans l'anneau des séries de Dirichlet. Ann. Inst. Fourier **53**(7), 2039–2060 (2003)
- 6. A.S. Besicovitch, Problem on continuity. J. London Math. Soc. 36, 388–392 (1961)
- A. Beurling, A closure problem related to the Riemann zeta-function. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 41, 312–314 (1955)
- 8. J. Bremont, Davenport series and almost-sure convergence. Q. J. Math. 62, 825-843 (2011)
- T.C. Brown, L.C. Hsu, J. Wang, P.J.-S. Shiue, On certain kinds of generalized numbertheoretical Möbius function. Math. Sci. 25, 72–77 (2000)
- L. Carleson, On convergence and growth of partial sums of Fourier series. Acta Math. 116, 135–157 (1966)
- F. Cellarosi, Ya. G. Sinai's Work on Number Theory. The Abel Prize (Springer, Berlin, 2019), pp. 2013–2017
- S. Chowla, On some infinite series involving arithmetical functions (II). Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. 5, 514–516 (1937)
- 13. S. Chowla, *The Riemann Hypothesis and Hilbert's Tenth Problem*. Mathematics and Its Applications, vol. 4 (Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York, 1965)
- H. Davenport, On some infinite series involving arithmetical functions I and II. Quart. J. Math. 48, 8–13 and 313–320 (1937)
- R. de la Bretèche, G. Tenenbaum, Séries trigonométriques à coefficients arithmétiques. J. Anal. Math. 92, 1–79 (2004)
- H. Delange, On Ramanujan expansions of certain arithmetical functions. Acta Arithmetica 31, 259–270 (1976)
- 17. L.E. Dickson, History of the Theory of Numbers, vol. II (Chelsea, New York, 1952)
- A. Erdélyi, W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, F.G. Tricomi, *Higher Transcendental Functions*, vol. 1 (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1953)
- A. Erdélyi, W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, F.G. Tricomi, *Tables of Integral Transforms*, vol. 1 (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1954)
- M. Grangé, Special Periodic Even Functions (Les Fonctions Périodiques Paires Spéciales). Moroccan J. Pure Appl. Anal. 4(1), 17–32 (2018)
- G.H. Hardy, M. Riesz, *The General Theory of Dirichlet's Series* (Hafner Publishing Company, New York, 1972)
- P. Hartman, Multiplicative sequences and töplerian L<sup>2</sup>-bases. Duke Math. J. 14, 755–767 (1947)
- 23. M. Hata, Fractals in mathematics. Studies Math. Appl. 18, 259-278 (1986)
- 24. H. Hedenmalm, P. Lindqvist, K. Seip, A Hilbert space of Dirichlet series and systems of dilated functions in L<sup>2</sup>(0, 1). Duke Math. J. 86(1), 1–37 (1997)
- 25. O. Hölder, Zur Theorie der Kreisteilungsgleichung Km(x) = 0. Prace Matematyczno Fizyczne **43**, 13–23 (1936)
- 26. S. Jaffard, On Davenport expansions, Fractal Geometry and Applications: A Jubilee of Benoit Mandelbrot. Part 1, in *Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics*, vol. 72(Part 1) (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2004), pp. 273–303
- 27. G. Julia, Sur un développement des fonctions holomorphes. Acta. Math. 54, 263–295 (1930)

- J. Korevaar, *Tauberian theory*. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 329 (Springer, Berlin, 2004). A century of developments
- 29. D. Kubert, The universal ordinary distribution. Bull. Soc. France 107, 179–202 (1979)
- P. Lindqvist, K. Seip, Note on some greatest common divisor matrices. Acta Arith. 84, 149–154 (1998)
- 31. L.G. Lucht, Ramanujan expansions revisited. Arch. Math. 64, 121–128 (1995)
- 32. P.J. McCarthy, Introduction to Arithmetical Functions (Springer, New York, 1986)
- M. Mikolás, Integral formulae of arithmetical characteristics relating to the zeta-function of Hurwitz. Publ. Math. Debrecen 5, 44–53 (1957)
- J. Milnor, On polylogarithms, Hurwitz zeta functions, and the Kubert identities. Enseign. Math. 29, 281–322 (1983)
- 35. N. Nikolski, *Hardy Spaces* (Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics) (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 2019)
- C.H. Picard, On some series formed by values of the Riemann zeta function. arXiv:1511.04720 (2015)
- P. Pollack, Euler and the partial sums of the prime harmonics series. Elem. Math. 70, 13–20 (2015)
- 38. G. Pólya, G. Szegö, Problems and Theorems in Analysis II (Springer, Berlin, 1976)
- H. Queffélec, Espaces de séries de Dirichlet et leur opérateurs de composition. Annales Mathématiques Blaise Pascal 22, 267–344 (2015)
- 40. S. Ramanujan, On certain trigonometrical sums and their applications in the theory of numbers. Trans. Cambridge Phil. Soc **22**, 259–276 (1918)
- 41. N.P. Romanoff, Hilbert space and the theory of numbers. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. **10**(1), 3–34 (1946)
- A. Sebbar, Harmonic numbers, harmonic series and zeta function. Moroccan J. Pure Appl. Anal. 4(2), 122–157 (2018)
- 43. A. Sebbar, R. Gay, Arithmetic and Analysis of the series  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \sin \frac{x}{n}$ . Compl. Anal. Oper.

Theory 15(3), 1–29 (2021)

- 44. I. Singer, Bases in Banach spaces I (Springer, New York, 1970)
- 45. H.J.S. Smith, On the value of a certain arithmetical determinant. Proc. London Math. Soc 7, 208–212 (1875)
- 46. R. Spira, General Lambert Series. Portugaliae Mathematica, vol. 29, Fasc. 2 (1970), pp. 95–99
- S. Thajoddin, S. Vangipuram, A note on Jordan's totient function. Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 19(12), 1156–161 (1988)
- 48. A.Wintner, Diophantine approximation and Hilbert's space. Am. J. Math. 66, 564–578 (1944)

# Symmetric Measures, Continuous Networks, and Dynamics



Sergey Bezuglyi and Palle E. T. Jorgensen

**Abstract** With view to applications, we here give an explicit correspondence between the following two: (i) the set of symmetric and positive measures  $\rho$  on one hand, and (ii) a certain family of generalized Markov transition measures P, with their associated Markov random walk models, on the other. By a generalized Markov transition measure we mean a measurable and measure-valued function Pon  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , such that for every  $x \in V$ ,  $P(x; \cdot)$  is a probability measure on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ . Hence, with the use of our correspondence (i)–(ii), we study generalized Markov transitions P and path-space dynamics. Given P, we introduce an associated operator, also denoted by P, and we analyze its spectral theoretic properties with reference to a system of precise  $L^2$  spaces.

Our setting is more general than that of earlier treatments of reversible Markov processes. In a potential theoretic analysis of our processes, we introduce and study an associated energy Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ , not directly linked to the initial  $L^2$ -spaces. Its properties are subtle, and our applications include a study of the *P*-harmonic functions. They may be in  $\mathcal{H}_E$ , called finite-energy harmonic functions. A second reason for  $\mathcal{H}_E$  is that it plays a key role in our introduction of a generalized Green function. (The latter stands in relation to our present measure theoretic Laplace operator in a way that parallels more traditional settings of Green functions from classical potential theory.) A third reason for  $\mathcal{H}_E$  is its use in our analysis of path-space dynamics for generalized Markov transition systems.

**Keywords** Markov operator · Standard measure space · Symmetric measure · Laplace operator · Markov chain · Harmonic function · Finite energy space

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000) 37L40, 60J20

Department of Mathematics, University of Iowa, Iowa, IA, USA e-mail: sergii-bezuglyi@uiowa.edu; palle-jorgensen@uiowa.edu

to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative, Operator Theory: Advances

S. Bezuglyi · P. E. T. Jorgensen (🖂)

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex

and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_6

# 1 Introduction

In this paper, we continue our study of the graph Laplace and Markov operators, initiated in [1], which was based on the key notion of a  $\sigma$ -finite symmetric measure defined on the product space  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  for a standard Borel space  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ .

Our goal is to extend the basic definitions and results of the theory of weighted networks (known also as electrical or resistance networks) to the case of measure spaces. We briefly recall that, for a countable locally finite connected graph G = (V, E) without loops, one can identify the edge set E with a subset of the Cartesian product  $V \times V$  and assign some weight  $c_{xy}$  for every point (x, y) in E where  $c_{xy}$ is a symmetric positive function. It gives us a symmetric atomic measure  $\rho$  on Ewhose projections on V are the counting measure  $\mu$ . Then, for a weighted network (V, E, c), one defines the Markov transition probability kernel P and the graph Laplacian  $\Delta = c(I - P)$  which are considered as operators acting either in  $L^2$ spaces with respect to the measures  $\mu$  and  $\nu = c\mu$  or in the finite energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ . Their spectral properties are of great interest as well as the study of harmonic functions in the theory of weighted networks.

Our approach to the measurable theory of weighted networks is based on the concept of a symmetric measure defined on the Cartesian product  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  where  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  is a standard Borel space. (To stress the existing parallels we use the same notation as in discrete case.) In more detail, in the context of measurable dynamics, the state space V is considered very generally; more specifically  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  is given, where  $\mathcal{B}$  is a specified  $\sigma$ -algebra for V. From  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , we then form the corresponding product space, relative to the product  $\sigma$ -algebra on  $V \times V$ . It is important that our initial measure  $\rho$  is not assumed finite, but only  $\sigma$ -finite. Since  $\rho$  is assumed symmetric, the respective two marginal measures coincide, here denoted  $\mu$ , and they will also not be finite; only  $\sigma$ -finite. The  $\sigma$ -finiteness will be a crucial fact in our computations of a number of Radon-Nikodym derivatives and norms of operators and vectors.

We establish an explicit correspondence between (i) symmetric and positive measures  $\rho$  on one hand, and (ii) a certain set of generalized Markov transition measures P on the other. More precisely, by a generalized Markov transition measure we mean a measurable and measure-valued function P on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , such that for every x in V,  $P(x, \cdot)$  is a probability measure on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ . From the generalized Markov transition P, we introduce an associated operator, also denoted by P. Its spectral theoretic properties refer to a certain  $L^2$  space, and they will be made precise in Sect. 3.

In addition to the operator P, we shall also consider a natural transfer operator R (the choice of the letter "R" is for David Ruelle who initiated a variant of our analysis in the context of statistical mechanics); and a measure theoretic Laplacian, or Laplace operator. In the special case when V is countably discrete, our Laplace operator will be analogous to a family of more standard discretized classical Laplace operators. For related results on transfer operators, see e.g. [2–13].

Among the motivations for our present results are the following: A recent study of a variety of graph limits. This research area has both a general flavor, and an application-focus; see below. The latter includes recent papers on graphons; a current and extremely active area. In addition, we are motivated by a number of new operator-theoretic approaches to the study of graph limits, such as the notion of action convergence (see the recent works by Backhausz and Szegedy, [14, 15] and Pensky [16]). While we mention some of these connections inside our paper, our present emphasis is the theoretic foundations for these related developments.

**New Results** It is important to note that our setting is not restricted to the case of finite measures. In fact, in our discussion of Markov transition dynamics, important examples simply will not allow finite covariant measures. We recall that the theory of weighted networks can serve as a discrete analog of our measurable settings, see [1] where this analogy was discussed in detail. The corresponding symmetric measure on the edge set *E* is  $\sigma$ -finite as well as the counting measure  $\mu$  on the set of vertices *V*. Our definitions of the energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ , Markov operator *P*, and the graph Laplace operator  $\Delta$  are direct translations of the corresponding definitions for weighted networks.

To the best of our knowledge, such interpretations of these objects have not been considered earlier. We stress that our approach to Markov processes generated by  $\sigma$ -finite symmetric measures leads with necessity to the study of Markov transition operators defined on infinite  $\sigma$ -finite measure spaces. The existing literature on Markov processes is devoted mostly to the case of probability measure spaces, see, e.g., [17–19].

The notion of Borel equivalence relation defined on a standard Borel space illustrates our setting, and it can be viewed as a rich source of various examples. We refer to the following books and articles: [20-27].

More applications of measurable setting for the study of Markov processes and Laplacians are given in [1]. We mention here the theory of graphons, Dirichlet forms, and the theory of determinantal measures.

With our starting point, a choice of a fixed symmetric and positive measure  $\rho$  on a product space, we will then have four natural Hilbert spaces, three are just  $L^2$  spaces,  $L^2(\rho)$ , and two  $L^2$  spaces referring to the marginal measure  $\mu$ . The fourth Hilbert space is different. We call it the finite energy Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ . Its use is motivated by potential theory, and it has a more subtle structure among the considered Hilbert spaces. Given  $\rho$ , we introduce an associated energy Hilbert space, denoted  $\mathcal{H}_E$ , but depending on the initially given  $\rho$ . This energy Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_E$  is not directly linked to the initial  $L^2$  spaces, and its properties are quite different. Nonetheless, the energy Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_E$  will play a key role in our analysis in the main body of our paper. There are many reasons for this. For example, non-constant harmonic functions will not be in  $L^2$ ; but, in important applications, they may be in  $\mathcal{H}_E$ ; we refer to the latter as finite energy harmonic functions. A second reason for  $\mathcal{H}_E$  is that it plays a crucial role in our introduction of a generalized Green's function. The latter stands in relation to our Laplace operator in a way that is parallel to more classical settings of Green's functions from potential theory. A third reason for  $\mathcal{H}_E$ 

is its use in our analysis of path-space dynamics for the Markov transition system, mentioned above.

**Organization** Our *main results* are proved in Theorems 3.10, 4.7, 4.11, 5.3, 6.2, 6.11, and 7.2.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 contains our basic definitions and preliminary results. We discuss here the concepts of standard Borel and standard measure spaces, kernels, irreducible symmetric measures, and disintegration. The transfer operator R, Markov operator P, and graph Laplacian  $\Delta$  are defined in Sect. 3. We collected a number of results about the spectral properties of these operators that were proved in [1]. Also the reader will find the definition of the finite energy Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ , several results about the structure of the space  $\mathcal{H}_E$  and the norm of functions from  $\mathcal{H}_E$ . We consider also the embedding operator J and prove that J is an isometry. In Sect. 4, we consider the equivalence of Markov operators and the Laplacians generated by equivalent symmetric measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$ . It turns out that, for equivalent symmetric measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$ , there exists an isometry for the corresponding energy Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{H}_E(\rho)$  and  $\mathcal{H}_E(\rho')$ . The notion of reversible Markov processes is discussed in Sect. 5. We relate various properties of the operator P (such as self-ajointness) to this notion and to the notion of a symmetric measure. A number of results about Markov operators acting in the  $L^2$ spaces and energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$  are proved in this section. Section 6 focuses on the case of a transient Markov processes defined by a Markov operator P. We define the pathspace measure  $\mathbb{P}$  and Green's function G(x, A), and we discuss their properties. Section 7 is devoted to construction of a sequence of discrete weighted networks which can be used to approximate the objects considered for the measurable setting.

In our article we discuss several key notions such as reversible Markov processes, Green's function, transient processes, limit theory (covering boundaries), potential theory, general Dirichlet forms, graph Laplacians, etc. For the benefit of non-experts in these areas, we included a number of general references in the corresponding sections.

# 2 Basic Definitions and Symmetric Measures

In this section, we briefly describe our main setting and introduce the most important notation. We also recall several results from [1] which will be used here.

# 2.1 Standard Borel and Measure Spaces

Suppose V is a *Polish space*, i.e., V is a separable completely metrizable topological space. Let  $\mathcal{B}$  denote the  $\sigma$ -algebra of Borel sets generated by open sets of V. Then  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  is called a *standard Borel space*. The theory of standard Borel spaces is

discussed in many recent books, see e.g., [25, 26, 28, 29] and papers [30, 31]. We recall that all uncountable standard Borel spaces are Borel isomorphic, so that one can use any convenient realization of the space V working in the category of measurable spaces. If  $\mu$  is a continuous (i.e., non-atomic) positive Borel measure on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , then  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  is called a *standard measure space*. Given  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , we will call  $\mu$  a measure for brevity. As a rule, we will deal with non-atomic  $\sigma$ -finite positive measures on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  (unless the opposite is clearly indicated) which take values in the extended real line  $\mathbb{R}$ . We use the name of *standard measure space* for both finite and  $\sigma$ -finite measure spaces. Also the same notation,  $\mathcal{B}$ , is applied for the  $\sigma$ -algebras of Borel sets and measurable sets of a standard measure space. It should be clear from the context what  $\sigma$ -algebra is considered. Working with a measure space  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , we always assume that  $\mathcal{B}$  is *complete* with respect to  $\mu$ . By  $\mathcal{F}(V, \mathcal{B})$ . we denote the space of real-valued bounded Borel functions on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ . For  $f \in \mathcal{F}(V, \mathcal{B})$  and a Borel measure  $\mu$  on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , we write

$$\mu(f) = \int_V f \, d\mu.$$

All objects, considered in the context of measure spaces (such as sets, functions, transformations, etc), are determined modulo sets of zero measure. In most cases, we will implicitly use this mod 0 convention not mentioning the sets of zero measure explicitly.

In what follows, we will use (in most cases implicitly) the notion of *measurable fields*. Given a measure space  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , it is said that  $x \mapsto A_x \in \mathcal{B}$  is a *measurable field of sets* if the set

$$\bigcup_{x\in V} \{x\} \times A_x \in \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B}.$$

Similarly, one can define a *measurable field of measures*  $x \to \mu_x$  on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  requiring  $x \mapsto \mu_x(A)$  to be a measurable function for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ .

Consider a  $\sigma$ -finite continuous measure  $\mu$  on a standard Borel space  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ . We denote by

$$\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}} = \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\mu) = \{A \in \mathcal{B} : \mu(A) < \infty\}$$
(2.1)

the algebra of Borel sets of finite measure  $\mu$ . Clearly, any  $\sigma$ -finite measure  $\mu$  is uniquely determined by its values on  $\mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ .

The linear space of simple function over sets from  $\mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$  is denoted by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\mu) := \left\{ \sum_{i \in I} a_i \chi_{A_i} : A_i \in \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\mu), \ a_i \in \mathbb{R}, \ |I| < \infty \right\}$$
  
= Span{ $\chi_A : A \in \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\mu)$ }, (2.2)

will play an important role in our work since simple functions from  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\mu)$  form a norm dense subset in  $L^p(\mu)$ -space,  $p \ge 1$ .

### 2.2 Symmetric Measures, Kernels, and Disintegration

**Definition 2.1** Let *E* be an uncountable Borel subset of the Cartesian product ( $V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B}$ ) such that:

- (i)  $(x, y) \in E \iff (y, x) \in E$ , i.e.  $\theta(E) = E$  where  $\theta(x, y) = (y, x)$  is the flip automorphism;
- (ii)  $E_x := \{y \in V : (x, y) \in E\} \neq \emptyset, \forall x \in X;$
- (iii) for every  $x \in V$ ,  $(E_x, \mathcal{B}_x)$  is a standard Borel space where  $\mathcal{B}_x$  is the  $\sigma$ -algebra of Borel sets induced on  $E_x$  from  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ .

We call *E* a symmetric set.

It follows from (ii) and (iii) that the projection of the symmetric set *E* on each margin of the product space  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  is *V*.

We observe that conditions (ii) and (iii) are, strictly speaking, not related to the symmetry property; they are included in Definition 2.1 for convenience, so that we will not have to make additional assumptions. Condition (iii) assumes two cases: the Borel space  $E_x$  can be countable or uncountable. We focus mostly on uncountable Borel standard spaces.

There are several natural examples of symmetric sets related to dynamical systems. We mention here the case of a *Borel equivalence relation* E on a standard Borel space  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ . By definition, E is a Borel subset of  $V \times V$  such that  $(x, x) \in E$  for all  $x \in V$ , (x, y) is in E iff (y, x) is in E, and  $(x, y) \in E$ ,  $(y, z) \in E$  implies that  $(x, z) \in E$ . Let  $E_x = \{y \in V : (x, y) \in E\}$ , then E is partitioned into "vertical fibers"  $E_x$ . In particular, it can be the case when every  $E_x$  is countable. Then E is called a *countable Borel equivalence relation*.

We say that a symmetric set *E* is *decomposable* if there exists an uncountable Borel subset  $A \subset V$  such that

$$E \subset (A \times A) \cup (A^c \times A^c), \tag{2.3}$$

where  $A^c = V \setminus A$ .

The meaning of this definition can be clarified for Borel equivalence relations: if *E* satisfies (2.3), then the set *A* is *E*-invariant.

We recall several definitions and facts about kernels defined on a measurable space, see e.g. [18, 19]. Given a standard measure space  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , we define a  $\sigma$ -finite kernel k as a function  $k : V \times \mathcal{B} \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$  (where  $\overline{\mathbb{R}}_+$  is the extended real line) such that

(i)  $x \mapsto k(x, A)$  is measurable for every  $A \in \mathcal{B}$ ;

(ii) for any  $x \in V$ ,  $k(x, \cdot)$  is a  $\sigma$ -finite measure on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ .

A kernel k(x, A) is called *finite* if  $k(x, \cdot)$  is a finite measure on (V, B) for every x. We will also use the notation k(x, dy) for the measure on (V, B).

The definition of a finite kernel can be used to define new measures on the measurable spaces  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  and  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ .

Given a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  and a finite kernel k(x, A), we set

$$\kappa(A) = \int_V k(x, A) \, d\mu(x).$$

Then  $\kappa$  is a  $\sigma$ -finite measure on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  (which is also called a *random measure* in the literature).

For a kernel k as above, one can define inductively the sequence of kernels  $(k^n : n \ge 1)$  by setting

$$k^{n}(x, A) = \int_{V} k^{n-1}(y, A) k(x, dy), \qquad n > 1.$$
(2.4)

Following [18], we formulate definitions of main properties of a kernel k. We say that a set  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  is attainable from  $x \in V$  if there exists  $n \ge 1$  such that  $k^n(x, A) > 0$ , in symbols, we write  $x \to A$ . A set  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  is called *closed* for the kernel k if  $k(x, A^c) = 0$  for all  $x \in A$ . If A is closed, then it follows from (2.4) that  $k^n(x, A^c) = 0$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $x \in A$ . Hence, A is closed if and only if  $x \to A^c$ .

A kernel k = k(x, A) is called *Borel indecomposable* on (V, B) if there do not exist two disjoint non-empty closed subsets  $A_1$  and  $A_2$ .

Let  $F_x \in \mathcal{B}$  be the support of the measure  $k(x, \cdot)$ , that is  $k(x, V \setminus F_x) = 0$ . By  $\widetilde{F}_x$ , we denote the set  $\{x\} \times K_x \subset V \times V$ . Then the formula

$$k(A \times B) = \int_A \widetilde{k}(x, B) \, d\mu(x)$$

defines a  $\sigma$ -finite measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  where  $\tilde{k}(x, \cdot) = (\delta_x \times k)(x, \cdot)$ . The support of k is the set

$$F := \bigcup_{x \in V} \widetilde{F}_x.$$

We will use below slightly simplified notation identifying the sets  $F_x$  and  $\tilde{F}_x$  and the measures k(x, A) and  $\tilde{k}(x, A)$ . It will be clear from the context what objects are considered.

As mentioned in Introduction, our approach is based on the study of *symmetric* measures defined on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , see Definition 2.4. We show that every measure  $\rho$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  generates a kernel  $x \rightarrow \rho_x(A), A \in \mathcal{B}$ . This observation is based on the concept of *disintegration* of the measure  $\rho$ . We recall here this construction.

Denote by  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2$  the projections from  $V \times V$  onto the first and second factor, respectively. Then  $\{\pi_1^{-1}(x) : x \in V\}$  and  $\{\pi_2^{-1}(y) : y \in V\}$  are the *measurable partitions* of  $V \times V$  into vertical and horizontal fibers, see [1, 22, 32] for more information on properties of measurable partitions. The case of probability measures was studied by Rokhlin in [32], whereas the disintegration of  $\sigma$ -finite measures has been considered somewhat recently. We refer to a result from [33] whose formulation is adapted to our needs.

**Theorem 2.2 ([33])** For a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , let  $\rho$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  such that  $\rho \circ \pi_1^{-1} \ll \mu$ . Then there exists a unique system of conditional  $\sigma$ -finite measures  $(\tilde{\rho}_x)$  such that

$$\rho(f) = \int_{V} \widetilde{\rho}_{x}(f) \, d\mu(x), \quad f \in \mathcal{F}(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B}).$$

In the following remark we collect several facts that clarify the essence of the defined objects.

#### Remark 2.3

- The condition of Theorem 2.2 assumes that a measure μ is prescribed on the Borel space (V, B). If one begins with a measure ρ on (V × V, B × B), then the measure μ arises as the projection of ρ on (V, B), ρ ∘ π<sub>1</sub><sup>-1</sup> = μ.
- (2) Let *E* be a Borel symmetric subset of (*V* × *V*, *B* × *B*), and let *ρ* be a measure on (*V* × *V*, *B* × *B*) satisfying the condition of Theorem 2.2. Then *E* can be partitioned into the fibers {*x*} × *E<sub>x</sub>*. By Theorem 2.2, there exists a unique system of conditional measures *ρ<sub>x</sub>* such that, for any *ρ*-integrable function *f*(*x*, *y*), we have

$$\iint_{V \times V} f(x, y) \, d\rho(x, y) = \int_{V} \widetilde{\rho}_{x}(f) \, d\mu(x). \tag{2.5}$$

It is obvious that, for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $x \in V$ , supp $(\tilde{\rho}_x) = \{x\} \times E_x$  (up to a set of zero measure). To simplify the notation, we will write

$$\int_V f \ d\rho_x \text{ and } \iint_{V \times V} f \ d\rho$$

though the measures  $\rho_x$  and  $\rho$  have the supports  $E_x$  and E, respectively.

(3) It follows from Theorem 2.2 that the measure ρ determines the measurable field of sets x → E<sub>x</sub> ⊂ V and measurable field of σ-finite Borel measures x → ρ<sub>x</sub> on (V, B), where the measures ρ<sub>x</sub> are defined by the relation

$$\widetilde{\rho}_x = \delta_x \times \rho_x. \tag{2.6}$$

Hence, relation (2.5) can be also written in the following form, used in our subsequent computations,

$$\iint_{V \times V} f(x, y) \, d\rho(x, y) = \int_{V} \left( \int_{V} f(x, y) \, d\rho_x(y) \right) \, d\mu(x). \tag{2.7}$$

In other words, we have a measurable family of measures  $(x \mapsto \rho_x)$ , and it defines a new measure  $\nu$  on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  by setting

$$\nu(A) := \int_{V} \rho_{x}(A) \, d\mu(x), \quad A \in \mathcal{B}.$$
(2.8)

Remark that the measure  $\rho_x$  is defined on the subset  $E_x$  of  $(V, \mathcal{B}), x \in V$ .

**Definition 2.4** Let  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  be a standard Borel space. We say that a measure  $\rho$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times B)$  is *symmetric* if

$$\rho(A \times B) = \rho(B \times A), \quad \forall A, B \in \mathcal{B}.$$

In other words,  $\rho$  is invariant with respect to the flip automorphism  $\theta$ .

The following remark contains natural properties of symmetric measures. Some of them were proved in [1], the others are rather obvious.

#### Remark 2.5

- If ρ is a symmetric measure on (V × V, B × B), then the support of ρ, the set E = E(ρ), is symmetric mod 0. Here E(ρ) is defined up to a set of zero measure by the relation ρ((V × V) \ E) = 0.
- (2) We consider the symmetric measures whose supporting sets E satisfy Definition 2.1. In other words, we require that, for every  $x \in V$ , the set  $E_x \subset E$  is uncountable and therefore is a standard Borel space. The case when  $E_x$  is countable arises, in particular, when E is a Borel countable equivalence relation on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ . The latter was considered in [1]. For countable sets  $E_x, x \in V$ , we can take  $\rho_x$  as a finite measure which is equivalent to the counting measure, see, e.g. [24, 34, 35] for details.
- (3) In general, the notion of a symmetric measure is defined in the context of standard Borel spaces (V, B) and (V × V, B × B). But if a σ-finite measure μ is given on (V, B), then we need to include an additional relation between the projections of ρ on V and the measure μ. Let π<sub>1</sub> : V × V → V be the projection on the first coordinate. We require that the symmetric measure must satisfy the property ρ ∘ π<sub>1</sub><sup>-1</sup> ≪ μ, see Theorem 2.2.
- (4) The symmetry of the set  $\overline{E}$  allows us to define a "mirror" image of the measure  $\rho$ . Let  $E^y := \{x \in V : (x, y) \in E\}$ , and let  $(\widetilde{\rho}^y)$  be the system of conditional

measures with respect to the partition of E into the sets  $E^{y} \times \{y\}$ . Then, for the measure

$$\widetilde{\rho} = \int_{V} \widetilde{\rho}^{y} d\mu(y),$$

the relation  $\rho = \tilde{\rho}$  holds.

(5) It is worth noting that, in general, when a measure μ is defined on (V, B), the set E(ρ) do not need to be a set of positive measure with respect to the product measure μ × μ. In other words, we admit both cases: (a) ρ is equivalent to μ × μ, (b) ρ and μ × μ are mutually singular.

Assumption 1 In this paper, we consider the class of symmetric measures  $\rho$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  which satisfy the following property:

$$0 < c(x) := \rho_x(V) < \infty, \quad \mu \text{-a.e. } x \in V,$$
 (2.9)

where  $x \mapsto \rho_x$  is the measurable field of measures arising in Theorem 2.2.

Moreover, in most statements, we will assume that  $c(x) \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ , i.e.,

$$\int_A c(x) \ d\mu(x) < \infty, \qquad \forall A \in \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\mu).$$

This property of the function c(x) is natural because it corresponds to local finiteness of graphs in the theory of weighted (electric) networks. In several statements, we will require that

$$\left( \forall A \in \mathcal{B}_{\operatorname{fin}}(\mu), \int_A c^2 d\mu < \infty \right) \iff c \in L^2_{\operatorname{loc}}(\mu).$$

We observe also that the case when the function c is bounded leads to bounded Laplace operators and is not interesting for us.

Relation (2.8) defines the measure  $\nu$  such that the measures  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  are equivalent. It is stated in Lemma 2.6 that c(x) is the Radon-Nikodym derivative of  $\nu$  with respect to  $\mu$ . If we want to reverse the definition and use  $\nu$  as a primary measure, then we need to require that the function  $c(x)^{-1}$  is locally integrable with respect to  $\nu$ .

The following (important for us) fact follows from the definition of symmetric measures. We emphasize that formula (2.10) will be used repeatedly in many proofs.

#### Lemma 2.6

(1) For a symmetric measure  $\rho$  and any bounded Borel function f on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ ,

$$\iint_{V \times V} f(x, y) \, d\rho(x, y) = \iint_{V \times V} f(y, x) \, d\rho(x, y). \tag{2.10}$$

Equality (2.10) is understood in the sense of the extended real line, i.e., the infinite value of the integral is allowed.

(2) Let v be defined as in (2.8). Then

$$d\nu(x) = c(x)d\mu(x).$$

## 2.3 Irreducible Symmetric Measures

We now relate the notions of symmetric measures and kernels. It turns out that one can associate a finite kernel  $\mathcal{K}(\rho) = \mathcal{K}$  to any symmetric measure  $\rho$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . For this, we use the disintegration of  $\rho$  according to Theorem 2.2,  $\rho = \int_{V} \rho_x d\mu(x)$ , and set  $x \to \mathcal{K}(x, A) = \rho_x(A)$ .

The definition of sets attainable from  $x \in V$  and that of decomposable sets, given above in the context of Borel spaces, can be translated to the case of measure spaces. Below we define the notion of an *irreducible symmetric measure* which will be extensively used in the paper.

#### **Definition 2.7**

- (1) A kernel x → k(x, ·) is called *irreducible with respect to a σ-finite measure* μ on (V, B) (μ-*irreducible*) if, for any set A of positive measure μ and μ-a.e. x ∈ V, there exists some n such that k<sup>n</sup>(x, A) > 0, i.e., any set A of positive measure is attainable from μ-a.e. x, x → A.
- (2) A symmetric measure  $\rho$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  is called *irreducible* if the corresponding kernel  $\mathcal{K}(\rho) : x \to \rho_x(\cdot)$  is  $\mu$ -irreducible where  $\mu$  is the projection of measure  $\rho$ .
- (3) A symmetric measure  $\rho$  (or the kernel  $x \to \rho_x(\cdot)$ ) is called  $\mu$ -decomposable if there exists a Borel subset *A* of *V* of positive measure  $\mu$  such that

$$E \subset (A \times A) \cup (A^c \times A^c) \tag{2.11}$$

where  $A^c = V \setminus A$  is also of positive measure. Otherwise,  $\rho$  is called *indecomposable*.

Every kernel k, defined on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , generates the *potential kernel* 

$$G(k)(x, A) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} k^n(x, A)$$

where  $k^0(x, A) = \chi_A(x)$ . In general, the kernel *G* may be degenerated admitting only the values 0 and  $\infty$ . We will discuss below the role of *G* in the case of transient Markov processes.

**Lemma 2.8** Let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  with the kernel  $\mathcal{K}(x, A) = \rho_x(A)$ . Suppose that the support of  $\rho$ , the set E, satisfies relation (2.11) where  $\mu(A) > 0$  and  $\mu(A^c) > 0$ , i.e. the kernel  $x \mapsto \rho_x(A)$  is  $\mu$ -decomposable. Then the sets A and  $A^c$  are closed and  $x \mapsto \rho_x(A)$  is a  $\mu$ -reducible kernel. The converse statement also holds.

**Proof** The first result follows directly from the definitions given above in this subsection. To see that the converse is true, it suffices to note that, for any set B of positive measure, the compliment  $\hat{B}^c$  of the set

$$\widehat{B} := B \cup \{x \in V : x \to B\}$$

is either of zero measure, or closed (recall that  $x \to B$  means that there exists *n* such that  $\mathcal{K}^n(x, B) > 0$ ). If  $\rho$  is reducible, then there exists a set A,  $\mu(A) > 0$ , such that the closed set  $\mu(\widehat{A}^c)$  has positive measure. The existence of such a set implies that the measure  $\rho$  is decomposable.

It is obvious from this lemma that a decomposable symmetric measure  $\rho$  cannot be irreducible. It was proved in [1] that the definitions of an irreducible measure and irreducible kernel agree, see Theorem 6.2 below.

By definition, the projection of the support of an irreducible measure  $\rho$  is the set *V*. Irreducibility of symmetric measures means irreducibility of a corresponding Markov process, see details in [1].

In the following statement, we give another approach to the notion of irreducible symmetric measures. Let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . We use the support of the fiber measure  $\rho_x, x \in V$ , to characterize an irreducible measure in different terms.

For any fixed  $x \in V$ , we define a sequence of subsets:  $A_0(x) = \{x\}, A_1(x) = E_x$ ,

$$A_n(x) = \bigcup_{y \in A_{n-1}(x)} E_y, \quad n \ge 2.$$

Recall that  $E_x$  is the support of the measure  $\rho_x$ , and  $E_x$  can be identified with the vertical section of the symmetric set E. Note that all the sets  $A_n(x)$  are in  $\mathcal{B}$  as  $x \to E_x$  is a measurable field of sets.

**Lemma 2.9** Given  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , a symmetric measure  $\rho$  is irreducible if and only if for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $x \in V$  and any set  $B \in \mathcal{B}$  of positive measure there exists  $n \ge 1$  such that

$$\mu(A_n(x) \cap B) > 0. \tag{2.12}$$

**Proof** Indeed, the property formulated in (2.12) is another form of  $k^n(x, B) > 0$  where the kernel k is defined by  $x \to \rho_x$ .

Various aspects of symmetric measures are also discussed in [36, 37]. In particular, one can observe that if symmetric measures  $\rho$  and  $\overline{\rho}$  are equivalent, then they are simultaneously either irreducible or not.

# 3 Linear Operators and Hilbert Spaces Associated to Symmetric Measures

While the main structures of our paper (symmetric measures, transfer operators R, Markov transition densities P, and associated Laplace operators  $\Delta$ ) may be naturally formulated in the general context of measurable functions, their spectral theory, and their dynamic-systems properties, only take a precise form after suitable Hilbert spaces are introduced. We will show that the initial structures, reversible Markov processes, and associated Laplace operators, etc., in turn dictate their own natural Hilbert space theoretic context. More precisely, in the section below, we identify the particular  $L^2$  spaces, having the property that respective operators R, P, and  $\Delta$  become self-adjoint. In addition to these  $L^2$  spaces, we also identify two other Hilbert spaces (details below). They are motivated by parallels to classical potential theory, and to the study of diffusion processes. Moreover, they have discrete counterparts in the study of infinite networks, and of graph Laplacians. But presently, we introduced these two Hilbert spaces in a general measure space context. Continuing conventions from our earlier papers, we shall denote these Hilbert spaces (i) the energy Hilbert space, and (ii) the dissipation Hilbert space. The latter refers to a certain path-space construction, which in turn is built directly from the initial structure, mentioned above, symmetric measure, transfer operator, and Markov transition densities.

# 3.1 Symmetric Operator R, Markov Operator P, and Laplacian $\Delta$

Suppose  $k : V \times \mathcal{B} \to \mathbb{R}_+$  is a finite kernel defined on a standard Borel space  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ . Then it defines a linear positive (see Remark 3.3) operator P(k) which is determined by the kernel k:

$$P(k)(f)(x) := \int_{V} f(y) k(x, dy).$$
(3.1)

It can be easily seen that, for the kernels  $k^n$  (see (2.4)), the operator  $P(k^n)$ , defined as in (3.1), satisfies the property:

$$P(k^n) = P(k)^n, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We consider in this section the kernel  $\mathcal{K}(\rho)$  generated by a symmetric measure  $\rho$ , i.e.,  $\mathcal{K}(x, A) = \rho_x(A)$ .

Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space, and  $\rho$  a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  supported by a symmetric set *E*. Let  $x \mapsto \rho_x$  be the measurable family of measures on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  that *disintegrates*  $\rho$ . Recall that, by Assumption 1, the function

 $c(x) = \rho_x(V)$  is finite for  $\mu$ -a.e. x. As discussed above in Sect. 2.2, the measure  $\rho$  produces a finite kernel  $\mathcal{K}(\rho)$  which we use to define the following operators.

**Definition 3.1** For a symmetric measure  $\rho$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , we define three linear operators *R*, *P* and  $\Delta$  acting on the space of bounded Borel functions  $\mathcal{F}(V, \mathcal{B})$ .

(i) The symmetric operator R:

$$R(f)(x) := \int_{V} f(y) \, d\rho_{x}(y) = \rho_{x}(f).$$
(3.2)

(ii) The Markov operator P:

$$P(f)(x) = \frac{1}{c(x)}R(f)(x)$$

or

$$P(f)(x) := \frac{1}{c(x)} \int_{V} f(y) \, d\rho_{x}(y) = \int_{V} f(y) \, P(x, dy) \tag{3.3}$$

where P(x, dy) is the probability measure obtained by normalization of  $d\rho_x(y)$ , i.e.

$$P(x, dy) := \frac{1}{c(x)} d\rho_x(y).$$

In other words, the Markov operator *P* defines the measurable field  $x \mapsto P(x, \cdot)$  of *transition probabilities* on the space  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , or a *Markov process*. (iii) The graph Laplace operator  $\Delta$ :

$$\Delta(f)(x) := \int_{V} (f(x) - f(y)) \, d\rho_x(y) \tag{3.4}$$

or

$$\Delta(f) = c(I - P)(f) = (cI - R)(f).$$
(3.5)

Using (2.9), we can write the operator  $\Delta$  in more symmetric form:

$$\Delta(f) = R(1)f - R(f)$$

where 1 is a function identically equal to 1,

**Remark 3.2** (R as a Transfer Operator) It is worth noting that the operator R can be treated as a transfer operator (see e.g. [38] and the literature cited there).

Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be a standard measure space, and let  $\sigma$  be a surjective endomorphism of X. Consider the partition  $\xi$  of X into the orbits of  $\sigma$ :  $y \in Orb_{\sigma}(x)$ 

if there are non-negative integers n, m such  $\sigma^n(y) = \sigma^m(x)$ . Let the partition  $\eta$  be the measurable hull of  $\xi$ . Take the system of conditional measures  $\{\mu_C\}_{C \in \xi}$  corresponding to the partition  $\eta$  (see Theorem 2.2).

We define a transfer operator R on the standard measure space  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  by setting

$$R(f)(x) := \int_{C_x} f(y) \, d\mu_{C_x}(y) \tag{3.6}$$

where  $C_x$  is the element of  $\eta$  containing x. The domain of R is  $L^1(\mu)$  in this example.

As was shown in [38], the operator  $R : L^1(\mu) \to L^1(\mu)$  defined by (3.6) is a *transfer operator*, i.e., it satisfies the relation

$$R((f \circ \sigma)g)(x) = f(x)(Rg)(x).$$

To see that our definition of the operator *R* given in (3.2) agrees with (3.6), it suffices to take the measurable partition  $\eta$  of  $V \times V$  into subsets  $\{\pi_1^{-1}(x) : x \in V\}$  where  $\pi_1$  is the projection of  $V \times V$  onto *V*.

**Remark 3.3** In this remark we make several comments about the basic properties of the operators R, P, and  $\Delta$ .

- The definition of each of the operators *R*, *P*, and Δ depends on a symmetric measure ρ, and, strictly speaking, they must be denoted as *R*(ρ), *P*(ρ), and Δ(ρ). Since most of our results are proved for a fixed measure ρ, we will drop this variable. Below in this section, we discuss the relationships between *P*(ρ) and *P*(ρ') when ρ and ρ' are equivalent symmetric measures.
- (2) The operators *R* and *P* are *positive* in the sense that  $R(f) \ge 0$  and  $P(f) \ge 0$  whenever  $f \ge 0$ . Moreover, if f = 1, then P(1) = 1 because every measure  $P(x, \cdot)$  is probability. Hence, *P* is a *Markov operator*.
- (3) The properties of the graph Laplace operator ∆ are formulated in Proposition 3.7, which is given below. All statements from this theorem are proved in [1] (see also [39, 40]). Other aspects of graph Laplace operators in the context of measure spaces are discussed in [41, 42].
- (4) Since every measure ρ on V × V is uniquely determined by its values on a dense subset of functions, it suffices to define ρ on the set of the so-called "cylinder functions" (f ⊗ g)(x, y) := f(x)g(y). This observation will be used below when we prove a relation for cylinder functions first.
- (5) In general, a positive operator R in  $\mathcal{F}(V, \mathcal{B})$  is called *symmetric* if it satisfies the relation:

$$\int_{V} fR(g) d\mu = \int_{V} R(f)g d\mu, \qquad (3.7)$$

for any  $f, g \in F(V, B)$ . It turns out that any symmetric operator R defines a symmetric measure  $\rho$ . Indeed, the functional

$$\rho: (f,g) \mapsto \int_{V} f(x)R(g)(x) \, d\mu(x), \qquad f,g \in F(V,\mathcal{B}), \tag{3.8}$$

determines a measure on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  such that

$$\rho(A \times B) = \int_V \chi_A(x) R(\chi_B)(x) \, d\mu(x).$$

As shown in [1], the operator *R* is symmetric if and only if the measure  $\rho$ , defined in (3.8), is symmetric.

In Definition 3.1, we do not discuss domains of the operators R, P, and  $\Delta$ . It depends on the space where an operator is considered. In the current paper, we work with  $L^2$ -Hilbert spaces defined by the measures  $\mu$ ,  $\nu$ , and  $\rho$ . But the most intriguing is the case of the finite energy space Hilbert space  $h_E$ . We discuss the properties of this space as well as those of operators  $\Delta$  and P acting in  $\mathcal{H}_E$  in the forthcoming paper [43]. On the other hand, we have already proved a number of results about these objects in [1]. We find it useful to give here the definitions and some formulas which are used below.

We remark that the finite energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ , see Definition 3.4 can be viewed as a generalization of the energy space considered for discrete weighted networks. They have been extensively studied during last decades.

**Definition 3.4** Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be a standard measure space with  $\sigma$ -finite measure  $\mu$ . Suppose that  $\rho$  is a symmetric measure on the Cartesian product  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . We say that a Borel function  $f : V \to \mathbb{R}$  belongs to the *finite energy space*  $\mathcal{H}_E = \mathcal{H}_E(\rho)$  if

$$\iint_{V \times V} (f(x) - f(y))^2 \, d\rho(x, y) < \infty. \tag{3.9}$$

#### Remark 3.5

- (1) It follows from Definition 3.4 that  $\mathcal{H}_E$  is a vector space containing all constant functions. We identify functions  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  such that  $f_1 f_2 = const$  and, with some abuse of notation, the quotient space is also denoted by  $\mathcal{H}_E$ . So that, we will call elements f of  $\mathcal{H}_E$  functions assuming that a representative of the equivalence class f is considered.
- (2) Definition 3.4 assumes that a symmetric irreducible measure  $\rho$  is fixed on ( $V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B}$ ). This means that the space of functions f on ( $V, \mathcal{B}$ ) satisfying (3.9) depends on  $\rho$ , and, to stress this fact, we will use also the notation  $\mathcal{H}_E(\rho)$ .

Define the norm in  $\mathcal{H}_E$  by setting

$$||f||_{\mathcal{H}_E}^2 := \frac{1}{2} \iint_{V \times V} (f(x) - f(y))^2 \, d\rho(x, y), \quad f \in \mathcal{H},$$
(3.10)

As proved in [1],  $\mathcal{H}_E$  is a *Hilbert space* with respect to the norm  $|| \cdot ||_{\mathcal{H}_E}$ .

The description of the structure of the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_E$  is a very intriguing problem. We give here a few results proved in [1].

**Theorem 3.6** Let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  such that  $\mu = \rho \circ \pi_1^{-1}$ . Suppose  $c(x) = \rho_x(V)$  is locally integrable with respect to  $\mu$ .

(1) For the measure  $dv(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$ , we have

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{fin}}(\mu) \subset \mathcal{D}_{\mathrm{fin}}(\nu) \subset \mathcal{H}_E.$$

*Moreover, if*  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(v)$ *, then* 

$$||\chi_A||_{\mathcal{H}_E}^2 = \rho(A \times A^c) \le \int_A c(x) \, d\mu(x) = \nu(A), \tag{3.11}$$

where  $A^c := V \setminus A$ .

- (2) For every  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ , one has  $\|\chi_A\|_{\mathcal{H}_E} = \|\chi_{A^c}\|_{\mathcal{H}_E}$ . The function  $\chi_A$  is in  $\mathcal{H}_E$  if and only if either  $\mu(A) < \infty$  or  $\mu(A^c) < \infty$ .
- (3) The finite energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$  admits the decomposition into the orthogonal sum

$$\mathcal{H} = \overline{\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\mu)} \oplus \mathcal{H}arm_E \tag{3.12}$$

where the closure of  $\mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu)$  is taken in the norm of the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ .

In the following statement we return to the  $L^2$ -spaces, and following [1], we formulate a number of properties of the operators, R, P, and  $\Delta$  that clarify their essence. Here, we focus on the properties of these operators related to  $L^2$ -spaces. In the next paper [43], we will mostly consider these operators acting in the finite energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ .

**Proposition 3.7** Let  $dv(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$  be the  $\sigma$ -finite measure on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  where  $\mu$  and  $c(x) = \rho_x(V)$  are defined as above. Let the operators R, P, and  $\Delta$  be defined as in Definition 3.1.

(1) Suppose that the function  $x \mapsto \rho_x(A) \in L^2(\mu)$  for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}$ . Then R is a symmetric unbounded operator in  $L^2(\mu)$ , i.e.,

$$\langle g, R(f) \rangle_{L^2(\mu)} = \langle R(g), f \rangle_{L^2(\mu)}.$$

If  $c \in L^{\infty}(\mu)$ , then  $R : L^{2}(\mu) \to L^{2}(\mu)$  is a bounded operator, and

$$||R||_{L^2(\mu)\to L^2(\mu)} \le ||c||_{\infty}.$$

(2) The operator  $R: L^1(v) \to L^1(\mu)$  is contractive, i.e.,

$$||R(f)||_{L^{1}(\mu)} \le ||f||_{L^{1}(\nu)}, \qquad f \in L^{1}(\nu).$$

*Moreover, for any function*  $f \in L^1(v)$ *, the formula* 

$$\int_{V} R(f) \, d\mu(x) = \int_{V} f(x)c(x) \, d\mu(x)$$
(3.13)

holds. In other words,  $v = \mu R$ , and

$$\frac{d(\mu R)}{d\mu}(x) = c(x).$$

- (3) The bounded operator  $P : L^2(v) \to L^2(v)$  is self-adjoint. Moreover, vP = v where  $dv(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$ .
- (4) The operator P considered in the spaces  $L^2(v)$  and  $L^1(v)$  is contractive, i.e.,

$$||P(f)||_{L^{2}(\nu)} \le ||f||_{L^{2}(\nu)}, \qquad ||P(f)||_{L^{1}(\nu)} \le ||f||_{L^{1}(\nu)}.$$

- (5) Spectrum of P in  $L^2(v)$  is a subset of [-1, 1].
- (6) The graph Laplace operator  $\Delta : L^2(\mu) \to L^2(\mu)$  is a positive definite essentially self-adjoint operator with domain containing  $\mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu)$ . Moreover,

$$||f||_{\mathcal{H}_E}^2 = \int_V f\Delta(f) \, d\mu$$

when the integral in the right hand side exists.

**Definition 3.8** A function  $f \in \mathcal{F}(V, \mathcal{B})$  is called *harmonic*, if Pf = f. Equivalently, f is harmonic if  $\Delta f = 0$  or R(f) = cf. Similarly, h is *harmonic* for a kernel  $x \to k(x, \cdot)$  if

$$\int_{V} h(y) k(x, dy) = h(x).$$

*Question* As was mentioned above, the definition of operators  $R(\rho)$ ,  $P(\rho)$ , and  $\Delta(\rho)$  is based on a symmetric measure  $\rho$  defined on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . Suppose that another symmetric measure,  $\rho'$ , which is equivalent to  $\rho$ , is defined on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . It would be interesting to find out what relations between  $(R(\rho), P(\rho), \Delta(\rho))$  and  $(R(\rho'), P(\rho'), \Delta(\rho'))$  exist. Possibly, this question can be made more precise

if we require that both  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  are supported by the same symmetric set *E* and disintegrated with respect to the same measure  $\mu$  on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ .

**Remark 3.9** In our further results, the following sets of functions will play an important role. Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -measure space, and  $\rho$  a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  satisfying Assumption 1. Then the measure  $dv(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$  is defined on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  and is equivalent to  $\mu$  where  $c(x) = R(\mathbb{1})(x)$ . We define  $\mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu)$  as in (2.2), and, similarly, we set

$$\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\nu) := \{ A \in \mathcal{B} : \nu(A) < \infty \},$$
$$\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\nu) := \text{Span}\{ \chi_A : A \in \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\nu) \}.$$

It is straightforward to check that Assumption 1 implies

$$\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\mu) \subset \mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\nu).$$

In general, the converse does not hold. But these two sets coincide if and only if Assumption 1 is extended by adding the reverse implication

$$\int_A c(x) \ d\mu(x) \implies \mu(A) < \infty.$$

# 3.2 Embedding Operator J

We define now a natural embedding J of bounded Borel functions over  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  into bounded Borel functions over  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . The operator J will be considered later acting on the corresponding  $L^2$ -spaces.

Let

$$(Jf)(x, y) = f(x), \quad f \in \mathcal{F}(V, \mathcal{B}).$$
 (3.14)

If  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  is equipped with a  $\sigma$ -finite measure  $\mu$  (or  $\nu = c\mu$ ), we can specify J as an operator with domain  $L^2(\mu)$  or  $L^2(\nu)$ ).

**Theorem 3.10** For given  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure  $\rho$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  and  $c(x) = \rho_x(V)$ . Then:

(1) the operator  $J : L^2(v) \to L^2(\rho)$  is an isometry where  $dv(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$ ;

(2) the co-isometry  $J^*: L^2(\rho) \to L^2(\nu)$  acts by the formula

$$(J^*g)(x) = \int_V g(x, y) P(x, dy), \qquad g \in L^2(\rho);$$

(3) the operator  $J : L^2(\mu) \to L^2(\rho)$  is densely defined (in  $L^2(\mu)$ ) and is, in general, unbounded.

#### Proof

(1) This fact is proved by the following computation: for any  $f \in L^2(\nu)$ , one has

$$\begin{aligned} ||(Jf)||_{L^{2}(\rho)}^{2} &= \iint_{V \times V} (Jf)^{2}(x, y) \, d\rho(x, y) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} f^{2}(x) \, d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} f^{2}(x) c(x) \, d\mu(x) \\ &= ||f||_{L^{2}(\nu)}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

(2) To find the co-isometry  $J^*$ , we take arbitrary functions  $f \in L^2(\nu)$  and  $g \in L^2(\rho)$  and compute the inner product using the equality  $c(x)P(x, dy) = d\rho_x(y)$ :

$$\begin{split} \langle Jf,g\rangle_{L^2(\rho)} &= \iint_{V\times V} (Jf)(x,y)g(x,y) \, d\rho(x,y) \\ &= \int_V f(x) \left( \int_V g(x,y) \, d\rho_x(y) \right) d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_V f(x) \left( \int_V g(x,y) \, P(x,dy) \right) d\nu(x) \\ &= \langle f,J^*g\rangle_{L^2(\nu)}, \end{split}$$

where  $J^*g = \int_V g(x, y) P(x, dy)$ . This proves (2).

(3) To show that (3) holds, we take a Borel function  $f \in L^2(\mu)$  and note that

$$||Jf||_{L^{2}(\rho)}^{2} = \iint_{V \times V} f^{2}(x) \, d\rho_{x} d\mu(x) = \int_{V} f^{2}(x) c(x) \, d\mu(x). \tag{3.15}$$

In particular, we have, for  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ ,

$$||J(\chi_A)||^2_{L^2(\rho)} = \int_A c(x) \ d\mu(x),$$

that is, assuming that c is locally integrable, we see that J is well defined on a dense subset of  $L^2(\mu)$ . Formula (3.15) shows that, for general c, the operator  $J : L^2(\mu) \to L^2(\rho)$  is not bounded.

### 4 Equivalence of Symmetric Measures

In this section we focus on the question about relations of Markov operators, and Laplacians, arising from equivalent symmetric measures.

### 4.1 Equivalence of Markov Operators

Let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  which is disintegrated by fiber measures  $x \mapsto \rho_x$  over the measure  $\mu = \rho \circ \pi^{-1}$ . As above, define transition probabilities  $x \mapsto P(x, \cdot)$  by setting  $c(x)^{-1}d\rho_x(\cdot) = P(x, \cdot)$  where  $c(x) = \rho_x(V)$ . In other words,  $P(x, A) = P(\chi_A)(x)$  where *P* is the Markov operator, see (3.3).

Having the operator *P* defined, one can construct a stationary Markov process. Let  $\Omega = V \times V \times V \times \cdots = V^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ . For  $\omega = (\omega_n) \in \Omega$ , set

$$X_n: \Omega \to V: X_n(\omega) = \omega_n, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

These notions are studied in detail in Sect. 5. Here we mention only the notion of *reversibility*, one of the most important properties of Markov operators (processes).

#### **Definition 4.1**

(1) A kernel  $x \mapsto k(x, \cdot)$  is called *reversible* with respect to a measure  $\mu$  on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ , if for any bounded Borel function f(x, y),

$$\iint_{V \times V} f(x, y)k(x, dy)d\mu(x) = \iint_{V \times V} f(y, x)k(x, dy)d\mu(x)$$

(2) Suppose that x → P(x, ·) is a measurable family of transition probabilities on the space (V, B, μ), and let P be the Markov operator determined by x → P(x, ·). It is said that the corresponding Markov process is *reversible* with respect to a measurable functions c : V → (0, ∞) if, for any sets A, B ∈ B, the following relation holds:

$$\int_{B} c(x)P(x,A) \, d\mu(x) = \int_{A} c(x)P(x,B) \, d\mu(x). \tag{4.1}$$

Denoting  $dv(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$ , we can rewrite (4.1) in the form that will be used below.

$$\int_V \chi_B(x) P(x, A) \, d\nu(x) = \int_V \chi_A(x) P(x, B) \, d\nu(x).$$

The following result clarifies relationship between symmetric measures  $\rho$  and reversible Markov processes. This lemma is a part of more general statement, see Theorem 5.3.

**Lemma 4.2** Let  $\rho = \int_V \rho_x d\mu$  be a measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  such that  $c(x) = \rho_x(V) < \infty$  for all x. Suppose that the Markov operator P is defined according to (3.3). Then the following are equivalent:

- (i)  $\rho$  is symmetric;
- (ii) (P, c) is reversible.

In what follows, we will focus on the following *question*: suppose that  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  are two *equivalent* symmetric measures such that the corresponding Markov processes (P, c) and (P', c') are reversible. How are they related? More generally, we can ask about relations between all objects whose definition was based on a symmetric measure. They are the Laplacian  $\Delta$ , symmetric operator R, and finite energy Hilbert space. Some partial answers are given in this and subsequent sections.

**Definition 4.3** Let (P, c) be a pair consisting of a positive measurable function c(x) on  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  and a reversible Markov process  $P(x, \cdot)$  satisfying Definition 4.1. We will say that two such pairs (P, c) and (P', c') are *equivalent* if the corresponding symmetric measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  are equivalent as measures on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  (see Theorem 5.3). The latter means that there exists a positive measurable function r(x, y) such that

$$d\rho'(x, y) = r(x, y)d\rho(x, y).$$

If the equivalent measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  satisfy the property  $\mu = \rho \circ \pi_1^{-1} = \rho' \circ \pi_1^{-1}$ , then we call the pairs (P, c) and (P', c') strongly equivalent. In this case, we also call the measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  strongly equivalent.

#### Remark 4.4

- (1) The symmetry of equivalent measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  implies that the function r(x, y) is symmetric, r(x, y) = r(y, x).
- (2) Let the measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be strongly equivalent. Then these measures are disintegrated as follows:

$$\rho' = \int_V \rho'_x d\mu(x), \qquad \rho = \int_V \rho_x d\mu(x)$$

It can be seen that the equivalence of  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  implies that the measures  $\rho_x$  and  $\rho'_x$  are equivalent  $\mu$ -a.e. Moreover,

$$\frac{d\rho'_x}{d\rho_x}(y) = r_x(y) \tag{4.2}$$

where  $r_x(\cdot)$  is obtained from  $r(x, \cdot)$  by fixing the variable x.

(3) Conversely, given two (strongly) equivalent measures ρ and ρ', we can construct (strongly) equivalent pairs (P, c) and (P', c') according to the properties formulated in Lemma 4.2 and Theorem 5.3. In other words, if (P, c) defines a reversible Markov process with the symmetric measure ρ, then, for any symmetric measure ρ' equivalent to ρ, we can construct a reversible Markov process (P', c') which is equivalent to (P, c). Note that the functions c(x) = ρ<sub>x</sub>(V) and c'(x) = ρ'<sub>x</sub>(V) are determined by ρ and ρ' uniquely.

One can prove a more general statement than that given in Remark 4.4 (2).

**Lemma 4.5** Let  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be two symmetric measures on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  such that  $d\rho'(x, y) = r(x, y)d\rho(x, y)$ . Suppose that

$$\rho' = \int_V \rho'_x d\mu'(x), \qquad \rho = \int_V \rho_x d\mu(x)$$

and the measures  $\mu$  and  $\mu'$  on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  are equivalent, i.e.,  $m(x)d\mu'(x) = d\mu(x)$  for some positive Borel function m(x). Then the measures  $\rho'_x$  and  $\rho_x$  are equivalent a.e. on V, and

$$\frac{d\rho'_x}{d\rho_x}(y) = m(x)r_x(y).$$
(4.3)

*Proof* (*Sketch*) The result is deduced as follows:

$$\rho'(A \times B) = \iint_{A \times B} r(x, y) \, d\rho(x, y)$$
$$= \iint_{A \times B} r(x, y) \, d\rho_x(y) d\mu(x)$$
$$= \int_A \left( \int_B m(x) r(x, y) \, d\rho_x(y) \right) d\mu'(x)$$

On the other hand,

$$\rho'(A \times B) = \int_A \rho'_x(B) \ d\mu'(x).$$

Comparing the above formulas, we obtain that (4.3) holds.

Consider a particular case when the Radon-Nikodym derivative r(x, y) of two equivalent measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  is the product p(x)q(y).

**Lemma 4.6** Let  $\rho = \int \rho_x d\mu(x)$  and  $\rho' = \int \rho'_x d\mu'(x)$  be two measures on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  such that

$$\frac{d\rho'}{d\rho}(x, y) = p(x)q(y)$$

for some positive Borel functions p and q. Then, for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $x \in V$ , the Radon-Nikodym derivative  $\frac{d\rho'_x(y)}{d\rho_x(y)}$  satisfies the relation

$$\frac{1}{q(y)}\frac{d\rho'_x(y)}{d\rho_x(y)} = \varphi(x) \tag{4.4}$$

where

$$\varphi(x) = p(x)\frac{d\mu}{d\mu'}(x).$$

*Proof* The result can be easily deduced from the formula

$$d\rho'_x(y)d\mu'(x) = p(x)q(y)d\rho_x(y)d\mu(x).$$

We leave the details to the reader.

Relation (4.4) means that the Radon-Nikodym derivative  $\frac{d\rho'_x}{d\rho_x}(y)$  is proportional to the function q(y) where the coefficient of proportionality is given by  $\varphi(x)$ . If  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  are symmetric measures, then  $\frac{d\rho'}{d\rho}(x, y) = p(x)p(y)$ .

**Theorem 4.7** Let  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be two strongly equivalent measures on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  such that  $d\rho'_x = r_x(y)d\rho_x(y)$  for all  $x \in V$ . Then the corresponding Markov processes (P, c) and (P', c') are strongly equivalent and

$$P'(f)(x) = \frac{P(fr_x)(x)}{P(r_x)(x)}.$$
(4.5)

**Proof** We first find  $P(r_x)$ :

$$P(r_x)(x) = \int_V \frac{d\rho'_x}{d\rho_x}(y) P(x, dy)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{c(x)} \int_V \frac{d\rho'_x}{d\rho_x}(y) d\rho_x(y)$   
=  $\frac{1}{c(x)} \int_V d\rho'_x(y)$  (4.6)  
=  $\frac{c'(x)}{c(x)}$ .

Next, we compute

$$P'(f)(x) = \int_{V} f(y) P'(x, dy)$$
$$= \frac{1}{c'(x)} \int_{V} f(y) d\rho'_{x}(y)$$
$$= \frac{1}{c'(x)} \int_{V} f(y)r_{x}(y) d\rho_{x}(y)$$
$$= \frac{c(x)}{c'(x)} \int_{V} f(y)r_{x}(y) dP(x, dy)$$
$$= \frac{c(x)}{c'(x)} P(fr_{x})(x)$$

Now, the result follows from (4.6).

### Remark 4.8

(1) Let the symmetric measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be strongly equivalent,  $d\rho'_x(y) = r_x(y)d\rho_x(y)$ . As in (4.6), we can obtain that

$$P'\left(\frac{1}{r_x}\right)(x) = \frac{c(x)}{c'(x)}.$$

Therefore, the following property holds:

$$P(r_x)(x)P'\left(\frac{1}{r_x}\right)(x) = 1$$

(2) Since the notion of equivalence of measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  is symmetric, we note that the roles of *P* and *P'* can be interchanged and the following relation holds:

$$P(f)(x) = \frac{P'\left(f\frac{1}{r_x}\right)(x)}{P'\left(\frac{1}{r_x}\right)(x)}.$$

(3) It follows from the strong equivalence of  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  that  $r_x(y)$  is integrable with respect to  $\rho_x$  and

$$c'(x) = \int_V r_x(y) \, d\rho_x(y).$$

(4) Several useful formulas can be easily deduced from Theorem 4.7. Firstly, formula (4.5) can be rewritten in the form

$$P(fr_x)(x) = c'(x)P'(f)(x)c(x)^{-1},$$
(4.7)

and equivalently, the latter is represented as a relation between Markov kernels:

$$c'(x)P'(x, dy) = c(x)r_x(y)P(x, dy).$$

(5) The same proof as in Theorem 4.7 shows that

$$R'(f)(x) = R(fr_x)(x).$$

(6) In more general setting, assuming that  $d\rho'_x(y) = m(x)r_x(y)d\rho_x(y)$  where m(x) is as in (4.3), we deduce that

$$P(fr_x)(x)m(x) = c'(x)P'(f)(x)c(x)^{-1}.$$

Similarly, one can show that

$$R'(f)(x) = m(x)R(fr_x)(x)$$

where the operator R' is defined by  $x \mapsto \rho'_x$ .

(7) Suppose that, for given pair (P, c), the operator P' is defined by (4.7), and let dv'(x) = c'(x)dµ(x). Then we claim that v'P' = v':

$$\begin{split} \int_{V} P'(f)(x) \, dv'(x) &= \int_{V} c(x) P(fr_x)(x) c'(x)^{-1} c'x) \, d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} P(fr_x)(x) \, dv(x) \\ &= \int_{V} \left( \int_{V} (fr_x)(y) P(x, dy) \right) \, dv(x) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} f(y) \frac{d\rho'_x}{d\rho_x}(y) c(x)^{-1} d\rho_x(y) c(x) d\mu(x) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} f(y) \, d\rho'_x(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} f(x) \, d\rho'(x, y) \\ &= \int_{V} f(x) c'(x) \, d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} f(x) \, dv'(x). \end{split}$$

# 4.2 On the Laplacians $\Delta$ and $\Delta'$

In the remaining part of this section, we will discuss relations between the Laplace operators  $\Delta$  and  $\Delta'$  acting in the finite energy Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{H}_E(\rho)$  and  $\mathcal{H}_E(\rho')$  respectively.

Let  $\Delta'(f)$  be the Laplace operator defined by a symmetric measure  $\rho'$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . We can find out how  $\Delta'$  and  $\Delta$  are related.

**Proposition 4.9** Let  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be two equivalent symmetric measures on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  such that  $d\rho'(x, y) = q(x)q(y)d\rho(x, y)$ . Then

$$\Delta'(f) = cqf(P(q) - q) + q\Delta(qf).$$

In particular, when q is harmonic for P, then

$$\Delta'(f) = q \,\Delta(qf). \tag{4.8}$$

Moreover,

$$\Delta'(f) = 0 \iff P(qf) = f P(q),$$

and assuming that P(q) = q, we have

$$f \in \mathcal{H}arm(\Delta') \iff qf \in \mathcal{H}arm(\Delta).$$

#### Proof

(1) By definition of the operator  $\Delta$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta'(f)(x) &= \int_{V} (f(x) - f(y)) \, d\rho'_{x}(y) \\ &= \int_{V} (f(x) - f(y))q(x)q(y) \, d\rho_{x}(y) \\ &= \int_{V} (f(x) - f(y))c(x)q(x)q(y) \, dP(x, dy) \\ &= c(x)q(x)f(x) \int_{V} q(y) \, P(x, dy) - c(x)q(x) \int_{V} q(y)f(y) \, P(x, dy) \\ &= c(x)q(x) \left[ f(x)P(q)(x) - P(qf)(x) \right]. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.9)$$

Add and subtract  $cq^2 f$  to the right hand side of (4.9). Then, regrouping the terms, we obtain

$$\Delta'(f) = cq[qf - P(qf)] + cqf(P(q) - q) = q\Delta(qf) + cqf(P(q) - q).$$

This means that, in case when P(q) = q, the Laplace operators  $\Delta$  and  $\Delta'$  are related as in (4.8).

(2) Now we can apply (1) to prove the formulas given in (2). From the last expression in (4.9), we see that f is harmonic with respect to  $\Delta'$  if and only if P(qf) = f P(q).

**Corollary 4.10** Let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , and let q be a harmonic function for the Markov operator P generated by  $\rho$ . Define the symmetric measure  $\rho'$  such that  $d\rho'(x, y) = q(x)q(y)d\rho(x, y)$ . Let P' be the corresponding Markov operator produced by  $\rho'$ . Then we have the map

$$\mathcal{H}arm(P') \times \mathcal{H}arm(P) \ni (f,q) \mapsto fq \in \mathcal{H}arm(P).$$

**Proof** It follows from the definition of the measure  $\rho'$  that

$$c'(x) = \int_{V} d\rho'_{x}(y) = \int_{V} q(x)q(y) d\rho_{x}(y) = q(x)R(q)(x).$$

Since q is harmonic, i.e., R(q) = cq, we obtain that

$$c'(x) = c(x)q^2(x).$$
 (4.10)

Let f be any function harmonic with respect to the operator P'. Then

$$f(x) = \int_{V} f(y) P'(x, dy)$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{c'(x)} \int_{V} f(y) d\rho'_{x}(y)$   
=  $\frac{q(x)}{c'(x)} \int_{V} f(y)q(y)d\rho_{x}(y)$   
=  $\frac{q(x)}{c'(x)} \int_{V} f(y)q(y)c(x)P(x, dy)$   
=  $\frac{q(x)c(x)}{c'(x)}P(qf)(x)$ 

It follows from (4.10) that  $f = q^{-1}P(qf)$ , and we are done.

We remark that in the proved statement we temporarily extended the notion of symmetric measures to the case of *signed symmetric measures* assuming that the P-harmonic function q can be negative.

**Theorem 4.11** Suppose that  $\rho'$  and  $\rho$  are two symmetric measures such that  $d\rho'(x, y) = q(x)q(y)d\rho(x, y)$ . If q is harmonic for the Laplace operator  $\Delta$ , then the operator

$$Q: \mathcal{H}_E(\rho') \to \mathcal{H}_E(\rho): Q(f) = qf$$

is an isometry.

**Proof** We need to show that, for any  $f \in \mathcal{H}_E(\rho')$ ,

$$||f||_{\mathcal{H}_E(\rho')} = ||qf||_{\mathcal{H}_E(\rho)}.$$

In the computation given below, we use the following: the definition of the norm in the finite energy space, the symmetry of the measures  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$ , and the relation R(q) = cq that holds for harmonic functions because

$$\Delta(q)(x) = c(x)q(x) - R(q)(x).$$

Then we compute

$$\begin{split} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}_{E}(\rho')}^{2} - ||qf||_{\mathcal{H}_{E}(\rho)}^{2} &= \frac{1}{2} \iint_{V \times V} (f(x) - f(y))^{2} d\rho'(x, y) \\ &- \iint_{V \times V} (q(x) f(x) - q(y) f(y))^{2} d\rho(x, y) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} [(f(x) - f(y))^{2} q(x) q(y) \\ &- (q(x) f(x) - q(y) f(y))^{2}] d\rho(x, y) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} [f^{2}(x) q(x) q(y) - q^{2}(x) f^{2}(x)] \\ &+ [f^{2}(y) q(x) q(y) - q^{2}(y) f^{2}(y)] d\rho(x, y) \\ &= 2 \iint_{V \times V} [f^{2}(x) q(x) q(y) - q^{2}(x) f^{2}(x)] d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= 2 \int_{V} f^{2}(x) q(x) [R(q)(x) - c(x) q(x)] d\mu(x) \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

This computation shows that  $Q(f) = qf \in \mathcal{H}_E(\rho)$  and Q preserves the norm.  $\Box$ 

Continuing the above theme, consider the Laplace operator  $\Delta$  acting in  $L^2(\mu)$ . We recall that  $\Delta : L^2(\mu) \to L^2(\mu)$  is a positive definite self-adjoint operator according to Proposition 3.7.

**Proposition 4.12** Suppose  $\rho$  is a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  and the Laplacian  $\Delta = \Delta(\rho)$  is defined by (3.4). Let q and f be functions on  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  from the domain of  $\Delta$  such that qf is also in the domain of  $\Delta$ . Then

$$\int_{V} \Delta(qf) \, d\mu = \int_{V} q \, \Delta(f) \, d\mu - \int_{V} f \, \Delta(q) \, d\mu. \tag{4.11}$$

If q and f are in  $L^2(\mu)$ , then  $\int_V \Delta(qf) d\mu = 0$ . **Proof** By definition of  $\Delta$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta(qf) &= \int_{V} [(qf(x) - qf(y)] \, d\rho_x(y) \\ &= \int_{V} (q(x)f(x) - q(x)f(y) + q(x)f(y) - q(y)f(y)) \, d\rho_x(y) \\ &= q(x)\Delta(f) - \int_{V} f(y)(q(x) - q(y)) \, d\rho_x(y) \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \int_{V} \Delta(qf)(x) \ d\mu(x) &= \int_{V} q \,\Delta(f) \ d\mu(x) + \iint_{V \times V} f(y)(q(x) - q(y)) \ d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} q \,\Delta(f) \ d\mu(x) + \iint_{V \times V} f(x)(q(y) - q(x)) \ d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} q \,\Delta(f) \ d\mu(x) - \int_{V} f \,\Delta(q) \ d\mu(x) \end{split}$$

and (4.11) is proved.

If the functions q and f are in  $L^2(\mu)$  (in particular, q and f can be taken from the dense subset  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\mu)$ ), then we can use the fact that  $\Delta$  is essentially self-adjoint and conclude that

$$\int_{V} \Delta(qf)(x) \ d\mu(x) = \langle q, \Delta(f) \rangle_{L^{2}(\mu)} - \langle \Delta(q), f \rangle_{L^{2}(\mu)} = 0.$$

We immediately deduce the following fact from Proposition 4.12.

#### **Corollary 4.13**

(1) If functions f and  $f^2$  are in the domain of  $\Delta$ , then

$$\int_{V} \Delta(f^2) \, d\mu = 0.$$

(2) If f is a harmonic function for  $\Delta$ , then  $\Delta(f^2) = 0$ , and therefore  $f^2$  is also harmonic.

#### Proof

(1) is an obvious consequence of Proposition 4.12. To show that (2) holds, we use that  $\Delta(f) = c(f - P(f))$  and P is a positive operator. This means that  $P(f) \ge 0$  whenever  $f \ge 0$ . By Schwarz' inequality for positive operators, we have  $P(f^2)(x) \ge P(f)^2(x)$ , and therefore

$$\Delta(f^2) = c(f^2 - P(f^2))$$
  
$$\leq c(f^2 - P(f)^2)$$
  
$$= c(f - P(f))(f + P(f))$$
  
$$= 0.$$

The fact that  $f^2$  is harmonic follows from (1) and the proved inequality in (2).

# 5 Reversible Markov Process Generated by Symmetric Measures

In this section, we consider Markov processes generated by a Markov operator which is determined by a symmetric irreducible measure  $\rho$  on the standard Borel space  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  such that the margin measure  $\mu$  on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  is  $\sigma$ -finite. Our first theme is *reversible Markov processes*. For the benefit of non-specialist readers, we cite the following sources: [44–46]. We refer also to [47–49]. In the second part of this section, we will assume that this Markov process is *transient* (see the definition below). The reader can find vast literature on the theory of transient Markov processes, we refer to [17–19, 50–57].

### 5.1 Reversible Markov Processes

Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space, and let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  which is disintegrated with respect to  $(\rho_x, x \in V)$  and  $\mu$ according to (2.5). By assumption,  $c(x) = \rho_x(V)$  is locally integrable. We recall (see Definition 3.1) that, in this setting, a Markov operator P is defined on  $\mathcal{F}(V, \mathcal{B})$ by the probability kernel  $x \mapsto P(x, \cdot)$ . This operator P acts by the formula

$$P(f)(x) = \int_{V} f(y) P(x, dy)$$
 (5.1)

where  $P(x, dy) = c(x)^{-1} d\rho_x(y)$ . Then the operator *P* is positive and normalized, i.e.,  $P(\mathbb{1}) = \mathbb{1}$ . As mentioned above in Proposition 3.7, the fact that  $\rho$  is symmetric is equivalent to self-adjointness of *P* as an operator in  $L^2(\nu)$ . It follows also that *P* preserves the measure  $\nu = c\mu$ . Furthermore, we can use the kernel  $x \rightarrow P(x, \cdot) = P_1(x, \cdot)$  to define the sequence of probability kernels (transition probabilities)  $(P_n(x, \cdot) : n \in \mathbb{N})$  in accordance with (2.4). These kernels satisfy the equality

$$P_{n+m}(x, A) = \int_{V} P_n(y, A) P_m(x, dy), \qquad n, m \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Therefore one has

$$P^{n}(f)(x) = \int_{V} f(y) P_{n}(x, dy), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

and this relation defines the sequence of probability measures  $(P_n)$  by setting  $P_0(x, A) = \delta_A(x) = \chi_A(x)$  and

$$P_n(x, A) = P^n(\chi_A) = \int_V \chi_A(y) \ P_n(x, dy), \qquad A \in \mathcal{B}, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

We use the notation P(x, A) for  $P_1(x, A)$ .

For the Markov operator P, one can define one more sequence of measures. We use the formula

$$\rho_n(A \times B) = \langle \chi_A, P^n(\chi_B) \rangle_{L^2(\nu)}, \tag{5.2}$$

to define the measures  $\rho_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , on the Borel space  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  (here  $\rho_1 = \rho$ ).

#### Lemma 5.1

- (1) Every measure  $\rho_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$ , is symmetric on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , and  $\rho_n$  is equivalent to  $\rho$ .
- (2)  $\rho_x^{(n)}(V) = c(x), \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$

(3)

$$d\rho_n(x, y) = c(x)P_n(x, dy)d\mu(x) = P_n(x, dy)d\nu(x).$$
(5.3)

(4)

$$\rho_n(A \times B) = \langle \chi_A, RP^{n-1}(\chi_B) \rangle_{L^2(\mu)}$$

**Proof** The assertions of the lemma are rather obvious. We only mention two simple facts:  $\rho_n(A \times V) = \rho(A \times V)$  for every *n*, and, since the operator  $P^n$  is self-adjoint in  $L^2(v)$ , the measure  $\rho_n$  is symmetric.

**Definition 5.2** Suppose that  $x \mapsto P(x, \cdot)$  is a measurable family of transition probabilities on the space  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , and let *P* be the Markov operator determined by  $x \mapsto P(x, \cdot)$ . It is said that the corresponding Markov process is *reversible* with respect to a measurable function  $c : x \to (0, \infty)$  on  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  if, for any sets  $A, B \in \mathcal{B}$ , the following relation holds:

$$\int_{B} c(x)P(x,A) \, d\mu(x) = \int_{A} c(x)P(x,B) \, d\mu(x).$$
(5.4)

As shown in [1], the reversibility for the Markov process  $(P_n)$  is equivalent to the following properties (here we give an extended and more comprehensive formulation):

**Theorem 5.3** Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be a standard  $\sigma$ -finite measure space,  $x \mapsto c(x) \in (0, \infty)$  a measurable function,  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ . Suppose that  $x \mapsto P(x, \cdot)$  is a probability kernel. The following are equivalent:

- (i)  $x \mapsto P(x, \cdot)$  is reversible (i.e., it satisfies (5.4);
- (ii)  $x \to P_n(x, \cdot)$  is reversible for any  $n \ge 1$ ;
- (iii) the Markov operator P defined by  $x \to P(x, \cdot)$  is self-adjoint on  $L^2(v)$  and vP = v where  $dv(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$ ;

(iv)

$$c(x)P(x, dy)d\mu(x) = c(y)P(y, dx)d\mu(y)$$

- (v) the operator R defined by the relation R(f)(x) = c(x)P(f)(x) is symmetric (see Remark 3.3);
- (vi) the measure  $\rho$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  defined by

$$\rho(A \times B) = \int_{V} \chi_{A} R(\chi_{B}) \ d\mu = \int_{V} c(x) \chi_{A} P(\chi_{B}) \ d\mu$$

is symmetric;

(vii) for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the measure  $\rho_n$  defined by (5.2) is symmetric;

(viii) for any Borel sets  $A_1, \ldots, A_n \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ ,

$$\int_V \mathbb{P}_x(X_0 \in A_0, \dots, X_n \in A_n) \, d\nu(x) = \int_V \mathbb{P}_x(X_0 \in A_n, \dots, X_n \in A_0) \, d\nu(x),$$

where the random variables  $X_1, \ldots, X_n$  are defined below in Remark 5.4 (5) and the sets  $A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_n$  are written in the reverse order in the right hand side.

**Proof** We refer to [1] where most of these properties are discussed. We prove (*viii*) here. Indeed, it can be seen that

$$\int_{V} \mathbb{P}_{x}(X_{0} \in A_{0}, \dots, X_{n} \in A_{n}) \, d\nu(x) = \int_{V} \chi_{A_{0}} P(\chi_{A_{1}} P(\chi_{A_{2}} \cdots P(\chi_{A_{n}}) \cdots))(x) \, d\nu(x).$$
(5.5)

Since *P* is self-adjoint on  $L^2(\nu)$ , we can repeatedly use the relation  $\int_V f P(g) d\nu = \int_V P(f)g d\nu$  and rewrite (5.5) as follows:

$$\int_{V} \chi_{A_0} P(\chi_{A_1} P(\chi_{A_2} \cdots P(\chi_{A_n}) \cdots))(x) \, d\nu(x)$$
$$= \int_{V} \chi_{A_n} P(\chi_{A_{n-1}} P(\chi_{A_{n-2}} \cdots P(\chi_{A_0}) \cdots))(x) \, d\nu(x)$$
$$= \int_{V} \mathbb{P}_x(X_0 \in A_n, \dots, X_n \in A_0) \, d\nu(x).$$

The fact that property (*viii*) implies that *P* is reversible is proved by using the density of simple functions in  $L^2(v)$ .

We discuss the notion of reversibility in the following Remark where we included several direct consequences of Definition 4.1 and Theorem 5.3.

### Remark 5.4

(1) Let x → P(x, ·) be a Borel field of probability measures over a standard Borel space (V, B). This field of transition probabilities generates the Markov operator P such that P(1) = 1. It follows from Theorem 5.3 that one can define the notion of reversible Markov process x → P(x, ·) with respect to a σ-finite measure v: It is said that ((x → P(x, ·)), v) is *reversible* if P is a self-adjoint operator in L<sup>2</sup>(v). This definition is equivalent to the property

$$\int_{A} P(x, B) \, dv = \int_{B} P(x, A) \, dv.$$

Equally, one can consider the notion of reversibility for  $P(x, \cdot)$  with respect to a symmetric measure  $\rho$ . Theorem 5.3 states the equivalence of these approaches.
(2) Based on (1), the following *question* is raised naturally: Given  $x \mapsto P(x, \cdot)$  as above, under what condition the set

$$\mathcal{S}(P) := \{ v : P \text{ is self-adjoint in } L^2(v) \}$$

is non-empty?

- (3) The following observation is a direct consequence of Theorem 5.3. Let P(x, A) = P(χ<sub>A</sub>)(x) be the probability kernel defined by a normalized Markov operator P acting on Borel functions over (V, B, μ). To answer the question about the existence of a P-invariant measure v ~ μ such that (P, v) is reversible, it suffices to construct a locally integrable function c satisfying (5.4). It can be done by pointing out a symmetric measure ρ such that ρ<sub>x</sub>(V) = c(x) and the projection of ρ onto V is the measure μ.
- (4) There exists a stronger version of reversible Markov processes. Let *P* be a Markov operator acting on *F*(*V*, *B*) such that, for any *A*, *B* ∈ *B*<sub>fin</sub>(μ),

$$\chi_A P(\chi_B) = \chi_B P(\chi_A).$$

Then, for any positive Borel function  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ , the measure  $d\nu(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$  belongs to S(P). Indeed, it suffices to define the symmetric measure  $\rho$  according to Theorem 5.3 (vi) and then apply statement (ii).

(5) We give here one more interpretation of the definition of reversible Markov processes. For this, we use the notation to be introduced in Sect. 6. Let

$$\Omega = V \times V \times V \cdots$$

be the path space of the Markov process  $(P_n)$ , and let  $X_n : \Omega \to V$  be the random variable defined by  $X_n(\omega) = \omega_n$ . Given a measure  $\nu$  on V, we can reformulate the definition of reversible Markov operator as follows:

$$dist(X_0 | X_1 \in A) = dist(X_1 | X_0 \in A).$$

The meaning of the above formula is clarified in Proposition 6.4.

(6) Suppose now that a non-symmetric measure  $\rho$  is given on the space  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , i.e,  $\rho(A \times B) \neq \rho(B \times A)$ , in general. However, we will assume that  $\rho$  is equivalent to  $\rho \circ \theta$  where  $\theta(x, y) = (y, x)$ . Then, using the same approach as above, we can define the following objects: margin measures  $\mu_i := \rho \circ \pi_i^{-1}$ , i = 1, 2,, fiber measures  $d\rho_x(\cdot)$  and  $d\rho^x(\cdot)$  (see Remark 2.5), and functions  $c_1(x) = \rho_x(V)$ ,  $c_2(x) = \rho^x(V)$ .

Define now the symmetric measure  $\rho^{\#}$  generated by  $\rho$  as follows

$$\rho^{\#} := \frac{1}{2}(\rho + \rho \circ \theta).$$

Then

$$\rho^{\#}(A \times B) = \frac{1}{2}(\rho(A \times B) + \rho(B \times A)).$$

Clearly,  $\rho^{\#}$  is equivalent to  $\rho$ .

Let  $E \subset V \times V$  be the support of  $\rho$ . Then  $E^{\#} = E \cup \theta(E)$  is the support of the symmetric measure  $\rho^{\#}$ . The disintegration of  $\rho = \int_{V} \rho_{x} d\mu_{1}(x)$  with respect to the partition  $\{x\} \times E_{x}$  defines the disintegration of  $\rho^{\#}$ . For  $\mu^{\#} := \frac{1}{2}(\mu_{1} + \mu_{2})$ , we obtain that

$$\rho^{\#} = \int_V (\rho_x + \rho^x) \, d\mu^{\#}.$$

Having the symmetric measure  $\rho^{\#}$  defined on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , we can introduce the operators  $R^{\#}$  and  $P^{\#}$  as in (3.2) and (3.3). It turns out that, for  $f \in \mathcal{F}(V, \mathcal{B})$ ,

$$R^{\#}(f)(x) = R_1(f)(x) + R_2(f)(x)$$

where

$$R_1(f) = \int_V f(y) \, d\rho_x(y), \qquad R_2(f) = \int_V f(y) \, d\rho^x(y).$$

Similarly,

$$P^{\#}(f)(x) = \frac{1}{c^{\#}(x)} R^{\#}(f)(x)$$

where

$$c^{\#}(x) = \rho_x(V) + \rho^x(V).$$

Then we can define the measure  $d\nu^{\#}(x) = c^{\#}(x)d\mu(x)$  such that the operator

$$P^{\#}(f)(x) = \int_{V} f(y) \frac{1}{c^{\#}(x)} \, d\rho_{x}^{\#}(y)$$

is self-adjoint in  $L^2(v^{\#})$ . By Theorem 5.3, we obtain that the Markov process generated by  $x \mapsto P^{\#}(x, \cdot)$  is *reversible* where  $P^{\#}(x, A) = P^{\#}(\chi_A)(x)$ .

### 5.2 Properties of Markov Operators

In this subsection, we discuss some properties of the Markov operator P, which is defined by relation (3.3). The operator P is considered acting in Hilbert spaces  $L^{2}(\mu)$ ,  $L^{1}(\nu)$ , and  $\mathcal{H}_{E}$  where  $d\nu(x) = c(x)d\mu(x)$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{E}$  is the energy space.

We begin with the following simple observations whose proofs are obvious and can be omitted. Remind that  $\mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$  is the family of Borel subsets of finite measure  $\mu$ , and  $\mathcal{D}_{fin} = \mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu)$  is the linear subspace generated by the characteristic functions  $\chi_A$ ,  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ .

### Remark 5.5

(1) If  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ , then

$$\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\mu) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\nu).$$

The converse is not true.

(2) We observe that if both functions, c(x) and  $c(x)^{-1}$  are in  $L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ , then

$$\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\mu) = \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\nu).$$

(3) The following property holds for  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ :

$$\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\mu) \subset L^2(\mu) \cap L^2(\nu) \cap \mathcal{H}_E \tag{5.6}$$

(this should be understood that functions from  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}$  are representatives of elements from  $\mathcal{H}_E$ ).

(4) We recall that

$$\|\chi_A\|_{\mathcal{H}_F}^2 = \rho(A \times A^c) \tag{5.7}$$

where  $\rho$  is a symmetric measure used in the definition  $\mathcal{H}_E$ . This fact is proved in [1].

**Lemma 5.6** If  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ , then  $\mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu)$  is dense in  $L^1(\nu)$  and  $L^2(\nu)$ .

**Proof** (Sketch) We show the density of  $\mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu)$  in  $L^{1}(\nu)$  only. It suffices to check that, for every  $B \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\nu)$ , the characteristic function  $\chi_{B}$  can be approximated in  $L^{1}(\nu)$  by simple functions from  $\mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu)$ , i.e., for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists some  $s(x) \in \mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu)$  such that  $||\chi_{B} - s||_{L^{1}(\nu)} < \varepsilon$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $s(x) \leq \chi_{B}(x)$ . Then

$$||\chi_B - s||_{L^1(v)} = \int_V (\chi_B - s(x)) \, dv(x) = \int_B c(x)(1 - s(x)) \, d\mu(x).$$

Since *c* is  $\mu$ -integrable on *B*, one can take a subset  $B_0 \subset B$  such that

$$\int_B c \ d\mu - \int_{B_0} c \ d\mu < \varepsilon.$$

The result follows.

Next, let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , and let *P* be the operator acting on bounded Borel functions by the formula

$$P(f)(x) = \int_{V} f(y)P(x, dy)$$

where  $c(x)P(x, dy) = d\rho_x(y)$ .

In the next statement we collect several properties of the Markov operator P considered in various spaces.

**Proposition 5.7** Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , v, and  $\rho$  be as above. Then, for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ ,

- (a)  $P(\chi_A) \in L^1(\mu) \iff \frac{\rho_x(A)}{c(x)} \in L^1(\mu) \implies P(\chi_A) \in L^2(\mu);$
- (b) if the function  $x \mapsto \int_V c(y)^{-1} d\rho_x(y)$  is locally integrable, then P is a densely defined operator in  $L^2(\mu)$ ;
- (c) if  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ , then

$$P(\chi_A) \in L^1(\nu) \cap L^2(\nu);$$

(d) the measures  $\mu$  and  $\mu P$  are equivalent if and only if the function  $c^{-1}$  is integrable on  $(E_x, \rho_x)$  for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $x \in V$ . The Radon-Nikodym derivative can be found by the formula:

$$\frac{d(\mu P)}{d\mu}(x) = \int_V \frac{1}{c(y)} \, d\rho_x(y).$$

#### **Proof** (Sketch)

(a) The fact that  $P(\chi_A)$  is in  $L^2(\mu)$  follows from the Schwarz inequality for positive operators,

$$P(\chi_A)^2 \leq P(\chi_A^2) = P(\chi_A).$$

The criterion for integrability of the function  $P(\chi_A)$  is proved as follows:

$$\begin{split} \int_{V} P(\chi_{A})(x) \ d\mu(x) &= \iint_{V \times V} \chi_{A}(y) P(x, dy) \ d\mu(x) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} \frac{\chi_{A}(y)}{c(x)} \ d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} \frac{\rho_{x}(A)}{c(x)} \ d\mu(x). \end{split}$$

It follows from (a) that the same computation can be used to show that  $P(\chi_A)$ is in  $L^2(\mu)$  whenever

$$\frac{\rho_x(A)}{c(x)} \in L^1(\mu).$$

(b) To prove this result, we refer to the proof of (b) and use the symmetry of the measure  $\rho$ :

$$P(\chi_A) \in L^2(\mu) \iff P(\chi_A) \in L^1(\mu)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \int_{V} P(\chi_{A})(x) \, d\mu(x) &= \iint_{V \times V} \frac{\chi_{A}(y)}{c(x)} \, d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} \frac{\chi_{A}(x)}{c(y)} \, d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{A} \left( \int_{V} \frac{\chi_{A}(x)}{c(y)} \, d\rho_{x}(y) \right) d\mu(x). \end{split}$$

It gives the desired statement.

(c) Suppose  $c(x) \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ . Then, using the symmetry of the measure  $\rho$  and relation (2.7), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{V} P(\chi_{A})(x) \, d\nu(x) &= \int_{V} \left( \int_{V} \chi_{A}(y) \frac{1}{c(x)} \, d\rho_{x}(y) \right) \, c(x) d\mu(x) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} \chi_{A}(x) \, d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} \chi_{A}(x) c(x) \, d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{A} c(x) \, d\mu(x) < \infty, \end{split}$$

i.e.,  $P(\chi_A) \in L^1(\nu)$ . The fact that  $P(\chi_A) \in L^2(\nu)$  is proved as in (a).

(d) The statement will follow from the following chain of equalities:

$$(\mu P)(A) = \int_{V} \chi_{A} d(\mu P)$$

$$= \int_{V} P(\chi_{A}) d\mu$$

$$= \int_{V} \left( \int_{V} \chi_{A}(y) P(x, dy) \right) d\mu(x)$$

$$= \iint_{V t V} \chi_{A}(y) \frac{1}{c(x)} d\rho_{x}(y) d\mu(x)$$

$$= \int_{V} \chi_{A}(x) \left( \int_{V} \frac{1}{c(y)} d\rho_{x}(y) \right) d\mu(x)$$

$$= \int_{A} \left( \int_{V} \frac{1}{c(y)} d\rho_{x}(y) \right) d\mu(x)$$

$$= \int_{A} \frac{d(\mu P)}{d\mu}(x) d\mu(x)$$

where

$$\frac{d(\mu P)}{d\mu}(x) = \int_V \frac{1}{c(y)} \, d\rho_x(y).$$

Clearly, Proposition 5.7 can be extended to functions from  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}.$ 

#### Lemma 5.8

(1) Let P be a self-adjoint Markov operator in  $L^2(\nu)$ . Suppose that  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ . Then, for  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ ,

$$||P^{n}(\chi_{A})||_{L^{2}(\nu)}^{2} = \rho_{2n}(A \times A), \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(5.8)

where measures  $\rho_n$  are defined in (5.2). (2) Moreover, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\int_{A} c \, d\mu = ||\chi_{A}||^{2}_{\mathcal{H}_{E}(\rho_{2n})} + ||P^{n}(\chi_{A})||^{2}_{L^{2}(\nu)}.$$

#### Proof

(1) We recall that if P is a self-adjoint operator in the space  $L^2(v)$ , then vP = v. Hence,

$$\begin{aligned} ||P^{n}(\chi_{A})||^{2}_{L^{2}(\nu)} = \langle P^{n}(\chi_{A}), P^{n}(\chi_{A}) \rangle_{L^{2}(\nu)} \\ = \langle \chi_{A}, P^{2n}(\chi_{A}) \rangle_{L^{2}(\nu)} \\ = \rho_{2n}(A \times A). \end{aligned}$$

(2) Since  $\rho_x^{(n)}(V) = c(x)$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we can easily deduce from (1) the following equality (we use here formula (5.7)):

$$\begin{aligned} ||\chi_A||^2_{\mathcal{H}_E(\rho_n)} &= \rho_n(A \times A^c) \\ &= \rho_n(A \times V) - \rho_n(A \times A) \\ &= \int_A c \ d\mu - \rho_n(A \times A). \end{aligned}$$

**Remark 5.9** It is interesting to compare formula (5.8) with a similar result for  $||P^n(\chi_A)||^2_{\mathcal{H}_F}$  proved in [1], see also (3.11) in Theorem 3.6.

$$\|P^n(\chi_A)\|_{\mathcal{H}_E}^2 = \rho_{2n}(A \times A) - \rho_{2n+1}(A \times A), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Hence, it follows that

$$\|P^{n}(\chi_{A})\|_{\mathcal{H}_{E}}^{2} = ||P^{n}(\chi_{A})||_{L^{2}(\nu)}^{2} - \rho_{2n+1}(A \times A).$$

# 5.3 More on the Embedding Operator J

In this subsection, we return to the study of the operator J defined in (3.14), see Sect. 3.2. We recall that the operator J is an isometry if considered acting from  $L^2(\nu)$  to  $L^2(\rho)$ , and it is an unbounded operator from  $L^2(\mu)$  to  $L^2(\rho)$ . Here we focus on relations between J and other operators we study in the paper.

**Lemma 5.10** For any  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ , we have

$$||J(P(\chi_A))||^2_{L^2(\rho)} \le ||\chi_A||^2_{L^2(\nu)}.$$

**Proof** Indeed, we use Schwarz' inequality for P to show that

$$\iint_{V \times V} J(P(\chi_A))^2(x, y) \, d\rho(x, y) = \int_V P(\chi_A)^2(x) \, d\rho(x, y)$$
  
$$\leq \int_V P(\chi_A)(x) \, d\rho(x, y)$$
  
$$= \int_V c(x) P(\chi_A)(x) \, d\mu(x)$$
  
$$= \iint_{V \times V} \chi_A(y) \, d\rho_x(y) d\mu(x)$$
  
$$= \iint_{V \times V} \chi_A(x) \, d\rho_x(y) d\mu(x)$$
  
$$= \int_A c(x) \, d\mu(x)$$
  
$$= ||\chi_A||^2_{L^2(v)}.$$

As an illustration of properties of this embedding *J*, we note that the function  $J(c^{-1})(x, y)$  is not integrable with respect to  $\rho$  but is locally integrable.

Another useful relation that compares norms of functions is contained in the following inequality.

**Lemma 5.11** Let f be a function from the finite energy space such that f and  $\Delta(f)$  belong to  $L^2(\mu)$ . Then

$$||Jf||_{L^{2}(\rho)}^{2} \geq \frac{1}{2}||f||_{\mathcal{H}_{E}}^{2}.$$

*Proof* The proof follows from [1, Corollary 7.4] and Proposition 3.7 (6):

$$\iint_{V \times V} (Jf)^2(x, y) \, d\rho(x, y) = \iint_{V \times V} f^2(x) \, d\rho_x(y) d\mu(x)$$
$$= \int_V f^2(x) c(x) \, d\mu(x)$$
$$\ge \frac{1}{2} \langle f, \Delta f \rangle_{L^2(\mu)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}_E}^2.$$

In the remaining part of this section, we consider the Markov operator P as an operator acting on functions from the energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ .

**Proposition 5.12** Assume that  $c \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ . Then, for every  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ , we have

$$(JP)(\chi_A)(x, y) \in \mathcal{H}_E$$

**Proof** We need to show that the energy norm of  $J(P(\chi_A))$  is finite. By Theorem 3.6, we find that

$$\begin{aligned} ||(JP)(\chi_A)||^2_{L^2(\rho)} &= \frac{1}{2} \iint_{V \times V} (P(\chi_A)(x) - P(\chi_A)(y))^2 \, d\rho(x, y) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} (P(\chi_A)^2(x) - P(\chi_A)(x)P(\chi_A)(y)) \, d\rho(x, y). \end{aligned}$$

To see that the last integral is finite, we first show that  $(JP)(\chi_A)$  is in  $L^2(\rho)$ :

$$\iint_{V \times V} P(\chi_A)^2(x) \, d\rho(x, y) \leq \iint_{V \times V} P(\chi_A)(x) \, d\rho_x(y) d\mu(x)$$
$$= \int_V P(\chi_A)(x) c(x) \, d\mu(x)$$
$$= \nu(A)$$
$$= \int_A c(x) \, d\mu(x).$$

The latter is finite.

Similarly, one can check that  $\iint_{V \times V} P(\chi_A)(x) P(\chi_A)(y) d\rho(x, y)$  is also finite. We leave the proof for the reader.

Consider a new operator, denoted by  $\partial$ , which acts from the energy space  $\mathcal{H}_R$  to  $L^2(\rho)$ :

$$(\partial f)(x, y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(f(x) - f(y)), \qquad f \in \mathcal{H}_E$$
(5.9)

Remark that in the theory of electrical networks the analogous transformation is called a voltage drop operator.

**Lemma 5.13** The operator  $\partial : \mathcal{H}_E \to L^2(\rho)$  defined by (5.9) is an isometry.

**Proof** The proof is obvious because

$$||f||_{\mathcal{H}_E}^2 = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{V \times V} (f(x) - f(y))^2 \, d\rho(x, y) = ||(\partial f)||_{L^2(\rho)}^2.$$

Since  $J : L^2(\nu) \to L^2(\rho)$  is an isometry, then the co-isometry  $J^*$  sends  $L^2(\rho)$  to  $L^2(\nu)$  according to the formula

$$(J^*g)(x) = \int_V g(x, \cdot) P(x, \cdot)$$

where  $g \in L^2(\rho)$ .

In the following proposition, we formulate a relation between operators P,  $J^*$ , and  $\partial$ .

**Proposition 5.14** *The following diagram commutes:* 

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{H}_E & \stackrel{\widetilde{\Delta}}{\longrightarrow} & L^2(\nu) \\ \searrow_{\partial} & & \swarrow_{J^*} \\ & & L^2(\rho) \end{array}$$

where  $\widetilde{\Delta} = (\sqrt{2}c)^{-1}\Delta = (\sqrt{2})^{-1}(I-P).$ 

**Proof** The proof is mainly based on Theorem 3.10 and the definition of  $\partial$ . We have

$$(J^*\partial f)(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} J^*(f(x) - f(y))$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \int_V (f(x) - f(y)) P(x, dy)$   
=  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (f(x) - P(f)(x))$   
=  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} c(x) \Delta(f)(x).$ 

In the next statement, we present several properties of the operator I - P.

#### **Corollary 5.15**

(1)

$$(I-P)\mathcal{H}_E \subset L^2(\nu),$$

(2) The operator I - P acting from  $\mathcal{H}_E$  to  $L^2(v)$  is contractive.

(3) For the operator  $\Delta = c(I - P)$ , the following holds

$$\Delta(\mathcal{H}_E) \subset cL^2(\nu).$$

**Proof** Assertion (1) is a direct consequence of Proposition 5.14 (this result was already mentioned in [1]).

To see that (2) holds, we recall the formula for the norm of a function in the finite energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ :

$$\|f\|_{\mathcal{H}_{E}}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \|f - P(f)\|_{L^{2}(\nu)}^{2} + \int_{V} \operatorname{Var}_{x}(f \circ X_{1}) \, d\nu \right),$$

where the meaning of random variables  $X_n$  is explained in Sect. 6 below.

(3) is obvious.

### 6 Transient Markov Processes and Symmetric Measures

Transient Markov processes and Green's functions are central themes in the theory of Markov chains that have been studied in a numerous books and papers. For the benefit of non-specialist readers, we cite the following sources [17, 58-60]. More interesting results can be found in [61-63].

In this section we consider Green's functions  $G_A(x)$  of transient Markov processes and relate the symmetric measures  $\rho_n$  to the norm of  $G_A$  in the finite energy space.

### 6.1 Path-space Measure

We denote by  $\Omega$  the infinite Cartesian product  $V \times V \times \cdots = V^{\mathbb{N}_0}$ . Let  $(X_n(\omega) : n = 0, 1, \ldots)$  be the sequence of random variables  $X_n : \Omega \to V$  such that  $X_n(\omega) = \omega_n$ . We call  $\Omega$  as the path space of the Markov process  $(P_n)$ . Let  $\Omega_x, x \in V$ , be the set of infinite paths beginning at x:

$$\Omega_x := \{ \omega \in \Omega : X_0(\omega) = x \}.$$

Clearly,  $\Omega = \coprod_{x \in V} \Omega_x$ .

A subset  $\{\omega \in \Omega : X_0(\omega) \in A_0, \dots, X_k(\omega) \in A_k\}$  is called a *cylinder set* defined by Borel sets  $A_0, A_1, \dots, A_k$  taken from  $\mathcal{B}, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . The collection of cylinder sets generates the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{C}$  of Borel subsets of  $\Omega$ , and  $(\Omega, \mathcal{C})$  is a standard Borel space. Then the functions  $X_n : \Omega \to V$  are Borel.

Define a probability measure  $\mathbb{P}_x$  on  $\Omega_x$ . For this, denote by  $\mathcal{F}_{\leq n}$  the increasing sequence of  $\sigma$ -subalgebras such that  $\mathcal{F}_{\leq n}$  is the smallest subalgebra for which the

functions  $X_0, X_1, \ldots, X_n$  are Borel. For a cylinder set  $(A_1, \ldots, A_n)$  from  $\mathcal{F}_{\leq n}$  we set

$$\mathbb{P}_{x}(X_{1} \in A_{1}, \dots, X_{n} \in A_{n}) = \int_{A_{1}} \cdots \int_{A_{n-1}} P(y_{n-1}, A_{n}) P(y_{n-2}, dy_{n-1}) \cdots P(x, dy_{1}).$$
(6.1)

Then  $\mathbb{P}_x$  extends to the Borel sets on  $\Omega_x$  by the Kolmogorov extension theorem [64].

The values of  $\mathbb{P}_x$  can be written as

$$\mathbb{P}_{x}(X_{1} \in A_{1}, \dots, X_{n} \in A_{n}) = P(\chi_{A_{1}}P(\chi_{A_{2}}P(\dots P(\chi_{A_{n-1}}P(\chi_{A_{n}}))\dots)))(x).$$
(6.2)

The joint distribution of the random variables  $X_i$  is given by

$$d\mathbb{P}_x(X_1,\ldots,X_n)^{-1} = P(x,dy_1)P(y_1,dy_2)\cdots P(y_{n-1},dy_n).$$
 (6.3)

**Lemma 6.1** The measure space  $(\Omega_x, \mathbb{P}_x)$  is a standard probability measure space for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $x \in V$ .

On the measurable space  $(\Omega, C)$ , define a  $\sigma$ -finite measure  $\lambda$  by

$$\lambda := \int_{V} \mathbb{P}_{x} d\nu(x) \tag{6.4}$$

( $\lambda$  is infinite if and only if the measure  $\nu$  is infinite).

By  $\mathcal{F}_n$ , we denote the  $\sigma$ -subalgebra  $X_n^{-1}(\mathcal{B})$ . Since  $X_n^{-1}(\mathcal{B})$  is a  $\sigma$ -subalgebra of  $\mathcal{C}$ , there exists a projection

$$E_n: L^2(V, \mathcal{C}, \lambda) \to L^2(\Omega, X_n^{-1}(\mathcal{B}), \lambda).$$

The projection  $E_n$  is called the *conditional expectation* with respect to  $X_n^{-1}(\mathcal{B})$  and satisfies the property:

$$E_n(f \circ X_n) = f \circ X_n. \tag{6.5}$$

We proved in [1] that the Markov process  $P_n$  is irreducible if the initial symmetric measure is irreducible. More precisely, the statement is as follows.

**Theorem 6.2** Let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , and let A and B be any two sets from  $\mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ . Then

$$\rho_n(A \times B) = \langle \chi_A, P^n(\chi_B) \rangle_{L^2(\nu)} = \lambda(X_0 \in A, X_n \in B), \ n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(6.6)

The Markov process  $(P_n)$  is irreducible if and only if the measure  $\rho$  is irreducible.

In other words, relation (6.6) can be interpreted in the following way: for the Markov process  $(P_n)$ , the "probability" to get in *B* for *n* steps starting somewhere in *A* is exactly  $\rho_n(A \times B) > 0$ .

To see that (6.6) holds, one uses the definition of the measure  $\lambda$  and formulas (6.1) and (6.2).

**Corollary 6.3** Let  $A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_n$  be a finite sequence of subsets from  $\mathcal{B}_{fin}$ . Then

$$\mathbb{P}_x(X_1 \in A_1, \dots, X_n \in A_n) \mid x \in A_0) > 0 \iff \rho(A_{i-1} \times A_i) > 0$$

for i = 1, ..., n.

It is worth noting that the concept of reversible Markov processes can be formulated in terms of the measure  $\lambda$ , roughly speaking  $\lambda$  must be a symmetric distribution.

**Proposition 6.4** Let the measure  $\lambda$  on  $\Omega$  be defined by (6.4). The Markov operator P is reversible if and only if, for any sets  $A_0, \ldots, A_n$  from  $\mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$  and any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\lambda(X_0 \in A_0, \ldots, X_n \in A_n) = \lambda(X_0 \in A_n, \ldots, X_n \in A_0).$$

**Proof** The proof uses Theorem 5.3 (viii). In the proof we assume for simplicity that n = 2; the general case is proved similarly. We recall that P is reversible if and only is the Markov operator P is self-adjoint in  $L^2(\nu)$ . We compute applying (6.1):

$$\lambda(X_0 \in A_0 \mid X_1 \in A_1) = \int_{A_0} \mathbb{P}_x(X_1 \in A_1) \, d\nu(x)$$
  
=  $\int_V \chi_{A_0}(x) P(\chi_{A_1})(x) \, d\nu(x)$   
=  $\int_V \chi_{A_1}(x) P(\chi_{A_0})(x) \, d\nu(x)$   
=  $\lambda(X_0 \in A_1 \mid X_1 \in A_0).$ 

It proves the statement.

In the next statement we relate harmonic functions to martingales. Recall first the definition of a martingale.

Let  $(X_n : n \in \mathbb{N})$  be the Markov chain on  $\Omega$  with values in  $(V, \mathcal{B})$  defined by  $X_n(\omega) = \omega_n$ . We recall that the space  $\Omega$  is represented as the disjoint union of subsets  $\Omega_x := \{\omega \in \Omega : \omega_0 = x\}, x \in V$ . Let  $(\Phi_n : n \in \mathbb{N}_0)$  be a sequence of real-valued random variables defined on  $\Omega$ . Then it generates a sequence of measurable fields of random variables  $x \to \Phi_n(x), x \in V$ , defined on the corresponding subset  $\Omega_x$ . Let  $C_n$  be the  $\sigma$ -algebra of subsets of  $\Omega$  generated by  $\Phi_n^{-1}(B), B \in \mathcal{B}$ . Denote by  $C_{\leq n}$  the smallest  $\sigma$ -subalgebra such that the functions  $\Phi_i, i = 1, \ldots n$ , are Borel measurable. These  $\sigma$ -algebras induce  $\sigma$ -algebras  $C_{\leq n}(x)$  on every  $\Omega_x$ .

It is said that the sequence  $(\Phi_n)$  is a *martingale* if

$$\mathbb{E}_{x}(\Phi_{n+k}(x) \mid \mathcal{C}_{\leq n}(x)) = \Phi_{n}(x), \quad \forall k.$$

Here  $\mathbb{E}_x$  is the conditional expectation with respect to the probability path measure  $\mathbb{P}_x$ , see (6.1).

**Proposition 6.5** Let P be the Markov operator defined by a symmetric measure  $\rho$ . For the objects defined above, the following are equivalent:

- (i) a Borel function h on (V, B) is harmonic with respect to the Markov operator P;
- (ii) the sequence  $(h \circ X_n : n \in \mathbb{N}_0)$  is a martingale.

**Proof** It follows from the definition of the Markov chain  $(X_n)$ , path space measure  $\mathbb{P}_x$ , and [2, Proposition 2.24] that, for any Borel function f,

$$\mathbb{E}_{x}(f \circ X_{n+m} \mid \mathcal{C}_{\leq n}(x)) = \mathbb{E}_{x}(f \circ X_{n+m} \mid \mathcal{C}_{n}(x)) = P^{m}(f) \circ X_{n}.$$

Hence, we see that a function *h* is harmonic if and only if

$$\mathbb{E}_{x}(h \circ X_{n+m} \mid \mathcal{C}_{< n}(x)) = h \circ X_{n},$$

i.e.,  $(h \circ X_n)$  is a martingale.

#### 6.2 Green's Functions

In this section, we will work with transient Markov processes. We first define a Green's function G(x, A). Our main goal is to study Green's functions as elements of the energy space.

#### Definition 6.6 Let

$$G(x, A) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n(x, A), \qquad A \in \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\mu), x \in V.$$

The Markov process is called *transient* if, for every  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ , the function G(x, A) is finite  $\mu$ -a.e. on V.

In this subsection, we will always assume that the Markov process  $(P_n)$  is transient.

**Lemma 6.7** Let  $\rho$  be an irreducible symmetric measure. Suppose  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$  be a set such that G(x, A) is finite a.e. Then, for any  $B \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ , the function G(x, B) is finite for  $\mu$ -a.e.  $x \in V$ .

**Proof** The proof of this result is straightforward and mainly based on the definition of irreducible measure, see also Lemma 2.9.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 6.8** Let  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$  and let P be a Markov operator defined by a symmetric measure  $\rho$ . Then the function  $x \mapsto P_n(x, A) = P^n(\chi_A)(x)$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_E$  and

$$\|P_n(\cdot, A)\|_{\mathcal{H}_F}^2 = \rho_{2n}(A \times A) - \rho_{2n+1}(A \times A), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

**Proof** The proof is based on the facts that v is *P*-invariant,  $\rho$  is symmetric, and on the definition of the norm in the energy space which are used in the following computation:

$$\begin{split} ||P_{n}(x,A)||_{\mathcal{H}_{E}}^{2} &= \iint_{V \times V} P_{n}(x,A)(P_{n}(x,A) - P_{n}(y,A)) d\rho(x,y) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} P_{n}(x,A)(P_{n}(x,A) - P_{n}(y,A))c(x)P(x,dy) d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} \left[ P_{n}(x,A)^{2} - P_{n}(x,A) \int_{V} P_{n}(y,A)P(x,dy) \right] d\nu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} \left[ P_{n}(x,A)^{2} - P_{n}(x,A)P_{n+1}(x,A) \right] d\nu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} P_{n}(x,A)(P_{n}(x,A) - P_{n+1}(x,A)) d\nu(x) \\ &= \int_{V} \chi_{A}(x)P^{n}(P^{n}(\chi_{A}) - P^{n+1}(\chi_{A}))(x) d\nu(x) \\ &= \langle \chi_{A}(x), P^{2n}(\chi_{A})(x) \rangle_{L^{2}(\nu)} - \langle \chi_{A}(x), P^{2n+1}(\chi_{A})(x) \rangle_{L^{2}(\nu)} \\ &= \rho_{2n}(A \times A) - \rho_{2n+1}(A \times A). \end{split}$$

**Remark 6.9** As a curious observation, we mention that, for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ ,

$$\rho_{2n}(A \times A) > \rho_{2n+1}(A \times A).$$

It is worth noting that the above formula cannot be extended to direct products of sets *A* and *B* from  $\mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ . In particular, one can prove that the relation

$$\rho_2(A \times B) < \rho(A \times B)$$

implies that  $P(\chi_B - P(\chi_B)) > 0$  a.e. Therefore there would exist a harmonic function in  $L^2(\nu)$  which is a contradiction.

Fix a set  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ , then we have the family of measurable functions  $G_A(x) := G(x, A)$  indexed by sets of finite measure.

**Lemma 6.10** For a set  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ , the equality

$$c(x)(I - P)(G_A)(x) = c(x)\chi_A(x)$$

holds. Equivalently,

$$\Delta G_A(x) = c(x)\chi_A(x).$$

**Proof** We compute using the definition of Green's function and the fact that the series  $\sum_{n} P_n(x, A)$  is convergent for all x and all  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ :

$$c(x)(I - P)G_A(x) = c(x)(I - P)\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n(x, A)$$
  
=  $c(x)\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n(x, A) - c(x)\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} P_n(x, A)$   
=  $c(x)\chi_A(x).$ 

**Theorem 6.11** For the objects defined above, we have the following properties. (1) For any sets  $A, B \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ , we have

$$\langle G_A, G_B \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_E} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \rho_n (A \times B);$$
 (6.7)

and, in particular,

$$\|G_A(x)\|_{\mathcal{H}_E}^2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \rho_n(A \times A).$$
(6.8)

(2) For any  $f \in \mathcal{H}_E$  and  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ ,

$$\langle f, G_A \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_E} = \int_A f \, dv$$

Furthermore, if

$$\mathcal{G} := \operatorname{span}\{G_A(\cdot) : A \in \mathcal{B}_{\operatorname{fin}}\},\tag{6.9}$$

then G is dense in the energy space  $\mathcal{H}_E$ .

# Proof

(1) We prove (6.8) here. Relation (6.7) is proved similarly. One has

$$\begin{split} \|G_{A}(x)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{E}}^{2} &= \iint_{V \times V} (G_{A}(x) - P_{A}(y))^{2} d\rho(x, y) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} G_{A}(x) (G_{A}(x) - G_{A}(y)) d\rho(x, y) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} G_{A}(x) (G_{A}(x) - P_{A}(y)) c(x) P(x, dy) d\mu(x)) \\ &= \int_{V} G_{A}(x) [G_{A}(x) - P(G_{A})(x)] c(x) d\mu(x)) \\ &= \int_{V} G_{A}(x) [\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P^{n}(\chi_{A})(x) - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P^{n+1}(\chi_{A})(x) c(x) d\mu(x)) \\ &= \int_{V} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P^{n}(\chi_{A})(x) \chi_{A}(x) d\nu(x) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\chi_{A}, P^{n}(\chi_{A}))_{L^{2}(\nu)} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \rho_{n}(A \times A). \end{split}$$

For (2),

$$\begin{split} \langle f, G_A \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_E} &= \frac{1}{2} \iint_{V \times V} (f(x) - f(y)) (G_A(x) - G_A(y)) \, d\rho(x, y) \\ &= \iint_{V \times V} (f(x) G_A(x) - f(x) G_A(y)) \, d\rho(x, y) \\ &= \int_V \left[ f(x) G_A(x) c(x) - f(x) \left( \int_V G_A(y) P(x, dy) \right) c(x) \right] \, d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_V f(x) c(x) \left[ \sum_{n=o}^{\infty} P^n(\chi_A)(x) - \sum_{n=o}^{\infty} P^{n+1}(\chi_A)(x) \right] \, d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_V f(x) \chi_A(x) c(x) \, d\mu(x) \\ &= \int_A f \, dv. \end{split}$$

It follows from the proved relation that if  $\langle f, G_A \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_E} = 0$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ , then f = 0, and  $\mathcal{G}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_E$ .

Let  $\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\mu) \subset L^2(\mu)$  denote, as usual, the space spanned by characteristic functions, and let  $\mathcal{G}$  be as in (6.9). Then the following two operators, J and K, are densely defined

$$J: \chi_A \mapsto \chi_A : \mathcal{D}_{fin} \to \mathcal{H}_E, \qquad K: G_A \mapsto c(I-P)(G_A): \mathcal{G} \to L^2(\mu)$$
(6.10)

where  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ .

Proposition 6.12 The operators J and K form a symmetric pair, i.e.,

$$\langle J\varphi, f \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_E} = \langle \varphi, K(f) \rangle_{L^2(\mu)}$$
 (6.11)

where  $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}$  and  $f \in \mathcal{G}$ .

**Proof** To prove (6.11) it suffices to check that it holds for  $\varphi = \chi_A$  and  $f = G_B$  where  $A, B \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ . For these functions, we show that the both inner products are equal to  $\nu(A \cap B)$ .

By Lemma 6.10, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \chi_A, K(G_B) \rangle_{L^2(\mu)} &= \langle \chi_A, c \chi_B \rangle_{L^2(\mu)} \\ &= \int_V \chi_A c \chi_B \ d\mu \\ &= \nu(A \cap B). \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, for the same functions  $\varphi$  and f, we compute the inner product in the finite energy Hilbert space using the symmetry of  $\rho$ :

$$\langle J(\chi_A), G_B \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_E} = \frac{1}{2} \iint_{V \times V} (\chi_A(x) - \chi_A(y)) (G_B(x) - G_B(y)) \, d\rho(x, y)$$

$$= \iint_{V \times V} (\chi_A(x) G_B(x) - \chi_A(x) G_B(y)) \, d\rho(x, y)$$

$$= \iint_{V \times V} [\chi_A(x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P^n(\chi_B)(x)$$

$$- \chi_A(x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P^n(\chi_B)(y)] c(x) P(x, dy) d\mu(x)$$

$$= \int_{V} [\chi_{A}(x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P^{n}(\chi_{B})(x)$$
$$- \chi_{A}(x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{V} P^{n}(\chi_{B})(y) P(x, dy) ]c(x) d\mu(x)$$
$$= \int_{V} [\chi_{A}(x) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P^{n}(\chi_{B})(x) - \chi_{A}(x) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} P^{n}(\chi_{B})] d\nu(x)$$
$$= \int_{V} \chi_{A}(x) \chi_{B}(x) d\nu(x)$$
$$= \nu(A \cap B).$$

**Corollary 6.13** The finite energy Hilbert space admits the orthogonal decomposition

$$\mathcal{H}_E = \overline{J(\mathcal{D}_{\text{fin}}(\mu))} \oplus \mathcal{H}arm.$$

In particular, for every  $B \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$ , we have  $G_B = G_1 \oplus G_2$ , where  $G_1 \in \overline{J(\mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu))}$  is always non-zero.

**Proof** Indeed, if one assumed that  $G_1 = 0$ , then we would have that  $G_B$  is orthogonal to  $\overline{J(\mathcal{D}_{fin}(\mu))}$ . This contradicts Theorem 6.11.

We conclude this section with the following result that was proved in [1]:

**Theorem 6.14** Let  $(P_n)$  be a transient Markov process, and let G(x, A) be the corresponding Green's function. Then, for any  $f \in \mathcal{H}_E$ , we have the decomposition

$$f = G(\varphi) + h$$

where h is a harmonic function and  $\varphi \in L^2(v)$ .

# 7 Discretization of the Graph $\mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu)$

In this section, we show that our basic setting (a symmetric measure on the Cartesian product  $(V, \mathcal{B})$ ) can be realized as a limit of discrete graphs. This approach naturally leads to the notion of *graphons*. The reader can find necessary information in the following books [65–67] and articles [68–70].

Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space, and let  $\rho$  be a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . We will associate with  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  and  $\rho$  a sequence of countably infinite graphs  $\mathcal{G}_n$  equipped with conductance functions  $c_n$  such that the weighted

graphs ( $G_n$ ,  $c_n$ ) can be viewed as a discretization of the uncountable graph  $\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}$  considered in [1].

We first recall a few facts from [1].

**Lemma 7.1** Suppose that  $c(x) \in L^1_{loc}(\mu)$ . Then, for any set  $A \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$ ,

$$\rho(A \times A^c) < \infty \tag{7.1}$$

where  $A^c = V \setminus A$ . The converse is not true, in general.

We can view at the set  $\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}} = \mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}(\mu)$  as an uncountable graph  $\mathcal{G}$  whose vertices are sets *A* from  $\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}$  and edges are defined as follows. For a symmetric measure  $\rho$  defined on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ , we say that two sets *A* and *B* from  $\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}$  are connected by an edge *e* if  $\rho(A \times B) > 0$ .

This definition is extended to get finite paths in the graph  $\mathcal{G}$ . It is said that there exists a finite path in the graph  $\mathcal{G}$  from A to B if there exists a sequence  $\{A_i : i = 0, ..., n\}$  of sets from  $\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}$  (vertices of  $\mathcal{G}$ ) such that  $A_0 = A, A_n = B$  and  $\rho(A_i \times A_{i+1}) > 0, i = 0, ..., n - 1$ .

**Theorem 7.2** Let  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$  be as above, and let  $\rho$  be a symmetric irreducible measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . Then any two sets A and B from the graph  $\mathcal{G}$  are connected by a finite path, i.e., the graph  $\mathcal{G}$  is connected.

**Proof** We will show that there exists a finite sequence  $(A_i : 0 \le i \le n)$  of disjoint subsets from  $\mathcal{B}_{\text{fin}}$  such that  $A_0 = A$ ,  $\rho(A_i \times A_{i+1}) > 0$ , and  $\rho(A_n \times B) > 0$ , i = 0, ..., n - 1.

If  $\rho(A \times B) > 0$ , then nothing to prove, so that we can assume that  $\rho(A \times B) = 0$ .

Let  $\xi = (C_i : i \in \mathbb{N})$  be a partition of V into disjoint subsets of positive finite measure such that  $C_i \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$  for all i. Without loss of generality, we can assume that the sets A and B are included in  $\xi$ . Let for definiteness,  $A = C_0$ .

Since  $\rho(A \times A^c) > 0$  (by Lemma 7.1), there exists a set  $C_{i_1} \in \xi$  such that  $\rho(A \times C_{i_1}) > 0$  and  $\rho(A \times C_j) = 0$  for all  $0 < j < i_1$ . Set

$$A_1 := \bigcup_{0 < j \le i_1} C_j.$$

It is clear that  $A_1 \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}$  and  $\rho(A_0 \times A_1) > 0$ . If  $\rho(A_1 \times B) > 0$ , then we are done. If not, we proceed as follows. Because of the property  $\rho(A_1 \times A_1^c) > 0$ , there exists some  $i_2 > i_1$  such that  $\rho(A_1 \times C_{i_2}) > 0$  and  $\rho(A_1 \times C_j) = 0$  for all  $i_1 < j < i_2$ . Set

$$A_2 := \bigcup_{i_1 < j \le i_2} C_j.$$

Then  $\rho(A_1 \times A_2) > 0$ , and we check whether  $\rho(A_2 \times B) > 0$ . If not, we continue in the same manner by constructing consequently disjoint sets  $A_i$  satisfying the property  $\rho(A_i \times A_{i+1}) > 0$ . Since *B* is an element of  $\xi$ , this process will terminate. This means that there exists some *n* such that  $A_n \supset B$ . This argument proves the proposition.

Given a  $\sigma$ -finite measure space  $(V, \mathcal{B}, \mu)$ , consider a sequence of measurable partition  $\{\xi_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  such that

- (i)  $\xi_n = (A_n(i) : i \in \mathbb{N}), \ \bigsqcup_i A_n(i) = V, \ A_n(i) \in \mathcal{B}_{fin}(\mu);$
- (ii)  $\xi_{n+1}$  refines  $\xi_n$ , i.e., every element  $A_n(i)$  of the partition  $\xi_n$  is the union of some elements of  $\xi_{n+1}$ :  $A_n(i) = \bigcup_{j \in \Lambda_n(i)} A_{n+1}(j)$  where  $\Lambda_n(i)$  is a finite subset of  $\mathbb{N}$ ;
- (iii) the set  $\{A_n(i) : i \in \mathbb{N}, n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  generates the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{B}$ .

If for every *i*, the cardinality of the set  $\Lambda_i$  is bigger than one, we say that  $\xi_{n+1}$  refines  $\xi_n$  strictly.

It is well known, see e.g. [26], that, for any point  $x \in V$ , there exists a sequence  $i_n(x)$  such that  $A_{n+1}(i_{n+1}(x)) \subset A_n((i_n)(x))$  and

$$\{x\} = \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n(i_n(x)) \tag{7.2}$$

Suppose  $\rho$  is a symmetric measure on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . We define a sequence of non-negative Borel functions  $c^{(n)}$  on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$  by setting

$$c_{xy}^{(n)} := \rho(A_n(i_n(x)) \times A_n(i_n(y)))$$

for any x, y from V. Clearly,  $c_{xy}^{(n)}$  is a piecewise constant function.

**Lemma 7.3** For a given sequence of strictly refining partitions  $(\xi_n)$ , the sequence of functions  $(c_{xy}^{(n)})$  is monotone decreasing.

**Proof** The proof is straightforward. For  $x, y \in V$ , let the sequences  $(A_n(i_n(x)))$  and  $(A_n(j_n(y)))$  shrink to the points x and y, respectively, according to (7.2). By assumption of the lemma,  $A_{n+1}(i_{n+1}(x))$  is a proper subset of  $A_n(i_n(x))$ . Hence,

$$c_{xy}^{(n+1)} = \rho(A_{n+1}(i_{n+1}(x)) \times A_{n+1}(j_{n+1}(y))$$
  
<  $\rho(A_n(i_n(x)) \times A_n(j_n(y)))$   
=  $c_{xy}^{(n)}$ .

We now can define a sequence of discrete graphs (weighted networks)  $G_n = (V_n, E_n, w_n)$ . The vertex set  $V_n$  is formed by the atoms of the partition  $\xi_n$ , i.e., by the sets  $\{A_n(i) : i \in \mathbb{N}_0\}$ ; therefore  $V_n$  can be identified with  $\mathbb{N}_0$ . The set of edges

 $E_n$  consists of pairs (i, j) such that

$$(i, j) \in E_n \iff \rho(A_n(i) \times A_n(j)) > 0.$$

The weight function is  $w_n(i, j) = \rho(A_n(i) \times A_n(j))$ .

**Lemma 7.4** Let  $\rho$  be a symmetric irreducible measures on  $(V \times V, \mathcal{B} \times \mathcal{B})$ . Then the weighted graph  $G_n$  is connected for every n.

It follows from Lemma 7.3 that

$$c_{xy} = \lim_{n \to \infty} c_{xy}^{(n)}$$

exists and is a Borel non-negative function. Since the measure  $\rho$  is symmetric, we conclude that  $c_{xy} = c_{yx}$ .

Next, we define

$$c^{(n)}(x) = \sum_{j} \rho(A_n(i_n(x)) \times A_n(j)) = \sum_{y \sim_n x} c_{xy}^{(n)}$$

where  $x \sim_n y$  if and only if  $c_{xy}^{(n)} > 0$ . It can be seen that

$$c^{(n)}(x) = \rho(A_n(i_n(x)) \times V).$$
 (7.3)

Using the proved results, we can deduce the following statement.

**Theorem 7.5** The sequence  $(c^{(n)}(x))$  is monotone decreasing for every  $x \in V$  and

$$c(x) := \lim_{n \to \infty} c^{(n)}(x) = \rho_x(V).$$

**Proof** Indeed, we see from (7.3) that

$$c^{(n+1)}(x) = \rho(A_{n+1}(i_{n+1}(x)) \times V) < \rho(A_n(i_n(x)) \times V) = c^{(n)}(x)$$

Hence, the Borel function c(x) is well defined for every *x*. Because  $\bigcap_n A_n(i_n(x)) = \{x\}$ , we obtain that  $c(x) = \rho_x(V)$ .

Acknowledgments The authors are thankful to colleagues and collaborators, especially the members of the seminars in Mathematical Physics and Operator Theory at the University of Iowa, where versions of this work have been presented. We acknowledge very helpful conversations with among others Professors Paul Muhly, Wayne Polyzou; and conversations at distance with Professors Daniel Alpay, and his colleagues at both Ben Gurion University, and Chapman University. We wish to thank the referee for useful suggestions.

# References

- 1. S. Bezuglyi, P.E.T. Jorgensen, Graph Laplace and Markov operators on a measure space. ArXiv e-prints (2018)
- D. Alpay, P. Jorgensen, I. Lewkowicz, W-Markov measures, transfer operators, wavelets and multiresolutions, in *Frames and Harmonic Analysis*. Contemporary Mathematics, vol. 706 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2018), pp. 293–343
- L.W. Baggett, N.S. Larsen, K.D. Merrill, J.A. Packer, I. Raeburn, Generalized multiresolution analyses with given multiplicity functions. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 15(5), 616–633 (2009)
- L.W. Baggett, K.D. Merrill, J.A. Packer, A.B. Ramsay, Probability measures on solenoids corresponding to fractal wavelets. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 364(5), 2723–2748 (2012)
- O. Bratteli, P.E.T. Jorgensen, Convergence of the cascade algorithm at irregular scaling functions, in *The Functional and Harmonic Analysis of Wavelets and Frames (San Antonio, TX*, 1999). Contemporary Mathematics, vol. 247 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1999), pp. 93–130
- L. Cioletti, M. Denker, A.O. Lopes, M. Stadlbauer, Spectral properties of the Ruelle operator for product-type potentials on shift spaces. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 95(2), 684–704 (2017)
- D.E. Dutkay, P.E.T. Jorgensen, The role of transfer operators and shifts in the study of fractals: encoding-models, analysis and geometry, commutative and non-commutative, in *Geometry and Analysis of Fractals*. Springer Proceedings of the Mathematical Statistics, vol. 88 (Springer, Heidelberg, 2014), pp. 65–95
- Y. Jiang, Y.-L. Ye, Convergence speed of a Ruelle operator associated with a non-uniformly expanding conformal dynamical system and a Dini potential. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 38(9), 4693–4713 (2018)
- P. Jorgensen, F. Tian, Transfer operators, induced probability spaces, and random walk models. Markov Process. Related Fields 23(2), 187–210 (2017)
- P.E.T. Jorgensen, Ruelle operators: functions which are harmonic with respect to a transfer operator. Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 152(720), viii+60 (2001)
- 11. P.E.T. Jorgensen, S. Pedersen, Dense analytic subspaces in fractal  $L^2$ -spaces. J. Anal. Math. 75, 185–228 (1998)
- D. Ruelle, The thermodynamic formalism for expanding maps. Commun. Math. Phys. 125(2), 239–262 (1989)
- D. Ruelle, Spectral properties of a class of operators associated with conformal maps in two dimensions. Commun. Math. Phys. 144(3), 537–556 (1992)
- Á. Backhausz, B. Szegedy, On large-girth regular graphs and random processes on trees. Random Struct. Algoritm. 53(3), 389–416 (2018)
- Á. Backhausz, B. Szegedy, On the almost eigenvectors of random regular graphs. Ann. Probab. 47(3), 1677–1725 (2019)
- M. Pensky, Dynamic network models and graphon estimation. Ann. Statist. 47(4), 2378–2403 (2019)
- 17. R. Lyons, Y. Peres, Probability on trees and networks, in *Cambridge Series in Statistical and Probabilistic Mathematics*, vol. 42 (Cambridge University, New York, 2016)
- E. Nummelin, General irreducible Markov chains and nonnegative operators, in *Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics*, vol. 83 (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 1984)
- 19. D. Revuz, Markov chains, in *North-Holland Mathematical Library*, vol. 11, 2nd edn. (North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1984)
- C.T. Conley, B.D. Miller, A bound on measurable chromatic numbers of locally finite Borel graphs. Math. Res. Lett. 23(6), 1633–1644 (2016)
- C.T. Conley, B.D. Miller, Measurable perfect matchings for acyclic locally countable Borel graphs. J. Symb. Log. 82(1), 258–271 (2017)
- 22. I.P. Cornfeld, S.V. Fomin, Y.G. Sinaĭ, *Ergodic Theory*. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 245 (Springer, New York, 1982). Translated from the Russian by A. B. Sosinskiĭ

- N.T. Do, P. Kuchment, B. Ong, On resonant spectral gaps in quantum graphs, in *Functional* Analysis and Operator Theory for Quantum Physics. EMS Series Congress Report (European Mathematical Society, Zürich, 2017), pp. 213–222
- 24. J. Feldman, C.C. Moore, Ergodic equivalence relations, cohomology, and von Neumann algebras. I. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. **234**(2), 289–324 (1977)
- 25. V. Kanovei, Borel equivalence relations, in *University Lecture Series*, vol. 44 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2008). Structure and classification
- 26. A.S. Kechris, Classical descriptive set theory, in *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*, vol. 156 (Springer, New York, 1995)
- 27. J. Lehn, Remark on measurable graph theorems. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 63(1), 46–48 (1977)
- S. Gao, Invariant descriptive set theory, in *Pure and Applied Mathematics (Boca Raton)*, vol. 293 (CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2009)
- 29. A.S. Kechris, Global aspects of ergodic group actions, in *Mathematical Surveys and Mono*graphs, vol. 160 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2010)
- 30. F. Chersi, An ergodic decomposition of invariant measures for discrete semiflows on standard Borel spaces, in Advanced Topics in the Theory of Dynamical Systems (Trento, 1987). Notes Reports Mathematical Science Engineering, vol. 6, pp. 75–87 (Academic Press, Boston, 1989)
- 31. P.A. Loeb, Conversion from nonstandard to standard measure spaces and applications in probability theory. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. **211**, 113–122 (1975)
- 32. V.A. Rohlin, On the fundamental ideas of measure theory. Mat. Sbornik N.S. **25**(67), 107–150 (1949)
- 33. D. Simmons, Conditional measures and conditional expectation; Rohlin's disintegration theorem. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. **32**(7), 2565–2582 (2012)
- 34. J. Feldman, C.C. Moore, Ergodic equivalence relations, cohomology, and von Neumann algebras. II. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 234(2), 325–359 (1977)
- 35. A.S. Kechris, B.D. Miller, Topics in orbit equivalence, in *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, vol. 1852 (Springer, Berlin, 2004)
- Z.-Q. Chen, Y.-X. Ren, T. Yang, Law of large numbers for branching symmetric Hunt processes with measure-valued branching rates. J. Theoret. Probab. 30(3), 898–931 (2017)
- 37. D.H. Alimorad, J.A. Fakharzadeh, A theoretical measure technique for determining 3D symmetric nearly optimal shapes with a given center of mass. Comput. Math. Math. Phys. **57**(7), 1225–1240 (2017)
- 38. S. Bezuglyi, P.E.T. Jorgensen, *Transfer operators, endomorphisms, and measurable partitions*. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2217 (Springer, Cham, 2018)
- 39. P.E.T. Jorgensen, E.P.J. Pearse, Continuum versus discrete networks, graph Laplacians, and reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. **469**(2), 765–807 (2019)
- B. Landa, Y. Shkolnisky, The steerable graph Laplacian and its application to filtering image datasets. SIAM J. Imaging Sci. 11(4), 2254–2304 (2018)
- S. Smale, D.-X. Zhou, Learning theory estimates via integral operators and their approximations. Constr. Approx. 26(2), 153–172 (2007)
- 42. S. Smale, D.-X. Zhou, Geometry on probability spaces. Constr. Approx. 30(3), 311-323 (2009)
- 43. S. Bezuglyi, P.E.T. Jorgensen, Finite Energy Space, Graph Laplace Operator, and Symmetric Measures
- 44. M.F. Chen, From Markov Chains to Nonequilibrium Particle Systems (World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc., River Edge, 1992)
- 45. K. Lange, Applied probability, in Springer Texts in Statistics (Springer, New York, 2003)
- 46. T. Komorowski, C. Landim, S. Olla, Fluctuations in Markov processes. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 345 (Springer, Heidelberg, 2012). Time symmetry and martingale approximation
- 47. Y. Chen, M.-P. Qian, J.-S. Xie, On characterization of reversible Markov processes by monotonicity of the fluctuation spectral density. J. Math. Phys. **47**(10), 103301, 9 (2006)
- M. Longla, Remarks on limit theorems for reversible Markov processes and their applications. J. Statist. Plann. Inference 187, 28–43 (2017)

- 49. M. Peligrad, Asymptotic properties for linear processes of functionals of reversible or normal Markov chains, in *High Dimensional Probability VI*. Program of Probability, vol. 66 (Birkhäuser/Springer, Basel, 2013), pp. 195–210
- 50. J.R. Artalejo, On the transient behavior of the maximum level length in structured Markov chains, in *Modern Mathematical Tools and Techniques in Capturing Complexity*. Understand Complex System (Springer, Berlin, 2011), pp. 379–390
- 51. V.T. Cyr, *Transient Markov shifts* (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2010). Thesis (Ph.D.)–The Pennsylvania State University
- 52. D. Korshunov, The key renewal theorem for a transient Markov chain. J. Theoret. Probab. **21**(1), 234–245 (2008)
- S. Wei, R.J. Kryscio, Semi-Markov models for interval censored transient cognitive states with back transitions and a competing risk. Stat. Methods Med. Res. 25(6), 2909–2924 (2016)
- 54. W. Woess, Denumerable Markov chains, in *EMS Textbooks in Mathematics* (European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2009). Generating functions, boundary theory, random walks on trees
- M.B. Marcus, J. Rosen, Necessary and sufficient conditions for the continuity of permanental processes associated with transient Lévy processes. Electron. Commun. Probab. 20(57), 6 (2015)
- 56. J. Peterson, G. Samorodnitsky, Weak weak quenched limits for the path-valued processes of hitting times and positions of a transient, one-dimensional random walk in a random environment. ALEA Lat. Am. J. Probab. Math. Stat. **9**(2), 531–569 (2012)
- 57. P. Lherminier, E. Sanchez-Palencia, Remarks and examples on transient processes and attractors in biological evolution, in *Proceedings of the 2014 Madrid Conference on Applied Mathematics in Honor of Alfonso Casal.* Electronic Journal of Differential Equations Conference, vol. 22 (Texas State University, San Marcos, 2015), pp. 63–77
- 58. A.N. Borodin, P. Salminen, *Handbook of Brownian Motion—Facts and Formulae*. Probability and its Applications, 2nd edn. (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2002)
- G.F. Lawler, V. Limic, Random walk: a modern introduction. *Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics*, vol. 123 (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 2010)
- 60. V.N. Kolokoltsov, Markov processes, semigroups and generators, in *De Gruyter Studies in Mathematics*, vol. 38 (Walter de Gruyter and Co., Berlin, 2011)
- A. Beveridge, A hitting time formula for the discrete Green's function. Combin. Probab. Comput. 25(3), 362–379 (2016)
- Z.-Q. Chen, P. Kim, Green function estimate for censored stable processes. Probab. Theory Related Fields 124(4), 595–610 (2002)
- I.T. Dimov, T.V. Gurov, Estimates of the computational complexity of iterative Monte Carlo algorithm based on Green's function approach. Math. Comput. Simulation 47(2–5), 183–199 (1998). IMACS Seminar on Monte Carlo Methods (Brussels, 1997)
- 64. A.N. Kolmogorov, *Foundations of the Theory of Probability* (Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, 1950)
- 65. L. Lovász, Large networks and graph limits, in *American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications*, vol. 60 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2012)
- 66. S. Chatterjee, Large deviations for random graphs, in *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, vol. 2197 (Springer, Cham, 2017). Lecture notes from the 45th Probability Summer School held in Saint-Flour, June 2015, École d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour. [Saint-Flour Probability Summer School]
- 67. S. Janson, Graphons, cut norm and distance, couplings and rearrangements, in *New York Journal of Mathematics. NYJM Monographs*, vol. 4 (State University of New York, University at Albany, Albany, NY, 2013)
- H. Chuangpishit, M. Ghandehari, J. Janssen, Uniform linear embeddings of graphons. European J. Combin. 61, 47–68 (2017)
- 69. L. Lovász, B. Szegedy, The automorphism group of a graphon. J. Algebra 421, 136–166 (2015)
- 70. A. Shojaei-Fard, Graphons and renormalization of large Feynman diagrams. Opuscula Math. 38(3), 427–455 (2018)

# Multi Variable Semicircular Processes From \*-Homomorphisms and Operators



Ilwoo Cho and Palle E. T. Jorgensen

**Abstract** In this paper, we (i) consider a Banach \*-probability space  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$  generated by mutually free finitely, or countable-infinitely many semicircular elements, induced by mutually orthogonal projections in a  $C^*$ -probability space, (ii) construct certain \*-homomorphisms acting on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , determined by the shift processes acting on the index set  $\{1, \ldots, N\}$  of semicircular elements, and the corresponding Banach-space operators induced by them, and (iii) study how the \*-homomorphisms and Banach-space operators of (ii) deform the original free-distributional data on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

**Keywords** Free probability · Projections · (Weighted-)Semicircular elements · Banach \*-Probability spaces · Integer shifts · Restricted integer shifts · Shift operators

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2000)** 46L10, 46L40, 46L53, 46L54, 47L15, 47L30, 47L55

# 1 Introduction

We shall use the term *free probability* in the customary sense, as an extension of classical *measure theory* (including *probability theory*). *Random variables* in measure theory are functions in commutative function systems; by contract, in free theory, *free random variables* are *operators* in noncommutative \*-algebras (e.g.,  $C^*$ -algebras, or von Neumann algebras, or Banach \*-algebras). Noncommutative

I. Cho

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), *New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative*, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_7

Saint Ambrose University, Department of Mathematical and Statical 421 Ambrose Hall, Davenport, IA, USA e-mail: choilwoo@sau.edu

P. E. T. Jorgensen (⊠) University of Iowa, Department of Mathematical, Iowa, IA, USA e-mail: palle-jorgensen@uiowa.edu

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

probability was initiated by D. Voiculescu in response to questions in *quantum physics*, and in operator algebra theory, notably, in the free group factor isomorphism problem (e.g., [20, 26] and [30]). In classical theories, *independence* is a key feature, however, in free probability theory, there is a counterpart, the *freeness*, or *free independence* (e.g., [3, 4, 23, 25] and [30]). Freeness parallels the more familiar and classical independence, but it is much more subtle. Its use entails new tools from multiple areas of mathematics (e.g., [8–11, 16, 17] and [18]). While in classical probability, we know that, on account of the central limit theorem, the *Gaussian law* (or the *Gaussian distribution*) is universal. In free probability, the counterpart is *the semicircular law*.

A *Banach* \*-*algebra* Y is a complete topological \*-algebra equipped with the norm topology. If there is a linear functional  $\psi$  on Y, then the pair  $(Y, \psi)$  is called a *Banach* \*-*probability space*. Then the free-distributional data on  $(Y, \psi)$  are determined by joint free moments of operators of Y up to  $\psi$ . Here, we are interested in \*-homomorphisms on Y, preserving free-probabilistic information on  $(Y, \psi)$ . Since they are (multiplicative) linear transformations on Y, one can regard them as operators in the *operator space* B(Y) of all bounded linear transformations on Y, by understanding the Banach \*-algebra Y as a *Banach space*. Our main purpose is to investigate how such Banach-space operators affect the free probability on  $(Y, \psi)$ , where Y is generated by multi semicircular elements.

### 1.1 Motivations

There are many ways to construct semicircular elements (e.g., [1, 5, 7, 9, 17, 20, 22, 27-30]) in topological \*-probability spaces (e.g., *C*\*-*probability spaces*, or *W*\*-*probability spaces*, or *Banach* \*-*probability spaces*, etc.). Our construction of semicircular elements is motivated by that of *weighted-semicircular elements* of [11], from the analysis on the *p*-adic number fields  $\mathbb{Q}_p$ , for primes *p* (e.g., [13, 24]), which is different from earlier works.

Like the (weighted-)semicircularity of [11], semicircular elements from mutually orthogonal  $|\mathbb{Z}|$ -many *projections* in a *C*\*-probability space, and the corresponding *semicircular law* are considered here (See Sects. 3, 4, and 5 below; also, see [8, 9]). Meanwhile, free distributions of *free reduced words* in mutually free, multi semicircular elements are re-characterized, estimated, and asymptotically estimated in terms of their *joint free moments* in [10] (See Sect. 6 below). By using the techniques of [10], we study free probability on our structures, and consider how certain Banach-space operators deform original free-distributional data.

### 1.2 Overview

In Sect. 2, we briefly introduce free probability, free distributions of operators characterized by free moments, or free cumulants. In Sects. 3, 4, and 5, we give a new construction of (weighted-)semicircular elements. This is done with the use of a new induction procedure from countable systems of projections. The focus of Sect. 6 is a new tool, which we call *semicircular free filterizations*. It is used in turn to give a new characterization of specific free (weighted-)semicircular families. In Sects. 7 and 8, we study *integer-shifts* on semicircular free filterizations as \*-homomorphisms on them; and more generally, *integer-shift operators*, generated by them. Section 9 deals with deformed free-distributional data under the actions of integer-shifts, and associated shift operators.

#### 2 Preliminaries

For free probability theory, see [23, 27] (and the cited papers therein). *Free probability* is the noncommutative analogue of classical *measure theory* (including *probability theory*) and *statistical analysis*. The classical *independence* is replaced by so-called the *freeness*, by replacing *measures* on sets to *linear functionals* on algebras. It is an important branch not only of operator theory (e.g., [4, 6, 7, 10, 17, 19, 20]), but also of applied mathematics (e.g., [8, 9, 11, 15, 18, 21, 29, 30]).

We use the combinatorial approaches [23] of free probability. Without detailed introduction, *Free moments* and *free cumulants* of operators will be computed to verify free distributions of them. Also, (free-probabilistic) *free product* (in the sense of [23] and [27]) is used without definition.

Let *B* be a (noncommutative) topological \*-algebra (a *C*\*-algebra, or a von Neumann algebra, or a Banach \*-algebra, etc.), and suppose  $\varphi$  is a linear functional on *B*. Then the pair (*B*,  $\varphi$ ) is said to be a topological (free) \*-probability space (a *C*\*-probability space, respectively, a *W*\*-probability space, respectively, a Banach \*-probability space, etc.). If one regards an operator  $x \in B$  as an element of (*B*,  $\varphi$ ), it is called a *free random variable*.

For any arbitrarily chosen free random variables  $x_1, \ldots, x_N \in (B, \varphi)$ , the *free distribution* of them is characterized by the *joint free moments* 

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \bigcup_{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)\in\{1,\ldots,N\}^n} \left( \bigcup_{(r_1,\ldots,r_n)\in\{1,*\}^n} \varphi\left(x_{i_1}^{r_1}x_{i_2}^{r_2}\ldots x_{i_n}^{r_n}\right) \right) \right)$$

Equivalently, if  $k_{\bullet}(...)$  is the *free cumulant on B in terms of*  $\varphi$  (in the sense of [23]), then the free distribution of  $x_1, ..., x_N$  is characterized by the *joint free cumulants* 

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \bigcup_{(i_1,\ldots,i_n)\in\{1,\ldots,N\}^n} \left( \bigcup_{(r_1,\ldots,r_n)\in\{1,*\}^n} k_n\left(x_{i_1}^{r_1},\ldots,x_{i_n}^{r_n}\right) \right) \right)$$

via the *Möbius inversion* of [23]. For instance, if  $x \in (B, \varphi)$  is a self-adjoint free random variable, equivalently, if  $x \in B$  is self-adjoint in the sense that:  $x^* = x$ , where  $x^*$  is the adjoint of x in B (e.g., [14]), then the free distribution of x is fully characterized by

the free moment sequence 
$$(\varphi(x^n))_{n=1}^{\infty}$$
,

or

the free cumulant sequence  $(k_n(x, \ldots, x))_{n=1}^{\infty}$ .

Recall that two free random variables  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  are *free in*  $(B, \varphi)$ , if and only if all "mixed" free cumulants of them vanish (See e.g., [23]), i.e., for any mixed *n*-tuple  $(i_1, \ldots, i_n) \in \{1, 2\}^n$ , for n > 1 in  $\mathbb{N}$ ,

$$k_n\left(x_{i_1}^{r_1}, \ldots, x_{i_n}^{r_n}\right) = 0,$$

for all  $(r_1, \ldots, r_n) \in \{1, *\}^n$ .

# 3 The Banach \*-Algebra $\mathfrak{L}_Q$

Let  $(B, \varphi)$  be an arbitrary topological \*-probability space.

A self-adjoint free random variable *a* is weighted-semicircular in  $(B, \varphi)$  with its weight  $t_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{\times} = \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$  (in short,  $t_0$ -semicircular), if *a* satisfies the free cumulant computations,

$$k_n(a,\ldots,a) = \begin{cases} k_2(a, a) = t_0 \text{ if } n = 2\\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $k_{\bullet}(...)$  is the free cumulant on *B* in terms of  $\varphi$  under the Möbius inversion of [23].

If  $t_0 = 1$  in (3.1), the 1-semicircular element *a* is said to be semicircular in (*B*,  $\varphi$ ), i.e., *a* is semicircular in (*B*,  $\varphi$ ), if *a* satisfies

$$k_n(a, \dots, a) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } n = 2\\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

By the *Möbius inversion* of [23], one can characterize the weightedsemicircularity (3.1) as follows: a self-adjoint operator a is  $t_0$ -semicircular in  $(B, \varphi)$ , if and only if

$$\varphi(a^n) = \omega_n \left( t_0^{\frac{n}{2}} c_{\frac{n}{2}} \right), \qquad (3.3)$$

where

$$\omega_n \stackrel{def}{=} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } n \text{ is even} \\ 0 & \text{if } n \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $c_k$  are the *k*-th *Catalan numbers*,

$$c_k = \frac{1}{k+1} \binom{2k}{k} = \frac{1}{k+1} \frac{(2k)!}{k!(2k-k)!} = \frac{(2k)!}{k!(k+1)!},$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ .

Similarly, a free random variable *a* is semicircular in  $(B, \varphi)$ , if and only if *a* is 1-semicircular in  $(B, \varphi)$ , if and only if

$$\varphi(a^n) = \omega_n c_{\frac{n}{2}},\tag{3.4}$$

by (3.3), for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $\omega_n$  and  $c_{\frac{n}{2}}$  are in the sense of (3.3).

So, we use the  $t_0$ -semicircularity (3.1) (or the semicircularity (3.2)) and its characterization (3.3) (resp., (3.4)) alternatively from below.

Throughout this paper, we fix a C\*-probability space  $(A, \psi)$ , containing  $|\mathbb{Z}|$ -many projections  $\{q_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$  in the C\*-algebra A, i.e., the operators  $q_j$  satisfy

$$q_j^* = q_j = q_j^2 \text{ in } A,$$

for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Note that there do exist such  $C^*$  -probabilistic structures arising naturally (e.g., [11, 14]), or artificially (e.g., [8, 9]).

Assume further that these projections  $\{q_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$  are *mutually orthogonal* in A, in the sense that:

$$q_i q_j = \delta_{i,j} q_j \text{ in } A, \text{ for all } i, j \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(3.5)

where  $\delta$  is the *Kronecker delta*.

Now, we fix a family  $\{q_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of the projections (3.5),

$$\mathbf{Q} = \{q_j \text{ of } (3.5) : j \in \mathbb{Z}\} \text{ in } A.$$
(3.6)

And let Q be the C\*-subalgebra of A generated by the family **Q** of (3.6),

$$Q \stackrel{def}{=} C^* \left( \mathbf{Q} \right) \subseteq A. \tag{3.7}$$

Let Q be the  $C^*$ -subalgebra (3.7) of A. Then

$$Q \stackrel{* \text{-iso}}{=} \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( \mathbb{C} \cdot q_j \right) \stackrel{* \text{-iso}}{=} \mathbb{C}^{\oplus |\mathbb{Z}|}, \tag{3.8}$$

in A, where  $\oplus$  is the direct product of C\*-algebras.

**Proof** The proof of (3.8) is immediate from the mutual-orthogonality (3.5).

Define now linear functionals  $\psi_j$  on the  $C^*$ -algebra Q by

$$\psi_j(q_i) = \delta_{ij}\psi(q_j), \text{ for all } i \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(3.9)

for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $\psi$  is the linear functional of our fixed  $C^*$ -probability space (A,  $\psi$ ). The linear functionals  $\{\psi_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$  of (3.9) are well-defined on Q by (3.8).

Assumption In the rest of this paper, we assume that

$$\psi(q_i) \neq 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{C}, \forall q_i \in \mathbf{Q}.$$

Then, as an independent  $C^*$ -algebra, the  $C^*$ -subalgebra Q of A forms  $C^*$ -probability spaces  $(Q, \psi_i)$ , where  $\psi_i$  are the linear functionals (3.9).

Define now bounded linear transformations **c** and **a** acting on the  $C^*$ -algebra Q, by linear morphisms satisfying

$$\mathbf{c}(q_j) = q_{j+1}, \text{ and } \mathbf{a}(q_j) = q_{j-1},$$
 (3.10)

for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then **c** and **a** are well-defined bounded operators "on Q," by (3.8).

They are *Banach-space operators*, contained in the *operator space* B(Q), consisting of all bounded linear transformations on Q, if we regard Q as a Banach space equipped with its  $C^*$ -norm (e.g., [12]). We call these Banach-space operators **c** and **a** of (3.10), the *creation*, respectively, the *annihilation* on Q.

Define the *radial operator*  $\mathbf{l} \in B(Q)$ , by

$$\mathbf{l} = \mathbf{c} + \mathbf{a} \text{ on } Q. \tag{3.11}$$

And then, construct a subspace  $\mathfrak{L}$  of B(Q) by

$$\mathfrak{L} \stackrel{def}{=} \overline{\mathbb{C}[\{\mathbf{l}\}]}^{\parallel,\parallel}, \tag{3.12}$$

generated by the radial operator **l** of (3.11), under the operator norm ||.|| of B(Q), where  $\overline{X}^{||.||}$  are the *operator-norm closures* of subsets X of B(Q) (e.g., [12]). By (3.12), this subspace  $\mathfrak{L}$  forms a Banach algebra in B(Q).

On this Banach algebra  $\mathfrak{L}$  of (3.12), define a unary operation (\*) by

$$\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} t_n \mathbf{l}^n\right)^* = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \overline{t_n} \mathbf{l}^n \text{ in } \mathfrak{L}, \qquad (3.13)$$

where  $\overline{z}$  are the *conjugates* of  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ .

Then this operation (3.13) is a well-defined *adjoint on*  $\mathcal{L}$  (See [8]), and hence, every element of  $\mathcal{L}$  is *adjointable* in B(Q) (e.g., [12]). So, the Banach algebra  $\mathcal{L}$  of (3.12) forms a *Banach* \*-*algebra* in B(Q).

Construct now the *tensor product Banach* \*-*algebra*  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ ,

$$\mathfrak{L}_Q = \mathfrak{L} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} Q, \tag{3.14}$$

where  $\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}$  is the tensor product of Banach \*-algebras.

We call the tensor product Banach \*-algebra  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$  of (3.14), the radial projection (Banach \*-)algebra on Q.

## 4 Weighted-Semicircular Elements Induced by Q

Let  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$  be the radial projection algebra (3.14). Remark that, if

$$u_j \stackrel{def}{=} \mathbf{l} \otimes q_j \in \mathfrak{L}_Q, \text{ for all } j \in \mathbb{Z},$$
(4.1)

then

$$u_j^n = \left(\mathbf{l} \otimes q_j\right)^n = \mathbf{l}^n \otimes q_j, \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N},$$

since  $q_j^n = q_j$ , for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . So, by (3.8), (3.12), and (3.14), such operators  $\{u_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$  of (4.1) generate  $\mathcal{L}_Q$ .

Now, define linear morphisms

$$E_{j,Q}: \mathfrak{L}_Q \to \mathfrak{L}_Q$$

by linear transformations satisfying

$$E_{j,Q}\left(u_{i}^{n}\right) \stackrel{def}{=} \begin{cases} \frac{\psi(q_{j})^{n-1}}{\left(\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]+1\right)} u_{j}^{n} & \text{if } i=j \\ 0_{\mathfrak{L}_{Q}}, \text{ the zero element of } \mathfrak{L}_{Q} & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(4.2)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $[\frac{n}{2}]$  means the *minimal integer* greater than or equal to  $\frac{n}{2}$ . The linear transformations  $E_{j,Q}$  of (4.13) are well-defined linear transformations on  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ , by the cyclicity (3.12) of a tensor factor  $\mathfrak{L}$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ , and the structure theorem (3.8) of the other tensor factor Q of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ .

Define now linear functionals  $\tau_i$  on  $\mathfrak{L}_O$  by a linear morphism satisfying

$$\tau_j \left( u_k^n \right) = \tau_j \left( \mathbf{l}^n \otimes q_k \right)$$
  
=  $\psi_j \left( E_{j,Q} \left( \mathbf{l}^n(q_k) \right) \right),$  (4.3)

for all  $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Fix  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and let  $u_k = \mathbf{l} \otimes q_k$  be the *k*-th generating operators of the Banach \*-probability space  $(\mathfrak{L}_Q, \varphi_j)$  of (4.3), for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then

$$\tau_j\left(u_j^n\right) = \delta_{k,j}\omega_n\psi\left(q_j\right)^n c_{\frac{n}{2}},\tag{4.4}$$

where  $\omega_n$  and  $c_{\frac{n}{2}}$  are in the sense of (3.3) for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Proof** By the definition (3.11) of the radial operator I on  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ , one has

$$\mathbf{l}^{n} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{k} \mathbf{c}^{k} \mathbf{a}^{n-k} on \mathfrak{L}_{Q},$$

with axiomatization:

$$\mathbf{l}^0 = \mathbf{c}^0 = \mathbf{a}^0 = \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{L}_Q}$$
, the identity operator on  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ ,

where

$$\binom{n}{k} = \frac{n!}{k!(n-k)!}, \text{ for all } n, k \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

because

$$\mathbf{c}^{n_1}\mathbf{a}^{n_2} = \mathbf{a}^{n_2}\mathbf{c}^{n_1}, \forall n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\},\$$

So, one can verify that  $l^{2n-1}$  does not contain  $1_{\mathfrak{L}_Q}$ -terms, but  $l^{2n}$  contains the  $1_{\mathfrak{L}_Q}$ -term,

$$\binom{2n}{n} \cdot \mathbf{1}_{\mathfrak{L}_Q}.$$

So, by the straightforward computation on (4.3), we obtain the formula (4.4), since

$$\psi(q_i) = \psi_i(q_i) \neq 0, \ for all j \in \mathbb{Z},$$

by (3.9) and (4.2). See [9] for more details.

The well-defined Banach \*-probability spaces

$$\mathfrak{L}_{Q}(j) \stackrel{denote}{=} \left( \mathfrak{L}_{Q}, \ \tau_{j} \right) \tag{4.5}$$

are called the *j*-th filter of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ , for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $\tau_j$  are as in (4.3).

The following theorem is proven by (4.4).

Let  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$  be the "*j*-th" filter of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ , for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and let  $u_j$  be the "*j*-th" generating operator (4.1) of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$ . Then  $u_j$  is  $\psi(q_j)^2$ -semicircular in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$ . Meanwhile, if  $k \neq j$  in  $\mathbb{Z}$ , then the *k*-th generating operators  $u_k$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$  have the zero free distribution in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$ .

**Proof** It is not hard to check the generating operator  $u_k$  are self-adjoint in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ . So, by (4.4), a generating operator  $u_k$  is  $\psi(q_j)^2$ -semicircular, if and only if k = j; otherwise,  $\{u_k\}_{k \neq j}$  follow the zero free distribution.

#### 5 Semicircular Elements Induced by Q

As in Sect. 4, let  $\mathfrak{L}_O(j)$  be the *j*-th filter for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Let  $U_j = \frac{1}{\psi(q_j)} u_j$  be a free random variable  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$  for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $u_j$  is the *j*-th generating operator of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ . If

$$\psi(q_i) \in \mathbb{R}^{\times} = \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\} in \mathbb{C}^{\times}, \tag{5.1}$$

then  $U_j$  is semicircular in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$ , for  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Proof** Since  $\psi(q_j) \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ , the operator  $U_j$  is self-adjoint in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$ , by the self-adjointness of  $u_j \in \mathfrak{L}_Q$ . So,

$$\tau_j\left(U_j^n\right) = \frac{1}{\psi(q_j)^n}\tau_j\left(u_j^n\right) = \omega_n c_{\frac{n}{2}},$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , by the  $\psi(q_j)^2$ -semicircularity (4.4) of  $u_j$  in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$ . Therefore, by (3.4), the free random variable  $U_j$  is semicircular in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$ , under the condition (5.1).

Assumption 2 From below, we automatically assume that

$$\psi(q_i) \in \mathbb{R}^{\times} in\mathbb{C}, \text{ for } q_i \in \mathbf{Q},$$

for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .  $\Box$ 

# 6 On the Free Filterization $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$

In this section, we construct the free product Banach \*-probability space  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ of the free filters  $\{\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ , and the corresponding sub-structure  $\mathbb{L}_Q = (\mathbb{L}_Q, \tau)$ generated by a free semicircular family  $\{U_j \in \mathfrak{L}_Q(j)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ , and study free-distributional data on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

# 6.1 The Semicircular Filterization $\mathbb{L}_Q$

Let  $(A, \psi)$  be the fixed  $C^*$ -probability space containing a family  $\mathbf{Q} = \{q_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of mutually orthogonal projections with

$$\psi(q_i) \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$$
, for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

and let  $\mathfrak{L}_{O}(j)$  be the *j*-th free filters of Q, for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . For the system

$$\{\mathfrak{L}_O(j): j \in \mathbb{Z}\}$$

of Banach \*-probability spaces, define the *free product Banach* \*-*probability space*  $\mathfrak{L}_O(\mathbb{Z})$  by

$$\mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}(\mathbb{Z}) \stackrel{denore}{=} \left(\mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}(\mathbb{Z}), \tau\right) \\ \stackrel{def}{=} \underbrace{\star}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}(j) = \left(\underbrace{\star}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{Q}, j}, \underbrace{\star}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \tau_{j}\right), \tag{6.1.1}$$

with

$$\mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}(\mathbb{Z}) = \underset{j \in \mathbb{Z}}{\star} \mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{Q},j}, \text{ with } \mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{Q},j} = \mathfrak{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}, \forall j \in \mathbb{Z},$$

and

$$\tau = \underset{j \in \mathbb{Z}}{\star} \tau_j \text{ on } \mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z}).$$

For more about free-probabilistic free products, see [23, 27].

Let  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$  be the free product Banach \*-probability space (6.1.1) of the system  $\{\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$  of all free filters of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q$ . Then it is said to be the free filterization of  $Q \subset (A, \psi)$ .

Now, construct two subsets  $\mathcal{X}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_O(\mathbb{Z})$ ,

$$\mathcal{X} = \{ u_j \in \mathfrak{L}_Q(j) : j \in \mathbb{Z} \}, \tag{6.1.2}$$

and

$$\mathcal{S} = \{ U_j \in \mathfrak{L}_Q(j) : j \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$

Recall that a subset  $\mathcal{Y}$  of an arbitrary topological \*-probability space  $(B, \varphi)$  is said to be a *free (weighted-)semicircular family* in  $(B, \varphi)$ , if all elements of  $\mathcal{Y}$  are not only mutually free from each other, but also (weighted-)semicircular in  $(B, \varphi)$ . (e.g., [10, 27]).

Let  $\mathcal{X}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  be in the sense of (6.1.2) in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ .

(6.1.3) The family  $\mathcal{X}$  is a free weighted-semicircular family in  $\mathfrak{L}_O(\mathbb{Z})$ .

(6.1.4) The family S is a free semicircular family in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ .

**Proof** The proof of the statements (6.1.3) is done by (4.4) and (6.1.1). The statement (6.1.4) is shown by Theorem 5.1 and (6.1.1).  $\Box$ 

By (4.4), the only "*j*-th" generating operators  $u_j$  of the free blocks  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(j)$  provide non-vanishing free-distributional data on the free filterization  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ . Thus, we restrict our interests to the Banach \*-subalgebra  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  of the free filterization  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ .

Let  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$  be the free filterization of Q. Define a Banach \*-subalgebra  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$  by

$$\mathbb{L}_{Q} \stackrel{def}{=} \overline{\mathbb{C}\left[\mathcal{X}\right]},\tag{6.1.5}$$

where  $\mathcal{X}$  is the free weighted-semicircular family (6.1.3) in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ , and  $\overline{Y}$  are the Banach-topology closures of the subsets *Y* of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ . Canonically, construct the Banach \*-probability space,

$$\mathbb{L}_{Q} \stackrel{denote}{=} \left( \mathbb{L}_{Q}, \ \tau = \tau \mid_{\mathbb{L}_{Q}} \right), \tag{6.1.6}$$

in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z}) = (\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z}), \tau).$ 

We call the Banach \*-algebra  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  of (6.1.5), or the Banach \*-probability space  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  of (6.1.6), the semicircular (free-sub-)filterization of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ .

By (6.1.5) and (6.1.6), the operators of  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  are the free random variables of  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ , with possible non-zero free distributions.
Let  $\mathbb{L}_{O}$  be the semicircular filterization (6.1.5). Then

$$\mathbb{L}_{Q} = \overline{\mathbb{C}[S]} \stackrel{*-\mathrm{iso}}{=} \underbrace{\star}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \overline{\mathbb{C}[\{u_{j}\}]} \stackrel{*-\mathrm{iso}}{=} \overline{\mathbb{C}\left[\underbrace{\star}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \{u_{j}\}\right]}, \tag{6.1.7}$$

in  $\mathfrak{L}_Q(\mathbb{Z})$ , where " $\stackrel{\text{(*-iso,)}}{=}$  means "being Banach-\*-isomorphic," and where ( $\star$ ) in the first \*-isomorphic relation of (6.1.7) means the free-probabilistic free product of [23, 27], and ( $\star$ ) in the second \*-isomorphic relation of (6.1.7) is the pure-algebraic free product inducing noncommutative free words in  $\mathcal{X}$ .

**Proof** The relation (6.1.7) is proven by (6.1.3) and (6.1.4). See [9] for details.  $\Box$ 

### 6.2 Free-Distributional Data Induced by Semicircular Elements

Throughout this section, let  $(B, \varphi)$  be an arbitrary topological \*-probability space, and suppose there are mutually free, *N*-many semicircular elements  $x_1, \ldots, x_N$  in  $(B, \varphi)$ , for  $N \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ .

By the self-adjointness of these semicircular elements  $x_1, \ldots, x_N \in (B, \varphi)$ , the free distribution, say

$$\rho \stackrel{denote}{=} \rho_{x_1,\dots,x_N},\tag{6.2.1}$$

of them are characterized by the joint free-moments

$$\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \bigcup_{(i_1,\dots,i_n)\in\{1,\dots,N\}^n} \left\{ \varphi\left(x_{i_1}x_{i_2}\dots x_{i_n}\right) \right\} \right)$$
(6.2.1')

(e.g., [23, 27]). More precisely, the free distribution  $\rho$  of (6.2.1), is characterized by the free-moments

$$\bigcup_{l=1}^{N} \left\{ \varphi(x_l^n) \right\}_{n=1}^{\infty}, \qquad (6.2.2)$$

and the "mixed" free-moments,

$$\bigcup_{\substack{s=2\\s=2}}^{\infty} \left\{ \varphi \left( x_{i_1}^{n_1} x_{i_2}^{n_2} \dots x_{i_s}^{n_s} \right) \left| \begin{array}{c} (i_1, \dots, i_s) \in \{1, \dots, N\}^s \\ \text{are mixed in } \{1, \dots, N\}, \\ \text{for all } n_1, \dots, n_s \in \mathbb{N} \end{array} \right\},$$
(6.2.3)

by (6.2.1)'. In this section, to characterize the free distribution  $\rho$  of (6.2.1), we investigate the free-distributional data (6.2.2) and (6.2.3).

The free-distributional data (6.2.2) of the free distribution  $\rho$  of (6.2.1) are characterized by the semicircularity. i.e.,

$$\varphi\left(x_{l}^{n}\right) = \omega_{n} c_{\frac{n}{2}}, \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{6.2.4}$$

for all l = 1, ..., N.

**Proof** The formula (6.2.4) is proven by (3.4).

Now, we concentrate on studying the free-distributional data (6.2.3) of the free distribution  $\rho$  of (6.2.1). For any  $s \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$ , we fix a mixed *s*-tuple  $I_s$ ,

$$I_s \stackrel{denote}{=} (i_1, \dots, i_s) \in \{1, \dots, N\}^s, \tag{6.2.5}$$

in  $\{1, ..., N\}$  in the sense that there exists at least one entry  $i_{k_0}$  in  $I_s$  such that  $i_{k_0} \neq i_l$ , for some  $l \neq k_0$  in  $\{1, ..., s\}$ . For example,

$$I_8 = (1, 1, 3, 2, 3, 2, 2, 1),$$

in  $\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}^8$ .

From the sequence  $I_s$  of (6.2.5), define a set

$$I_s] = \{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_s\},\tag{6.2.6}$$

without considering repetitions on identical entries. For instance, if  $I_8$  is as above,

$$[I_8] = \{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_8\},\$$

with  $i_1 = i_2 = i_8 = 1$ ,  $i_4 = i_6 = i_7 = 2$ , and  $i_3 = i_5 = 3$ .

Then from the set  $[I_s]$  of (6.2.6), one can define a unique "noncrossing" partition  $\pi_{(I_s)}$  of the lattice *NC* ( $[I_s]$ ) of [23], such that (i) starting from the very first entry  $i_1$ , construct the largest block  $V_1$  of  $\pi_{(I_s)}$ , satisfying

$$V_1 = \left(i_{j_1} = i_1, \ i_{j_2}, \ \dots, \ i_{j_{|V_1|}}\right) \in \pi_{(I_s)},\tag{6.2.7}$$

 $\Leftrightarrow$ 

$$i_{j_1} = i_{j_2} = \ldots = i_{j_{|V_1|}} = i_1$$

and do this process for the very next entry other than  $i_{j_1}, \ldots, i_{j_{|V_1|}}$ , step-by-step, until they end; (ii) such a partition  $\pi_{(I_s)}$  of (i) has to be "maximal" in *NC* ([*I<sub>s</sub>*]), satisfying the processes of (i) (e.g., [23]). For example, if *I*<sub>8</sub> and [*I*<sub>8</sub>] are as above, then there exists a noncrossing partition

$$\pi_{(I_8)} = \{ (i_1, i_2, i_8), (i_3, i_5), (i_4), (i_6, i_7), (i_5) \} \\ = \{ (1, 1, 1), (3, 3), (2), (2, 2), (3) \},\$$

in  $NC([I_8])$ , satisfying the above conditions (i) and (ii). Note that, even though  $i_4 = i_6 = i_7 = 2$ , we have to take the separated blocks  $(i_4)$  and  $(i_6, i_7)$  (after taking  $(i_3, i_5)$ ), to avoid "crossing."

Now, suppose  $\pi_{(I_s)} \in NC$  ([ $I_s$ ]) is the noncrossing partition (6.2.7) over the set [ $I_s$ ] of (6.2.6), and let

$$\pi_{(I_s)} = \{V_1, \ldots, V_t\},\$$

where  $t \le s$  and  $V_k \in \pi_{(I_s)}$  are the blocks of (ii), satisfying (i), for k = 1, ..., t. Then the partition  $\pi_{(i_s)}$  is regarded as the joint partition

Then the partition  $\pi_{(I_s)}$  is regarded as the joint partition,

$$\pi_{(I_s)} = 1_{|V_1|} \vee 1_{|V_2|} \vee \ldots \vee 1_{|V_t|}, \tag{6.2.8}$$

where  $1_{|V_k|}$  are the maximal elements of *NC* ( $V_k$ ), for all k = 1, ..., t, by regarding blocks  $V_k$  as independent sets.

Let  $I_s$  be in the sense of (6.2.5), and let  $x_{i_1}, \ldots, x_{i_s}$  be the corresponding semicircular elements of  $(B, \varphi)$  induced by  $I_s$ . Define a free random variable  $X[I_s]$  by

$$X[I_s] \stackrel{def}{=} \prod_{l=1}^s x_{i_l} \in (B, \varphi).$$
(6.2.9)

If  $X[I_s]$  is in the sense of (6.2.9), then

$$\varphi\left(X[I_s]\right) = \sum_{\pi \in NC([I_s])} k_{\pi}$$

by the Möbius inversion, where

$$k_{\pi} = \prod_{V \in \pi} k_V,$$

with  $k_V = k_{|V|} \left( x_{j_{l_1}}, \dots, x_{j_{|V|}} \right)$ , whenever  $V = \left( j_{l_1}, \dots, j_{l_{|V|}} \right)$ , where  $k_{\bullet}(\dots)$  is the free cumulant on *B* in terms of  $\varphi$ , and hence, it goes to

$$= \sum_{\pi \in NC([I_s]), \ \pi \le \pi_{(I_s)}} k_{\pi}$$

by the mutual-freeness of  $x_1, \ldots, x_N$  in  $(B, \varphi)$ 

$$=\sum_{(\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_t)\in NC(V_1)\times\ldots\times NC(V_t)}k_{\theta_1\vee\ldots\vee\theta_t}$$

by (6.2.8)

$$= \sum_{(\theta_1,\dots,\theta_t)\in NC_2(V_1)\times\dots\times NC_2(V_t)} k_{\theta_1\vee\dots\vee\theta_t}$$
(6.2.10)

by the semicircularity (3.2) of  $x_{i_1}, \ldots, x_{i_s}$  in  $(A, \varphi)$ , where  $NC_2(X)$  is the subset of the noncrossing-partition lattice NC(X),

$$NC_2(X) = \{ \pi \in NC(X) : \forall V \in \pi, |V| = 2 \},$$
(6.2.11)

over countable finite sets X.

By (6.2.10) and (6.2.11), if there is at least one  $k_0 \in \{1, ..., t\}$ , such that  $|V_{k_0}|$  is odd in  $\mathbb{N}$ , then

$$\varphi\left(X[I_s]\right) = 0,$$

by (3.2), where  $X[I_s]$  is the free random variable (6.2.9) of  $(B, \varphi)$ .

So, the formula (6.2.10) is non-zero, only if

$$|V_k| \in 2\mathbb{N}$$
, for all  $k = 1, \dots, t$ , (6.2.12)

where  $2\mathbb{N} = \{2n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}.$ 

Moreover, if the condition (6.2.12) is satisfied, then the summands  $k_{\theta_1 \vee ... \vee \theta_t}$  of (6.2.10) satisfy that

$$k_{\theta_1 \vee \dots \vee \theta_t} = \prod_{V \in \theta_1 \vee \dots \vee \theta_t} k_V = \prod_{V \in \theta_1 \vee \dots \vee \theta_t} \left( \prod_{i=1}^t 1^{\#(\theta_i)} \right) = 1,$$
(6.2.13)

by the semicircularity (3.2), where  $#(\theta_i)$  are the number of blocks of  $\theta_i$ , for all i = 1, ..., t. Therefore, if the condition (6.2.12) holds, then

$$\varphi\left(X[I_s]\right) = \sum_{\left(\theta_1, \dots, \theta_t\right) \in NC_2([V_1]) \times \dots \times NC_2([V_t])} 1$$

$$= \left|NC_2\left(V_1\right) \times \dots \times NC_2\left(V_t\right)\right|,$$
(6.2.14)

by (6.2.10) and (6.2.13), where |Y| are the cardinalities of sets Y.

Let  $I_s$  be an *s*-tuple (6.2.5), and let  $X[I_s] = \prod_{l=1}^{s} x_{i_l}$  be the corresponding free random variable (6.2.9) of  $(B, \varphi)$ . If

$$\pi_{(I_s)}=1_{|V_1|}\vee\ldots\vee 1_{|V_t|},$$

in the sense of (6.2.7) and (6.2.8), then

$$\varphi\left(X[I_{s}]\right) = \begin{cases} t & \text{if } |V_{k}| \in 2\mathbb{N}, \\ \prod_{i=1}^{t} C_{\frac{|V_{i}|}{2}} & \text{for all } k = 1, \dots, t \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(6.2.15)

*Proof* Under hypothesis, by (6.2.14)

$$\varphi \left( X[I_s] \right) = \begin{cases} |NC_2(V_1) \times \ldots \times NC_2(V_t)| & \text{if } |V_k| \in 2\mathbb{N}, \\ \text{for all } k = 1, \dots, t \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Recall that, for every countable set *X*, with  $|X| \in 2\mathbb{N}$ , the subset

$$NC_2(X) = \{\theta \in NC(X) : \forall V \in \theta, |V| = 2\}$$

is equipotent (or bijective) to the noncrossing-partition lattice  $NC\left(\frac{|X|}{2}\right)$  over {1, ...,  $\frac{|X|}{2}$ } (e.g., [8] and [11]). i.e., if  $|V_k| \in 2\mathbb{N}$ , then

$$|NC_2(V_k)| = \left|NC\left(\frac{|V_k|}{2}\right)\right|,\tag{6.2.16}$$

for all  $k = 1, \ldots, t$ . So, we have

$$\varphi \left( X[I_{s}] \right)$$

$$= \begin{cases} \left| NC \left( \frac{|V_{1}|}{2} \right) \times \ldots \times NC \left( \frac{|V_{l}|}{2} \right) \right| & \text{if } |V_{k}| \in 2\mathbb{N}, \\ \text{for all } k = 1, \ldots, t \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \prod_{l=1}^{t} C_{\frac{|V_{l}|}{2}} & \text{for all } l = 1, \ldots, t \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

$$(6.2.17)$$

by (6.2.16), because  $|NC(X)| = c_{|X|}$ , for all finite sets X (e.g., [10, 11, 19, 23]). Therefore, the formula (6.2.15) holds by (6.2.17).

#### 6.3 Free-Distributional Data on $\mathbb{L}_{O}$

Let  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  be our semicircular filterization (6.1.5) generated by the free semicircular family S of (6.1.3). By the structure theorem (6.1.7), all free random variables of  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  are the limits of linear combinations of free reduced words

$$W = \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{j_{l}}^{n_{l}}, \text{ for } U_{j_{l}} \in \mathcal{S}, \forall l = 1, \dots, N,$$
(6.3.1)

in S, for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , where  $n_1, \ldots, n_N \in \mathbb{N}$ , and the *N*-tuple  $(j_1, \ldots, j_N)$  is an alternating in  $\mathbb{Z}$  in the sense that:

$$j_1 \neq j_2, j_2 \neq j_3, \ldots, j_{N-1} \neq j_N$$

Let *W* be a free reduced word (6.3.1) of  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  in *S*.

(6.3.2) If N = 1 in (6.3.1), then  $\tau(W)$  is characterized by (6.2.4). (6.3.3) If N > 1 in (6.3.1), then  $\tau(W)$  is determined by (6.2.15).

**Proof** The statement (6.3.2) (or (6.3.3)) is proven by (6.2.4) (resp., (6.2.15)), by the universality (3.4) (or (3.2)) of the semicircular law.

The above theorem fully characterizes the free-distributional data on the semicircular filterization  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , by (6.3.2) and (6.3.3).

### 7 Shifts on $\mathbb{Z}$ and Integer-Shifts on $\mathbb{L}_Q$

In this section, let  $(A, \psi)$  be the fixed  $C^*$ -probability space containing a family  $\mathbf{Q} = \{q_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of mutually-orthogonal projections  $q_j$ 's having

$$\psi(q_i) \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$$
, for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

and let  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  be the semicircular filterization (6.1.6).

#### 7.1 (±)-Shifts on $\mathbb{Z}$

Define functions  $h_+$  and  $h_-$  on  $\mathbb{Z}$  by

$$h_+(j) = j + 1,$$
 (7.1.1)

and

$$h_{-}(j) = j - 1,$$

for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . By the definition (7.1.1), these two functions  $h_{\pm}$  are well-defined bijections, which are functional inverses from each other on  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

For these bijections  $h_{\pm}$  of (7.1.1), define the bijections  $h_{\pm}^{(n)}$  by

$$h_{\pm}^{(n)} = \underbrace{h_{\pm} \circ h_{\pm} \circ \cdots \circ h_{\pm}}_{n\text{-times}}, \text{ on } \mathbb{Z}$$
(7.1.2)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , with identities,  $h_{\pm}^{(1)} = h_{\pm}$ . It is not difficult to check that

$$h_{\pm}^{(n)}(j) = j \pm n$$
, for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We call the bijections  $h_{\pm}^{(n)}$ , the n-( $\pm$ )-shifts on  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

# 7.2 Integer-Shifts on $\mathbb{L}_Q$

Let  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  be the semicircular filterization, and let  $h_{\pm}^{(n)}$  be n-( $\pm$ )-shifts of (7.1.2) on  $\mathbb{Z}$ , for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Define a "multiplicative" bounded linear transformations  $\beta_{\pm}$  on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  by morphisms satisfying that:

$$\beta_{\pm}\left(U_{j}\right) = U_{h_{\pm}(j)},\tag{7.2.1}$$

for all  $U_j \in S$ , where S is the free semicircular family (6.1.4).

Let  $Y = \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{j_l}^{n_l} \in \mathbb{L}_Q$ , for  $U_{j_1}, \ldots, U_{j_N} \in S$ , and  $n_1, \ldots, n_N \in \mathbb{N}$ , for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then

$$\beta_{\pm}(Y) = \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{j_l \pm 1}^{n_l}.$$
(7.2.2)

**Proof** Let *Y* be given as above in  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ . Then, by the multiplicativity of the linear transformations  $\beta_{\pm}$  of (7.2.1), one has that

$$\beta_{\pm}(Y) = \prod_{l=1}^{N} \beta_{\pm} \left( U_{j_{l}}^{n_{l}} \right) = \prod_{l=1}^{N} \left( \beta_{\pm} \left( U_{j_{l}} \right) \right)^{n_{l}} = \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{h_{\pm}(j_{l})}^{n_{l}}$$

Therefore, the formula (7.2.2) holds.

By (7.2.2), the free-reduced-word-ness on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  in the generator set S is preserved by the actions of  $\beta_{\pm}$ . Indeed, if an arbitrary *N*-tuple  $(j_1, \ldots, j_N)$  is alternating in  $\mathbb{Z}$ , then the *N*-tuples  $(h_{\pm}(j_1), \ldots, h_{\pm}(j_N))$  are alternating in  $\mathbb{Z}$ , too, for all  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . The linear morphisms  $\beta_{\pm}$  of (7.2.1) are \*-isomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

**Proof** By (6.1.7), all elements of the semicircular filterization  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  are the limits of linear combinations of free reduced words in the free semicircular family S. So, let's focus on free reduced words of  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  in S.

Let  $(j_1, \ldots, j_N)$  be an alternating N-tuple in  $\mathbb{Z}$  for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , and

$$Y = \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{j_l}^{n_l}, \text{ for } n_1, \dots, n_N \in \mathbb{N}.$$

By the alternating-ness of  $(j_1, ..., j_N)$ , the above operator *Y* is a free reduced word with its length-*N* in  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  by (6.1.7). So, by (7.2.2),

$$\beta_{\pm}(Y) = \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{h_{\pm}(j_l)}^{n_l}, \qquad (7.2.3)$$

are free reduced words with their lengths-*N* in  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  too. i.e., these multiplicative linear transformations  $\beta_{\pm}$  of (7.2.1) are generator-preserving by (6.1.7), and hence, they are bounded and bijective on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

Consider now that if Y is as above, then

$$\beta_{\pm}(Y^*) = \beta_{\pm} \left( \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{j_{N-l+1}}^{n_{N-l+1}} \right)$$

by the self-adjointness of  $U_{j_1}, \ldots, U_{j_N}$ 

$$= \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{h_{\pm}(j_{N-l+1})}^{n_{N-l+1}}$$

by (7.2.2)

$$= \left(\prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{h_{\pm}(j_{l})}^{n_{l}}\right)^{*} = (\beta_{\pm}(Y))^{*}.$$
(7.2.4)

By (6.1.7) and (7.2.4),

$$\beta_{\pm}(S^*) = (\beta_{\pm}(S))^*$$
, for all  $S \in \mathbb{L}_Q$ .

Thus, the bijective bounded multiplicative linear transformations  $\beta_{\pm}$  of (7.2.1) are adjoint-preserving. i.e., they are well-defined \*-isomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

The above lemma shows that the  $(\pm)$ -shifts  $h_{\pm}$  of (7.1.1) on  $\mathbb{Z}$  induce the corresponding \*-isomorphisms  $\beta_{\pm}$  of (7.2.2) on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

The \*-isomorphisms  $\beta_{\pm}$  of (7.2.1) are called the ( $\pm$ )-integer-shifts on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

Let  $\beta_{\pm}$  be  $(\pm)$ -integer-shifts on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ . Then one can define the iterated product (or composition)  $\beta_{\pm}^n$  of them by

$$\beta_{\pm}^{n} = \underbrace{\beta_{\pm}\beta_{\pm}\beta_{\pm}\cdots\beta_{\pm}}_{n\text{-times}} on\mathbb{L}_{Q}, \qquad (7.2.5)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , with axiomatization:

$$\beta_{\pm}^0 = \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{L}_Q}$$
, the identity  $*$ -isomorphism on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

We call  $\beta_{\pm}^n$ , the *n*-( $\pm$ )-*integer-shifts on*  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Since  $\beta_{\pm}$  are \*isomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , the *n*-( $\pm$ )-integer-shifts  $\beta_{\pm}^n$  of (7.2.5) are \*-isomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  too, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ .

It is not difficult to check that

$$\beta_{+}^{n}\beta_{-}^{n} = 1_{\mathbb{L}_{Q}} = \beta_{-}^{n}\beta_{+}^{n}on\mathbb{L}_{Q}, \qquad (7.2.6)$$

i.e.,

$$\left(\beta_e^n\right)^{-1}=\beta_{-e}^n,$$

for all  $e \in \{\pm\}$ , and  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , where  $f^{-1}$  mean the *inverses of* f, where

$$-e = \begin{cases} - & \text{if } e = + \\ + & \text{if } e = -. \end{cases}$$

If  $\beta_{e_1}^{n_1}$ ,  $\beta_{e_2}^{n_2}$  are in the sense of (7.2.5), for  $e_1, e_2 \in \{\pm\}$ , and  $n_1, n_2 \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , then

$$\beta_{e_1}^{n_1}\beta_{e_2}^{n_2} = \beta_{sgn(e_1n_1e_2n_2)}^{|e_1n_1e_2n_2|} \text{ on } \mathbb{L}_Q,$$
(7.2.7)

where

$$en = \begin{cases} +n & \text{if } e = + \\ -n & \text{if } e = -, \end{cases}$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , and where |.| is the *absolute value on*  $\mathbb{Z}$ , and *sgn* is the *sign map on*  $\mathbb{Z}$ , defined by

$$sgn(j) = \begin{cases} + & \text{if } j \ge 0 \\ - & \text{if } j < 0, \end{cases}$$

for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

By (7.2.7), one can check that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \beta_{e_1}^{n_1} \beta_{e_2}^{n_2} \end{pmatrix} \beta_{e_3}^{n_3} = \beta_{sgn(e_1n_1e_2n_2)}^{|e_1n_1e_2n_2|} \beta_{e_3}^{n_3}$$

$$= \beta_{sgn(e_1n_1e_2n_2e_3n_3)}^{|e_1n_1e_2n_2e_3n_3|} = \beta_{e_1}^{n_1} \beta_{sgn(e_2n_2e_3n_3)}^{|e_2n_2e_3n_3|}$$

$$= \beta_{e_1}^{n_1} \left( \beta_{e_2}^{n_2} \beta_{e_3}^{n_3} \right),$$

$$(7.2.8)$$

on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , for  $e_l \in \{\pm\}$ , and  $n_l \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , for all l = 1, 2, 3.

Now, consider the set  $\mathfrak{B}$  of all n-( $\pm$ )-shifts  $\beta_{\pm}^{n}$  on  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}$ , i.e.,

$$\mathfrak{B} = \{\beta^n_\pm\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}_0}.\tag{7.2.9}$$

Let  $Aut(\mathbb{L}_{O})$  be the *automorphism group of*  $\mathbb{L}_{O}$ ,

$$Aut\left(\mathbb{L}_{Q}\right) = \left( \left\{ \alpha : \mathbb{L}_{Q} \to \mathbb{L}_{Q} \middle| \begin{array}{c} \alpha \text{ are} \\ *\text{-isomorphisms} \\ \text{on } \mathbb{L}_{Q} \end{array} \right\}, \cdot \right), \quad (7.2.10)$$

consisting of all \*-isomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , where the operation (·) is the product (or composition) of \*-isomorphisms.

Let  $\mathfrak{B}$  be the subset (7.2.9) of the automorphism group  $Aut(\mathbb{L}_Q)$  of (7.2.10). Then

$$\mathfrak{B}$$
 is a subgroup of  $Aut(\mathbb{L}_Q)$ . (7.2.11)

**Proof** Let  $\mathfrak{B}$  be in the sense of (7.2.9). Then, by (7.2.7), the operation ( $\cdot$ ) is closed on  $\mathfrak{B}$ . So, the algebraic pair  $\mathfrak{B} = (\mathfrak{B}, \cdot)$  is well-constructed as a sub-structure of  $Aut(\mathbb{L}_Q)$ . By (7.2.8), this operation is associative on  $\mathfrak{B}$ .

Since  $\beta^0_+ = \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{L}_Q} = \beta^0_-$  in  $\mathfrak{B}$ , and since

$$\beta_e^n \cdot 1_{\mathbb{L}_Q} = \beta_e^n = 1_{\mathbb{L}_Q} \cdot \beta_e^n on \mathbb{L}_Q,$$

by (7.2.8), for all  $e \in \{\pm\}$ , and  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , the set  $\mathfrak{B}$  contains its (·)-identity  $\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{L}_0}$ .

Finally, by (7.2.6), all elements  $\beta_{\pm}^n \in \mathfrak{B}$  have their unique (·)-inverses  $\beta_{\mp}^{\tilde{n}} \in \mathfrak{B}$ . So, the subset  $\mathfrak{B}$  forms a group in  $Aut(\mathbb{L}_Q)$ .

By (7.2.11), the system  $\mathfrak{B}$  of (7.2.9) is a group.

Let  $\mathfrak{B}$  be the subgroup (7.2.9) of the automorphism group  $Aut(\mathbb{L}_Q)$ . Then

~

$$\mathfrak{B} \stackrel{\text{Group}}{=} (\mathbb{Z}, +), \tag{7.2.12}$$

where " $\stackrel{\text{(Group,")}}{=}$ " means "being group-isomorphic," where  $(\mathbb{Z}, +)$  is the infinite cyclic abelian group.

**Proof** Define now a function  $\Phi : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathfrak{B}$  by

$$\Phi: j \in \mathbb{Z} \longmapsto \beta_{sgn(j)}^{|j|} \in \mathfrak{B}.-$$
(7.2.13)

Then it is not difficult to check this function  $\Phi$  of (7.2.13) is a group-isomorphism from  $\mathbb{Z}$  onto  $\mathfrak{B}$ . Therefore, the relation (7.2.12) holds.

The above theorem characterizes the group-structure of  $\mathfrak{B}$  by (7.2.12). We call the group  $\mathfrak{B}$ , the integer-shift group on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}$ .

#### 7.3 Free Distributions on $\mathbb{L}_0$ Affected by $\mathfrak{B}$

Let  $\mathfrak{B}$  be the integer-shift group (7.2.9) acting on the semicircular filterization  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ . In this section, we consider how our \*-isomorphisms  $\beta^n_{\pm} \in \mathfrak{B}$  affect the free probability on the semicircular filterization  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

Take an arbitrary free reduced word Y

$$Y = \prod_{l=1}^{N} U_{j_{l}}^{n_{l}} of \mathbb{L}_{Q}$$
(7.3.1)

in the free semicircular family S, for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , where the *N*-tuple  $(j_1, \ldots, j_N)$  is alternating in  $\mathbb{Z}$ , and  $n_1, \ldots, n_N \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Let *Y* be a free reduced word (7.3.1) of  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  in S. Then

$$\tau\left(\beta_e^k(Y)\right) = \tau(Y), \text{ for all } \beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}.$$
 (7.3.2)

**Proof** First assume that N = 1, and hence,  $Y = U_{j_1}^{n_1}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ . Then, by the semicircularity of  $U_{j_1}, U_{j_1ek} \in S$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , one has that

$$\tau\left(\beta_{e}^{k}(Y)\right) = \tau\left(U_{jek}^{n_{1}}\right) = \omega_{n_{1}}c_{\frac{n_{1}}{2}} = \tau\left(U_{j_{1}}^{n_{1}}\right),\tag{7.3.3}$$

for all  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}$ . Therefore, the statement (7.3.2) holds.

Assume now that N > 1 in  $\mathbb{N}$ . Then  $\beta_e^k(Y) = \prod_{l=1}^N U_{j_lek}^{n_k}$  is a free reduced word with the same length-N in  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , for all  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}$ . Now, let

$$I_s = \left(\underbrace{j_1, \dots, j_1}_{n_1\text{-times}}, \underbrace{j_2, \dots, j_2}_{n_2\text{-times}}, \dots, \underbrace{j_N, \dots, j_N}_{n_N\text{-times}}\right)$$

be the *s*-tuple in the sense of (6.2.5), satisfying

$$Y = X[I_s]in\mathbb{L}_O$$
, for some  $s \ge N$ ,

where  $X[I_s]$  is in the sense of (6.2.9).

Similarly, let

$$I_{s'} = \left(\underbrace{j_1ek, \ldots, j_1ek}_{n_1\text{-times}}, \underbrace{j_2ek, \ldots, j_2ek}_{n_2\text{-times}}, \ldots, \underbrace{j_Nek, \ldots, j_Nek}_{n_N\text{-times}}\right)$$

be the s'-tuple of (6.2.5), satisfying

$$\beta_e^k(Y) = X[I_{s'}] \text{ in } \mathbb{L}_Q,$$

for  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}$ , where  $X[I_{s'}]$  is in the sense of (6.2.9). Since *Y* and  $\beta_e^k(Y)$  are the free reduced words with same lengths-*N*, one has

$$s = s'in\mathbb{N}, and\pi(I_s) = \pi(I_{s'})inNC([I_s]),$$

where  $\pi(I_s)$  and  $\pi(I_{s'})$  are the noncrossing partitions of (6.2.7).

By the semicircularity of  $U_{i_1}, \ldots, U_{i_N}, U_{i_1ek}, \ldots, U_{i_Nek} \in S$  in  $\mathbb{L}_O$ , we have

$$\tau\left(\beta_{e}^{k}(Y)\right) = \tau\left(X[I_{s'}]\right) = \tau\left(X[I_{s}]\right) = \tau\left(Y\right)$$

by (6.2.15), for all  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}$ . So, the relation (7.3.2) holds.

The above theorem shows that  $\mathfrak{B}$  preserves the free probability on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}$ . i.e.,

$$\tau\left(\beta_{e}^{k}(T)\right) = \tau\left(T\right), \text{ for all } T \in \mathbb{L}_{Q},$$

by (6.1.7) and (6.3.2), for all  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}$ .

#### 8 Semicircular Elements Induced by Multi Projections

In this section, we show that if there are N-many, mutually orthogonal projections in an arbitrary  $C^*$ -probability space, then there exists a corresponding free semicircular family  $S^{(N)}$  of mutually free, N-many semicircular elements, induced by the projections in a certain Banach \*-probability space  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}$ , for any

$$N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty} = (\mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}) \cup \{\infty\}.$$

We consider how the integer-shift group  $\mathfrak{B}$  acts on  $\left\{\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}\right\}_{N\in\mathbb{N}^{\infty}}$ .

# 8.1 A Free Semicircular Family $S^{(N)}$ Induced by N-many Projections

Let  $(A_o, \psi_o)$  be a  $C^*$ -probability space containing its *N*-many, mutually orthogonal projections

$$\mathbf{Q}_o = \{q_1^o, \dots, q_N^o\}$$
(8.1.1)

for  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and let

$$Q_o = C^* \left( \mathbf{Q}_o \right) \subseteq A_o \tag{8.1.2}$$

be the  $C^*$ -subalgebra of A generated by the family  $\mathbf{Q}_o$  of (8.1.1). Suppose

$$\psi_o\left(q_k^o\right) \in \mathbb{R}^{\times} \text{ in } \mathbb{C}, \forall k = 1, \dots, N.$$
 (8.1.3)

Let  $Q_o$  be the  $C^*$ -subalgebra (8.1.2) of  $A_o$ . Then

$$Q_o \stackrel{*-\mathrm{iso}}{=} \stackrel{N}{\bigoplus}_{l=1} \left( \mathbb{C} \cdot q_l^o \right) \stackrel{*-\mathrm{iso}}{=} \mathbb{C}^{\oplus N}.$$
(8.1.4)

**Proof** By the mutual orthogonality on the generator set  $\mathbf{Q}_o$  of  $Q_o$ , the structure theorem (8.1.4) is shown.

Suppose there is a  $C^*$ -probability space  $(A, \psi)$  containing the family  $\mathbf{Q} = \{q_j\}_{j \in \mathbb{Z}}$  of mutually orthogonal  $|\mathbb{Z}|$ -many projections  $q_j$ 's, satisfying

$$\psi(q_j) \in \mathbb{R}^{\times} in\mathbb{C}, \text{ for all } j \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (8.1.5)

Assume further that there exist projections  $q_{j_1}, \ldots, q_{j_N} \in \mathbf{Q}$ , such that

$$\psi\left(q_{j_l}\right) = \psi_o\left(q_l^o\right) in \mathbb{R}^{\times},\tag{8.1.6}$$

for all l = 1, ..., N, where  $\psi_o$  is the linear functional on the C\*-algebra  $A_o$ , satisfying (8.1.3). For convenience, without loss of generality, we re-index the subfamily

$$\{q_{j_1},\ldots,q_{j_N}\}of\mathbf{Q} \tag{8.1.7}$$

by

$$\{q_1, ..., q_N\}$$
 in **Q**.

Let  $Q_o$  be the  $C^*$ -subalgebra (8.1.2) of a fixed  $C^*$ -probability space  $(A_o, \psi_o)$ . If there exists a  $C^*$ -probability space  $(A, \psi)$ , satisfying (8.1.6) under the re-indexing process (8.1.7), then there exists a Banach \*-subalgebra

$$\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)} \stackrel{*-\mathrm{iso}}{=} \bigwedge_{l=1}^{N} \overline{\mathbb{C}[\{U_{l}\}]}$$

of the semicircular filterization  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}$  of (6.1.5).

**Proof** Let  $Q = C^*(\mathbf{Q})$  be the  $C^*$ -subalgebra (3.7) of the  $C^*$ -probability space (A,  $\psi$ ) satisfying (8.1.6), under (8.1.7). First, define a linear morphism

$$\Psi: Q_o \to Q$$

by

$$\Psi\left(\sum_{l=1}^{N} t_l q_l^o\right) \stackrel{def}{=} \sum_{l=1}^{N} t_l q_l + \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{1, \dots, N\}} 0 \cdot q_j.$$

Then it is a well-defined injective (embedding) \*-homomorphism from  $Q_o$  into Q, by (3.8) and (8.1.4). So, one can have the semicircular elements

$$U_l = \mathbf{I} \otimes q_l = \mathbf{I} \otimes \Psi\left(q_l^o\right) \in \mathbb{L}_Q,\tag{8.1.8}$$

in the free semicircular family S generating  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , for all l = 1, ..., N.

By (8.1.8), one can define Banach \*-subalgebra of  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  by

$$\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)} \stackrel{def}{=} \overline{\mathbb{C}[\{U_{1}, \dots, U_{N}\}]} \\
\stackrel{*-\mathrm{iso}}{=} \overline{\mathbb{C}}\left[\{\mathbf{l} \otimes \Psi(q_{l}^{o}) : l = 1, \dots, N\}\right] \\
\stackrel{*-\mathrm{iso}}{=} \stackrel{N}{\star} \overline{\mathbb{C}[\{\mathbf{l} \otimes \Psi(q_{j}^{o})\}]} \stackrel{*-\mathrm{iso}}{=} \stackrel{N}{\star} \overline{\mathbb{C}[\{U_{l}\}]}$$
(8.1.9)

So, the family  $\mathbf{Q}_o$  of (8.1.1) induces a Banach \*-probability space,

$$\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)} \stackrel{denote}{=} \left( \mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}, \ \tau = \tau \mid_{\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}} \right),$$

generated by the free semicircular family

$$S^{(N)} = \{ U_l = \mathbf{l} \otimes \Psi(q_l^o) \}_{l=1}^N,$$
(8.1.10)

as a free-probabilistic sub-structure of  $\mathbb{L}_{O}$ .

As we briefly discussed in [8], whenever such a family  $\mathbf{Q}_o$  of (8.1.1) in a  $C^*$ -probability space  $(A_o, \psi_o)$  is fixed, in fact, there does exists a  $C^*$ -probability space

 $(A, \psi)$ , having a family **Q** of mutually orthogonal  $|\mathbb{Z}|$ -many projections, such that the condition (8.1.6) holds artificially-or-naturally. i.e., whenever a family **Q**<sub>o</sub> of (8.1.1) is fixed in a C<sup>\*</sup>-probability space  $(A_o, \psi_o)$ , there does exist a family **Q** of mutually orthogonal  $|\mathbb{Z}|$ -many projections in a C<sup>\*</sup>-probability space  $(Q, \psi)$  (or  $(A, \psi)$  with  $Q \subseteq A$ ), such that Q automatically satisfies (8.1.6) (and (8.1.7)).

By the above lemma and remark, one obtains the following theorem.

Let  $(A_o, \psi_o)$  be an arbitrary  $C^*$ -probability space containing mutually orthogonal *N*-many projections  $q_1, \ldots, q_N$ , satisfying (8.1.3), for  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ . Then there exists a free semicircular family  $\mathcal{S}^{(N)}$  induced by  $\{q_k\}_{k=1}^N$ , generating a Banach \*-probability space  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , as a free-probabilistic sub-structure of our semicircular filterization  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ .

**Proof** The proof is done by (8.1.8), (8.1.9), (8.1.10), and Remark 8.1.

# 8.2 Restricted Integer-Shifts On $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$

For an arbitrarily fixed  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , let

$$\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)} = (\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}, \tau), \text{ with } \tau = \tau \mid_{\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}},$$

be the Banach \*-probability space (8.1.9) generated by the free semicircular family  $S^{(N)}$  of (8.1.10).

Since the integer-shift group  $\mathfrak{B}$  of (7.2.9) acts on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , one can restrict the action on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$  to that on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

Let  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}$  be an integer-shift on  $\mathbb{L}_Q$ , and let  $U_l \in \mathcal{S}^{(N)}$  be a semicircular element, generating  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for l = 1, ..., N. Denote the restriction  $\beta_e^k \mid_{\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}}$  simply by  $\beta_e^k$ . If  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , then

$$\beta_e^k(U_l) = \begin{cases} U_{lek} & \text{if } 1 \le lek \le N\\ O & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(8.2.1)

in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , where *O* is the zero element of  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ . Meanwhile, if  $N = \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , then

$$\beta_{e}^{k}(U_{l}) = \begin{cases} U_{l+k} & \text{if } e = + \\ U_{l-k} & \text{if } e = -, \text{ and } l > k \\ O & \text{if } e = -, \text{ and } l \le k, \end{cases}$$
(8.2.2)

in  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$ .

**Proof** First, assume that  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and fix  $l \in \{1, ..., N\}$  arbitrarily, and let  $\beta_e^k$  be the restriction  $\beta_e^k \mid_{\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}}$  on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}$ . Then, for a semicircular elements  $U_l \in \mathcal{S}^{(N)}$ , generating  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , one has that: if e = +, then

$$\beta_{e}^{k}(U_{l}) = \begin{cases} U_{l+k} & \text{if } l+k \leq N \\ O & \text{if } l+k > N; \end{cases}$$
(8.2.3)

and if e = -, then

$$\beta_{e}^{k}(U_{l}) = \begin{cases} U_{l-k} & \text{if } l-k \ge 1\\ O & \text{if } l-k < 1, \end{cases}$$
(8.2.4)

in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ . By (8.2.3) and (8.2.4),

$$\beta_e^k(U_l) = \begin{cases} U_{lek} & \text{if } 1 \le lek \le N\\ O & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(8.2.5)

in  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}$ . Therefore, the formula (8.2.1) holds by (8.2.5).

Now, assume that  $N = \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ . Then, the restriction  $\beta_e^k$  on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$  satisfies that: if e = +, then

$$\beta_e^k (U_l) = U_{l+k}; (8.2.6)$$

if e = -, then

$$\beta_{e}^{k}(U_{l}) = \begin{cases} U_{l-k} & \text{if } l-k \ge 1\\ O & \text{if } l-k < 1, \end{cases}$$
(8.2.7)

in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ . Therefore, the formula (8.2.2) is shown by (8.2.6) and (8.2.7).

The above lemma not only shows how the restricted action of the integer-shift group  $\mathfrak{B}$  on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$  acts on the free generator set  $\mathcal{S}^{(N)}$  of  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , but also demonstrates that the restrictions are no longer \*-isomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

Let B be an arbitrary topological \*-algebra. Then the (\*-)homomorphism semigroup Hom(B) is defined to be the semigroup (under product)

$$Hom(B) = \{f : fisa * -homomorphism on B\}.$$

Since the zero map on *B* is contained in Hom(B), it cannot be a group (under product), however, it forms a well-defined semigroup (or a *monoid* containing its identity, the identity map on *B*). Of course, Aut(B) is a subset of Hom(B).

**Notation** From below, we denote the family of restricted integer-shifts on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$  by  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ , i.e.,

$$\mathfrak{B}^{(N)} = \left\{ \beta_e^k \mid_{\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}} \left| \begin{array}{c} \beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}, \text{ with} \\ e \in \{\pm\}, \ k \in \mathbb{N}_0 \end{array} \right\}.$$
(8.2.8)

Also, for convenience, we denote the restrictions  $\beta_e^k \mid_{\mathbb{L}_{0}^{(N)}} \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  by  $\beta_e^k$ .  $\Box$ Let  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  be the set (8.2.8) of restricted integer-shifts on  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}$ . Then

$$\mathfrak{B}^{(N)} \subseteq Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}\right). \tag{8.2.9}$$

**Proof** First, assume that N < 1 in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ . If  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  satisfies

$$1ek < 1, orNek > N,$$
 (8.2.10)

then such a restricted integer-shift  $\beta_e^k$  satisfies that

$$\beta_e^k(U_l) = O \text{ in } \mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}, \text{ for all } l = 1, \dots, N.$$

So, if (8.2.10) holds, then  $\beta_e^k$  is identified with the zero \*-homomorphism  $0_Q^{(N)}$ on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$ , i.e.,

$$\beta_e^k(T) = 0_Q^{(N)}(T) = O \text{ in } \mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$$

for all  $T \in \mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , by (8.1.9), (8.2.1), (8.2.8), and (8.2.10). And hence, all elements  $\beta_e^k$  of  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  satisfying (8.2.10) satisfy

$$\beta_e^k = 0_Q^{(N)} \in Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right). \tag{8.2.11}$$

Suppose that  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  satisfies

$$1 \le lek \le N$$
, for some  $l \in \{1, ..., N\}$ . (8.2.12)

Then, by (8.2.1), the morphism  $\beta_e^k$  is a well-defined non-zero \*-homomorphism on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$ , i.e., if (8.2.12) holds, then

$$\beta_e^k \in Hom(\mathbb{L}_O^{(N)}). \tag{8.2.13}$$

So, if  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , then

$$\mathfrak{B}^{(N)} \subseteq Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right),\tag{8.2.14}$$

by (8.2.11) and (8.2.13).

Assume now that  $N = \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ . If  $\beta_{+}^{k} \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ , then

$$\beta_{+}^{k} \in Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}\right),\tag{8.2.15}$$

by (8.2.2); if  $\beta_{-}^{k} \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ , then

$$\beta_{-}^{k} \in Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}\right),\tag{8.2.16}$$

again by (8.2.2). Therefore, if  $N = \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , then

$$\mathfrak{B}^{(N)} \subseteq Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_{\mathcal{Q}}^{(N)}\right),\tag{8.2.17}$$

by (8.2.15) and (8.2.16).

In conclusion, if  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  is the family (8.2.8) of restricted integer-shifts on  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}$ , then

$$\mathfrak{B}^{(N)} \subseteq Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right), \forall N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}, \tag{8.2.18}$$

by (8.2.14) and (8.2.17). i.e., the relation (8.2.9) holds, by (8.2.18).

The set-inclusion (8.2.9) shows that all restricted integer-shifts of  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  are well-defined \*-homomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ . However, by (8.2.11), they cannot be \*-isomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , in general.

By (8.2.11), if  $\tilde{N} < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , then many restricted integer-shifts  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ become the zero \*-homomorphism  $0_Q^{(N)}$  of  $Hom(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)})$ . Consider the case where  $N = \infty$ . If  $N = \infty$ , then all restricted integer-shifts  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(\infty)}$  are non-zero in  $Hom(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)})$ . Indeed, since there are infinitely many generators  $U_1, U_2, U_3, \ldots$  of  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , there always exists  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that  $\beta_e^k(U_n) \neq O$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , by the Zorn's lemma. In conclusion,

$$0_Q^{(N)} \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)} \Longleftrightarrow N < \infty in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}.$$

We call  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ , the restricted(-integer)-shift family on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$ .

As we discussed above, the restricted-shift family  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  is not a group in general. Let  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  be the restricted-shift family (8.2.8) on  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}$ , for  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ . Then

$$\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$$
 is a sub-semigroup of  $Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ . (8.2.19)

**Proof** Let  $\beta_{e_1}^{k_1}, \beta_{e_2}^{k_2} \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ . Then

$$\beta_{e_1}^{k_1} \beta_{e_2}^{k_2} = \begin{cases} \beta_{sgn(e_1k_1e_2k_2)}^{|e_1k_1e_2k_2|} & \text{or} \\ 0_Q^{(N)}, & (\text{if } N < \infty) \end{cases}$$
(8.2.20)

in  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ . So, the pair  $(\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}, \cdot)$  forms a well-defined algebraic structure.

Observe that

$$\left(\beta_{e_1}^{k_1}\beta_{e_2}^{k_2}\right)\beta_{e_3}^{k_3} = \beta_{sgn(e_1k_1e_2k_2e_3k_3)}^{|e_1k_1e_2k_2e_3k_3|} = \beta_{e_1}^{k_1}\left(\beta_{e_2}^{k_2}\beta_{e_3}^{k_3}\right),$$

by (8.2.20), for all  $\beta_{e_i}^{k_i} \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ , for all i = 1, 2, 3. Therefore,  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  is a subsemigroup of  $Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ .

Since  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  contains the identity map  $1_Q^{(N)} \in Hom\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ , it actually forms a monoid by (8.2.19).

# 9 Restricted-Shift Families $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ Acting on $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}$

In this section, we fix  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and consider how the restricted-shift family  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  deform the original free-distributional data on the Banach \*-probability space  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$  of (8.1.9), for  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ .

Let  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  be a restricted shift, and let  $U_l \in \mathcal{S}^{(N)}$  be a generating semicircular element of  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for  $l \in \{1, ..., N\}$ . Then the free random variable  $W_l = \beta_e^k (U_l) \in \mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$  is either a semicircular element in  $\mathcal{S}^{(N)}$ , or the zero free random variable O of  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

Proof Under hypothesis,

$$W_l = \begin{cases} U_{lek} \in \mathcal{S}^{(N)} & \text{if } 1 \le lek \le N \\ O, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , by (8.2.1) and (8.2.2). So, if  $W_l = U_{lek} \in \mathcal{S}^{(N)}$ , then it is semicircular, while, if  $W_l = O$ , then it follows the zero free distribution in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

The above lemma characterizes how the semigroup-action of the restricted-shift family  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  affects the free probability on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ . Indeed, one has the following theorem.

Let  $U_{l_1}, \ldots, U_{l_s} \in \mathcal{S}^{(N)}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$ , for

$$I_s = (l_1, \ldots, l_s) \in \{1, \ldots, N\}^s,$$

for  $s \in \mathbb{N}$ , without considering repetition, and let  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ . Define a free random variable  $X[I_s]$  by

$$X[I_s] = \prod_{l=1}^{s} U_{l_s} \in \mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}.$$
(9.0.1)

Then one has either

$$\tau\left(\beta_e^k\left(X[I_s]\right)\right) = \tau\left(X[I_s]\right), \text{ satisfying (6.2.15)}$$
(9.0.2)

or

$$\tau\left(\beta_e^k\left(X[I_s]\right)\right) = 0$$

**Proof** Let  $X[I_s] \in \mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$  be in the sense of (9.0.1). Then it is a free (reduced, or non-reduced) word in  $\mathcal{S}^{(N)}$ , by (8.1.9).

Assume first that there exists at least one entry  $l_p$  in the s-tuple  $I_s$  such that

$$\beta_{e}^{k}\left(U_{l_{p}}\right)=U_{l_{p}ek}\notin\mathcal{S}^{(N)}, \Longleftrightarrow\beta_{e}^{k}\left(U_{l_{p}}\right)=Oin\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}.$$

Then  $\beta_e^k(X[I_s]) = O$ , because it contains a factor  $\beta_e^k(U_{l_p}^{n_p})$ , for some  $n_p \in \mathbb{N}$ , by (8.2.1), and hence,

$$\tau\left(\beta_e^k\left(X[I_s]\right)\right)=0.$$

Meanwhile, if  $1 \le l_i + k \le N$ , for all i = 1, ..., s, i.e., if

$$\beta_{e}^{k}\left(U_{l_{i}}\right)=U_{l_{i}+k}\neq Oin\mathcal{S}^{(N)}\subset \mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}, \forall i=1,\ldots,s,$$

then

$$\tau\left(\beta_e^k\left(X[I_s]\right)\right) = \tau\left(X[I_s]\right),$$

by Lemma 9.1. So, the formula (9.0.2) holds.

# 9.1 Banach-Space Operators on $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$ Generated by $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$

Let  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  be the restricted-shift family on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for a fixed  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ . Since all restricted-shifts  $\beta_e^k$  are \*-homomorphisms on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$  by (8.2.19), they are bounded (multiplicative) linear transformations on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , and hence, they are understood as Banach-space operators on the Banach space  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ . i.e.,

$$\mathfrak{B}^{(N)} \subset Hom(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}) \subseteq B(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}), \tag{9.1.1}$$

where  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(N)}\right)$  is the operator space of [12].

By (9.1.1), we now regard the restricted-shift family  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$  as a subset of the operator space  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ . Define a (closed) subspace  $\mathcal{A}_N$  of  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$  by the topological vector space spanned by the semigroup  $\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ ,

$$\mathcal{A}_{N} \stackrel{def}{=} \overline{span_{\mathbb{C}}\left(\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}\right)}^{\parallel,\parallel},\tag{9.1.2}$$

where  $\overline{Z}^{\parallel \cdot \parallel}$  are the operator-norm closures of subsets Z of  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ .

Note that, since  $\mathcal{B}^{(N)}$  is a semigroup embedded in  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ , in fact, the subspace  $\mathcal{A}_N$  of (9.1.2) is identified with

$$\mathcal{A}_N = \overline{\mathbb{C}\left[\mathfrak{B}^{(N)}\right]}^{\|.\|},$$

in  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ . i.e., the subspace  $\mathcal{A}_N$  of (9.1.2) is a Banach algebra in  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ . Define now a unary operation (\*) on  $\mathcal{A}_N$  by

$$\left(\sum_{\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}} t_e^k \beta_e^k\right)^* = \sum_{\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}} \overline{t_e^k} \beta_{-e}^k, \tag{9.1.3}$$

where

 $t_e^k = t_{\beta_e^k} \in \mathbb{C}$ , with their conjugates  $\overline{t_e^k}$ ,

for all  $e \in \{\pm\}, k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Then it is not hard to check the operation (9.1.3) is an adjoint on  $\mathcal{A}_N$ .

Every operator of  $\mathcal{A}_N$  is an adjointable operator in  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ .

**Proof** Since the operation (\*) of (9.1.3) is an adjoint, the Banach algebra  $\mathcal{A}_N$  is a Banach \*-algebra in  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ . So, every Banach-space operator  $T \in \mathcal{A}_N$  is adjointable (in the sense of [12]) with its adjoint  $T^* \in \mathcal{A}_N$ .

The Banach \*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}_N$  of (9.1.2) is called the (restricted-)shift-operator algebra on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ . All elements of  $\mathcal{A}_N$  are said to be (restricted-)shift operators on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

# 9.2 The Shift Operators $\beta_e^k$ of $\mathcal{A}_N$

In this section, we concentrate on studying integer-shifts  $\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ , as shift operators of  $\mathcal{A}_N$  acting on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for  $N \in \mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

#### 9.2.1 Case where $N < \infty$

In this sub-section, we assume  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and let  $\mathcal{A}_N$  be the shift-operator algebra in  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ . Note that the shift operator  $\beta_e^k \in \mathcal{A}_N$  satisfies

$$\beta_{+}^{k}(U_{l}) \in \{O, U_{l}, U_{l+1}, \dots, U_{N}\},$$
(9.2.1)

and

$$\beta_{-}^{k}(U_{l}) \in \{O, U_{1}, \dots, U_{l-1}, U_{l}\},\$$

in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , by (8.2.1), for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , and  $l = 1, ..., N < \infty$ . By (9.2.1), if k > N in  $\mathbb{N}_0$ , then

$$\beta_{+}^{k}(U_{l}) = O$$
, for all  $l = 1, ..., N$ ,

and

$$\beta_{-}^{k}(U_{l}) = 0$$
, for all  $l = 1, ..., N$ ,

i.e., if k > N in  $\mathbb{N}_0$ , then

$$\beta_e^k = 0_Q^{(N)} \text{ in } \mathfrak{B}^{(N)} \subset \mathcal{A}_N.$$
(9.2.2)

as in (8.2.12).

Let  $t\beta_e \in A_N$  be a shift operator for  $t \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ , and  $e \in \{\pm\}$ . Then

$$(t\beta_e)^k = 0_Q^{(N)} \text{ in } \mathcal{A}_N \iff k > Nin\mathbb{N}_0.$$
(9.2.3)

**Proof** ( $\Leftarrow$ ) Let  $t \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ , and  $t\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_N$ , a shift operator, where  $\beta_e \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ . Suppose k > N in  $\mathbb{N}_0$ . Then, by (9.2.2)

$$(t\beta_e)^k = t^k \beta_e^k = t^k 0_Q^{(N)} = 0_Q^{(N)}$$

(⇒) Assume now that  $(t\beta_e)^k = 0_Q^{(N)}$  in  $\mathcal{A}_N$ , for any arbitrary  $t \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ . Then

$$(t\beta_e)^k = t^k \beta_e^k = 0_Q^{(N)} \iff \beta_e^k = 0_Q^{(N)} \text{ in } \mathfrak{B}^{(N)} \subset \mathcal{A}_N.$$

So, we focus on  $\beta_e^k$ . If  $k \leq N$  in  $\mathbb{N}_0$ , then

$$\beta_e^k(U_l) \neq O, for some l \in \{1, \dots, N\}$$

by (9.2.1), implying that

$$\beta_e^k \neq 0_Q^{(N)} \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}, \text{ in } \mathcal{A}_N.$$

Therefore, if  $\beta_e^k = 0_Q^{(N)}$  in  $\mathcal{A}_N$ , then k > N in  $\mathbb{N}_0$ .

The above theorem shows that, if  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , then the sequence  $(t\beta_e^n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$  converges to  $0_Q^{(N)} \in \mathcal{A}_N$ , under the operator-norm topology for  $\mathcal{A}_N$  (inherited from that for  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ ), as  $n \to \infty$ . i.e., the shift operators  $t\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_N$  (for all  $t \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ ) act like nilpotent operators (e.g., [14]), whenever  $N < \infty$ .

#### 9.2.2 Case where $N = \infty$

In this sub-section, let  $N = \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and let  $\mathcal{A}_{\infty}$  be the shift-operator algebra acting on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(\infty)}$ . One can get that

$$\beta_{+}^{k}(U_{l}) \in \{U_{l}, U_{l+1}, U_{l+2}, U_{l+3}, \ldots\},$$
(9.2.4)

and

$$\beta_{-}^{k}(U_l) \in \{O, U_1, \dots, U_l\},\$$

by (8.2.2), for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Let  $N = \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and  $\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ , a shift operator for  $e \in \{\pm\}$ . Then

$$(\beta_e)^n \neq 0_Q^{(\infty)} \text{ in } \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \tag{9.2.5}$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Meanwhile, if e = -, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (\beta_{-})^n (U_l) = O \text{ in } \mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)},$$

for  $U_l \in S^{(\infty)}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}$ , for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , where the limit " $\lim_{n \to \infty}$ " is taken under the operator-norm topology for  $\mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ . i.e.,

$$(\beta_{-})^{n} \xrightarrow{\text{strong}} 0_{Q}^{(\infty)} in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$
(9.2.6)

where " $\stackrel{strong}{\longrightarrow}$ " means "being strongly convergent to."

**Proof** For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , we have that

$$\beta_e^n\left(\mathcal{S}^{(\infty)}\right) \supsetneq = \{O\},\$$

by (9.2.4), since there are infinitely many generating elements  $U_l \in S^{(\infty)}$  of  $A_{\infty}$ . It implies that

$$\beta_e^n \neq 0_Q^{(\infty)} i n \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$

because  $\mathfrak{B}^{(\infty)}$  generates  $\mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ . Therefore, the relation (9.2.5) holds.

Now, fix  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , and take  $U_l \in S^{(\infty)}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}$ , and let  $\beta_- \in \mathcal{A}_\infty$  be the (-)-restricted-shift of  $\mathfrak{B}^{(\infty)}$ . Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (\beta_{-})^{n} (U_{l}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \beta_{-}^{n} (U_{l})$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} U_{l-n} = O,$$
(9.2.7)

in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}$ , by (9.2.4), where " $\lim_{n \to \infty}$ " is taken under the operator-norm topology for  $\mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ . It implies that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \beta_{-}^{n}(W) = O \text{ in } \mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(\infty)}, \qquad (9.2.8)$$

for all free reduced words W of  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}$  in the generating free semicircular family  $\mathcal{S}^{(\infty)}$ , by (9.2.7). So,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \beta^n_-(T) = O \text{ in } \mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}, \forall T \in \mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}, \tag{9.2.9}$$

by (9.2.8). So, the strong-convergence (9.2.6) holds by (9.2.9).

The above theorem shows that the shift operators  $\beta_e^n \in \mathfrak{B}^{(\infty)}$  of  $\mathcal{A}_{\infty}$  satisfy

$$\beta_e^n \neq 0_Q^{(\infty)}$$
 in  $\mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \forall e \in \{\pm\}$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

but

$$\beta_{-}^{n} \xrightarrow{\text{strong}} 0_{Q}^{(\infty)} \text{ in } \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

by (9.2.5) and (9.2.6).

Let  $t \in \mathbb{D}^{\times}$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ , and take a shift operator  $t\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ , for  $e \in \{\pm\}$ , where

$$\mathbb{D}^{\times} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |z| \le 1 \}.$$

Then

$$(t\beta_e)^n \neq 0_Q^{(\infty)} \text{ in } \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}_0,$$
(9.2.10)

while

$$(t\beta_{-})^n \xrightarrow{\text{strong}} 0_Q^{(\infty)} \text{ in } \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

*Proof* The proof of (9.2.10) is done by (9.2.6).

Actually, the strong-convergence (9.2.10) is refined as follows; under the same hypothesis with the above corollary,

$$(t\beta_{-})^{n} \longrightarrow 0_{Q}^{(\infty)} \text{ in } \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

if  $t \in \mathbb{D}^{\times} \setminus \mathbb{T}$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ , where  $\mathbb{T}$  is the unit circle of  $\mathbb{C}$ , and

$$(t\beta_{-})^{n} \xrightarrow{\text{strong}} 0_{Q}^{(\infty)} \text{ in } \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

if  $t \in \mathbb{T} \subset \mathbb{D}^{\times}$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ , where " $\rightarrow$ " means "being convergent to, under operator-norm-topology for  $\mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ ," which imply (9.2.10), anyway.

# **9.2.3** Free Probability on $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(N)}$ Under the Action of $\beta_{e}$

Here, we consider how the shift operators  $t\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_N$ , for  $t \in \mathbb{C}$ , affect the free probability on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for an arbitrarily fixed  $N \in \mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ .

Let  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and let  $t\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_N$  be a shift operator for  $t \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ , and  $\beta_e \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}$ . Then

$$\tau\left(\left(\left(t\beta_{e}\right)^{k}\left(U_{l}\right)\right)^{n}\right) = \begin{cases} \omega_{n}t^{kn}c_{\frac{n}{2}} \text{ if } 1 \leq lek \leq N\\ 0 \text{ otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(9.2.11)

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Proof** By (9.2.3),  $(t\beta_e)^k = 0_Q^{(N)}$  in  $\mathcal{A}_N$ , whenever k > N in  $\mathbb{N}_0$ . So, if k > N, then

$$\tau\left(\left(t^k \beta_e^k(U_l)\right)^n\right) = \tau\left(\left(0_Q^{(N)}(U_l)\right)^n\right)$$
  
=  $\tau\left(O^n\right) = 0,$  (9.2.12)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Suppose now that: if  $k \leq N$  in  $\mathbb{N}_0$ , then

$$\tau\left(\left(t^{k}\beta_{e}^{k}(U_{l})\right)^{n}\right) = t^{kn}\tau\left(\left(\beta_{e}^{k}(U_{l})\right)^{n}\right)$$
$$= \begin{cases} t^{kn}\tau\left(U_{lek}^{n}\right) & \text{if } 1 \leq lek \leq N\\ t^{kn}\tau\left(O^{n}\right) & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
$$= \begin{cases} \omega_{n}t^{kn}c_{\frac{n}{2}} & \text{if } 1 \leq lek \leq N\\ 0 & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(9.2.13)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . So, the formula (9.2.11) holds by (9.2.12) and (9.2.13).

By (9.2.11), the following corollary is obtained. Under the same hypothesis with the above theorem, if

$$t \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$$
 and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $1 \leq lek \leq N$ ,

then the element  $(t\beta_e)^k (U_l)$  is  $t^{2k}$ -semicircular in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for all l = 1, ..., N.

**Proof** By assumption, if  $t \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ , then

$$(t\beta_e)^k (U_l) = t^k U_{lek},$$

$$\left(\left(t\beta_{e}\right)^{k}\left(U_{l}\right)\right)^{*}=\overline{t_{k}}U_{lek}^{*}=t^{k}U_{lek},$$

in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ . i.e., it is self-adjoint in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

So,  $(t\beta_e)^k (U_l)$  is  $t^{2k}$ -semicircular in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , by (3.3) and (9.2.11). 

The above theorem and corollary illustrate that how the action of shift operators  $t\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_N$  deform the semicircular law on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , whenever  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_>^\infty$ .

Let  $N = \infty$ , and  $t\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ , for  $t \in \mathbb{D}^{\times}$  in  $\mathbb{C}$ , and  $\beta_e \in \mathfrak{B}^{(\infty)}$ . If  $U_l \in \mathcal{S}^{(\infty)}$  is a semicircular element of  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}$ , then

$$\tau\left(\left(\left(t\beta_{e}\right)^{k}\left(U_{l}\right)\right)^{n}\right) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } e = -\text{ and } l \leq k\\ \\ \omega_{n}t^{kn}c_{\frac{n}{2}} & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(9.2.14)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . In particular, if

$$\mathcal{B}_{t,l}^{-} \stackrel{def}{=} \left\{ (t\beta_{-})^{k} \left( U_{l} \right) \in \mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(\infty)} : k \in \mathbb{N} \right\},$$
(9.2.15)

in  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(\infty)}$ , for  $t \in \mathbb{D}^{\times}$  and  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , then the asymptotic free distribution of this family  $\mathcal{B}_{t,l}^{-}$  is the zero free distribution in  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(\infty)}$ , as  $k \to \infty$ 

**Proof** Under hypothesis, one has that

$$\tau\left(\left((t\beta_{e})^{k}(U_{l})\right)^{n}\right) = \tau\left((t^{k}U_{lek})^{n}\right) = \tau\left(t^{kn}U_{lek}^{n}\right)$$
$$= \begin{cases} \omega_{n}t^{kn}c_{\frac{n}{2}} & \text{if } e = +\\ \omega_{n}t^{kn}c_{\frac{n}{2}} & \text{if } e = -\text{ and } l > k\\ 0 & \text{if } e = -\text{ and } l \leq k, \end{cases}$$
(9.2.16)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . So, the formula (9.2.14) holds by (9.2.16).

Recall that, under the same hypothesis,

$$(t\beta_e)^k \xrightarrow{\text{strong}} 0_Q^{(\infty)} in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}, \text{ as } k \to \infty,$$
 (9.2.17)

by (9.2.10). Thus,

$$(t\beta_{-})^{k}(U_{l}) \to O \text{ in } \mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(\infty)}, \text{ as } k \to \infty,$$

and

by (9.2.17), implying that, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \tau \left( \left( (t\beta_{-})^{k} (U_{l}) \right)^{n} \right) = \tau \left( \lim_{k \to \infty} \left( (t\beta_{-})^{k} (U_{l}) \right)^{n} \right)$$
$$= \tau \left( \left( \left( \lim_{k \to \infty} (t\beta_{-})^{k} \right) (U_{l}) \right)^{n} \right) = \tau \left( O^{n} \right) = 0.$$
(9.2.18)

It means that the family  $\mathcal{B}_{t,l}^-$  of (9.2.15) has the asymptotic free distribution, the zero free distribution in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}$ , by (9.2.18).

The above theorem illustrates how our shift operators  $t\beta_e \in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}$  deform the semicircular law on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(\infty)}$ , for  $t \in \mathbb{D}^{\times}$ .

## 9.3 The Shift Operators of $A_N$

More general to Sect. 9.2, we now are interested in general forms of shift operators T of  $A_N$ ,

$$T = \sum_{\beta_e^k \in \mathfrak{B}^{(N)}} t_e^k \beta_e^k, \text{ with } t_e^k = t_{\beta_e^k} \in \mathbb{C}.$$
 (9.3.1)

#### 9.3.1 Case where $N < \infty$

Assume first that  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ . Then, by (9.2.3), every shift operator *T* of (9.3.1) can be re-expressed by

$$T = \sum_{s=1}^{N} t_{-s} \beta_{-}^{s} + t_0 1_Q^{(N)} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} t_k \beta_{+}^{k}, \qquad (9.3.2)$$

for

$$t_{-N},\ldots,t_{-1},t_0,t_1,\ldots,t_N\in\mathbb{C},$$

in the shift-operator algebra  $\mathcal{A}_N$  in  $B\left(\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}\right)$ , where  $\mathbb{1}_Q^{(N)} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}} \in \mathcal{A}_N$ , the identity operator on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ .

Then one can get that, for any  $U_l \in S^{(N)}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for l = 1, ..., N,

$$T(U_l) = \sum_{s=1}^{N} t_{-s} \beta_{-}^{s}(U_l) + t_0 U_l + \sum_{k=1}^{N} t_k \beta_{+}^{k}(U_l)$$
$$= \sum_{s=1}^{N} t_{-s} W_{l-s} + t_0 U_l + \sum_{k=1}^{N} t_k W_{l+k}$$

satisfying

$$W_{l+k} = \begin{cases} U_{l+k} & \text{if } 1 \le l+k \le N \\ O & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

similarly,

$$W_{l-s} = \begin{cases} U_{s-l} & \text{if } 1 \le l-s \le N \\ O & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for all s, k = 1, ..., N, for  $e \in \{\pm\}$ , and hence, it goes to

$$=\sum_{s=1}^{l-1} t_{-s} U_{l-s} + t_0 U_l + \sum_{k=1}^{N-l} t_k U_{l+k}.$$
(9.3.3)

Let  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and let  $T \in \mathcal{A}_N$  be a shift operator (9.3.2). If  $U_l \in \mathcal{S}^{(N)}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , for  $l \in \{1, ..., N\}$ , then there exists a  $\mathbb{C}$ -quantity  $z_{T,l} \in \mathbb{C}$ , such that

$$T\left(U_l^n\right) = z_{T,l}\left(\omega_n c_{\frac{n}{2}}\right), \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(9.3.4)

In particular,

$$z_{T,l} = \sum_{s=1}^{l-1} t_{-}^{s} + t_{+}^{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{N-l} t_{k} in\mathbb{C}.$$
(9.3.5)

**Proof** Since  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , for any semicircular element  $U_l \in \mathcal{S}^{(N)}$ ,

$$T\left(U_{l}^{n}\right) = \sum_{s=l}^{l-1} t_{-s} U_{l-s}^{n} + t_{+}^{0} U_{l}^{n} + \sum_{k=1}^{N-l} t_{k} U_{l+k}^{n}, \qquad (9.3.6)$$

by (9.3.3), for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Thus, one has that

$$\tau \left( T \left( U_{l}^{n} \right) \right) = \sum_{s=l}^{l-1} t_{-s} \tau \left( U_{l-s}^{n} \right) + t_{+}^{0} \tau \left( U_{l}^{n} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{N-l} t_{k} \tau \left( U_{l+k}^{n} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{s=1}^{l-1} t_{-s} \left( \omega_{n} c_{\frac{n}{2}} \right) + t_{+}^{0} \left( \omega_{n} c_{\frac{n}{2}} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{N-l} t_{k} \left( \omega_{n} c_{\frac{n}{2}} \right)$$

by the semicircularity of  $U_l$ ,  $U_{l\pm k} \in S^{(N)}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ 

$$= \left(\omega_n c_{\frac{n}{2}}\right) \left(\sum_{s=1}^{l-1} t_{-s} + t_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{N-l} t_k\right),$$
(9.3.7)

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . So, the formula (9.3.4) holds by (9.3.7).

The above theorem illustrates how shift operators  $T \in A_N$  of (9.3.1) deform the original free-distributional data on  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(N)}$ , whenever  $N < \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , by (6.2.15).

#### 9.3.2 Case where $N = \infty$

In this sub-section, let  $N = \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and let  $T \in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}$  be a shift operator (9.3.1) on  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(\infty)}$ . Similar to (9.3.2),

$$T = \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} t_{-s} \beta_{-}^{s} + t_0 1_Q^{(\infty)} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k \beta_{+}^{k}, \qquad (9.3.8)$$

in  $\mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ , for  $t_{-s}$ ,  $t_k \in \mathbb{C}$ , for all  $s, k \in \mathbb{N}$ , by (9.2.4).

Fix a semicircular element  $U_l \in \mathcal{S}^{(\infty)}$  of  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}$ , for  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then

$$T(U_l) = \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} t_{-s} W_{l-s} + t_0 U_l + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k U_{l+k}$$

satisfying

$$W_{l-s} = \begin{cases} U_{l-s} & \text{if } l-s \ge 1\\ O & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

and hence, it goes to

$$=\sum_{s=1}^{l-1} t_{-s} U_{l-s} + t_0 U_l + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k U_{l+k}, \qquad (9.3.9)$$

in  $\mathbb{L}_{O}^{(\infty)}$ .

Let  $N = \infty$  in  $\mathbb{N}_{>1}^{\infty}$ , and  $T \in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}$ , a shift operator (9.3.8) on  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(\infty)}$ , and let  $U_{l} \in \mathcal{S}^{(\infty)}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(\infty)}$ , for  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then there exists  $z_{T,l} \in \mathbb{C}$ , such that

$$\tau\left(T\left(U_{l}^{n}\right)\right) = z_{T,l}\left(\omega_{n}c_{\frac{n}{2}}\right), \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(9.3.10)

In particular,

$$z_{T,l} = \sum_{s=1}^{l-1} t_{-}^{s} + t_{+}^{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_{+}^{k}, \text{ in } \mathbb{C}.$$
(9.3.11)

**Proof** Under hypothesis, if  $U_l \in S^{(\infty)}$  in  $\mathbb{L}_Q^{(\infty)}$ , for  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , then

$$\tau\left(T\left(U_{l}^{n}\right)\right) = \tau\left(\sum_{s=1}^{l-1} t_{-s}U_{l-s}^{n} + t_{0}U_{l}^{n} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_{k}U_{l+k}^{n}\right)$$

by (9.3.9)

$$=\sum_{s=1}^{l-1}t_{-s}\left(\omega_{n}c_{\frac{n}{2}}\right)+t_{0}\left(\omega_{n}c_{\frac{n}{2}}\right)+\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}t_{k}\left(\omega_{n}c_{\frac{n}{2}}\right)$$

by the semicircularity of  $U_{l-s}$ ,  $U_l$ ,  $U_{l+k} \in S^{(\infty)}$ 

$$= \left(\omega_n c_{\frac{n}{2}}\right) \left(\sum_{s=1}^{l-1} t_{-s} + t_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} t_k\right), \qquad (9.3.12)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . So, the formula (9.3.10) holds by (9.3.12).

The above theorem illustrates how a shift operator  $T \in \mathcal{A}_{\infty}$  affects the free probability on  $\mathbb{L}_{Q}^{(\infty)}$ , with help of (6.2.15).

Acknowledgments The authors are pleased to thank D. Alpay, D. Volok, G. Salomon, R. Seager, M. Porat, S. Bourguin, H. Dutta, and T. Gillespie for many helpful discussions on analysis of stochastic processes.

#### References

- 1. M. Ahsanullah, Some Inferences on Semicircular Distribution. J. Stat. Theory. Appl. 15(3), 207–213 (2016)
- D. Alpay, P.E.T. Jorgensen, Reproducing kernels hilbert spaces generated by the binomial coefficients. Illinois J. Math. 58(2), 471–495 (2014)
- H. Bercovici, D. Voiculescu, Levy-Hinchin type theorems for multiplicative and additive free convolution. Pacific J. Math. 153(2), 217–248 (1992)
- H. Bercovici, D. Voiculescu, Superconvergence to the Central Limit and Failure of the Cramer Theorem for Free Random Variables. Probab. Theory Related Fields 103(2), 215–222 (1995)
- 5. S. Bourguin, Vector-valued semicircular limits on the free poisson chaos. Electron. Commun. Probab. **21**, Paper No. 55, 11 (2016)
- M. Bozejko, W. Ejsmont, T. Hasebe, Noncommutative probability of type D. Internat. J. Math. 28(2), 1750010, 30 (2017)
- M. Bozheuiko, E.V. Litvinov, I.V. Rodionova, An extended anyon Fock space and noncommutative Meixner-type orthogonal polynomials in the infinite-dimensional case. Uspekhi Math. Nauk. **70**(5), 75–120 (2015)
- 8. I. Cho, Acting semicircular elements induced by orthogonal projections on von Neumann algebras. Mathematics 5(4), 74 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3390/math5040074
- 9. I. Cho, Banach-space operators acting on semicircular elements induced by orthogonal projections. Compl. Anal. Oper. Theory **13**(8), 4065–4115 (2019)
- 10. I. Cho, J. Dong, Catalan numbers and free distributions of mutually free multi semicircular elements. Adv. Appl. Stat. Sci. (2018)
- I. Cho, P.E.T. Jorgensen, Semicircular Elements induced by *p*-adic number fields. Opuscula Math. 35(5), 665–703 (2017)
- A. Connes, Noncommutative Geometry (Academic Press, San Diego, 1994). ISBN: 0-12-185860-X
- 13. T. Gillespie, Prime number theorems for Rankin-Selberg *L*-Functions over Number Fields. Sci. China Math. **54**(1), 35–46 (2011)
- 14. P.R. Halmos, Hilbert space problem books, in *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*, vol. 19 (Springer, Berlin, 1982). ISBN: 978-0-38-790685-0
- J.W. Helton, T. Mai, R. Speicher, Applications of realizations to free probability. J. Funct. Anal. 274(1), 1–79 (2018)
- T. Mai, R. Speicher, Free probability, random matrices, and representations of noncommutative rational functions, in *Computation and Combinatorices in Dynamics, Stochastics* and Control. Abel Symposium, vol. 13 (2018) pp. 551–577
- B. Meng, M. Guo, Operator-valued semicircular distribution and its asymptotically free matrix models. J. Math. Res. Exposition 28(4), 759–768 (2008)
- I. Nourdin, G. Peccati, R. Speicher, Multi-dimensional semicircular limits on the Free Wigner Chaos. Progr. Probab. 67, 211–221 (2013)
- V. Pata, The central limit theorem for free additive convolution. J. Funct. Anal. 140(2), 359–380 (1996)
- 20. F. Radulescu, Random matrices, amalgamated free products and subfactors of the C\*-Algebra of a free group of nonsingular index. Invent. Math. **115**, 347–389 (1994)
- P. Shor, Quantum information theory: results and open problems. Geom. Funct. Anal. GAFA 2000, 816–838 (2000)
- 22. M. Soltanifar, On operator-valued semicircular random variables. J. Theoret. Probab. 27(1), 41–56 (2014)
- R. Speicher, Combinatorial Theory of the Free Product with Amalgamation and Operator-Valued Free Probability Theory. American Mathematical Society Memories, vol. 132(627) (1998)

- 24. V.S. Vladimirov, I.V. Volovich, E.I. Zelenov, *p-Adic Analysis and Mathematical Physics*. Series Soviet and East European Mathematical, vol. 1 (World Scientific, Singapore, 1994). ISBN: 978-981-02-0880-6
- 25. D. Voiculescu, Noncommutative random variables and spectral problems in free product C\* algebras, in *Proceedings of the Seventh Great Plains Operator Theory Seminar (Lawrence, KS, 1987)*. Rocky Mt. J. Math. **20**(2), 263–283 (1990)
- 26. D. Voiculescu, Free noncommutative random variables, random matrices and the *II*<sub>1</sub>-factors of free groups, in *Quantum Probability Related Topics*, vol. VI (World Science Publication, River Edge, 1991), pp. 473–387
- D. Voiculescu, K. Dykema, A. Nica, *Free Random Variables*. CRM Monograph Series, vol. 1 (American Mathematical Society, New York, 1992). ISBN: 978-1-4704-3847-0
- P. Yedlapalli, A.J.V. Radhika, S.V.S. Girija, A.V.D. Rao, On Trigonometric moments of the Stereographic Semicircular Gamma distribution. Eur. J. Pure Appl. Math. 10(5), 1124–1134 (2017)
- Y. Yin, J. Hu, On the limit of the spectral distribution of large-dimensional Random Quaternion covariance matrices. Random Mat. Theory Appl. 6(2), 1750004, 20 (2017)
- Y. Yin, Z. Bai, J. Hu, On the semicircular law of large-dimensional random quaternion matrices. J. Theo. Probab. 29(3), 1100–1120 (2016)

# **Representation Formulae** for the Determinant in a Neighborhood of the Identity



Denis Constales and Alí Guzmán Adán

Abstract We prove an integral representation and a power series expansion for the function  $\det(A)^{-1}$  in a small neighborhood of the identity matrix. Both results are closely linked to the formula for the change of coordinates of the Dirac delta distribution in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ .

#### Mathematics Subject Classification (2000) 15A15, 41A58, 30E20

Keywords Determinant · Taylor series · Complex analysis · Dirac distribution

#### 1 Introduction

In this manuscript we prove two representation formulas for the function  $det(A)^{-1}$  in a small neighborhood of the identity matrix. Let us start by describing our results.

Let  $\mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  the algebra of complex matrices  $M = \{m_{r,\ell}\}_{r,\ell=1...,k}$  of order  $(k \times k)$  with identity  $\mathbb{1}_k$ . The Frobenius norm of  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  is defined as

$$||M|| = (\sum_{r,\ell=1}^{k} |m_{r,\ell}|^2)^{1/2},$$

where  $|\cdot|$  denotes the Euclidean norm in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Associated to each row vector  $M_r = (m_{r,1}, \ldots, m_{r,k})$ , we consider a multi-index  $\alpha_r = (\alpha_{r,1}, \ldots, \alpha_{r,k}) \in \mathbb{N}_0^k$  where  $\mathbb{N}_0$ 

D. Constales · A. Guzmán Adán (🖂)

Department of Electronics and Information Systems, Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

A. Guzmán Adán is supported by a postdoctoral fellowship of the Research Foundation—Flanders (FWO)

e-mail: Denis.Constales@UGent.be; Ali.GuzmanAdan@UGent.be

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex

to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative, Operator Theory: Advances

and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_8

denotes the set of non-negative integers. As usual, we denote  $|\alpha_r| = \alpha_{r,1} + \ldots + \alpha_{r,k}$ ,  $\alpha_r! = \alpha_{r,1}! \cdots \alpha_{r,k}!$  and  $M_r^{\alpha_r} = m_{r,1}^{\alpha_{r,1}} \cdots m_{r,k}^{\alpha_{r,k}}$ . We shall also consider the multiindex sum  $\alpha_1 + \ldots + \alpha_k = (\sum_r \alpha_{r,1}, \ldots, \sum_r \alpha_{r,k})$ . In general, for multi-indices  $I = (i_1, \ldots, i_k)$  and  $J = (j_1, \ldots, j_k)$  we have  $I \pm J = (i_1 \pm j_1, \ldots, i_k \pm j_k)$ . We say that  $I \leq J$  if  $i_r \leq j_r$  for all  $r = 1, \ldots, k$ .

The multi-indices  $\alpha_r$  give rise to the multi-index matrix  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = \{\alpha_{r,\ell}\}_{r,\ell=1...,k} \in \mathbb{N}_0^{k \times k}$ . We thus denote  $|\alpha| = |\alpha_1| + \ldots + |\alpha_k|$ ,  $\alpha! = \alpha_1! \cdots \alpha_k!$  and  $M^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} = M_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots M_k^{\alpha_k}$ . We also introduce the differential operator

$$\partial_M^{\alpha} = \prod_{r,\ell=1}^k \partial_{m_{r,\ell}}^{\alpha_{r,\ell}},$$

which is the so-called Fischer dual of the monomial  $M^{\alpha}$ .

With the above notation, the Taylor series of the function  $det(\mathbb{1}_k + M)^{-1}$  around the point M = 0 can be written as

$$\frac{1}{\det(\mathbb{1}_k + M)} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}_0^{k \times k}} \frac{M^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}}{\boldsymbol{\alpha}!} \; \partial_M^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \left[ \frac{1}{\det(\mathbb{1}_k + M)} \right] \Big|_{M=0}.$$
 (1.1)

Our first goal is to explicitly write down the above formula, i.e. to compute the derivatives  $\partial_M^{\alpha} \left[ \frac{1}{\det(\mathbb{I}_k + M)} \right] \Big|_{M=0}$ . In particular, we will prove the following result.

**Theorem 1.1** Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  be such that  $||M|| \le 1/k$ . Then the Taylor series (1.1) converges and has the form

$$\frac{1}{\det(\mathbb{1}_{k}+M)} = \sum_{J \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{k}} (-1)^{|J|} J! \sum_{\substack{\alpha_{1}+\ldots+\alpha_{k}=J\\|\alpha_{r}|=j_{r}}} \frac{M_{1}^{\alpha_{1}}\cdots M_{k}^{\alpha_{k}}}{\alpha_{1}!\cdots\alpha_{k}!},$$
(1.2)

where the above sum runs over all multi-indices  $J = (j_1, \ldots, j_k) \in \mathbb{N}_0^k$  and all multi-index matrices  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$  such that  $\alpha_{1,r} + \cdots + \alpha_{k,r} = |\alpha_r| = j_r$  for all  $r = 1, \ldots, k$ . This is,  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}_0^{k \times k}$  is such that the sum of its r-th row equals the sum of its r-th column for all  $r = 1, \ldots, k$ .

This constitutes a generalization to higher dimensions of the convergence of the geometric series

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j} z^{j} = \frac{1}{1+z}, \quad \text{when} \quad z \in \mathbb{C}, \ |z| < 1.$$

It also provides a detailed expression for the full expansion of the well-known formula (see e.g. [2])

$$\frac{1}{\det(\mathbb{I}_k+M)} = \exp\left(-\ln\left(\det(\mathbb{I}_k+M)\right)\right) = \exp\left(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}(-1)^j \frac{\operatorname{tr}(M^j)}{j}\right),$$

where tr(A) is the usual matrix trace of A. For a detailed account on this and other matrix analysis results we refer the reader (without claiming completeness) to the works [1, 4, 6].

Theorem 1.1 also yields that  $\partial_M^{\alpha} \left[ \frac{1}{\det(\mathbb{I}_k + M)} \right] \Big|_{M=0}$  is different from zero if and only if the sum per row equals the sum per column in the multi-index matrix  $\alpha$ , namely:

$$\partial_{M}^{\alpha} \left[ \frac{1}{\det(\mathbb{1}_{k} + M)} \right] \Big|_{M=0}$$
$$= \begin{cases} (-1)^{|\alpha|} |\alpha_{1}|! \cdots |\alpha_{k}|! & \text{if } \alpha_{1} + \ldots + \alpha_{k} = (|\alpha_{1}|, \ldots, |\alpha_{k}|), \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

In addition, it allows to compute the inverse of the characteristic polynomial  $\det(M - \lambda \mathbb{1}_k)$  as a power series of  $\lambda$ . Indeed, if  $|\lambda| \leq (k ||M||)^{-1}$ , one obtains from (1.2) that

$$\frac{1}{\det(M-\lambda\mathbb{1}_k)} = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} c_j \,\lambda^{k-j},$$

where

$$c_j = (-1)^{j+k} \sum_{|J|=j} J! \sum_{\substack{\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = J \\ |\alpha_r| = j_r}} \frac{M_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots M_k^{\alpha_k}}{\alpha_1! \cdots \alpha_k!}$$

The main motivation for formula (1.2) comes for the Taylor series expansion of the Dirac distribution, see Sect. 2. However, in order to rigorously prove this result, we will need the following integral representation for  $det(\mathbb{1}_k + M)^{-1}$ .

**Theorem 1.2** Let  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  be a matrix such that  $||A - \mathbb{1}_k|| < 1/k$  and consider the linear transformation  $A\underline{z} = \underline{w}$ , where  $\underline{z} = (z_1, \ldots, z_k)^T$  and  $\underline{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_k)^T$  are vector variables in  $\mathbb{C}^k$ . Then

$$\frac{1}{\det(A)} = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{1}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k,$$
(1.3)
where  $\oint_{(\partial D)^k} = \oint_{\partial D} \cdots \oint_{\partial D}$  and  $\oint_{\partial D}$  denotes the contour integral along the boundary  $\partial D = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$  of the unit disk.

*Remark 1.1* As the statements in the Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 announce, the condition  $||A - \mathbb{1}_k|| < 1/k$  implies that det $(A) \neq 0$ . Indeed, the power series  $A^{-1} = (\mathbb{1}_k + (A - \mathbb{1}_k))^{-1} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{\ell} (A - \mathbb{1}_k)^{\ell}$  converges absolutely if k > 1. Therefore, the inverse matrix  $A^{-1}$  exists. For k = 1, it is clear that ||A - 1|| < 1 implies  $A \neq 0$ .

The proximity of  $A = \mathbb{1}_k + M$  to  $\mathbb{1}_k$  is important for these results to hold. For example, in the class of nilpotent matrices (that are somehow close to the origin) formula (1.2) does not hold in general. Indeed, if M is nilpotent then  $\mathbb{1}_k + M$  is invertible, however the series (1.2) may not converge. See, for example, the case where  $M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ .

The statement of Theorem 1.2 also announces that none of the  $w_j$ 's becomes zero as  $\underline{z}$  varies in the boundary  $(\partial D)^k$  of the unit polydisc. This is another reason why the proximity of A to  $\mathbb{1}_k$  is crucial. As a matter of fact,  $(\partial D)^k$  can be continuously deformed into  $A(\partial D)^k$  without ever touching one of the axis  $z_j = 0$ , see our Lemma 5.2.

This paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, we informally discuss the main motivations for Theorem 1.1. This result is closely connected to the formula for the change of coordinates of the Dirac delta distribution. Most of the heuristic and motivational reasoning in that section is not completely rigorous. In the later sections, all of our results will be rigorously proved. Our strategy to prove Theorem 1.1 is to show first that it is equivalent to Theorem 1.2 and then proceed to prove the latter. In Sect. 3, we prove that the left-hand side expressions in (1.2) and (1.3) coincide when  $A = \mathbb{1}_k + M$ , completing in this way the first step of our strategy. The second step is completed in Sect. 4, where we prove Theorem 1.2 by means of the method of Gaussian elimination. Finally, in Sect. 5, we provide an alternative proof by showing that the manifolds  $(\partial D)^k$  and  $A(\partial D)^k$  are in the same homology class in the space  $(\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\})^k$  and therefore, integrals of closed differential *k*-forms over these manifolds remain invariant. At the end, we briefly discuss the connection between Theorem 1.2 and the formula for the change of coordinates of the delta distribution.

#### 2 Motivations and Informal Discussion

In this section we sketch the main motivation behind formula (1.2). This does not lead to a rigorous proof but it shows how this result is linked with the change of coordinates of the Dirac delta distribution. In the next sections, we will rigorously prove Theorems 1.1 and 1.2.

Given the real vector variable  $\underline{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_k)^T$ , we consider the Dirac distribution  $\delta(\underline{x}) = \delta(x_1) \ldots \delta(x_k)$  in the *k*-dimensional Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^k$ . For any non-singular real matrix  $\mathbb{1}_k + M \in GL(k, \mathbb{R})$  it is known that (see e.g. [3])

$$\delta(\underline{x} + M\underline{x}) = \delta\left((\mathbb{1}_k + M)\underline{x}\right) = \frac{\delta(\underline{x})}{|\det(\mathbb{1}_k + M)|}.$$
(2.1)

On the other hand, if we formally write down the Taylor series expansion of the left-hand side, we get

$$\delta(\underline{x} + M\underline{x}) = \sum_{J \in \mathbb{N}_0^k} \frac{\left(M\underline{x}\right)^J}{J!} \, \delta^{(J)}(\underline{x}),$$

where  $\delta^{(J)}(\underline{x}) = \delta^{(j_1)}(x_1) \dots \delta^{(j_k)}(x_k)$  for the multi-index  $J = (j_1, \dots, j_k)$ . We recall that  $(\underline{M}\underline{x})^J = (\underline{M}\underline{x})_1^{j_1} \dots (\underline{M}\underline{x})_k^{j_k}$  where  $(\underline{M}\underline{x})_r = \sum_{\ell=1}^k m_{r,\ell} x_\ell$  is the *r*-th component of the vector  $\underline{M}\underline{x}$ . By the multinomial theorem we have

$$\frac{\left(\underline{M\underline{x}}\right)_{r}^{j_{r}}}{j_{r}!} = \sum_{|\alpha_{r}|=j_{r}} \frac{\underline{M}_{r}^{\alpha_{r}} \underline{x}^{\alpha_{r}}}{\alpha_{r}!}, \quad \text{with} \quad \underline{x}^{\alpha_{r}} = x_{1}^{\alpha_{r,1}} \cdots x_{k}^{\alpha_{r,k}},$$

and therefore

$$\delta(\underline{x} + M\underline{x}) = \sum_{J \in \mathbb{N}_0^k} \left( \sum_{|\alpha_r| = j_r} \frac{M_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots M_k^{\alpha_k}}{\alpha_1! \cdots \alpha_k!} \underline{x}^{\alpha_1 + \dots \alpha_k} \right) \, \delta^{(J)}(\underline{x}). \tag{2.2}$$

Let us consider  $I = \alpha_1 + \cdots + \alpha_k \in \mathbb{N}_0^k$ , it is a known result that (see e.g. [3])

$$\underline{x}^{I} \delta^{J} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{I} \frac{J!}{(J-I)!} \delta^{(J-I)}(\underline{x}), & \text{if } I \leq J, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

But our multi-index I satisfies |I| = |J|. Thus, in this case, the condition  $I \le J$  implies I = J. Therefore, formula (2.2) can be rewritten as

$$\delta(\underline{x} + M\underline{x}) = \left(\sum_{J \in \mathbb{N}_0^k} (-1)^{|J|} J! \sum_{\substack{\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = J \\ |\alpha_r| = j_r}} \frac{M_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots M_k^{\alpha_k}}{\alpha_1! \cdots \alpha_k!}\right) \delta(\underline{x}).$$

Comparing this with (2.1), it follows that formula (1.2) should hold for some suitable class of matrices M. The statement of Theorem 1.1 is stronger than this guess. In fact, it explicitly describes a class of matrices for which this formula holds and it states the result for complex matrices. In Sect. 5, we shall make the link between the other representation formula (1.3) and the change of coordinates in the Dirac distribution.

#### **3** An Intermediate Step

Before rigorously proving Theorem 1.1, we will show that the statements in the Theorems 1.1 and 1.2 are equivalent. Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  be as in Theorem 1.1 and let us denote the sum in the right-hand side of (1.2) by

$$R(M) = \sum_{J \in \mathbb{N}_0^k} (-1)^{|J|} J! \sum_{\substack{\alpha_1 + \dots + \alpha_k = J \\ |\alpha_r| = j_r}} \frac{M_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots M_k^{\alpha_k}}{\alpha_1! \cdots \alpha_k!}.$$

Now consider the following "more relaxed" version of R(M)

$$S(M) = \sum_{J \in \mathbb{N}_0^k} (-1)^{|J|} J! \sum_{|\alpha_r| = j_r} \frac{M_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots M_k^{\alpha_k}}{\alpha_1! \cdots \alpha_k!}.$$
 (3.1)

While the sum S(M) runs over all multi-index matrices  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}_0^{k \times k}$ , the sum R(M) considers only those  $\boldsymbol{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}_0^{k \times k}$  for which the sum of its *r*-th row equals the sum of its *r*-th column for all r = 1, ..., k. Using the multinomial theorem, we can write S(M) in terms of the following geometric series,

$$S(M) = \sum_{J \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{k}} \prod_{r=1}^{k} \left( -\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} m_{r,\ell} \right)^{j_{r}}$$
  
=  $\prod_{r=1}^{k} \left( \sum_{j_{r}=0}^{\infty} \left( -\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} m_{r,\ell} \right)^{j_{r}} \right)$   
=  $\prod_{r=1}^{k} \frac{1}{1 + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} m_{r,\ell}}.$  (3.2)

We recall that the power series  $\sum_{j_r=0}^{\infty} \left(-\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} m_{r,\ell}\right)^{j_r}$  converges uniformly to  $\left(1+\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} m_{r,\ell}\right)^{-1}$  since  $||M|| \leq \frac{1}{k}$ . Indeed,  $\left|\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} m_{r,\ell}\right| \leq \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} |m_{r,\ell}| < k\frac{1}{k} = 1$ . This reasoning also shows that the series R(M) converges absolutely for  $||M|| \leq \frac{1}{k}$ .

Our strategy is to apply some transformations to the sum S(M) in order to recover R(M). To that end we first consider the transformation  $M \mapsto D^{-1}MD$  where  $D = \text{diag}(z_1, \ldots, z_k)$  is a diagonal matrix whose diagonal entries are in the unit circle, i.e.  $z_1, \ldots, z_k \in \partial D$ . The matrix  $D^{-1}MD$  is the result of multiplying the *r*-th row of M by  $z_r^{-1}$  and the *r*-th column by  $z_r$ ,  $r = 1, \ldots, k$ . Then for every entry this transformation can be written as

$$m_{r,\ell} \mapsto z_r^{-1} z_\ell m_{r,\ell}, \qquad r,\ell = 1,\dots,k.$$
 (3.3)

Let us examine how the sum written in (3.1) reads after this transformation. Observe that

$$M_r^{\alpha_r} = m_{r,1}^{\alpha_{r,1}} \cdots m_{r,k}^{\alpha_{r,k}} \quad \mapsto \quad z_r^{-j_r} z_1^{\alpha_{r,1}} \cdots z_k^{\alpha_{r,k}} M_r^{\alpha_r},$$

which yields

$$M_1^{\alpha_1}\cdots M_k^{\alpha_k} \mapsto \left(\prod_{r=1}^k z_r^{\sum_\ell \alpha_{\ell,r}-j_r}\right) M_1^{\alpha_1}\cdots M_k^{\alpha_k}.$$

The only summands in (3.1) that remain independent of the  $z_r$ 's are those satisfying  $\sum_{\ell=1}^{k} \alpha_{\ell,r} = j_r$  for all r = 1, ..., k, or equivalently,  $\alpha_1 + ... + \alpha_k = J$ . These are exactly the terms that appear in R(M). Hence we can write

$$S(D^{-1}MD) = R(M) + T(D^{-1}MD),$$

where  $T(D^{-1}MD)$  is a sum of elements of the form  $z_1^{\lambda_1} \cdots z_k^{\lambda_k} c$  such that *c* is independent of the  $z_r$ 's and at least one of the powers  $\lambda_r \in \mathbb{Z}$  is different from zero.

Using Cauchy's integral theorem we easily find that

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{T(D^{-1}MD)}{z_1 \cdots z_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k = 0$$

and

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{R(M)}{z_1 \cdots z_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k = R(M) \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{dz_1 \cdots dz_k}{z_1 \cdots z_k} = R(M).$$

Thus

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{S(D^{-1}MD)}{z_1 \cdots z_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k = R(M).$$

On the other hand, using formulas (3.2) and (3.3), we get

$$S(D^{-1}MD) = \prod_{r=1}^{k} \frac{1}{1 + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} z_r^{-1} z_\ell m_{r,\ell}} = \prod_{r=1}^{k} \frac{z_r}{z_r + \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} z_\ell m_{r,\ell}} = \frac{z_1 \cdots z_k}{w_1 \cdots w_k}.$$

Here the vectors  $\underline{z} = (z_1, \ldots, z_k)^T$  and  $\underline{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_k)^T$  are as in Theorem 1.2, i.e.  $A\underline{z} = \underline{w}$  with  $A = \mathbb{1}_k + M$ . Finally, combining the last two formulas, we obtain

$$R(M) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{1}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k,$$

which proves that the left-hand side expressions in (1.2) and (1.3) coincide when  $A = \mathbb{1}_k + M$ .

#### **4 Proofs of the Main Theorems**

We now proceed to prove Theorem 1.2. To that end, we first need the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.1** Let  $A = \{a_{r,\ell}\}_{r,\ell=1,\dots,k}$  be a matrix in  $\mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  such that  $||A - \mathbb{1}_k|| < 1/k$ and consider the linear transformation  $A\underline{z} = \underline{w}$ , where  $\underline{z} = (z_1, \dots, z_k)^T \in (\partial D)^k$ and  $\underline{w} = (w_1, \dots, w_k)^T$ . Then

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial D} \frac{dz_1}{w_r} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{a_{1,1}} & \text{if } r = 1, \\ 0 & \text{if } r = 2, \dots, k. \end{cases}$$

**Proof** Let us start by considering the case r = 2, ..., k. If  $a_{r,1} = 0$ , then  $w_r$  does not depend on  $z_1$  and the integral is automatically zero. If  $a_{r,1} \neq 0$ , we have

$$\frac{1}{w_r} = \frac{1}{a_{r,1} \left( z_1 + \sum_{\ell=2}^k \frac{a_{r,\ell}}{a_{r,1}} z_\ell \right)}.$$

This is a function of  $z_1$  with only one singularity, namely  $z_1 = -\sum_{\ell=2}^k \frac{a_{r,\ell}}{a_{r,1}} z_{\ell}$ , which lies outside of the unit disk  $D = \{z_1 \in \mathbb{C} : |z_1| \le 1\}$ . Indeed, by the triangular inequality we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\ell=2}^{k} \frac{a_{r,\ell}}{a_{r,1}} z_{\ell} \bigg| &= \frac{1}{|a_{r,1}|} \left| \sum_{\ell=2}^{k} a_{r,\ell} z_{\ell} \right| \\ &\geq \frac{1}{|a_{r,1}|} \left( |a_{r,r}| - \left| \sum_{\ell \neq 1,r} a_{r,\ell} z_{\ell} \right| \right) \\ &\geq \frac{1}{|a_{r,1}|} \left( |a_{r,r}| - \sum_{\ell \neq 1,r} |a_{r,\ell}| \right). \end{split}$$

Now we recall that  $|a_{r,\ell} - \delta_{r,\ell}| < \frac{1}{k}$ . In particular, this implies that  $\frac{1}{|a_{r,1}|} > k$ ,  $|a_{r,r}| > \frac{k-1}{k}$  and  $-|a_{r,\ell}| > -\frac{1}{k} \ (\ell \neq r)$ . We thus obtain

$$\left|\sum_{\ell=2}^{k} \frac{a_{r,\ell}}{a_{r,1}} z_{\ell}\right| > k\left(\frac{k-1}{k} - \frac{k-2}{k}\right) = 1.$$

This means that  $\frac{1}{w_r}$  is a holomorphic function inside the unit disk and therefore

 $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial D} \frac{dz_1}{w_r} = 0.$ In the case where r = 1, it suffices to show that the isolated singularity  $z_1 = -\sum_{\ell=2}^{k} \frac{a_{1,\ell}}{a_{1,1}} z_{\ell}$  of  $\frac{1}{w_1}$  is inside of the unit disk. One easily observes that

$$\left|\sum_{\ell=2}^{k} \frac{a_{1,\ell}}{a_{1,1}} z_{\ell}\right| \le \sum_{\ell=2}^{k} \frac{|a_{1,\ell}|}{|a_{1,1}|} < \sum_{\ell=2}^{k} \frac{\frac{1}{k}}{1 - \frac{1}{k}} = 1.$$

Then, by the residue theorem we obtain  $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial D} \frac{dz_1}{w_1} = \frac{1}{d_{11}}$ .

**Proof of Theorem 1.2** We proceed by induction on  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . For k = 1 we have  $w_1 = a_{1,1}z_1$  with  $|a_{1,1} - 1| < 1$ . It is then clear that  $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial D} \frac{dz_1}{a_{1,1}z_1} = \frac{1}{a_{1,1}} = \frac{1}{\det(A)}$ . Let us assume that formula (1.3) is true for  $k - 1 \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let us prove that it also

holds for k. To that end we first decompose the function  $\frac{1}{w_1 \cdots w_k}$  as a sum of partial fractions with respect to  $z_1$ , i.e.

$$rac{1}{w_1\cdots w_k}=rac{\lambda_1}{w_1}+\cdots+rac{\lambda_k}{w_k}$$

where  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_k$  do not depend on  $z_1$ . From Lemma 4.1 we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\partial D} \frac{dz_1}{w_1 \cdots w_k} = \frac{\lambda_1}{a_{1,1}}.$$

We recall that  $\lambda_1$  is the residue of the function  $\frac{a_{1,1}}{w_1 \cdots w_k}$  at the singularity

$$z_1 = -\sum_{\ell=2}^k \frac{a_{1,\ell}}{a_{1,1}} z_\ell.$$

Thus  $\lambda_1$  can be easily computed to be

$$\lambda_1 = \frac{1}{w_2 \cdots w_k} \bigg|_{z_1 = -\sum_{\ell=2}^k \frac{a_{1,\ell}}{a_{1,1}} z_\ell} = \frac{1}{\widetilde{w}_2 \cdots \widetilde{w}_k}$$

where  $\widetilde{w}_r$  is the value of  $w_r$  when substituting  $z_1 = -\sum_{\ell=2}^k \frac{a_{1,\ell}}{a_{1,1}} z_\ell$ , r = 2, ..., k. Further computations yield

$$\widetilde{w}_r = -\frac{a_{r,1}}{a_{1,1}} \sum_{\ell=2}^k a_{1,\ell} z_\ell + \sum_{\ell=2}^k a_{r,\ell} z_\ell = \sum_{\ell=2}^k b_{r,\ell} z_\ell, \quad \text{where} \quad b_{r,\ell} = a_{r,\ell} - \frac{a_{r,1}}{a_{1,1}} a_{1,\ell}.$$

In this way we have obtained

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{1}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k = \frac{1}{a_{1,1}} \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^{k-1}} \oint_{(\partial D)^{k-1}} \frac{1}{\widetilde{w}_2 \cdots \widetilde{w}_k} dz_2 \cdots dz_k,$$
(4.1)

where  $\begin{pmatrix} b_{2,2} \dots b_{2,k} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_{k,2} \dots & b_{k,k} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z_2 \\ \vdots \\ z_k \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{w}_2 \\ \vdots \\ \widetilde{w}_k \end{pmatrix}$  and the matrix  $B = \{b_{r,\ell}\}_{r,\ell=2,\dots,k}$  satisfies

 $||B - \mathbb{1}_{k-1}|| \leq \frac{1}{k-1}$ . Indeed, the matrix  $B - \mathbb{1}_{k-1}$  has entries  $b_{r,\ell} - \delta_{r,\ell} = (a_{r,\ell} - \delta_{r,\ell}) - \frac{1}{a_{1,1}}a_{r,1}a_{1,\ell}$  with  $r, \ell = 2, \ldots, k$ . If we donote by C the matrix  $\{a_{r,1}a_{1,\ell}\}_{r,\ell=2,\ldots,k}$ , we get

$$||B - \mathbb{1}_{k-1}|| \le ||A - \mathbb{1}_k|| + \frac{1}{|a_{1,1}|} ||C||.$$

But  $||C|| = \left(\sum_{r,\ell=2}^{k} |a_{r,1}|^2 |a_{1,\ell}|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \left(\sum_{r=2}^{k} |a_{r,1}|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sum_{\ell=2}^{k} |a_{1,\ell}|^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} < \frac{1}{k^2}$  which implies

$$||B - \mathbb{1}_{k-1}|| \le \frac{1}{k} + \frac{k}{k-1}\frac{1}{k^2} = \frac{1}{k-1}.$$

Now, applying our induction hypothesis on (4.1), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{1}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k = \frac{1}{a_{1,1} \det(B)}.$$

Thus it suffices to prove that  $a_{1,1} \det(B) = \det(A)$ . This easily follows from the Gaussian elimination process. Indeed, if we add to the *r*-th row in the matrix *A* the first row multiplied by  $-\frac{a_{r,1}}{a_{1,1}}$  (r = 2, ..., k), we obtain the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_{1,1} & a_{1,2} \dots & a_{1,k} \\ 0 & b_{2,2} \dots & b_{2,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & b_{k,2} \dots & b_{k,k} \end{pmatrix}$$

This matrix has the same determinant as A. We thus obtain that  $det(A) = a_{1,1} det(B)$ , which proves the result.

#### 5 An Alternative Proof

We now provide an alternative proof for Theorem 1.2. In particular, we will prove the following slightly generalized result.

**Theorem 5.1** Consider  $A_{\underline{z}} = \underline{w}$  as in Theorem 1.2 and let  $f(\underline{z})$  be a  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued holomorphic function in  $\mathbb{C}^{\overline{k}}$ . Then

$$\frac{f(0)}{\det(A)} = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{f(\underline{z})}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k.$$
(5.1)

We first observe that  $A\underline{z} = \underline{w}$  yields  $dw_1 \cdots dw_k = \det(A) dz_1 \cdots dz_k$ . Effectuating this change of variables in the right-hand side of (5.1) we obtain

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{f(\underline{z})}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k = \frac{1}{\det(A)} \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{A(\partial D)^k} \frac{f(A^{-1}\underline{w})}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dw_1 \cdots dw_k.$$
(5.2)

Thus it suffices to prove that  $\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{A(\partial D)^k} \frac{f(A^{-1}w)}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dw_1 \cdots dw_k = f(0)$ . The idea of this proof is to note that  $\frac{f(A^{-1}w)}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dw_1 \cdots dw_k$  is a closed differential form on  $(\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\})^k$ . Therefore, by Stoke's theorem, the above integral remains invariant when taken over any other manifold in the same homology class of  $(\partial D)^k$  in  $(\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\})^k$ , see e.g. [7]. This is summarized in the following two lemmas.

**Lemma 5.2** Let  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  be a matrix such that  $||A - \mathbb{1}_k|| < 1/k$ . Then  $(\partial D)^k$ and  $A(\partial D)^k$  belong to the same homology class in  $(\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\})^k$ , i.e. there exists a continuous map  $A(t) : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{C}^{k \times k}$  such that  $A(0) = \mathbb{1}_k$ , A(1) = A and  $A(t)(\partial D)^k \subset (\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\})^k$  for every  $t \in [0, 1]$ .

**Proof** Let us consider the map  $A(t) = \mathbb{1}_k + t(A - \mathbb{1}_k)$  and  $\underline{w}(t) = A(t)\underline{z}$  with  $\underline{z} \in (\partial D)^k$  arbitrary. We need to prove that  $\underline{w}(t) \in (\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\})^k$  for every  $t \in [0, 1]$ , or equivalently, that every entry  $w_r(t)$  of  $\underline{w}(t)$  (r = 1, ..., k) is different from zero.

We recall that  $w_r(t) = z_r + t \sum_{j=1}^{k} (a_{r,j} - \delta_{r,j}) z_j$ . Then by the triangular inequality we have

$$1 = |z_r| = \left| w_r(t) - t \sum_{j=1}^k (a_{r,j} - \delta_{r,j}) z_j \right|$$
  
$$\leq |w_r(t)| + t \sum_{j=1}^k |a_{r,j} - \delta_{r,j}| < |w_r(t)| + t \sum_{j=1}^k \frac{1}{k}.$$

Thus  $|w_r(t)| > 1 - t \ge 0$  and therefore  $w_r(t) \ne 0$ .

**Lemma 5.3** Let  $\gamma(\underline{w})$  be a  $\mathbb{C}$ -valued holomorphic function in an open region  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{C}^k$ . Then the differential form  $\gamma dw_1 \cdots dw_k$  is closed in  $\Omega$ , i.e.  $d(\gamma dw_1 \cdots dw_k) = 0$  where d is the exterior derivative.

**Proof** It is easily seen that the exterior derivative can be written as  $d = \partial + \overline{\partial}$  where  $\partial = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \partial w_j dw_j$  and  $\overline{\partial} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \partial \overline{w_j} d\overline{w_j}$  are given in terms of the classical Cauchy–Riemann operators  $\partial w_j$ ,  $\partial \overline{w_j}$  and the complex differentials  $dw_j$ ,  $d\overline{w_j}$ . If we write  $w_j = x_j + iy_j$  (with  $x_j$ ,  $y_j$  being real variables) then

$$\partial_{w_j} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{x_j} - i \partial_{y_j}), \quad dw_j = dx_j + i dy_j, \quad \partial_{\overline{w}_j} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{x_j} + i \partial_{y_j}), \quad d\overline{w}_j = dx_j - i dy_j.$$

It is clear that  $\partial(\gamma dw_1 \cdots dw_k) = 0$  and, since  $\gamma$  is holomorphic, we also have that  $\overline{\partial}(\gamma dw_1 \cdots dw_k) = \sum_{j=1}^n \partial_{\overline{w}_j}[\gamma] d\overline{w}_j dw_1 \cdots dw_k = 0$ . Therefore  $d(\gamma dw_1 \cdots dw_k) = 0$ .

Using the previous lemma we easily observe that  $\frac{f(A^{-1}w)}{w_1\cdots w_k} dw_1\cdots dw_k$  is a closed differential form on  $(\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\})^k$ . This means that its integrals over the homologous manifolds  $(\partial D)^k$  and  $A(\partial D)^k$  are equal. Going back to formula (5.2), we finally

obtain from Cauchy's theorem that

$$\frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{f(\underline{z})}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dz_1 \cdots dz_k = \frac{1}{\det(A)} \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{A(\partial D)^k} \frac{f(A^{-1}\underline{w})}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dw_1 \cdots dw_k$$
$$= \frac{1}{\det(A)} \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{f(A^{-1}\underline{w})}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dw_1 \cdots dw_k$$
$$= \frac{f(0)}{\det(A)}.$$

#### 5.1 Connection with the Dirac Distribution

Let us consider the 2k-dimensional real vector variables  $\underline{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_{2k})^T$  and  $\underline{y} = (y_1, \dots, y_{2k})^T$  associated to the complex vector variables  $\underline{z}$  and  $\underline{w}$  in  $\mathbb{C}^k$  by means of

$$\underline{z} = (x_1 + ix_{k+1}, \dots, x_k + ix_{2k})^T$$
, and  $\underline{w} = (y_1 + iy_{k+1}, \dots, y_k + iy_{2k})^T$ ,

respectively. Equivalently we may write  $\underline{z} = P\underline{x}$  and  $\underline{w} = P\underline{y}$  where  $P = (\mathbb{1}_k | i \mathbb{1}_k) \in \mathbb{C}^{k \times 2k}$ . Associated to any complex-linear transformation  $\underline{w} = A\underline{z}$ , one finds a real-linear transformation  $\underline{y} = \Psi(A)\underline{x}$ , where  $\Psi : \mathbb{C}^{k \times k} \to \mathbb{R}^{2k \times 2k}$  is an algebra morphism given by

$$\Psi(A_1 + iA_2) = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 - A_2 \\ A_2 & A_1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad A_1, A_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}.$$

The determinants of the matrices A and  $\Psi(A)$  are linked by the relation  $\det(\Psi(A)) = |\det(A)|^2$ . Indeed, if one considers the matrices  $D = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_k & i \mathbb{1}_k \\ 0 & \mathbb{1}_k \end{pmatrix}$ and its inverse  $D^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1}_k & -i \mathbb{1}_k \\ 0 & \mathbb{1}_k \end{pmatrix}$ , one obtains

$$D \Psi(A) D^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 + i A_2 & 0 \\ A_2 & A_1 - i A_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

and therefore  $\det(\Psi(A)) = \det(D\Psi(A) D^{-1}) = \det(A_1 + iA_2) \det(A_1 - iA_2) = |\det(A)|^2$ .

Let us define  $\delta(\underline{z}) = \delta(\underline{x}) = \delta(x_1) \dots \delta(x_{2k})$  and  $\delta(\underline{w}) = \delta(\underline{y}) = \delta(y_1) \dots \delta(y_{2k})$ . Then (see e.g. [3])

$$\delta(\underline{w}) = \frac{\delta(\underline{z})}{\det(\Psi(A))} = \frac{\delta(\underline{z})}{|\det(A)|^2}.$$
(5.3)

In Sect. 2, we showed how this formula is linked with Theorem 1.1. In this section, we shall make the relation between formula (5.3) and Theorem 5.1 explicit.

From Theorem 5.1, we have for every holomorphic function  $f(\underline{z})$  that

$$\left\langle \frac{\delta(\underline{z})}{\det(A)}, f \right\rangle = \frac{f(0)}{\det(A)} = \frac{1}{\det(A)} \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^k} \oint_{(\partial D)^k} \frac{f(\underline{z})}{w_1 \cdots w_k} dw_1 \cdots dw_k.$$
(5.4)

We now recall that Green's theorem can be written, in terms of the Cauchy–Riemann  $\partial_{\overline{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x + i\partial_y)$  operator of the complex variable z = x + iy, as

$$\oint_{\partial D} g \, dz = 2i \iint_{D} \partial_{\overline{z}}[g] \, dx \, dy,$$

where g is a differentiable function in a neighborhood of the unit disc D. Applying Green's theorem in each variable  $w_j$  in (5.4), we obtain

$$\left\langle \frac{\delta(\underline{z})}{\det(A)}, f \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\pi^k \det(A)} \int_{D^k} \partial_{\overline{w}_1} \cdots \partial_{\overline{w}_{2k}} \left[ \frac{1}{w_1 \cdots w_k} \right] f(\underline{z}) \, dy_1 \cdots dy_{2k}.$$

Now, we recall that  $(\pi z)^{-1}$  is the fundamental solution of  $\partial_{\overline{z}}$ , see e.g. [5]. Then we can substitute in the above formula  $\partial_{\overline{w}_j} \left[ \frac{1}{w_j} \right] = \pi \,\delta(w_j) = \pi \,\delta(y_j) \delta(y_{k+j})$ . Finally, we obtain

$$\left\langle \frac{\delta(\underline{z})}{\det(A)}, f \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\det(A)} \int_{D^k} \delta(\underline{w}) f(\underline{z}) \, dy_1 \cdots dy_{2k}$$
$$= \overline{\det(A)} \int_{A^{-1}D^k} \delta(\underline{w}) f(\underline{z}) \, dx_1 \cdots dx_{2k}$$
$$= \left\langle \overline{\det(A)} \, \delta(\underline{w}), f \right\rangle,$$

which yields (5.3). In the second equality we have used the fact that  $dy_1 \cdots dy_{2k} = \det(\Psi(A)) dx_1 \cdots dx_{2k} = \det(A) \overline{\det(A)} dx_1 \cdots dx_{2k}$ .

**Acknowledgments** The authors want to thank Dr. Michael Wutzig for the careful reading of the manuscript and his valuable suggestions. Alí Guzmán Adán is supported by a postdoctoral fellowship of the F.W.O. Research Foundation-Flanders Belgium (180791/1262021N).

#### References

- 1. R. Bhatia, Matrix analysis Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 169 (Springer, New York, 1997)
- 2. L.S. Brown, Quantum Field Theory (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 1992)
- 3. I.M. Gel'fand, G.E. Shilov, Generalized functions, in *Properties and Operations*, vol. I. Translated by Eugene Saletan (Academic Press, New York, 1964)

- 4. B. Hall, Lie groups, Lie algebras, and representations: An elementary introduction, in *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*, vol. 222, 2nd edn. (Springer, Cham, 2015)
- 5. L. Hörmander, An introduction to complex analysis in several variables (D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., Princeton, 1966)
- 6. J.R. Magnus, H. Neudecker, Matrix differential calculus with applications in statistics and econometrics, in *Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics* (Wiley, Chichester, 1999). Revised reprint of the 1988 original
- 7. L.W. Tu, An Introduction to Manifolds, 2nd edn. Universitext (Springer, New York, 2011)

### Parametrization of the Solution Set of a Matricial Truncated Hamburger Moment Problem by a Schur Type Algorithm



#### Bernd Fritzsche, Bernd Kirstein, Susanne Kley, and Conrad Mädler

**Abstract** This paper contains a Schur analytic approach to a truncated matricial moment problem of Hamburger type, which is studied in the most general case. It is shown that a Schur type algorithm constructed by the authors for a related moment problem can be suitably modified to obtain a full description of the solution set with the aid of a linear fractional transformation with polynomial generating matrix-valued function. The main feature of our Schur type algorithms, namely on the one side an algebraic one working for sequences of complex matrices and on the other side a function theoretic one applied to special classes of holomorphic matrix functions.

**Keywords** Matricial Hamburger moment problem · Stieltjes transform · Schur type algorithm

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000) Primary 44A60; Secondary 30E05

### 1 Introduction

This paper is part of a systematic program of creating a Schur analytic approach to matricial versions of truncated classical power moment problems, which was developed by the authors in the last decade. The essential feature of our concept can be described as a detailed study of the structure of sequences of moment matrices by Schur type algorithms on the one side combined with the construction of concordant Schur type algorithms for special classes of holomorphic matrix-valued functions in several domains which are determined by the choice of the moment problem

259

B. Fritzsche · B. Kirstein (🖂) · S. Kley · C. Mädler

Universität Leipzig, Fakultät für Mathematik und Informatik, Leipzig, Germany e-mail: fritzsche@math.uni-leipzig.de; kirstein@math.uni-leipzig.de; kley@math.uni-leipzig.de; maedler@math.uni-leipzig.de

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), *New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative*, Operator Theory: Advances

and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_9

under consideration. For each of the generalized versions of the classical moment problems (named after Hamburger, Stieltjes and Hausdorff) we were able to give a parametrization of the set of solutions in the most general case. What concerns the matricial versions of truncated Stieltjes type moment problems we refer to [16, 17, 20, 22] whereas the matricial version of the truncated Hausdorff moment problem was investigated in [18, 21, 23, 24].

Our Schur analytic approach to the truncated matricial Hamburger moment problem was begun in [15], where we treated the particular version of the truncated problem which is connected with equality of all prescribed matricial moments. There we handled simultaneously both the case of an even as well as the case of an odd number of prescribed moments. In this paper we concentrate on the last still remaining case, namely on the truncated matricial moment problem for a given sequence  $(s_j)_{i=0}^{2n}$  of complex  $q \times q$  matrices, where the matrix  $s_{2n}$  is required to satisfy an inequality in the sense of Löwner semi-ordering for Hermitian matrices. In the so-called non-degenerate case this problem was already studied by I. V. Kovalishina [27]. She used the FMI method due to V. P. Potapov who interpreted Schur type algorithm from the view of multiplicative decomposition of rational J-elementary factors as a finite product of rational J-elementary factors with poles of order one. In this way, I. V. Kovalishina [27] treated Schur analytic aspects of the moment problem under study. It should be mentioned that even in the non-degenerate case our Schur type algorithm does not coincide with that multiplicative decomposition of the resolvent matrix derived in [27]. The considerations in [27] formed the starting point for the investigations of Chen/Hu [4] where a function theoretic version of a Schur type algorithm was presented. This algorithm uses the Drazin generalized inverse of matrices. The parameters in the linear-fractional transformation description of the set of solutions are pairs of meromorphic matrix functions. Against the background of a later computation of the Weyl matrix balls associated with a truncated matricial Hamburger moment problem in the most general case we strive for a parametrization of the solution set which is based on pairs of holomorphic matrix-valued functions. The use of the Moore–Penrose inverse is a key instrument in our construction of Schur type algorithm. The elementary step of our algorithm is taken from [15].

#### **2** Notation and Preliminaries

First we state some notation. Let  $\mathbb{C}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathbb{N}_0$ , and  $\mathbb{N}$  be the set of all complex numbers, the set of all real numbers, the set of all non-negative integers, and the set of all positive integers, respectively. Further, for every choice of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{-\infty, \infty\}$ , let  $\mathbb{Z}_{\alpha,\beta}$  be the set of all integers k such that  $\alpha \leq k \leq \beta$ . Throughout this paper, if not explicitly mentioned otherwise, then let  $p, q, r \in \mathbb{N}$ . If  $\mathcal{X}$  is a non-empty set, then  $\mathcal{X}^{p \times q}$  represents the set of all  $p \times q$  matrices each entry of which belongs to  $\mathcal{X}$ , and  $\mathcal{X}^p$  is short for  $\mathcal{X}^{p \times 1}$ . The notation  $\mathbb{C}_q^{q \times q}$  is used to denote the set of all Hermitian complex  $q \times q$  matrices. We write  $\mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$  and  $\mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{>}$  to designate the set of all non-negative Hermitian complex  $q \times q$  matrices and the set of all positive Hermitian complex  $q \times q$  matrices, respectively.

If  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  is a measurable space, then each countably additive mapping defined on  $\mathfrak{A}$  with values in  $\mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  is called a non-negative Hermitian  $q \times q$  measure on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  and the notation  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  stands for the set of all non-negative Hermitian  $q \times q$  measures on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ . (Appendix B is aimed to state some basic results on non-negative Hermitian measures.) If  $\mu = (\mu_{jk})_{j,k=1}^{q}$  is a non-negative Hermitian  $q \times q$  measure on a measurable space  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ , then we use  $\mathcal{L}^{1}(\Omega, \mathfrak{A}, \mu; \mathbb{C})$  to denote the set of all Borel-measurable functions  $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$  for which  $\int_{\Omega} |f| dv_{jk} < \infty$ holds true for every choice of j and k in  $\mathbb{Z}_{1,q}$ , where  $v_{jk}$  is the variation of the complex measure  $\mu_{jk}$  (see also Lemma B.1). If  $f \in \mathcal{L}^{1}(\Omega, \mathfrak{A}, \mu; \mathbb{C})$ , then let  $\int_{\Omega} f d\mu := (\int_{\Omega} f d\mu_{jk})_{j,k=1}^{q}$  and we also write  $\int_{\Omega} f(\omega)\mu(d\omega)$  for this integral. Let  $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{C}}$ ) be the  $\sigma$ -algebra of all Borel subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$  (or  $\mathbb{C}$ , respectively).

Let  $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{C}}$ ) be the  $\sigma$ -algebra of all Borel subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$  (or  $\mathbb{C}$ , respectively). For all  $\Omega \in \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , let  $\mathfrak{B}_{\Omega}$  be the  $\sigma$ -algebra of all Borel subsets of  $\Omega$  and let  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}(\Omega)$  be the set of all non-negative Hermitian  $q \times q$  measures on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{B})$ , i. e.,  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}(\Omega)$  is short for  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}(\Omega, \mathfrak{B}_{\Omega})$ . Furthermore, for all  $\Omega \in \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  and for all  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_{0} \cup \{\infty\}$ , let  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq,\kappa}^{q}(\Omega)$  be the set of all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}(\Omega)$  such that, for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ , the function  $f_{j} \colon \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$  defined by  $f_{j}(\omega) \coloneqq \omega^{j}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{L}^{1}(\Omega, \mathfrak{B}_{\Omega}, \sigma; \mathbb{C})$ .

*Remark 2.1* Let  $\Omega \in \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ , and let  $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq,\kappa}(\Omega)$ . Then, for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ , the integral  $s_j^{(\sigma)} \coloneqq \int_{\Omega} \omega^j \sigma(d\omega)$  is well defined. In view of [20, Rem. B.2], one easily can check that  $(s_j^{(\sigma)})^* = s_j^{(\sigma)}$  holds true for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ .

Obviously, once more considering an arbitrary  $\Omega \in \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , we have

$$\mathcal{M}^{q}_{\geq,\infty}(\Omega) \subseteq \mathcal{M}^{q}_{\geq,l}(\Omega) \subseteq \mathcal{M}^{q}_{\geq,k}(\Omega) \subseteq \mathcal{M}^{q}_{\geq,0}(\Omega) = \mathcal{M}^{q}_{\geq}(\Omega)$$

for every choice of non-negative integers k and l with  $k \leq l$ . If  $\Omega$  is a bounded set belonging to  $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ , then it is readily checked that  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq,\infty}(\Omega) = \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\Omega)$ is valid. We will consider the following types of a so-called matricial Hamburger power moment problems:

**Problem** (MP[ $\mathbb{R}$ ;  $(s_j)_{j=0}^m$ ,  $\leq$ ]) Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^m$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices. Parametrize the set  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^m, \leq]$  of all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq,m}(\mathbb{R})$  for which the matrix  $s_m - s_m^{(\sigma)}$  is non-negative Hermitian and, in the case  $m \geq 1$ , for which additionally  $s_j = s_j^{(\sigma)}$  is fulfilled for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$ .

Problem  $\mathsf{MP}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^m, \leq]$  is connected to a further type of truncated moment problem considered (for particular cases of the set  $\Omega$ ), for example, in [4, 15]:

**Problem** (MP[ $\mathbb{R}$ ;  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ , =]) Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices. Parametrize the set  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}, =]$  of all  $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}_{\geq,\kappa}^q(\mathbb{R})$  for which  $s_j = s_j^{(\sigma)}$  is fulfilled for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ .

To recall the criteria of solvability of the matricial Hamburger problem in detail as well as for our further consideration, we introduce certain sets of sequences of complex  $q \times q$  matrices which are determined by properties of particular block Hankel matrices built of them. If  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and if  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  is a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices, then  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  is called  $\mathbb{R}$ -non-negative definite ( $\mathbb{R}$ -positive definite, respectively) if the block Hankel matrix

$$H_{n} := (s_{j+k})_{j,k=0}^{n} = \begin{pmatrix} s_{0} & s_{1} & \dots & s_{n} \\ s_{1} & s_{2} & \dots & s_{n+1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ s_{n} & s_{n+1} & \dots & s_{2n} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.1)

is non-negative Hermitian (positive Hermitian, respectively). For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , we will write  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$  (or  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ , respectively) for the set of all sequences  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  of complex  $q \times q$  matrices which are  $\mathbb{R}$ -non-negative definite ( $\mathbb{R}$ -positive definite, respectively). If  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and if  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$  (or  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ , respectively), then, for each  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,n}$ , the sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  obviously belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2m}^{\geq}$  (or  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2m}^{\geq}$ , respectively). Thus, let  $\mathcal{H}_{q,\infty}^{\geq}$  (or  $\mathcal{H}_{q,\infty}^{\geq}$ , respectively) be the set of all sequences  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\infty}$  of complex  $q \times q$  matrices such that, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , the sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$  (or  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ , respectively). A solvability criterion for Problem  $\mathsf{MP}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  is the following:

**Theorem 2.2** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices. Then  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq] \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}^{\geq}_{q,2n}$ .

There are different proofs of Theorem 2.2, namely in [4, Thm. 3.2] and [10, Thm. 4.16]. A parametrization of the solution set  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  was given in [27, Thm.  $\mathscr{H}$ ] for the non-degenerate case, i. e., if the sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  of prescribed matricial moments is  $\mathbb{R}$ -positive definite. In the general case of a given  $\mathbb{R}$ -nonnegative definite sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$ , parametrizations of  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  can be found in [2, Thm. 4.6], [4, Thm. 4.5], and [33, Ch. 1].

For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , let  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  be the set of all sequences  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  of complex  $q \times q$  matrices for which there exist complex  $q \times q$  matrices  $s_{2n+1}$  and  $s_{2n+2}$  such that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2(n+1)}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2(n+1)}^{\geq}$ . Furthermore, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , we will use  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n+1}^{\geq,e}$  to denote the set of all sequences  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1}$  of complex  $q \times q$  matrices for which there exists a complex  $q \times q$  matrix  $s_{2n+2}$  such that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2(n+1)}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2(n+1)}^{\geq}$ . For each  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , the elements of the set  $\mathcal{H}_{q,m}^{\geq,e}$  are called  $\mathbb{R}$ -non-negative definite extendable sequences. For technical reasons, we set  $\mathcal{H}_{q,\infty}^{\geq,e} \coloneqq \mathcal{H}_{q,\infty}^{\geq}$ .

*Remark 2.3* Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{>} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{\geq,e} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{\geq}$ .

If  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ , then  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{\geq,e} \neq \mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{\geq,e}$ . Furthermore,  $\mathcal{H}_{q,0}^{\geq,e} = \mathcal{H}_{q,0}^{\geq}$  whereas  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{\geq,e} \neq \mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{\geq}$  for all  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . The following result is essential for a parametrization of the set  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{i=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ :

**Theorem 2.4** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ . Then there exists a unique sequence  $(\tilde{s}_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  such that  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q[\mathbb{R}; (\tilde{s}_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq] = \mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ .

The existence of such a sequence  $(\tilde{s}_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  was formulated first in [2, Lem. 2.12]. In [33, Satz 1.22], one can find a complete proof for the existence of such a sequence  $(\tilde{s}_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$ . A complete proof of Theorem 2.4 can be found in [10, Thm. 7.3]. A general principle which stands behind the construction of the sequence  $(\tilde{s}_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  was uncovered in [19]. This concept is connected with a special kind of Schur complement. Furthermore, observe that necessary and sufficient conditions for the case that Problem MP[ $\mathbb{R}$ ;  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$ ,  $\leq$ ] has a unique solution are given in [10, Theorems 8.4 and 8.5]. The solvability of Problem MP[ $\mathbb{R}$ ;  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ , =] can be characterized as follows:

**Theorem 2.5** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices. Then  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}, =]$  is not empty if and only if  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa} \in \mathcal{H}^{\geq, \mathfrak{e}}_{q,\kappa}$ .

A proof of Theorem 2.5 can be found in [10, Thm. 4.17]. This proof modifies an idea presented in [2, Lem. 2.10], where  $\kappa$  is an even non-negative integer. In the case of an even non-negative integer  $\kappa$ , a proof is also given in [4, Thm. 3.1]. Moreover, if  $\kappa = \infty$ , a proof is given in [11, Thm. 6.6]. Furthermore, observe that necessary and sufficient conditions for the case that Problem MP[ $\mathbb{R}$ ;  $(s_j)_{j=0}^m$ ,  $\leq$ ], where *m* is an arbitrarily given non-negative integer, has a unique solution are given in [10, Theorems 8.7 and 8.9].

In the so-called non-degenerate situation, a parametrization of the solution set of  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}[\mathbb{R}; (s_{j})_{j=0}^{2n}, =]$ , where *n* is an arbitrarily given positive integer, was worked out by H. Dym in [9]. This was done for arbitrarily given sequences  $(s_{j})_{j=0}^{2n} \in$  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{>}$  by using the theory of Hilbert spaces with a reproducing kernel. Applying a Schur type algorithm, in [4, Thm. 4] a parametrization of  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}[\mathbb{R}; (s_{j})_{j=0}^{2n}, =]$  was shown for given sequences  $(s_{j})_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ . Alternatively, a description of this solution set was presented in [1, Thm. 4], using operator-theoretic methods. In the case  $\kappa = 2n + 1$  with some non-negative integer *n*, a parametrization of the solution set of  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{1}[\mathbb{R}; (s_{j})_{j=0}^{2n+1}, =]$ , i. e., in the scalar case, was found in [7, Sec. 3]. The matricial case  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}[\mathbb{R}; (s_{j})_{j=0}^{2n+1}, =]$  with an arbitrarily given positive integer *q* could be handled by using a two-step Schur type algorithm in [15]. In the case  $\kappa = \infty$ , only assuming additional conditions, a parametrization was found previously (cf. [5, 27]).

At the end of this introductory section, we give some further notation. We will write  $I_q$  to denote the identity matrix in  $\mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$ , whereas  $0_{p \times q}$  is the null matrix belonging to  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ . If the size of an identity matrix or a null matrix is obvious,

then we also will omit the indices. For each  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ , let  $\mathcal{R}(A)$  be the column space of A, let  $\mathcal{N}(A)$  be the null space of A, and let rank A be the rank of A. For each  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$ , we will use Im A to denote the imaginary part of A: Im A := $\frac{1}{2i}(A - A^*)$ . Furthermore, for each  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ , let  $||A||_{S}$  be the operator norm of A. A complex  $p \times q$  matrix A is said to be contractive if  $||A||_{S} \leq 1$ . If  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$ , then det A denotes the determinant of A. For each  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$ , let  $A^+$  be the Moore– Penrose inverse of A. If  $p_1, p_2, q_1, q_2 \in \mathbb{N}$  and if  $A_j \in \mathbb{C}^{p_j \times q_j}$  for every choice of  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , then let diag $(A_1, A_2) := \begin{pmatrix} A_1 & 0_{p_1 \times q_2} \\ 0_{p_2 \times q_1} & A_2 \end{pmatrix}$ . Furthermore, within the set  $\mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_H$ , we use the Löwner semi-ordering: If A and B are complex Hermitian  $q \times q$  matrices, then we will write  $A \leq B$  (or  $B \geq A$ ) to indicate that B - A is a non-negative Hermitian matrix.

For all  $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^q$ , by  $\langle x, y \rangle_E$  we denote the (left-hand side) Euclidean inner product of x and y, i. e., we have  $\langle x, y \rangle_E := y^*x$ . If  $\mathcal{M}$  is a non-empty subset of  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , then let  $\mathcal{M}^{\perp}$  be the set of all vectors in  $\mathbb{C}^q$  which are orthogonal to  $\mathcal{M}$  (with respect to the Euclidean inner product  $\langle ., . \rangle_E$ ). If  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{W}$  are orthogonal subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , then we will say that  $\mathcal{U} \oplus \mathcal{W}$  is the orthogonal sum of  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{W}$ . If  $\mathcal{U}$  is a subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , then let  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}}$  be the orthoprojection matrix onto  $\mathcal{U}$ .

We consider the set

$$\Pi_{+} \coloneqq \{ z \in \mathbb{C} \colon \operatorname{Im} z \in (0, \infty) \}.$$

We will call a subset  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $\Pi_+$  a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$  if  $\mathcal{D}$  does not have an accumulation point in  $\Pi_+$ . If f is a meromorphic function defined on a non-empty open subset of the complex plane, then we use  $\mathbb{H}_f$  to denote the set of all points w at which f is holomorphic.

#### **3** Particular Classes of Holomorphic Matrix Functions

We will reformulate the matricial moment problems under consideration as equivalent interpolation problems for particular classes of holomorphic matrix-valued functions. For this reason, we introduce in this section the corresponding function classes and summarize some of their essential properties needed in the sequel. Most of this material is taken from [12, 15]. In this section, we consider some special classes of holomorphic matrix-valued functions. First we turn our attention to a (well-studied) class of matrix-valued functions.

A matrix-valued function  $S: \Pi_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  is called  $q \times q$  Schur function in  $\Pi_+$ if S is both holomorphic and contractive in  $\Pi_+$ , i. e., if S is holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and if  $||S(z)||_S \le 1$  is fulfilled for each  $z \in \Pi_+$ . The set of all  $q \times q$  Schur functions in  $\Pi_+$  will be denoted by  $S_{q \times q}(\Pi_+)$ .

The class  $\mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$  of all  $q \times q$  Herglotz–Nevanlinna functions in the upper half-plane  $\Pi_+$  consists of all matrix-valued functions  $F: \Pi_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  which are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and which satisfy  $\operatorname{Im} F(z) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Detailed observations about matrix-valued Herglotz–Nevanlinna functions can be found in [12, 25]. Especially, the functions belonging to  $\mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$  admit a wellknown integral representation. Before we formulate this version of a famous result due to R. Nevanlinna, we observe that, for every choice of  $\nu \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\mathbb{R})$  and  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , from Lemma B.1 one easily can see that  $f_z \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  given by  $f_z(x) \coloneqq (1+xz)/(x-z)$  belongs to  $\mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}, \nu; \mathbb{C})$ .

#### Theorem 3.1 (Nevanlinna)

(a) For each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ , there exists a unique triple  $(\alpha, \beta, \nu) \in \mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{H}}^{q \times q} \times \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q} \times \mathcal{M}^q_{>}(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$F(z) = \alpha + \beta z + \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1 + xz}{x - z} \nu(\mathrm{d}x) \qquad \text{for each } z \in \Pi_+. \tag{3.1}$$

(b) If  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{H}}^{q \times q}$ , if  $\beta \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$ , and if  $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}(\mathbb{R})$ , then  $F \colon \Pi_{+} \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  defined by (3.1) belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{q}(\Pi_{+})$ .

For each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ , the unique triple  $(\alpha, \beta, \nu) \in \mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{H}}^{q \times q} \times \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q} \times \mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q(\mathbb{R})$  for which the representation (3.1) holds true is called the *Nevanlinna parametrization of F* and we also write  $(\alpha_F, \beta_F, \nu_F)$  instead of  $(\alpha, \beta, \nu)$ . In particular,  $\nu_F$  is said to be the *Nevanlinna measure of F*. For our following consideration, it seems to be useful to state some further known results concerning Herglotz–Nevanlinna functions. We start with the following result:

**Lemma 3.2** Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$  and let  $F : \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D} \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  be a matrix-valued function holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  such that  $\operatorname{Im} F(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$  is valid for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . For each  $z \in \mathcal{D}$ , then F has a removable singularity at z and the extended matrix-valued function belongs to the class  $\mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ .

A proof of Lemma 3.2 easily can be obtained, e. g., using [8, Lem. 2.1.9]. If *F* belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_1(\Pi_+)$ , then  $\sigma_F \colon \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \to [0, +\infty]$  defined by

$$\sigma_F(B) := \int_B (1+x^2) \nu_F(\mathrm{d}x) \qquad \text{for all } B \in \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}$$
(3.2)

describes a measure which is called the *spectral measure* of *F*. By  $\mathcal{R}'_q(\Pi_+)$  we denote the set of all  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$  for which  $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by  $g(x) \coloneqq 1 + x^2$ belongs to  $\mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}, v_F; \mathbb{R})$ . Since the trace measure  $\tau$  of  $v_F$  fulfils  $\tau(\mathbb{R}) < \infty$ , Lemma B.1 yields  $\mathcal{R}'_q(\Pi_+) = \{F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+) \colon v_F \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq,2}(\mathbb{R})\}$ . If *F* belongs to  $\mathcal{R}'_q(\Pi_+)$ , then  $\sigma_F \colon \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$  given by (3.2) is a well-defined non-negative Hermitian  $q \times q$  measure belonging to  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\mathbb{R})$  which is said to be the *matricial spectral measure* of *F*. Clearly, considering functions belonging to the class  $\mathcal{R}'_1(\Pi_+)$ , the notations 'spectral measure' and 'matricial spectral measure' coincide. Observe that [20, Rem. B.1] shows that, for each  $F \in \mathcal{R}'_q(\Pi_+)$ , the matricial spectral measure  $\sigma_F$  of *F* fulfils  $\sigma_F(B) = \int_B (\sqrt{1+x^2}I_q)v_F(dx)(\sqrt{1+x^2}I_q)^*$  for all  $B \in \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}$ . Observe that a particular integral representation for functions belonging to the class  $\mathcal{R}'_q(\Pi_+)$  is given in [12, Thm. 4.3]. For our consideration, the class  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  given by

$$\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+) \coloneqq \left\{ F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+) \colon \sup_{y \in [1,\infty)} y \| F(\mathbf{i}y) \|_{\mathbf{S}} < \infty \right\},\$$

plays a key role. The class  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  is a subclass of  $\mathcal{R}'_q(\Pi_+)$  (see, e.g., [32, Lem. 8.4]). Furthermore, the functions belonging to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  admit a special integral representation. Before we formulate this result, let us observe that, for every choice of  $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\mathbb{R})$  and  $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ , one can easily see that the function  $h_z \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  given by  $h_z(x) \coloneqq (x - z)^{-1}$  describes a bounded and continuous function which, in particular, belongs to  $\mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}, \mu; \mathbb{C})$  (see also Lemma B.1). Now we are able to formulate a well-known matricial generalization of a classical result due to R. Nevanlinna [29].

#### Theorem 3.3

(a) For each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$ , the matrix-valued function F belongs to  $\mathcal{R}'_q(\Pi_+)$  and there is a unique  $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}^q_>(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$F(z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{1}{x - z} \sigma(\mathrm{d}x) \qquad \text{for each } z \in \Pi_+, \tag{3.3}$$

namely, the matricial spectral measure  $\sigma_F$  of F.

(b) If F: Π<sub>+</sub> → C<sup>q×q</sup> is a matrix-valued function for which there exists a nonnegative Hermitian measure σ ∈ M<sup>q</sup><sub>≥</sub>(ℝ) such that (3.3) holds true, then F belongs to R<sub>0,q</sub>(Π<sub>+</sub>).

Theorem 3.3 can be proved by using its well-known scalar version in the case q = 1 as well as the fact that, for each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  and each  $u \in \mathbb{C}^q$ , the function  $u^*Fu$  belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,1}(\Pi_+)$ , Lemma B.1, and [12, Lem. B.3]. If  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$ , then the unique  $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\mathbb{R})$  for which (3.3) holds true is also called the  $\mathbb{R}$ -*Stieltjes measure of* F. Consequently, for each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$ , the notions  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure and matricial spectral measure coincide. If  $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\mathbb{R})$  is given, then  $F \colon \Pi_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  defined by (3.3) is said to be the  $\mathbb{R}$ -*Stieltjes transform of*  $\sigma$ .

*Remark 3.4* In view of Theorem 3.3, now one can reformulate Problems  $MP[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  and  $MP[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}, =]$  in the language of  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes transforms:

**Problem** (R[ $\Pi_+$ ;  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$ ,  $\leq$ ]) Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices. Parametrize the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  of all matrix-valued functions  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure of which belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ .

**Problem** (R[ $\Pi_+$ ;  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ , =]) Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices. Parametrize the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}, =]$  of all matrix-valued functions  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure of which belongs to  $\mathcal{M}^q_>[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{i=0}^{\kappa}, =]$ .

The following result contains an important property of the class  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$ .

**Lemma 3.5** Let  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$ . Then, for each  $z \in \Pi_+$ , the equations  $\mathcal{R}(F(z)) = \mathcal{R}(\sigma_F(\mathbb{R}))$  and  $\mathcal{N}(F(z)) = \mathcal{N}(\sigma_F(\mathbb{R}))$  hold true.

There is a proof of Lemma 3.5, e. g., in [12, Lem. 8.2 and Prop. 8.9]. In the following, we introduce a variety of further subclasses of  $\mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ . We summarize basic facts about these subclasses which mostly are characterized by growth properties on the positive imaginary axis. Within our consideration, essentially we refer to the representations in [12, Sections 4–8] and [15, Sections 3 and 4]. Let

$$\mathcal{R}_q^{[-2]}(\Pi_+) \coloneqq \left\{ F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+) \colon \lim_{y \to \infty} \left( \frac{1}{y} \| F(\mathbf{i}y) \|_{\mathbf{S}} \right) = 0 \right\}$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}_q^{[-1]}(\Pi_+) \coloneqq \left\{ F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+) \colon \int_{[1,\infty)} \frac{1}{y} \| \operatorname{Im} F(\mathrm{i}y) \|_{\mathsf{S}} \tilde{\lambda}(\mathrm{d}y) < \infty \right\},\$$

where  $\tilde{\lambda}$  is used for the Lebesgue measure defined on  $\mathfrak{B}_{[1,\infty)}$ .

Remark 3.6 ([12, Lem. 5.1 and Remarks 5.2 and 5.3]) Let  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q^{[-1]}(\Pi_+)$  with Nevanlinna parametrization  $(\alpha_F, \beta_F, \nu_F)$ . Then  $\beta_F = 0_{q \times q}, \nu_F \in \mathcal{M}_{\geq,1}^q(\mathbb{R})$ , and  $h \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by  $h(x) \coloneqq (x^2 + 1)/(|x| + 1)$  belongs to  $\mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}, \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}, \nu_F; \mathbb{R})$ . Let  $\gamma_F \coloneqq \alpha_F - s_1^{(\nu_F)}$  and let  $\mu_F \colon \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  be given by

$$\mu_F(B) := \int_B \frac{x^2 + 1}{|x| + 1} \nu_F(\mathrm{d}x). \tag{3.4}$$

Then  $\gamma_F \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\mathrm{H}}$  and  $\mu_F \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\mathbb{R})$ . Furthermore,  $\mathcal{R}(\mu_F(\mathbb{R})) = \mathcal{R}(\nu_F(\mathbb{R}))$  and  $\mathcal{N}(\mu_F(\mathbb{R})) = \mathcal{N}(\nu_F(\mathbb{R}))$ .

We continue to use the notation  $\gamma_F$  and  $\mu_F$ , explained in Remark 3.6. Let

$$\mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+) := \left\{ F \in \mathcal{R}_q^{[-1]}(\Pi_+) \colon \gamma_F = 0_{q \times q} \right\}.$$
(3.5)

**Proposition 3.7 ([12, Propositions 8.8 and 8.9])** The class  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  admits the representation  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+) = \mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+) \cap \mathcal{R}'_q(\Pi_+)$ .

**Lemma 3.8** Let  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$ . Then  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q^{[-1]}(\Pi_+)$  and  $\mathcal{N}(\mu_F(\mathbb{R})) = \mathcal{N}(\sigma_F(\mathbb{R}))$ .

**Proof** From Proposition 3.7 we can infer  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+)$ . According to (3.5), then  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q^{[-1]}(\Pi_+)$ . Let  $z_0 \in \Pi_+$ . We can apply [12, Lem. 8.1] to obtain  $\mathcal{N}(F(z_0)) = \mathcal{N}(\mu_F(\mathbb{R}))$ . Since Lemma 3.5 yields  $\mathcal{N}(F(z_0)) = \mathcal{N}(\sigma_F(\mathbb{R}))$ , consequently  $\mathcal{N}(\mu_F(\mathbb{R})) = \mathcal{N}(\sigma_F(\mathbb{R}))$  follows.

From [12, Prop. 3.7] we know that, for an arbitrary function  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ , the null space of F(z) is independent of the choice of  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Keeping this in mind, we consider a special subclass of  $\mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+)$  which is characterized by the interrelation between this constant null space and the null space of a prescribed matrix  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ . Indeed, for all  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ , let

$$\mathcal{P}_{q}^{\text{odd}}[A] \coloneqq \left\{ F \in \mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_{+}) \colon \mathcal{N}(A) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(\mu_{F}(\mathbb{R})) \right\},\tag{3.6}$$

where  $\mu_F: \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  is given by (3.4). Observe that, for each  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ , the matrix-valued function  $F: \Pi_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  defined by  $F(z) \coloneqq 0_{q \times q}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{P}_q^{\text{odd}}[A]$  (cf.[15, Example 4.2]). Moreover, if  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$  satisfies  $\mathcal{N}(A) = \{0_{q \times 1}\}$ , then  $\mathcal{P}_q^{\text{odd}}[A] = \mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+)$  (cf.[15, Rem. 4.1]).

## **4** Some Facts on Nevanlinna Pairs and their Interrelation to Matricial Schur Functions

In this section, we state some results on certain pairs of matrix-valued functions meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$ . These special pairs take over the role of the free parameters within the parametrization of the set of solutions to the matricial power moment problems. Before we recall the definition of this well-known class of so-called Nevanlinna pairs, we observe the following well-known fact:

*Remark 4.1* The matrix  $\widetilde{J}_q$  given by

$$\widetilde{J}_q \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} 0_{q \times q} & -\mathrm{i}I_q \\ \mathrm{i}I_q & 0_{q \times q} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.1)

obviously is a  $2q \times 2q$  signature matrix, i.e.,  $\widetilde{J}_q^* = \widetilde{J}_q$  and  $\widetilde{J}_q^2 = I_{2q}$  hold true. Moreover,

$$\binom{A}{B}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \binom{A}{B} = \binom{A}{B}^* \binom{0 \ \mathrm{i}I_q}{-\mathrm{i}I_q \ 0} \binom{A}{B} = \mathrm{i}(A^*B - B^*A) = 2 \operatorname{Im}(B^*A)$$

for all  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$ . In particular,  $\binom{A}{I_q}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \binom{A}{I_q} = 2 \operatorname{Im}(A)$  for each  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$ .

**Definition 4.2** Let  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  be  $q \times q$  matrix-valued functions meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$ . The pair  $[\phi; \psi]$  is called  $q \times q$  *Nevanlinna pair in*  $\Pi_+$  if there is a discrete subset  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $\Pi_+$  such that the following three conditions are fulfilled:

- (i)  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ .
- (ii)  $\operatorname{rank} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(w) \\ \psi(w) \end{pmatrix} = q$  for each  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ .
- (iii)  $\begin{pmatrix} \phi(w) \\ \psi(w) \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(w) \\ \psi(w) \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  for each  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ .

We denote the set of all  $q \times q$  Nevanlinna pairs in  $\Pi_+$  by  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ .

*Remark 4.3* Remark A.5 shows that condition (ii) of Definition 4.2 equivalently can be replaced by the following condition (ii'):

(ii') det[
$$\psi(w) - i\phi(w)$$
]  $\neq 0$  for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ .

*Remark 4.4* Let  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . For each  $q \times q$  matrix-valued function g meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  such that the function det g does not vanish identically, one can easily see that the pair  $[\phi_g; \psi_g]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$  as well. Two  $q \times q$  Nevanlinna pairs  $[\phi_1; \psi_1]$  and  $[\phi_2; \psi_2]$  in  $\Pi_+$  are said to be *equivalent* if there exist a  $q \times q$  matrix-valued function g meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and a discrete subset  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $\Pi_+$  such that  $\phi_1, \psi_1, \phi_2, \psi_2$ , and g are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  and that det  $g(w) \neq 0$  as well as  $\phi_2(w) = \phi_1(w)g(w)$  and  $\psi_2(w) = \psi_1(w)g(w)$  hold true for each  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . Indeed, it is readily checked that this relation defines an equivalence relation on  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . For each  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ , let  $\langle [\phi; \psi] \rangle$  denote the equivalence class generated by  $[\phi; \psi]$ . Furthermore, if  $\mathcal{M}$  is a non-empty subset of  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ , then let  $\langle \mathcal{M} \rangle \coloneqq \{\langle [\phi; \psi] \rangle : [\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{M} \}$ .

*Remark 4.5* Let  $\psi_0: \Pi_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  be given by  $\psi_0(w) \coloneqq I_q$ . Then, for each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ , the pair  $[F; \psi_0]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ .

Now we state a well-known interrelation between the classes  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$  and  $\mathcal{S}_{q \times q}(\Pi_+)$ .

#### Lemma 4.6

(a) For each  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ , the function  $\det(\psi - i\phi)$  does not vanish *identically and* 

$$S \coloneqq (\psi + \mathrm{i}\phi)(\psi - \mathrm{i}\phi)^{-1}$$

belongs to  $S_{q \times q}(\Pi_+)$ .

(b) For each S ∈ S<sub>q×q</sub>(Π<sub>+</sub>), the pair [φ; ψ] given by φ := i(I<sub>q</sub> − S) and ψ := I<sub>q</sub> + S belongs to PR<sub>q</sub>(Π<sub>+</sub>), where the matrix-valued functions φ and ψ are holomorphic in Π<sub>+</sub> and fulfil, for all w ∈ Π<sub>+</sub> the inequality det[ψ(w) − iφ(w)] ≠ 0 and the equation

$$S(w) = [\psi(w) + i\phi(w)] [\psi(w) - i\phi(w)]^{-1}$$

(c) Let  $[\phi_1; \psi_1], [\phi_2; \psi_2] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . Then  $\langle [\phi_1; \psi_1] \rangle = \langle [\phi_2; \psi_2] \rangle$  if and only if  $(\psi_1 + i\phi_1)(\psi_1 - i\phi_1)^{-1} = (\psi_2 + i\phi_2)(\psi_2 - i\phi_2)^{-1}$ .

In view of Remarks A.6 and A.7 as well as Riemann's theorem on removable singularities, a detailed proof of Lemma 4.6 is given, e. g., in [33, Lem. 1.7]. Now we want to study special subclasses of the class  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ .

*Notation 4.7* Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{P}[M]$  the set of all pairs  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$  such that  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(M)}\phi = \phi$  is fulfilled.

It should be mentioned that in our generic applications of Notation 4.7 the role of the matrix *M* is taken by the matrix  $s_0$  in a sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{a,2n}^{\geq,e}$ .

*Example 4.8* Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$ . Remark 4.5 shows then that the pair  $[\phi_0; \psi_0]$  given by  $\phi_0(w) := 0_{q \times q}$  and  $\psi_0(w) := I_q$  for all  $w \in \Pi_+$  belongs to  $\mathcal{P}[M]$ .

*Remark 4.9* Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$  be such that rank M = q. Then  $\mathcal{R}(M) = \mathbb{C}^q$ ,  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(M)} = I_q$ , and, consequently,  $\mathcal{P}[M] = \mathcal{P}\mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ .

**Lemma 4.10** Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$  be such that  $r := \operatorname{rank} M$  fulfils  $r \geq 1$ . Let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathcal{R}(M)$  and let  $U := (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r)$ . Then  $\gamma_U : \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+) \to \mathcal{P}[M]$  given by

$$\gamma_U\left([\widetilde{\phi};\widetilde{\psi}]\right) \coloneqq [U\widetilde{\phi}U^*; U\widetilde{\psi}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}]$$
(4.2)

is well defined and injective.

*Proof* We are going to apply an idea which was used in the proof of [20, Lem. 13.4]. Obviously, we have

$$U^*U = I_r$$
 and  $\mathcal{R}(U) = \mathcal{R}(M).$  (4.3)

Proposition A.8 shows that

$$\mathbb{P}^{2}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \mathbb{P}^{*}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$$
(4.4)

hold true. Obviously, the equations

$$\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(M)} = UU^* \qquad \text{and} \qquad \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} = I_q - UU^* \qquad (4.5)$$

are valid. Thus, (4.5) and (4.3) yield

$$\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}U = 0_{q \times r} \qquad \text{and} \qquad U^* \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} = 0_{r \times q}.$$
(4.6)

Now we consider an arbitrary pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ . According to Definition 4.2, we know that  $\tilde{\phi}$  and  $\tilde{\psi}$  are  $r \times r$  matrix-valued functions meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and that there is a discrete subset  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}$  of  $\Pi_+$  such that  $\Pi_+ \setminus \tilde{\mathcal{D}} \subseteq \mathbb{H}_{\tilde{\phi}} \cap \mathbb{H}_{\tilde{\psi}}$  and that

$$\operatorname{rank}\begin{pmatrix}\widetilde{\phi}(w)\\\widetilde{\psi}(w)\end{pmatrix} = r \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\widetilde{\phi}(w)\\\widetilde{\psi}(w)\right)^* (-\widetilde{J}_r)\begin{pmatrix}\widetilde{\phi}(w)\\\widetilde{\psi}(w)\end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^{r \times r}_{\geq} \quad (4.7)$$

hold true for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . Then the matrix-valued functions

$$\phi \coloneqq U\widetilde{\phi}U^*$$
 and  $\psi \coloneqq U\widetilde{\psi}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$  (4.8)

are meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . We consider an arbitrary  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . Then from (4.3), (4.8), (4.7), and Lemma A.16 we get rank  $\begin{pmatrix} \phi(w) \\ \psi(w) \end{pmatrix} = q$ . Using (4.8), (4.4), (4.3), and (4.6), we conclude

$$\begin{split} [\psi(w)]^*\phi(w) &= U[\widetilde{\psi}(w)]^*U^*U\widetilde{\phi}(w)U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}U\widetilde{\phi}(w)U^* \\ &= U[\widetilde{\psi}(w)]^*\widetilde{\phi}(w)U^*, \end{split}$$

and then

$$\operatorname{Im}\left([\psi(w)]^*\phi(w)\right) = \operatorname{Im}\left(U[\widetilde{\psi}(w)]^*\widetilde{\phi}(w)U^*\right) = U\operatorname{Im}\left([\widetilde{\psi}(w)]^*\widetilde{\phi}(w)\right)U^*.$$
(4.9)

Because of Remark 4.1, from (4.9) it follows

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi(w) \\ \psi(w) \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(w) \\ \psi(w) \end{pmatrix} = U \left[ \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\phi}(w) \\ \widetilde{\psi}(w) \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_r) \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\phi}(w) \\ \widetilde{\psi}(w) \end{pmatrix} \right] U^*.$$
(4.10)

Thus, (4.7) yields that the matrix on the left-hand side of (4.10) is non-negative Hermitian. Consequently, in view of Definition 4.2, the pair  $[\phi; \psi]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . Taking into account (4.3) and (4.8), also we get  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(M)}\phi = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(U)}U\tilde{\phi}U^* = U\tilde{\phi}U^* = \phi$ . Thus, from Notation 4.7 we get  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[M]$ .

It remains to check that the mapping  $\gamma_U$  is injective. Let  $[\tilde{\phi}_1; \tilde{\psi}_1], [\tilde{\phi}_2; \tilde{\psi}_2] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$  be such that  $\gamma_U([\tilde{\phi}_1; \tilde{\psi}_1]) = \gamma_U([\tilde{\phi}_2; \tilde{\psi}_2])$ . Then  $U\tilde{\phi}_1 U^* = U\tilde{\phi}_2 U^*$  and  $U\tilde{\psi}_1 U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} = U\tilde{\psi}_2 U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$  are valid. Using (4.3), immediately  $\tilde{\phi}_1 = \tilde{\phi}_2$  and  $\tilde{\psi}_1 = \tilde{\psi}_2$  follow. Consequently,  $\gamma_U$  is injective.

**Lemma 4.11** Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$  and let  $r := \operatorname{rank} M$  be such that  $r \geq 1$ . Let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathcal{R}(M)$  and let  $U := (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r)$ . Further, let  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[M]$ . According to Notation 4.7 and Definition 4.2, let  $\mathcal{D}$  be an arbitrary discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$  such that the conditions (i)–(iii) in Definition 4.2 hold true. Then the matrix-valued function  $B := \psi - i\phi$  is meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  and fulfils det  $B(w) \neq 0$  for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . Moreover, the pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}]$  given by

$$\widetilde{\phi} \coloneqq U^* \phi B^{-1} U$$
 and  $\widetilde{\psi} \coloneqq U^* \psi B^{-1} U$  (4.11)

belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ . Furthermore, the following statements are valid:

- (iv)  $\widetilde{\phi}$  and  $\widetilde{\psi}$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . (v) rank  $\begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\phi}^{(w)} \\ \widetilde{\psi}^{(w)} \end{pmatrix} = r$  for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . (vi)  $\begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\phi}^{(w)} \\ \widetilde{\psi}^{(w)} \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_r) \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\phi}^{(w)} \\ \widetilde{\psi}^{(w)} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^{r \times r}_{\geq}$  for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ .
- (vii) The matrix-valued functions

$$S := U\widetilde{\phi}U^*$$
 and  $T := U\widetilde{\psi}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$  (4.12)

are meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  as well as holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  and fulfil

$$S(w) = U\widetilde{\phi}(w)U^* \quad and \quad T(w) = U\widetilde{\psi}(w)U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$$
(4.13)

as well as

$$S(w) = \phi(w)[B(w)]^{-1} \quad and \quad T(w) = \psi(w)[B(w)]^{-1} \quad (4.14)$$

for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . In particular,

$$\operatorname{rank} \begin{pmatrix} S(w) \\ T(w) \end{pmatrix} = q \tag{4.15}$$

and

$$\det\left([S(w)]^*S(w) + [T(w)]^*T(w)\right) = \det\left([\widetilde{\phi}(w)]^*\widetilde{\phi}(w) + [\widetilde{\psi}(w)]^*\widetilde{\psi}(w)\right)$$
(4.16)

hold true for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . (viii) The pair [S; T] belongs to  $\mathcal{P}[M]$  and fulfils  $\langle [S; T] \rangle = \langle [\phi; \psi] \rangle$ .

**Proof** From  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[M] \subseteq \mathcal{P}\mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$  and Definition 4.2 we see that B is meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . Consider an arbitrary  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . According to Definition 4.2(i), we have then  $w \in \mathbb{H}_{\phi} \cap \mathbb{H}_{\psi}$ . Hence,

$$B(w) = \psi(w) - i\phi(w).$$
 (4.17)

From Definition 4.2(ii) we get

$$\operatorname{rank}\begin{pmatrix}\phi(w)\\\psi(w)\end{pmatrix} = q.$$
(4.18)

In view of Definition 4.2(iii), Remark 4.1 yields

$$\operatorname{Im}\left([\psi(w)]^*\phi(w)\right) \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{>}.$$
(4.19)

Regarding Notation 4.7, we see

$$\mathcal{R}(\phi(w)) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(M). \tag{4.20}$$

Taking into account (4.18), (4.19), (4.20), and (4.17), from Lemma A.17 we get that det  $B(w) \neq 0$ . Since  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  is arbitrary and  $\mathcal{D}$  is a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$ , we consequently can conclude that  $B^{-1}$  is a matrix-valued function meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . By virtue of Definition 4.2(i), we then see that the following statement holds true:

(ix)  $\tilde{\phi}$  and  $\tilde{\psi}$  given by (4.11) are meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . In particular, (iv) is proved. Furthermore,

$$\widetilde{\phi}(w) = U^* \phi(w) [B(w)]^{-1} U \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\psi}(w) = U^* \psi(w) [B(w)]^{-1} U.$$
(4.21)

Because of (x) the matrix-valued functions *S* and *T* given by (4.12) are meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus D$  and both equations in (4.13) hold true. Once more using (4.18), (4.19), (4.20), (4.17), (4.21), (4.13), and Lemma A.17, we obtain rank  $\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\varphi}^{(w)} \\ \tilde{\psi}^{(w)} \end{pmatrix} = r$  and

$$\left[\widetilde{\psi}(w)\right]^* \widetilde{\phi}(w) = \left(\left[B(w)\right]^{-1} U\right)^* \left[\psi(w)\right]^* \phi(w) \left(\left[B(w)\right]^{-1} U\right)$$
(4.22)

as well as (4.15), (4.16), and (4.14). Since  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  is arbitrary and  $\mathcal{D}$  is a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$ , in particular  $S = \phi B^{-1}$  and  $T = \psi B^{-1}$  hold true and (v) and (vii) are proved. Taking additionally into account  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$  and Remark 4.4, therefore the pair [S; T] belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$  and fulfils  $\langle [S; T] \rangle = \langle [\phi; \psi] \rangle$ . Regarding  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[M]$ , also we get  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(M)}S = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(M)}\phi B^{-1} = \phi B^{-1} = S$ . Thus, from Notation 4.7 we see  $[S; T] \in \mathcal{P}[M]$ . Consequently, (viii) is proved. Now we are going to check that the pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}]$  given by (4.11) belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ . We have already observed that (x) and (v) hold true. In view of (4.22) and (4.19), we conclude

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(\left[\widetilde{\psi}(w)\right]^*\widetilde{\phi}(w)\right) = \operatorname{Im}\left[\left(\left[B(w)\right]^{-1}U\right)^*\left[\psi(w)\right]^*\phi(w)\left(\left[B(w)\right]^{-1}U\right)\right]$$
$$= \left(\left[B(w)\right]^{-1}U\right)^*\operatorname{Im}\left(\left[\psi(w)\right]^*\phi(w)\right)\left(\left[B(w)\right]^{-1}U\right) \in \mathbb{C}^{r \times r}_{\geq}.$$

Since  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  is arbitrary, by virtue of Remark 4.1 then (vi) follows. In view of (x), (v), (vi), and Definition 4.2, we succeeded in proving that the pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ .

Now we turn to the main result of this section. It will be used in the proof of Theorem 9.3 which is one of the central results of this paper.

**Proposition 4.12** Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$  and let  $r := \operatorname{rank} M$ . Then:

- (a) If r = 0, then  $\langle \mathcal{P}[M] \rangle = \{ \langle [\phi_0; \psi_0] \rangle \}$ , where  $\phi_0, \psi_0 \colon \Pi_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  are defined by  $\phi_0(w) \coloneqq 0_{q \times q}$  and  $\psi_0(w) \coloneqq I_q$ , respectively.
- (b) Suppose  $r \ge 1$ . Let  $u_1, u_2, ..., u_r$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathcal{R}(M)$  and let  $U := (u_1, u_2, ..., u_r)$ . Then the mapping  $\Gamma_U : \langle \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+) \rangle \to \langle \mathcal{P}[M] \rangle$  given by

$$\Gamma_{U}\left(\langle [\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \rangle\right) \coloneqq \langle [U\tilde{\phi}U^{*}; U\tilde{\psi}U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}]\rangle$$
(4.23)

is well defined and bijective.

*Proof* For our proof, we use the strategy used in [20, Lem. 13.7] and [28, Lem. 10.1.4] for an analogous result.

- (a) In order to prove part (a), now we suppose that r = 0. Then M = 0<sub>q×p</sub> and hence P<sub>R(M)</sub> = 0<sub>q×q</sub>. Example 4.8 yields [φ<sub>0</sub>; ψ<sub>0</sub>] ∈ P[M]. In particular, {⟨[φ<sub>0</sub>; ψ<sub>0</sub>]⟩} ⊆ ⟨P[M]⟩. Let [φ; ψ] be an arbitrary q × q Nevanlinna pair belonging to P[M], i.e., to P[0<sub>q×p</sub>]. Taking into account Notation 4.7 and P<sub>R(M)</sub> = 0<sub>q×q</sub>, then we have φ = P<sub>R(M)</sub>φ = φ<sub>0</sub>. Because of Definition 4.2, there exists a discrete subset D of Π<sub>+</sub> such that Π<sub>+</sub> \ D ⊆ H<sub>φ</sub> ∩ H<sub>ψ</sub> and that rank (<sup>φ(w)</sup><sub>ψ(w)</sub>) = q for all w ∈ Π<sub>+</sub> \ D. Hence, Remark 4.3 yields det[ψ(w)-iφ(w)] ≠ 0 for all w ∈ Π<sub>+</sub> \ D. Thus, φ = φ<sub>0</sub> implies det ψ(w) ≠ 0 for all w ∈ Π<sub>+</sub> \ D. Setting g := ψ, then we see that g is a matrix-valued function meromorphic in Π<sub>+</sub> with Π<sub>+</sub> \ D ⊆ H<sub>φ</sub> ∩ H<sub>ψ</sub> or H<sub>g</sub> such that φ(w) = φ<sub>0</sub>(w) = 0<sub>q×q</sub> = 0<sub>q×q</sub> · g(w) = φ<sub>0</sub>(w)g(w) as well as ψ(w) = I<sub>q</sub> · ψ(w) = ψ<sub>0</sub>(w)g(w), and det g(w) = det ψ(w) ≠ 0 for all w ∈ Π<sub>+</sub> \ D. Remark 4.4 then yields ⟨[φ; ψ]⟩ = ⟨[φ<sub>0</sub>; ψ<sub>0</sub>]⟩. Part (a) is proved.
- (b) Suppose  $r \ge 1$ . The proof of part (b) is divided into five parts.
  - (I) As in the proof of Lemma 4.10 we see that all the equations in (4.3), (4.4), (4.5), and (4.6) hold true. Lemma 4.10 yields that the mapping  $\gamma_U : \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+) \to \mathcal{P}[M]$  given by (4.2) is well defined and injective.
  - (II) Our next goal is to check that  $\Gamma_U(\langle [\phi; \tilde{\psi}] \rangle)$  is independent of the choice of the particular representative  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}]$  of the equivalence class  $\langle [\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \rangle \in$  $\langle \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+) \rangle$ . For this reason, we consider arbitrary pairs  $[\tilde{\phi}_1; \tilde{\psi}_1], [\tilde{\phi}_2; \tilde{\psi}_2] \in$  $\mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$  such that  $\langle [\tilde{\phi}_1; \tilde{\psi}_1] \rangle = \langle [\tilde{\phi}_2; \tilde{\psi}_2] \rangle$ . In view of Remark 4.4, then there are an  $r \times r$  matrix-valued function  $\tilde{g}$  meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and a discrete subset  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}$  of  $\Pi_+$  such that  $\tilde{\phi}_1, \tilde{\psi}_1, \tilde{\phi}_2, \tilde{\psi}_2$ , and  $\tilde{g}$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \tilde{\mathcal{D}}$ and that det  $\tilde{g}(w) \neq 0$  as well as

$$\widetilde{\phi}_2(w) = \widetilde{\phi}_1(w)\widetilde{g}(w)$$
 and  $\widetilde{\psi}_2(w) = \widetilde{\psi}_1(w)\widetilde{g}(w)$  (4.24)

hold true for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . For each  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , we set

$$\phi_j \coloneqq U\widetilde{\phi}_j U^*$$
 and  $\psi_j \coloneqq U\widetilde{\psi}_j U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}.$  (4.25)

According to (I), the pairs  $[\phi_1; \psi_1]$  and  $[\phi_2; \psi_2]$  belong to  $\mathcal{P}[M]$  and thus to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . Furthermore,  $\phi_1, \psi_1, \phi_2$ , and  $\psi_2$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . Obviously, the function  $g := U \widetilde{g} U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$  is meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . Moreover, for each  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ , from (4.25), (4.3), (4.6), (4.24), and once more, (4.25) we get

$$\phi_{1}(w)g(w) = U\widetilde{\phi}_{1}(w)U^{*}\left[U\widetilde{g}(w)U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}\right]$$
  
$$= U\widetilde{\phi}_{1}(w)U^{*}U\widetilde{g}(w)U^{*} + U\widetilde{\phi}_{1}(w)U^{*}\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$$
  
$$= U\widetilde{\phi}_{1}(w)\widetilde{g}(w)U^{*} = U\widetilde{\phi}_{2}(w)U^{*} = \phi_{2}(w)$$
  
(4.26)

and, in view of (4.4), similarly

$$\begin{split} \psi_{1}(w)g(w) &= \left[U\widetilde{\psi}_{1}(w)U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{\left[\mathcal{R}(M)\right]^{\perp}}\right] \left[U\widetilde{g}(w)U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{\left[\mathcal{R}(M)\right]^{\perp}}\right] \\ &= U\widetilde{\psi}_{1}(w)U^{*}U\widetilde{g}(w)U^{*} + U\widetilde{\psi}_{1}(w)U^{*}\mathbb{P}_{\left[\mathcal{R}(M)\right]^{\perp}} \\ &+ \mathbb{P}_{\left[\mathcal{R}(M)\right]^{\perp}}U\widetilde{g}(w)U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{\left[\mathcal{R}(M)\right]^{\perp}}^{2} \\ &= U\widetilde{\psi}_{1}(w)\widetilde{g}(w)U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{\left[\mathcal{R}(M)\right]^{\perp}}^{2} \\ &= U\widetilde{\psi}_{2}(w)U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{\left[\mathcal{R}(M)\right]^{\perp}} = \psi_{2}(w). \end{split}$$

$$(4.27)$$

Now we consider an arbitrary  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . Then det  $\tilde{g}(w) \neq 0$  and, consequently,  $\mathcal{N}(\tilde{g}(w)) = \{0_{r \times 1}\}$ . In order to verify det  $g(w) \neq 0$ , it is sufficient to prove that  $\mathcal{N}(g(w)) \subseteq \{0_{q \times 1}\}$ . We consider an arbitrary  $x \in \mathcal{N}(g(w))$ . Set  $y \coloneqq U^*x$ . Then

$$U\tilde{g}(w)y + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}x = \left[U\tilde{g}(w)U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}\right]x = g(w)x = 0_{q \times 1}.$$
(4.28)

Because of (4.3) and (4.6), from (4.28) we conclude

$$\begin{split} \tilde{g}(w)y &= U^* U \tilde{g}(w) y = U^* U \tilde{g}(w) y + U^* \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} x \\ &= U^* \left[ U g(w) y + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} x \right] = U^* \cdot 0_{q \times 1} = 0_{r \times 1}, \end{split}$$

i. e.,  $y \in \mathcal{N}(\tilde{g}(w))$ . Hence,  $y = 0_{r \times 1}$ . Taking into account (4.28), then also we obtain  $\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}x = 0_{q \times 1}$ . Using (4.5), we infer  $x = UU^*x = Uy = U \cdot 0_{r \times 1} = 0_{q \times 1}$ . Consequently,  $\mathcal{N}(g(w)) \subseteq \{0_{q \times 1}\}$ , i.e., det  $g(w) \neq 0$ . Thus, in view of (4.26) and (4.27), we conclude that  $\langle [\phi_1; \psi_1] \rangle = \langle [\phi_2; \psi_2] \rangle$ .

- (III) Summarizing parts (I) and (II), the mapping  $\Gamma_U$  is well defined.
- (IV) Now we check that the mapping  $\Gamma_U$  is injective. For this purpose, we consider arbitrary pairs  $[\tilde{\phi}_1; \tilde{\psi}_1], [\tilde{\phi}_2; \tilde{\psi}_2] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$  such that

$$\Gamma_U\left(\langle [\widetilde{\phi}_1; \widetilde{\psi}_1] \rangle\right) = \Gamma_U\left(\langle [\widetilde{\phi}_2; \widetilde{\psi}_2] \rangle\right). \tag{4.29}$$

Part (I) of the proof shows that the pairs  $[\phi_1; \psi_1]$  and  $[\phi_2; \psi_2]$  given by (4.25) belong to  $\mathcal{P}[M]$  and thus to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ , whereas (4.23) and (4.29) imply  $\langle [\phi_1; \psi_1] \rangle = \langle [\phi_2; \psi_2] \rangle$ . According to Remark 4.4, then there are a  $q \times q$  matrix-valued function g which is meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and a discrete subset  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $\Pi_+$  such that  $\phi_1, \psi_1, \phi_2, \psi_2$ , and g are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ and det  $g(w) \neq 0$  as well as  $\phi_2(w) = \phi_1(w)g(w)$  and  $\psi_2(w) = \psi_1(w)g(w)$ hold true for all  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . By Definition 4.2 there exist discrete subsets  $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_1$ and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_2$  of  $\Pi_+$  such that  $\phi_1$  and  $\widetilde{\psi}_1$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_1$  and  $\widetilde{\phi}_2$  and  $\widetilde{\psi}_2$ are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_2$ . Let  $\widetilde{g} := U^*gU$  and let  $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} := \mathcal{D} \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_1 \cup \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_2$ . Then  $\widetilde{g}$  is an  $r \times r$  matrix-valued function which is meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$  is a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$  such that  $\phi_1, \psi_1, \phi_2, \psi_2$ , and g as well as  $\phi_1, \widetilde{\psi}_1, \widetilde{\phi}_2$ ,  $\widetilde{\psi}_2$ , and  $\widetilde{g}$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . Now consider an arbitrary  $w \in \Pi_+ \setminus \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ . Then det  $g(w) \neq 0$  as well as

$$\phi_2(w) = \phi_1(w)g(w)$$
 and  $\psi_2(w) = \psi_1(w)g(w)$ . (4.30)

Using (4.3), (4.25), (4.30), and, once more, (4.25) and (4.3), we have

$$\widetilde{\phi}_1(w)\widetilde{g}(w) = U^*U\widetilde{\phi}_1(w)U^*g(w)U = U^*\phi_1(w)g(w)U$$
  
=  $U^*\phi_2(w)U = U^*U\widetilde{\phi}_2(w)U^*U = \widetilde{\phi}_2(w)$ 
(4.31)

and, in view of (4.6), similarly

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\psi}_1(w)\widetilde{g}(w) &= U^*U\widetilde{\psi}_1(w)U^*g(w)U = U^*\left[\psi_1(w) - \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}\right]g(w)U \\ &= U^*\psi_1(w)g(w)U - U^*\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}g(w)U = U^*\psi_2(w)U \\ &= U^*\left[U\widetilde{\psi}_2(w)U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}\right]U = \widetilde{\psi}_2(w) + U^*\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}U = \widetilde{\psi}_2(w). \end{split}$$

$$(4.32)$$

We consider an arbitrary  $y \in \mathcal{N}(\tilde{g}(w))$ . Setting  $x \coloneqq Uy$ , we get

$$U^*g(w)x = U^*g(w)Uy = \tilde{g}(w)y = 0_{r \times 1}.$$
(4.33)

Because of (4.25), (4.6), and (4.4), for each  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , we conclude

$$\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}\psi_{j}(w) = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}\left[U\widetilde{\psi}_{j}(w)U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}\right]$$
$$= \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}U\widetilde{\psi}_{j}(w)U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}^{2} = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}.$$
(4.34)

Taking into account (4.34), (4.30), once more (4.34), and (4.5), we get

$$\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} \psi_2(w) = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} \psi_1(w) g(w)$$
$$= \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} g(w) = (I_q - UU^*) g(w) = g(w) - UU^* g(w).$$
(4.35)

Since (4.6) implies  $\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} x = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} Uy = 0_{q \times r} \cdot y = 0_{q \times 1}$ , from (4.35) we infer  $g(w)x = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} x + UU^*g(w)x = UU^*g(w)x$  and, in view of (4.33), consequently,  $g(w)x = 0_{q \times 1}$ . By virtue of det  $g(w) \neq 0$ , then  $x = 0_{q \times 1}$  follows. Thus, using (4.3), we see that  $y = U^*Uy = U^*x = U^* \cdot 0_{q \times 1} = 0_{r \times 1}$  is valid. Hence,  $\mathcal{N}(\tilde{g}(w)) \subseteq \{0_{r \times 1}\}$ . Therefore, det  $\tilde{g}(w) \neq 0$  holds true. Summarizing the last inequality, (4.31) and (4.32), we get that  $\langle [\tilde{\phi}_1; \tilde{\psi}_1] \rangle = \langle [\tilde{\phi}_2; \tilde{\psi}_2] \rangle$  is valid. Consequently, the mapping  $\Gamma_U$  is injective.

(V) Now we are going to verify that the mapping  $\Gamma_U$  is surjective. For this reason, we consider an arbitrary pair  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[M]$ . Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$ such that the conditions (i)–(iii) of Definition 4.2 are fulfilled. We are looking for a pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$  such that  $\Gamma_U(\langle [\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \rangle) = \langle [\phi; \psi] \rangle$ . According to Lemma 4.11, the pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}]$  given by (4.11) belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ , the pair [S; T] defined by (4.12) belongs to  $\mathcal{P}[M]$ , and  $\langle [S; T] \rangle = \langle [\phi; \psi] \rangle$  holds true. Taking into account (4.12), part (III) of the proof of part (b), and (4.23), then we conclude that  $\Gamma_U(\langle [\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \rangle) = \langle [S; T] \rangle$ . Consequently,  $\Gamma_U(\langle [\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \rangle) =$  $\langle [\phi; \psi] \rangle$  follows. Thus, the mapping  $\Gamma_U$  is surjective.

#### **5** Some Observations on Block Hankel Matrices

In this section, we present some useful identities concerning block Hankel matrices. This material is mostly taken from [10]. We continue to use the notation introduced in Sect. 2. In the following, we are going to state a particular parametrization of special sequences of complex matrices. Therefore, for a given  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ , we need particular Schur complements of the matrices formed by a given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. For this reason and our further consideration, it seems to be useful to introduce some further notation.

Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. For every choice of integers *m* and *n* fulfilling  $0 \le m \le n \le \kappa$ , let

$$y_{m,n} \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} s_m \\ \vdots \\ s_n \end{pmatrix}$$
 and  $z_{m,n} \coloneqq (s_m, \dots, s_n).$ 

$$\Theta_0 \coloneqq 0_{p \times q}$$
 and  $\Theta_n \coloneqq z_{n,2n-1} H_{n-1}^+ y_{n,2n-1}$  (5.1)

for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2n - 1 \le \kappa$ . During our consideration, for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2n \le \kappa$ , the Schur complement

$$L_n \coloneqq s_{2n} - \Theta_n$$

will be of essential importance. For all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2n + 1 \leq \kappa$ , we also introduce the block Hankel matrix  $K_n := (s_{j+k+1})_{j,k=0}^n$ . For every choice of  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  fulfilling  $2k - 1 \leq \kappa$ , we set

$$\Sigma_k := z_{k,2k-1} H_{k-1}^+ K_{k-1} H_{k-1}^+ y_{k,2k-1}.$$

For each  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  fulfilling  $2k \leq \kappa$ , let

$$M_k \coloneqq z_{k,2k-1}H_{k-1}^+ y_{k+1,2k}$$
 and  $N_k \coloneqq z_{k+1,2k}H_{k-1}^+ y_{k,2k-1}$ 

Let

$$\Lambda_0 \coloneqq 0_{p \times q} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \Lambda_k \coloneqq M_k + N_k - \Sigma_k \tag{5.2}$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  fulfilling  $2k \leq \kappa$ 

Now we turn our attention to sequences of complex  $q \times q$  matrices which are introduced in Sect. 2 and which are defined by certain properties of block Hankel matrices built from the given sequence.

*Remark 5.1* Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2\kappa} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{\geq}$ . Then from the definition of the set  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2\kappa}^{\geq}$  and (2.1) we see that  $s_j^* = s_j$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2\kappa}$  and  $s_{2k} \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ .

*Remark 5.2* Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices. It is easy to see that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e}$  is valid if and only if  $(s_j)_{j=0}^k \in \mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e}$  holds true for each  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ .

**Definition 5.3 ([10, Def. 2.2])** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . A sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$  is called *completely degenerate* if  $L_n = 0_{q \times q}$ . We will write  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,cd}$  for the set of all completely degenerate sequences  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$ .

*Remark 5.4 ([10, Cor. 2.14])*  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq, \mathrm{cd}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq, \mathrm{e}}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ .

The parameters which will be introduced in the following definition play a key role in a detailed analysis of block Hankel matrices as well as in our following consideration. **Definition 5.5** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. For each  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2k \leq \kappa$ , let  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k} := s_{2k} - \Theta_k$ , where  $\Theta_k$  is given in (5.1), and, for each  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2k + 1 \le \kappa$ , let  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k+1} := s_{2k+1} - \Lambda_k$ , where  $\Lambda_k$  is given by (5.2). Then  $(\mathfrak{h}_j)_{i=0}^{\kappa}$  is called the sequence of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters of  $(s_i)_{i=0}^{\kappa}$ .

Now we recall characterizations of sequences belonging to  $\mathcal{H}_{a,2n}^{\geq}$ ,  $\mathcal{H}_{a,2n}^{>}$ , and  $\mathcal{H}_{a,2n}^{\geq,cd}$ , respectively, by their sequences of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters.

**Proposition 5.6 ([10, Prop. 2.30])** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices with sequence of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters  $(\mathfrak{h}_j)_{i=0}^{2n}$ . Then:

- (a) The sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$  if and only if the following three conditions are fulfilled:

  - (i) \$\black\_{2k} ∈ \$\mathbb{C}\_{\geq}^{q × q}\$ for all \$k ∈ \$\mathbb{Z}\_{0,n}\$.
    (ii) If \$n ≥ 1\$, then both \$\black\_{2k-1}^\* = \$\black\_{2k-1}\$ as well as \$\mathcal{R}(\$\black\_{2k-1}\$) ⊆ \$\mathcal{R}(\$\black\_{2k-2}\$) hold true for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,n}$ .
  - (iii) If  $n \ge 2$ , then  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k-2})$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,n-1}$ .
- (b) The sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{>}$  if and only if the following two conditions are fulfilled:
  - (iv)  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k} \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{>}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0.n}$ .
  - (v) If  $n \ge 1$ , then  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k-1}^* = \mathfrak{h}_{2k-1}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,n}$ .
- (c) The sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,cd}$  if and only if all the conditions (i)–(iii) as well as  $\mathfrak{h}_{2n} = 0_{q \times q}$  are fulfilled.

Observe that, in view of both the definition of the set  $\mathcal{H}_{q,\infty}^{\geq}$  as well as Proposition 5.6(a), the class  $\mathcal{H}_{q,\infty}^{\geq}$  can be characterized using  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters as well. We omit the details. Now we characterize R-non-negative definite extendable sequences of complex  $q \times q$  matrices by their sequences of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters.

**Proposition 5.7** ([10, Prop. 2.30(c)]) Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $q \times q$  matrices with sequence of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters  $(\mathfrak{h}_j)_{j=0}^{k}$ . Then  $(s_i)_{i=0}^{\kappa}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e}$  if and only if the following three conditions are fulfilled:

- (vi)  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k} \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{>}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2k \leq \kappa$ .
- (vii) If  $\kappa \ge 1$ , then  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k-1}^* = \mathfrak{h}_{2k-1}$  as well as  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k-1}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k-2})$  hold true for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  fulfilling  $2k - 1 \leq \kappa$ .
- (viii) If  $\kappa \geq 2$ , then  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k-2})$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $2k \leq \kappa$ .

# 6 A Schur Type Algorithm for Sequences of Complex $p \times q$ Matrices

In this section, we recall some essential facts and prove some special technical results on a Schur type algorithm for sequences of complex  $p \times q$  matrices which was introduced in [4] and discussed in detail in an alternative setting in [13]. The elementary step of this algorithm is based on the use of a certain reciprocal sequence of a finite or infinite sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. This notion plays a key role for our consideration in this section. For this reason, first we recall the definition of the reciprocal sequence.

Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. Then the sequence  $(s_j^{\sharp})_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  of complex  $q \times p$  matrices given by  $s_0^{\sharp} := s_0^+$  and, for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,\kappa}$ , recursively by

$$s_k^{\sharp} := -s_0^+ \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} s_{k-j} s_j^{\sharp}, \tag{6.1}$$

is called the *reciprocal sequence corresponding to*  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ . A detailed discussion of reciprocal sequences is given in [14]. Here first we explain the elementary step of the Schur type algorithm under consideration. Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_{2,\infty} \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices with reciprocal sequence  $(s_j^{\ddagger})_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ . Then the sequence  $(s_j^{(1)})_{i=0}^{\kappa-2}$  defined, for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa-2}$ , by

$$s_j^{(1)} \coloneqq -s_0 s_{j+2}^\sharp s_0 \tag{6.2}$$

is said to be the first Schur transform of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ .

*Remark 6.1 ([13, Rem. 8.2])* Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_{2,\infty} \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices with first Schur transform  $(s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{\kappa-2}$ . Then from (6.2) and (6.1) it is obvious that, for all  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{2,\kappa}$ , the sequence  $(s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{m-2}$  is the first Schur transform of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^m$ .

As considered in [13, Def. 9.1] already, the repeated application of the first Schur transform in a natural way generates a corresponding algorithm for (finite or infinite) sequences of complex  $p \times q$  matrices:

*Remark 6.2* Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. Then the sequence  $(s_j^{(0)})_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  given by  $s_j^{(0)} \coloneqq s_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ , is called the 0th *Schur transform of*  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ . If  $\kappa \ge 2$ , then the *k*th Schur transform is defined recursively: For all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  fulfilling  $2k \le \kappa$ , the first Schur transform  $(s_j^{(k)})_{j=0}^{\kappa-2k}$  of  $(s_j^{(k-1)})_{j=0}^{\kappa-2(k-1)}$  is called the *k*th Schur transform of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ .

One of the central properties of the just introduced Schur type algorithm is that it preserves the  $\mathbb{R}$ -non-negative definite extendability of sequences of matrices.

**Proposition 6.3 ([13, Propositions 9.4 and 9.5])** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ , let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e}$ , and let  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2k \leq \kappa$ . Then the kth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(k)})_{j=0}^{\kappa-2k}$  of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa-2k}^{\geq,e}$ .

The Schur type algorithm considered in [13] is an essential tool for the parametrization of the solution set of Problem  $MP[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^m, =]$  given in [15]. In order to discuss Problem  $MP[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  in a similar manner, we need some further results concerning this Schur type algorithm. We start with a slight modification of [13, Prop. 8.23].

**Lemma 6.4** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_{2,\infty}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. Then  $s_0^{(1)} = s_0 s_0^+ (s_2 - s_1 s_0^+ s_1) s_0^+ s_0$  and, in the case  $\kappa \ge 3$ , for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,\kappa-2}$ , moreover,

$$s_{j}^{(1)} = s_{0}s_{0}^{+} \left[ (s_{j+2} - s_{j+1}s_{0}^{+}s_{1})s_{0}^{+}s_{0} - \sum_{l=0}^{j-1} s_{j-l}s_{0}^{+}s_{l}^{(1)} \right]$$

**Lemma 6.5** Let  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{2,\infty}$ . Further, let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^m$  and  $(t_j)_{j=0}^m$  be sequences of complex  $p \times q$  matrices such that  $s_j = t_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$ . Then  $s_{m-2}^{(1)} - t_{m-2}^{(1)} = s_0 s_0^+ (s_m - t_m) s_0^+ s_0$  and, in the case  $m \ge 3$ , for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-3}$ , moreover,  $s_i^{(1)} = t_j^{(1)}$ .

**Proof** First suppose  $m \ge 3$ . From Remark 6.1 we see immediately that  $s_j^{(1)} = t_j^{(1)}$  holds true for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-3}$ . Hence, applying Lemma 6.4, a straightforward calculation yields  $s_{m-2}^{(1)} - t_{m-2}^{(1)} = s_0 s_0^+ (s_m - t_m) s_0^+ s_0$ . If m = 2, then from Lemma 6.4 immediately we conclude  $s_0^{(1)} - t_0^{(1)} = s_0 s_0^+ (s_2 - t_2) s_0^+ s_0$ .

**Lemma 6.6** Let  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{2,\infty}$ . Let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^m$  and  $(t_j)_{j=0}^m$  be sequences of Hermitian complex  $q \times q$  matrices such that  $s_j = t_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$  and that  $t_m \leq s_m$ . Then  $(s_j^{(1)})^* = s_j^{(1)}$  and  $(t_j^{(1)})^* = t_j^{(1)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-2}$  and  $t_{m-2}^{(1)} \leq s_{m-2}^{(1)}$ . Moreover, if  $m \geq 3$ , then  $t_j^{(1)} = s_j^{(1)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-3}$ .

*Proof* Using (6.2) and [14, Cor. 5.17], we get

$$(s_j^{(1)})^* = (-s_0 s_{j+2}^{\sharp} s_0)^* = -s_0^* (s_{j+2}^{\sharp})^* s_0^* = -s_0 (s_{j+2}^{\sharp})^* s_0 = -s_0 s_{j+2}^{\sharp} s_0 = s_j^{(1)}$$

and, analogously,  $(t_j^{(1)})^* = t_j^{(1)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-2}$ . Lemma 6.5 yields the equation  $s_{m-2}^{(1)} - t_{m-2}^{(1)} = s_0 s_0^+ (s_m - t_m) s_0^+ s_0$  and, in the case  $m \ge 3$ , moreover  $s_j^{(1)} = t_j^{(1)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-3}$ . We have  $(s_0 s_0^+)^* = (s_0^+)^* s_0^* = (s_0^+)^+ s_0^* = s_0^+ s_0$ . Thus,

 $s_{m-2}^{(1)} - t_{m-2}^{(1)} = (s_0 s_0^+)(s_m - t_m)(s_0 s_0^+)^*$  and, because of the assumption  $t_m \le s_m$ , then  $t_{m-2}^{(1)} \le s_{m-2}^{(1)}$  follows.

**Definition 6.7 ([13, Def. 10.1])** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ , let  $(t_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices, and let A and B be complex  $p \times q$  matrices. Define  $t_0^{(-1,A,B)} \coloneqq A, t_1^{(-1,A,B)} \coloneqq AA^+BA^+A$ , and recursively, for each  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{2,\kappa+2}$ , moreover,

$$t_m^{(-1,A,B)} := \sum_{j=0}^{m-2} AA^+ t_{m-j-2}A^+ t_j^{(-1,A,B)} + AA^+ BA^+ t_{m-1}^{(-1,A,B)}.$$

Then the sequence  $(t_{j}^{(-1,A,B)})_{j=0}^{\kappa+2}$  is called the *first inverse Schur transform* corresponding to  $[(t_{j})_{j=0}^{\kappa}, A, B]$ .

It should be mentioned that in our generic application of the construction introduced in Definition 6.7 the role of the matrices *A* and *B* is played by the matrices  $s_0$  and  $s_1$  which are taken from a sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ .

**Lemma 6.8** Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^m$  and  $(t_j)_{j=0}^m$  be sequences of complex  $p \times q$  matrices which, in the case  $m \ge 1$ , fulfill  $s_j = t_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$ . Furthermore, let  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ . Then  $s_j^{(-1,A,B)} = t_j^{(-1,A,B)}$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m+1}$  and

$$s_{m+2}^{(-1,A,B)} - t_{m+2}^{(-1,A,B)} = AA^+(s_m - t_m)A^+A.$$
(6.3)

**Proof** First we consider the case m = 0. Then  $s_0^{(-1,A,B)} = A = t_0^{(-1,A,B)}$ and  $s_1^{(-1,A,B)} = AA^+BA^+A = t_1^{(-1,A,B)}$ . Now we assume  $m \ge 1$ . Then from [13, Rem. 10.2] we know that  $s_j^{(-1,A,B)} = t_j^{(-1,A,B)}$  holds true for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m+1}$ . Consequently, taking into account Definition 6.7, a straightforward calculation yields that the equations  $s_{m+2}^{(-1,A,B)} - t_{m+2}^{(-1,A,B)} = AA^+s_mA^+s_0^{(-1,A,B)} - AA^+t_mA^+t_0^{(-1,A,B)} = AA^+(s_m - t_m)A^+A$  hold true.

**Lemma 6.9** Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^m$  and  $(t_j)_{j=0}^m$  be sequences of Hermitian complex  $q \times q$  matrices such that  $t_m \leq s_m$  and, in the case  $m \geq 1$ , such that  $s_j = t_j$  is valid for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$ . Further, let  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{H}}^{q \times q}$ . For each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m+2}$ , then  $s_j^{(-1,A,B)}$  and  $t_j^{(-1,A,B)}$  belong to  $\mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{H}}^{q \times q}$  as well. Moreover,  $s_j^{(-1,A,B)} = t_j^{(-1,A,B)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m+1}$  and  $t_{m+2}^{(-1,A,B)} \leq s_{m+2}^{(-1,A,B)}$  hold true.

**Proof** From [13, Lem. 10.5] we know that  $(s_j^{(-1,A,B)})^* = s_j^{(-1,A,B)}$  and  $(t_j^{(-1,A,B)})^* = t_j^{(-1,A,B)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m+2}$ . Lemma 6.8 provides  $s_j^{(-1,A,B)} = t_j^{(-1,A,B)}$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m+1}$  as well as (6.3). Since  $(AA^+)^* = (A^+)^*A^* =$
$(A^*)^+A^* = A^+A$  is valid, consequently, the assumption  $t_m \leq s_m$  yields  $t_{m+2}^{(-1,A,B)} \leq s_{m+2}^{(-1,A,B)}$ .

In [13, Sec. 9] and [28, Sec. 2.2], for certain classes of sequences of complex matrices, interrelations between sequences of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters and Schur transforms are worked out (see [13, Theorems 9.14 and 9.15] and [28, Satz 2.2.70 and Folgerung 2.2.71]). In the particular case of  $\mathbb{R}$ -non-negative definite extendable sequences of complex  $q \times q$  matrices, this connection can be simplified:

**Theorem 6.10 ([13, Thm. 9.15])** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e}$ with sequence of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters  $(\mathfrak{h}_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ . For each  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  such that  $2k \leq \kappa$ , let  $(s_j^{(k)})_{j=0}^{\kappa-2k}$  be the kth Schur transform of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ . Then  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k} = s_0^{(k)}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that  $2k \leq \kappa$  and  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k+1} = s_1^{(k)}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2k + 1 \leq \kappa$ .

Note that Theorem 6.10 is of great importance within our consideration.

**Proposition 6.11** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with sequence of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters  $(\mathfrak{h}_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  and nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ . Then  $\mathfrak{h}_{2n} = s_0^{(n)}$  and the following statements hold true:

(a)  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{>}$  if and only if rank  $s_0^{(n)} = q$ . (b)  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{>,cd}$  if and only if rank  $s_0^{(n)} = 0$ .

**Proof** From Theorem 6.10 we know that  $\mathfrak{h}_{2n} = s_0^{(n)}$  holds true. Furthermore, Proposition 5.7 shows that  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k} \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,n}$  and that, in the case  $n \geq 1$ , moreover,  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k-1}^* = \mathfrak{h}_{2k-1}$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k-1}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k-2})$  as well as  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k-2})$  hold true for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,n}$ .

- (a) If  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{>}$ , then  $\mathfrak{h}_{2n} \in \mathbb{C}_{>}^{q \times q}$  follows from Proposition 5.6(b) which implies rank  $s_0^{(n)} = \operatorname{rank} \mathfrak{h}_{2n} = q$ . Conversely, suppose rank  $s_0^{(n)} = q$ . Hence,  $q = \operatorname{rank} \mathfrak{h}_{2n} \leq \operatorname{rank} \mathfrak{h}_{2n-2} \leq \cdots \leq \operatorname{rank} \mathfrak{h}_0$  and, consequently,  $\mathfrak{h}_{2k} \in \mathbb{C}_{>}^{q \times q}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,n}$ . Thus, from Proposition 5.6(b), we obtain  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{-}$ .
- (b) If  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,cd}$ , then  $\mathfrak{h}_{2n} = s_0^{(n)}$  and Proposition 5.6(c) provide rank  $s_0^{(n)} = 0$ . Conversely, suppose that rank  $\mathfrak{h}_{2n} = \operatorname{rank} s_0^{(n)} = 0$ . From Proposition 5.6(c) we conclude that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,cd}$ .

### 7 Special Matrix Polynomials

In this section, we discuss special matrix polynomials, which have been used, e. g., in [4, formula (4.13)] and [15, Appendix C] already. Such matrix polynomials will be used for the description of the solution set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{i=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  of

Problem  $\mathsf{R}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  which was recognized as an equivalent reformulation of the Hamburger moment problem  $\mathsf{MP}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ . More precisely, these matrix polynomials act as generating matrix-valued functions of the linear fractional transformations which establish the description of the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{i=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ .

Notation 7.1 Let  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ . Then let  $W_{A,B} \colon \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^{(p+q) \times (p+q)}$  and  $V_{A,B} \colon \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^{(p+q) \times (p+q)}$  be defined by

$$W_{A,B}(z) \coloneqq \left( \begin{array}{c|c} zI_p - BA^+ & A \\ \hline & -A^+ & I_q - A^+A \end{array} \right), \ V_{A,B}(z) \coloneqq \left( \begin{array}{c|c} 0_{p \times p} & -A \\ \hline & A^+ & zI_q - A^+B \end{array} \right).$$
(7.1)

We set  $W_A := W_{A,0_{p \times q}}$  and  $V_A := V_{A,0_{p \times q}}$  (see also [4, Ch. 4]).

*Remark 7.2 ([15, Rem. C.1])* Let  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ . Then easily one can see that  $W_{A,B}$  and  $V_{A,B}$  given in Notation 7.1 are matrix polynomials and, in particular, holomorphic in  $\mathbb{C}$ . Moreover, for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , we have

$$V_{A,B}(z)W_{A,B}(z) = \operatorname{diag}\left(AA^{+}, A^{+}\left[A - B(I_{q} - A^{+}A)\right] + z(I_{q} - A^{+}A)\right),$$
$$W_{A,B}(z)V_{A,B}(z) = \left(\frac{AA^{+}}{0_{q \times p}} \frac{BA^{+}A - AA^{+}B}{A^{+}A + z(I_{q} - A^{+}A)}\right),$$

and, in particular,

$$V_A(z)W_A(z) = \text{diag}(AA^+, A^+A + z(I_q - A^+A)) = W_A(z)V_A(z).$$

**Lemma 7.3** Let  $A \in \mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{H}}^{q \times q}$  and let  $P := \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(A)}$ . For all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , then the equations

$$V_A(z)W_A(z) = \text{diag}(P, P + z(I_q - P)) = W_A(z)V_A(z),$$
(7.2)

$$[V_A(z)]^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) V_A(z) = \left[\operatorname{diag}(P, I_q)\right]^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \cdot \operatorname{diag}(P, I_q) + 2\operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot \operatorname{diag}(0_{q \times q}, A),$$

and

$$[W_A(z)]^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) W_A(z)$$
  
=  $\left[\operatorname{diag}\left(P + z(I_q - P), I_q\right)\right]^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \cdot \operatorname{diag}\left(P + z(I_q - P), I_q\right)$   
 $- 2\operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot \operatorname{diag}(A^+, 0_{q \times q})$ 

hold true, where the matrix  $\tilde{J}_q$  is given by (4.1).

**Proof** In view of  $A^* = A$  we see from Remark A.13 that  $P = AA^+$  and  $P = A^+A$ . Equation (7.2) then immediately follows from Remark 7.2. By virtue of the assumption  $A^* = A$ , we have  $(A^+)^* = (A^*)^+ = A^+$ . From Proposition A.8 we know  $P^2 = P$ . Thus, we get

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_A(z) \end{bmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) V_A(z) = \begin{pmatrix} 0_{q \times q} & A^+ \\ -A & \overline{z} I_q \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} iA^+ & iz I_q \\ 0_{q \times q} & iA \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 0_{q \times q} & iA^+A \\ -iAA^+ & -i(z - \overline{z})A \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \text{diag}(P, I_q) \end{bmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \cdot \text{diag}(P, I_q) + 2 \operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot \text{diag}(0_{q \times q}, A)$$

for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ . Analogously, additionally using  $AA^+A = A$ , for every choice of  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , also we have

$$[W_A(z)]^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) W_A(z) = \left( \frac{\overline{z}I_q}{A} | \frac{-A^+}{I_q - AA^+} \right) \left( \frac{-iA^+}{-izI_q} | \frac{i(I_q - A^+A)}{-izI_q} \right)$$
$$= \left( \frac{i(z - \overline{z})A^+}{-iz(I_q - P) - iP} | \frac{iP + i\overline{z}(I_q - P)}{0_{q \times q}} \right)$$
$$= \left[ \text{diag} \left( P + z(I_q - P), I_q \right) \right]^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \cdot \text{diag} \left( P + z(I_q - P), I_q \right)$$
$$- 2 \operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot \operatorname{diag}(A^+, 0_{q \times q}).$$

For the following notation, we use Notation 7.1 and the definitions given in Remark 6.2 in order to introduce matrix polynomials which also have been used in [15, Sec. 11] already.

Notation 7.4 (see [15, p. 267]) Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. For all  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$  such that  $2m \leq \kappa$ , let  $(s_j^{(m)})_{j=0}^{\kappa-2m}$  be the *m*th Schur transform of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ . In view of Notation 7.1, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2n \leq \kappa$ , let

$$\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} \coloneqq \begin{cases} V_{s_0^{(0)}}, & \text{if } n = 0\\ V_{s_0^{(0)}, s_1^{(0)}} V_{s_0^{(1)}, s_1^{(1)}} \cdots V_{s_0^{(n-1)}, s_1^{(n-1)}} V_{s_0^{(n)}}, & \text{if } n \ge 1 \end{cases}$$
(7.3)

and, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2n + 1 \leq \kappa$ , let

$$\mathfrak{Y}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1})} := V_{s_0^{(0)}, s_1^{(0)}} V_{s_0^{(1)}, s_1^{(1)}} \cdots V_{s_0^{(n)}, s_1^{(n)}}.$$
(7.4)

Furthermore, for all  $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ , let

$$\mathfrak{Y}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^m)} = \left(\mathfrak{v}_{lk}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^m)}\right)_{l,k=1}^2$$
(7.5)

be the block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^m)}$  with  $q \times q$  block  $\mathfrak{v}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^m)}$ .

Now we consider matrix polynomials which are used in [15, p. 268] already.

Notation 7.5 Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. For all  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$  such that  $2m \leq \kappa$ , let  $(s_j^{(m)})_{j=0}^{\kappa-2m}$  be the *m*th Schur transform of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$ . In view of Notation 7.1, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2n \leq \kappa$ , let

$$\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} \coloneqq \begin{cases} W_{s_0^{(0)}}, & \text{if } n = 0\\ W_{s_0^{(n)}} W_{s_0^{(n-1)}, s_1^{(n-1)}} \cdots W_{s_0^{(1)}, s_1^{(1)}} W_{s_0^{(0)}, s_1^{(0)}}, & \text{if } n \ge 1 \end{cases}$$
(7.6)

and, for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  fulfilling  $2n + 1 \le \kappa$ , let

$$\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1})} \coloneqq W_{s_0^{(n)}, s_1^{(n)}} \cdots W_{s_0^{(1)}, s_1^{(1)}} W_{s_0^{(0)}, s_1^{(0)}}.$$
(7.7)

Recall that, for each subspace  $\mathcal{U}$  of  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , the notation  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}}$  refers to the orthoprojection matrix onto  $\mathcal{U}$ . Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e}$  with sequence of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters  $(\mathfrak{h}_j)_{i=0}^{\kappa}$ . For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  such that  $2n \leq \kappa$ , let

$$P_{n,-1} \coloneqq I_q, \ P_{n,l} \coloneqq \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2l})} \text{ for each } l \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,n}, \text{ and } P_{n,n+1} \coloneqq 0_{q \times q}.$$
(7.8)

**Lemma 7.6** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e}$ . For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  such that  $2n + 1 \leq \kappa$ , then the matrix-valued functions  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1})}$  and  $\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1})}$  given by Notations 7.4 and 7.5, respectively, fulfil, for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , the equation

$$\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1})}(z)\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1})}(z) = \operatorname{diag}\left(P_{n,n}, \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} z^k (P_{n,n-k} - P_{n,n-k+1})\right), \quad (7.9)$$

where, for each  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,n+1}$ , the matrix  $P_{n,l}$  is given by (7.8).

**Proof** From Theorem 6.10 we obtain

$$\mathfrak{h}_{2l} = s_0^{(l)} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{h}_{2l+1} = s_1^{(l)} \quad \text{for all } l \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ with } 2l+1 \le \kappa.$$
(7.10)

By virtue of Proposition 5.7 we infer

$$\mathfrak{h}_{j}^{*} = \mathfrak{h}_{j} \qquad \qquad \text{for all } j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}. \tag{7.11}$$

Thus, Remark A.2 yields

$$\mathfrak{h}_{i}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{j} = \mathfrak{h}_{j}\mathfrak{h}_{i}^{+}$$
 for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,\kappa}$ . (7.12)

In view of (7.8) and Remark A.13 we have

$$P_{n,l} = \mathfrak{h}_{2l}\mathfrak{h}_{2l}^+ \qquad \text{for all } n \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ with } 2n \le \kappa \text{ and all } l \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,n}. \tag{7.13}$$

Proposition 5.7 shows furthermore  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2l+1}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2l})$  for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$  with  $2l + 1 \leq \kappa$ . Using (7.11) and Remark A.12, then  $\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{h}_{2l}) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{h}_{2l+1})$  follows for all  $l \in \mathbb{N}_0$  with  $2l + 1 \leq \kappa$ . Hence, the application of Lemma A.14 yields

$$\mathfrak{h}_{2l}\mathfrak{h}_{2l}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2l+1} = \mathfrak{h}_{2l+1} \text{ and } \mathfrak{h}_{2l+1}\mathfrak{h}_{2l}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2l} = \mathfrak{h}_{2l+1} \text{ for all } l \in \mathbb{N}_0 \text{ with } 2l+1 \le \kappa.$$
(7.14)

Consider an arbitrary  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ . In view of (7.7), (7.4), (7.10), Remark 7.2, (7.14), (7.12), (7.13), and (7.8), then we have

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^1)}(z)\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^1)}(z) &= W_{s_0^{(0)},s_1^{(0)}}(z)V_{s_0^{(0)},s_1^{(0)}}(z) = W_{\mathfrak{h}_0,\mathfrak{h}_1}(z)V_{\mathfrak{h}_0,\mathfrak{h}_1}(z)\\ &= \left(\frac{\mathfrak{h}_0\mathfrak{h}_0^+}{\mathfrak{h}_0^+}\frac{\mathfrak{h}_1\mathfrak{h}_0^+\mathfrak{h}_0 - \mathfrak{h}_0\mathfrak{h}_0^+\mathfrak{h}_1}{\mathfrak{h}_0^+\mathfrak{h}_0 + z(I_q - \mathfrak{h}_0^+\mathfrak{h}_0)}\right) = \operatorname{diag}\left(\mathfrak{h}_0\mathfrak{h}_0^+, \mathfrak{h}_0\mathfrak{h}_0^+ + z(I_q - \mathfrak{h}_0\mathfrak{h}_0^+)\right)\\ &= \operatorname{diag}\left(P_{0,0}, \sum_{k=0}^{0+1} z^k(P_{0,0-k} - P_{0,0-k+1})\right). \end{split}$$

In particular, the assertion is proved in the case  $\kappa \leq 2$ . Now assume  $\kappa \geq 3$ . Then we have already shown that there is an  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  fulfilling  $2m + 1 \leq \kappa$  such that (7.9) holds true for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$ . We are going to prove that (7.9) is true in the case n = m as well. Proposition 5.7 shows  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2k-2})$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $2k \leq \kappa$ . In particular,  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2m}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2l})$  for all  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$ . In view of (7.11), we furthermore obtain  $\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^+) = \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^*) = \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2m})$ . Taking additionally into account (7.8), we hence can infer

$$P_{m-1,l}\mathfrak{h}_{2m} = \mathfrak{h}_{2m} \text{ for each } l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,m-1} \quad \text{and} \quad P_{m-1,m}\mathfrak{h}_{2m} = 0_{q \times q}.$$
(7.15)

as well as  $P_{m-1,l}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^+ = \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^+$  for all  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,m-1}$  and  $P_{m-1,m}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^+ = 0_{q \times q}$ . Thus, we have

$$\left[\sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k} (P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k})\right] \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+} = \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}.$$
(7.16)

From (7.15) we conclude

$$P_{m-1,m-1}(-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}) = -\mathfrak{h}_{2m}.$$
(7.17)

Due to (7.16), we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k} (P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k}) \end{bmatrix} (zI_{q} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+} \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}) \\ = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k+1} (P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k}) \end{bmatrix} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+} \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}.$$
(7.18)

Combining (7.16), (7.17), and (7.18) then yields

diag 
$$\left(P_{m-1,m-1}, \sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k} (P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k})\right)$$
  
 $\times \left(\frac{0_{q \times q}}{\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}} \frac{-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}}{zI_{q} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}}\right)$   
 $= \left(\frac{0_{q \times q}}{\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}} \frac{-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}}{[\sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k+1} (P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k})] - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}}\right).$  (7.19)

In view of (7.14), we get

$$(zI_q - \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^+)(-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}) = -z\mathfrak{h}_{2m} + \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^+\mathfrak{h}_{2m} = -z\mathfrak{h}_{2m} + \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}.$$
 (7.20)

By virtue of (7.8) and Proposition A.8 we have  $P_{m-1,l}^* = P_{m-1,l}$  for all  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,m}$ . Taking additionally into account (7.11), we can infer from (7.15) then  $\mathfrak{h}_{2m}P_{m-1,l} = \mathfrak{h}_{2m}$  for all  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,m-1}$  and  $\mathfrak{h}_{2m}P_{m-1,m} = \mathfrak{0}_{q \times q}$ . Consequently, we obtain

$$\mathfrak{h}_{2m} \sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k+1} (P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k}) = z \mathfrak{h}_{2m}.$$
(7.21)

From (7.21) and (7.14) we get

$$\mathfrak{h}_{2m}\left(\left[\sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k+1} (P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k})\right] - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+} \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}\right) = z\mathfrak{h}_{2m} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}.$$
(7.22)

Moreover, the combination of (7.12), (7.13), and (7.8) provides

$$-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}(-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}) = \mathfrak{h}_{2m}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+} = P_{m,m} = P_{m,m} - P_{m,m+1}$$
  
=  $z^{0}(P_{m,m-0} - P_{m,m-0+1}).$  (7.23)

By virtue of (7.8) we see  $P_{m-1,l} = P_{m,l}$  for all  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,m-1}$ . Consequently, additionally using (7.21), (7.11), (7.8), and (7.13), then

$$(I_{q} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2m})\left(\left[\sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k+1}(P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k})\right] - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k+1}(P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k}) - z\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m+1} z^{j}(P_{m-1,m-j} - P_{m-1,m-j+1}) - z\mathfrak{h}_{2m}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}$$

$$= zP_{m,m-1} + \sum_{j=2}^{m+1} z^{j}(P_{m,m-j} - P_{m,m-j+1}) - zP_{m,m-1+1}$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{m+1} z^{k}(P_{m,m-k} - P_{m,m-k+1})$$
(7.24)

is true. Using (7.13), (7.20), (7.22), (7.23), and (7.24) delivers

$$\left(\frac{zI_{q} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}}{-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}} \frac{\mathfrak{h}_{2m}}{I_{q} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}\right) \times \left(\frac{\mathfrak{0}_{q \times q}}{\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}} \frac{-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}}{[\sum_{k=0}^{m} z^{k+1}(P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k})] - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}}\right) \\
= \operatorname{diag}\left(P_{m,m}, \sum_{k=0}^{m+1} z^{k}(P_{m,m-k} - P_{m,m-k+1})\right). \quad (7.25)$$

Finally, due to (7.7), (7.4), (7.10), Notation 7.1, (7.9) with n = m - 1 as well as (7.19) and (7.25), then

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{W}^{((s_{j})_{j=0}^{2m+1})}(z)\mathfrak{V}^{((s_{j})_{j=0}^{2m+1})}(z) \\ &= W_{s_{0}^{(m)},s_{1}^{(m)}}(z)\mathfrak{W}^{((s_{j})_{j=0}^{2m-1})}(z)\mathfrak{V}^{((s_{j})_{j=0}^{2m-1})}(z)V_{s_{0}^{(m)},s_{1}^{(m)}}(z) \\ &= W_{\mathfrak{h}_{2m},\mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}}(z)\mathfrak{W}^{((s_{j})_{j=0}^{2m-1})}(z)\mathfrak{V}^{((s_{j})_{j=0}^{2m-1})}(z)V_{\mathfrak{h}_{2m},\mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}}(z) \\ &= \left(\frac{zI_{q} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}}{-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}}\frac{\mathfrak{h}_{2m}}{I_{q} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2m}}\right) \\ &\times \operatorname{diag}\left(P_{m-1,m-1},\sum_{k=0}^{m}z^{k}(P_{m-1,m-1-k} - P_{m-1,m-k})\right) \\ &\quad \times \left(\frac{0_{q\times q}}{\mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}}\frac{-\mathfrak{h}_{2m}}{zI_{q} - \mathfrak{h}_{2m}^{+}\mathfrak{h}_{2m+1}}\right) \\ &= \operatorname{diag}\left(P_{m,m},\sum_{k=0}^{m+1}z^{k}(P_{m,m-k} - P_{m,m-k+1})\right), \end{split}$$

which proves (7.9) in the case n = m. Consequently, the assertion is checked inductively.

In order to prove a result analogous to Lemma 7.6, where an odd number of data is given, in the case of an odd number of prescribed data, we recall the following:

*Remark* 7.7 Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ . Furthermore, let  $s_{2n+1} := \Lambda_n$ , where  $\Lambda_n$  is given by (5.2). Regarding Definition 5.5, Proposition 5.7, and Theorem 6.10 one can check that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n+1}^{\geq,e}$  and the equations  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} = \mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1})}$  and  $\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} = \mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n+1})}$  hold true.

**Lemma 7.8** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e}$ . For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  such that  $2n \leq \kappa$ , then the matrix-valued functions  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  and  $\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  defined by Notations 7.4 and 7.5, respectively, fulfil, for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , the equation

$$\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z) = \operatorname{diag}\left(P_{n,n}, \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} z^k (P_{n,n-k} - P_{n,n-k+1})\right), \quad (7.26)$$

where, for each  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,n+1}$ , the matrix  $P_{n,l}$  is given by (7.8).

*Proof* Use Remark 7.7 and Lemma 7.6.

# 8 An Essential Step to a Parametrization of the Solution Set $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ of the Truncated Matricial Hamburger Moment Problem

In this section, we state some results which lead to a parametrization of the solution set of the truncated matricial Hamburger moment problem  $MP[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , where the parameters still depend on the given data. This parametrization is done by using a further special algorithm of Schur type. While doing so, we mainly refer to the representations given in [13, 15]. Moreover, we draw the reader's attention to Theorems 2.2 and 2.4 as well as the reformulation of Problem  $MP[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  in Remark 3.4. In particular, we are going to use the results stated in Sect. 6.

*Notation 8.1 ([15, Sec. 8])* Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a non-empty subset of  $\mathbb{C}$ , let  $F: \mathcal{G} \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ be a matrix-valued function, and let A and B be complex  $p \times q$  matrices. Then let  $F^{(+;A,B)}: \mathcal{G} \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$  and  $F^{(-;A,B)}: \mathcal{G} \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$  be defined by  $F^{(+;A,B)}(z) :=$  $-A(zI_q + [F(z)]^+A) + B$  and  $F^{(-;A,B)}(z) := -A(zI_q + A^+[F(z) - B])^+$ , respectively. The functions  $F^{(+;A,B)}$  and  $F^{(-;A,B)}$  are called the (A, B)-Schur transform of F and the inverse (A, B)-Schur transform of F, respectively. Abbreviating, we set  $F^{(+;A)} := F^{(+;A,0_{p \times q})}$  and  $F^{(-;A)} := F^{(-;A,0_{p \times q})}$ .

**Proposition 8.2** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ , and let  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ . Then  $F^{(+;s_0,s_1)} \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2(n-1)}, \leq]$ , where  $(s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2(n-1)}$  is the first Schur transform of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$ .

**Proof** Since  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ , from Remark 5.1 we know that  $s_j^* = s_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n}$ . Since F belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure  $\sigma_F$  of F belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ . In particular,  $\sigma_F \in \mathcal{M}_{\geq,2n}^q(\mathbb{R})$ . Setting  $t_j \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}} x^j \sigma_F(dx)$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n}$ , then Remark 2.1 yields  $t_j^* = t_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n}$ , and we have  $t_j = s_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-1}$  and  $t_{2n} \leq s_{2n}$ . Lemma 6.6 provides  $t_{2n-2}^{(1)} \leq s_{2n-2}^{(1)}$  and, in the case  $n \geq 2$ , moreover,  $t_j^{(1)} = s_j^{(1)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-3}$ . Since  $\sigma_F$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q[\mathbb{R}; (t_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, =]$ , Theorem 2.5 provides  $(t_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ and the definition of the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (t_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, =]$  given in Remark 3.4 shows that Fbelongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (t_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, =]$ . Thus, from [15, Thm. 9.7] we obtain  $F^{(+;s_0,s_1)} \in$  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (t_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2(n-1)}, =]$ . Thus,  $F^{(+;s_0,s_1)} \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2(n-1)}, \leq]$  follows.

**Definition 8.3 (cf. [14, Def. 4.3])** Let  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  be a sequence of complex  $p \times q$  matrices. Then one says that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  is *first term dominated*, if  $\bigcup_{j=0}^{\kappa} \mathcal{R}(s_j) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(s_0)$  and  $\mathcal{N}(s_0) \subseteq \bigcap_{j=0}^{\kappa} \mathcal{N}(s_j)$  are fulfilled. The set of all first term dominated sequences  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{\kappa}$  of complex  $p \times q$  matrices will be denoted by  $\mathcal{D}_{p \times q,\kappa}$ .

**Proposition 8.4 ([13, Prop. 4.24])**  $\mathcal{H}_{q,\kappa}^{\geq,e} \subseteq \mathcal{D}_{q \times q,\kappa}$  for all  $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Proposition 8.5** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq} \cap \mathcal{D}_{q \times q,2n}$ , and let  $G \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2(n-1)}, \leq]$ . Then  $G^{(-;s_0,s_1)}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ . **Proof** Since  $(s_j)_{i=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ , Remark 5.1 shows that

$$s_{2k} \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$$
 for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,n}$  and  $s_j^* = s_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n}$ . (8.1)

Since *G* belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2(n-1)}, \leq]$ , we get that  $G \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  and that the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure  $\sigma_G$  of *G* belongs to  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2(n-1)}, \leq]$  and, in particular, to  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq,2n-2}(\mathbb{R})$ . In view of Remark 2.1, for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-2}$ , the matrix  $t_j := \int_{\mathbb{R}} x^j \sigma_G(dx)$  is Hermitian. Then  $\sigma_G$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (t_j)_{j=0}^{2n-2}, =]$  and, moreover,

$$t_{2n-2} \le s_{2n-2}^{(1)}$$
 and  $t_j = s_j^{(1)}$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-3}$ . (8.2)

Because of  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (t_j)_{j=0}^{2n-2}, =] \neq \emptyset$ , Theorem 2.5 yields  $(t_j)_{j=0}^{2n-2} \in \mathcal{H}^{\geq, e}_{q, 2n-2}$ . Setting

$$r_j \coloneqq t_j^{(-1,s_0,s_1)} \qquad \qquad \text{for all } j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n}, \tag{8.3}$$

from (8.1) and [13, Cor. 10.8] we conclude  $(r_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ . If  $n \geq 2$ , then, for every choice of  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-3}$ , from (8.2) and (6.2) we have

$$\mathcal{R}(t_j) = \mathcal{R}(s_j^{(1)}) = \mathcal{R}(-s_0 s_{j+2}^\sharp s_0) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(s_0)$$
(8.4)

and

$$\mathcal{N}(s_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(-s_0 s_{j+2}^{\sharp} s_0) = \mathcal{N}(s_j^{(1)}) = \mathcal{N}(t_j).$$
(8.5)

From  $(t_j)_{j=0}^{2n-2} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n-2}^{\geq,e}$  and Remarks 2.3 and 5.1 we obtain  $t_{2n-2} \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$ . Thus, together with (8.2) it follows  $0_{q \times q} \leq t_{2n-2} \leq s_{2n-2}^{(1)}$  which, in view of Remark A.1, implies  $\mathcal{R}(t_{2n-2}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(s_{2n-2}^{(1)})$  and  $\mathcal{N}(s_{2n-2}^{(1)}) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(t_{2n-2})$ . Therefore, (6.2) yields

$$\mathcal{R}(t_{2n-2}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(-s_0 s_{2n}^{\sharp} s_0) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(s_0) \text{ and } \mathcal{N}(s_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(-s_0 s_{2n}^{\sharp} s_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(t_{2n-2}).$$
(8.6)

Using (8.3), (8.4), (8.5), (8.6), and [13, Lem. 10.6(b)], we get  $r_j^{(1)} = (t_j^{(-1,s_0,s_1)})^{(1)} = t_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-2}$ . Therefore, since  $\sigma_G$  belongs to  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}[\mathbb{R}; (t_j)_{j=0}^{2n-2}, =]$ , we see that  $G \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (r_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2(n-1)}, =]$ . Consequently, in view of  $(r_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  and [15, Thm. 10.9], we get  $G^{(-;r_0,r_1)} \in$ 

 $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (r_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, =]$ . From (8.3), Definition 6.7, the assumption  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{D}_{q \times q, 2n}$  and Lemma A.14 we conclude  $r_0 = t_0^{(-1, s_0, s_1)} = s_0$  and  $r_1 = t_1^{(-1, s_0, s_1)} = s_0 s_0^+ s_1 s_0^+ s_0 = s_1$ . Thus,

$$G^{(-;s_0,s_1)} \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (r_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, =].$$
(8.7)

For each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-2}$ , let  $u_j := s_j^{(1)}$ . Furthermore, let  $v_j := u_j^{(-1,s_0,s_1)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n}$ . Since  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ , the application of [13, Prop. 8.12] yields  $(s_j^{(1)})_{j=0}^{2n-2} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n-2}^{\geq}$ . In particular, Remark 5.1 then provides  $u_j^* = (s_j^{(1)})^* = s_j^{(1)} = u_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-2}$ . Taking into account (8.3) as well as  $u_j^* = u_j$  and  $t_j^* = t_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-2}$  as well as (8.2), the application of Lemma 6.9 to the sequences  $(u_j)_{j=0}^{2n-2}$  and  $(t_j)_{j=0}^{2n-2}$  yields

$$r_{2n} = t_{2n}^{(-1,s_0,s_1)} \le u_{2n}^{(-1,s_0,s_1)} = v_{2n}$$
(8.8)

and  $r_j = t_j^{(-1,s_0,s_1)} = u_j^{(-1,s_0,s_1)} = v_j$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n-1}$ . Since  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{q \times q,2n}$ , from [13, Thm. 10.13], for every choice of  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2n}$  we conclude  $v_j = u_j^{(-1,s_0,s_1)} = (s_j^{(1)})^{(-1,s_0,s_1)} = s_j$ . Thus, in view of (8.7) and (8.8), the proof is complete.

Now we are going to study Problem  $R[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  in the special case n = 0. In order to realize this goal we need some preparation.

**Lemma 8.6** Let  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  and let  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^0, \leq]$ . For all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , then  $\frac{1}{\operatorname{Im}(z)} \operatorname{Im} F(z) \geq [F(z)]^* s_0^+ F(z)$ .

**Proof** We apply an idea used in [20, proof of Lem. 11.1]. Let  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Because of  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^0, \leq]$ , we have  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  and the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure  $\sigma_F$  of F belongs to  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^0, \leq]$ . In particular,  $g_z \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  defined by  $g_z(x) \coloneqq (x-z)^{-1}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}, \sigma_F; \mathbb{C})$  and  $F(z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} g_z d\sigma_F$  holds true. Using [12, Rem. B.4], we get  $\operatorname{Im} g_z \in \mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}, \sigma_F; \mathbb{C})$  and  $\operatorname{Im} F(z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Im} g_z d\sigma_F$ . Obviously,  $\operatorname{Im} g_z(x) = \operatorname{Im}(z)|g_z(x)|^2$  is valid for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Hence,  $|g_z|^2 \in \mathcal{L}^1(\mathbb{R}; \mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{R}}, \sigma_F; \mathbb{C})$  and  $\operatorname{Im} F(z) = \operatorname{Im}(z) \int_{\mathbb{R}} |g_z|^2 d\sigma_F$ . From Lemma B.1 and [20, Cor. B.6] then

$$\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} g_{z} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{F}\right)^{*} \left[\sigma_{F}(\mathbb{R})\right]^{+} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} g_{z} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{F}\right) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} |g_{z}|^{2} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{F}$$
(8.9)

follows. Both the matrices  $B := \sigma_F(\mathbb{R})$  and  $s_0$  are non-negative Hermitian and, in particular, Hermitian. Because of  $\sigma_F \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)^0_{j=0}, \leq]$ , we have  $s_0 \geq s_0^{(\sigma_F)} = B \geq 0_{q \times q}$ . By virtue of [15, Lem. A.7], then

$$B^{+} \ge B^{+} B s_{0}^{+} B B^{+} \ge 0_{q \times q} \tag{8.10}$$

follows. Remark A.2 shows that  $B^+B = BB^+ = (BB^+)^*$ . From Lemma 3.5 we know that  $\mathcal{R}(F(z)) = \mathcal{R}(B)$ . Thus, Lemma A.14(a) provides  $BB^+F(z) = F(z)$ . Consequently, because of (8.9) and (8.10), then we have

$$\frac{1}{\operatorname{Im}(z)}\operatorname{Im} F(z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |g_z|^2 d\sigma_F \ge \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} g_z d\sigma_F\right)^* [\sigma_F(\mathbb{R})]^+ \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}} g_z d\sigma_F\right)$$
$$= [F(z)]^* B^+ F(z) \ge [F(z)]^* B^+ B s_0^+ B B^+ F(z)$$
$$= [BB^+ F(z)]^* s_0^+ B B^+ F(z) = [F(z)]^* s_0^+ F(z).$$

The next two propositions deal with Problem  $\mathsf{R}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , described in Sect. 3, for the special case n = 0.

**Proposition 8.7** Let  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$  and let  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^0, \leq]$ . Let  $W_{s_0} \colon \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^{2q \times 2q}$  be given by Notation 7.1. Then:

(a) The matrix-valued functions  $\phi, \psi \colon \Pi_+ \to \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  defined by

$$\phi(z) \coloneqq (I_q, 0_{q \times q}) W_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_q \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad \psi(z) \coloneqq (0_{q \times q}, I_q) W_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_q \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.11)

are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and fulfil, for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , the four conditions

$$\operatorname{rank}\begin{pmatrix}\phi(z)\\\psi(z)\end{pmatrix} = q,$$
(8.12)

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi(z)\\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z)\\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}, \tag{8.13}$$

 $\mathcal{R}(\phi(z)) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(s_0)$ , and det $[s_0^+\phi(z)+z\psi(z)] \neq 0$ . In particular,  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0]$ . (b) For each  $z \in \Pi_+$ , the matrix-valued function *F* admits the representation

$$F(z) = -s_0 \psi(z) \left[ s_0^+ \phi(z) + z \psi(z) \right]^{-1}.$$

**Proof** Let  $P := \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(s_0)}$ . Since the matrix  $s_0$  is Hermitian, we have  $P = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(s_0^*)}$ . Because of  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^0, \leq]$ , the matrix-valued function F belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  and the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure  $\sigma_F$  of F belongs to  $\mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^0, \leq]$ . In particular,

$$0_{q \times q} \le \sigma_F(\mathbb{R}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} x^0 \sigma_F(\mathrm{d}x) \le s_0.$$
(8.14)

Since  $W_{s_0}$  is a matrix polynomial and because F belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$ , the matrixvalued functions  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$ . Consider an arbitrary  $z \in \Pi_+$ . By virtue of (8.11), we conclude

$$W_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_q \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.15)

According to Lemma 3.5, we have  $\mathcal{R}(F(z)) = \mathcal{R}(\sigma_F(\mathbb{R}))$  and  $\mathcal{N}(F(z)) = \mathcal{N}(\sigma_F(\mathbb{R}))$ . Consequently, additionally taking into account (8.14), from Remark A.1 we get

$$\mathcal{R}(F(z)) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(s_0)$$
 and  $\mathcal{N}(s_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(F(z)).$ 

Hence, Lemma A.14 as well as  $P = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(s_0^*)}$  and Remark A.13 yield

$$PF(z) = F(z)$$
 and  $F(z)P = F(z)$  (8.16)

and, consequently,

$$[P + z(I_q - P)]F(z) = PF(z) + z[F(z) - PF(z)] = F(z).$$
(8.17)

Using  $P^2 = P$ , we conclude

$$\begin{split} \left[ P + z(I_q - P) \right] \left[ P + \frac{1}{z}(I_q - P) \right] \\ &= P^2 + \frac{1}{z}(P - P^2) + z(P - P^2) + (I_q - P - P + P^2) = I_q. \end{split}$$

Consequently, we have

det 
$$[P + z(I_q - P)] \neq 0$$
 and  $[P + z(I_q - P)]^{-1} = P + \frac{1}{z}(I_q - P).$ 
  
(8.18)

From Notation 7.1 and Lemma 7.3 also we obtain

$$(s_0^+, zI_q)W_{s_0}(z) = (0_{q \times q}, I_q)V_{s_0}(z)W_{s_0}(z)$$
  
=  $(0_{q \times q}, I_q) \cdot \text{diag}(P, P + z(I_q - P))$  (8.19)  
=  $(0_{q \times q}, P + z(I_q - P)).$ 

Taking into account (8.18), (8.19), and (8.15), then

$$q = \operatorname{rank} \left( P + z(I_q - P) \right) = \operatorname{rank} \left( \left( 0_{q \times q}, P + z(I_q - P) \right) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_q \end{pmatrix} \right)$$
$$= \operatorname{rank} \left( (s_0^+, zI_q) W_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_q \end{pmatrix} \right) = \operatorname{rank} \left( (s_0^+, zI_q) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} \right)$$
$$\leq \operatorname{rank} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} \leq q$$

and, consequently, (8.12) follow. Using (8.15), Lemma 7.3, (8.17), Remark 4.1, the assumption  $\text{Im}(z) \in (0, \infty)$ , and Lemma 8.6, we infer

$$\begin{split} & \left( \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \\ \psi(z) \\ \right)^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \\ \end{array} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix}^{*} \left\{ \left[ \text{diag} \left( P + z(I_{q} - P), I_{q} \right) \right]^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \cdot \text{diag} \left( P + z(I_{q} - P), I_{q} \right) \right. \\ & - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \cdot \text{diag}(s_{0}^{+}, 0_{q \times q}) \right\} \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} \\ & = \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix}^{*} \left[ \text{diag} \left( P + z(I_{q} - P), I_{q} \right) \right]^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \text{diag} \left( P + z(I_{q} - P), I_{q} \right) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} \\ & - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix}^{*} \cdot \text{diag}(s_{0}^{+}, 0_{q \times q}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} \\ & = \begin{pmatrix} [P + z(I_{q} - P)]F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix}^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} [P + z(I_{q} - P)]F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} \\ & - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix}^{*} \text{diag}(s_{0}^{+}, 0_{q \times q}) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} \\ & = \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix}^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ I_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} = \left( F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix}^{*} \left( -\widetilde{J}_{q} \\ \end{pmatrix} \left( F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) - 2 \, \text{Im}(z) \left( F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\ F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\ F(z) \\ H \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\ F(z) \\ F(z) \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\ F(z) \\ F(z) \\ F(z) \\ F(z) \\ \end{bmatrix} \right) = \left( F(z) \\ F(z) \\$$

Hence, (8.13) is proved. Since  $z \in \Pi_+$  was arbitrary, in particular, from Definition 4.2, (8.12), and (8.13) we see that the pair  $[\phi; \psi]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . From (8.11) and Notation 7.1 we obtain that

$$\phi(z) = (I_q, 0_{q \times q}) W_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_q \end{pmatrix} = (zI_q, s_0) \begin{pmatrix} F(z) \\ I_q \end{pmatrix} = zF(z) + s_0.$$

Since  $z \in \Pi_+$  was arbitrary, because of (8.16), consequently,  $P\phi = \phi$ . According to Notation 4.7 then  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0]$ . Using Notation 7.1, (8.15), Lemma 7.3, and (8.16), we conclude

$$\begin{pmatrix} -s_0\psi(z)\\ s_0^+\phi(z) + z\psi(z) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0_{q\times q} - s_0\\ s_0^+ zI_q \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z)\\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} = V_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z)\\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= V_{s_0}(z)W_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} F(z)\\ I_q \end{pmatrix} = \operatorname{diag}(P, P + z(I_q - P)) \begin{pmatrix} F(z)\\ I_q \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} PF(z)\\ P + z(I_q - P) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} F(z)\\ P + z(I_q - P) \end{pmatrix}$$

and, in particular,  $-s_0\psi(z) = F(z)$  as well as  $s_0^+\phi(z) + z\psi(z) = P + z(I_q - P)$ . Thus, (8.18) implies det $[s_0^+\phi(z) + z\psi(z)] \neq 0$  and  $[s_0^+\phi(z) + z\psi(z)]^{-1} = P + \frac{1}{z}(I_q - P)$ . In particular, the proof of (a) is complete. Consequently, in view of  $-s_0\psi(z) = F(z)$ , (8.16),  $P^2 = P$ , and once more (8.16), we get

$$-s_0\psi(z)\left[s_0^+\phi(z) + z\psi(z)\right]^{-1} = F(z)\left[P + \frac{1}{z}(I_q - P)\right]$$
$$= F(z)P\left[P + \frac{1}{z}(I_q - P)\right]$$
$$= F(z)\left[P^2 + \frac{1}{z}(P - P^2)\right] = F(z)P = F(z).$$

The proof of (b) is complete.

**Proposition 8.8** Let  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$  and let  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0]$ . Regarding Notation 4.7 and Definition 4.2, let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$  such that the conditions (i)–(iii) in Definition 4.2 are fulfilled. Let  $V_{s_0} : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^{2q \times 2q}$  be given by Notation 7.1 and let V be the restriction of  $V_{s_0}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ . Furthermore, let

$$X \coloneqq (I_q, 0_{q \times q}) V \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ \psi \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad Y \coloneqq (0_{q \times q}, I_q) V \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ \psi \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.20)

Then the following four conditions hold true:

- (i) The matrix-valued functions X and Y are meromorphic in Π<sub>+</sub> and holomorphic in Π<sub>+</sub> \ D.
- (ii) det  $Y(z) \neq 0$  for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ .
- (iii) rank  $\begin{pmatrix} X(z) \\ Y(z) \end{pmatrix} = q$  for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ .

(iv) 
$$\binom{X(z)}{Y(z)}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \binom{X(z)}{Y(z)} \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$$
 for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ .

In particular, the pair [X; Y] belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . Moreover, the matrix-valued function  $F \coloneqq XY^{-1}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^0, \leq]$ .

**Proof** Let  $P := \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(s_0)}$ . Since  $[\phi; \psi]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{P}[s_0]$ , from Notation 4.7 we see that  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$  and  $P\phi = \phi$  hold true. Thus, in view of Definition 4.2, the matrix-valued functions  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  are meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$ . Regarding Definition 4.2(i), in particular

$$P\phi(z) = \phi(z)$$
 for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . (8.21)

In view of (8.20), Remark 7.2 and Definition 4.2(i), we see that *X* and *Y* are welldefined functions which are meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . We consider an arbitrary  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . From (8.20) immediately we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} X(z) \\ Y(z) \end{pmatrix} = V_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.22)

Taking into account (8.22) and Notation 7.1, then, for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus D$ , we obtain

$$X(z) = -s_0\psi(z)$$
 and  $Y(z) = s_0^+\phi(z) + z\psi(z).$  (8.23)

Now we consider an arbitrary  $v \in \mathcal{N}(Y(z))$ . From (8.23) then

$$s_0^+ \phi(z)v + z\psi(z)v = 0_{q \times 1} \tag{8.24}$$

follows. Using (8.21) and Remark A.13, we get

$$\phi(z)v + zs_0\psi(z)v = s_0s_0^+\phi(z)v + zs_0\psi(z)v = s_0\left[s_0^+\phi(z) + z\psi(z)\right]v = 0_{q\times 1}$$
(8.25)

and, consequently,

$$v^* [\psi(z)]^* \phi(z)v + zv^* [\psi(z)]^* s_0 \psi(z)v = v^* [\psi(z)]^* [\phi(z) + zs_0 \psi(z)] v = 0.$$
(8.26)

Because of  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{>}$ , we obtain  $v^*[\psi(z)]^* s_0 \psi(z) v \in [0, \infty) \subseteq \mathbb{R}$  and, hence,

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(zv^{*}\left[\psi(z)\right]^{*}s_{0}\psi(z)v\right) = \operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot v^{*}\left[\psi(z)\right]^{*}s_{0}\psi(z)v.$$
(8.27)

Thus, (8.27) and (8.26) provide

$$v^{*} \operatorname{Im} ([\psi(z)]^{*} \phi(z)) v + \operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot v^{*} [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0} \psi(z) v$$
  
=  $v^{*} [\operatorname{Im} ([\psi(z)]^{*} \phi(z) + z [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0} \psi(z))] v$  (8.28)  
=  $\operatorname{Im} (v^{*} [\psi(z)]^{*} \phi(z) v + z v^{*} [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0} \psi(z) v) = 0.$ 

Because of Definition 4.2(iii) and Remark 4.1, we have  $\operatorname{Im}([\psi(z)]^*\phi(z)) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$ and, consequently,  $v^*[\operatorname{Im}([\psi(z)]^*\phi(z))]v \in [0, \infty)$ . Due to the assumption  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$ , from  $\operatorname{Im}(z) \in (0, \infty)$  also we know that  $\operatorname{Im}(z)[\psi(z)]^*s_0\psi(z) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  and therefore  $\operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot v^*[\psi(z)]^*s_0\psi(z)v \in [0, \infty)$  is valid. Hence, by virtue of (8.28), we get  $v^* \operatorname{Im}([\psi(z)]^*\phi(z))v = 0$  and  $\operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot v^*[\psi(z)]^*s_0\psi(z)v = 0$ . Consequently,

$$\left[\sqrt{s_0}\psi(z)v\right]^*\left[\sqrt{s_0}\psi(z)v\right] = \frac{1}{\operatorname{Im}(z)}\operatorname{Im}(z)\cdot v^*\left[\psi(z)\right]^*s_0\psi(z)v = 0.$$

which implies  $s_0\psi(z)v = \sqrt{s_0}\sqrt{s_0}\psi(z)v = 0_{q\times 1}$ . Then (8.25) shows that  $\phi(z)v = 0_{q\times 1}$  is fulfilled. Therefore, from (8.24) and  $z \neq 0$ , moreover,  $\psi(z)v = 0_{q\times 1}$  follows. Thus, v belongs to  $\mathcal{N}(\phi(z)) \cap \mathcal{N}(\psi(z))$ , i.e., to  $\mathcal{N}(\begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix})$ . Because of Definition 4.2(ii), we can conclude that  $v = 0_{q\times 1}$ . This means that  $\mathcal{N}(Y(z)) \subseteq \{0_{q\times 1}\}$  holds true. Consequently, det  $Y(z) \neq 0$ . In particular, rank  $\binom{X(z)}{Y(z)} = q$  and F is well defined. Using (8.22), Lemma 7.3, (8.21), Definition 4.2(iii), and  $\operatorname{Im}(z)[\psi(z)]^*s_0\psi(z) \in \mathbb{C}^{q\times q}_>$ , we conclude

$$\begin{pmatrix} X(z) \\ Y(z) \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \begin{pmatrix} X(z) \\ Y(z) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^* \left[ V_{s_0}(z) \right]^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) V_{s_0}(z) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^* \left\{ \left[ \operatorname{diag}(P, I_q) \right]^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \cdot \operatorname{diag}(P, I_q) \right.$$

$$+ 2 \operatorname{Im}(z) \cdot \operatorname{diag}(0_{q \times q}, s_0) \right\} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \left( \left[ \phi(z) \right]^* P^*, \left[ \psi(z) \right]^* \right) (-\widetilde{J}_q) \begin{pmatrix} P\phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} + 2 \operatorname{Im}(z) \left[ \psi(z) \right]^* s_0 \psi(z)$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} + 2 \operatorname{Im}(z) \left[ \psi(z) \right]^* s_0 \psi(z) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}.$$

Thus, the pair [*X*; *Y*] belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . According to (i) and (ii), the matrixvalued function *F* is meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . Using (i), (ii), Remark 4.1 as well as (8.22), Lemma 7.3, and (8.21), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Im} F(z) &= \operatorname{Im} \left( X(z) [Y(z)]^{-1} \right) = \operatorname{Im} \left( [Y(z)]^{-*} [Y(z)]^{*} X(z) [Y(z)]^{-1} \right) \\ &= [Y(z)]^{-*} \operatorname{Im} \left( [Y(z)]^{*} X(z) \right) [Y(z)]^{-1} \\ &= [Y(z)]^{-*} \left( \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} X(z) \\ Y(z) \end{pmatrix}^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} X(z) \\ Y(z) \end{pmatrix} \right) [Y(z)]^{-1} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} [Y(z)]^{-*} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^{*} \left[ \operatorname{diag}(P, I_{q}) \right]^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \operatorname{diag}(P, I_{q}) \\ &+ 2 \operatorname{Im}(z) \operatorname{diag}(0_{q \times q}, s_{0}) \right\} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} [Y(z)]^{-1} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} [Y(z)]^{-*} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^{*} \left[ \operatorname{diag}(P, I_{q}) \right]^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \operatorname{diag}(P, I_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} [Y(z)]^{-1} \\ &+ \operatorname{Im}(z) [Y(z)]^{-*} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^{*} \operatorname{diag}(0_{q \times q}, s_{0}) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} [Y(z)]^{-1} \\ &+ \operatorname{Im}(z) [Y(z)]^{-*} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} P\phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} + \operatorname{Im}(z) [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0}\psi(z) \right] [Y(z)]^{-1} \\ &= [Y(z)]^{-*} \left[ \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} + \operatorname{Im}(z) [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0}\psi(z) \right] [Y(z)]^{-1} . \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.29)$$

Thus, from Definition 4.2(iii) and  $\operatorname{Im}(z)[\psi(z)]^* s_0 \psi(z) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$ , we see that the matrix on the right-hand side of (8.29) is non-negative Hermitian. Consequently, (8.29) yields  $\operatorname{Im} F(z) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$ . Taking into account that F is meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and holomorphic in  $\Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ , that  $\mathcal{D}$  is a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$ , and that  $\operatorname{Im} F(z) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  is fulfilled for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ , then, in view of Lemma 3.2, we see that F belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ . In particular, F is holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$ . Since the matrix  $s_0$  is

Hermitian, we have  $s_0^* s_0^+ s_0 = s_0 s_0^+ s_0 = s_0$ . From (8.23) we then conclude

$$[Y(z)]^{-*} [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0}\psi(z) [Y(z)]^{-1} = [Y(z)]^{-*} [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0}^{*} s_{0}^{+} s_{0}\psi(z) [Y(z)]^{-1}$$
  

$$= [Y(z)]^{-*} [-s_{0}\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0}^{+} [-s_{0}\psi(z)] [Y(z)]^{-1}$$
  

$$= [Y(z)]^{-*} [X(z)]^{*} s_{0}^{+} X(z) [Y(z)]^{-1} = \left(X(z) [Y(z)]^{-1}\right)^{*} s_{0}^{+} X(z) [Y(z)]^{-1}$$
  

$$= [F(z)]^{*} s_{0}^{+} F(z).$$
(8.30)

By virtue of (8.29) and (8.30), we get

$$\frac{F(z) - [F(z)]^{*}}{z - \overline{z}} - [F(z)]^{*} s_{0}^{+} F(z) = \frac{1}{\operatorname{Im}(z)} \operatorname{Im} F(z) - [F(z)]^{*} s_{0}^{+} F(z)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\operatorname{Im}(z)} [Y(z)]^{-*} \left[ \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} + \operatorname{Im}(z) [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0} \psi(z) \right] [Y(z)]^{-1}$$

$$- [Y(z)]^{-*} [\psi(z)]^{*} s_{0} \psi(z) [Y(z)]^{-1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2 \operatorname{Im}(z)} [Y(z)]^{-*} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix}^{*} (-\widetilde{J}_{q}) \begin{pmatrix} \phi(z) \\ \psi(z) \end{pmatrix} [Y(z)]^{-1}.$$
(8.31)

Because of  $\text{Im}(z) \in (0, \infty)$  and Definition 4.2(iii), we see that the matrix on the right-hand side of (8.31) is non-negative Hermitian. Consequently, (8.31) implies

$$\frac{F(z) - [F(z)]^*}{z - \overline{z}} - [F(z)]^* s_0^+ F(z) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}.$$
(8.32)

In view of (8.23) we have

$$\mathcal{R}(F(z)) = \mathcal{R}(X(z)[Y(z)]^{-1}) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(X(z)) = \mathcal{R}(-s_0\psi(z)) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(s_0).$$
(8.33)

Because of the assumption  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$ , (8.33), and (8.32), the application of Lemma A.3 shows that the block matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} s_0 & F(z) \\ [F(z)]^* & \frac{F(z) - [F(z)]^*}{z - \overline{z}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.34)

is non-negative Hermitian. Due to  $F \in \mathcal{R}_q(\Pi_+)$ , the matrix-valued function F is holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$ . Thus, using continuity arguments, we see that the block matrix given in (8.34) is non-negative Hermitian for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Thus, [6, Lem. 8.9] shows that F belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  and that the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure  $\sigma_F$  of F fulfils

 $\int_{\mathbb{R}} x^0 \sigma_F(dx) = \sigma_F(\mathbb{R}) \le s_0. \text{ Therefore, } F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^0, \le] \text{ is proved as well.}$ 

After having handled the case of a sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^0$  from  $\mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq} = \mathcal{H}_{q,2.0}^{\geq,e}$  we turn our attention to the case of a sequence from  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with arbitrary  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

**Proposition 8.9** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), let  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let

$$\mathfrak{V}_{n}^{(s)} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)} \ \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)} \\ \mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)} \ \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.35)

be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$ . Let  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}]$ . Then there exists a discrete subset  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $\Pi_+$  such that the conditions (i)–(iii) in Definition 4.2 hold true and that

$$\det\left[\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}(z)\psi(z)\right] \neq 0$$

is fulfilled for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus D$ . Furthermore, the matrix-valued function

$$(\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi)^{-1}$$

belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ .

**Proof** Our proof works inductively. First we consider the case n = 0. Since  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ , from Remarks 2.3 and 5.1 we get  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$ . In view of  $s_0^{(0)} = s_0$ , we see that the pair  $[\phi; \psi]$  belongs to  $\mathcal{P}[s_0]$  and, in view of (7.3), that  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j))}_{j=0} = V_{s_0^{(0)}} = V_{s_0}$ . Consequently, taking into account (8.35), the matrix-valued functions *X* and *Y* defined by (8.20) fulfil

$$X = \mathfrak{v}_{11;0}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{12;0}^{(s)}\psi \qquad \text{and} \qquad Y = \mathfrak{v}_{21;0}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{22;0}^{(s)}\psi.$$

Regarding Notation 4.7 and Definition 4.2, there exists a discrete subset  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $\Pi_+$  such that the conditions (i)–(iii) in Definition 4.2 are fulfilled for  $[\phi; \psi]$ . Applying Proposition 8.8, the proof is complete in the case n = 0.

We may now assume that there is an  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that Proposition 8.9 is proved for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$ . We study the case n = m. Let  $t_j := s_j^{(1)}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2m-2}$ . Using the assumption  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2m} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2m}^{\geq,e}$  and Proposition 6.3, we obtain  $(t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2(m-1)}^{\geq,e}$ . In particular, also we have  $t_0^{(m-1)} = s_0^{(m)} = s_0^{(n)}$ . Thus,  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[t_0^{(m-1)}]$ . Since we have assumed that Proposition 8.9 is true for n = m - 1, we obtain that there exists a discrete subset D of  $\Pi_+$  such that the conditions (i)–(iii) in Definition 4.2 as well as

$$\det\left[\mathfrak{v}_{21;m-1}^{(t)}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22;m-1}^{(t)}(z)\psi(z)\right] \neq 0$$
(8.36)

for all  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  are valid and that

$$G \coloneqq (\mathfrak{v}_{11;m-1}^{(t)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{12;m-1}^{(t)}\psi)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;m-1}^{(t)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{22;m-1}^{(t)}\psi)^{-1}$$
(8.37)

is a well-defined matrix-valued function such that

$$G \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)}, \le].$$
(8.38)

In particular, we get  $G \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  and the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure  $\sigma_G$  of G fulfils

$$0_{q \times q} \le \sigma_G(\mathbb{R}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} x^0 \sigma_G(\mathrm{d}x) \le t_0 \tag{8.39}$$

and, by virtue of Remark A.1, consequently,  $\mathcal{N}(t_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(\sigma_G(\mathbb{R}))$ . Because of Proposition 3.7, we have  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+) \subseteq \mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+)$ . Thus, *G* belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+)$ . Lemma 3.8 yields  $G \in \mathcal{R}_q^{[-1]}(\Pi_+)$  and  $\mathcal{N}(\mu_G(\mathbb{R})) = \mathcal{N}(\sigma_G(\mathbb{R}))$ , where  $\mu_G$  is given via Remark 3.6. Consequently, additionally using (6.2) and  $\mathcal{N}(t_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(\sigma_G(\mathbb{R}))$ , we conclude

$$\mathcal{N}(s_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(-s_0 s_2^{\sharp} s_0) = \mathcal{N}(s_0^{(1)}) = \mathcal{N}(t_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(\sigma_G(\mathbb{R})) = \mathcal{N}(\mu_G(\mathbb{R})).$$
(8.40)

Thus, in view of (3.6), we proved that G belongs to  $\mathcal{P}_q^{\text{odd}}[s_0]$ . In view of the assumption  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2m} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2m}^{\geq,e}$  and Remark 5.2, we know that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^1 \in \mathcal{H}_{q,1}^{\geq,e}$  is valid. We consider an arbitrary  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$ . Using [15, Lem. 8.12], then we obtain  $G(z) \in \mathcal{Q}_{[s_0^+, zI_q - s_0^+ s_1]}$ , i. e.

$$\det\left[s_0^+G(z) + zI_q - s_0^+s_1\right] \neq 0, \tag{8.41}$$

and furthermore

$$G^{(-;s_0,s_1)}(z) = \mathcal{S}^{(q,q)}_{V_{s_0,s_1}(z)}(G(z)).$$
(8.42)

In particular, Remark C.1 yields

$$\operatorname{rank}(s_0^+, zI_q - s_0^+ s_1) = q.$$
(8.43)

Furthermore, applying Remark C.1, from (8.36) also we get that

$$\operatorname{rank}\left(\mathfrak{v}_{21;m-1}^{(t)}(z),\mathfrak{v}_{22;m-1}^{(t)}(z)\right) = q \tag{8.44}$$

holds true. Regarding (8.36) and (8.35), from (8.37) we obtain

$$G(z) = \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathfrak{V}_{m-1}^{(t)}(z)}^{(q,q)} \left( [\phi(z), \psi(z)] \right).$$
(8.45)

From Remark 6.2 and (7.3) (see also [15, Rem. 11.16]) we know that  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2m})} = V_{s_0,s_1}\mathfrak{V}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}$ . Consequently

$$\mathfrak{V}_m^{(s)}(z) = V_{s_0, s_1}(z)\mathfrak{V}_{m-1}^{(t)}(z).$$
(8.46)

In view of (8.35), (7.1), (8.46), (8.44), (8.43), (8.36), (8.45), (8.41), and Proposition C.3, we conclude det $[\mathfrak{v}_{21:m}^{(s)}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22:m}^{(s)}(z)\psi(z)] \neq 0$  and, moreover,

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathfrak{V}_{m}^{(s)}(z)}^{(q,q)}\left(\left[\phi(z),\psi(z)\right]\right) = \mathcal{S}_{V_{s_{0},s_{1}}(z)}^{(q,q)}\left(G(z)\right).$$
(8.47)

Since  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2m} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2m}^{\geq,e}$  is assumed, from Proposition 8.4 we see that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2m}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{D}_{q \times q,2m}$  as well. Furthermore, Remark 2.3 yields  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2m} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2m}^{\geq}$ . Because of (8.38) and Proposition 8.5, then we get  $G^{(-;s_0,s_1)} \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+;(s_j)_{j=0}^{2m},\leq]$ . Since from (8.42), (8.47), (8.35), and Notation C.2 we obtain that

$$G^{(-;s_0,s_1)}(z) = S^{(q,q)}_{V_{s_0,s_1}(z)}(G(z)) = \widetilde{S}^{(q,q)}_{\mathfrak{V}^{(s)}_m(z)}([\phi(z),\psi(z)])$$
  
=  $\left[\mathfrak{v}^{(s)}_{11;m}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}^{(s)}_{12;m}(z)\psi(z)\right] \left[\mathfrak{v}^{(s)}_{21;m}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}^{(s)}_{22;m}(z)\psi(z)\right]^{-1}$ 

and since  $z \in \Pi_+ \setminus \mathcal{D}$  is arbitrary and  $\mathcal{D}$  is a discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$ , we can conclude that  $F := (\mathfrak{v}_{11;m}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{12;m}^{(s)}\psi)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi)^{-1}$  coincides with  $G^{(-;s_0,s_1)}$ . In particular,  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2m}, \leq]$ . Thus, Proposition 8.9 is proved inductively.

**Proposition 8.10** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ , let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), and let (7.5) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$ . Furthermore, let  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ . Then

there exists a pair  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}]$  such that the following five conditions are fulfilled:

- (i)  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  both are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$ .
- (ii)  $\operatorname{rank}\begin{pmatrix}\phi(z)\\\psi(z)\end{pmatrix} = q \text{ for all } z \in \Pi_+.$ (iii)  $\begin{pmatrix}\phi(z)\\\psi(z)\end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q)\begin{pmatrix}\phi(z)\\\psi(z)\end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq} \text{ for all } z \in \Pi_+.$
- (iv) The inequality

$$\det\left[\mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\psi(z)\right] \neq 0$$
(8.48)

holds true for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ .

(v) The matrix-valued function F admits, for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , the representation

$$F(z) = \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{12}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\psi(z) \right] \\ \times \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\psi(z) \right]^{-1}.$$
(8.49)

**Proof** Our proof works inductively. From the assumption  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  and Remarks 2.3 and 5.1, we get  $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$ . In view of  $s_0^{(0)} = s_0$ , (7.3), and Notation 7.1, then Proposition 8.7 immediately proves the assertion in the case n = 0. Thus, we may suppose that there is an  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that Proposition 8.10 is proved for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m-1}$ .

We consider now the case n = m. Let  $t_j := s_j^{(1)}$  for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,2m-2}$ . According to Remark 6.2 and (7.3) (see also [15, Rem. 11.16]), we obtain

$$\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2m})} = V_{s_0, s_1} \mathfrak{V}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}.$$
(8.50)

Using Proposition 6.3, we obtain  $(t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2(m-1)}^{\geq,e}$ . Remark 2.3 yields  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2m} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2m}^{\geq}$ . Because of the assumption  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2m}, \leq]$ , from Proposition 8.2 we then see that the function  $G := F^{(+;s_0,s_1)}$  fulfils (8.38). Since we have assumed that Proposition 8.10 already has been proved for n = m - 1, then we see that there exists a pair  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[t_0^{(m-1)}]$  such that (i)–(iii) as well as

$$\det\left[\mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}(z)\psi(z)\right] \neq 0$$
(8.51)

and 
$$G(z) = [\mathfrak{v}_{11}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{12}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}(z)\psi(z)][\mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}(z)\psi(z)]^{-1}$$
, i. e.,

$$G(z) = \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathfrak{Y}^{((t_j))}_{j=0}^{2(m-1)}(z)}^{(q,q)} \left( \left[ \phi(z), \psi(z) \right] \right),$$
(8.52)

hold true for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ . We now consider an arbitrary  $z \in \Pi_+$ . By virtue of Remark 6.2, we have  $t_0^{(m-1)} = s_0^{(m)}$  which implies  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(m)}]$ . Because of (8.51) and Remark C.1, the equation

$$\operatorname{rank}\left(\mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}(z), \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((t_j)_{j=0}^{2(m-1)})}(z)\right) = q \tag{8.53}$$

is valid. From (8.38), in particular, we get  $G \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}(\Pi_+)$  which together with Proposition 3.7 yields  $G \in \mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+)$ . Moreover, (8.38) also provides that the  $\mathbb{R}$ -Stieltjes measure  $\sigma_G$  of G fulfils (8.39) and, in view of Remark A.1, consequently,  $\mathcal{N}(t_0) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(\sigma_G(\mathbb{R}))$ . Lemma 3.8 yields  $G \in \mathcal{R}_q^{[-1]}(\Pi_+)$  and  $\mathcal{N}(\mu_G(\mathbb{R})) =$  $\mathcal{N}(\sigma_G(\mathbb{R}))$ . In view of (6.2), then it follows (8.40). Consequently, since G belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{-1,q}(\Pi_+)$ , we see from (3.6) that G belongs to  $\mathcal{P}_q^{\text{odd}}[s_0]$  as well. Since  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2m}$ belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2m}^{\geq,e}$ , Remark 5.2 provides  $(s_j)_{j=0}^1 \in \mathcal{H}_{q,1}^{\geq,e}$ . Using [15, Lem. 8.12], then we get (8.41) and (8.42). By virtue of (8.41) and Remark C.1, in particular we conclude (8.43). Regarding (7.5), (7.1), (8.50), (8.53), (8.43), (8.51), (8.52), and (8.41), the application of Proposition C.3 yields (8.48) for n = m and

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2m})}(z)}^{(q,q)}\left(\left[\phi(z),\psi(z)\right]\right) = \mathcal{S}_{V_{s_0,s_1(z)}}^{(q,q)}\left(G(z)\right).$$
(8.54)

Because of the assumption  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2m}, \leq]$  and  $m \geq 1$ , we have  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^1, =]$ . Thus, from  $(s_j)_{j=0}^1 \in \mathcal{H}_{q,1}^{\geq, e}$  and [15, Cor. 8.18(b)] we get  $G^{(-;s_0,s_1)} = F$ . Consequently, from (8.41), (8.42), and (8.54), it follows

$$F(z) = G^{(-;s_0,s_1)}(z) = \mathcal{S}_{V_{s_0,s_1(z)}}^{(q,q)}(G(z)) = \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)}_{j=0})(z)}^{(q,q)}([\phi(z),\psi(z)])$$

and, in view of Notation C.2 and (7.5), then (8.49) for n = m. Proposition 8.10, thus, is proved inductively.

Now we state the main result of this section. It is an immediate consequence of combining the Propositions 8.9 and 8.10 and gives a first parametrization of the solution set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  of Problem  $\mathsf{R}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , where, however, the parameters depend on the given data. Nevertheless, the following result can be considered as an important intermediate step on the way to the final result.

**Theorem 8.11** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), let  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let (8.35) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$ . Then:

(a) For each pair  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}]$ , the function  $\det(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi)$  does not vanish identically and the matrix-valued function

$$(\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi)^{-1}$$
(8.55)

*belongs to*  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ .

- (c) For each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , there exists a pair  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}]$  such that both  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$ , that (8.48) holds true for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , and that F admits the representation (8.49) for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ .
- (c) Let  $[\phi_1; \psi_1], [\phi_2; \psi_2] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}]$ . Then the following statements are equivalent:
  - (i)  $(\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi_1 + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi_1)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi_1 + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi_1)^{-1}$ =  $(\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi_2 + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi_2)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi_2 + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi_2)^{-1}.$ (ii)  $\langle [\phi_1;\psi_1] \rangle = \langle [\phi_2;\psi_2] \rangle.$

#### Proof

- (a) Part (a) immediately follows from Proposition 8.9.
- (b) Apply Proposition 8.10.
- (c) For each  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , let

$$X_j \coloneqq (I_q, 0_{q \times q}) \mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_j \\ \psi_j \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } Y_j \coloneqq (0_{q \times q}, I_q) \mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_j \\ \psi_j \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.56)

Obviously, for each  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , the matrix-valued functions  $\phi_j$ ,  $\psi_j$ ,  $X_j$ , and  $Y_j$  are meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$ . In view of (8.35), part (a) then yields that the functions det  $Y_1$  and det  $Y_2$  do not vanish identically and that  $F_1 := X_1 Y_1^{-1}$  as well as  $F_2 := X_2 Y_2^{-1}$  and  $g := Y_2^{-1} Y_1$  are well-defined matrix-valued functions meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$ . Moreover, det g does not vanish identically. For each  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , from (8.56) we get

$$\mathfrak{V}_{n}^{(s)}\begin{pmatrix}\phi_{j}\\\psi_{j}\end{pmatrix}Y_{j}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix}X_{j}\\Y_{j}\end{pmatrix}Y_{j}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix}X_{j}Y_{j}^{-1}\\Y_{j}Y_{j}^{-1}\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}F_{j}\\I_{q}\end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.57)

Taking into account the  $q \times q$  block representation (8.35) of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$ , from (8.57) we see that

$$(\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi_j + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi_j)Y_j^{-1} = F_j$$
 and  $(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi_j + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi_j)Y_j^{-1} = I_q$ 

and, consequently,

$$(\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi_j + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi_j)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi_j + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi_j)^{-1} = (\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi_j + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi_j)Y_j^{-1} \left[ (\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi_j + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi_j)Y_j^{-1} \right]^{-1} = F_j I_q^{-1} = F_j (8.58)$$

for each  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ . Let  $(\mathfrak{h}_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  be the sequence of  $\mathcal{H}$ -parameters of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$ . Further, for each  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,n+1}$ , let  $P_{n,l}$  be given by (7.8). Then Lemma 7.8 yields (7.26) for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , where  $\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  is given by (7.6). From the assumptions that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  and that  $[\phi_1; \psi_1]$  and  $[\phi_2; \psi_2]$  belong to  $\mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}]$  and Theorem 6.10 we get  $[\phi_1; \psi_1]$ ,  $[\phi_2; \psi_2] \in \mathcal{P}[\mathfrak{h}_{2n}]$ . Thus, regarding Notation 4.7 and Definition 4.2 we see that  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  are matrix-valued functions which are meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and which fulfil

$$P_{n,n}\phi_1 = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2n})}\phi_1 = \phi_1 \quad \text{and} \quad P_{n,n}\phi_2 = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2n})}\phi_2 = \phi_2.$$
(8.59)

(i) $\Rightarrow$ (ii) Let  $\mathfrak{W}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{W}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$  and let  $Q: \Pi_+ \rightarrow \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  be defined by

$$Q(z) := \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} z^k (P_{n,n-k} - P_{n,n-k+1}).$$
(8.60)

From (7.26), then

$$\mathfrak{W}_{n}^{(s)}\mathfrak{V}_{n}^{(s)} = \operatorname{diag}(P_{n,n}, Q)$$
(8.61)

follows. Because of (i) and (8.58), we conclude  $F_1 = F_2$ . Thus, additionally using (8.57), we obtain

$$\mathfrak{W}_{n}^{(s)}\mathfrak{V}_{n}^{(s)}\begin{pmatrix}\phi_{1}\\\psi_{1}\end{pmatrix}Y_{1}^{-1}=\mathfrak{W}_{n}^{(s)}\begin{pmatrix}F_{1}\\I_{q}\end{pmatrix}=\mathfrak{W}_{n}^{(s)}\begin{pmatrix}F_{2}\\I_{q}\end{pmatrix}=\mathfrak{W}_{n}^{(s)}\mathfrak{V}_{n}^{(s)}\begin{pmatrix}\phi_{2}\\\psi_{2}\end{pmatrix}Y_{2}^{-1}$$

and, hence,

$$\mathfrak{W}_{n}^{(s)}\mathfrak{V}_{n}^{(s)}\begin{pmatrix}\phi_{1}\\\psi_{1}\end{pmatrix} = \mathfrak{W}_{n}^{(s)}\mathfrak{V}_{n}^{(s)}\begin{pmatrix}\phi_{2}\\\psi_{2}\end{pmatrix}g.$$
(8.62)

By virtue of (8.61) and (8.62), then

$$\begin{pmatrix} P_{n,n}\phi_1\\ Q\psi_1 \end{pmatrix} = \operatorname{diag}(P_{n,n}, Q) \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1\\ \psi_1 \end{pmatrix} = \mathfrak{W}_n^{(s)}\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1\\ \psi_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \mathfrak{W}_n^{(s)}\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_2\\ \psi_2 \end{pmatrix} g = \operatorname{diag}(P_{n,n}, Q) \begin{pmatrix} \phi_2\\ \psi_2 \end{pmatrix} g = \begin{pmatrix} P_{n,n}\phi_2g\\ Q\psi_2g \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.63)

follows. Using (8.59), from (8.63) we conclude

$$\phi_1 = P_{n,n}\phi_1 = P_{n,n}\phi_2 g = \phi_2 g$$
 and  $Q\psi_1 = Q\psi_2 g.$  (8.64)

Let  $\mathcal{V}_0 := \{0_{q \times 1}\}, \mathcal{V}_{n+2} := \mathbb{C}^q$ , and, for all  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,n+1}$ , furthermore  $\mathcal{V}_l := \mathcal{R}(\mathfrak{h}_{2(n+1-l)})$ . By the assumption  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  and by Proposition 5.7, then we infer

$$\{0_{q\times 1}\} = \mathcal{V}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{V}_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq \mathcal{V}_n \subseteq \mathcal{V}_{n+1} \subseteq \mathcal{V}_{n+2} = \mathbb{C}^q.$$
(8.65)

In view of (7.8), we have  $P_{n,l} = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{V}_{n+1-l}}$  for all  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{-1,n+1}$  and, because of (8.60), consequently,

$$Q(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} z^k (\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{V}_{k+1}} - \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{V}_k})$$
(8.66)

for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Obviously,  $z^k \neq 0$  for every choice of  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Thus, taking into account (8.65) and (8.66), from Lemma A.10 we get det  $Q(z) \neq 0$  for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Hence, by virtue of (8.64), we get  $\psi_1 = \psi_2 g$ . Taking additionally into account the first identity in (8.64) and the fact that det g does not vanish identically, from Remark 4.4 we can conclude that (ii) holds true.

(i)  $\Rightarrow$ (ii) Since (ii) is assumed, Remark 4.4 shows that there is a matrix-valued function g meromorphic in  $\Pi_+$  such that det g does not vanish identically and that  $\begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \psi_1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_2 \\ \psi_2 \end{pmatrix} g$  is fulfilled. Thus, in view of (8.56), we obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} X_1 \\ Y_1 \end{pmatrix} = \mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_1 \\ \psi_1 \end{pmatrix} = \mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)} \begin{pmatrix} \phi_2 \\ \psi_2 \end{pmatrix} g = \begin{pmatrix} X_2 \\ Y_2 \end{pmatrix} g = \begin{pmatrix} X_{2g} \\ Y_{2g} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Consequently, since the functions det  $Y_1$  and det  $Y_2$  do not vanish identically, then

$$F_2 = X_2 Y_2^{-1} = X_2 g g^{-1} Y_2^{-1} = X_2 g (Y_2 g)^{-1} = X_1 Y_1^{-1} = F_1$$

follows which, in view of (8.58), implies (i).

**Corollary 8.12** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), let  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let (8.35) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$ . Then  $T: \langle \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}] \rangle \to \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  given by

$$T(\langle [\phi; \psi] \rangle) := (\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)} \phi + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)} \psi) (\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)} \phi + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)} \psi)^{-1}$$
(8.67)

is a well-defined bijective mapping.

**Proof** In view of parts (a) and (c) of Theorem 8.11, the mapping T is well defined. Theorem 8.11(b) shows that T is surjective and Theorem 8.11(c) yields the injectivity of T.

## 9 Parametrization of the Class $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{i=0}^{2n}, \leq]$

From Theorem 2.2 we know that the solution set  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^{q}[\mathbb{R}; (s_{j})_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  of the Hamburger moment problem  $MP[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  is non-empty if and only if the sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to the class  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ . Theorem 2.4 shows that we can restrict our consideration to the case that the given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  of complex  $q \times q$  matrices belongs to the subclass  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  of  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq}$ (see also Remark 2.3). Remark 3.4 shows that Problem  $MP[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ equivalently can be reformulated into Problem  $\mathsf{R}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  with solution set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ . In the non-degenerate case, where the given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}^{>}_{q,2n}$ , I. V. Kovalishina [27, Thm.  $\mathscr{H}$ ] obtained a parametrization of the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ . In the general case, where the given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ , V. A. Bolotnikov [2, Thm. 4.6] presents a parametrization of  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{i=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , though, the argumentation there contains a certain misstatement (see [3]). Both Kovalishina and Bolotnikov utilize the method of fundamental matrix inequalities due to V. P. Potapov. Using an approach via a Schur type algorithm, Chen and Hu [4, Thm. 3.4] achieved a parametrization of the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  for a given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ . Nevertheless, they solely give a reference for a respective proof which includes a parametrization of the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, =]$ . The authors of this text, nevertheless, consider a thorough explanation of the use of [4, Cor. 3.3] as necessary. (The respective detailed analysis is performed within the former sections of this text.) Moreover, it should be pointed out that the approach chosen by this time, contrasting the results in [2, 4], guarantees a representation of the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  which provides, for each matrix-valued function belonging to the solution set, a representation holding for each  $z \in \Pi_+$ .

Now we are going to prove a parametrization of the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  with parameters which are independent of the given data. As sets of independent data we work with the set of Nevanlinna pairs in  $\Pi_+$  as well as (in an alternative setting) with the set of all matricial Schur functions in  $\Pi_+$ .

In our following discussion, we distinguish three cases all in which  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$  denotes the *n*th Schur transform of the given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{a,2n}^{\geq,e}$ :

- (I) rank  $s_0^{(n)} = q$ .
- (II)  $1 \le \operatorname{rank} s_0^{(n)} \le q 1.$
- (III) rank  $s_0^{(n)} = 0$ .

Observe that from Proposition 6.11 we know that case (I) exactly is the case that the given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{>}$  and that case (III) holds true if and only if  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{>,cn}$ . Now we first turn our attention to the case (I).

**Theorem 9.1** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^>$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), let  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let (8.35) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$ . Then:

- (a) For each pair  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ , the function  $\det(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi)$  does not vanish identically and the matrix-valued function given in (8.55) belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ .
- (b) For each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , there exists a pair  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ such that  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  both are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$ , that (8.48) holds true for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , and that F admits the representation (8.49) for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ .
- (c) Let  $[\phi_1; \psi_1], [\phi_2; \psi_2] \in \mathcal{PR}_q(\Pi_+)$ . Then

$$(\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi_1 + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi_1)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi_1 + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi_1)^{-1} = (\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)}\phi_2 + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}\psi_2)(\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}\phi_2 + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}\psi_2)^{-1}$$

*if and only if*  $\langle [\phi_1; \psi_1] \rangle = \langle [\phi_2; \psi_2] \rangle$ .

**Proof** Because of the assumption that  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^>$ , Remark 2.3 yields  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ , and from Proposition 6.11(a) we get rank  $s_0^{(n)} = q$ , where  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$  is the *n*th Schur transform of  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$ . Consequently, the combination of Theorem 8.11 and Remark 4.9 yields the assertion.

Now we give a parametrization of the set  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  by aid of matricial Schur functions.

**Corollary 9.2** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^>$ . Let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), let

$$C_q \coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} -\mathrm{i}I_q & \mathrm{i}I_q \\ I_q & I_q \end{pmatrix},\tag{9.1}$$

let  $\mathfrak{U}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} := \mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}C_q$ , let  $\mathfrak{U}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{U}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let

$$\mathfrak{U}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{u}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} \mathfrak{u}_{12}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} \\ \mathfrak{u}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} \mathfrak{u}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} \end{pmatrix} \quad and \quad \mathfrak{U}_n^{(s)} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathfrak{u}_{11;n}^{(s)} \mathfrak{u}_{12;n}^{(s)} \\ \mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)} \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(9.2)

be the  $q \times q$  block representations of  $\mathfrak{U}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  and  $\mathfrak{U}_n^{(s)}$ , resp. Then:

(a) For each  $S \in S_{q \times q}(\Pi_+)$ , the function  $\det(\mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)}S + \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)})$  does not vanish identically and the matrix-valued function

$$(\mathfrak{u}_{11;n}^{(s)}S + \mathfrak{u}_{12;n}^{(s)})(\mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)}S + \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)})^{-1}$$

*belongs to*  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ .

(b) For each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , there exists a unique  $S \in \mathcal{S}_{q \times q}(\Pi_+)$  such that the function  $\det(\mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)}S + \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)})$  does not vanish identically and that F admits the representation

$$F = (\mathfrak{u}_{11;n}^{(s)}S + \mathfrak{u}_{12;n}^{(s)})(\mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)}S + \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)})^{-1}.$$

Moreover,

$$\det\left[\mathfrak{u}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)S(z) + \mathfrak{u}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\right] \neq 0$$

and

$$F(z) = \left[\mathfrak{u}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)S(z) + \mathfrak{u}_{12}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\right] \left[\mathfrak{u}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)S(z) + \mathfrak{u}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\right]^{-1}$$

are fulfilled for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ .

#### Proof Combine Theorem 9.1 with Lemma 4.6.

Now (mainly) we turn our attention to the case (II), i. e., that  $1 \le \operatorname{rank} s_0^{(n)} \le q-1$ , where  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$  is the *n*th Schur transform of the given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\ge,e}$ . The first result concerning this situation additionally includes the case r = q. Once more, we start with a parametrization using Nevanlinna pairs as parameters.

**Theorem 9.3** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), let  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let (8.35) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$ . Suppose that  $r := \operatorname{rank} s_0^{(n)}$  fulfils  $r \geq 1$ . Let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathcal{R}(s_0^{(n)})$  and let  $U := (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r)$ . Then, for each  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ , the function  $\det[\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)} U \tilde{\phi} U^* + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)} (U \tilde{\psi} U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)})})]$  does not vanish identically and the mapping  $\Sigma : \langle \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+) \rangle \to \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  defined by

$$\Sigma\left(\langle [\widetilde{\phi}; \widetilde{\psi}] \rangle\right) \coloneqq \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)} U \widetilde{\phi} U^* + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)} (U \widetilde{\psi} U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)})}) \right] \\ \times \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)} U \widetilde{\phi} U^* + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)} (U \widetilde{\psi} U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)})}) \right]^{-1}$$
(9.3)

is well defined and bijective.

**Proof** Because of the assumption  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ , from Proposition 6.3 we get  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0 \in \mathcal{H}_{q,0}^{\geq,e}$ . By virtue of Remarks 2.3 and 5.1, then  $(s_0^{(n)})^* = s_0^{(n)}$  follows. Consequently, Remark A.12 shows that

$$\left[\mathcal{R}(s_0^{(n)})\right]^{\perp} = \mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)}).$$
(9.4)

Thus, Proposition 4.12(b) shows that  $\Gamma_U : \langle \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+) \rangle \to \langle \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}] \rangle$  given by

$$\Gamma_U\left(\langle [\widetilde{\phi}; \widetilde{\psi}] \rangle\right) \coloneqq \langle [U\widetilde{\phi}U^*; U\widetilde{\psi}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)})}]\rangle \tag{9.5}$$

is a well-defined bijective mapping. From Lemma 4.10, (9.4), and Theorem 8.11(a) we see that, for each  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ , the function  $\det[\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}U\tilde{\phi}U^* + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}(U\tilde{\psi}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(\mathfrak{s}_0^{(n)})})]$  does not vanish identically. According to Corollary 8.12, the mapping  $T: \langle \mathcal{P}[\mathfrak{s}_0^{(n)}] \rangle \to \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (\mathfrak{s}_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  defined by (8.67) also is well defined and bijective. Consequently, the composition  $T \circ \Gamma_U$  of the mappings  $\Gamma_U$  and T is well defined and bijective as well. Taking into account (9.5), (8.67), and (9.3), easily we see that  $\Sigma = T \circ \Gamma_U$  holds true.

Now we are going to emphasize several aspects of Theorem 9.3. Guided by Theorem 9.1, first we turn our attention to the analogue of Theorem 9.1(a) in the case (II), i. e., the case  $1 \le \operatorname{rank} s_0^{(n)} \le q - 1$ .

**Corollary 9.4** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), let  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let (8.35) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$ . Suppose that  $r \coloneqq \operatorname{rank} s_0^{(n)}$  fulfils  $1 \le r \le q-1$ . Let  $d \coloneqq q-r$ , let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_q$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  such that  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r$  is a basis of  $\mathcal{R}(s_0^{(n)})$ , and let  $W \coloneqq (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_q)$ . Then, for each  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ , the function  $\det[\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\tilde{\phi}, 0_{d\times d}) + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\tilde{\psi}, I_d)]$  does not vanish identically and  $\Sigma \colon \langle \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+) \rangle \to \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \le]$  given by (9.3) admits, for each  $\langle [\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \rangle \in \langle \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+) \rangle$ , the representation  $\Sigma(\langle [\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \rangle) = F$ , where

$$F := \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d}) + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d) \right] \\ \times \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d}) + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d) \right]^{-1}$$

In particular, for each  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ , the matrix-valued function F belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ .

**Proof** Similar to the proof of Theorem 9.3 we see that (9.4) holds true. Let  $U := (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r)$ . We consider an arbitrary pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ . From Remark A.15 and (9.4) we can conclude that  $U\tilde{\phi}U^* = W \cdot \text{diag}(\tilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d}) \cdot W^*$  and

$$U\widetilde{\psi}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)})} = U\widetilde{\psi}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(s_0^{(n)})]^{\perp}} = W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d) \cdot W^*$$

hold true. Consequently, for each  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ , we have

$$\mathfrak{v}_{j1;n}^{(s)} U\widetilde{\phi} U^* + \mathfrak{v}_{j2;n}^{(s)} (U\widetilde{\psi} U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)})}) = \mathfrak{v}_{j1;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d}) \cdot W^* + \mathfrak{v}_{j2;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d) \cdot W^*$$
(9.6)
$$= \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{j1;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d}) + \mathfrak{v}_{j2;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d) \right] W^*.$$

Since  $W^*W = I_q$  holds true, from Theorem 9.3, (9.6), and (9.3) we see that the function  $\det[\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)}W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d}) + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d)]$  does not vanish identically and that

$$\Sigma\left(\langle [\widetilde{\phi}; \widetilde{\psi}] \rangle\right) = \left[\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)} U \widetilde{\phi} U^* + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)} (U \widetilde{\psi} U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)})})\right] \\ \times \left[\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)} U \widetilde{\phi} U^* + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)} (U \widetilde{\psi} U^* + \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{N}(s_0^{(n)})})\right]^{-1} \\ = \left[\mathfrak{v}_{11;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d}) + \mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d)\right] \\ \times \left[\mathfrak{v}_{21;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d}) + \mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d)\right]^{-1}$$

holds true. The proof is complete.

In the case (II), the following theorem emphasizes a certain further aspect of Theorem 9.3, namely the analogue of Theorem 9.1(b). We point out that the representation (9.8) below will be proved for each  $z \in \Pi_+$  (in contrast to an existing exceptional discrete subset of  $\Pi_+$ ).

**Theorem 9.5** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3) and let (7.5) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$ . Suppose that  $r \coloneqq \operatorname{rank} s_0^{(n)}$  fulfils  $1 \leq r \leq q-1$ . Let  $d \coloneqq q - r$ , let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_q$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  such that  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r$  is a basis of  $\mathcal{R}(s_0^{(n)})$ , and let  $W \coloneqq (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_q)$ . For each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , then there exists a pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$  such that  $\tilde{\phi}$  and  $\tilde{\psi}$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$ , that

$$\det\left[\mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\psi_{\Box}(z)\right] \neq 0$$
(9.7)

holds true for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , and that F can be represented, for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , via

$$F(z) = \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z) W \phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{12}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z) W \psi_{\Box}(z) \right] \\ \times \left[ \mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z) W \phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z) W \psi_{\Box}(z) \right]^{-1}, \qquad (9.8)$$

where  $\phi_{\Box} := \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\phi}, 0_{d \times d})$  and  $\psi_{\Box} := \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{\psi}, I_d)$ .

**Proof** We consider an arbitrary  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ . By virtue of Proposition 8.10, then there is a pair  $[\phi; \psi] \in \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}]$  such that all the conditions (i)–(v) in Proposition 8.10 are fulfilled. In particular, with  $\mathcal{D} = \emptyset$  conditions (i)–(iii) in Definition 4.2 are fulfilled,  $\mathbb{H}_{\phi} = \mathbb{H}_{\psi} = \Pi_+$ , the inequality (8.48) is valid for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , and *F* admits the representation (8.49) for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Using Lemma 4.11 (with  $\mathcal{D} = \emptyset$ ), we see that the matrix-valued function  $B := \psi - i\phi$  is holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and fulfils

$$\det B(z) \neq 0 \tag{9.9}$$

for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ . Let  $U := (u_1, u_2, ..., u_r)$ . Moreover, Lemma 4.11 then shows that there exists a pair  $[\tilde{\phi}; \tilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$  such that  $\tilde{\phi}$  and  $\tilde{\psi}$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$ and that the matrix-valued functions  $S := U\tilde{\phi}U^*$  and  $T := U\tilde{\psi}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(s_0^{(n)})]^{\perp}}$  are holomorphic in  $\Pi_+$  and admit, for all  $z \in \Pi_+$ , the representations

$$S(z) = U\phi(z)U^* \quad \text{and} \quad T(z) = U\psi(z)U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(s_0^{(n)})]^{\perp}}$$
(9.10)

as well as

$$S(z) = \phi(z) [B(z)]^{-1}$$
 and  $T(z) = \psi(z) [B(z)]^{-1}$ . (9.11)

We now consider an arbitrary  $z \in \Pi_+$ . By virtue of Remark A.15, from (9.10) we get  $S(z) = W\phi_{\Box}(z)W^*$  and  $T(z) = W\psi_{\Box}(z)W^*$ . Taking into account (9.11), then  $\phi(z)[B(z)]^{-1} = W\phi_{\Box}(z)W^*$  and  $\psi(z)[B(z)]^{-1} = W\psi_{\Box}(z)W^*$  follow. Consequently,  $\phi(z) = W\phi_{\Box}(z)W^*B(z)$  and  $\psi(z) = W\psi_{\Box}(z)W^*B(z)$ . Hence, we conclude

$$\mathfrak{v}_{j1}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{j2}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\psi(z) 
= \mathfrak{v}_{j1}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\phi_{\Box}(z)W^*B(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{j2}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\psi_{\Box}(z)W^*B(z)$$

$$= \left[\mathfrak{v}_{j1}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{j2}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\psi_{\Box}(z)\right]W^*B(z)$$
(9.12)

for each  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ . Taking into account (8.48), then from (9.12),  $W^*W = I_q$ , and (9.9) we get the inequality (9.7) and, moreover,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\psi(z) \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \\ = [B(z)]^{-1} W \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\psi_{\Box}(z) \end{bmatrix}^{-1}.$$
(9.13)

Combining (8.48), (8.49), (9.12), (9.7), (9.13), and  $W^*W = I_q$ , we conclude that

$$F(z) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{12}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\psi(z) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\times \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\phi(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)\psi(z) \end{bmatrix}^{-1}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{12}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}W\psi_{\Box}(z) \end{bmatrix} W^*B(z)$$

$$\times [B(z)]^{-1}W \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\psi_{\Box}(z) \end{bmatrix}^{-1}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{12}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\psi_{\Box}(z) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\times \begin{bmatrix} \mathfrak{v}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\phi_{\Box}(z) + \mathfrak{v}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\psi_{\Box}(z) \end{bmatrix}^{-1}.$$

Observe that the analogue of Theorem 9.1(c) in case (II) already has been discussed in Theorem 9.3, already. Now, once more we choose matricial Schur functions in  $\Pi_+$  as parameters.

**Corollary 9.6** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  with nth Schur transform  $(s_j^{(n)})_{j=0}^0$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3). Suppose that  $r \coloneqq \operatorname{rank} s_0^{(n)}$  fulfils  $1 \leq r \leq q-1$ . Let  $d \coloneqq q-r$ , let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_q$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  such that  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r$  is a basis of  $\mathcal{R}(s_0^{(n)})$ , and let  $W \coloneqq (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_q)$ . Furthermore, let  $\mathfrak{U}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})} \coloneqq \mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}C_q$ , where  $C_q$  is given by (9.1), let  $\mathfrak{U}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{U}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let (9.2) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{U}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  and  $\mathfrak{U}_n^{(s)}$ , resp. Then:

(a) For each  $\widetilde{S} \in S_{r \times r}(\Pi_+)$ , the function  $\det[\mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)}W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{S}, I_d) + \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)}W]$  does not vanish identically and the matrix-valued function

$$F \coloneqq \left[\mathfrak{u}_{11;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{S}, I_d) + \mathfrak{u}_{12;n}^{(s)} W\right] \left[\mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{S}, I_d) + \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)} W\right]^{-1}$$

belongs to  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq].$ 

(b) For each  $F \in \mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$ , there exists a unique  $\widetilde{S} \in \mathcal{S}_{r \times r}(\Pi_+)$  such that the function det $[\mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)} W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{S}, I_d) + \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)} W]$  does not vanish identically and that F can be represented via

$$F = \left[\mathfrak{u}_{11;n}^{(s)}W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{S}, I_d) + \mathfrak{u}_{12;n}^{(s)}W\right] \left[\mathfrak{u}_{21;n}^{(s)}W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\widetilde{S}, I_d) + \mathfrak{u}_{22;n}^{(s)}W\right]^{-1}.$$

,

Moreover, then

$$\det\left[\mathfrak{u}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W \cdot \operatorname{diag}\left(\widetilde{S}(z), I_d\right) + \mathfrak{u}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W\right] \neq 0$$

and

$$F(z) = \left[ \mathfrak{u}_{11}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W \cdot \operatorname{diag}\left(\widetilde{S}(z), I_d\right) + \mathfrak{u}_{12}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W \right] \\ \times \left[ \mathfrak{u}_{21}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W \cdot \operatorname{diag}\left(\widetilde{S}(z), I_d\right) + \mathfrak{u}_{22}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}(z)W \right]^{-1}$$

*hold true for all*  $z \in \Pi_+$ *.* 

**Proof** The matrices  $C_q$  and  $\mathbb{W} := \operatorname{diag}(W, W)$  are unitary and fulfil  $\mathbb{W}C_q = C_q \mathbb{W}$ . In particular,  $\mathfrak{U}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}\mathbb{W} = \mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}\mathbb{W}C_q$ . By virtue of Lemma 4.6(b), for all  $\widetilde{S} \in S_{r \times r}(\Pi_+)$ , we have

$$\sqrt{2}C_q \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{S} & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} i(I_r - \widetilde{S}) & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & 0_{d \times d} \\ I_r + \widetilde{S} & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & 2I_d \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\phi} & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & 0_{d \times d} \\ \frac{0_{d \times r} & 0_{d \times d}}{\widetilde{\psi} & 0_{r \times d}} \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_r & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & 2I_d \end{pmatrix}$$

where the pair  $[\widetilde{\phi}; \widetilde{\psi}]$  given by  $\widetilde{\phi} := i(I_q - \widetilde{S})$  and  $\widetilde{\psi} := I_q + \widetilde{S}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ . Regarding Lemma 4.6(a), for all  $[\widetilde{\phi}; \widetilde{\psi}] \in \mathcal{PR}_r(\Pi_+)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{2}C_q^* \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\phi} & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & 0_{d \times d} \\ \widetilde{\psi} & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \end{pmatrix} &= \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\psi} + \mathrm{i}\widetilde{\phi} & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{S} & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \widetilde{\psi} - \mathrm{i}\widetilde{\phi} & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$
where  $\widetilde{S} := (\widetilde{\psi} + i\widetilde{\phi})(\widetilde{\psi} - i\widetilde{\phi})^{-1}$  belongs to  $S_{r \times r}(\Pi_+)$ . Using these relations and Lemma 4.6, the assertion follows from Corollary 9.4 and Theorem 9.5. We omit the details.

Now we consider the case (III), i. e., that the given sequence  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}$  belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,cd}$ . We will see that in this case, Problem  $\mathsf{R}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  has a unique solution which can be described explicitly. Once more, observe that necessary and sufficient conditions for the case that Problem  $\mathsf{MP}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  has a unique solution are given in [10, Theorems 8.4 and 8.5]. According to Remark 3.4, this corresponds to the case that Problem  $\mathsf{R}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  obtains a unique solution. Furthermore, we note that, in view of Definition 5.3, Theorem 2.4, and [10, Def. 7.4 and Thm. 8.4], if  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$  are given, then the case (III) coincides with the situation that Problem  $\mathsf{MP}[\mathbb{R}; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq]$  has a unique solution.

**Theorem 9.7** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and let  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq, \text{cd}}$ . Further, let  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  be given by (7.3), let  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$  be the restriction of  $\mathfrak{V}^{((s_j)_{j=0}^{2n})}$  onto  $\Pi_+$ , and let (8.35) be the  $q \times q$  block representation of  $\mathfrak{V}_n^{(s)}$ . Then the function det  $\mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)}$  does not vanish identically and  $\mathcal{R}_{0,q}[\Pi_+; (s_j)_{j=0}^{2n}, \leq] = \{\mathfrak{v}_{12;n}^{(s)}(\mathfrak{v}_{22;n}^{(s)})^{-1}\}.$ 

**Proof** According to Example 4.8, the pair  $[\phi_0; \psi_0]$  given by  $\phi_0(z) := 0_{q \times q}$  and  $\psi_0(z) := I_q$  for all  $z \in \Pi_+$  belongs to  $\mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}]$ . In view of the assumption  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,cd}$ , Remark 5.4 yields  $(s_j)_{j=0}^{2n} \in \mathcal{H}_{q,2n}^{\geq,e}$ , whereas Proposition 6.11(b) provides rank  $s_0^{(n)} = 0$ . Thus, Proposition 4.12(a) yields  $\langle \mathcal{P}[s_0^{(n)}] \rangle = \{\langle [\phi_0; \psi_0] \rangle\}$ . Applying Theorem 8.11 then completes the proof.

#### Appendix A Some Particular Facts on Matrix Theory

*Remark A.1* Let  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$  and let  $B \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{H}$  be such that  $B - A \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$ . Then  $\mathcal{R}(A) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(B)$  and  $\mathcal{N}(B) \subseteq \mathcal{N}(A)$ .

For each  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ , there exists a unique matrix X such that the four equations AXA = A, XAX = X,  $(AX)^* = AX$ , and  $(XA)^* = XA$  hold true. This particular matrix X is said to be the Moore–Penrose inverse of A and one writes  $A^+$  for this matrix X. In particular, if A is a non-singular complex  $q \times q$  matrix, then  $A^+ = A^{-1}$ . It seems to be useful stating some basic results on Moore–Penrose inverses of complex matrices.

Remark A.2 If  $A \in \mathbb{C}_{\mathrm{H}}^{q \times q}$ , then  $AA^+ = A^+A$ .

Lemma A.3 (see e. g. [8, Lem. 1.1.9]) Let  $E \in \mathbb{C}^{(p+q) \times (p+q)}$  and let

$$E = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \tag{A.1}$$

be the block representation of E with  $p \times p$  block a. Then the matrix E is nonnegative Hermitian if and only if the four conditions  $a \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{p \times p}$ ,  $\mathcal{R}(b) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(a)$ ,  $c = b^*$ , and  $d - ca^+b \in \mathbb{C}_{>}^{q \times q}$  are fulfilled.

A complex  $p \times q$  matrix K is called contractive in case  $||K||_{S} \le 1$ .

*Remark A.4* Let  $K \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ . Using Lemma A.3 (see also, e. g., [8, Thm. 1.1.2]), easily one can see that the matrix K is contractive if and only if the matrix  $I_q - K^*K$  is non-negative Hermitian.

*Remark A.5* Let  $\widetilde{J}_q$  be given by (4.1). Let  $P, Q \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  be such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} P \\ Q \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \begin{pmatrix} P \\ Q \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}.$$
(A.2)

In view of

$$(Q - iP)^*(Q - iP) = {\binom{P}{Q}}^* {\binom{P}{Q}} + {\binom{P}{Q}}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) {\binom{P}{Q}} \ge {\binom{P}{Q}}^* {\binom{P}{Q}} \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\ge},$$

then  $\mathcal{N}(\begin{pmatrix} P \\ Q \end{pmatrix}) = \mathcal{N}(Q - iP)$ . In particular,  $\operatorname{rank}\begin{pmatrix} P \\ Q \end{pmatrix} = q$  if and only if  $\det(Q - iP) \neq 0$ .

*Remark A.6* Let  $P, Q \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  be such that (A.2) and rank  $\binom{P}{Q} = q$  hold true. In view of Remark A.5, then  $\det(Q - iP) \neq 0$ . Because of  $I_q - C^*C = 2(Q - iP)^{-*}\binom{P}{Q}^*(-\widetilde{J}_q)\binom{P}{Q}(Q - iP)^{-1}$  and Remark A.4, moreover, the matrix  $C := (Q + iP)(Q - iP)^{-1}$  is contractive.

*Remark A.7* Let *C* be a contractive complex  $q \times q$  matrix. Let  $P := i(I_q - C)$  and  $Q := I_q + C$ . Because of

$$\begin{split} P^*P + Q^*Q &= (I_q - C)^*(I_q - C) + (I_q + C)^*(I_q + C) = 2(I_q + C^*C) \\ &\geq 2I_q \in \mathbb{C}_{>}^{q \times q}, \end{split}$$

then rank  $\binom{P}{Q}$  = rank $(P^*P + Q^*Q)$  = q. Regarding Remark 4.1 and that C is contractive, furthermore

$$\begin{pmatrix} P \\ Q \end{pmatrix}^* (-\widetilde{J}_q) \begin{pmatrix} P \\ Q \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{i}(P^*Q - Q^*P)$$
  
=  $\mathbf{i} \left[ -\mathbf{i}(I_q - C)^*(I_q + C) - \mathbf{i}(I_q + C)^*(I_q - C) \right]$   
=  $2(I_q - C^*C) \in \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}.$ 

Clearly,  $(Q + iP)(Q - iP)^{-1} = (2C)(2I_q)^{-1} = C$ .

We will write  $\langle ., . \rangle_E$  for the (left) Euclidean inner product in  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , i. e., for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{C}^q$ , let  $\langle x, y \rangle_E := y^* x$ . If  $\mathcal{M}$  is a non-empty subset of  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , then the set  $\mathcal{M}^{\perp}$  of all  $x \in \mathbb{C}^q$  which fulfil  $\langle x, y \rangle_E = 0$  for all  $y \in \mathcal{M}$  is a subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  and is called (left) orthogonal complement of  $\mathcal{M}$ . If  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{W}$  are subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  such that  $\langle u, w \rangle_E = 0$  for every choice of u in  $\mathcal{U}$  and w in  $\mathcal{W}$ , then  $\mathcal{U} \cap \mathcal{W} = \{0_{q \times 1}\}$  and  $\mathcal{U} \oplus \mathcal{W}$  is said to be the orthogonal sum of  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{W}$ . If  $\mathcal{U}$  is a subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , then there exists exactly one matrix  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}} \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$  such that both  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}} x \in \mathcal{U}$  and  $x - \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}} x \in \mathcal{U}^{\perp}$  are fulfilled for each  $x \in \mathbb{C}^q$ . This matrix  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}}$  is called the orthoprojection matrix onto  $\mathcal{U}$ . In particular,  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}} u = u$  for all  $u \in \mathcal{U}$ . A complex  $q \times q$  matrix P is said to be an orthogonal projection matrix, if there exists a subspace  $\mathcal{U}$  of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  such that  $P = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}}$ .

**Proposition A.8** Let  $P \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$ . Then P is an orthogonal projection matrix if and only if  $P^2 = P$  and  $P^* = P$  hold true.

For a detailed proof of Proposition A.8, see, e. g., [34, Satz 2.54].

*Remark A.9* If  $\mathcal{U}$  is a subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^q$ , then  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}^{\perp}} = I_q$ .

**Lemma A.10** Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  and let  $(\mathcal{V}_j)_{j=0}^m$  be a sequence of linear subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  such that

$$\{0_{q\times 1}\} = \mathcal{V}_0 \subseteq \mathcal{V}_1 \subseteq \dots \subseteq \mathcal{V}_{m-1} \subseteq \mathcal{V}_m = \mathbb{C}^q \tag{A.3}$$

holds true. For all  $l \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m}$ , let  $P_l := \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{V}_l}$  and let  $\eta_1, \eta_2, \ldots, \eta_m \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ . Then

$$\left[\sum_{l=1}^{m} \eta_l (P_l - P_{l-1})\right] \left[\sum_{l=1}^{m} \frac{1}{\eta_l} (P_l - P_{l-1})\right] = I_q.$$

**Proof** From (A.3) and a well-known result on orthoprojection matrices (see, e. g., [34, Satz 4.31]) we get that  $P_j P_k = P_{\min\{j,k\}}$  holds true for all  $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}_{0,m}$ . Moreover, (A.3) and a further well-known result on orthoprojection matrices (see, e. g., [34, Satz 4.30(c)]) deliver the equations  $P_j - P_{j-1} = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{V}_j \ominus \mathcal{V}_{j-1}}$  for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,m}$  and the representation  $\mathbb{C}^q = \bigoplus_{j=1}^m (\mathcal{V}_j \ominus \mathcal{V}_{j-1})$  as orthogonal sum. Therefore, using the Kronecker delta  $\delta_{jk}$ , it is readily checked that  $(P_j - P_{j-1})(P_k - P_{k-1}) = \delta_{jk}(P_j - P_{j-1})$  for all  $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,m}$  and, consequently,

$$\begin{split} & \left[\sum_{l=1}^{m} \eta_{l}(P_{l} - P_{l-1})\right] \left[\sum_{l=1}^{m} \frac{1}{\eta_{l}}(P_{l} - P_{l-1})\right] \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \eta_{j} \frac{1}{\eta_{k}}(P_{j} - P_{j-1})(P_{k} - P_{k-1}) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \eta_{j} \frac{1}{\eta_{k}} \delta_{jk}(P_{j} - P_{j-1}) \\ &= \sum_{l=1}^{m} \eta_{l} \frac{1}{\eta_{l}}(P_{l} - P_{l-1}) = \sum_{l=1}^{m} (P_{l} - P_{l-1}) = P_{m} - P_{0} = I_{q} - 0_{q \times q} = I_{q}. \end{split}$$

		_	
_			

*Remark A.11* Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be a subspace of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  with dimension  $d := \dim \mathcal{U} \ge 1$ . Let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_d$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathcal{U}$  and let  $U := (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_d)$ . Then  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{U}} = UU^*$ .

*Remark A.12* For each  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ , the equations  $\mathcal{R}(A)^{\perp} = \mathcal{N}(A^*)$  as well as  $\mathcal{N}(A)^{\perp} = \mathcal{R}(A^*)$  hold true.

*Remark A.13* If  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ , then  $AA^+ = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(A)}$  and  $A^+A = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(A^*)}$ .

**Lemma A.14** Let  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ . Then:

(a) Let B ∈ C<sup>p×r</sup>. Then R(A) ⊆ R(B) if and only if BB<sup>+</sup>A = A.
(b) Let B ∈ C<sup>r×q</sup>. Then N(B) ⊆ N(A) if and only if AB<sup>+</sup>B = A.

*Remark A.15* Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$  be such that  $r := \operatorname{rank} M$  fulfils  $1 \le r \le q - 1$ . Let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_q$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{C}^q$  such that  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r$  is a basis of  $\mathcal{R}(M)$ , let  $U := (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r)$ , and let  $W := (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_q)$ . For every choice of  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{r \times r}$ , then  $UAU^* = W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(A, 0_{(q-r) \times (q-r)}) \cdot W^*$  and  $UAU^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}} = W \cdot \operatorname{diag}(A, I_{q-r}) \cdot W^*$ .

**Lemma A.16** Let  $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,q}$ , let  $U \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times r}$  be such that  $U^*U = I_r$ , and let  $\widetilde{A}, \widetilde{B} \in \mathbb{C}^{r \times r}$ . Then the matrices  $A := U\widetilde{A}U^*$  and  $B := U\widetilde{B}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}$  fulfil  $\mathcal{R}(A) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(U)$  and det  $(A^*A + B^*B) = \det(\widetilde{A}^*\widetilde{A} + \widetilde{B}^*\widetilde{B})$  as well as  $B^*A = U\widetilde{B}^*\widetilde{A}U^*$ . In particular, rank  $\binom{A}{B} = q$  if and only if rank  $\binom{\widetilde{A}}{B} = r$ .

**Proof** Clearly,  $\mathcal{R}(A) = \mathcal{R}(U\widetilde{A}U^*) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(U)$ . Moreover, we have  $A^*A = U\widetilde{A}^*U^*U\widetilde{A}U^* = U\widetilde{A}^*\widetilde{A}U^*$ . Obviously,  $\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}U = 0_{q \times r}$ . Taking additionally into account Proposition A.8, we consequently obtain

$$B^{*}B = U\widetilde{B}^{*}U^{*}U\widetilde{B}U^{*} + U\widetilde{B}^{*}U^{*}\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}$$

$$+ \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}^{*}U\widetilde{B}U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}^{*}\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}$$

$$= U\widetilde{B}^{*}\widetilde{B}U^{*} + U\widetilde{B}^{*}(\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}U)^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}U\widetilde{B}U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}$$

$$= U\widetilde{B}^{*}\widetilde{B}U^{*} + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}$$
(A.4)

as well as

$$B^*A = U\widetilde{B}^*U^*U\widetilde{A}U^* + \mathbb{P}^*_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}U\widetilde{A}U^*$$
$$= U\widetilde{B}^*\widetilde{A}U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}U\widetilde{A}U^* = U\widetilde{B}^*\widetilde{A}U^*$$

It remains to show that  $\det(A^*A + B^*B) = \det(\widetilde{A}^*\widetilde{A} + \widetilde{B}^*\widetilde{B})$  is fulfilled. In view of (A.4), we have

$$A^*A + B^*B = U(\widetilde{A}^*\widetilde{A} + \widetilde{B}^*\widetilde{B})U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}.$$
 (A.5)

If r = q, then U is unitary and, therefore,  $\mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}} = 0_{q \times q}$  and the assertion follows from (A.5). Let r < q and  $d \coloneqq q - r$ . Then there is  $V \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times d}$  such that  $W \coloneqq (U, V)$  is a unitary  $q \times q$  matrix. In particular,

$$\begin{pmatrix} U^*U \ U^*V \\ V^*U \ V^*V \end{pmatrix} = W^*W = \begin{pmatrix} I_r & 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } UU^* + VV^* = WW^* = I_q$$
(A.6)

hold true. Using  $U^*U = I_r$  and Remarks A.11 and A.9, then  $UU^* = \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(U)}$  and  $VV^* = I_q - UU^* = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(U)]^{\perp}}$  follow. Additionally using (A.5) and (A.6), we obtain

$$W^*(A^*A + B^*B)W = {\binom{U^*}{V^*}} \left[ U(\widetilde{A}^*\widetilde{A} + \widetilde{B}^*\widetilde{B})U^* + VV^* \right] (U, V)$$
$$= \left( \underbrace{\widetilde{A}^*\widetilde{A} + \widetilde{B}^*\widetilde{B}}_{0_{d \times r}} \underbrace{0_{r \times d}}_{I_d} \right).$$

**Lemma A.17** Let  $M \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$  be such that  $r \coloneqq \operatorname{rank} M$  fulfils  $r \ge 1$ . Let  $u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathcal{R}(M)$  and let  $U \coloneqq (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_r)$ . Furthermore, let P and Q be complex  $q \times q$  matrices such that  $\operatorname{rank} \begin{pmatrix} P \\ Q \end{pmatrix} = q$  as well as  $\operatorname{Im}(Q^*P) \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\ge}$  and  $\mathcal{R}(P) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(M)$  hold true. Then the matrix  $B \coloneqq Q - iP$  is non-singular and the matrices  $\phi \coloneqq U^*PB^{-1}U$  and  $\psi \coloneqq U^*QB^{-1}U$  fulfil  $\operatorname{rank} \begin{pmatrix} \phi \\ \psi \end{pmatrix} = r$  and  $\psi^*\phi = (B^{-1}U)^*(Q^*P)(B^{-1}U)$ . Furthermore, the matrices  $S \coloneqq U\phi U^*$  and  $T \coloneqq U\psi U^* + \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$  fulfil the following statements:

(a) rank  $\binom{S}{T} = q$  and det $(S^*S + T^*T) = det(\phi^*\phi + \psi^*\psi)$ . (b)  $T^*S = B^{-*}(Q^*P)B^{-1}$ . (c)  $S = PB^{-1}$  and  $T = QB^{-1}$  as well as  $\mathcal{R}(\binom{P}{Q}) = \mathcal{R}(\binom{S}{T})$ .

**Proof** The idea of the proof is taken from [2, Lem. 4.3]. We only consider the case r < q. Let d := q - r. Then there is  $V \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times d}$  such that W := (U, V) is a unitary  $q \times q$  matrix. In particular, (A.6) holds true. Using Remark 4.1, we get  $\binom{P}{Q}^*(-\tilde{J}_q)\binom{P}{Q} \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}_{\geq}$ . Set A := Q + iP, then Remark A.6 shows that det  $B \neq 0$  and that  $C := AB^{-1}$  is contractive. Since W is unitary, then the matrix  $K := W^*CW$  is contractive as well. Moreover, we have

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} U^* \\ V^* \end{pmatrix} C(U, V) = \begin{pmatrix} U^* C U \ U^* C V \\ V^* C U \ V^* C V \end{pmatrix}.$$

Obviously, B - A = -2iP and B + A = 2Q are true and, consequently,

$$\frac{i}{2}(I_q - C) = PB^{-1}$$
 and  $\frac{1}{2}(I_q + C) = QB^{-1}$  (A.7)

follow. According to Remark A.11, we have  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(M)} = UU^*$ . Thus,  $\mathcal{R}(P) \subseteq \mathcal{R}(M)$  yields  $UU^*P = P$ . Therefore, (A.7) and (A.6) imply  $V^*(I_q - C) = -2iV^*PB^{-1} = -2iV^*UU^*PB^{-1} = 0_{d \times q}$ , i.e.,  $V^*C = V^*$ . Considering (A.6), then the lower blocks of *K* read  $V^*CU = V^*U = 0_{d \times r}$  and  $V^*CV = V^*V = I_d$  which is, in particular, unitary. Consequently, *K* admits the block representation

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} U^* C U \ 0_{r \times d} \\ 0_{d \times r} & I_d \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.8)

Using (A.6) and (A.8), we get

$$I_q = UU^* + VV^* = UU^*UU^* + VV^*,$$
$$C = WKW^* = (U, V)K\binom{U^*}{V^*} = UU^*CUU^* + VV^*$$

and, therefore,

$$I_q - C = UU^*(I_q - C)UU^*$$
 and  $I_q + C = UU^*(I_q + C)UU^* + 2VV^*$ .

Due to (A.7), we infer

$$PB^{-1} = UU^*PB^{-1}UU^* = U\phi U^*$$

and

$$QB^{-1} = UU^*QB^{-1}UU^* + VV^* = U\psi U^* + VV^*.$$

In view of (A.6) and  $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{R}(M)} = UU^*$  and using Remark A.9, we have  $VV^* = I_q - UU^* = \mathbb{P}_{[\mathcal{R}(M)]^{\perp}}$ . Consequently,  $PB^{-1} = S$  and  $QB^{-1} = T$  hold true which proves (c) and rank  $\binom{S}{T} = q$ . Assertion (b) immediately follows from (c). Using  $U^*U = I_r$  and  $\mathcal{R}(U) = \mathcal{R}(M)$ , the application of Lemma A.16 yields det $(S^*S + T^*T) = \det(\phi^*\phi + \psi^*\psi)$  and rank  $\binom{\phi}{\psi} = r$ . Moreover, considering that  $T^*S = U(\psi^*\phi)U^*$  holds true, finally we obtain

$$\psi^* \phi = U^* U(\psi^* \phi) U^* U = U^* T^* S U$$
  
=  $U^* (QB^{-1})^* (PB^{-1}) U = (B^{-1}U)^* (Q^* P) (B^{-1}U)$ 

which completes the proof.

#### Appendix B Some Facts on the Integration Theory of Non-negative Hermitian Measures

In this section, we present basic facts regarding the integration theory with respect to non-negative Hermitian measures. Throughout the section, let  $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}\}$ . We write  $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{K}}$  denoting the  $\sigma$ -algebra of all Borel subsets of  $\mathbb{K}$ . Let  $\Omega$  be a non-empty set and let  $\mathfrak{A}$  be a  $\sigma$ -algebra on  $\Omega$ . Consider a measure  $\nu$  on the measurable space  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ . We use  $\mathcal{L}^1(\Omega, \mathfrak{A}, \nu; \mathbb{K})$  to denote the set of all  $\mathfrak{A}$ - $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{K}}$ -measurable functions  $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{K}$  such that  $\int_{\Omega} |f| d\nu < \infty$ . We will write  $\mathfrak{B}_{p \times q}$  for the  $\sigma$ -algebra of all Borel subsets of  $\mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$ . An  $\mathfrak{A}$ - $\mathfrak{B}_{p \times q}$ -measurable function  $F: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$  is said to be integrable with respect to  $\nu$  if  $F = (f_{jk})_{j=1,...,p}$  belongs to  $[\mathcal{L}^1(\Omega, \mathfrak{A}, \nu; \mathbb{C})]^{p \times q}$ ,  $\substack{k=1,...,q}$ 

i. e. all entries  $f_{jk}$  belong to the class  $\mathcal{L}^1(\Omega, \mathfrak{A}, \nu; \mathbb{C})$ . In this case, let

$$\int_{\Omega} F \mathrm{d}\nu := \left( \int_{\Omega} f_{jk} \mathrm{d}\nu \right)_{\substack{j=1,\dots,p\\k=1,\dots,q}}$$

A matrix-valued function  $\mu$  the domain of which is  $\mathfrak{A}$  and the values of which belong to the set  $\mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$  of all non-negative Hermitian complex  $q \times q$  matrices is called nonnegative Hermitian  $q \times q$  measure on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  if it is  $\sigma$ -additive, i. e., if  $\mu$  fulfils  $\mu(\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mu(A_k)$  for each sequence  $(A_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of pairwise disjoint sets belonging to  $\mathfrak{A}$ . By  $\mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  we denote the set of all non-negative Hermitian  $q \times q$  measures on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ , i. e., the set of all  $\sigma$ -additive mappings  $\mu \colon \mathfrak{A} \to \mathbb{C}_{\geq}^{q \times q}$ . Let  $\mu = (\mu_{jk})_{j,k=1}^q \in \mathcal{M}_{\geq}^q(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ . For each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,q}$  and for each  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,q}$ , the function  $\mu_{jk}$  describes a complex measure on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  and the variation  $\nu_{jk}$  of  $\mu_{jk}$ is a finite measure on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ . Especially,  $\mu_{11}, \mu_{22}, \ldots, \mu_{qq}$  and the so-called trace measure  $\tau := \sum_{j=1}^q \mu_{jj}$  of  $\mu$  are finite measures on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ . For each function fbelonging to  $\mathcal{L}^1(\Omega, \mathfrak{A}, \mu; \mathbb{K}) := \bigcap_{i,k=1}^q \mathcal{L}^1(\Omega, \mathfrak{A}, \nu_{jk}; \mathbb{K})$  we use the notation

$$\int_{\Omega} f \mathrm{d}\mu \coloneqq \left( \int_{\Omega} f \mathrm{d}\mu_{jk} \right)_{j,k=1}^{q}$$

For this integral, we write  $\int_{\Omega} f(\omega)\mu(d\omega)$  as well.

**Lemma B.1** Let  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  be a measurable space, let  $\mu = (\mu_{jk})_{j,k=1}^q \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ , and let  $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{K}$  be an  $\mathfrak{A}$ - $\mathfrak{B}_{\mathbb{K}}$ -measurable mapping. Using standard arguments of measure and integration theory, easily one can see that the following statements are equivalent:

(i) f ∈ L<sup>1</sup>(Ω, 𝔅, μ; 𝔅).
(ii) f ∈ ⋂<sup>q</sup><sub>j=1</sub> L<sup>1</sup>(Ω, 𝔅, μ<sub>jj</sub>; 𝔅).
(iii) f ∈ L<sup>1</sup>(Ω, 𝔅, τ; 𝔅), where τ is the trace measure of μ.
(iv) f ∈ L<sup>1</sup>(Ω, 𝔅, u\*μu; 𝔅) for each u ∈ ℂ<sup>q</sup>.

Now we turn our attention to an other integral based on investigations by I. S. Kats [26] and M. Rosenberg [31]. Let  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  be a measurable space and let  $\mu = (\mu_{jk})_{j,k=1}^q \in \mathcal{M}^q_{\geq}(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$ . Then, for every choice of j and k in  $\mathbb{Z}_{1,q}$ , the complex measure  $\mu_{jk}$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the trace measure  $\tau$ of  $\mu$ . If  $\nu$  describes an arbitrary measure on  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{A})$  such that, for all  $j, k \in \mathbb{Z}_{1,q}$ , the complex measure  $\mu_{ik}$  is absolutely continuous with respect to v, we say that  $\mu$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\nu$  and the matrix-valued function  $\mu'_{\nu} = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu_{jk}}{\mathrm{d}\nu}\right)_{i \ k=1}^{q}$  built by the corresponding Radon–Nikodym derivatives of  $\mu_{jk}$ with respect to  $\nu$  is said to be a version of the Radon–Nikodym derivative of  $\mu$ with respect to v and is well defined up to sets of zero v-measure. An ordered pair  $[\Phi, \Psi]$  consisting of an  $\mathfrak{A}$ - $\mathfrak{B}_{p \times q}$ -measurable function  $\Phi \colon \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times q}$  and an  $\mathfrak{A}$ - $\mathfrak{B}_{r\times q}$ -measurable function  $\Psi: \Omega \to \mathbb{C}^{r\times q}$  is said to be left-integrable with respect to  $\mu$  if  $\Phi \mu'_{\tau} \Psi^*$  belongs to  $[\mathcal{L}^1(\Omega, \mathfrak{A}, \tau; \mathbb{C})]^{p \times r}$ . In this case the integral

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi \mathrm{d}\mu \Psi^* \coloneqq \int_{\Omega} \Phi \mu_{\tau}' \Psi^* \mathrm{d}\tau$$

is (well) defined and we also write  $\int_{\Omega} \Phi(\omega) \mu(d\omega) [\Psi(\omega)]^*$  for this integral.

#### Appendix C Linear Fractional Transformations of Matrices

In this appendix we summarize some basic facts on linear fractional transformations of matrices. Our considerations modify results due to V. P. Potapov [30], stated in [20].

*Remark C.1* Let  $c \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times p}$  and  $d \in \mathbb{C}^{q \times q}$ . Then easily one can check that the following statements are equivalent (see, e. g., [20, Lem. D.2]):

- (i) The set  $\mathcal{Q}_{[c,d]} := \{x \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q} : \det(cx + d) \neq 0\}$  is non-empty. (ii) The set  $\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c,d]} := \{[x, y] \in \mathbb{C}^{p \times q} \times \mathbb{C}^{q \times q} : \det(cx + dy) \neq 0\}$  is non-empty.
- (iii)  $\operatorname{rank}(c, d) = q$ .

*Notation C.2* Let  $E \in \mathbb{C}^{(p+q) \times (p+q)}$  and let (A.1) be the block representation of *E* with  $p \times p$  block *a*. If rank(c, d) = q, then the linear fractional transformations  $\mathcal{S}_{F}^{(p,q)}: \mathcal{Q}_{[c,d]} \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times q} \text{ and } \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{F}^{(p,q)}: \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c,d]} \to \mathbb{C}^{p \times q} \text{ are defined by}$ 

$$\mathcal{S}_{E}^{(p,q)}(x) \coloneqq (ax+b)(cx+d)^{-1}$$
 and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{E}^{(p,q)}([x, y]) \coloneqq (ax+by)(cx+dy)^{-1}$ .

**Proposition C.3** Let  $E_1, E_2 \in \mathbb{C}^{(p+q) \times (p+q)}$  and let

$$E_1 \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & b_1 \\ c_1 & d_1 \end{pmatrix} \qquad and \qquad E_2 \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ c_2 & d_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

be the block representations of  $E_1$  and  $E_2$  with  $p \times p$  blocks  $a_1$  and  $a_2$ . Let  $E := E_2 E_1$  and let (A.1) be the block representation of E with  $p \times p$  block a. Suppose that  $\operatorname{rank}(c_1, d_1) = q$  and  $\operatorname{rank}(c_2, d_2) = q$  hold true. Let  $\widetilde{Q} := \{[x, y] \in \widetilde{Q}_{[c_1,d_1]} : \widetilde{S}_{E_1}^{(p,q)}([x, y]) \in \mathcal{Q}_{[c_2,d_2]}\}$ . Then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c,d]} \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c_1,d_1]} = \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}$ . Furthermore, if  $\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c,d]} \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c_1,d_1]} \neq \emptyset$ , then  $\mathcal{S}_{E_2}^{(p,q)}(\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{E_1}^{(p,q)}([x, y])) = \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_E^{(p,q)}([x, y])$  for all  $[x, y] \in \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c,d]} \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c_1,d_1]}$ .

A detailed proof of Proposition C.3 is given, e.g., in [20, Prop. D.4]. Note that the conditions  $\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c_1,d_1]} \neq \emptyset$  and  $\mathcal{Q}_{[c_2,d_2]} \neq \emptyset$  do not imply  $\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c,d]} \cap \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{[c_1,d_1]} \neq \emptyset$  (see [20, Example D.6]).

#### References

- V.M. Adamyan, I.M. Tkachenko, Solution of the truncated matrix Hamburger moment problem according to M. G. Krein, in *Operator Theory and Related Topics, vol. II (Odessa, 1997). Operator Theory Advance Application*, vol. 118 (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2000), pp. 33–51
- 2. V.A. Bolotnikov, On degenerate Hamburger moment problem and extensions of nonnegative Hankel block matrices. Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory **25**(3), 253–276 (1996)
- 3. V.A. Bolotnikov, On Degenerate Hamburger Moment Problem and Extensions of Positive Semidefinite Hankel Block Matrices (2008). arXiv:0812.4567 [math.CA]
- G.N. Chen, Y.J. Hu, The truncated Hamburger matrix moment problems in the nondegenerate and degenerate cases, and matrix continued fractions. Linear Algebra Appl. 277(1–3), 199–236 (1998)
- G.N. Chen, Y.J. Hu, A unified treatment for the matrix Stieltjes moment problem in both nondegenerate and degenerate cases. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 254(1), 23–34 (2001)
- A.E. Choque Rivero, Yu.M. Dyukarev, B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, A truncated matricial moment problem on a finite interval, in *Interpolation, Schur Functions and Moment Problems. Operator Theory Advance Application*, vol. 165 (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2006), pp. 121–173
- V.A. Derkach, S. Hassi, H. de Snoo, Truncated moment problems in the class of generalized Nevanlinna functions. Math. Nachr. 285(14–15), 1741–1769 (2012)
- V.K. Dubovoj, B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, Matricial version of the classical Schur problem, in *Teubner-Texte zur Mathematik [Teubner Texts in Mathematics]*, vol. 129 (B. G. Teubner Verlagsgesellschaft mbH, Stuttgart, 1992). With German, French and Russian summaries
- H. Dym, On Hermitian block Hankel matrices, matrix polynomials, the Hamburger moment problem, interpolation and maximum entropy. Integr. Equ. Oper. Theory 12(6), 757–812 (1989)
- Y.M. Dyukarev, B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, H.C. Thiele, On distinguished solutions of truncated matricial Hamburger moment problems. Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 3(4), 759– 834 (2009)
- B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, On Hankel nonnegative definite sequences, the canonical Hankel parametrization, and orthogonal matrix polynomials. Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 5(2), 447–511 (2011)
- B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, On matrix-valued Herglotz-Nevanlinna functions with an emphasis on particular subclasses. Math. Nachr. 285(14–15), 1770–1790 (2012)
- 13. B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. Mädler, T. Schwarz, On a Schur-type algorithm for sequences of complex  $p \times q$ -matrices and its interrelations with the canonical Hankel parametrization, in *Interpolation, Schur Functions and Moment Problems. II. Operator Theory Advance Application*, vol. 226 (Birkhäuser/Springer, Basel, 2012), pp. 117–192
- 14. B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, T. Schwarz, On the concept of invertibility for sequences of complex p × q-matrices and its application to holomorphic p × q-matrix-valued functions, in *Interpolation, Schur Functions and Moment Problems. II.* Operator Theory Advance Application, vol. 226 (Birkh\u00e4user/Springer, Basel, 2012), pp. 9–56

- 15. B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, On a simultaneous approach to the even and odd truncated matricial Hamburger moment problems, in *Recent Advances in Inverse Scattering, Schur Analysis and Stochastic Processes*. Operator Theory Advance Application, vol. 244 (Birkh\u00e4user/Springer, Cham, 2015), pp. 181–285
- 16. B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, On a simultaneous approach to the even and odd truncated matricial Stieltjes moment problem I: An α-Schur-Stieltjes-type algorithm for sequences of complex matrices. Linear Algebra Appl. **521**, 142–216 (2017)
- B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, On a simultaneous approach to the even and odd truncated matricial Stieltjes moment problem II: an α-Schur–Stieltjes-type algorithm for sequences of holomorphic matrix-valued functions. Linear Algebra Appl. 520, 335–398 (2017)
- B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, On the structure of Hausdorff moment sequences of complex matrices, in *Advances in Complex Analysis and Operator Theory*. Trends Mathematical (Birkh\u00e4user/Springer, Cham, 2017), pp. 165–217
- B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, An application of the Schur complement to truncated matricial power moment problems, in *Operator Theory, Analysis and the State Space Approach Operator Theory Advance Application*, vol. 271 (Birkh\u00e4user/Springer, Cham, 2018), pp. 215– 238
- 20. B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. Mädler, T. Schröder, On the truncated matricial Stieltjes moment problem  $M[[\alpha, \infty); (s_j)_{j=0}^m, \leq]$ . Linear Algebra Appl. **544**, 30–114 (2018)
- B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, Matricial canonical moments and parametrization of matricial Hausdorff moment sequences. Complex Anal. Oper. Theory 13(5), 2123–2169 (2019)
- 22. B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, A closer look at the solution set of the truncated matricial moment problem MP[[α, ∞); (s<sub>j</sub>)<sup>m</sup><sub>j=0</sub>, ≼], in *Function Theory, Operator Theory, Schur Analysis and System Theory—A Volume in Honor of V. E. Katsnelson*, ed. by D. Alpay, B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein. Operator Theory Advance Application, vol. 280 (Springer, Switzerland, 2020), pp. 387–492
- B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, Schur analysis of matricial Hausdorff moment sequences. Linear Algebra Appl. 590, 133–209 (2020)
- B. Fritzsche, B. Kirstein, C. M\u00e4dler, A Schur–Nevanlinna type algorithm for the truncated matricial Hausdorff moment problem. Complex Anal. Oper. Theory. 15(2), 1–129 (2021)
- F. Gesztesy, E.R. Tsekanovskii, On matrix-valued Herglotz functions. Math. Nachr. 218, 61– 138 (2000)
- 26. I.S. Kats, On Hilbert spaces generated by monotone Hermitian matrix-functions. Har'kov Gos. Univ. Uč. Zap. 34 = Zap. Mat. Otd. Fiz.-Mat. Fak. i Har'kov. Mat. Obšč. (4) 22, 95–113 (1950/1951)
- I.V. Kovalishina, Analytic theory of a class of interpolation problems. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 47(3), 455–497 (1983)
- C. M\u00e4dler, Behandlung finiter matrizieller Potenzmomentenprobleme mittels Algorithmen vom Schur-Nevanlinna-Typ. Habilitationsschrift (Universit\u00e4t Leipzig, Leipzig, 2017)
- R. Nevanlinna, Asymptotische Entwicklungen beschränkter Funktionen und das Stieltjessche Momentenproblem. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Ser. A 18, 53 (1922)
- 30. V.P. Potapov, Linear-fractional transformations of matrices, in *Studies in the Theory of Operators and their Applications (Russian)*, vol. 177, ed. by V.A. Marchenko ("Naukova Dumka", Kiev, 1979), pp. 75–97
- M. Rosenberg, The square-integrability of matrix-valued functions with respect to a nonnegative Hermitian measure. Duke Math. J. 31, 291–298 (1964)
- 32. H.C. Thiele, *Einige Klassen holomorpher Matrixfunktionen und zugehörige Integraldarstellungen*. Diplomarbeit (Universität Leipzig, Leipzig, 2002)
- 33. H.C. Thiele, *Beiträge zu matriziellen Potenzmomentenproblemen*. Dissertation (Universität Leipzig, Leipzig, 2006)
- 34. J. Weidmann, *Lineare Operatoren in Hilberträumen* (B. G. Teubner, Stuttgart, 1976). Mathematische Leitfäden

# The Wiener Algebra and Singular Integrals



329

#### E. Liflyand

**Abstract** Salem type conditions for trigonometric series are extended to functions from the Wiener algebra. While in the earlier one-dimensional generalization the conditions are given in terms of the Hilbert transform, for the multivariate setting all reasonable singular integrals are equally involved.

Keywords Wiener algebra  $\cdot$  Fourier transform  $\cdot$  Hilbert transform  $\cdot$  Singular integral  $\cdot$  Riesz transform  $\cdot$  Hardy space

**Mathematics Subject Classification (2000)** Primary 42B10; Secondary 42B20, 42A50, 42B30

#### 1 Introduction

Wiener's algebra has proved to be very important in various areas of analysis; for a detailed survey, see [9]. For n = 1, 2, ..., we say that f belongs to  $W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , written  $f \in W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , if

$$f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} g(t)e^{i(x,t)}dt, \qquad g \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n), \tag{1.1}$$

where  $(x, t) = x_1 t_1 + \ldots + x_n t_n$ , with  $||f||_{W_0} = ||g||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)}$ . The space  $W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is a Banach algebra with point-wise multiplication.

In dimension one, a new necessary condition for belonging to the Wiener algebra has recently been obtained in [6]. It was represented as a non-periodic analog of Salem's necessary conditions for a trigonometric series to be the Fourier series of

Department of Mathematics, Bar-Ilan University, Ramat Gan, Israel

Regional Mathematical Center of Southern Federal University, Rostov-on-Don, Russia

E. Liflyand  $(\boxtimes)$ 

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex

to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative, Operator Theory: Advances

and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_10

an integrable function (see [10] and Chapter II, §9 of [1], where one can find a nice discussion on this issue). Along with the proven in [8] fact that the Hilbert transform of a function from Wiener's algebra exists at every point, such necessary conditions can be given as

**Theorem 1.1** If  $f \in W_0(\mathbb{R})$ , then its Hilbert transform  $\mathcal{H}f(x)$  exists at every  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , is uniformly bounded and  $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} \mathcal{H}f(x) = 0$ .

Here the Hilbert transform  $\mathcal{H}f$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{H}f(x) := \frac{1}{\pi} (\text{P.V.}) \int_{\mathbb{R}} f(x-u) \frac{du}{u} = \frac{1}{\pi} (\text{P.V.}) \int_{\mathbb{R}} \frac{f(u)}{x-u} du$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \int_{\delta}^{\infty} \{f(x-u) - f(x+u)\} \frac{du}{u}, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

As is well known, for  $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ , this limit exists for almost all x in  $\mathbb{R}$ . A function in Wiener's algebra need not be in any of these  $L^p$ , just continuous and vanishing at infinity, however its Hilbert transform necessarily possesses such nice properties.

In this paper, we are going to generalize Theorem 1.1 to the multivariate case. The main feature of this work is that the corresponding properties hold true not for one specific singular integral as in dimension one but for a variety of such integrals. The detailed study of singular integrals in [11, Ch.II] demonstrates that they possess the key property needed for our study. More precisely, the uniform boundedness of the truncated Fourier transform of the kernel is one of the basic features of every singular integral.

The outline of the paper is as follows. In the next section we study one specific family of singular integrals that unites the one-dimensional case and the multidimensional one. In Sect. 3, we present our approach in full generality. In the section before the last, we discuss what properties guarantee for a singular integral to be involved in this study. Finally, in the last section we present an application to radial functions.

#### 2 Multidimensional Hilbert Transform

Among various generalizations of the Hilbert transform to the multivariate case (for example, the whole second volume of [5] is devoted to this), the closest to the onedimensional prototype proved to be superpositions of the Hilbert transform applied to single variables. This is by no means artificial, since corresponds to one of the so called product Hardy spaces (many details are given in [7, Ch.5]). The Wiener Algebra and Singular Integrals

This case will further take its place in the general scheme. However, the use of the Hilbert transform makes it, in formulation and in proof, very similar to the onedimensional case. To show this, it is worth giving first a short proof of Theorem 1.1, moreover, in [6] it was longer and for the more restrictive in this case so-called modified Hilbert transform rather than for the usual one.

Thus, expressing *f* in the Hilbert transform formula by means of (1.1), we wish to justify the change of the order of integration. For each  $\delta > 0$ , we have

$$\int_{|x-t|>\delta} \frac{1}{x-t} \int_{\mathbb{R}} g(u)e^{itu} du \, dt = \int_{\mathbb{R}} g(u) \int_{|x-t|>\delta} e^{itu} \frac{1}{x-t} \, dt \, du$$

In order to insert the limit as  $\delta \downarrow 0$  under the sign of integration, we apply the Lebesgue dominated convergence test. For this, we prove that the integrand in *u* is dominated by a single integrable function independent of  $\delta$ . Since *g* is integrable, it suffices to show that the integrals

$$\int_{|x-t|>\delta} e^{itu} \frac{1}{x-t} \, dt$$

are uniformly bounded. This is obviously the case while integrating over  $|x-t| \ge 1$ . Substituting x - t = s, we then see that the rest is equal to

$$\int_{\delta < |x-t| < 1} \frac{e^{itu}}{x-t} dt = -ie^{ixu} \int_{\delta < |s| < 1} \frac{\sin su}{s} ds.$$
(2.1)

It is well known that the integral on the right is uniformly bounded. This proves the existence everywhere of the Hilbert transform. Further, by King [5, Vol. 2, Table 1.3 (3.1)],

$$\mathcal{H}e^{iu\cdot}(x) = -i \, \operatorname{sign} u \, e^{iux}, \qquad (2.2)$$

and the corresponding Fourier integral tends to zero by the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma, which completes the proof of Theorem 1.1.

To present the multidimensional result in question, we need additional notation. Let  $\eta = (\eta_1, ..., \eta_n)$  be an *n*-dimensional vector with the entries either 0 or 1 only. Correspondingly,  $|\eta| = \eta_1 + ... + \eta_n$ . If only the *j*-th entry is one, while the rest are zeros, a natural notation for such an  $\eta$  is  $e_j$ . Additionally, we have special notations  $\mathbf{0} = (0, 0, ..., 0)$  and  $\mathbf{1} = (1, 1, ..., 1)$ . The inequality of vectors is meant coordinate wise. By  $x_\eta$  and  $dx_\eta$  we denote the  $|\eta|$ -tuple consisting only of  $x_j$  such that  $\eta_j = 1$  and  $\prod_{j:\eta_j=1}^{j:\eta_j=1} dx_j$ , respectively. Correspondingly, by  $\mathbb{R}^\eta$  we denote the  $|\eta|$ -

dimensional Euclidean space with respect to the variables  $x_j$  such that  $\eta_j = 1$ . We shall need the cases where  $\mathcal{H}$  is applied to some of the variables, the cases where the

Hilbert transform is applied to only one variable as well as to each of the *n* variables are among these. This will be denoted by  $\mathcal{H}_{\eta}$  in general, which means applying  $\mathcal{H}$  repeatedly to the *j*-th variables for which  $\eta_j = 1$ . In the case where  $\mathcal{H}$  acts only at the *j*-th variable, we can replace  $\mathcal{H}_{e_j}$  by the simpler  $\mathcal{H}_j$  notation. If we apply  $\mathcal{H}$  to each variable repeatedly, the notation  $\mathcal{H}_1$  automatically comes to mind.

**Theorem 2.1** If  $f \in W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , then  $\mathcal{H}_\eta f(x)$  exists at every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} \mathcal{H}_\eta f(x) = 0$ , for all  $\eta \neq \mathbf{0}$ .

**Proof** For simplicity, it suffices to prove this for the case

$$\eta = (\underbrace{1, \ldots, 1}_{k \text{ times}}, 0, \ldots, 0) = e_1 + \ldots + e_k.$$

Just this  $\eta$  will be used during the following proof. The mentioned similarity to the one-dimensional case will come from the fact that the proof goes not only along the same lines applied to the indicated variable but also that we still deal with the Hilbert transform. Expressing f in  $\mathcal{H}_{\eta} f$  by means of (1.1), we get

$$\mathcal{H}_{\eta}f(x) = (P.V.)\frac{1}{\pi^{k}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{k}} \prod_{j=1}^{k} \frac{1}{x_{j} - t_{j}} dt_{j}$$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} g(u)e^{i(t_{1}u_{1} + \dots + t_{k}u_{k} + x_{k+1}u_{k+1} + \dots + x_{n}u_{n})} du$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} g(u)e^{i(x_{k+1}u_{k+1} + \dots + x_{n}u_{n})}$$

$$(P.V.)\frac{1}{\pi^{k}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{k}} \prod_{j=1}^{k} e^{it_{j}u_{j}} \frac{1}{x_{j} - t_{j}} dt_{j} du. \qquad (2.3)$$

We must justify the change of the order of integration on the right-hand side. However, the one-dimensional argument works here in the same manner.

Let us now estimate all the summands on the right-hand side of (2.3). If we consider the product of all k Hilbert transform summands and take into account (2.2), we arrive at

$$(-i)^k \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[ g(u) \prod_{j=1}^k \operatorname{sign} u_j \right] e^{i(u,x)} du,$$

which tends to zero as  $|x| \to \infty$ , by the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma. This completes the proof.

#### **3** General Results

Proceeding to the general situation, we start with defining a general singular integral on basis of [11, Ch.II, §3.2, Th.2], where fundamental properties of singular integrals are proved. It is of the form

$$Sf(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f(x - y) K(y) \, dy, \qquad (3.1)$$

where the integral is understood as the limit, as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , in that or another sense of the integrals

$$S_{\varepsilon}f(x) = \int_{|y| > \varepsilon} f(x - y)K(y) \, dy, \qquad (3.2)$$

provided that the kernel K satisfies the conditions

$$|K(x)| \le C|x|^{-n}, \qquad |x| > 0;$$
 (3.3)

$$\int_{|x|\ge 2|y|} |K(x-y) - K(x)| \, dx \le C, \qquad |y| > 0; \tag{3.4}$$

and

$$\int_{M_1 < |x| < M_2} K(x) \, dx = 0, \qquad 0 < M_1 < M_2 < \infty. \tag{3.5}$$

In [11], the mentioned limit is understood in some  $L^p$  norm, with 1 . $However, we will see that it exists at every point provided <math>f \in W_0$ . We have the following multidimensional extension of Theorem 1.1.

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $f \in W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then Sf(x) exists at every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} Sf(x) = 0$ .

**Proof** In the multivariate case, our strategy will be essentially the same as that in dimension one in the previous section but applied to different singular integrals, mostly purely multidimensional. The uniform boundedness of integrals mirroring the last integral in (2.1) is the key ingredient. In fact, that integral is the truncated (sine) Fourier transform of the kernel of the Hilbert transform. The same property for general kernels is delivered by the lemma in [11, Ch.II, §3.3]; it says that if *K* satisfies (3.3)–(3.5) and

$$K_{\delta}(x) = \begin{cases} K(x), & |x| \ge \delta, \\ 0, \text{ otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

then

$$\sup_{\delta} |\widehat{K_{\delta}}(x)| \le C,$$

where the constant C depends only on dimension n. The proof now goes along the same lines as above, where the mentioned lemma allows us to apply the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem at an appropriate moment. 

The main important singular integrals are the Riesz transforms. In dimension n, there are *n* transforms. For j = 1, 2, ..., n, the *j*-th Riesz transform  $R_i f(x)$  is defined as

$$R_j f(x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} c_n \int_{|y| > \varepsilon} \frac{y_j}{|y|^{n+1}} f(x - y) \, dy,$$

with

$$c_n = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{n+1}{2})}{\pi^{\frac{n+1}{2}}}.$$

By this,  $R_i$  is a singular integral defined by the kernel

$$K_j(y) = \frac{y_j}{|y|^{n+1}} = \frac{\Omega_j(y)}{|y|^n}$$

with  $\Omega_j(y) = \frac{y_j}{|y|}$ . It follows from Theorem 3.1 that for any j = 1, 2, ..., n, we have for  $f \in$  $W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$  that  $R_j f(x)$  exists for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\lim_{|x| \to \infty} R_j f(x) = 0$ .

It is worth mentioning that while the repeated Hilbert transforms are used for defining the so-called product Hardy space  $H^1(\mathbb{R} \times \ldots \times \mathbb{R})$ , the Riesz transforms are "responsible" for defining the real Hardy space  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  (their integrability, in fact, is needed) and other related spaces. More or less detailed discussion on these can be found in [7, Ch.5]; in particular,  $H^1(\mathbb{R} \times \ldots \times \mathbb{R}) \subset H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

#### 4 **Certain Singular Integrals**

Among general singular integrals considered in Sects. 2 and 3, some play a special role in analysis. They are also studied in [11, Ch.II]. More precisely, in [11, Ch.II, §2.2, Th.1] a wider class of singular integrals is considered, for which the uniform boundedness of the Fourier transform of the  $L^2$  kernel is assumed by definition.

334

However, [11, Ch.II, §3.2] is not only devoted to the proof of Theorem 2 in [11, Ch.II, §3.2] but begins with nice discussion why that wide class is unsatisfactory. More precisely, it is desirable that the class should be defined in such a way that even belonging to  $L^2$  to be derived from the defining properties. For this, the formally smaller class of singular integrals, the one we deal with in Sect. 3, is introduced by assuming the properties (3.3)–(3.5). Then not only the belonging to  $L^2$  is proved but the property of the Fourier transform of the kernel we are interested in is derived from the definition.

However, further restriction of the class has proved to be desirable for applications. One of the reasons is the need to deal with operators which commute not only with translations like those above but also with dilations. For this, the class which is perfectly appropriate is the one with the kernels of type

$$K(x) = \frac{\Omega(x)}{|x|^n},$$

with  $\Omega$  homogeneous of degree 0, that is,  $\Omega(ax) = \Omega(x)$  for any a > 0. By this, being constant on the rays going from zero,  $\Omega$  is completely determined by its restriction to the unit sphere  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . Also, something should be assumed in terms of  $\Omega$  in order to satisfy conditions of [11, Ch.II, §3.2, Th.2]. By (3.3) and (3.4),  $\Omega$  must be bounded and thus integrable on  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . Further, (3.5) reduces to

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^{n-1}} \Omega(x) \, d\sigma = 0,$$

where  $d\sigma$  is the induced measure on  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . However, the conditions (3.3) and (3.4) are difficult to be reformulated in terms of  $\Omega$ . One of the natural ways to guarantee them is to pose a Dini type condition on  $\Omega$ . It can be formulated as follows. Defining one of the possible moduli of continuity of  $\Sigma$  in the spherical mode as

$$\omega(t) = \sup_{\substack{|x-y| \le t, \\ |x|=|y|=1}} |\Omega(x) - \Omega(y)|,$$

we assume the Dini type condition

$$\int_0^1 \frac{\omega(t)}{t} dt < \infty.$$

Needless to say that the concrete singular integrals considered in Sects. 2 and 3 are of that last type.

It is proved in [3] that to guarantee the uniform boundedness of the Fourier transform (in the improper sense, as needed) of the kernel K, the following

assumptions can be taken instead of (3.3)-(3.5):

$$\int_{|x| \ge M} |K(x)| \, dx \le CM, \qquad 0 < M < \infty; \tag{4.1}$$

$$\int_{|x|\ge 2|y|} |K(x-y) - K(x)| \, dx \le C, \qquad |y| > 0; \tag{4.2}$$

and

$$\left| \int_{M_1 < |x| < M_2} K(x) \, dx \right| \le C, \qquad 0 < M_1 < M_2 < \infty. \tag{4.3}$$

All these give enough machinery for applying the obtained necessary conditions and, correspondingly, eliminate functions not belonging to the Wiener algebra.

#### **5** Application to Radial Functions

In [1, Ch. II, §9], Salem's condition is applied to the series  $\sum a_n \cos nt$ . What is derived is the assertion that for this series with  $\{a_n\}$  tending to zero monotonously to be a Fourier series, it is necessary that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} (a_n - a_{n+1}) \ln n = 0$ . In [6], a one-dimensional non-periodic analog of this result is the following

**Theorem 5.1** If  $f_0 \in W_0(\mathbb{R} \text{ is even and monotone on the half-axis, then$ 

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \lim_{\delta \to 0+} (f_0(x-\delta) - f_0(x+\delta)) \ln \frac{x}{\delta} = 0.$$
(5.1)

We mention that indeed the repeated limits are taken exactly in this order.

A natural setting for a multidimensional result of such kind is radial functions. First of all, we recall the following relation.

**Lemma 5.2** For  $F_0(|x|) \in W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $n \ge 2$ , it is necessary and sufficient that  $f_0 \in W_0(\mathbb{R})$  exist such that for  $t \ge 0$ , there holds

$$F_0(t) = \int_0^1 f_0(ut)(1-u^2)^{\frac{n-3}{2}} du.$$
 (5.2)

**Proof** In its precise form, this result is due to Trigub: the functions  $f_0$  and  $F_0$  are assigned unambiguously by differentiation: usual for *n* odd and half-integer fractional for *n* even; see [13, 6.3.6] and [12]. However, without indicating  $f_0$  explicitly, the result can be proved in the following simpler way.

If  $f_0 \in W_0(\mathbb{R})$  in the way

$$f_0(u) = \int_0^\infty g(s) \cos us \, ds,$$

with  $g \in \mathbb{R}$ , then substituting the last integral for f in (5.2), we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{1} (1-u^{2})^{\frac{n-3}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} g(s) \cos uts \, ds \, du$$
  
= 
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} g(s) \int_{0}^{1} (1-u^{2})^{\frac{n-3}{2}} \cos uts \, du \, ds$$
  
= 
$$2^{\frac{n}{2}-2} \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{n-1}{2}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} g(s) \, (st)^{-\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n-2}{2}}(st) \, ds,$$
(5.3)

where  $J_{\nu}$  is the Bessel function of first kind and the passage to the right-hand side is [2, Ch.I, 1.3(8)], with appropriate parameters. But this coincides, up to a constant multiple, with

$$(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \int_0^\infty \frac{g(s)}{s^{n-1}} (st)^{-\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n-2}{2}}(st) s^{n-1} ds.$$
(5.4)

Since g is integrable on  $\mathbb{R}_+$ , we have  $G(|x|) = \frac{g(|x|)}{|x|^{n-1}} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and (5.4) is exactly the multidimensional Fourier transform of  $G(|\cdot|)$  (see [4, Ch.IX, §43, Thm.56]; in Remark 109 of that book, this formula is referred to Cauchy and Poisson for n = 2, 3, and claimed not to be new in the 50-s, the time of writing [4], for arbitrary *n*). Hence  $F_0 \in W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Conversely, let  $F_0 \in W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Then, by definition and radiality, it is equal to

$$(2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \int_0^\infty G(s) \, (st)^{-\frac{n}{2}+1} J_{\frac{n-2}{2}}(st) s^{n-1} \, ds,$$

with some  $G(|\cdot|) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and t = |x|. Furthermore, by (5.3), it is equal, again up to a constant multiple, to

$$\int_0^1 (1-u^2)^{\frac{n-3}{2}} \int_0^\infty G(s) s^{n-1} \cos u ts \, ds \, du.$$

Since  $G(s)s^{n-1} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ , denoting the inner integral by  $f_0(ut)$ , we arrive at the needed representation, with  $f_0 \in W_0(\mathbb{R})$ . This completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

We are now in a position to prove the following result.

**Theorem 5.3** Let  $F_0(|\cdot|) \in W_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $n \ge 2$ , and let (5.2) hold with  $f_0$  monotone on the half-axis. Then

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} \lim_{\delta \to 0+} (F_0(|x| - \delta) - F_0(|x| + \delta)) \ln \frac{|x|}{\delta} = 0.$$
 (5.5)

**Proof** By (5.2), denoting |x| = t, we get

$$[F_0(t-\delta) - F_0(t+\delta)] \ln \frac{t}{\delta} = \int_0^1 [f_0(ut-u\delta) - f_0(ut+u\delta)] \ln \frac{tu}{u\delta} (1-u^2)^{\frac{u-3}{2}} du.$$

Since  $F_0$  is radial,  $f_0$  can be considered as even. It is also bounded and vanishing at infinity by belonging to  $W_0(\mathbb{R})$ . While integrating on the right over  $\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}, 1\right)$ , we derive from (5.1) that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \lim_{\delta\to 0+}$  of this integral tends to zero. It remains to estimate

$$\int_{0}^{\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}} [f_0(ut - u\delta) - f_0(ut + u\delta)] \ln \frac{tu}{u\delta} (1 - u^2)^{\frac{n-3}{2}} du.$$
(5.6)

Since  $\lim_{\delta \to 0+}$  comes from the definition of the Hilbert transform in the principal value sense and, as we know, for a function from the Wiener algebra, it exists at every point and is uniformly bounded, we derive from the estimate

$$\int_0^{\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}} (1-u^2)^{\frac{n-3}{2}} du = O\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{t}}\right)$$

that (5.6) tends to zero as  $\lim_{\delta \to 0+}$  and then  $\lim_{t \to \infty}$ . This completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Acknowledgments** In November, 2019, the author took part in the conference "New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative", at Chapman University in Orange, CA, USA. This work is a natural multidimensional extension of the author's one-dimensional study presented as a conference talk. It was inspired largely to the stimulating effect of the meeting and numerous discussions with participants. The author greatly appreciates the efforts of the organizers to create such an atmosphere.

The author also thanks the referee for valuable suggestions.

#### References

- 1. N.K. Bary, *A Treatise in Trigonometric Series* (Fizmatqiz, Moscow, 1961) (Russian). English Transl. in Pergamon Press, Macmillan, New York, 1964
- H. Bateman, A. Erdélyi, *Tables of Integral Transforms*, vol. I (McGraw Hill Book Company, New York, 1954)

- A. Benedek, A.-P. Calderón, R. Panzone, Convolution operators on Banach space valued functions. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 48, 356–365 (1962)
- 4. S. Bochner, Lectures on Fourier Integrals (Princeton University, Princeton, 1959)
- 5. F.W. King, *Hilbert Transforms*, vol. 1 and 2. Eng. Math/ Appl., (Cambridge University, Cambridge, 2009)
- 6. E. Liflyand, Salem conditions in the nonperiodic case. Mat. Zametki **104**, 447–453 (2018) (Russian). English Transl. in Math. Notes **104**, 437–442 (2018)
- 7. E. Liflyand, Functions of Bounded Variation and Their Fourier Transforms (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2019)
- E. Liflyand, R. Trigub, Conditions for the absolute convergence of Fourier integrals. J. Approx. Theory 163, 438–459 (2011)
- 9. E. Liflyand, S. Samko, R. Trigub, The wiener algebra of absolutely convergent fourier integrals: an overview. Anal. Math. Phys. 2, 1–68 (2012)
- 10. R. Salem, Essais sur les séries trigonométriques. Actual. Sci. Indus. 862(Paris), (1940)
- 11. E.M. Stein, *Singular Integrals and Differentiability Properties of Functions* (Princeton University, Princeton, 1970)
- R.M. Trigub, On Fourier multipliers and absolutely convergent Fourier integrals of radial functions. Ukr. Mat. J. 62, 1280–1293 (2010)
- 13. R.M. Trigub, E.S. Belinsky, Fourier Analysis and Appoximation of Functions (Kluwer, Netherlands, 2004)

# Techniques to Derive Estimates for Integral Means and Other Geometric Quantities Related to Conformal Mappings



#### **Ronen Peretz**

**Abstract** We will describe few methods to derive estimates for integral means and for other asymptotic expressions related to conformal mappings. One method will start from classical inequalities for conformal mappings such as the Goluzin inequalities and the exponential Goluzin inequalities. Then the simple idea of approximating integrals with the aid of their Riemann sums will serve us to obtain such estimates. A second method is to start from a certain elementary identity proved by Hardy in 1915 and use it combined with distortion theorems in *S* to obtain more integrals estimates. Finally, the main result in the author's Masters thesis which in fact was already known to Bendixon will give us a method to estimate the geometric distance from a point in the image of a conformal mapping to the boundary of this image. The estimate will be in terms of a rather arbitrary sequence in the domain of the definition that converges to the pre-image of the point in the image from which the distance is measured.

**Keywords** Conformal mappings  $\cdot$  Schlicht functions  $\cdot$  Goluzin inequalities  $\cdot$  Integral means  $\cdot$  Distance to the boundary of the image

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 30C35, 30C55, 30C75, 46A03, 46A55

#### **1** Introduction

For an  $f \in H(U)$   $(U = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| < 1\}$ , and H(U) is the family of the functions that are holomorphic in U) we will use the following standard notation for the *p*-integral mean of f on the circle |z| = r for a fixed r in  $0 \le r < 1$ :

$$M_p(f,r) = \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(re^{i\theta})|^p d\theta \right\}^{1/p}.$$

R. Peretz (🖂)

Department of Mathematics, Ben Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva, Israel e-mail: ronenp@math.bgu.ac.il

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 D. Alpay et al. (eds.), *New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex* 

to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_11

The parameter p will usually be confined to the open positive half line, 0 . $We also write <math>M_{\infty}(f, r) = \max_{0 < \theta < 2\pi} |f(re^{i\theta})|$ . We also may write:

$$\log\left(M_0(f,r)\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log|f(re^{i\theta})|d\theta,$$

provided that the last integral converges. The motivation for the last definition comes from the following heuristics:  $M_0(f, r) = \lim_{p \to 0^+} M_p(f, r)$ , and

$$\log (M_0(f, r)) = \lim_{p \to 0^+} \frac{1}{p} \log \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(re^{i\theta})|^p \right\} =$$
$$= \lim_{p \to 0^+} \frac{d}{dp} \left\{ \log \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(re^{i\theta})|^p \right\} \right\} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \log |f(re^{i\theta})| d\theta$$

We note that  $M_0(f, r)$  is the parallel of the geometric mean of a finite sequence of numbers. We recall results of Al Baernstein II from his deep paper, [1]. A continuous function  $\Phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is said to be convex if  $\forall x, y \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\Phi(\frac{1}{2}(x + y)) \leq \frac{1}{2}(\Phi(x) + \Phi(y))$ . It is said to be strictly convex if strict inequality holds unless x = y.

**Theorem (Baernstein's Theorem, [1])** Let  $\Phi(x)$  be a convex non-decreasing function  $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ . Then for each  $f \in S$ ,

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \Phi(\log |f(re^{i\theta})|) d\theta \le \int_{0}^{2\pi} \Phi(\log |k(re^{i\theta})|) d\theta, \ 0 < r < 1.$$

Here  $S = \{f \in H(U) \mid f \text{ is injective } f(0) = f'(0) - 1 = 0\}$  and k(z) is the Koebe function  $k(z) = z/(1-z)^2$ . If  $\Phi$  is strictly convex, then equality holds for some r only if f is a rotation of k.

The choice  $\Phi(x) = e^{px}$ , 0 , gives the following conclusion:

**Corollary** (Al Baernstein, [1]) For  $0 and <math>f \in S$ ,  $M_p(f, r) \le M_p(k, r)$ , 0 < r < 1, with equality only if f is a rotation of k.

The proof of Baernstein's Theorem involves a certain maximal function he invented, the Baernstein star-function. Let u(z) be a real-valued function defined on the annulus  $r_1 < |z| < r_2$ . For each  $r, r_1 < r < r_2$ , we suppose that  $u(re^{i\theta}) \in L^1(0, 2\pi)$ . The Baernstein star-function of u is:

$$u^*(re^{i\theta}) = \sup_{|E|=2\theta} \int_E u(re^{it})dt, \quad 0 < \theta < \pi.$$

Here |E| denotes the Lebesgue measure of the measurable set  $E \subseteq [-\pi, \pi]$ . In [1], Baernstein showed that the star-function has the following remarkable property.

**Lemma 1** ([1]) If u is continuous and sub-harmonic in the annulus  $r_1 < |z| < r_2$ , then  $u^*$  is continuous in the semi-annulus  $\{re^{i\theta}\} | r_1 < r < r_2, 0 \le \theta \le \pi\}$ , and sub-harmonic in the interior.

In this paper we will show how one can start from the inequalities on *S*, that involve finite sequence of parameters, such as the Grunsky inequalities, Goluzin and Lebedev inequalities etc... and by approximating various integral means using Riemann sums get new integral inequalities on functions of *S* that involve also their derivatives and other operators such as the divided quotient operator. We will use as one basic reference the book [2] of Peter Duren. Especially Chap. 4, pp 118–140 (for Grunsky inequalities, and the Goluzin Lebedev inequalities), Chap. 5, pages 142–187 (exponentiation of the Grunsky inequalities), and Chap. 7 on integral means, pages 214–231.

The natural problem of estimating sharply the integral means of derivatives of functions in S, along lines similar to the classical result of Baernstein for the functions themselves turns out to be involved. See [2, section 7.5, pages 229–231]. The first case might be to inquire if  $M_p(f', r) \leq M_p(k', r)$  for all  $f \in S$ . For  $0 , this is certainely false, for by a direct calculation <math>k' \in H^p(U)$  for all  $0 , so that <math>M_p(k', r)$  remains bounded as  $r \to 1^-$ . On the other hand, there exist functions  $f \in S$  whose derivatives have radial limits on no set of positive measure, see [4]. In this paper it is shown that in fact f' can have much worse behavior. In particular  $f' \notin H^p(U)$  for any p > 0. For such a function f, and for each  $0 , the inequality <math>M_p(f', r) \leq M_p(k', r)$  must fail for r near 1. Here is a quotation from [2]: "In general, the sharp bound of  $M_p(f', r), f \in S$  is unknown. For  $p > \frac{1}{3}$  it seems a reasonable conjecture that  $M_p(f', r) \le M_p(k', r)$ ." Duren gives in his book [2], on page 229 two kinds of evidence to support the last conjecture. First, it is asymptotically correct, at least for  $p > \frac{2}{5}$ . Feng and MacGregor have shown that for each  $p > \frac{2}{5}$ , and each positive integer  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ ,  $M_p(f^{(n)}, r) = \mathsf{O}(M_p(k^{(n)}, r), r \to 1^-, \text{ for all } f \in S. \text{ In particular, for } p > \frac{2}{5},$  $M_p(f', r) = O((1-r)^{1/p-3}), r \to 1^-$ . See [3].

Second, the conjecture is true for certain sub-classes of S. It is so for the sub-class K of close-to-convex functions.

**Theorem (See [2] page 229)** For  $0 , <math>M_p(f', r) \le M_p(k', r)$ , 0 < r < 1, for all  $f \in K$ .

Before proceeding to the applications of Grunsky inequalities and other inequalities to the estimates of integral means in S, let us note what do the elementary theorems on S give us in that regard.

Here are some of these theorems:

A distortion theorem:

(1) For each  $f \in S$ ,

$$\frac{1-r}{(1+r)^3} \le |f'(z)| \le \frac{1+r}{(1-r)^3}, \quad |z| = r < 1.$$

For each  $z \in U$ ,  $z \neq 0$ , equality occurs if and only if f is a suitable rotation of the Koebe function.

A growth theorem:

(2) for each  $f \in S$ ,

$$\frac{r}{(1+r)^2} \le |f(z)| \le \frac{r}{(1-r)^2}, \quad |z| = r < 1.$$

For each  $z \in U$ ,  $z \neq 0$ , equality occurs if and only if f is a suitable rotation of the Koebe function.

A rotation theorem:

(3) For each  $f \in S$ ,

$$|\arg f'(z)| \le \begin{cases} 4\sin^{-1}r, & r \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \\ \pi + \log\left(\frac{r^2}{1-r^2}\right), & r \ge \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}. \end{cases}$$

One more estimate:

(4) For each  $f \in S$ ,

$$\frac{1-r}{1+r} \le \left|\frac{zf'(z)}{f(z)}\right| \le \frac{1+r}{1-r}, \quad |z|=r<1.$$

Let us use (2) above in order to give a crude estimate of  $M_p(f, r)$ :

$$M_p(f,r) = \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(re^{i\theta})|^p d\theta \right\}^{1/p} \le \frac{r}{(1-r)^2}.$$

Similarly by (1):

$$M_p(f', r) \le \frac{1+r}{(1-r)^3}$$
.  $(0$ 

These are relatively poor estimates. Already in 1925 Littlewood could do much better for  $f \in S$  and p = 1. His argument was a clever geometric argument.

**Theorem (Littlewood, 1925)** For each function  $f \in S$ ,

$$M_1(f,r) \le \frac{r}{1-r}, \quad 0 \le r < 1.$$

**Proof** Consider the square-root transform of f,  $h(z) = \sqrt{f(z^2)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n z^n$ . The growth theorem (2) gives us:

$$|h(z)| \le \frac{z}{1-r^2}, \quad |z| = r < 1.$$

So *h* maps the disk |z| < r conformally onto a domain  $D_r$  which lies in the disk  $|w| < \frac{r}{1-r^2}$ . The area  $A_r$  of  $D_r$  is therefore no greater than the area of the last disk:

$$A_r \le \frac{\pi r^2}{(1-r^2)^2}.$$

But a calculation gives:

$$A_{r} = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{r} |h'(\rho e^{i\theta})|^{2} \rho d\rho d\theta = \pi \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n |c_{n}|^{2} r^{2n}.$$

Consequently,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n|c_n|^2 r^{2n-1} \le \frac{r}{(1-r^2)^2}, \quad 0 \le r < 1.$$

Integration from 0 to *r* gives:

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |c_n|^2 r^{2n} \le \frac{r^2}{1-r^2}, \quad \text{or}$$
$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |h(re^{i\theta})|^2 d\theta \le \frac{r^2}{1-r^2},$$

which is equivalent to:

$$M_1(f,r) \le \frac{r}{1-r}, \quad 0 \le r < 1.$$

One might suspect that the estimate in Littlewood's Theorem above could be improved if we use the *N*'th root transform  $h(z) = f(z^N)^{1/N} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n z^n$  instead of the square-root transform. The result is:

**Theorem (The** *N***'th Root Version of Littlewood's Theorem)** For each function  $f \in S$  and each integer  $N \ge 2$ ,

$$M_1(f,r) \le \left(\frac{N}{N-4}\right) imes \frac{1 - (1-r)^{1-4/N}}{r^{1-2/N}}, \quad 0 \le r < 1.$$

It turns out that for N = 2 (as Littlewood adviced us) the upper bound is the best.

#### **2** Inequalities on *S* and $\Sigma$

We recall few basic inequalities on families of conformal mappings.

#### (1) The Goluzin inequalities.

(a) On  $\Sigma$ . Let  $g \in \Sigma$  and  $\xi_{\nu} \in \Delta = \{\xi \in \mathbb{C} \mid |\xi| > 1\}, \gamma_{\nu} \in \mathbb{C}$  where  $\nu = 1, \dots, n, n = 1, 2, \dots$  Then

$$\left|\sum_{\mu=1}^{n}\sum_{\nu=1}^{n}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{\nu}\log\left(\frac{g(\xi_{\mu})-g(\xi_{\nu})}{\xi_{\mu}-\xi_{\nu}}\right)\right| \leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n}\sum_{\nu=1}^{n}\gamma_{\mu}\overline{\gamma}_{\nu}\log\left(\frac{1}{1-(\xi_{\mu}\overline{\xi}_{\nu})^{-1}}\right).$$

(b) On S. Let  $f \in S$  and  $z_{\nu} \in U$ ,  $\gamma_{\nu} \in \mathbb{C}$  where  $\nu = 1, ..., n, n = 1, 2, ...$ Then

$$\left|\sum_{\mu=1}^{n}\sum_{\nu=1}^{n}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{\nu}\log\left(\frac{z_{\mu}z_{\nu}}{f(z_{\mu})f(z_{\nu})}\cdot\frac{f(z_{\mu})-f(z_{\nu})}{z_{\mu}-z_{\nu}}\right)\right| \leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n}\sum_{\nu=1}^{n}\gamma_{\mu}\overline{\gamma}_{\nu}\log\left(\frac{1}{1-z_{\mu}\overline{z}_{\nu}}\right).$$

#### (2) Exponentiation of the Goluzin inequalities.

The idea is to replace the inequalities in (1)(b) by similar inequalities with the logarithms removed. We refer to [2] pages 180-183. The procedure in the book is based on a theorem of Schur on the Hadamard product of two positive semi-definite matrices. We will review that but see how to obtain a slightly more general result. A real symmetric matrix  $A = (a_{jk})$  is said to be positive semi-definite (denoted by  $A \ge 0$ ) if its associated quadratic form  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} a_{jk}x_{j}x_{k}$  is non-negative for all real numbers  $x_{1}, \ldots, x_{n}$ . This will be the case if and only if all of the (real) eigenvalues of A are non-negative. The Hadamard product of two  $n \times n$  matrices  $A = (a_{jk})$  and  $B = (b_{jk})$  is defined as the  $n \times n$  matrix  $(a_{jk}b_{jk})$ . We will denote the Hadamard product of A and B by A \* B (so that it will not be confused with ordinary matrix product). This operation is commutative, i.e. A \* B = B \* A. Also if A and B are symmetric so is A \* B. for any function f on  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $\mathbb{R}$  we denote by \* f(A) the  $n \times n$  matrix  $(f(a_{jk}))$ . In particular  $*A^{m} = (a_{jk}^{m}), m = 1, 2, \ldots$ .

**Theorem (Schur's Theorem)** If  $A \ge 0$  and  $B \ge 0$ , then  $A * B \ge 0$ .

**Corollary to Schur's Theorem** If  $A \ge 0$  and  $\phi(z) = \sum_{\nu=0}^{\infty} c_{\nu} z^{\nu}$  is an entire function with non-negative coefficients  $c_{\nu}$ , then  $*\phi(A) \ge 0$ .

We also have the following

**Lemma (On Hermitian Forms)** If the real symmetric matrix  $A = (a_{jk})$  is positive semi-definite, then the Hermitian form  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \xi_j \overline{\xi}_k \ge 0$ , for all complex numbers  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$ .

After those algebraic preparations, the book [2] on page 182 returns to the Goluzin inequalities on *S*, (1)(b). Choosing the parameters  $\gamma_{\nu}$  to be real numbers and

using the fact that for any complex number  $\alpha$  we have  $-\Re\{\alpha\} \le |\alpha|$  we conclude that the symmetric matrix with elements:

$$a_{jk} = \left| \log \left( \frac{z_j z_k}{f(z_j) f(z_k)} \cdot \frac{f(z_j) - f(z_k)}{z_j - z_k} \right) \right|$$

is positive semi-definite. Applying the Corollary to Schur's theorem with the entire function  $\phi(z) = e^{2z} - 1$  (which clearly has positive coefficients), we deduce that the matrix  $C = (c_{jk}) = (e^{2a_{jk}} - 1)$  is positive semi-definite. By the Lemma (on Hermitian forms) we get,  $\sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} c_{\mu\nu}\gamma_{\mu}\overline{\gamma}_{\nu} \ge 0$  for all complex numbers  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n$ . In other words,

$$\left|\sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \gamma_{\mu}\right|^{2} \leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \left|\frac{z_{\mu} z_{\nu}}{f(z_{\mu}) f(z_{\nu})} \cdot \frac{f(z_{\mu}) - f(z_{\nu})}{z_{\mu} - z_{\nu}} \cdot \frac{1}{1 - z_{\mu} \overline{z}_{\nu}}\right|^{2} \gamma_{\mu} \overline{\gamma}_{\nu}.$$

If the numbers  $\gamma_{\mu}$  are expressed as follows:

$$\gamma_{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu} \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu})}{z_{\mu}} \right|^2, \quad \mu = 1, \dots, n,$$

these inequalities become:

$$\left|\sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \lambda_{\mu} \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu})}{z_{\mu}} \right|^{2} \right|^{2} \leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \lambda_{\mu} \overline{\lambda}_{\nu} \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu}) - f(z_{\nu})}{(z_{\mu} - z_{\nu})(1 - z_{\mu} \overline{z}_{\nu})} \right|^{2}$$

for all complex numbers  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ . These last inequalities are the exponentiation of the Goluzin inequalities.

(3) A generalization of the exponentiation of the Goluzin inequalities. The most significant thing we do, is to apply the Corollary to Schur's Theorem with the function  $\phi(z) = e^{qz} - 1$  with any 0 < q (instead of just q = 2 as was the case in (2) above). Clearly the entire function  $e^{qz} - 1 = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^m}{m!} \cdot z^m$  has positive coefficients, as requested by the assumptions of the corollary. The result is that for  $0 < q < \infty$  we have,

$$\left|\sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \gamma_{\mu}\right|^{2} \leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \left|\frac{z_{\mu}z_{\nu}}{f(z_{\mu})f(z_{\nu})} \cdot \frac{f(z_{\mu}) - f(z_{\nu})}{z_{\mu} - z_{\nu}} \cdot \frac{1}{1 - z_{\mu}\overline{z}_{\nu}}\right|^{q} \gamma_{\mu}\overline{\gamma}_{\nu}.$$

If the numbers  $\gamma_{\mu}$  are expressed as follows:

$$\gamma_{\mu} = \lambda_{\mu} \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu})}{z_{\mu}} \right|^{q}, \quad \mu = 1, \dots, n,$$

these inequalities become:

$$\left|\sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \lambda_{\mu} \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu})}{z_{\mu}} \right|^{q} \right|^{2} \leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \lambda_{\mu} \overline{\lambda}_{\nu} \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu}) - f(z_{\nu})}{(z_{\mu} - z_{\nu})(1 - z_{\mu} \overline{z}_{\nu})} \right|^{q}$$

for all complex numbers  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ .

#### **3** Generating Integral Inequalities

The very simple idea is to turn the inequalities on S we had in Sect. 2 into inequalities between Riemann sums. We will demonstrate in the current section an example of this technique. Before stating and proving our results on integral means we will need one more inequality for a function in S that will be tailored for our needs. A major difference between this new inequality and the standard inequalities in Sect. 2 is that in the coming inequality only the left hand side contains the function f (very similar to the various exponentiation of Goluzin inequalities). The right hand side is a concrete function of the parameters.

**Theorem 3.1** Let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ ,  $z_1, \ldots, z_n \in U$ ,  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $q \in \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $f \in S$ . Then

$$\left|\sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \alpha_{\mu} \frac{1}{|f'(z_{\mu})|^{q/2}} \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu})}{z_{\mu}} \right|^{q} \right|^{2} \leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \alpha_{\mu} \overline{\alpha}_{\nu} \frac{(1-|z_{\mu}|^{2})^{q/2}(1-|z_{\nu}|^{2})^{q/2}}{(|1-\overline{z}_{\mu}z_{\nu}|-|z_{\mu}-z_{\nu}|)^{2q}}.$$

**Proof** We start with the following elementary,

**Lemma 3.2** If  $f \in S$ ,  $z, w \in U$ , then,

$$\frac{1}{|f'(z)|} \cdot \frac{|f(w) - f(z)|}{|w - z||1 - \overline{z}w|} \le \frac{1 - |z|^2}{(|1 - \overline{z}w| - |z - w|)^2}$$

A proof of Lemma 3.2 For the variable  $\xi \in U$  and for a fixed  $z \in U$  we have,

$$h(\xi) = \frac{f\left(\frac{\xi + z}{1 + \overline{z}\xi}\right) - f(z)}{(1 - |z|^2)f'(z)} \in S.$$

Hence

$$h(\xi) \le \frac{|\xi|}{(1-|\xi|)^2}.$$

Let us denote  $w = \frac{\xi + z}{1 + \overline{z} \overline{\xi}}$ . Then  $\xi = \frac{w - z}{1 - \overline{z} w}$  and hence,

$$\frac{|\xi|}{(1-|\xi|)^2} = \frac{|w-z||1-\overline{z}w|}{(|1-\overline{z}w|-|z-w|)^2}$$

By the above 3 equations and inequalities,

$$\frac{f(w) - f(z)}{(1 - |z|^2)f'(z)} \le \frac{|w - z||1 - \overline{z}w|}{(|1 - \overline{z}w| - |z - w|)^2}.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.

Let us now express each  $\lambda_{\mu}$  in the last inequality of Sect. 2 as follows,

$$\lambda_{\mu} = \alpha_{\mu} \frac{1}{|f'(z_{\mu})|^{q/2}}, \quad \mu = 1, \dots, n.$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \alpha_{\mu} \frac{1}{|f'(z_{\mu})|^{q/2}} \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu})}{z_{\mu}} \right|^{q} \Big|^{2} &\leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \alpha_{\mu} \overline{\alpha}_{\nu} \left( \frac{1}{|f'(z_{\mu})|} \frac{1}{|f'(z_{\nu})|} \right)^{q/2} \times \\ &\times \left| \frac{f(z_{\mu}) - f(z_{\nu})}{(z_{\mu} - z_{\nu})(1 - z_{\mu} \overline{z}_{\nu})} \right|^{q} = \\ &= \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \alpha_{\mu} \overline{\alpha}_{\nu} \left| \frac{1}{f'(z_{\mu})} \cdot \frac{f(z_{\mu}) - f(z_{\nu})}{z_{\mu} - z_{\nu}} \cdot \frac{1}{1 - \overline{z}_{\mu} z_{\nu}} \right|^{q/2} \times \\ &\times \left| \frac{1}{f'(z_{\nu})} \cdot \frac{f(z_{\nu}) - f(z_{\mu})}{z_{\nu} - z_{\mu}} \cdot \frac{1}{1 - \overline{z}_{\nu} z_{\mu}} \right|^{q/2} \leq \\ &\leq \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \alpha_{\mu} \overline{\alpha}_{\nu} \frac{(1 - |z_{\mu}|^{2})^{q/2}(1 - |z_{\nu}|^{2})^{q/2}}{(|1 - \overline{z}_{\mu} z_{\nu}| - |z_{\mu} - z_{\nu}|)^{2q}}, \end{split}$$

where in the last step we used twice Lemma 3.2.

**Corollary 3.3** Let  $f \in S$  and  $q \in \mathbb{R}^+$ . Then: (1)

$$\left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{|f(re^{i\theta})|^q}{|f'(re^{i\theta})|^{q/2}} d\theta \right)^2 \le \frac{r^{2q} (1-r^2)^q}{(2\pi)^2} \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{dt ds}{(|1-r^2e^{i(s-t)}|-r|e^{it}-e^{is}|)^{2q}} \\ 0 \le r < 1.$$

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}|f(re^{i\theta})|^{q}d\theta\right)^{2} &\leq \frac{r^{q}}{(2\pi)^{2}}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\left|\frac{f(re^{is}) - f(re^{it})}{(e^{is} - e^{it})(1 - r^{2}e^{i(s-t)})}\right|^{q}dsdt = \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\left|\frac{r^{2}e^{is}}{1 - r^{2}e^{is}}\right|^{q}\left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\left|\frac{f(re^{i(s+t)}) - f(re^{it})}{re^{i(s+t)} - re^{it}}\right|^{q}dt\right)ds,\\ 0 &\leq r < 1. \end{split}$$

#### Proof

(1) In Theorem 3.1 let us take  $\alpha_{\mu} = \frac{1}{n}$ ,  $\mu = 1, ..., n$ ,  $z_{\mu} = re^{2\pi i \mu/n}$ . Then using the corresponding Riemann sum with equal distances  $\mu \frac{2\pi}{n}$ ,  $\mu = 1, ..., n$ , we get,

$$\left|\sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \alpha_{\mu} \frac{1}{|f'(re^{2\pi i\mu/n})|^{q/2}} \cdot \left|\frac{f(re^{2\pi i\mu/n})}{re^{2\pi i\mu/n}}\right|^{q}\right|^{2} \to_{n \to \infty}$$
$$\left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{|f(re^{i\theta})|^{q}}{|f'(re^{i\theta})|^{q/2}} \frac{d\theta}{rq}\right)^{2} = \frac{1}{r^{2q}} \left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \frac{|f(re^{i\theta})|^{q}}{|f'(re^{i\theta})|^{q/2}} d\theta\right)^{2}.$$

A similar argument applied to the right hand side gives for  $n \rightarrow \infty$  the following,

$$\left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\right)^2 \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{(1-r^2)^q ds dt}{(|1-r^2 e^{i(s-t)}| - |re^{is} - re^{it}|)^{2q}}.$$

(2) We take the data, and apply the same Riemann sums argument to the inequality at the end of Sect. 2 (A generalization of the exponentiation of Goluzin inequalities).

In order to express the next corollary we use the following two notations. Let f(z), g(z, w) be continuous functions defined on |z| = r and on |z| = |w| = r respectively. Then:

$$M_{\infty}(f(z), r) = \max_{|z|=r} |f(z)|, \ M_{\infty}(g(z, w), r) = \max_{|z|=|w|=r} |g(z, w)|.$$

**Corollary 3.4** Let  $f \in S$ . Then:

(1)

$$M_{\infty}\left(\frac{f(z)^{2}}{f'(z)}, r\right) \leq M_{\infty}\left(\frac{1}{(|1-\overline{z}w|-|w-z|)^{4}}, r\right) \times r^{4}(1-r^{2})^{2}.$$

(2)

$$M_{\infty}(f(z)^2, r) \le M_{\infty}\left(\frac{f(z) - f(w)}{(z - w)(1 - \overline{w}z)}, r\right) \times r^4.$$

**Proof** We raise the two inequalities of Corollary 3.3 to the power  $\frac{2}{q}$  and take the limits of the inequalities as  $q \to \infty$ .

One can use the above technique to derive many different integral inequalities on various expressions that involve  $f, f', f^{(2)}, f^{(3)}, \ldots$  for arbitrary  $f \in S$ .

#### 4 Using a Lemma of Hardy from 1915

**Lemma (Hardy, 1915)** *Let*  $\Phi(t)$  *be a real, twice differentiable function defined on*  $0 \le t < \infty$ . *Let* 

$$\Psi(t) = t \frac{d}{dt} \left\{ t \Phi'(t) \right\}, \quad 0 \le t < \infty.$$

Let  $f \in H(U)$  and let us denote:  $M_{\Phi}(f, r) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \Phi\left(|f(re^{i\theta})|\right) d\theta$ . If  $f(z) \neq 0$  for |z| = r then:

$$r\frac{d}{dr}\left\{rM'_{\Phi}(f,r)\right\} = \frac{r^2}{2\pi}\int_0^{2\pi}\Psi(|f(re^{i\theta})|)\left|\frac{f'(re^{i\theta})}{f(re^{i\theta})}\right|^2d\theta.$$

Here  $M'_{\Phi}(f,r) = \frac{d}{dr} \{ M_{\Phi}(f,r) \}.$ 

*Proof* (*Hardy*) Using the following 2 identities:

$$\begin{aligned} r\frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left| f(re^{i\theta}) \right| &= \left| f(re^{i\theta}) \right| \Re \left\{ (re^{i\theta}) \frac{f'(re^{i\theta})}{f(re^{i\theta})} \right\}, \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \left| f(re^{i\theta}) \right| &= - \left| f(re^{i\theta}) \right| \Im \left\{ (re^{i\theta}) \frac{f'(re^{i\theta})}{f(re^{i\theta})} \right\}, \end{aligned}$$

we obtain (here  $z = re^{i\theta}$ ):

$$\left(r\frac{\partial}{\partial r}\right)^2 \Phi(|f(z)|) + \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta}\right)^2 \Phi(|f(z)|) = \Psi(|f(z)|) \left|z\frac{f'(z)}{f(z)}\right|^2.$$

We integrate  $\int_0^{2\pi} \dots d\theta$  the last identity. The second element is 0. This gives the consequence.

We recall that  $M_{\lambda}(f, r)^{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} |f(re^{i\theta})|^{\lambda} d\theta$ . Let us take in Hardy's Lemma the following data:  $\Phi(t) = t^{\lambda}, 0 \le t < \infty$ , for  $\lambda \ge 2$ . A computation gives:  $\Psi(t) = t \frac{d}{dt} \{t \lambda t^{\lambda - 1}\} = \lambda^2 t^{\lambda}$  and we obtain the following integral identity:

$$r\frac{d}{dr}\left\{r(M_{\lambda}(f,r)^{\lambda}\right\} = \frac{\lambda^2 r^2}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(re^{i\theta})|^{\lambda-2} |f'(re^{i\theta})|^2 d\theta.$$

Integrating  $\int_0^r \dots dr$  gives us an identity that includes an area integral:

$$r(M_{\lambda}(f,r)^{\lambda})' = \frac{\lambda^2}{2\pi} \iint_{|z| \le r} |f(z)|^{\lambda - 2} |f'(z)|^2 d\sigma_z$$

**Theorem 4.1** Let  $f \in S$ ,  $\lambda \ge 2$ , then:

$$\lambda^2 \int_0^r \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi r} \iint_{|z| \le r} |f(z)|^{\lambda - 2} |f'(z)|^2 d\sigma_z \right\} dr \le \frac{r^\lambda}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |1 - re^{i\theta}|^{-2\lambda} d\theta, \quad 0 \le r < 1.$$

Equality sign holds only if f(z) is a rotation of the Koebe function  $k(z) = z(1-z)^{-2}$ . **Proof** Using the result above of Hardy with  $\Phi(t) = t^{\lambda}$  we obtain

$$\lambda^2 \int_0^r \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi r} \iint_{|z| \le r} |f(z)|^{\lambda - 2} |f'(z)|^2 d\sigma_z \right\} dr = M_\lambda(f, r)^\lambda.$$

Using the celebrated theorem of Al Baernstein from [1], we have:

$$M_{\lambda}(f,r)^{\lambda} \leq \frac{r^{\lambda}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} |1 - re^{i\theta}|^{-2\lambda} d\theta,$$

with equality only if f is a rotation of the Koebe function, k(z).

## 5 Estimating the Distance from $f(z_0)$ to $\partial f(U)$ Using Sequences that Converge to $z_0$

**Theorem 5.1** Let  $f \in H(U)$  be an injective mapping on U. Then for any sequence  $\{z_{\nu}\}_{1}^{\infty}$  of distinct points in U such that  $z_{0} = \lim z_{\nu} \in U$  we have the following estimates:

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left| \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \frac{f(z_{\nu})}{\prod_{\omega \neq \nu} (z_{\omega} - z_{\nu})} \right|^{1/n} \le \frac{1}{1 - |z_0|}.$$
$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \left| \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \frac{z_{\mu}}{\prod_{\omega \neq \mu} (f(z_{\omega}) - f(z_{\mu}))} \right|^{1/n} \le \frac{1}{d_{z_0}}.$$

Here  $d_{z_0} = \min\{|f(z_0) - w| | w \in \partial f(U)\}$  the distance from  $f(z_0)$  to the boundary of the image  $\partial f(U)$ . In particular we have an upper bound for that distance:

$$d_{z_0} \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \left| \sum_{\mu=1}^n \frac{z_{\mu}}{\prod_{\omega \neq \mu} (f(z_{\omega}) - f(z_{\mu}))} \right|^{-1/n}$$

**Proof** We will use a theorem from the author's Masters thesis, [5]. It follows also from a result of Ivar Otto Bendixon. According to this theorem, if g(z) is an analytic function in a neighborhood of  $z_0$ , and if  $\{z_\mu\}_1^\infty$  is a sequence in that neighborhood and  $\lim z_\mu = z_0$ , then the radius of convergence of the power series of g centered at  $z_0$ , R, is given by the following formula:

$$\frac{1}{R} = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \left| \sum_{\mu=1}^{n} \frac{g(z_{\mu})}{\prod_{\omega \neq \mu} (z_{\omega} - z_{\mu})} \right|^{1/n}$$

In our case f is analytic in a neighborhood of  $z_0$  with the radius of convergence about  $z_0$ , at least  $1 - |z_0|$ . This gives the first estimate in our theorem. Also  $f^{-1}$  is analytic in a neighborhood of  $f(z_0)$  and its radius of convergence about  $f(z_0)$  is at least  $d_{z_0}$ . This gives the second (and hence the third) estimate.

#### References

- 1. A. Baernstein, Integral means, univalent functions and circular symmetrization. Acta Math. **133**, 139–169 (1974)
- 2. P.L. Duren, Univalent functions, in *A Series of Comprehensive Studies in Mathematics*, vol. 259(5) (Springer, New York, 1983)

- 3. J. Feng, T.H. MacGregor, Estimates on integral means of the derivatives of univalent functions. J. Analyse Math. **29**, 203–231 (1976)
- 4. A.J. Lohwater, G. Piranian, W. Rudin, On the derivative of a schlicht function. Math. Scand. **3**, 103–106 (1955)
- 5. R. Peretz, Analytic image of a convergent sequence. A Technion Masters thesis (1980)

## **Complex Ternary Analysis and Applications**



M. B. Vajiac

Abstract In this paper the author is presenting a theory of functions on complex ternary algebras. The theory developed here is a particular case of the more general case discussed in a volume the author is preparing in collaboration with A. Vajiac and a continuation of the real ternary case developed in Alpay et al. (Adv Appl Clifford Algebr 28:1–16, 2018). The complex ternary algebra has a dual nature: on one side, it is a one–dimensional (one ternary variable) theory generated by an element that cubes to  $\pm 1$ , on the other it behaves as a theory of one bicomplex variable and one complex variable entangled by algebra relations.

Keywords Ternary · Complex · Bicomplex · Hypercomplex

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000) Primary 99Z99; Secondary 00A00

### 1 Introduction

In recent years the theory of hypercomplex analysis has taken new directions towards more exotic examples such as the ternary case, in part due to possible applications in signal processing, physics, etc. Hypercomplex numbers over  $\mathbb{Q}$  have been studied by E. Artin et al. [6] in the context of analytic number theory, and recently (over  $\mathbb{R}$ ) by physicists such as Catoni et al. [8] in the study of Minkowski space–time geometry and physics. The study of hypercomplex numbers is traced back the nineteenth century, when it formed the basis of modern group representation theory.

In this paper the author is presenting a theory of functions on complex ternary algebras, a generalization of structures that were first brought to light in [1, 14, 16]. In general, the interest in ternary algebras (as well as *n*-ary algebras) has

M. B. Vajiac (🖂)

Chapman University, One University Drive, Orange, CA, USA e-mail: mbvajiac@chapman.edu

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

D. Alpay et al. (eds.), *New Directions in Function Theory: From Complex to Hypercomplex to Non-Commutative*, Operator Theory: Advances

and Applications 286, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-76473-9\_12
been rekindled in recent years through the work of Rausch de Traubenberg and Kerner [1, 14, 16] and some interesting applications in physics [12, 13]. For more generalization from an algebraic point of view, one could see [18].

The theory developed here is a particular case of the more general case discussed in a volume the author is preparing in collaboration with A. Vajiac and a continuation of the real ternary case developed in [5]. The author is also collaborating on a Clifford ternary analysis project that would allow a cubic factorization of the Laplacian and one can obtain a Dirac-type operator in this case. Historically, Clifford analysis has been used to factor the n-dimensional Laplacian via the regular Dirac operator, however, new structures are needed for factorizations of different degrees. This work can be found in [9, 10].

The complex ternary algebra has a dual nature: on one side, it is a onedimensional (one ternary variable) theory generated by an element that cubes to  $\pm 1$ , on the other it behaves as a theory of one bicomplex variable and one complex variable entangled by algebra relations. In the general case, these types of algebras have known a resurgence in importance. The ternary algebras are also related to certain symmetries in high energy physics allowing one to explain, for example, the three color and three family problems of the Standard Model. Moreover, ternary algebras are known to be a strong candidate for the *algebraic confinement* model for the problem of observability of three quarks/anti-quarks in Quantum Field Theory.

The paper is structured as follows: in Sect. 2 we define the ternary complex algebra structure, then we describe the various types of norms in this case in Sect. 3. In Sect. 4 we describe the analytic function theory in this case, while in Sect. 5 we describe several applications to Cauchy–Kowalevskaya type Theorem in several cases. We conclude with a small Sect. 6 of conclusions and future planned work.

# 2 Complex Ternary Algebra

The *ternary algebra* is a particular case of a *hypercomplex algebra*  $\mathbb{HF}_3$  of dimension three (see [6]), initially constructed from a generic unit (i.e. not in the field *F*) that cubes to  $\pm 1$  and extended linearly over a field  $\mathbb{F}$  (in our case  $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{C}$ ), as follows. Consider three units

$$\mathbf{e}_1 = \mathbf{1}, \quad \mathbf{e}_2, \quad \mathbf{e}_3 = \mathbf{e}_2^2,$$
 (2.1)

where  $\mathbf{e}_2^3 = 1$ , having the commutative multiplication table:

•	1	<b>e</b> <sub>2</sub>	<b>e</b> <sub>3</sub>
1	1	<b>e</b> <sub>2</sub>	<b>e</b> <sub>3</sub>
<b>e</b> <sub>2</sub>	<b>e</b> <sub>2</sub>	<b>e</b> <sub>3</sub>	1
<b>e</b> <sub>3</sub>	<b>e</b> <sub>3</sub>	1	<b>e</b> <sub>2</sub>

The case when  $\mathbf{e}_2^3 = -1$  is very similar and has been introduced in [5]. Following [6], the structure constants matrices are:

$$\Gamma_{1} = (\Gamma_{1j}^{\ell})_{\ell j} = I_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \Gamma_{2} = (\Gamma_{2j}^{\ell})_{\ell j} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
  
$$\Gamma_{3} = (\Gamma_{3j}^{\ell})_{\ell j} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.3)

Notice that  $\Gamma_{km}^{\ell} = \Gamma_{mk}^{\ell}$ , equivalent to the fact that  $\mathbb{HF}_3$  is a commutative algebra. Moreover,  $\Gamma_2 = (\Gamma_3)^t$ . A *ternary number* is written as

$$\mathbf{z} = z_1 \mathbf{1} + z_2 \mathbf{e}_2 + z_3 \mathbf{e}_3, \tag{2.4}$$

where  $z_{\ell} \in \mathbb{F}$ . Following [6], the *associated matrix* of the ternary number is given by the circulant matrix  $S(\mathbf{z})$ :

$$S(\mathbf{z}) = \begin{bmatrix} z_1 & z_3 & z_2 \\ z_2 & z_1 & z_3 \\ z_3 & z_2 & z_1 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{M}_3(\mathbb{F}).$$
(2.5)

Remark 2.1 In this case the transpose of the structure matrix is given by:

$$S(\mathbf{z})^{t} = \begin{bmatrix} z_{1} & z_{2} & z_{3} \\ z_{3} & z_{1} & z_{2} \\ z_{2} & z_{3} & z_{1} \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.6)

which corresponds to the ternary number  $\mathbf{z}^t = z_1 \mathbf{1} + z_3 \mathbf{e}_2 + z_2 \mathbf{e}_3$ , and we have:

$$\mathbf{z}\mathbf{z}^{t} = (z_{1}\mathbf{1} + z_{2}\mathbf{e}_{2} + z_{3}\mathbf{e}_{3})(z_{1}\mathbf{1} + z_{3}\mathbf{e}_{2} + z_{2}\mathbf{e}_{3})$$
$$= (z_{1}^{2} + z_{2}^{2} + z_{3}^{2})\mathbf{1} + (z_{1}z_{2} + z_{2}z_{3} + z_{3}z_{1})\mathbf{e}_{2} + (z_{1}z_{2} + z_{2}z_{3} + z_{3}z_{1})\mathbf{e}_{3}.$$

Note also that  $\mathbf{e}_2^t = \mathbf{e}_3$ , thus  $\mathbf{e}_3^t = \mathbf{e}_2$ , and  $\mathbf{e}_2\mathbf{e}_2^t = \mathbf{e}_3\mathbf{e}_3^t = 1$ .

*Remark 2.2* In the case of the mirror ternary algebra given by  $\mathbf{e}_2^3 = -1$  one obtains, as expected:

$$S(\mathbf{z}) = \begin{bmatrix} z_1 & z_3 & z_2 \\ -z_2 & z_1 & z_3 \\ -z_3 & -z_2 & z_1 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{M}_3(\mathbb{F}).$$
(2.7)

Here the matrix is called *anticirculant*, as studied in [20].

In this paper we study the case when the scalar field  $\mathbb{F} = \mathbb{C}$  and we denote the complex ternary algebra by  $\mathbb{TC}$ . We now prove a primary decomposition theorem in this case:

**Theorem 2.3** The algebra  $\mathbb{TC}$  decomposes as a direct sum of three ideals:

$$\mathbb{TC} = \langle \epsilon_1 \rangle \oplus \langle \epsilon_2 \rangle \oplus \langle \epsilon_3 \rangle$$

where  $\{\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2, \epsilon_3\}$  is an idempotent basis of  $\mathbb{TC}$ , given by:

$$\epsilon_1 = \frac{1}{3}(\mathbf{1} + \mathbf{e}_2 + \mathbf{e}_3), \qquad \epsilon_2 = \frac{1}{3}(\mathbf{1} + \psi \mathbf{e}_2 + \psi^2 \mathbf{e}_3), \qquad \epsilon_3 = \frac{1}{3}(\mathbf{1} + \psi^2 \mathbf{e}_2 + \psi \mathbf{e}_3),$$
(2.8)

where  $\psi$  is the complex primary root of unity, with the usual properties. Therefore, any complex ternary number  $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{TC}$  has the following idempotent representation:

$$\mathbf{z} = \lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_1 + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_2 + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_3, \tag{2.9}$$

where  $\lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{z}) \in \mathbb{C}$  are the idempotent coordinates of  $\mathbf{z}$ .

**Proof** As the complex ternary algebra  $\mathbb{TC}$  is commutative, for simplicity we compute the eigenvalues and eigenvectors of the matrix associated to the units  $\mathbf{e}_2$ , then  $\mathbf{e}_3$  and then we use linearity for determining the eigenvalues of a general complex ternary number  $\mathbf{z}$ . We have:

$$S(\mathbf{e}_2) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad S(\mathbf{e}_3) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.10)

The two characteristic polynomials are the same:

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{e}_2}(\lambda) = \sigma_{\mathbf{e}_3}(\lambda) = \det(\lambda I - S(\mathbf{e}_2)) = \det(\lambda I - S(\mathbf{e}_3))$$
$$= \lambda^3 - 1 = (\lambda - 1)(\lambda^2 + \lambda + 1),$$

thus there are three simple complex eigenvalues in each case. For  $\ell = 2$ , we denote:

$$\lambda_1(\mathbf{e}_2) = 1, \quad \lambda_2(\mathbf{e}_2) = \overline{\psi} = \frac{1}{2}(-1 - \sqrt{3}\mathbf{i}) \in \mathbb{C}, \quad \lambda_3(\mathbf{e}_2) = \psi = \frac{1}{2}(-1 + \sqrt{3}\mathbf{i}) \in \mathbb{C},$$

where  $\psi, \overline{\psi} \in \mathbb{C}$  are the usual non-trivial complex roots of 1. Since  $\mathbf{e}_3 = \mathbf{e}_2^2$ , and  $\mathbf{e}_2$  has simple eigenvalues and obviously commutes with  $\mathbf{e}_3$ , we obtain:  $\lambda_k(\mathbf{e}_3) = \lambda_k(\mathbf{e}_2)^2$ , for  $1 \le k \le 3$ , and we have the corresponding eigenvalues for  $\mathbf{e}_3$ :

$$\lambda_1(\mathbf{e}_3) = 1, \qquad \lambda_2(\mathbf{e}_3) = \overline{\psi}^2 = \psi, \qquad \lambda_3(\mathbf{e}_3) = \psi^2 = \overline{\psi}.$$

Three corresponding linear independent eigenvectors of  $S(\mathbf{e}_2)$  and  $S(\mathbf{e}_3)$  are:

$$\overrightarrow{u_1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1\\1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \overrightarrow{u_2} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\\psi\\\psi^2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \overrightarrow{u_3} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\\psi^2\\\psi \end{bmatrix},$$

thus their corresponding complex ternary numbers are:

$$\mathbf{u}_1 = \mathbf{1} + \mathbf{e}_2 + \mathbf{e}_3, \qquad \mathbf{u}_2 = \mathbf{1} + \psi \mathbf{e}_2 + \psi^2 \mathbf{e}_3, \qquad \mathbf{u}_3 = \mathbf{1} + \psi^2 \mathbf{e}_2 + \psi \mathbf{e}_3.$$

Therefore, for a generic  $\mathbf{z} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} z_k \mathbf{e}_k \in \mathbb{TC}$ , the eigenvalue problem of  $S(\mathbf{z})$  yields the following expressions for the eigenvalues of a generic complex ternary number:

$$\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) = z_1 + z_2\lambda_1(\mathbf{e}_2) + z_3\lambda_1(\mathbf{e}_3) = z_1 + z_2 + z_3,$$
  

$$\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) = z_1 + z_2\lambda_2(\mathbf{e}_2) + z_3\lambda_2(\mathbf{e}_3) = z_1 + \psi^2 z_2 + \psi z_3,$$
  

$$\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) = z_1 + z_2\lambda_3(\mathbf{e}_2) + z_3\lambda_3(\mathbf{e}_3) = z_1 + \psi z_2 + \psi^2 z_3.$$

The characteristic polynomial of  $\mathbf{z}$  is given by:

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{z}}(X) = X^3 - 3z_1 X^2 + (3z_1^2 - 3z_1 z_2 z_3) X - \det S(\mathbf{z}),$$

where

$$\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) = \operatorname{trace}(S(\mathbf{z})) = 3z_1,$$
  

$$\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) = 3z_1^2 - 3z_1z_2z_3,$$
  

$$\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) = \det(S(\mathbf{z})) = z_1^3 + z_2^3 + z_3^3 - 3z_1z_2z_3.$$

It follows that any complex ternary number  $\mathbf{z} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} z_{\ell} \mathbf{e}_{\ell} \in \mathbb{TC}$  is written in both *idempotent* and *standard* bases as:

$$\mathbf{z} = \lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_1 + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_2 + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_3$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{3}(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{1} + \frac{1}{3}(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{e}_2$   
+  $\frac{1}{3}(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{e}_3.$ 

This gives the inverse formulas for the change of basis:

$$z_1 = \frac{1}{3} \left( \lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) \right),$$
  

$$z_2 = \frac{1}{3} \left( \lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2 \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) \right),$$
  

$$z_3 = \frac{1}{3} \left( \lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2 \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) \right),$$

and the decomposition of  $\mathbb{TC}$  follows immediately.

*Remark 2.4* We chose to include the computational details of the previous theorem, as it gives a solid foundation to the seemingly "magical" choices found in literature in [1, 14].

# 2.1 Conjugates and the Idempotent Representation

As in the other commutative theory of bicomplex and multicomplex algebras [17, 19], using the idempotent representation we can build two associated conjugates to each ternary number:

**Definition 2.5** For the ternary number  $z = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_k(z) \epsilon_k$  we define:

$$z^{\dagger} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_{[k+1]}(z) \epsilon_k,$$
$$z^* = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_{[k+2]}(z) \epsilon_k,$$

where the square brackets represent permutations of the  $\lambda$ 's. (E.g.  $\lambda_{[2+2]} = \lambda_1$ .)

*Example* For the ternary number  $\mathbf{e}_2$ , written in this idempotent representation as  $\mathbf{e}_2 = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_k(\mathbf{e}_2)\epsilon_k = \epsilon_1 + \psi^2 \epsilon_2 + \psi \epsilon_3$ , we have these two conjugates:

$$\mathbf{e}_{2}^{\dagger} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_{[k+1]}(\mathbf{e}_{2})\epsilon_{k} = \psi\epsilon_{1} + \epsilon_{2} + \psi^{2}\epsilon_{3} = \psi\mathbf{e}_{2},$$
$$\mathbf{e}_{2}^{*} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_{[k+2]}(\mathbf{e}_{2})\epsilon_{k} = \psi^{2}\epsilon_{1} + \psi\epsilon_{2} + \epsilon_{3} = \psi^{2}\mathbf{e}_{2}.$$

Similarly, since  $\mathbf{e}_3 = (\mathbf{e}_2)^2$ , we have:

$$\mathbf{e}_{3} = \epsilon_{1} + \psi \epsilon_{2} + \psi^{2} \epsilon_{3},$$
  
$$\mathbf{e}_{3}^{\dagger} = \psi^{2} \epsilon_{1} + \epsilon_{2} + \psi \epsilon_{3} = \psi^{2} \mathbf{e}_{3},$$
  
$$\mathbf{e}_{3}^{*} = \psi \epsilon_{1} + \psi^{2} \epsilon_{2} + \epsilon_{3} = \psi \mathbf{e}_{3}.$$

Note that

$$\mathbf{e}_2 \mathbf{e}_2^{\dagger} = \psi \mathbf{e}_2^2 = \psi \mathbf{e}_3, \qquad \mathbf{e}_2 \mathbf{e}_2^* = \psi^2 \mathbf{e}_2^2 = \psi^2 \mathbf{e}_3, \qquad \mathbf{e}_2^{\dagger} \mathbf{e}_2^* = \mathbf{e}_2^2 = \mathbf{e}_3,$$

and we have the following:

*Remark 2.6* A simple consequence of the fact that the characteristic polynomial  $\mathbf{e}_2$  is equal to  $S(\mathbf{e}_2) = \lambda^3 - 1$  is:

$$\mathbf{e}_{2} + \mathbf{e}_{2}^{\dagger} + \mathbf{e}_{2}^{*} = \mathbf{e}_{2}\mathbf{e}_{2}^{\dagger} + \mathbf{e}_{2}\mathbf{e}_{2}^{*} + \mathbf{e}_{2}^{\dagger}\mathbf{e}_{2}^{*} = 0$$
  
 $\mathbf{e}_{2}\mathbf{e}_{2}^{\dagger}\mathbf{e}_{2}^{*} = \mathbf{1} = \det(S(\mathbf{e}_{2})).$ 

Remark 2.7 The two conjugations are not involutive, as:

$$\epsilon_1^{\dagger} = \epsilon_2, \qquad \epsilon_2^{\dagger} = \epsilon_3, \qquad \epsilon_3^{\dagger} = \epsilon_1,$$

and

$$\epsilon_1^* = \epsilon_3, \qquad \epsilon_2^* = \epsilon_1, \qquad \epsilon_3^* = \epsilon_2$$

**Lemma 2.8** For a generic  $\mathbf{z} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} z_k \mathbf{e}_k = z_1 \mathbf{1} + z_2 \mathbf{e}_2 + z_3 \mathbf{e}_3 \in \mathbb{TC}$ , the two conjugates of  $\mathbf{z}$  are given by:

$$\mathbf{z}^{\dagger} = z_1 \mathbf{1} + \psi z_2 \mathbf{e}_2 + \psi^2 z_3 \mathbf{e}_3,$$
  
$$\mathbf{z}^* = z_1 \mathbf{1} + \psi^2 z_2 \mathbf{e}_2 + \psi z_3 \mathbf{e}_3.$$

*Proof* To show the intricacies of the conjugations, we write the following computation which yields the proof:

$$\mathbf{z}^{\dagger} = (\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_1 + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_2 + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_3)^{\dagger} = \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_1 + \lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_2 + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_3$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{3}(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{1} + \frac{1}{3}\psi(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{e}_2$$
  
$$+ \frac{1}{3}\psi^2(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{e}_3$$
  
$$= z_1\mathbf{1} + \psi z_2\mathbf{e}_2 + \psi^2 z_3\mathbf{e}_3,$$

П

and

$$\mathbf{z}^* = (\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_1 + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_2 + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_3)^*$$
  
=  $\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_1 + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_2 + \lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_3$   
=  $\frac{1}{3}(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{1} + \frac{1}{3}\psi^2(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{e}_2$   
+  $\frac{1}{3}\psi(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{e}_3$   
=  $z_1\mathbf{1} + \psi^2 z_2\mathbf{e}_2 + \psi z_3\mathbf{e}_3.$ 

It is also true that both conjugations are linear operators, so they can be computed directly from the conjugations of the standard basis elements:

$$\mathbf{z}^{\dagger} = z_1 \mathbf{1} + z_2 \mathbf{e}_2^{\dagger} + z_3 \mathbf{e}_3^{\dagger},$$
$$\mathbf{z}^* = z_1 \mathbf{1} + z_2 \mathbf{e}_2^* + z_3 \mathbf{e}_3^*.$$

*Remark 2.9* We have the following useful relations:

$$\mathbf{z} + \mathbf{z}^{\dagger} + \mathbf{z}^{*} = \lambda_{1}(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z}) = 3z_{1}\mathbf{1},$$
  
$$\mathbf{z}\mathbf{z}^{\dagger}\mathbf{z}^{*} = \lambda_{1}(\mathbf{z})\lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z})\lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z}) \cdot \mathbf{1} = \det(S(\mathbf{z}))\mathbf{1} = (z_{1}^{3} + z_{2}^{3} + z_{3}^{3} - 3z_{1}z_{2}z_{3})\mathbf{1},$$
  
$$(\mathbf{z}^{\dagger})^{\dagger} = \mathbf{z}^{*}, \quad (\mathbf{z}^{\dagger})^{*} = \mathbf{z}, \quad (\mathbf{z}^{*})^{*} = \mathbf{z}^{\dagger}.$$

Since neither of these conjugates is an involution, we will give them the moniker of *simple conjugates* instead.

**Definition 2.10** We define the *total conjugate* of **z** to be the product of the simple ones, i.e.  $\overline{\mathbf{z}} := (\mathbf{z}^{\dagger})(z^*)$ .

*Remark 2.11* This conjugate is also not involutive, however, since  $z\overline{z} = det(S(z))\mathbf{1}$  we can use it to define an inverse for the ternary complex number.

# 2.2 An Alternative Basis

In an algebra of this type there are important elements that help define additional analytic structures; these are obtained from the usual basis through a linear transformation. We now mention a useful alternative basis that simplifies calculations and relates the ternary complex algebra with other known examples. This new basis turns out to be very useful also in the study of the real ternary algebra  $\mathbb{TR}$ .

**Definition 2.12** The *symmetric basis* for  $\mathbb{TC}$  is defined as follows:

$$\kappa_1 := \epsilon_1 = \frac{1}{3} (\mathbf{1} + \mathbf{e}_2 + \mathbf{e}_3), \qquad \kappa_2 := \epsilon_2 + \epsilon_3 = \frac{1}{3} (2 - \mathbf{e}_2 - \mathbf{e}_3),$$
  
$$\kappa_3 := -\mathbf{i} (\epsilon_2 - \epsilon_3) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (\mathbf{e}_2 - \mathbf{e}_3).$$

It is obvious that  $\{\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \kappa_3\}$  is a basis of  $\mathbb{TC}$  and we have the following properties for the symmetric basis elements:

$$(\kappa_{1})^{2} = \epsilon_{1}^{2} = \epsilon_{1} = \kappa_{1}, \qquad (\kappa_{2})^{2} = \epsilon_{2}^{2} + \epsilon_{3}^{2} = \epsilon_{2} + \epsilon_{3} = \kappa_{2},$$
  

$$(\kappa_{3})^{2} = -(\epsilon_{2}^{2} + \epsilon_{3}^{2}) = -(\epsilon_{2} + \epsilon_{3}) = -\kappa_{2},$$
  

$$\kappa_{2}\kappa_{3} = -\mathbf{i}(\epsilon_{2}^{2} - \epsilon_{3}^{2}) = -\mathbf{i}(\epsilon_{2} - \epsilon_{3}) = \kappa_{3}, \qquad \kappa_{1}\kappa_{2} = \kappa_{1}\kappa_{3} = 0, \qquad \kappa_{1} + \kappa_{2} = \mathbf{1}.$$
  
(2.11)

The inverse change of base formulae from the symmetric to the idempotent ones are given by:

$$\epsilon_1 = \kappa_1, \qquad \epsilon_2 = \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 + \mathbf{i}\kappa_3), \qquad \epsilon_3 = \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 - \mathbf{i}\kappa_3).$$

Considering an arbitrary complex ternary number  $\mathbf{z}$ , we can now write it in all three standard, idempotent and symmetric bases as follows:

$$\mathbf{z} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} z_{\ell} \mathbf{e}_{\ell} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_k(\mathbf{z}) \epsilon_k = \sum_{j=1}^{3} w_j(\mathbf{z}) \kappa_j,$$

where the symmetric coordinates  $w_i(\mathbf{z})$  are given by:

$$\mathbf{z} = \lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\kappa_1 + \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_2 + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) - \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_3$$
  
=  $(z_1 + z_2 + z_3)\kappa_1 + \frac{1}{2}(2z_1 - z_2 - z_3)\kappa_2 + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}(z_2 - z_3)\kappa_3$   
=:  $w_1(\mathbf{z})\kappa_1 + w_2(\mathbf{z})\kappa_2 + w_3(\mathbf{z})\kappa_3.$  (2.12)

For simplicity of notation we will omit (z) from now on, in all coordinates corresponding to the three types of basis.

The simple conjugations of the symmetric basis elements in  $\mathbb{TC}$  are as follows:

$$\kappa_1^{\dagger} = \epsilon_1^{\dagger} = \epsilon_2 = \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 + \mathbf{i}\kappa_3),$$
  

$$\kappa_2^{\dagger} = \epsilon_2^{\dagger} + \epsilon_3^{\dagger} = \epsilon_3 + \epsilon_1 = \kappa_1 + \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 - \mathbf{i}\kappa_3),$$
  

$$\kappa_3^{\dagger} = -\mathbf{i}(\epsilon_2^{\dagger} - \epsilon_3^{\dagger}) = \mathbf{i}(\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_3) = \mathbf{i}\kappa_1 - \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(\kappa_2 - \mathbf{i}\kappa_3).$$

For an arbitrary ternary number  $\mathbf{z} = w_1 \kappa_1 + w_2 \kappa_2 + w_3 \kappa_3 \in \mathbb{TC}$ , we obtain:

$$\mathbf{z}^{\dagger} = w_1 \kappa_1^{\dagger} + w_2 \kappa_2^{\dagger} + w_3 \kappa_3^{\dagger}$$
  
=  $(w_2 + \mathbf{i}w_3)\kappa_1 + \frac{1}{2}(w_1 + w_2 - \mathbf{i}w_3)\kappa_2 + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(w_1 - w_2 + \mathbf{i}w_3)\kappa_3$  (2.13)

Similarly, the \*–conjugates of  $\kappa_{\ell}$  are:

$$\kappa_1^* = \epsilon_1^* = \epsilon_3 = \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 - \mathbf{i}\kappa_3),$$
  

$$\kappa_2^* = \epsilon_2^* + \epsilon_3^* = \epsilon_1 + \epsilon_2 = \kappa_1 + \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 + \mathbf{i}\kappa_3),$$
  

$$\kappa_3^* = -\mathbf{i}(\epsilon_2^* - \epsilon_3^*) = -\mathbf{i}(\epsilon_1 - \epsilon_2) = -\mathbf{i}\kappa_1 + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(\kappa_2 + \mathbf{i}\kappa_3),$$

therefore we have:

$$\mathbf{z}^{*} = w_{1}\kappa_{1}^{*} + w_{2}\kappa_{2}^{*} + w_{3}\kappa_{3}^{*}$$
  
=  $(w_{2} - \mathbf{i}w_{3})\kappa_{1} + \frac{1}{2}(w_{1} + w_{2} + \mathbf{i}w_{3})\kappa_{2} + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(-w_{1} + w_{2} + \mathbf{i}w_{3})\kappa_{3}.$  (2.14)

The total conjugate is given by:

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{\mathbf{z}} &= \mathbf{z}^{\dagger} \mathbf{z}^{*} = (z_{1}^{2} - z_{2} z_{3}) \mathbf{1} + (z_{3}^{2} - z_{1} z_{2}) \mathbf{e}_{2} + (z_{2}^{2} - z_{1} z_{3}) \mathbf{e}_{3} \\ &= \lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z}) \lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z}) \epsilon_{1} + \lambda_{1}(\mathbf{z}) \lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z}) \epsilon_{2} + \lambda_{1}(\mathbf{z}) \lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z}) \epsilon_{3} \\ &= (w_{2}^{2} + w_{3}^{2}) \kappa_{1} + (w_{1} w_{2}) \kappa_{2} - (w_{1} w_{3}) \kappa_{3}, \end{aligned}$$

and the determinant of  $S(\mathbf{z})$  is given by:

$$\det(S(\mathbf{z})) = \mathbf{z}\mathbf{z}^{\dagger}\mathbf{z}^* = w_1(w_2^2 + w_3^2) \in \mathbb{C}.$$

# 2.3 The Real Ternary Algebra

An interesting application of the complex case becomes the real ternary case, as studies in [5] In this section we restrict a complex ternary number to real coordinates, i.e.  $\mathbf{z} =: \mathbf{x} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} x_{\ell} \mathbf{e}_{\ell}$ , with  $x_{\ell} \in \mathbb{R}$ . We denote the real ternary algebra by  $\mathbb{TR}$ .

*Remark 2.13* The matrix  $S(\mathbf{x})$  has the same form (2.5) only that it has real entries. However, its eigenvalues and eigenvectors take  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -complex valued coefficients:

$$\lambda_1(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 + x_2 + x_3, \qquad \lambda_2(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 + \psi^2 x_2 + \psi x_3, \qquad \lambda_3(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 + \psi x_2 + \psi^2 x_3.$$

Nevertheless, the sum and difference of  $\lambda_2(\mathbf{x})$  and  $\lambda_3(\mathbf{x})$  have either real or purely imaginary coefficients, which will allow the coefficients of  $\mathbf{x}$  in the symmetric base to remain real:

$$\lambda_2(\mathbf{x}) + \lambda_3(\mathbf{x}) = 2x_1 + (\psi^2 + \psi)x_2 + (\psi + \psi^2)x_3 = 2x_1 - x_2 - x_3,$$
  
$$\lambda_2(\mathbf{x}) - \lambda_3(\mathbf{x}) = (\psi^2 - \psi)x_2 + (\psi - \psi^2)x_3 = -\sqrt{3}\mathbf{i}(x_2 - x_3).$$

In this view, the symmetric basis comes to the rescue, as it becomes the only valuable way to intrinsically describe  $\mathbb{TR}$ . We noticed that the elements of the complex symmetric basis { $\kappa_1$ ,  $\kappa_2$ ,  $\kappa_3$ } are already in  $\mathbb{TR}$ . Adapting the writings (2.12) for a real ternary number **x**, we obtain:

$$\mathbf{x} = \lambda_1(\mathbf{x})\kappa_1 + \frac{1}{2}(\lambda_2(\mathbf{x}) + \lambda_3(\mathbf{x}))\kappa_2 + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(\lambda_2(\mathbf{x}) - \lambda_3(\mathbf{x}))\kappa_3$$
  
=  $(x_1 + x_2 + x_3)\kappa_1 + \frac{1}{2}(2x_1 - x_2 - x_3)\kappa_2 + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}(x_2 - x_3)\kappa_3$   
=  $w_1(\mathbf{x})\kappa_1 + w_2(\mathbf{x})\kappa_2 + w_3(\mathbf{x})\kappa_3$ , (2.15)

with  $w_{\ell}(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}$ . The change of base formulas from the standard basis to the real symmetric basis are:

$$w_1(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 + x_2 + x_3, \quad w_2(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{2}(2x_1 - x_2 - x_3), \quad w_3(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}(x_2 - x_3),$$
  

$$x_1 = \frac{1}{3}(w_1(\mathbf{x}) + 2w_2(\mathbf{x})), \quad x_2 = \frac{1}{3}(w_1(\mathbf{x}) - w_2(\mathbf{x}) + \sqrt{3}w_3(\mathbf{x})),$$
  

$$x_3 = \frac{1}{3}(w_1(\mathbf{x}) - w_2(\mathbf{x}) - \sqrt{3}w_3(\mathbf{x})).$$

*Remark 2.14* A real ternary number can be viewed, roughly, as a split in a real number  $w_1(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}$  and a complex–type number  $\zeta(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{C}[\kappa_2; \kappa_3]$ , as  $\kappa_3^2 = -\kappa_2$ :

$$\mathbf{x} = w_1(\mathbf{x})\kappa_1 + \zeta(\mathbf{x})\kappa_2 := w_1(\mathbf{x})\kappa_1 + (w_2(\mathbf{x})\kappa_2 + w_3(\mathbf{x})\kappa_3)\kappa_2, \quad (2.16)$$

with  $\kappa_1$  and  $\kappa_2$  being a partition of the unity:  $\kappa_1 + \kappa_2 = \mathbf{1}$ .

This fact does not imply that  $\mathbb{TR}$  is merely a product  $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{R}$ , the same as  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$  is not the same as  $\mathbb{C}$ . The algebra allowing multiplication of "vectors" in  $\mathbb{TR}$  plays a very important role, as it does in the traditional complex case.

Multiplication in the writing (2.16) is realized component–wise, as  $\kappa_1 \kappa_2 = 0$ :

$$\mathbf{x}\mathbf{y} = w_1(\mathbf{x})w_1(\mathbf{y})\kappa_1 + \zeta(\mathbf{x})\zeta(\mathbf{y})\kappa_2,$$

where  $\zeta(\mathbf{x})\zeta(\mathbf{y})$  is the complex product in  $\mathbb{C}[\kappa_2; \kappa_3]$ .

For  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{TR}$ , its conjugates  $\mathbf{x}^{\dagger}$  and  $\mathbf{x}^{*}$  are not in  $\mathbb{TR}$ , this would happen only when  $x_2 = x_3 = 0$ , i.e.  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Nevertheless, the total conjugate of a non-singular real ternary number  $\mathbf{x}$  stays in  $\mathbb{TR}$  (omitting ( $\mathbf{x}$ ) from notation):

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{x}^{\dagger} \mathbf{x}^{*} = (x_{1}^{2} - x_{2}x_{3})\mathbf{1} + (x_{3}^{2} - x_{1}x_{2})\mathbf{e}_{2} + (x_{2}^{2} - x_{1}x_{3})\mathbf{e}_{3}$$
$$= (w_{2}^{2} + w_{3}^{2})\kappa_{1} + (w_{1}w_{2})\kappa_{2} - (w_{1}w_{3})\kappa_{3} \in \mathbb{TR}.$$

We denote by  $\tilde{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}) := w_2(\mathbf{x})\kappa_2 - w_3(\mathbf{x})\kappa_3$  the  $\mathbb{C}[\kappa_2; \kappa_3]$ -complex conjugate of  $\zeta(\mathbf{x})$  and its  $\mathbb{C}[\kappa_2; \kappa_3]$ -complex norm by

$$|\zeta(\mathbf{x})|^2 \kappa_2 := \zeta(\mathbf{x}) \tilde{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}) = \left( w_2(\mathbf{x})^2 + w_3(\mathbf{x})^2 \right) \kappa_2,$$

so  $|\zeta(\mathbf{x})|^2 := w_2(\mathbf{x})^2 + w_3(\mathbf{x})^2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . Then the total conjugate of **x** becomes:

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}} = |\zeta(\mathbf{x})|^2 \kappa_1 + \overline{\zeta}(\mathbf{x}) w_1(\mathbf{x}) \kappa_2.$$

The determinant of  $S(\mathbf{x})$  is a real number:

$$\det(S(\mathbf{x})) = \mathbf{x}\overline{\mathbf{x}} = w_1(\mathbf{x})(w_2(\mathbf{x})^2 + w_3(\mathbf{x})^2) = w_1(\mathbf{x})|\zeta(\mathbf{x})|^2 \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Note that, as expected:

$$\det(S(\overline{\mathbf{x}})) = (w_2^2 + w_3^2)((w_1w_2)^2 + (w_1w_3)^2) = w_1^2(w_2^2 + w_3^2)^2 = \det(S(\mathbf{x}))^2.$$

Moreover, computing

$$\overline{\overline{\mathbf{x}}} = \overline{\mathbf{x}^{\dagger}\mathbf{x}^{*}} = (\mathbf{x}^{\dagger}\mathbf{x}^{*})^{\dagger}(\mathbf{x}^{\dagger}\mathbf{x}^{*})^{*}$$
$$= \mathbf{x}^{*}\mathbf{x}^{2}\mathbf{x}^{\dagger} = \det(S(\mathbf{x}))\mathbf{x},$$

.

we obtain that the total conjugation is not an involution, but a dilation with a factor of det( $S(\mathbf{x})$ ). When  $\mathbf{x}$  is a zero-divisor, i.e. det( $S(\mathbf{x})$ ) = 0, then  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = 0$ . A real ternary number  $\mathbf{x}$  is a zero-divisor if and only if:

$$w_1(w_2^2 + w_3^2) = 0 \iff w_1 = 0 \text{ or } \{w_2 = w_3 = 0\}.$$

Using the notation (2.16), **x** is a zero-divisor if and only if  $w_1(\mathbf{x}) = 0$  or  $\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ . In case **x** is invertible in  $\mathbb{TR}$ , its inverse is:

$$\frac{1}{\mathbf{x}} = \frac{\overline{\mathbf{x}}}{\det(S(\mathbf{x}))} = \frac{1}{w_1}\kappa_1 + \frac{w_2}{(w_2^2 + w_3^2)}\kappa_2 - \frac{w_3}{(w_2^2 + w_3^2)}\kappa_3$$
$$= \frac{1}{w_1(\mathbf{x})}\kappa_1 + \frac{\tilde{\zeta}(\mathbf{x})}{|\zeta(\mathbf{x})|^2}\kappa_2.$$

# 2.4 From Complex Ternary to Bicomplex Algebras

Using relations (2.11) among the basis ternary complex numbers  $\kappa_{\ell}$ , we write a generic complex ternary number **z** as follows:

$$\mathbf{z} = w_1(\mathbf{z})\kappa_1 + (w_2(\mathbf{z})\kappa_2 + w_3(\mathbf{z})\kappa_3)\kappa_2 =: w_1(\mathbf{z})\kappa_1 + Z(\mathbf{z})\kappa_2, \qquad (2.17)$$

where  $Z(\mathbf{z}) = w_2(\mathbf{z})\kappa_2 + w_3(\mathbf{z})\kappa_3$  is a bicomplex number in the algebra over the scalar field  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$  generated by the "imaginary" unit  $\kappa_3$ . This is a two-dimensional unital hypercomplex algebra, with multiplicative unit  $\kappa_2$  and relation  $\kappa_3^2 = -\kappa_2$ .

*Remark* 2.15 This bicomplex algebra is a subalgebra of  $\mathbb{TC}$ , but not a unital one, as its multiplicative unit,  $\kappa_2$ , is not equal to the ternary multiplicative unit  $\mathbf{1} \in \mathbb{TC}$ . This fact implies that there are three bicomplex–type subalgebras of  $\mathbb{TC}$ , thus the complex ternary numbers inherit many of the properties of bicomplex numbers. This is in fact part of a general fact of hypercomplex algebras which have elements with simple (complex) eigenvalues.

Note though that this is not a unital subalgebra of  $\mathbb{TC}$ ,  $\kappa_2$  is still part of a partition of  $\mathbf{1} = \kappa_1 + \kappa_2$ . Moreover, note that

$$\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\kappa_2 = (w_2(\mathbf{z}) - \mathbf{i}w_3(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_2, \qquad \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})\kappa_2 = (w_2(\mathbf{z}) + \mathbf{i}w_3(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_2$$

are the bicomplex  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -idempotent coordinates of  $Z(\mathbf{z})$  (see [15]), over idempotent basis generated by:

$$\epsilon_2 = \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 + \mathbf{i}\kappa_3), \qquad \epsilon_3 = \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 - \mathbf{i}\kappa_3),$$

having the properties:

$$\epsilon_2\epsilon_3 = 0, \quad \epsilon_2 + \epsilon_3 = \kappa_2, \quad (\epsilon_2)^2 = \epsilon_2, \quad (\epsilon_3)^2 = \epsilon_3.$$

**Definition 2.16** We denote this bicomplex algebra by  $\mathbb{BC}_2[\kappa_2; \kappa_3]$ , which is a hypercomplex algebra over the field  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$  generated by units  $\kappa_2$  and  $\kappa_3$ .

*Remark 2.17* In this notation, over the field  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ , we view the  $\kappa_2$  before the semicolon as the main unit, and  $\kappa_3$  commuting with  $\mathbf{i}$ .

Multiplication of complex ternary numbers can also be achieved using the bicomplex algebra multiplication and the fact that  $\kappa_1 \kappa_2 = 0$ :

$$\mathbf{z}\mathbf{w} = w_1(\mathbf{z})w_1(\mathbf{w})\kappa_1 + Z(\mathbf{z})Z(\mathbf{w})\kappa_2.$$

A complex ternary number **z** is a zero-divisor if and only if  $det(S(\mathbf{z})) = 0$ , equivalent to:

$$w_1(w_2^2 + w_3^2) = 0 \iff w_1 = 0 \text{ or } \{w_2 = w_3 = 0\}.$$

Using the notation (2.17),  $\mathbf{z}$  is a zero-divisor if and only if  $w_1(\mathbf{z}) = 0$  or  $Z(\mathbf{z})$  is a bicomplex zero-divisor. In case  $\mathbf{z}$  is invertible in  $\mathbb{TC}$ , its inverse is:

$$\frac{1}{\mathbf{z}} := \frac{\overline{\mathbf{z}}}{\mathbf{z}\overline{\mathbf{z}}} = \frac{\overline{\mathbf{z}}}{\det(S(\mathbf{z}))} = \frac{w_2^2 + w_3^2}{w_1(w_2^2 + w_3^2)} \kappa_1 + \frac{w_1w_2}{w_1(w_2^2 + w_3^2)} \kappa_2 - \frac{w_1w_3}{w_1(w_2^2 + w_3^2)} \kappa_3$$
$$= \frac{1}{w_1} \kappa_1 + \frac{w_2}{(w_2^2 + w_3^2)} \kappa_2 - \frac{w_3}{(w_2^2 + w_3^2)} \kappa_3$$
$$= \frac{1}{w_1(\mathbf{z})} \kappa_1 + \frac{Z^{\dagger}(\mathbf{z})}{|Z(\mathbf{z})|_{\mathbf{i}}^2} \kappa_2.$$

Note that in the writing (2.17), bicomplex conjugations do not have any input into ternary simple conjugations. This is because the latter ones are permuting all three idempotent variables, not conserving the bicomplex writing. The (second order) total conjugation can be written in bicomplex terms, involving the  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -complex modulus and the  $\dagger$ -conjugation (see [15] for details):

$$\overline{\mathbf{z}} = |Z(\mathbf{z})|_{\mathbf{i}} \kappa_1 + w_1(\mathbf{z}) Z^{\mathsf{T}}(\mathbf{z}) \kappa_2.$$

#### **3** Ternary Norms

There are several norms of interest for the algebra of ternary numbers. The first one worth mentioning is the analog of a field norm (which is not the usual notion of a vector space norm):

**Definition 3.1** The *field-type norm* of a ternary number is defined by:

$$N(\mathbf{z}) := \mathbf{z}\overline{\mathbf{z}} = \det(S(\mathbf{z})) = z_1^3 + z_2^3 + z_3^3 - 3z_1z_2z_3$$
$$= \lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) = w_1(w_2^2 + w_3^2).$$

We defer the study of this field-type norm for the moment. The most useful norm for the analysis of ternary numbers is the following ternary-valued norm (see [4] for a similar theory of hyperbolic-valued norms).

**Definition 3.2** The *complex–valued ternary norm* is defined by:

$$\|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} := |\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})|\epsilon_1 + |\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})|\epsilon_2 + |\lambda_3(\mathbf{z})|\epsilon_3$$
$$= |\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})|\kappa_1 + \frac{1}{2}(|\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})| + |\lambda_3(\mathbf{z})|)\kappa_2 + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(|\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})| - |\lambda_3(\mathbf{z})|)\kappa_3.$$

As  $\epsilon_2$  and  $\epsilon_3$  do not have real coefficients, note that  $\|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} \in \mathbb{TC}$ . Equivalently, in the symmetric basis, the coefficient in front of  $\kappa_3$  is purely imaginary in **i**. Moreover, as mentioned above,

$$\epsilon_2 = \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 + \mathbf{i}\kappa_3), \qquad \epsilon_3 = \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 - \mathbf{i}\kappa_3),$$

form the idempotent basis of  $\mathbb{BC}[\kappa_2; \mathbf{i}, \kappa_3]$ . Note that  $\mathbf{k} := \mathbf{i}\kappa_3$  is an element that squares to  $\kappa_2$ , the multiplicative unit of  $\mathbb{BC}[\kappa_2; \mathbf{i}, \kappa_3]$ , therefore it is a *hyperbolic*-*type* unit. We write:

$$\|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} = |\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})|\kappa_1 + |Z(\mathbf{z})|_{\mathbf{k}}\kappa_2,$$

where

$$|Z(\mathbf{z})|_{\mathbf{k}} := |\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})|\epsilon_2 + |\lambda_3(\mathbf{z})|\epsilon_3$$

is a *non–negative hyperbolic–type* number (see [4] for more details).

Next, we define a (partial) order relation on the set  $\mathbb{TC}|_{\mathbb{R}}$  (which is *not* the same as  $\mathbb{TR}$  described later here) that will lead to subadditivity of the complex–valued ternary norm:

**Definition 3.3** A complex ternary number with real idempotent coefficients is *non–negative*, denoted by  $\mathbf{z} \succeq 0$ , if and only if  $\lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{z}) \in \mathbb{R}_+$ . Moreover, two ternary

numbers  $\mathbf{z}, \mathbf{w} \in \mathbb{TC}|_{\mathbb{R}}$  are related,  $\mathbf{z} \leq \mathbf{w}$  if and only if  $\mathbf{w} - \mathbf{z} \geq 0$ , i.e. their (real) idempotent coordinates satisfy  $\lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{z}) \leq \lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{w})$ , for all  $\ell = 1..3$ .

Using the bicomplex description for  $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{TC}|_{\mathbb{R}}$ , note that  $Z(\mathbf{z})$  is a hyperbolic-type number, therefore

$$\mathbf{z} = w_1(\mathbf{z})\kappa_1 + Z(\mathbf{z})\kappa_2 \succeq 0$$

if and only if  $w_1(\mathbf{z}) \ge 0$ , and  $Z(\mathbf{z})$  is a non–negative hyperbolic-type number. It is easy to check that the relation above is indeed a partial order relation on  $\mathbb{TC}|_{\mathbb{R}}$ .

Note that indeed  $||\mathbf{z}||_{\mathbb{TC}}$  and has the usual properties of a norm, including being multiplicative:

$$\|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} = \mathbf{0} \iff \mathbf{z} = \mathbf{0}$$
$$\|\mu\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} = |\mu| \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{TC}}, \quad \forall \mu \in \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}),$$
$$\|\mathbf{z} \cdot \mathbf{w}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} = \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} \cdot \|\mathbf{w}\|_{\mathbb{TC}},$$

and because of the subadditivity of the usual complex norm, we get:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{z} + \mathbf{w}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} &= |\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_1(\mathbf{w})|\epsilon_1 + |\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_1(\mathbf{w})|\epsilon_2 + |\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}) + \lambda_1(\mathbf{w})|\epsilon_3 \\ &\leq (|\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})| + |\lambda_1(\mathbf{w})|)\epsilon_1 + (|\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})| + |\lambda_1(\mathbf{w})|)\epsilon_2 + (|\lambda_3(\mathbf{z})| + |\lambda_1(\mathbf{w})|)\epsilon_3 \\ &\leq \|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} + \|\mathbf{w}\|_{\mathbb{TC}}. \end{aligned}$$

For  $\mathbf{z} = \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{TR}$ , we note that:

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda_2(\mathbf{x})|^2 &= |x_1 + \psi^2 x_2 + \psi x_3|^2 = \left| x_1 + \frac{1}{2} (-x_2 - x_3) - \frac{\sqrt{3}\mathbf{i}}{2} (x_2 - x_3) \right|^2 \\ &= (x_1 + \frac{1}{2} (-x_2 - x_3))^2 - \frac{3}{4} (x_2 - x_3)^2 \\ |\lambda_3(\mathbf{x})|^2 &= |x_1 + \psi x_2 + \psi^2 x_3|^2 = \left| x_1 + \frac{1}{2} (-x_2 - x_3) + \frac{\sqrt{3}\mathbf{i}}{2} (x_2 - x_3) \right|^2 \\ &= (x_1 + \frac{1}{2} (-x_2 - x_3))^2 - \frac{3}{4} (x_2 - x_3)^2 = |\lambda_2(\mathbf{x})|^2, \end{aligned}$$

therefore  $|\lambda_2(\mathbf{x})| = |\lambda_3(\mathbf{x})|$ . It follows that the ternary-valued norm for real ternary numbers is a real-ternary number:

$$\|\mathbf{x}\|_{\mathbb{TC}} = |\lambda_1(\mathbf{x})|\kappa_1 + |\lambda_3(\mathbf{x})|\kappa_2 = |w_1(\mathbf{x})|\kappa_1 + |w_2(\mathbf{x}) + \mathbf{i}w_3(\mathbf{x})|\kappa_2$$
$$= |w_1(\mathbf{x})|\kappa_1 + |\zeta(\mathbf{x})|\kappa_2, \qquad (3.1)$$

where we note that

$$|\zeta(\mathbf{x})| = |w_2(\mathbf{x}) + \mathbf{i}w_3(\mathbf{x})| = |w_2(\mathbf{x})\kappa_2 + w_3(\mathbf{x})\kappa_3| = \sqrt{w_2(\mathbf{x})^2 + w_3(\mathbf{x})^2} \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Next, for a real ternary number  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{TR}$ ,  $\lambda_1(\mathbf{x})$  is always real, but  $\lambda_2(\mathbf{x})$  and  $\lambda_3(\mathbf{x})$  are real if and only if  $x_2 = x_3$ , equivalent to  $\lambda_2(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_3(\mathbf{x})$  and to  $w_3(\mathbf{x}) = 0$ . Moreover, in this case  $w_2(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_2(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 - x_2$ . Therefore, for a real ternary number:

$$\mathbf{x} \succeq 0 \iff w_1(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0, w_2(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0, w_3(\mathbf{x}) = 0.$$
(3.2)

In conclusion, a non-negative real ternary number is of the form:

$$\mathbf{x} = x_1 \mathbf{1} + x_2 \mathbf{e}_2 + x_2 \mathbf{e}_3$$
  
=  $\lambda_1(\mathbf{x})\epsilon_1 + \lambda_2(\mathbf{x})\epsilon_2 + \lambda_2(\mathbf{x})\epsilon_3$   
=  $w_1(\mathbf{x})\kappa_1 + w_2(\mathbf{x})\kappa_2$ ,

where  $\lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0$ ,  $w_{\ell}(\mathbf{x}) \ge 0$ , for  $\ell = 1, 2$ , equivalent to  $x_1 + 2x_2 \ge 0$  and  $x_1 \ge x_2$ . This implies that  $x_1 \ge 0$ , and if  $x_2 \ge 0$  then  $x_1 \ge x_2 \ge 0$ , or if  $x_2 \le 0$  then  $x_1 \ge -2x_2$ .

The next valuable norm on  $\mathbb{TC}$  is the Euclidean-type, still real ternary-valued:

**Definition 3.4** The *Euclidean–type ternary–valued norm* of a complex ternary number  $z \in \mathbb{TC}$  is defined by:

$$\|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{E}} := |\lambda_{1}(\mathbf{z})|\kappa_{1} + \left|\frac{1}{2}(|\lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z})| + |\lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z})|)\kappa_{2} + \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(|\lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z})| - |\lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z})|)\kappa_{3}\right|\kappa_{2}$$
  
$$= |\lambda_{1}(\mathbf{z})|\kappa_{1} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{(|\lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z})| + |\lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z})|)^{2} + (|\lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z})| - |\lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z})|)^{2}}\kappa_{2}$$
  
$$= |\lambda_{1}(\mathbf{z})|\kappa_{1} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sqrt{|\lambda_{2}(\mathbf{z})|^{2} + |\lambda_{3}(\mathbf{z})|^{2}}\kappa_{2}$$
  
$$= |w_{1}(\mathbf{z})|\kappa_{1} + |Z(\mathbf{z})|\kappa_{2}, \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $|\cdot|$  denotes the usual norm of complex numbers, with the exception of  $|Z(\mathbf{z})|$  which is the Euclidean norm of the bicomplex number  $Z(\mathbf{z})$  written in its idempotent representation.

It follows easily that  $\|\mathbf{z}\|_{\mathbb{E}} \geq 0$  and, using the subadditivity of the Euclidean norms, the ternary-valued norm is also subadditive but not multiplicative, as the bicomplex Euclidean norm is not.

Using the complex ternary–valued norm, we define ternary disks and domains as follows.

**Definition 3.5** A *ternary open disk*  $\mathbb{D}(\mathbf{z}_0, \rho)$  centered in  $\mathbf{z}_0 = \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} \lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{z}_0) \epsilon_{\ell}$  and

*radius*  $\rho \in \mathbb{TC}|_{\mathbb{R}}, \rho \geq 0$ , is defined by  $\|\mathbf{z} - \mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathbb{TC}} \prec \rho$ , i.e. the relations:

$$|\lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{z}) - \lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{z}_0)| < \lambda_{\ell}(\rho), \quad \ell = 1..3.$$

In case we replace  $\prec$  by  $\preceq$  above, we obtain a ternary *closed* disk.

**Definition 3.6** A complex *ternary domain* is an connected open subset  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{TC}$ , i.e. for each point  $\mathbf{z}_0 \in \Omega$  there is a ternary open disk  $\mathbb{D}(\mathbf{z}_0, \rho) \subset \Omega$ . If written in the projection form:

$$\Omega = \Omega \cdot \epsilon_1 + \Omega \cdot \epsilon_2 + \Omega \cdot \epsilon_3,$$

the projection sets  $\Omega \cdot \epsilon_{\ell}$  are one-variable complex domains (disks) in  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ , for  $\ell = 1..3.$ 

In the symmetric basis, a ternary domain  $\Omega$  decomposes as follows:

$$\Omega = \Omega \cdot \kappa_1 + \left(\Omega \cdot \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 + \mathbf{i}\kappa_3) + \Omega \cdot \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 - \mathbf{i}\kappa_3)\right)\kappa_2 = \Omega \cdot \kappa_1 + \Omega \cdot \kappa_2,$$

where we have used the bicomplex domain decomposition in the bicomplex idempotents  $\frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 \pm i\kappa_3)$  (see [15] for details):

$$\Omega \cdot \kappa_2 = \left(\Omega \cdot \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 + \mathbf{i}\kappa_3)_2 + \Omega \cdot \frac{1}{2}(\kappa_2 - \mathbf{i}\kappa_3)\right)\kappa_2$$

When necessary, we work also with Euclidean-type ternary disks, defined in a similarly way:

**Definition 3.7** An Euclidean ternary open disk centered in  $\mathbf{z}_0 = |w_1(\mathbf{z}_0)|\kappa_1 +$  $|Z(\mathbf{z}_0)|\kappa_2$  and radius  $\gamma \in \mathbb{TR}_+, \gamma \geq 0$ , is defined by  $\|\mathbf{z} - \mathbf{z}_0\|_{\mathbb{E}} \prec \gamma$ , i.e. the relations:

$$|w_1(\mathbf{z}) - w_1(\mathbf{z}_0)| < w_1(\gamma), \quad |Z(\mathbf{z}) - Z(\mathbf{z}_0)| < |Z(\gamma)|.$$

#### **Complex Ternary Regularity** 4

Consider a complex ternary number written in all three standard, idempotent and symmetric bases:

$$\mathbf{z} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} z_k \mathbf{e}_k = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_k(\mathbf{z}) \epsilon_k = \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} w_\ell(\mathbf{z}) \kappa_\ell = w_1(\mathbf{z}) \kappa_1 + Z(\mathbf{z}) \kappa_2.$$
(4.1)

Following the same set-up, a complex ternary function  $\mathbf{F}: \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{TC} \to \mathbb{TC}$  can also be written in three ways:

$$F(\mathbf{z}) = \sum_{k=1}^{3} f_k(\mathbf{z}) \mathbf{e}_k = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \varphi_k(\mathbf{z}) \epsilon_k = \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} W_\ell(\mathbf{z}) \kappa_\ell = W_1(\mathbf{z}) \kappa_1 + G(\mathbf{z}) \kappa_2, ,$$
(4.2)

where  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{TC}$  is a complex ternary domain and:

- 1.  $f_k : \Omega \subset \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})^3 \to \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}), f(\mathbf{z}) = f_k(z_1, z_2, z_3)$  are  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -valued functions of three complex variables  $z_k$ ,
- 2.  $\varphi_k : \prod^3 \Omega \cdot \epsilon_\ell \subset \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})^3 \to \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}), \varphi_k(\mathbf{z}) = \varphi_k(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}), \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}), \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})) \text{ are } \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}) \text{-valued}$ functions of three complex variables  $\lambda_k(\mathbf{z})$ ,

3.  $W_k : \prod_{i=1}^{3} \Omega \cdot \kappa_{\ell} \subset \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})^3 \to \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}), W_k(\mathbf{z}) = W_k(w_1(\mathbf{z}), w_2(\mathbf{z}), w_3(\mathbf{z})) \text{ are } \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}) -$ 

valued functions of three complex variables  $w_k(\mathbf{z})$ .

4. In this context, the function

$$G: \Omega \cdot \kappa_1 \times \ \Omega \cdot \kappa_2 \subset \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}) \times \mathbb{BC}(\kappa_2; \kappa_3) \to \mathbb{BC}(\kappa_2; \kappa_3), \tag{4.3}$$

where  $G(\mathbf{z}) = G(w_1(\mathbf{z}), Z(\mathbf{z}))$ , becomes a bicomplex-valued function of one complex variable  $w_1(\mathbf{z})$  and one bicomplex variable  $Z(\mathbf{z})$ .

The relations among the coordinate functions for *F* are:

$$\varphi_1(\mathbf{z}) = f_1(\mathbf{z}) + f_2(\mathbf{z}) + f_3(\mathbf{z}), \qquad \varphi_2(\mathbf{z}) = f_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2 f_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi f_3(\mathbf{z}),$$
  
$$\varphi_3(\mathbf{z}) = f_1(\mathbf{z}) + \psi f_2(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^2 f_3(\mathbf{z}), \qquad (4.4)$$

and the inverse transformations are:

$$f_{1}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{3} \left( \varphi_{1}(\mathbf{z}) + \varphi_{2}(\mathbf{z}) + \varphi_{3}(\mathbf{z}) \right), \qquad f_{2}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{3} \left( \varphi_{1}(\mathbf{z}) + \psi \varphi_{2}(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^{2} \varphi_{3}(\mathbf{z}) \right),$$
$$f_{3}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{3} \left( \varphi_{1}(\mathbf{z}) + \psi^{2} \varphi_{2}(\mathbf{z}) + \psi \varphi_{3}(\mathbf{z}) \right). \tag{4.5}$$

In the symmetric basis, we have:

$$W_{1}(\mathbf{z}) = \varphi_{1}(\mathbf{z}) = f_{1}(\mathbf{z}) + f_{2}(\mathbf{z}) + f_{3}(\mathbf{z}),$$
  

$$W_{2}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{2}(\varphi_{2}(\mathbf{z}) + \varphi_{3}(\mathbf{z})) = \frac{1}{2}(2f_{1}(\mathbf{z}) - f_{2}(\mathbf{z}) - f_{3}(\mathbf{z}))$$
  

$$W_{3}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{\mathbf{i}}{2}(\varphi_{2}(\mathbf{z}) - \varphi_{3}(\mathbf{z})) = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}(f_{2}(\mathbf{z}) - f_{3}(\mathbf{z})),$$
(4.6)

and the inverse transformations:

$$\varphi_1(\mathbf{z}) = W_1(\mathbf{z}), \qquad \varphi_2(\mathbf{z}) = W_2(\mathbf{z}) - \mathbf{i}W_3(\mathbf{z}), \qquad \varphi_3(\mathbf{z}) = W_2(\mathbf{z}) + \mathbf{i}W_3(\mathbf{z}),$$
(4.7)

and

$$f_1(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{3}(W_1(\mathbf{z}) + 2W_2(\mathbf{z})), \qquad f_2(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{1}{3}(W_1(\mathbf{z}) - W_2(\mathbf{z}) + \sqrt{3}W_3(\mathbf{z})),$$
$$f_3(\mathbf{z}) = -\frac{1}{3}(-W_1(\mathbf{z}) + W_2(\mathbf{z}) + \sqrt{3}W_3(\mathbf{z})). \tag{4.8}$$

Note that all relations among the functions  $f_k(\mathbf{z})$ ,  $\varphi_k(\mathbf{z})$ ,  $W_k(\mathbf{z})$  and  $G(\mathbf{z})$  are *linear* transformations.

**Definition 4.1** A ternary function  $\mathbf{F} : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{TC} \to \mathbb{TC}$  is *complex differentiable* if the coordinate functions  $f_k(\mathbf{z})$  (and implicitly  $\varphi_k(\mathbf{z})$ ,  $W_k(\mathbf{z})$  and  $G(\mathbf{z})$ ) have continous partial derivatives

$$\frac{\partial f_k}{\partial z_\ell}, \quad \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial \lambda_\ell(\mathbf{z})}, \quad \frac{\partial W_k}{\partial w_\ell(\mathbf{z})}, \quad \frac{\partial G}{\partial w_2(\mathbf{z})}, \quad \frac{\partial G}{\partial w_3(\mathbf{z})}$$

for all  $k, \ell = 1..3$ , i.e. the coordinate functions are  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -complex holomorphic functions in variables  $z_{\ell}$  (respectively  $\lambda_{\ell}(\mathbf{z})$  and  $w_{\ell}(\mathbf{z})$ ).

From now on we will omit (**z**) from the notation of  $\lambda_k(\mathbf{z})$  et al. In terms of the usual complex conjugate differential operators  $\frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{z}_{\ell}}$  in  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})^3$ , a function **F** is complex differentiable if it is in the kernel of all three operators:

$$\frac{\partial f_k}{\partial \overline{z}_1} = \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial \overline{z}_2} = \frac{\partial f_k}{\partial \overline{z}_3} = 0, \qquad k = 1..3.$$

Equivalently, in the idempotent and symmetric bases:

$$\frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial \overline{\lambda}_1} = \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial \overline{\lambda}_2} = \frac{\partial \varphi_k}{\partial \overline{\lambda}_3} = 0 \quad \iff \quad \frac{\partial W_k}{\partial \overline{w}_1} = \frac{\partial W_k}{\partial \overline{w}_2} = \frac{\partial W_k}{\partial \overline{w}_3} = 0.$$

In terms of the bicomplex function  $G(\mathbf{z})$ , we have the equivalent description of complex differentiability of ternary functions:

$$\frac{\partial G}{\partial \overline{w}_1} = \frac{\partial G}{\partial \overline{Z}} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial Z^*} = 0.$$

In the last equality,  $\overline{Z}$  and  $Z^*$  denote the bicomplex conjugates (see [15] for details).

**Definition 4.2** The *ternary conjugate operators* acting on complex differentiable ternary functions  $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{z})$  are defined in terms of the idempotent representation:

$$\frac{d}{d\mathbf{z}^{\dagger}} := \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_3}\epsilon_1 + \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_1}\epsilon_2 + \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_2}\epsilon_3, \qquad \frac{d}{d\mathbf{z}^*} := \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_2}\epsilon_1 + \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_3}\epsilon_2 + \frac{\partial}{\partial\lambda_1}\epsilon_3.$$

Because  $\epsilon_j \epsilon_k = 0$  for  $j \neq k$  and  $\epsilon_k^2 = \epsilon_k$ , for all  $k, \ell = 1..3$  we obtain:

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{F}}{\partial \lambda_{\ell}} \epsilon_{k} = \frac{\partial \left( \sum_{j=1}^{3} \varphi_{j} \cdot \epsilon_{j} \right)}{\partial \lambda_{\ell}} \epsilon_{k} = \frac{\partial \varphi_{k}}{\partial \lambda_{\ell}} \epsilon_{k}$$

Then the explicit action of the conjugate operators is given by:

$$\frac{d\mathbf{F}}{d\mathbf{z}^{\dagger}} = \frac{\partial\mathbf{F}}{\partial\lambda_{3}}\epsilon_{1} + \frac{\partial\mathbf{F}}{\partial\lambda_{1}}\epsilon_{2} + \frac{\partial\mathbf{F}}{\partial\lambda_{2}}\epsilon_{3} = \frac{\partial\varphi_{1}}{\partial\lambda_{3}}\epsilon_{1} + \frac{\partial\varphi_{2}}{\partial\lambda_{1}}\epsilon_{2} + \frac{\partial\varphi_{3}}{\partial\lambda_{2}}\epsilon_{3},$$

and similarly

$$\frac{d\mathbf{F}}{d\mathbf{z}^*} = \frac{\partial\varphi_1}{\partial\lambda_2}\epsilon_1 + \frac{\partial\varphi_2}{\partial\lambda_3}\epsilon_2 + \frac{\partial\varphi_3}{\partial\lambda_1}\epsilon_3.$$

In terms of the ternary conjugate differential operators, we define the notion of regularity as follows:

**Definition 4.3** A complex differentiable ternary function  $\mathbf{F} : \Omega \to \mathbb{TC}$  is *ternary regular* on  $\Omega$  if and only if  $\mathbf{F}$  is in the kernel of the two ternary conjugate operators:

$$\frac{d\mathbf{F}}{d\mathbf{z}^{\dagger}}(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{d\mathbf{F}}{d\mathbf{z}^{\ast}}(\mathbf{z}) = 0,$$

for all  $\mathbf{z} \in \Omega$ .

The following theorem characterizes ternary complex regular functions in the idempotent writing.

**Theorem 4.4** A complex differentiable ternary function **F** is regular on  $\Omega$  if and only if the functions  $\varphi_k(\mathbf{z}) = \varphi_k(\lambda_k(\mathbf{z}))$ , i.e. they depend only on one variable, thus are  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -holomorphic functions in the variable  $\lambda_k(\mathbf{z})$ , for k = 1..3, on their projection complex domains  $\Omega \cdot \epsilon_k$ .

**Proof** The proof is very similar to the proof in the bicomplex case [15] and a direct implication from the differential operators above.  $\Box$ 

In the symmetric basis we obtain the equivalent statement:

**Theorem 4.5** A complex differentiable ternary functions **F** is regular on  $\Omega$  if and only if both of the following hold:

- 1. the function  $W_1(\mathbf{z}) = W_1(w_1)$ , i.e. it depends only on one symmetric variable  $w_1$  and thus it is  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -holomorphic on  $\Omega \cdot \kappa_1$ ,
- 2. the function  $G(\mathbf{z}) = G(Z)$ , i.e. it depends only on the bicomplex variable Z and it is bicomplex holomorphic on  $\Omega \cdot \kappa_2$ .

**Proof** This is a consequence of the theorem above and the equivalence with bicomplex derivability.  $\Box$ 

*Remark 4.6* Coming from general commutative hypercomplex theory, one can define the notion of *derivability* for ternary functions, i.e. in terms of limits of the ternary rate of change quotients. It turns out that a complex ternary function  $\mathbf{F}: \Omega \to \mathbb{TC}$  is derivable on  $\Omega$  if and only if it is ternary regular on  $\Omega$ . In terms of the *ternary derivative operator*, defined by:

$$\frac{d}{d\mathbf{z}} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_k(\mathbf{z})} \epsilon_k,$$

if **F** is derivable then its derivative is given by:

$$\mathbf{F}'(\mathbf{z}) = \frac{d\mathbf{F}}{d\mathbf{z}} = \varphi_1'(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_1 + \varphi_2'(\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_2 + \varphi_3'(\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_3.$$

In symmetric coordinates, the derivative of **F** is given by:

$$\mathbf{F}'(\mathbf{z}) = W_1'(w_1(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_1 + G'(Z(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_2.$$

The Generalized Cauchy–Riemann (GCR) conditions give an equivalent description of ternary regularity. Starting with a ternary function  $\mathbf{F} : \Omega \to \mathbb{TC}$  which is holormophic as a function of three complex variables, the GCR system is:

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{F}}{\partial z_k} \mathbf{e}_{\ell} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{F}}{\partial z_{\ell}} \mathbf{e}_k, \qquad k, \, \ell = 1..3.$$

Explicit computations yield the following system:

$$\frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_1} \mathbf{1} + \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_1} \mathbf{e}_2 + \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_1} \mathbf{e}_3 = \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_2} \mathbf{1} + \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_2} \mathbf{e}_2 + \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_2} \mathbf{e}_3,$$

$$\frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_2} \mathbf{1} + \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_2} \mathbf{e}_2 + \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_2} \mathbf{e}_3 = \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_3} \mathbf{1} + \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_3} \mathbf{e}_2 + \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_3} \mathbf{e}_3,$$

$$\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_3} \mathbf{1} + \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_3} \mathbf{e}_2 + \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_3} \mathbf{e}_3 = \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_1} \mathbf{1} + \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_1} \mathbf{e}_2 + \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_1} \mathbf{e}_3.$$

which is equivalent to the following system of differential equations in terms of the partial derivatives in standard coordinates  $z_\ell$ :

$$\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_1} = \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_2} = \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_3},$$

$$\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_2} = \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_3} = \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_1},$$

$$\frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_3} = \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial z_1} = \frac{\partial f_3}{\partial z_2}.$$
(4.9)

In the symmetric basis the GCR system is equivalent to the following:

$$\frac{\partial W_1}{\partial w_1} = \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_1} + \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_2} + \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_3},$$

a complex Cauchy-Riemann system:

$$\frac{\partial W_2}{\partial w_2} = \frac{\partial W_3}{\partial w_3} = \frac{1}{2} \left( 2 \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_1} - \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_2} - \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_3} \right),\\ \frac{\partial W_2}{\partial w_3} = -\frac{\partial W_3}{\partial w_2} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \left( \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_2} - \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial z_3} \right),$$

which is equivalent to  $\frac{\partial G}{\partial Z^{\dagger}} = 0$ , and the projector system:

$$\frac{\partial W_2}{\partial w_1} = \frac{\partial W_3}{\partial w_1} = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial W_1}{\partial w_2} = \frac{\partial W_1}{\partial w_3} = 0.$$

# 5 Applications of Complex Ternary Regularity

# 5.1 Ternary Power Series and Cauchy–Kovalevskaya Extensions

A complex ternary regular function  $\mathbf{F} : \Omega \to \mathbb{TC}$  inherits a power series expansion from its complex holomorphic idempotent coordinate functions:

$$F(\mathbf{z}) := \varphi_1(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_1 + \varphi_2(\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_2 + \varphi_3(\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_3.$$

Omitting (z) from notation, consider the following power series expansions of  $\varphi_{\ell}$  on complex disks  $\mathbb{D}_{\ell}(\lambda_{\ell 0}) \subseteq \Omega \cdot \epsilon_{\ell}$ 

$$\varphi_{\ell}(\lambda_{\ell}) := \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{\ell n} (\lambda_{\ell} - \lambda_{\ell 0})^n, \qquad \ell = 1..3.$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{z}) &:= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{1n} (\lambda_1 - \lambda_{10})^n \epsilon_1 + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{2n} (\lambda_2 - \lambda_{20})^n \epsilon_2 + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{3n} (\lambda_3 - \lambda_{30})^n \epsilon_3 \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (a_{1n} \epsilon_1 + a_{2n} \epsilon_2 + a_{3n} \epsilon_3) \cdot ((\lambda_1 - \lambda_{10})^n \epsilon_1 + (\lambda_2 - \lambda_{20})^n \epsilon_2 + (\lambda_3 - \lambda_{30})^n \epsilon_3) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (a_{1n} \epsilon_1 + a_{2n} \epsilon_2 + a_{3n} \epsilon_3) \cdot ((\lambda_1 - \lambda_{10}) \epsilon_1 + (\lambda_2 - \lambda_{20}) \epsilon_2 + (\lambda_3 - \lambda_{30}) \epsilon_3)^n \\ &=: \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n (\mathbf{z} - \mathbf{z}_0)^n, \end{aligned}$$

where  $A_n = a_{1n}\epsilon_1 + a_{2n}\epsilon_2 + a_{3n}\epsilon_3$  are ternary coefficients. This proves the theorem:

**Theorem 5.1** A complex ternary function  $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{TC}$  of class  $C^1(\Omega)$  is holomorphic on  $\Omega$  if and only if it is derivable on  $\Omega$ .

Just like in the bicomplex case [11], we obtain a first Cauchy-Kovalevskaya Theorem for complex ternary functions:

**Theorem 5.2** A real analytic function  $f : U \subseteq \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{TC}$ 

$$f(x) = f_1(x)\mathbf{1} + f_2(x)\mathbf{e}_2 + f_3(x)\mathbf{e}_3$$
$$= \varphi_1(x)\epsilon_1 + \varphi_2(x)\epsilon_2 + \varphi_3(x)\epsilon_3$$

(equivalent to  $f_{\ell}(x)$  are real analytic on U), extends uniquely to a complex ternary regular function  $\mathbf{F} : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{TC} \to \mathbb{TC}$ , where  $\Omega$  is an open neighborhood of U in  $\mathbb{TC}$ .

**Proof** Recall that

$$\varphi_1(x) = f_1(x) + f_2(x) + f_3(x),$$
  

$$\varphi_2(x) = f_1(x) + \psi^2 f_2(x) + \psi f_3(x),$$
  

$$\varphi_3(x) = f_1(x) + \psi f_2(x) + \psi^2 f_3(x).$$

First we extend f to a holomorphic function on  $\tilde{U} \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ , where  $\tilde{U}$  is a neighborhood of U in  $\mathbb{C}$  by  $f(z) := f_1(z)\mathbf{1} + f_2(z)\mathbf{e}_2 + f_3(z)\mathbf{e}_3$ , for  $z = x + \mathbf{i}y$ . This is equivalent to use the regular CK extension for the real analytics functions  $f_\ell(x)$  to holomorphic  $f_\ell(z)$ , for  $\ell = 1...3$ . It follows that the extensions  $\varphi_\ell(z)$  are complex holomorphic, as they are  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -linear combinations of  $f_\ell(z)$ .

Now consider the ternary variable

$$\mathbf{z} = z_1 \mathbf{1} + z_2 \mathbf{e}_2 + z_3 \mathbf{e}_3 = \lambda_1(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_1 + \lambda_2(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_2 + \lambda_3(\mathbf{z})\epsilon_3$$

and define

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{z}) := \varphi_1(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_1 + \varphi_2(\lambda_2(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_2 + \varphi_3(\lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))\epsilon_3.$$

Note that  $\mathbf{F}|_{\mathbb{R}} = f$  and  $\mathbf{F}$  is ternary regular. The uniqueness of  $\mathbf{F}$  follows from the uniqueness of the extensions  $f_{\ell}(x)$  to  $f_{\ell}(z)$ .

#### 5.2 Analysis of Real Ternary Functions

A real ternary number  $x \in \mathbb{TR}$  has the following representations:

$$\mathbf{x} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} x_k \mathbf{e}_k = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \lambda_k(\mathbf{x}) \mathbf{e}_k = \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} w_\ell(\mathbf{x}) \kappa_\ell = w_1(\mathbf{x}) \kappa_1 + \zeta(\mathbf{x}) \kappa_2,$$

where  $\lambda_1(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $x_k, w_k(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{R}$  for  $k = 1..3, \lambda_2(\mathbf{x}), \lambda_3(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ , and  $\zeta(\mathbf{x}) \in \mathbb{C}(\kappa_2; \kappa_3)$ .

A real ternary function  $F : \Omega \to \mathbb{TR}$  is also written in the following ways:

$$F(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{k=1}^{3} f_k(\mathbf{x}) \mathbf{e}_k = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \varphi_k(\mathbf{x}) \mathbf{e}_k = \sum_{\ell=1}^{3} W_\ell(\mathbf{x}) \kappa_\ell = W_1(\mathbf{x}) \kappa_1 + G(\mathbf{x}) \kappa_2,$$

where  $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{TR}$  is a real ternary domain and the coordinate functions are as in the complex case, with a few exceptions:

- 1.  $f_k : \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}, f(\mathbf{x}) = f_k(x_1, x_2, x_3)$  are real-valued functions of three real variables  $x_k$ .
- 2.  $\varphi_k : \prod_{\ell=1}^{i} \Omega \cdot \epsilon_{\ell} \subset \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})^3 \to \mathbb{R}, \varphi_k(\mathbf{z}) = \varphi_1(\lambda_1(\mathbf{z}), \lambda_2(\mathbf{z}), \lambda_3(\mathbf{z}))$  are functions of

one real variable  $\lambda_1(\mathbf{z})$  and two complex variables  $\lambda_2(\mathbf{z})$  and  $\lambda_3(\mathbf{z})$ , i.e.  $\Omega \cdot \epsilon_1 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ , while  $\Omega \cdot \epsilon_k \subset \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})^3$  for k = 2, 3. The difference is that  $\varphi_1$  is real-valued while  $\varphi_2$  and  $\varphi_3$  are complex-valued functions.

3.  $W_k : \prod_{\ell=1}^{3} \Omega \cdot \kappa_{\ell} \subset \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})^3 \to \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}), W_k(\mathbf{z}) = W_k(w_1(\mathbf{z}), w_2(\mathbf{z}), w_3(\mathbf{z})) \text{ are } \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$ -

valued functions of three complex variables  $w_k(\mathbf{z})$ . The function  $G : \Omega \cdot \kappa_1 \times \Omega \cdot \kappa_2 \subset \mathbb{BC}(\kappa_2; \mathbf{i}, \kappa_3), G(\mathbf{z}) = G(w_1(\mathbf{z}), Z(\mathbf{z}))$  is a bicomplex–valued function of one complex variable  $w_1(\mathbf{z})$  and one bicomplex variable  $Z(\mathbf{z})$ .

**Theorem 5.3** F is regular on  $\Omega$  if and only if:

- 1. The real function  $W_1(\mathbf{x}) = W_1(w_1(\mathbf{x}))$ , i.e. it depends only on one real symmetric variable, and the complex function  $g(\mathbf{x}) = g(\zeta(\mathbf{x}))$ , i.e. it depends only on one complex variable.
- 2. The real function  $W_1(w_1(\mathbf{x}))$  is of class  $C^1(\Omega \cdot \kappa_1)$  and the complex function  $G(\zeta(\mathbf{x}))$  is complex derivable (i.e. holomorphic) in the complex holomorphic on  $\Omega \cdot \kappa_2$ .

Moreover, if the derivative of F exists, it is given by:

$$F'(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{dF}{d\mathbf{x}} = W'_1(w_1(\mathbf{x}))\kappa_1 + g'(\zeta(\mathbf{x}))\kappa_2.$$

The equivalent description is the GCR system (4.9), replacing the variables  $z_{\ell}$  by  $x_{\ell}$ . In the symmetric basis, we get the similar formulation of real ternary regularity in terms of differential operators:

$$\frac{\partial W_1}{\partial w_1} = \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_2} + \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_3},$$

a CR system:

$$\frac{\partial W_2}{\partial w_2} = \frac{\partial W_3}{\partial w_3} = \frac{1}{2} \left( 2 \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_2} - \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_3} \right).$$
$$\frac{\partial W_2}{\partial w_3} = -\frac{\partial W_3}{\partial w_2} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \left( \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_2} - \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_3} \right),$$

which is equivalent to  $\frac{\partial g}{\partial \overline{\zeta}} = 0$ , and the projection properties:

$$\frac{\partial W_2}{\partial w_1} = \frac{\partial W_3}{\partial w_1} = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial W_1}{\partial w_2} = \frac{\partial W_1}{\partial w_3} = 0.$$

The derivative real ternary differential operator is given by:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{x}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial w_1} \kappa_1 + \frac{\partial}{\partial w_2} \kappa_2 + \frac{\partial}{\partial w_3} \kappa_3$$
$$= \frac{1}{3} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \right) \kappa_1 + \frac{1}{3} \left( 2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \right) \kappa_2 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \right) \kappa_3.$$

# 5.3 Cauchy-Kovalevskaya Theorem for Real Ternary Regular Functions

In the same way as the previous case, we have the following Cauchy-Kovalevskaya theorem for real ternary regular functions:

**Theorem 5.4** *Consider a real ternary regular function*  $\mathbf{F} : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{TR} \to \mathbb{TC}$ 

 $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}) = W_1(w_1(\mathbf{x}))\kappa_1 + G(\zeta(\mathbf{x}))\kappa_2$ 

with the additional condition that  $W_1(\mathbf{x})$  is real analytic on  $\Omega \cdot \kappa_{\ell}$ . Then  $\mathbf{F}$  extends uniquely to a complex ternary regular function  $\tilde{\mathbf{F}} : \tilde{\Omega} \subseteq \mathbb{TC} \to \mathbb{TC}$ , where  $\tilde{\Omega}$  is an open neighborhood of  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{TC}$ .

**Proof** Recall that **F** is ternary regular implies that  $G(\zeta(\mathbf{x}))$  is holomorphic in  $\zeta(\mathbf{x}) = w_2(\mathbf{x})\kappa_2 + w_3(\mathbf{x})\kappa_3$  on  $\Omega \cdot \kappa_2$ . First we extend  $W_1(w_1(\mathbf{x}))$  to a holomorphic function on  $\tilde{U}_1 \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ , where  $\tilde{U}_1$  is a neighborhood of U in  $\mathbb{C}$  by:

$$W_1(z) := U_1(z) + \mathbf{i}V_1(z)$$

for  $z_1 = w_1(x) + iy_1$ . Now we extend the complex holomorphic function  $G(\zeta(\mathbf{x}))$  from  $\mathbb{C}(\kappa_3)$  to a bicomplex holomorphic function G(Z) on  $\mathbb{BC}[\kappa_2; \kappa_3]$ .

Now consider the ternary variable

$$\mathbf{z} = w_1(\mathbf{z})\kappa_1 + Z(\mathbf{z})\kappa_3$$

and define

$$\tilde{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{z}) := W_1(w_1(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_1 + G(Z(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_2$$

Note that  $\tilde{\mathbf{F}}|_{\mathbb{TR}} = F$  and  $v\tilde{F}$  is complex ternary holomorphic. The uniqueness of  $\mathbf{F}$  follows from the uniqueness of the complex and respectively bicomplex extensions.

# 5.4 Other Applications, Extensions to the Tri-complex Space $\mathbb{BC}_3$

We will first write a generalization of the tri-complex space  $\mathbb{BC}_3$ , i.e. given by three commuting complex units as in [17, 19], as follows:

*Remark 5.5* Consider the tricomplex space  $\mathbb{BC}_3[1; \mathbf{i}_2, \mathbf{i}_3]$  (where before the semicolon we have the main unit and  $\mathbf{i}_2, \mathbf{i}_3$  commute with  $\mathbf{i}$ , i.e. this is a commutative algebra over  $\mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i})$  written in both standard and idempotent representations:

$$\mathcal{Z}_3 = Z_{21} + \mathbf{i}_3 Z_{22} = (Z_{21} - \mathbf{i}_2 Z_{22}) \mathbf{e}_{23} + (Z_{21} + \mathbf{i}_2 Z_{22}) \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger}$$

where  $Z_{21}$  and  $Z_{22}$  are bicomplex numbers in  $\mathbb{BC}_2[1; i_2]$ , and:

$$\gamma_{1} := \mathbf{e}_{23} := \frac{1}{2}(1 + \mathbf{i}_{2}\mathbf{i}_{3}) \qquad \gamma_{2} := \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} := \frac{1}{2}(1 - \mathbf{i}_{2}\mathbf{i}_{3}),$$
  

$$\gamma_{4} := \mathbf{i}_{2}\mathbf{e}_{23} = -\mathbf{i}_{3}\mathbf{e}_{23}, \qquad \gamma_{3} := \mathbf{i}_{2}\mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} = \mathbf{i}_{3}\mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} \qquad (5.1)$$
  

$$\gamma_{4}^{2} = (\mathbf{i}_{2}\mathbf{e}_{23})^{2} = (-\mathbf{i}_{3}\mathbf{e}_{23})^{2} = -\mathbf{e}_{23} = -\gamma_{1}, \qquad \gamma_{3}^{2} = (\mathbf{i}_{2}\mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger})^{2} = (\mathbf{i}_{3}\mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger})^{2} = -\mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} = -\gamma_{2}.$$

Using the properties of tricomplex numbers, we can write  $Z_3$  also as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}_{3} &= (Z_{21} - \mathbf{i}_{2} Z_{22}) \mathbf{e}_{23} + (Z_{21} + \mathbf{i}_{2} Z_{22}) \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} \\ &= (Z_{21} \mathbf{e}_{23} - (\mathbf{i}_{2} \mathbf{e}_{23}) Z_{22}) \mathbf{e}_{23} + \left( Z_{21} \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} + (\mathbf{i}_{2} \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger}) Z_{22} \right) \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} \\ &= (Z_{21} \mathbf{e}_{23} + (\mathbf{i}_{3} \mathbf{e}_{23}) Z_{22}) \mathbf{e}_{23} + \left( Z_{21} \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} + (\mathbf{i}_{3} \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger}) Z_{22} \right) \mathbf{e}_{23}^{\dagger} \\ &= (Z_{21} \gamma_{1} + Z_{22} \gamma_{4}) \gamma_{1} + (Z_{21} \gamma_{2} + Z_{22} \gamma_{3}) \gamma_{2} \\ &=: Z_{1} \gamma_{1} + Z_{2} \gamma_{2}, \end{aligned}$$

where, up to isomorphism of bicomplex algebras,  $Z_1 \in \mathbb{BC}_2[\gamma_1; \gamma_4]$  and  $Z_2 \in \mathbb{BC}_2[\gamma_2; \gamma_3]$  are treated as independent bicomplex variables. We denote the tricomplex algebra also by  $\mathbb{BC}_3[\mathbf{1}; \gamma_1, \gamma_4; \gamma_2, \gamma_3]$ 

Relations (5.1) among the elements  $\gamma_1$ ,  $\gamma_2$  and  $\gamma_3$  (note also that  $\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 = 1$ ) allow us to identify a complex ternary number of the form

$$\mathbf{z} = w_1(\mathbf{z})\gamma_1 + Z(\mathbf{z})\gamma_2 = (w_1(\mathbf{z})\gamma_1 + 0\gamma_4)\gamma_1 + Z(\mathbf{z})\gamma_2$$

is also an element of the tricomplex algebra above, as the ternary symmetric basis elements  $\kappa_1, \kappa_2$  and  $\kappa_3$  have the same properties (see (2.11)). All these *identifications* are obtained by algebra isomorphisms, which are easier to understand from the context rather than complicating the notations further.

Using a similar proof as in the two theorems above, one can prove the following:

**Theorem 5.6** Consider a complex ternary regular function  $\mathbf{F} : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{TC} \to \mathbb{BC}_3[\mathbf{1}; \kappa_1, \kappa_4; \kappa_2, \kappa_3]$  (denoted simply by  $\mathbb{BC}_3$ )

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{z}) = W_1(w_1(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_1 + G(Z(\mathbf{z}))\kappa_2,$$

*i.e.*  $W_1(w_1(\mathbf{z}))$  is holomorphic in  $\Omega \cdot \kappa_1 \in \mathbb{C}(\mathbf{i}) \cdot \kappa_1$  and  $G(Z(\mathbf{z}))$  bicomplex holomorphic in  $\Omega \cdot \kappa_2 \in \mathbb{BC}_2[\kappa_2; \mathbf{i}, \kappa_3]$ . Then **F** extends uniquely to a tricomplex

holomorphic function  $\tilde{\mathbf{F}} : \tilde{\Omega} \subseteq \mathbb{BC}_3 \to \mathbb{BC}_3$ , where  $\tilde{\Omega}$  is an open neighborhood of  $\Omega$  in  $\mathbb{BC}_3$ .

We leave the proof to the reader.

#### 6 Comparison, Conclusions, and Future Work

The analysis of spaces of regular functions have been studied in [5] where the authors solved the Gleason's problem in the ternary case, using the method described in [2] for several complex variables and in [3] for the quaternionic case. In this work, in a way parallel to the quaternionic case, in solving the Gleason's problem, the authors obtained Fueter–type variables (as discussed, for example, in [7]), as the primary ternary variable is not regular in a usual sense. These Fueter–type variables are commutative and this allowed to define the counterpart of the Arveson space and solve the Gleason's problem defined in the ternary case. The Fueter variables themselves behave as a complex variable and a "light–cone"–type one which reduce to a two real variable theory when restricted to a plane. The fact that these variables only show up in a non–commutative case before is interesting in itself as well. This paper outlines a comparison between complex ternary analysis and the real ternary one, clarifying the notions found in [5]. For [5] we have used the theory generated by an element that cubes to -1, however all results translate with small and careful changes of sign. The analytic theory also carries over smoothly.

The author is now working on a collaborative project on solving the Gleason problem in the complex ternary case, using one of the ternary norms described in Sect. 3.

Acknowledgments Many thanks to my best friend and collaborator Adrian Vajiac for our numerous discussions on everything hypercomplex. Without his unwavering support this work would not have seen the light of day.

## References

- V. Abramov, R. Kerner, O. Liivapuu, Algebras with Ternary Composition Law Combining Z<sub>2</sub> and Z<sub>3</sub> Gradings, Algebraic Structures and Applications, Springer Proceedings in Mathematics and Statistics, ed. by S. Silvestrov, A. Malyarenko, M. Rancic. SPAS 2017 (2020), pp. 13–44
- D. Alpay, H.T. Kaptanoglu, Some Finite Dimensional Backward-Shift-Invariant Subspaces in the Ball and a Related Interpolation Problem. Integral Equations and Operator Theory, vol. 42 (Birkhäuser Verlag, 2002), pp. 1–21
- 3. D. Alpay, M. Shapiro, D. Volok, Rational hyperholomorphic functions in  $\mathbb{R}^4$ . J. Funct. Anal. **221**, 122–149 (2005)
- 4. D. Alpay, E. Luna-Elizarraras, M. Shapiro, D. Struppa, Basics of Functional Analysis with Bicomplex Scalars, and Bicomplex Schur Analysis. SpringerBriefs in Mathematics (Springer, Cham, 2014)

- 5. D. Alpay, A. Vajiac, M. Vajiac, Gleason's problem associated to a real ternary algebra and applications. Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr. 28, 1–16 (2018)
- E. Artin, Zur Arithmetik Hypercomplexer Zahlen. Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg 5(1), 261– 289 (1927)
- 7. F. Brackx, R. Delanghe, F. Sommen, *Clifford Analysis*, vol. 76. Pitman Research Notes (Longman Science Technology, Harlow, 1982)
- F. Catoni, D. Boccaletti, R. Cannata, V. Catoni, E. Nichelatti, P. Zampetti, *The Mathematics of Minkowski Space-Time*. Frontiers in Mathematics (Birkhäuser, Basel, 2008)
- 9. P. Cerejeiras, M. Vajiac, Ternary Clifford algebras. Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr. 31, Article number: 13 (2021)
- P. Cerejeiras, A. Fonseca, M. Vajiac, N. Vieira, Fischer decomposition in generalized fractional ternary Clifford analysis. Compl. Anal. Oper. Theory 11(5), 1077–1093 (2017)
- H. De Bie, D. Struppa, A. Vajiac, M. Vajiac, The Cauchy–Kowalewski product for bicomplex holomorphic functions. Math. Nachr. 285(10), 1230–1242 (2012)
- 12. R. Kerner,  $Z_3$ -graded algebras and the cubic root of the supersymmetry translations. J. Math. Phys. **33**, 403 (1992)
- R. Kerner, Cubic and ternary algebras, ternary symmetries and the Lorentz group, Proc. Math. Phys. Conference RIMS (Kyoto), 1705, 134–146 (2010)
- 14. L.N. Lipatov, M. Rausch de Traubenberg, G.G. Volkov, On the ternary complex analysis and its applications. J. Math. Phys. **49**(1), 013502 (2008)
- E. Luna-Elizarraras, M. Shapiro, D. Struppa, A. Vajiac, *Bicomplex Holomorphic Functions*. *The Algebra, Geometry and Analysis of Bicomplex Numbers* (Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2015)
- M. Rausch de Traubenberg, Clifford algebras of polynomials generalized grassmann algebras and q-deformed heisenberg algebras. Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebras, 4(2), 131–144 (1994). https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2827469
- D.C. Struppa, A. Vajiac, M.B. Vajiac, Holomorphy in Multicomplex Spaces, Spectral Theory, Mathematical System Theory, Evolution Equations. Differential and Difference Equations, vol. 221 (Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2012), pp. 617–634
- L. Vainerman, R. Kerner, On special classes of n-Algebras. J. Math. Phys. 37(5), 2553–2565 (1996)
- 19. M. Vajiac, A. Vajiac, Multicomplex hyperfunctions, in *Complex Variables and Elliptic Equations*, vol. 57(7–8) (2012), pp. 751–762
- 20. J.H. Wedderburn, On hypercomplex numbers. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. s2-6(1), 77-118 (1908)